# **JMIR Formative Research**

Impact Factor (2023): 2.0 Volume 5 (2021), Issue 6 ISSN 2561-326X Editor in Chief: Amaryllis Mavragani, PhDc

# Contents

# **Original Papers**

XSL•F⊖ RenderX

Adequate Management of Phosphorus in Patients Undergoing Hemodialysis Using a Dietary Smartphone App: Prospective Pilot Study (e17858)	
Cosette Fakih El Khoury, Rik Crutzen, Jos Schols, Ruud Halfens, Mirey Karavetian.	. 4
Using a Mobile App–Based Video Recommender System of Patient Narratives to Prepare Women for Breast Cancer Surgery: Development and Usability Study Informed by Qualitative Data (e22970) Ilja Ormel, Charles Onu, Mona Magalhaes, Terence Tang, John Hughes, Susan Law.	15
Usability Testing, and Gauging Parent Support With Focus Groups (e24937)	
Anne Norris, Roxana Thalasinos, Michael Hecht.	28
Testing the Feasibility of Sensor-Based Home Health Monitoring (TEC4Home) to Support the Convalescence of Patients With Heart Failure: Pre–Post Study (e24509)	
Kendall Ho, Helen Novak Lauscher, Jennifer Cordeiro, Nathaniel Hawkins, Frank Scheuermeyer, Craig Mitton, Hubert Wong, Colleen McGavin, Dianne Ross, Glory Apantaku, Mohammad Karim, Amrit Bhullar, Riyad Abu-Laban, Suzanne Nixon, Tyler Smith.	43
Expanding the Reach of Research: Quantitative Evaluation of a Web-Based Approach for Remote Recruitment of People Who Hear Voices (e23118)	
Benjamin Buck, Ayesha Chander, Rachel Brian, Weichen Wang, Andrew Campbell, Dror Ben-Zeev.	54
Racial Discrimination, Sedentary Time, and Physical Activity in African Americans: Quantitative Study Combining Ecological Momentary Assessment and Accelerometers (e25687)	
Soohyun Nam, Sangchoon Jeon, Garrett Ash, Robin Whittemore, David Vlahov.	67
Multimodule Web-Based COVID-19 Anxiety and Stress Resilience Training (COAST): Single-Cohort Feasibility Study With First Responders (e28055)	
Janna Heyen, Noé Weigl, Mario Müller, Stefan Müller, Urs Eberle, Andrei Manoliu, Stefan Vetter, Adam Brown, Thomas Berger, Birgit Kleim 8	
Development of the 12-Item Social Media Disinformation Scale and its Association With Social Media Addiction and Mental Health Related to COVID-19 in Tunisia: Survey-Based Pilot Case Study (e27280)	
Noomen Guelmami, Maher Ben Khalifa, Nasr Chalghaf, Jude Kong, Tannoubi Amayra, Jianhong Wu, Fairouz Azaiez, Nicola Bragazzi	91
Perceptions of Endocrine Therapy in African-American Breast Cancer Survivors: Mixed Methods Study (e23884)	
Sara Donevant, Sue Heiney, Cassandra Wineglass, Benjamin Schooley, Akanksha Singh, Jingxi Sheng.	104

A 5-Minute Cognitive Assessment for Safe Remote Use in Patients With COVID-19: Clinical Case Series (e26417)	
Thomas Beresford, Patrick Ronan, Daniel Hipp.	115
A Caregiver Digital Intervention to Support Shared Decision Making in Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services: Development Process and Stakeholder Involvement Analysis (e24896) Shaun Liverpool, Julian Edbrooke-Childs.	124
An mHealth Physical Activity Intervention for Latina Adolescents: Iterative Design of the Chicas Fuertes Study (e26195) Britta Larsen, Emily Greenstadt, Brittany Olesen, Bess Marcus, Job Godino, Michelle Zive	139
Comparing Two Commercially Available Diabetes Apps to Explore Challenges in User Engagement: Randomized Controlled Feasibility Study (e25151) Alita Maharaj, David Lim, Rinki Murphy, Anna Serlachius	151
Inpatient Telemedicine Implementation as an Infection Control Response to COVID-19: Qualitative Process Evaluation Study (e26452)	
Nadia Safaeinili, Stacie Vilendrer, Emma Williamson, Zicheng Zhao, Cati Brown-Johnson, Steven Asch, Lisa Shieh.	165
Professionals' and Students' Perceived Needs for an Online Supportive Application for Reducing School Absence and Stimulating Reintegration: Concept Mapping Study (e24659)	
Mariette Hoogsteder, Linda Douma, Charlotte Eskens, Renske Berendsen, Yvonne Vanneste, Frederieke Schaafsma.	177
Modeling the Implementation Context of a Telemedicine Service: Work Domain Analysis in a Surgical Setting (e26505)	
Hedvig Aminoff, Sebastiaan Meijer, Urban Arnelo, Kristina Groth.	191
Usability Analysis of a Health Sciences Digital Library by Medical Residents: Cross-sectional Survey (e23293)	
Amr Jamal, Shabana Tharkar, Hanan Alenazi, Bedoor Julaidan, Dania Al Hindawi, Norah AlAkeel, Ola AlNuhayer, Raneem AlDubaikhi	203
Virtual Engagement in a Social Media Community of Mothers With Substance Use Disorders: Content Analysis (e24353)	
Shayna Mazel, Yaara Zisman-Ilani, Shannon Hennig, Deborah Garnick, Joanne Nicholson	213
Effects of Mobile App–Based Intervention for Depression in Middle-Aged and Older Adults: Mixed Methods Feasibility Study (e25808)	
Christine Gould, Chalise Carlson, Flora Ma, Valerie Forman-Hoffman, Kristian Ranta, Eric Kuhn.	223
Transforming Health and Resiliency Through Integration of Values-based Experiences: Implementation of an Electronic Evidence-based Whole Health Clinical Program (e26030)	238
Advancing Mental Health and Psychological Support for Health Care Workers Using Digital Technologies and Platforms (e22075)	
Jiancheng te	247
A Web-Based Intervention to Increase Smokers' Intentions to Participate in a Cessation Study Offered at the Point of Lung Screening: Factorial Randomized Trial (e28952)	
Jordan Neil, Yuchiao Chang, Brett Goshe, Nancy Rigotti, Irina Gonzalez, Saif Hawari, Lauren Ballini, Jennifer Haas, Caylin Marotta, Amy Wint, Kim Harris, Sydney Crute, Efren Flores, Elyse Park.	256

XSL•F<del>O</del> RenderX

Meaning in Life Among Patients With Chronic Pain and Suicidal Ideation: Mixed Methods Study (e29365) Alessandra Costanza, Vasileios Chytas, Valérie Piguet, Christophe Luthy, Viridiana Mazzola, Guido Bondolfi, Christine Cedraschi	272
Patients' and Providers' Needs and Preferences When Considering Fertility Preservation Before Cancer Treatment: Decision-Making Needs Assessment (e25083)	
Aubri Hoffman, Laura Crocker, Aakrati Mathur, Deborah Holman, June Weston, Sukhkamal Campbell, Ashley Housten, Andrea Bradford, Shilpi Agrawala, Terri Woodard.	283
Exploring the Potential of Personalized Dietary Advice for Health Improvement in Motivated Individuals With Premetabolic Syndrome: Pretest-Posttest Study (e25043)	
Sandra van der Haar, Femke Hoevenaars, Willem van den Brink, Tim van den Broek, Mariëlle Timmer, André Boorsma, Esmée Doets	299
Tracking Stress, Mental Health, and Resilience Factors in Medical Students Before, During, and After a Stress-Inducing Exam Period: Protocol and Proof-of-Principle Analyses for the RESIST Cohort Study (e20128)	
Jessica Fritz, Jan Stochl, Rogier Kievit, Anne-Laura van Harmelen, Paul Wilkinson.	315
The Development of a Digital Patient-Reported Outcome Measurement for Adults With Chronic Disease (The Parsley Symptom Index): Prospective Cohort Study (e29122)	
Hants Williams, Sarah Steinberg, Robin Berzin	331
Health Perceptions and Adopted Lifestyle Behaviors During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Cross-National Survey (e23630)	
Nandi Manjunath, Vijaya Majumdar, Antonietta Rozzi, Wang Huiru, Avinash Mishra, Keishin Kimura, Raghuram Nagarathna, Hongasandra Nagendra	346
Potential Impact of a Paper About COVID-19 and Smoking on Twitter Users' Attitudes Toward Smoking: Observational Study (e25010)	
Chunliang Tao, Destiny Diaz, Zidian Xie, Long Chen, Dongmei Li, Richard O'Connor.	365
Teleconsultation in the Management of Elective Orthopedic and Spinal Conditions During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Prospective Cohort Study of Patient Experiences (e28140)	
Christina Melian, Christopher Frampton, Michael Wyatt, David Kieser	376

# Viewpoint

Using Emerging Telehealth Technology as a Future Model in Vietnam During the COVID-19 Pandemic:	
Practical Experience From Phutho General Hospital (e27968)	
Ngoc Nguyen, An Nguyen, Van Ha, Phuong Duong, Thong Nguyen	340

# Short Paper

Acceptability of Research and Health Care Visits During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Cross-sectional Survey	
Study (e27185)	
Kathryn Ross, Young-Rock Hong, Rebecca Krukowski, Darci Miller, Dominick Lemas, Michelle Cardel.	358



# **Original Paper**

# Adequate Management of Phosphorus in Patients Undergoing Hemodialysis Using a Dietary Smartphone App: Prospective Pilot Study

Cosette Fakih El Khoury<sup>1</sup>, BSc, MSc, PhD; Rik Crutzen<sup>2</sup>, PhD; Jos MGA Schols<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Ruud JG Halfens<sup>3</sup>, PhD; Mirey Karavetian<sup>4</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Department of Health Services Research, Care and Public Health Research Institute, Faculty of Health, Medicine and Life Sciences, Maastricht University, Maastricht, Netherlands

<sup>2</sup>Department of Health Promotion, Care and Public Health Research Institute, Faculty of Health, Medicine and Life Sciences, Maastricht University, Maastricht, Netherlands

<sup>3</sup>Care and Public Health Research Institute, Department of Health Services Research, Maastricht University, Maastricht, Netherlands

<sup>4</sup>Department of Health Sciences, Zayed University, Dubai, United Arab Emirates

**Corresponding Author:** Mirey Karavetian, PhD Department of Health Sciences Zayed University Academic city PO Box 19282 Dubai United Arab Emirates Phone: 971 562446865 Email: kmirey@gmail.com

# Abstract

**Background:** The renal diet is complex and requires alterations of the diet and careful monitoring of various nutrients. Elevated serum phosphorus is common among patients undergoing hemodialysis, and it is associated with many complications. Smartphone technology could be used to support both dietitians and patients by providing a source of accessible and reliable information.

**Objective:** The aim of this pilot is to assess the potential efficacy of an intervention using the educational and self-monitoring mobile app KELA.AE on the phosphorous management in hemodialysis patients. Results will be used to improve both the app and a planned, rigorous large-scale trial intended to assess app efficacy.

**Methods:** This is a prospective pilot study performed at the hemodialysis unit of Al Qassimi Hospital (Emirate of Sharjah, United Arab Emirates). All patients were assessed for eligibility and, based on inclusion criteria, considered for enrollment. Participants met with a dietitian once a week and used the mobile app regularly for 2 weeks. Outcomes (knowledge, self-reported nonadherence, dietary intake, anthropometry, and biochemical data) were measured. This pilot is reported as per guidelines for nonrandomized pilot and feasibility studies and in line with the CONSORT (Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials) 2010 checklist for reporting pilot or feasibility trials.

**Results:** Of 26 subjects, 23 successfully completed the pilot. Patient dietary knowledge about phosphorous management improved from 51.4% (SD 13.9) to 68.1% (SD 13.3) after intervention with a large effect size (d=1.22, 95% CI 0.59 to 1.85). Dietary protein intake increased from a mean of 0.9 g/kg (SD 0.3) per day to a mean of 1.3 g/kg (SD 0.5) per day with a large effect size (d=1.07, 95% CI 0.45 to 1.69). Phosphorus to protein ratio dropped from a mean of 18.4 mg/g protein to 13.5 mg/g protein with a large effect size (d=0.83, 95% CI 0.22 to 1.43). There was no evidence of change in phosphorous intake, self-reported nonadherence, and serum phosphorus.

**Conclusions:** The findings of this prospective pilot reveal the potential efficacy of a smartphone app as a supportive nutrition education tool for phosphorus management in patients undergoing hemodialysis. This pilot study showed that the KELA.AE app has the potential to improve knowledge and dietary choices. A rigorous randomized controlled trial should be performed to evaluate the efficacy, assessing app use of a long-term intervention.

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e17858) doi:10.2196/17858



#### **KEYWORDS**

renal diet; mhealth; dietary app

# Introduction

Dietary management plays an essential role in slowing down disease progression and improving the quality of life of people with chronic kidney disease (CKD) [1,2]. However, the renal diet is complex and requires targeted attention of the intake of various nutrients [3], and patients often express frustration and confusion about this [4]. Dietary adjustments are made continuously in response to alterations in blood parameters, and patients must be constantly monitored and followed up accordingly [5].

Elevation in blood phosphorus is specifically common among this patient group, and it is associated with many comorbidities such as cardiovascular disease, metabolic bone mineral disease, and mortality [5]. Even a mild hyperphosphatemia (greater than 5.0 mg/dL) is independently associated with an increase in mortality among hemodialysis patients [6]. Therefore, management of hyperphosphatemia is essential during hemodialysis; however, this seems to be particularly challenging. Patients are recommended to consume 1.2 g/kg body weight of protein to achieve protein needs during hemodialysis [3]. Moreover, phosphorus is typically found in protein-rich foods; thus, restricting dietary phosphorus to the recommended 800 to 1000 mg/d while maintaining adequate protein intake is the cornerstone of this diet [3]. Such recommendations are not easily compatible [7] and lead to conflicting and ambiguous information that requires simplification and clarification from the dietitian's side [8].

Adherence to the renal diet is, therefore, an essential component for the management of hemodialysis patients [9]. Patient knowledge can play a role in compliance with the diet [10]. Therefore, nutrition education and counseling might have a positive effect on blood phosphorous [11]. However, eating habits are complicated and not merely influenced by knowledge, but also by a patient's readiness to change and their health beliefs [12]. The association between knowledge and adherence is not always clear, and an increase in knowledge does not necessarily lead to improved adherence [13]. Nutrition education can, nevertheless, improve nutrition knowledge, which, in turn, can support increased dietary adherence [14,15]. This knowledge is especially valuable when patients are willing to change their dietary behaviors [13].

From the patient's perspective, receiving easy to understand individualized nutrition education at the early stages is desired [4]. Educational materials should be theory-based and adapted to the patient [2] to be effective. A thorough education has been listed among the facilitators for improvements of serum phosphorus. Such interventions consist of multiple long encounters with patients and thus may not always be feasible [16]. Time limitation during encounters with dietitians and physicians often act as a barrier to effective nutrition education [17].

A recent study qualitatively explored the experience of renal dietitians. Dietitians expressed frustration, limited resources,

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e17858
```

and emotional and professional challenges in providing dietary education to CKD patients [8]. Hemodialysis patients show similar frustration and a need for continuous access to reliable nutrition information. Therefore, alternative approaches should be explored that may support both dietitians and patients in overcoming these difficulties. Smartphone technology can provide persons with chronic diseases with accessible and reliable information [18]. Additionally, in-app educational materials allow patients access to nutrition education in different modalities [19]. Accordingly, dietary apps may be effective at improving nutritional outcomes in chronic diseases [20].

Freely accessed educational websites are available to CKD patients, but they target persons with high computer literacy [21]. Commercially, some renal nutrition apps are also available, but they are mostly available in the English language only and may include a subscription fee [22,23]. Research in this area is still scarce as only a few publications have addressed the effectiveness of mHealth in the context of CKD [23]. Additionally, only a few registered clinical trials are active in the area of mHealth in CKD [24].

The IDEAS (integrate, design, assess, and share) framework for the development of effective digital interventions defines the process of assessing the efficacy of a developed product as starting with a pilot study aiming at estimating potential efficacy. Information gathered from the pilot study would then be used to improve the product itself and the study design of a rigorous randomized controlled trial (RCT) [25].

This is a pilot study that aims to explore the potential efficacy of an intervention using a smartphone app in the phosphorus management of patients undergoing hemodialysis. The results of this pilot study will be used to improve the app itself along with the study design of a rigorous RCT. The app used is research-based and includes self-monitoring features, educational features, and CKD-friendly recipes in English and Arabic. The description of the person-centered and theory-based app development is detailed in a separate publication [19].

# Methods

# **Study Design**

This is a prospective pilot study conducted using a theory-based educational dietary app Kidney Education Lifestyle Application (KELA.AE). This pilot followed the guidelines for reporting nonrandomized pilot and feasibility studies [26]. This study is also reported in line with the CONSORT (Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials) 2010 checklist of information to include when reporting a pilot or feasibility trial excluding items pertinent to randomization (Multimedia Appendix 3) [26,27]. Outcome measures include knowledge, self-reported nonadherence, dietary intake, anthropometry, and biochemical data.

XSL•FO RenderX

#### Participants, Eligibility, and Recruitment

A list of all patients undergoing hemodialysis was obtained from the hemodialysis unit of Al Qassimi Hospital (Emirate of Sharjah, United Arab Emirates), and all subjects were approached during their scheduled dialysis session to identify those who met the inclusion criteria. The study was explained to eligible participants, and signed consent forms were collected from those who agreed to participate. A total of 26 participants were recruited. Patients undergoing hemodialysis for at least 3 months; free of life-threatening conditions; able to read, write, listen, and communicate in Arabic; owning an Android smartphone; and not having been hospitalized in the past 6 months were eligible to participate in the study. Recruitment and data collection began in February 2019 and ended in April 2019. Post hoc calculations of sample size in pilot studies, assuming detection of unanticipated problems with a probability of at least 15% ( $\pi$ =0.15) and a 95% confidence level, resulted in a required sample of 19 subjects [28].

#### **Ethical Approvals**

The study received Institutional Review Board approval (ZU17\_066\_F) from Zayed University, Dubai.

## Procedure

Participants were provided with a username to initiate the sign-in procedure. Upon registration, participants were provided with a brief orientation to the app features, and free access to KELA.AE was provided for 2 weeks. During this period, participants met face-to-face with a research dietitian once a week. The dietitian provided participants with reinforcements of the critical messages relayed by the educational materials and answered questions about the app use and content. The dietitians also collected data from patients before and after app use. Baseline and postintervention outcomes were assessed before app registration (T0) and after the completion of 2 weeks of app use (T1). The trial was stopped when all participants completed 2 weeks of app use. Participants could keep using the app if they wished; however, all data collection was completed 2 weeks after app use.

# **KELA.AE** App

The app consists of an Arabic, theory-based, and culture-specific Android app (KELA.AE). A formative study of the app has been published elsewhere [19]. The app was designed to provide dietary education and traditional renal diet-friendly recipes to hemodialysis patients. The transtheoretical model [29] and constructs from the reasoned action approach [30] were incorporated in the development of the educational materials. Three different stages of change have been included along with the concepts of self-efficacy, norms, and attitudes. Behavior change techniques used included self-monitoring of behavior, problem solving and coping planning, goal setting, social comparison of behavior, and verbal persuasion to boost self-efficacy. The stages and constructs were incorporated based on previously published, validated stage-based materials [31], qualitative data, and brainstorming sessions performed during app development by the research team [19]. Different educational modalities were used to deliver the behavior change techniques: notifications, podcasts, and videos. Each modality

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e17858

is matched to a behavior stage and a construct from the reasoned action approach; an example would be a notification that is delivered to the user stating "Many dialysis patients have benefited from the advantages of exercising and were able to improve their quality of life. You can do it too!" (this is provided to a patient categorized in the action stage and linked to capacity/self-efficacy). Additional examples of educational materials are reported in a separate publication [19]. Self-monitoring features to track food intake and blood tests are also available.

The app was developed as a collaboration between the research team and the design team of an app development company. The technical development of the app software was outsourced by the research team to the development company. Educational materials were prepared by the research team in collaboration with the departments of Arabic and communications of Zayed University. The app is hosted on the servers of the development company.

#### **Self-Reported Nonadherence**

The Dialysis Diet and Fluid nonadherence Questionnaire was used to assess self-reported dietary nonadherence [32] (Multimedia Appendix 1). The questionnaire includes 2 simple questions on the frequency and degree of nonadherence. The same questions are asked for overall dietary nonadherence and again for dietary phosphorus nonadherence (total of 4 questions). It requires the patient to report nonadherence as the number of nonadherent days in the last 14 days. The degree of nonadherence is reported on a Likert scale (0 to 4, where 0 means compliant and 4 means severe nonadherence). The questions were translated to Arabic but given their straightforward simplicity further validation was deemed unnecessary. Construct validity of the original tool was reported using a Kendall tau correlation for frequency and degrees of nonadherence ( $\tau$ =0.495; P<.001) [32]. Adherence via the app was not collected due to the lack of in-app analytics in the current version of the app.

# Knowledge

The Knowledge Questionnaire consists of 18 questions assessing knowledge about the renal diet (Multimedia Appendix 2). A total of 18 points can be achieved if all answers are correct; scores were then converted into a percentage. This tool was used in Arabic before [33] based on an adaptation of the original questionnaire [34] and now includes Arabic foods. A score of 60% in overall knowledge (all 18 questions) was considered as sufficient knowledge as recommended by the questionnaire [33]. Questions were clustered by topic, and a subanalysis was performed to understand knowledge in specific areas pertinent to phosphorous management (phosphorus content in food, consequences of hyperphosphatemia, and use of phosphate binders).

### **Dietary Intake**

Dietary intake was assessed by 2 trained research dietitians using face-to-face 24-hour recalls [35]. Participants were asked if the day before was deemed representative of the previous week, and if not, they were asked to report a typical day for better representation of the past week's intake. The 24-hour

XSL•FO

recalls were analyzed using the FoodData Central of US Department of Agriculture databases [36]. Phosphorus needs were considered as 1000 mg/d for participants with serum phosphorus below 5.5 mg/dL and 12 mg/g of protein intake for participants with serum phosphorus below 5.5 mg/dL [37].

# **Biochemical Parameters**

Blood parameters were retrieved from patient medical records as part of the routine protocols of the hemodialysis unit (measurements are taken post hemodialysis session). Target values for serum phosphorus in hemodialysis were considered between 3.5 and 5.5 mg/dL based on the National Kidney Foundation Kidney Disease Outcomes Quality Initiative (NKF KDOQI) recommendations [3].

# **Anthropometric Measurements**

Body weight and height were retrieved from patient medical records, as measured postdialysis routinely. BMI was calculated accordingly using measured body weight and height. Comparative standards for body weight were used as suggested by the Nutrition Care Manual [37] based on the NKF KDOQI guidelines [3]. Accordingly, standard body weight from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Study was used for the calculation of nutrient needs. Adjusted edema-free body weight was used for participants with <95% or >115% of standard body weight [37] as recommended by the guidelines.

# **Statistical Analysis**

SPPS (version 21, IBM Corp) was used to perform all statistical analyses. Categorical variables were described using frequencies and percentages, while means and standard deviations were used to represent continuous variables. A Shapiro-Wilk normality test was performed to ensure that data are normally distributed. Paired *t* tests were used to compare the mean scores before and after the intervention. Two-tailed *P* values are reported. Effect sizes were calculated as Cohen *d* (with 95% CI) using mean difference and pooled standard deviations. The effect size was considered small at 0.2, medium at 0.5, and large at 0.8 and above [38].

# Results

A total of 23 participants completed the app pilot testing. Two subjects were excluded due to issues related to low smartphone storage capacity, and one subject was not interested in downloading the app. The mean age of the participants was 48.5 (SD 13.7) years, mean BMI was 31.9 (SD 7.9) kg/m<sup>2</sup>, and mean time on dialysis was over 1 year, with 29.7 (SD 37.3) months of dialysis. More men were enrolled in the study (14/23, 61%), and most participants suffered from hypertension (16/23, 70%) or diabetes (11/23, 48%). Demographics measured at baseline are shown in Table 1. Figure 1 depicts the CONSORT flow diagram.

 Table 1. Demographics and baseline characteristics of the study population (n=23).

Characteristic	Value
Age (years), mean (SD)	48.5 (13.7)
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> ), mean (SD)	31.9 (7.9)
Months on dialysis, mean (SD)	29.7 (37.3)
Gender, n (%)	
Male	14 (61)
Female	9 (39)
Smoker, n (%)	6 (26)
Comorbidities, n (%)	
Hypertension	16 (70)
Diabetes	11 (48)
Dyslipidemia	2 (9)
Cancer	1 (4)
Liver disease	1 (4)



Figure 1. CONSORT study flow diagram.



# **Knowledge and Nonadherence**

Overall, the mean self-reported nonadherence days dropped from 3.2 (SD 4.5) over the past 14 days to 2.0 (SD 3.0) days after exposure to in-app education with a small effect size (d=0.33, 95% CI –0.25 to 0.91). The severity of nonadherence was mostly mild and moderate preintervention and postintervention.

The mean perceived days of nonadherence to the phosphorus content of the diet increased from 1.1 (SD 3.2) days to 1.9 (SD 3.0) days with a small effect size (d=0.25, 95% CI 0.33 to 0.83). The severity of nonadherence changed from 19 participants

reporting no deviation from the diet to only 10 reporting no deviation.

Knowledge was below the 60% cutoff point of adequate knowledge at baseline and improved to reach a mean of 68.1% (13.3) after intervention, with a large effect size (d=1.22, 95% CI 0.59 to 1.85). Specific knowledge pertinent to consequences of hyperphosphatemia and phosphate binders also improved (large effect sizes d=1.15, 95% CI 0.53 to 1.77, and d=1.00, 95% CI 0.39 to 1.61, respectively). Knowledge about the phosphorus content of food improved, with a medium effect size (d=0.54, 95% CI -0.05 to 1.12). Results pertinent to adherence and knowledge are detailed in Table 2.



Table 2. Baseline and postintervention self-reported dietary nonadherence and dietary knowledge (n=23).

Questionnaire	Baseline	Postintervention	Cohen <i>d</i> (95% CI)	P value
DDFQ <sup>a</sup> , overall				
Nonadherence (days), mean (SD)	3.2 (4.5)	2.0 (3.0)	0.33 (-0.25 to 0.91)	.32
Nonadherence (degree), n (%)				
No deviation (0)	11 (48)	11 (11)	b	_
Mild (1)	5 (22)	4 (4)	_	_
Moderate (2)	4 (17)	7 (7)	_	_
Severe (3)	2 (9)	1 (1)	_	_
Very severe (4)	1 (4)	0 (0)	_	_
DDFQ, phosphorus				
Nonadherence (days), mean (SD)	1.1 (3.2)	1.9 (3.0)	0.25 (0.33 to 0.83)	.45
Nonadherence (degree), n (%)				
No deviation (0)	19 (83)	10 (44)	_	_
Mild (1)	1 (4)	5 (22)	—	_
Moderate (2)	2 (9)	7 (30)	—	_
Severe (3)	0 (0)	1 (4)	—	_
Very severe (4)	1 (4)	0 (0)	—	_
KnQ <sup>c</sup> , mean (SD)				
% Overall knowledge (>18 questions)	51.4 (13.9)	68.1 (13.3)	1.22 (0.59 to 1.85)	<.001
Knowledge of phosphorus content of food (>7 questions)	47.8 (21.4)	57.1 (12.2)	0.54 (-0.05 to 1.12)	.06
Knowledge of consequences of high levels of phospho- rus (>4 questionnaire)	43.5 (18.8)	66.3 (20.8)	1.15 (0.53 to 1.77)	<.001
Knowledge of phosphate binders (>4 questions)	48.9 (29.6)	76.1 (24.4)	1.00 (0.39 to 1.61)	<.001

<sup>a</sup>DDFQ: Dialysis Diet and Fluid Questionnaire.

<sup>b</sup>Not applicable.

<sup>c</sup>KnQ: Knowledge Questionnaire.

# Serum Phosphorus and Dietary Intake

Dietary protein intake increased from a mean intake of 0.9 (SD 0.3) g/kg per day to a mean intake of 1.3 (SD 0.5) g/kg per day with a large effect size (d=1.07, 95% CI 0.45 to 1.69). Phosphorus intake as compared to phosphorus needs did not change. However, the phosphorus to protein ratio dropped from a mean of 18.4 mg/g of protein to 13.5 mg/g of protein with a large effect size (d=0.83, 95% CI 0.22 to 1.43). This result is

desirable given that it is closer to the recommended 12 mg/g of protein.

No changes were identified in serum phosphorus; however, the number of participants with serum phosphorus above 6 mg/dL increased to become 10 subjects as compared to 6 at baseline. This may be in line with the increase in protein intake and a slight increase in total phosphorus intake. Table 3 illustrates data on serum phosphorus and dietary intake.



Table 3. Baseline and postintervention dietary intake and serum phosphorus level (n=23).

Parameter	Baseline	Postintervention	Cohen <i>d</i> (95% CI)	P value
Phosphorus intake, mean (SD)				
Dietary phosphorus (mg/d)	1152.5 (489.8)	1343.1 (83.0)	0.42 (-0.15 to 1.01)	.88
% compliance to phosphorus needs	108.3 (44.5)	109.4 (45.5)	0.02 (-0.55 to 0.60)	.72
Dietary protein (g/d)	71.1 (26.4)	103.8 (37.8)	1.00 (0.38 to 1.61)	<.001
Dietary protein (g/kg/d)	0.9 (0.3)	1.3 (0.5)	1.07 (0.45 to 1.69)	<.001
Phosphorus to protein ratio (mg/g)	18.4 (7.9)	13.5 (2.9)	0.83 (0.22 to 1.43)	.01
Serum phosphorus (mg/dL), mean (SD)	5.3 (1.5)	5.5 (2.0)	0.15 (-0.43 to 0.73)	.60
Nonadherence to serum phosphorus, n (%)				
< 5 mg/dL	11 (48)	11 (48)	a	_
5-6 mg/dL	6 (26)	2 (9)	_	_
> 6  mg/dL	6 (26)	10 (43)	—	_

phosphorus.

<sup>a</sup>Not applicable.

# Discussion

# **Principal Findings**

The main findings of this prospective pilot study show that in-app nutrition education, as a supportive tool to dietitians, can improve knowledge of the renal diet among patients undergoing hemodialysis. Thus, the in-app educational features (notifications, podcasts, videos, and recipes) of the KELA.AE app might have potential as a useful source of nutrition education for patients undergoing hemodialysis. The use of smartphones as supportive tools to deliver education may help overcome the time limitation barrier that is reported during face-to-face encounters with dietitians and physicians [17]. Accordingly, app availability may be beneficial to both patients and health care practitioners as supportive tools for regular care.

However, self-reported adherence to the renal diet was not changed after the use of the KELA.AE smartphone app. Self-reported dietary questionnaires may be a source of bias related to social desirability. Nevertheless, adherence to phosphorus intake (24-hour recalls) and serum phosphorus did not improve either. Knowledge scores were not satisfactory at baseline (below the 60% cutoff used) and increased significantly to reach a mean score of 68.1%. It seems that the association between knowledge and dietary nonadherence in dialysis patients is not always clear [39]. In the results of this prospective pilot, nonadherence to the phosphorus content of the diet increased after the intervention. The increase in knowledge may explain this. Patients might have become more aware of the phosphorus content of food and therefore, their self-perception of nonadherence changed accordingly. A study performed in patients with heart failure reported that despite knowledge on the sodium restriction diet being high, only 40% of participants were adherent to the restrictions based on urine sodium excretion. However, perception of the benefits of the diet was correlated with dietary adherence [40]. Nevertheless, other studies have found that intense nutrition education [41,42] and dietary knowledge [15] improve adherence. Accordingly, longer exposure to continuous education both by dietitians and in-app

recommended by NKF KDOQI guidelines [3] and achieved an average intake in line with recommendations postintervention. The contradiction between the protein and phosphorous

recommendations of the dialysis diet may lead to protein restriction as a result of decreased phosphorous intake. Baseline and postintervention phosphorus intake were within phosphorus recommendations. Therefore, the increase in protein intake did not negatively impact phosphorus intake. Additionally, the phosphorus to protein ratio postintervention was closer to the recommended ratio of 10 to 12 mg/g of protein [3], meaning that patients increased their protein intake while choosing foods that were lower in phosphorus. These dietary changes may be a result of increased patient knowledge. However, the duration of the intervention may have been too short to detect changes in serum phosphorus, which is a limitation of the pilot. This will be better explored in the future trial.

education material may be needed to understand if increased

knowledge may improve adherence and possibly serum

An increase in dietary protein was nevertheless observed as an

outcome of the intervention. Protein intake in hemodialysis is

essential for the prevention of malnutrition. There is also an

association between reduced protein intake and increased

mortality [43]. The participants in this pilot study started with

low protein intake as compared to the needs of  $\geq 1.2$  g/kg/d

Adherence to phosphate binders is also an essential component in the phosphorous management of dialysis patients. In this pilot, knowledge pertinent to phosphate binders improved postintervention; however, adherence to binders was not measured directly. Additionally, types of binders and their prescriptions were not investigated and benchmarked with recommendations.

# Limitations

Another limitation of the pilot study is the lack of app use data, which was not retrievable due to the lack of in-app analytics. The first and last access for each user are the only data available, and all users had accessed the app at least once during each week. The next version of the app will include in-app analytics

to allow the future trial to track if app use influences improvement in outcomes.

Additionally, user acceptability should also be further assessed. A questionnaire was used during this pilot study to explore acceptability; however, all participants provided answers indicating that they strongly agree with all the questions. The team considered the data collected unsuitable for the assessment of acceptability. Acceptability will be assessed in the future trial using the validated Arabic version of the Mobile Application Rating Scale [44]. Qualitative data will also be added to the assessment during the future trial.

Valid interpretation, translation, and generalizability of mHealth interventions also depend on the assessment of treatment fidelity [45]. The future trial will also assess treatment fidelity in-depth to ensure integrity, reliability, and validity of this mHealth intervention before the interpretation and generalizability of the results. During this pilot, we were unable to ensure compliance with all the goals of treatment fidelity proposed by the Treatment Fidelity Workgroup of the National Institutes of Health Behavior Change Consortium [46]. Among the goals that we were able to meet during the pilot are the standardization of treatment and prevention of contamination, participants' ability to use the app, and provider training. The steps included automated notifications delivered equally to all participants, an orientation session for participants, pilot testing of educational materials, and the training provided to the dietitians meeting patients weekly. However, due to the lack of in-app analytics, we were unable to track the enactment of the self-monitoring tools adequately.

The intervention included encounters with dietitians that may have influenced the outcomes. This methodology was opted as this is how the app use is envisioned in the practice setting. The app would be a tool that dietitians use to support patient education and self-monitoring. The reinforcement of the dietitians, however, may have influenced the results. Accordingly, the future trial will include a control group whereby dietitians see patients with the same frequency but without app use.

This pilot aimed to assess and refine the methodology and procedures of a future trial aiming to detect the efficacy of app use in the adequate management of phosphorous in patients undergoing hemodialysis. Similar to the few available studies evaluating dietary apps for CKD on a smartphone [23], our results show potential benefits on dietary intake. However, this study is unique for evaluating the potential of apps as educational tools to support dietitians. Additionally, it is the first intervention reporting the role of dietary apps for CKD in Arabic. Based on the findings, the planned trial should be designed to compare regular dietary interventions with dietary interventions supported by the app to avoid the possible confounding effects of the dietitian. During this study, participants often consulted with the research team throughout the regular weekly visits; thus, it would be important to explore further if the app enhances the phosphorous management or if it is instead the frequent dietary follow-up that leads to improvements. In conclusion, the future trial should also evaluate the use of phosphate binders, app use data, acceptability, and fidelity, and it should be designed in a way to detect if the app provides any advantages in the clinical outcomes of phosphorous management as compared to intensive dietary follow up by a dietitian.

## Conclusions

The findings of this pilot study indicate that there is potential in the use of a smartphone app as a supportive nutrition education tool. A rigorous RCT should be performed to evaluate the efficacy, in which app use and long-term impact should be assessed.

# Acknowledgments

We acknowledge the staff and students from Zayed University who volunteered by contributing to the app development at many steps. This study was funded by research grant R18060 provided by Zayed University.

# **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Dialysis Diet and Fluid non-adherence Questionnaire. [DOCX File, 41 KB - formative\_v5i6e17858\_app1.docx ]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Knowledge Questionnaire. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 118 KB - formative\_v5i6e17858\_app2.pdf ]

# Multimedia Appendix 3 CONSORT 2010 checklist of information to include when reporting a pilot or feasibility trial. [DOC File, 228 KB - formative\_v5i6e17858\_app3.doc]

#### References

XSL•FO RenderX

- Palmer SC, Maggo JK, Campbell KL, Craig JC, Johnson DW, Sutanto B, et al. Dietary interventions for adults with chronic kidney disease. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2017 Apr 23;4:CD011998 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD011998.pub2] [Medline: 28434208]
- Beto JA, Ramirez WE, Bansal VK. Medical nutrition therapy in adults with chronic kidney disease: integrating evidence and consensus into practice for the generalist registered dietitian nutritionist. J Acad Nutr Diet 2014 Jul;114(7):1077-1087. [doi: 10.1016/j.jand.2013.12.009] [Medline: 24582998]
- 3. Kopple JD. National Kidney Foundation K/DOQI clinical practice guidelines for nutrition in chronic renal failure. Am J Kidney Dis 2001 Jan;37(1 Suppl 2):S66-S70. [doi: 10.1053/ajkd.2001.20748] [Medline: 11158865]
- 4. Hollingdale R, Sutton D, Hart K. Facilitating dietary change in renal disease: investigating patients' perspectives. J Ren Care 2008 Sep;34(3):136-142. [doi: 10.1111/j.1755-6686.2008.00034.x] [Medline: 18786080]
- 5. Abe M, Okada K, Soma M. Mineral metabolic abnormalities and mortality in dialysis patients. Nutrients 2013 Mar 22;5(3):1002-1023 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/nu5031002] [Medline: 23525083]
- 6. Rodriguez-Benot A, Martin-Malo A, Alvarez-Lara MA, Rodriguez M, Aljama P. Mild hyperphosphatemia and mortality in hemodialysis patients. Am J Kidney Dis 2005 Jul;46(1):68-77. [doi: <u>10.1053/j.ajkd.2005.04.006</u>] [Medline: <u>15983959</u>]
- Shaman AM, Kowalski SR. Hyperphosphatemia management in patients with chronic kidney disease. Saudi Pharm J 2016 Jul;24(4):494-505 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jsps.2015.01.009] [Medline: 27330380]
- 8. Lambert K, Mansfield K, Mullan J. Qualitative exploration of the experiences of renal dietitians and how they help patients with end stage kidney disease to understand the renal diet. Nutr Diet 2019 Apr;76(2):126-134. [doi: 10.1111/1747-0080.12443] [Medline: 29968271]
- Clark-Cutaia MN, Ren D, Hoffman LA, Burke LE, Sevick MA. Adherence to hemodialysis dietary sodium recommendations: influence of patient characteristics, self-efficacy, and perceived barriers. J Ren Nutr 2014 Mar;24(2):92-99 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1053/j.jrn.2013.11.007] [Medline: 24462498]
- van Doorn-van Atten MN, de Groot LCPGM, de Vries JHM, Haveman-Nies A. Determinants of behaviour change in a multi-component telemonitoring intervention for community-dwelling older adults. Nutrients 2018 Aug 10;10(8):1 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/nu10081062] [Medline: 30103399]
- 11. Caldeira D, Amaral T, David C, Sampaio C. Educational strategies to reduce serum phosphorus in hyperphosphatemic patients with chronic kidney disease: systematic review with meta-analysis. J Ren Nutr 2011 Jul;21(4):285-294. [doi: 10.1053/j.jrn.2010.11.006] [Medline: 21429764]
- 12. Elliott JO, Ortman C, Almaani S, Lee YH, Jordan K. Understanding the associations between modifying factors, individual health beliefs, and hemodialysis patients' adherence to a low-phosphorus diet. J Ren Nutr 2015 Mar;25(2):111-120. [doi: 10.1053/j.jrn.2014.08.006] [Medline: 25282006]
- Durose CL, Holdsworth M, Watson V, Przygrodzka F. Knowledge of dietary restrictions and the medical consequences of noncompliance by patients on hemodialysis are not predictive of dietary compliance. J Am Diet Assoc 2004 Jan;104(1):35-41. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jada.2003.10.016</u>] [Medline: <u>14702581</u>]
- 14. Philippou E, Middleton N, Pistos C, Andreou E, Petrou M. The impact of nutrition education on nutrition knowledge and adherence to the Mediterranean Diet in adolescent competitive swimmers. J Sci Med Sport 2017 Apr;20(4):328-332. [doi: 10.1016/j.jsams.2016.08.023] [Medline: 27692575]
- 15. Bonaccio M, Di Castelnuovo CA, Costanzo S, De Lucia F, Olivieri M, Donati MB, et al. Nutrition knowledge is associated with higher adherence to Mediterranean diet and lower prevalence of obesity: results from the Moli-sani study. Appetite 2013 Sep;68:139-146. [doi: 10.1016/j.appet.2013.04.026] [Medline: 23665233]
- Karavetian M, de Vries N, Rizk R, Elzein H. Dietary educational interventions for management of hyperphosphatemia in hemodialysis patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Nutr Rev 2014 Jul;72(7):471-482. [doi: 10.1111/nure.12115] [Medline: 24920494]
- 17. Anderson CAM, Nguyen HA. Nutrition education in the care of patients with chronic kidney disease and end-stage renal disease. Semin Dial 2018 Mar;31(2):115-121. [doi: 10.1111/sdi.12681] [Medline: 29455475]
- Gabrielli S, Dianti M, Maimone R, Betta M, Filippi L, Ghezzi M, et al. Design of a mobile app for nutrition education (TreC-LifeStyle) and formative evaluation with families of overweight children. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2017 Apr 13;5(4):e48 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.7080] [Medline: 28408361]
- Fakih El Khoury C, Karavetian M, Halfens RJG, Crutzen R, El Chaar D, Schols JMGA. Dietary application for the management of patients with hemodialysis: a formative development study. Healthc Inform Res 2019 Oct;25(4):262-273 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4258/hir.2019.25.4.262] [Medline: 31777669]
- 20. Fakih El Khoury C, Karavetian M, Halfens RJG, Crutzen R, Khoja L, Schols JMGA. The effects of dietary mobile apps on nutritional outcomes in adults with chronic diseases: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Acad Nutr Diet 2019 Apr;119(4):626-651. [doi: 10.1016/j.jand.2018.11.010] [Medline: 30686742]
- 21. Diamantidis CJ, Zuckerman M, Fink W, Hu P, Yang S, Fink JC. Usability of a CKD educational website targeted to patients and their family members. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 2012 Oct;7(10):1553-1560 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2215/CJN.03690412] [Medline: 22798537]

- 22. Siddique AB, Krebs M, Alvarez S, Greenspan I, Patel A, Kinsolving J, et al. Mobile apps for the care management of chronic kidney and end-stage renal diseases: systematic search in app stores and evaluation. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Sep 04;7(9):e12604 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/12604] [Medline: 31486408]
- 23. Kosa SD, Monize J, D'Souza M, Joshi A, Philip K, Reza S, et al. Nutritional mobile applications for CKD patients: systematic review. Kidney Int Rep 2019 Mar;4(3):399-407 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ekir.2018.11.016] [Medline: 30899867]
- 24. Search results for chronic + kidney + disease AND mHealth. ClinicalTrials.gov. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.clinicaltrials.gov/</u> ct2/results?cond=Chronic+Kidney+Diseases&term=mHealth&cntry=&state=&city=&dist= [accessed 2020-11-03]
- 25. Mummah SA, Robinson TN, King AC, Gardner CD, Sutton S. IDEAS (Integrate, Design, Assess, and Share): a framework and toolkit of strategies for the development of more effective digital interventions to change health behavior. J Med Internet Res 2016 Dec 16;18(12):e317 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5927] [Medline: 27986647]
- 26. Lancaster GA, Thabane L. Guidelines for reporting non-randomised pilot and feasibility studies. Pilot Feasibility Stud 2019;5:114 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s40814-019-0499-1] [Medline: 31608150]
- Schulz KF, Altman DG, Moher D. CONSORT 2010 statement: updated guidelines for reporting parallel group randomized trials. Ann Intern Med 2010 Jun 1;152(11):726-732. [doi: <u>10.7326/0003-4819-152-11-201006010-00232</u>] [Medline: <u>20335313</u>]
- 28. Viechtbauer W, Smits L, Kotz D, Budé L, Spigt M, Serroyen J, et al. A simple formula for the calculation of sample size in pilot studies. J Clin Epidemiol 2015 Nov;68(11):1375-1379. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jclinepi.2015.04.014</u>] [Medline: <u>26146089</u>]
- 29. Prochaska JO, Velicer WF. The transtheoretical model of health behavior change. Am J Health Promot 1997;12(1):38-48. [doi: 10.4278/0890-1171-12.1.38] [Medline: 10170434]
- Fishbein M. A reasoned action approach to health promotion. Med Decis Making 2008;28(6):834-844 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0272989X08326092] [Medline: 19015289]
- Karavetian M, de Vries N, Elzein H, Rizk R, Bechwaty F. Effect of behavioral stage-based nutrition education on management of osteodystrophy among hemodialysis patients, Lebanon. Patient Educ Couns 2015 Sep;98(9):1116-1122. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2015.05.005] [Medline: 26070468]
- Vlaminck H, Maes B, Jacobs A, Reyntjens S, Evers G. The dialysis diet and fluid non-adherence questionnaire: validity testing of a self-report instrument for clinical practice. J Clin Nurs 2001 Sep;10(5):707-715. [doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2702.2001.00537.x] [Medline: 11822521]
- 33. Karavetian M, Abboud S, Elzein H, Haydar S, de Vries N. Nutritional education for management of osteodystrophy (NEMO) trial: design and patient characteristics, Lebanon. Nutr Res Pract 2014 Feb;8(1):103-111 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4162/nrp.2014.8.1.103] [Medline: 24611112]
- 34. Ford JC, Pope JF, Hunt AE, Gerald B. The effect of diet education on the laboratory values and knowledge of hemodialysis patients with hyperphosphatemia. J Ren Nutr 2004 Jan;14(1):36-44. [doi: 10.1053/j.jrn.2003.09.008] [Medline: 14740329]
- 35. Van Horn L, Beto J. Research: Successful Approaches in Nutrition and Dietetics, 4th Edition. Cleveland: Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics; 2019.
- 36. FoodData Central. US Dept of Agriculture. 2019. URL: <u>https://fdc.nal.usda.gov/</u> [accessed 2019-04-01]
- 37. Nutrition Care Manual. Cleveland: Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics; 2019.
- 38. Cohen J. A power primer. Psychol Bull 1992 Jul;112(1):155-159. [Medline: 19565683]
- Miyata KN, Shen JI, Nishio Y, Haneda M, Dadzie KA, Sheth NR, et al. Patient knowledge and adherence to maintenance hemodialysis: an International comparison study. Clin Exp Nephrol 2018 Aug;22(4):947-956 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10157-017-1512-8] [Medline: 29185127]
- 40. Lennie TA, Worrall-Carter L, Hammash M, Odom-Forren J, Roser LP, Smith CS, et al. Relationship of heart failure patients' knowledge, perceived barriers, and attitudes regarding low-sodium diet recommendations to adherence. Prog Cardiovasc Nurs 2008;23(1):6-11. [doi: 10.1111/j.1751-7117.2008.04628.x] [Medline: 18326994]
- Paes-Barreto JG, Silva MIB, Qureshi AR, Bregman R, Cervante VF, Carrero JJ, et al. Can renal nutrition education improve adherence to a low-protein diet in patients with stages 3 to 5 chronic kidney disease? J Ren Nutr 2013 May;23(3):164-171. [doi: <u>10.1053/j.jrn.2012.10.004</u>] [Medline: <u>23194841</u>]
- 42. Deif H, Elsawi K, Selim M, NasrAllah M. Effect of an educational program on adherence to therapeutic regimen among chronic kidney disease stage 5 (CKD5) patients under maintenance hemodialysis. J Educ Pract 2015;6(5):21-33 [FREE Full text]
- 43. Fouque D, Horne R, Cozzolino M, Kalantar-Zadeh K. Balancing nutrition and serum phosphorus in maintenance dialysis. Am J Kidney Dis 2014 Jul;64(1):143-150. [doi: <u>10.1053/j.ajkd.2014.01.429</u>] [Medline: <u>24819675</u>]
- 44. Bardus M, Awada N, Ghandour LA, Fares E, Gherbal T, Al-Zanati T, et al. The Arabic version of the Mobile App Rating Scale: development and validation study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2020 Mar 03;8(3):e16956 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/16956] [Medline: 32130183]
- 45. Shaw RJ, Steinberg DM, Zullig LL, Bosworth HB, Johnson CM, Davis LL. mHealth interventions for weight loss: a guide for achieving treatment fidelity. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2014;21(6):959-963. [doi: <u>10.1136/amiajnl-2013-002610</u>] [Medline: <u>24853065</u>]

46. Bellg AJ, Borrelli B, Resnick B, Hecht J, Minicucci DS, Ory M, et al. Enhancing treatment fidelity in health behavior change studies: best practices and recommendations from the NIH Behavior Change Consortium. Health Psychol 2004 Sep;23(5):443-451. [doi: 10.1037/0278-6133.23.5.443] [Medline: 15367063]

# Abbreviations

CKD: chronic kidney disease
CONSORT: Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials
IDEAS: integrate, design, assess, and share framework
KELA.AE: Kidney Education Lifestyle Application
NKF KDOQI: National Kidney Foundation Kidney Disease Outcomes Quality Initiative
RCT: randomized controlled trial

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 17.01.20; peer-reviewed by M Bardus, YC Kato-Lin, AA Dumas, L Donkin; comments to author 23.09.20; revised version received 18.11.20; accepted 04.04.21; published 01.06.21.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Fakih El Khoury C, Crutzen R, Schols JMGA, Halfens RJG, Karavetian M Adequate Management of Phosphorus in Patients Undergoing Hemodialysis Using a Dietary Smartphone App: Prospective Pilot Study JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e17858 URL: <u>https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e17858</u> doi:<u>10.2196/17858</u> PMID:<u>34061034</u>

©Cosette Fakih El Khoury, Rik Crutzen, Jos MGA Schols, Ruud JG Halfens, Mirey Karavetian. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 01.06.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



# **Original Paper**

# Using a Mobile App–Based Video Recommender System of Patient Narratives to Prepare Women for Breast Cancer Surgery: Development and Usability Study Informed by Qualitative Data

Ilja Ormel<sup>1,2</sup>, MPH; Charles C Onu<sup>1,3</sup>, BSc, MSc; Mona Magalhaes<sup>1</sup>, MA; Terence Tang<sup>4</sup>, MD; John B Hughes<sup>5</sup>, CM, MD; Susan Law<sup>1,2,4,6</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>St Mary's Research Centre, Montreal, QC, Canada

<sup>2</sup>Department of Family Medicine, McGill University, Montréal, QC, Canada

<sup>3</sup>School of Computer Science, McGill University, Montréal, QC, Canada

<sup>4</sup>Trillium Health Partners, Mississauga, ON, Canada

<sup>5</sup>McGill University, Montréal, QC, Canada

<sup>6</sup>Institute for Health Policy, Management and Evaluation, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

# **Corresponding Author:**

Ilja Ormel, MPH Department of Family Medicine McGill University 5858 Côte-des-Neiges Rd Montréal, QC, H2T 1W1 Canada Phone: 1 (514) 345 3511 ext 5060 Email: ilja.ormel@mail.mcgill.ca

# Abstract

**Background:** Women diagnosed with breast cancer are often bombarded with information. Such information overload can lead to misunderstandings and hamper women's capacity for making informed decisions about their care. For women with breast cancer, this uncertainty is particularly severe in the period before surgery. Personalized narratives about others' experiences can help patients better understand the disease course, the quality and type of care to be expected, the clinical decision-making processes, and the strategies for coping. Existing resources and eHealth apps rarely include experiential information, and no tools exist that tailor information for individual preferences and needs—offering the right information at the right time and in the right format. Combining high-quality experiential evidence with novel technical approaches may contribute to patient-centered solutions in this area.

**Objective:** This study aims to design and seek preliminary feedback on a mobile app that will improve information access about surgery for patients with breast cancer, by drawing on a qualitative collection of personal narratives from a diverse sample of Canadian women and using video and audio recordings or audio recordings from the Canadian Health Experiences Research Network.

**Methods:** In a previous study, we conducted in-depth interviews with 35 Canadian women and used video and audio recordings or audio recordings to collect stories about the lived experiences of breast cancer. The participants highlighted the need for more specific information between diagnosis and surgery that was relevant to their personal situations and preferences. They also wanted to learn from other women's experiences. We worked with patients, clinicians, and informatics experts to develop a mobile app that provides access to tailored experiential information relevant to women's personal situations and preferences. We completed focus groups and qualitative interviews, conducted a further analysis of the original qualitative data, designed novel software using artificial intelligence, and sought preliminary feedback from users on a new app via focus groups and a survey.

**Results:** The secondary analysis of the breast cancer narratives revealed key themes and their interconnections relevant to the experience of surgery, including preparation, treatment decisions, aftercare, reconstruction, prostheses, lumpectomy and mastectomy, and complications. These themes informed the development of the structure and content of the app. We developed a recommender system within the app by using content matching (user and speaker profiles and user interests and video content) and collaborative filtering to identify clips marked as relevant by the user and by similar users. A 2-minute animated introductory video for users was developed. Pilot testing revealed generally positive responses regarding the content and value of this type of e-tool.

**Conclusions:** Developing reliable, evidence-based tools and apps that are based on diverse collections of people's experiences of illness offers a novel approach to help manage the plethora of information that women face after a diagnosis of breast cancer.

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e22970) doi:10.2196/22970

# **KEYWORDS**

qualitative research; illness narratives; experiential information; breast cancer; surgery; tailored information; recommender system; patient information and communication; mobile app; mobile phone

# Introduction

# Background

The last few decades have been marked by the rapid expansion of web-based health information [1], and breast cancer has been noted as the most searched for health topic on the web [2]. This has not only helped to promote the availability of relevant breast cancer information but also exacerbated challenges related to information overload [3]. Therefore, women with breast cancer are particularly vulnerable to experience information overload, which is associated with a negative impact on patients' treatment or behavioral decisions [3-6] and associated with anxiety and distress [6]. In biomedical research, the information bottleneck has shifted from data collection to data management and analysis [7], and it appears that there is a parallel shift regarding information for patients. Tailoring information to individual needs can better support patients in their search and retrieval efforts for securing appropriate information [8]. This will not only reduce information overload but also ensure that patients do not miss important treatment information, which is another factor that negatively impacts the health and well-being of women with breast cancer [9, 10].

Mobile apps offer innovative solutions for improving health care for various health conditions [11]. Several of these apps include the provision of tailored information [12-15]. This innovation has evolved rapidly in the last decade, and it is estimated that by 2018, nearly 2 billion smartphone and tablet users accessed health care–related apps [16].

#### **Experiential Information in Apps**

A recent systematic review of empirical studies on mobile apps (n=29) for breast cancer care [17] and another review on the evidence for mobile app use (n=9) during the treatment of breast cancer [11] identified only one study that included access to experiential information in the form of a personal story forum containing five recorded stories [18]. This is despite evidence that patients turn to the internet and other sources to purposefully search for experiential information [19]. However, the quality and access to this type of information is highly variable, and there is a need to provide rigorously developed, reliable, and tailored information regarding the experiences of others with similar conditions. Experiences of other patients are an important part of the evidence base that is available to patients; experiential evidence increases awareness of various treatment options, normalizes aspects of illness and treatment, and supports and informs decision making. Dismissing personal stories as anecdotes is a serious misunderstanding [20]. To date, research findings underscore the value and impact of patients' exposure to experiential information, which includes providing comfort and ensuring a more realistic outlook about the future [21]. Similarly, Ziebland and Wyke [19] reported that experiential information can support people in making better health care choices, raising awareness of certain health issues, improving health literacy, comparing each other's situation, and accessing more appropriate services. From our study on women's experiences of breast cancer, we found that experiential information can complement women's information needs about subjects that are not always communicated through factual and biomedical types of information [22]. It is argued that the inclusion of experiential health information will remain a key feature of eHealth strategies because of the appeal and memorability of stories and the need to make contact with peers [19]. However, there are concerns regarding people's reliance on the internet for experiential information and the quality and reliability of this information [19]. A review of existing apps demonstrated that such resources are scarce. Few of them are evidence-based and many are misleading [23], as apps are often introduced into clinical care before benefits and risks for patients and health care professionals are evaluated [11]. Both the systematic reviews mentioned earlier found that rigorous trials in this area are lacking.

Women not only need to receive the right information at the right time and in the right format but also need to receive information from trustworthy sources, such as health care professionals, patient support organizations, and other patients, especially when information is offered on the web or through a mobile app. The challenge lies in developing evidence-based information tools that respond to women's personal information needs. Such tools are relatively rare to date, and to our knowledge, no tools exist that provide information that is tailored to individual preferences and needs. Greater insights regarding women's needs at particular times in their cancer journeys and regarding the technical requirements for such a tool would contribute to novel solutions. To our knowledge, there are no tools yet that help patients understand how to prepare for breast cancer surgery based on lived experiences and, in particular, that draw from experiential evidence gathered through rigorous qualitative methods. This paper reports on the development of a new tailored information app called Health Experiences and Real Stories (HERS) that allows women with newly diagnosed breast cancer to retrieve information (in English or French) from an existing database of women's experiences with breast cancer. One of the key findings from previous studies was that women missed important information during the diagnostic phase, especially while preparing for surgery. However, women also reported that they struggled to handle information at the start of their breast cancer journey [22]. Women with suspicious lumps or other symptoms of potential breast cancer may often be seen and treated by a

XSL•FO

surgeon before they come under the care of a specialized breast cancer team (providing multidisciplinary care and support throughout the *journey* [8]). This diagnostic stage is typically described as one of the most bewildering periods [8,24] when women are usually coming to terms with this new disease and may be seeking information about breast cancer, treatments, and options [25].

# Objective

This study aims to contribute to the development of tools that provide patients with tailored experiential information based on rigorous qualitative research. In the following sections, we describe the work undertaken in four phases to conceptualize, develop, and obtain preliminary feedback from users for the HERS app.

# Methods

# Overview

Our multidisciplinary research team (clinicians, computer engineers, and researchers) worked in close collaboration with an expert advisory panel (patients, representatives of breast cancer organizations, and clinicians) to develop and test the HERS app over the study period from July 2016 to June 2018. The four phases of work consisted of understanding women's preferences and needs related to the app (phase 1), content development (phase 2), technical development (phase 3), and pilot testing (phase 4), as presented in Figure 1. The research ethics committee of Saint Mary's Hospital Center (SMHC) in Montreal, Quebec, Canada, approved the study in June 2016 (reference number 11-22 B, amendment 3). Participants for the interviews and focus groups were recruited through breast cancer patient and community organizations and support groups, personal networks, our expert advisory committee, and social media. Informed consent was obtained from all participants.

Figure 1. Process of the Health Experiences and Real Stories app development. DCIS: ductal carcinoma in situ; HERS: Health Experiences and Real Stories.



# Phase 1: Understanding Women's Preferences and Needs Relating to the HERS App

A secondary analysis of the transcripts from 35 interviews previously conducted with women with breast cancer was undertaken to identify women's information needs before and after surgery. This analysis informed the questions developed for the focus group discussions in this study. Details regarding the methods for the original qualitative research have been published elsewhere [22].

Two focus groups involving women with experiences of breast cancer were convened in July 2016 (n=6) and September 2016 (n=5) to (1) consider information needs (helpful information, information needs, and lack of information) related to surgery, (2) review sample videos to understand the value of experiential information, and (3) better understand their preferences regarding design features of a tailored information app. In focus group 2 (different participants), we presented a summary of the results of focus group 1 and discussed the findings further. The women were aged between 43 and 65 years. The participants had been diagnosed with breast cancer and had undergone various surgeries (lumpectomy, single or double mastectomy, and reconstruction). Both focus groups were facilitated by the principal investigator, senior qualitative researcher, and computer scientists.

### **Phase 2: Content Development**

The content for this app was drawn primarily from the data collected in previous qualitative research completed by our team regarding the experiences of 35 Canadian women with breast cancer (Canadian Women's Experiences with Breast Cancer study). These results are presented on the web (Canadian Health Experiences Research Network, 2021 [26]) where we created topic summaries, including illustrative video and audio clips, from our analysis of issues important to the women that we interviewed. Given that we had previously excluded women diagnosed with the earliest form of breast cancer-ductal carcinoma in situ (DCIS), [22]-because of the particular definition of breast cancer adopted for the original collection and the fact that this group also underwent breast surgery (patients with DCIS would therefore be inclusive of potential users of the app), we conducted four additional interviews with women diagnosed with DCIS between October 2016 and September 2017 using the same methods for collecting narrative interviews as per the original study. Women were asked to share their experiences with breast cancer beginning with an open narrative question ("Can you tell me about your experiences with breast cancer from the beginning up until now?") followed by a semistructured set of questions. Participants in the narrative interviews had already consented to the future use of their interview materials (transcript, audio, and video recordings), which included apps such as web-based resources and for research and teaching; all participants were provided with a transcript of their interview for review.

Qualitative analysis of the four DCIS interviews was conducted, along with a secondary analysis of the original 35 interviews (36 interviews were conducted but one participant withdrew from the study) of women with breast cancer, focusing on women's experiences of breast surgery. Using the framework

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e22970
```

method [27], we selected text from the 39 interviews that were specifically related to breast surgery, such as experiences with surgical procedures, but also topics such as body image, talking to children, sexuality, and information needs. Two senior qualitative researchers analyzed the data, using the analytic software NVivo 10 (QSR International), and then developed a list of relevant topics relating to content (in collaboration with the principal investigator and computer engineers) for the HERS app based on the themes and categories that emerged from the coding framework.

#### Phase 3: Technical Development of the Mobile App

Working closely with an expert advisory panel and women diagnosed with breast cancer, we built the HERS app based on the needs and preferences of women with breast cancer for tailored information from phase 1 with content from phase 2. We developed the HERS app as a mobile app for Android smartphones or tablets in the Java programming language. The content (video clips) is housed on a YouTube platform on the web. To provide tailored information to users, we developed a recommendation engine as a web service (based on the representational state transfer protocol) powered by a Microsoft structured query language database that stores user information and metadata of available videos. The mobile app accesses the web service and retrieves appropriate content from YouTube to display to users (Multimedia Appendix 1).

After completion of the prototype app, we made further improvements and iterations based on the feedback from a test session (testing the app, focus group, and surveys), as described in phase 4.

# Phase 4: Obtaining Preliminary Feedback From Potential Users

The test session took place in June 2018 with 5 women (aged 51-66 years with a minimum of high school education), who had been diagnosed with breast cancer between 2005 and 2016. Two of the women had a recurrence of cancer since their diagnosis and 2 women previously participated in the focus group of phase 1. The goals of the session were as follows:

- To consider women's responses to existing web-based resources for breast surgery that contain more factual information and to the pilot version of the HERS app presenting experiential information
- To gather perspectives on the HERS mobile app regarding what was useful and to gather any recommendations for improvement

The women first explored the information resources offered by the app. These included resources offered by reliable breast cancer organizations such as the Canadian Breast Cancer Foundation, Canadian Breast Cancer Network, and Canadian Cancer Society. These resources mostly offer what we have termed more biomedical or *facts and figures*-type information related to breast cancer (eg, illness stages and surgery procedures) and may occasionally include some experiences of women as testimonials. After reading these resources (20 min), the participants completed a questionnaire (15 min). We considered adopting the questions from the eHealth Impact Questionnaire evaluation tool [28] for this study; however, to

XSL•FO RenderX

align the tool with the content and process used in this study, we substantially adapted the questions but retained the 5-point Likert scale. This process was then repeated for the information on the experiential information in the HERS app. The focus group ended with a discussion of the value of biomedical-oriented information resources and experiential app resources.

# Phase 1: Understanding Women's Preferences and Needs Relating to the HERS App

# Information Needs Related to Surgery

A synthesis of the analysis of the information needs of women during the surgery phase (secondary analysis and focus groups) is shown in Textbox 1.

# Results

In this section, we present a summary of the results for each phase of the project. See Multimedia Appendix 4 for a Powerpoint presentation of the research study.

Textbox 1. Women's experiences with information related to breast cancer surgery.

#### Information received

- Women's contrasting experiences with regard to the information that they received was striking; some felt that they had received excellent information and others felt they were hardly informed.
- For the majority, it seemed as though there was both too much and too little information.

#### Information needs

- Women described that they were unaware of their information needs ("I think I didn't know what I needed to know") after finding the lump and while preparing for surgery.
- Women were understanding of the limited availability of health care professionals.
- Women described a need for experiential information on issues, such as impact on life, intimacy issues, and how to tell children.
- Women found that biomedical information about breast cancer was covered the best (in comparison with experiential or pragmatic information).
- The flow of information typically improved once patients saw their oncologist.

#### Lack of information

- Information in relation to care practices and surgery: wound care, preparation for surgery, how it will look, pain, and check-up frequency
- Experiential information: return to work, telling children, and effects on relationships. Women felt that this kind of information should be considered essential for patients.
- Women experienced a lack of information about and support for decisions related to surgery and reconstruction. They did not receive sufficient information about the importance of exercise after surgery.
- Women described feeling misinformed.

#### Helpful information

- Information from health care professionals: information session on breast cancer in hospital, visual explanations (eg, drawings showing the drains), link to a web-based decision-making tool, referrals to a sexologist and physiotherapist
- Personal resources women used to find information: websites, research articles, support groups, experiences of others, a specialized boutique that provides postmastectomy clothing, and being accompanied by a friend of a family member who can help remember the information shared during appointments with health care providers.
- Support groups: support groups were found to provide helpful resources. However, most women were only informed of the existence of a support group after surgery.

# Value of Experiential Information

In the focus groups, women were shown some relevant experiential videos that were published on our website (Canadian Health Experiences Research Network, 2021 [26]) to discuss the value of experiential information; women described experiencing a certain comfort from watching these videos (quote 1), an ability to learn from other experiences (quote 2), and how it may have influenced their decision making (quote 3): It's nice to see um I would have liked that, you know. To see some real-life women, you know, like really talking about it and saying something about it. It would have been comforting, you know, because sometimes you, you just don't know. And by the time you get into these support groups you've already gone through a lot of the uh stuff, the surgery.... [Quote 1]

So a lot of my friends were telling me "Don't worry, radiation it's not bad you're going to be fine." But I would have liked to have maybe a buddy or a nurse

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e22970
```

or somebody who I'm looking for people who have had the same thing that I have. Because I wanted to know what was your experience? Did you have the same symptoms that I had? [Quote 2]

But I think before I had my surgery when I was making decisions surgery or chemo and I saw, if I saw her video it might have really influenced that decision. [Quote 3]

They further said that the videos might help women who are going through a similar experience so that they feel less alone. They also highlighted the fact that women in the videos described real issues (eg, sexuality or talking to children about their diagnosis) that were not always easily discussed. The videos also raised concerns. One participant felt that video clips may also negatively influence decision making. Another concern was related to how users were to filter and validate this type of anecdotal information. Despite the two challenges raised within the group, participants agreed that there should be a place for these kinds of videos; the participants suggested that the project team should balance more provocative videos with other videos that present solutions or different experiences of similar situations.

# Key Design Preferences

Focus group participants were asked to describe their preferences for a mobile app and were also asked to give their opinion to certain proposed features for the app (such as the possibility to take notes); a summary of this discussion can be found in Textbox 2.

Textbox 2. Key design features for the Health Experiences and Real Stories app as discussed in focus groups to inform the development of the app.

#### **General feedback**

- Availability of information that relates to user's own situation
- Offer a range of experiences and information
- Important to include different age groups, stages and severities of breast cancer, marital status, and whether they have children
- Include how to videos
- Information should help women to normalize their experiences and include the message that each experience is unique

#### Videos

- Personal features of speakers (eg, age, ethnic background, and educational level) not defining of the information
- Provide culturally sensitive information
- Don't overemphasize or profile certain personal attributes as videos with speakers with different characteristics may still be relevant for users with other characteristics
- Topics should be grouped according to stage and by topic including social impact
- Include information on choices for surgery and posttreatment experiences
- Include a wide variety of experiences

#### Language use

• Use language that can be understood

#### Resources

- Provide links to other resources
- Resources should be up to date and cover a wide range of information needs
- Ability to save the link.
- To increase awareness, multiple women suggested using social media outlets such as Facebook

#### Note-taking

- Could relieve some stress accompanied with getting information
- Helpful to prepare questions

# **Phase 2: Content Development**

More than 175 illustrative clips, with original video, audio, and text clips from the interviews with a length of about 1-2 minutes, were extracted from the recordings of the 39 interviews with women with breast cancer (n=35) and DCIS (n=4). They were

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e22970

# Topic List: Core Content

The thematic analysis of the interview data defined the core content for the app to be organized within 11 major topics and 23 subtopics (Multimedia Appendix 2). The creation of this framework was an iterative process and was discussed with an interdisciplinary team and advisors. An additional search filter was added for the treatment phase (before surgery, surgery, after surgery, reconstruction, and impact on life). The themes and filter enable the recommender system to provide tailored information. All clips were tagged with keywords from the subthemes and treatment phase in a database server. Clips with medical information were reviewed by our health care professional advisors, such as surgeons, oncologists, and radiotherapists. Clips with potentially distressing information or unusual experiential information were reviewed by a psychologist, a representative of a breast cancer organization, or women diagnosed with breast cancer. After review, a small

Figure 2. Sample screenshot of app interface.

number of clips were removed from the database to mitigate any potential misinterpretation and an explanatory text was added other clips. The clips were then prepared and uploaded for video storage on YouTube.

# Preparation of an Introductory Instructional Video

Members of the project team used the app *Powtoon* to develop a short plain language introduction video, which was included in the app for users to review as a guide to the HERS app.

# Phase 3: Technical Development of Mobile App, Recommender System, and Back End

The requirements and suggestions as described in the former two sections, together with the team's interpretation of the requirements of the app, supported the development of the HERS app (see Figure 2 for a sample screenshot of the app interface).



Multimedia Appendix 3 details the functionality of the app. As previously described, the ability of the app to provide tailored information was a key design consideration. This was achieved through the development of a recommendation engine.

The recommendation engine performs content-based matching by recommending videos of speakers with similar characteristics as the user (based on user profiles such as age, marital status, and profession) on topics selected by the user and through collaborative filtering (videos related to videos liked by the user and by *similar* users).

The following three key principles informed our approach to recommendations:

- 1. Make the most informed recommendations initially
- 2. Increasingly reduce designer bias and let users drive recommendations
- 3. Account for diversity in recommendations

As expected, in a user's very first session, little is known about what kinds of content the user is actually interested in. Nevertheless, we make informed *guesses* based on the user's demographic information as registered in the user's profile and match that against the speaker profile in the metadata of the videos. After at least one session, the app analyses the user's indication of topics of interest (either done explicitly in the preferences view or implicitly by marking one or more videos as *relevant*). In addition to making recommendations based on similarity matching between users and videos, the app also makes recommendations based on diversity. The idea is to help users discover interesting content even if their preference settings and usage history do not indicate that the content is relevant to them. Heuristics are used to select videos on the diversity criteria, for example, videos that are most marked as relevant by the community.

# Phase 4: Exploring Preliminary Feedback From Potential Users

### Feedback

The pilot app, containing a total of 175 clips extracted from interviews with 39 women, was tested by potential users (see Textbox 3 for more detailed feedback).

Textbox 3. Feedback on general aspects, videos, and resources of the Health Experiences and Real Stories app after testing the app.

#### **General feedback**

- The app could help process information received from doctor (not all information was retained from doctor's visits)
- The app could be so interesting that the user would stay too long-guide users to access videos step by step
- The app looked professional, was well organized, and was easy to navigate. Some technical problems with the app—in some instances, the app would freeze
- The tool could help women be better prepared for the next stage

#### Videos

- Liked speakers' personalities
- Presentation and tone were described as intelligent and nonpatronizing
- Appreciation of range of topics and realistic videos
- Liked the ability to choose own videos or skip videos
- Length was good (not too long)
- If videos felt short, participant liked that other videos were available or that they could replay videos
- Organization by topic was helpful
- One participant liked the *snippets* of information; it worked for her
- Information well balanced: not too happy nor too sad
- One participant described how she recognized the experiences of one speaker

#### Resources

- Resources were appreciated and perceived as trustworthy
- Good step-by-step process
- Professional outlook and quality of resources
- Information would have a relaxing and calming effect on women during diagnoses phase
- Add contact information and feature for asking questions
- Appreciation of combination of biomedical and experiential information

# Survey Results

In total, 5 female participants were asked to complete the questionnaire twice: first after reading selected biomedical information resources that can be found on reliable websites and then after visiting the experiential section of the HERS

information app (see Table 1 for the results). The results revealed that participants positively perceived the biomedical information, and the results were slightly better after viewing the app information, for example, they seemed to feel less overwhelmed with information. However, this is a very small sample, and further testing is required.

**Table 1.** Results from survey questions  $(N=5)^a$ .

Question	After reading biomedical informa- tion <sup>b</sup> , median (range)	After reading app information <sup>c</sup> , median (range)
1. I feel better informed after viewing the resources.	4 (3-5)	4 (4-5)
2.I had a lot of my questions answered by the resources or this app.	4 (3-5)	4 (4-4)
3.I better understand the information I need to prepare for the next steps in treatment or stages of the illness.	4 (3-4)	4 (4-4)
4.I was able to easily find the information I was looking for.	4 (3-5)	4 (4-5)
5. The resources made me feel less lonely or isolated.	4 (3-5)	4 (4-5)
6.If a friend or family member were in a similar position, would you rec- ommend the resources or this app to her?	5 (3-5)	5 (4-5)
7. I have a better understanding of where to seek information about breast cancer and surgery.	4 (4-5)	4 (3-5)
8. Looking at the resources or site raised more questions for me than it answered.	3 (2-4)	2 (2-3)
9. There was so much information here, I felt overwhelmed.	3 (1-4)	2 (1-4)
10. It was difficult for me to relate to the information or the stories in this resource.	1 (1-3)	2 (1-2)
11. The information on this app will not help me feel more confident discussing my questions and concerns with my doctor(s).	1 (1-2)	1 (1-2)

<sup>a</sup>The questionnaire used a Likert scale of 1 to 5 for all questions except question 8 (1=strongly disagree; 2=disagree; 3=neither agree nor disagree; 4=agree; 5=strongly agree). For question 8, the responses represented the following: 1=definitely would not; 2=would not; 3=neither would nor would not; 4=would; and 5=definitely would.

<sup>b</sup>Total criteria satisfied (rated 4 or 5 for question 1 or 7 and rated 1 or 2 for question 8 or 11) was 9.

<sup>c</sup>Total criteria satisfied (rated 4 or 5 for question 1 or 7 and rated 1 or 2 for question 8 or 11) was 11.

# Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

This paper describes the development and piloting of a mobile app that provides tailored information for women, based on their preferences and needs, about others' experiences of breast surgery. This system draws upon an existing evidence-based data set of video narratives featuring Canadian women's experiences of breast surgery and uses advanced computing engineering and machine learning in the design of a recommendation algorithm to provide tailored information (similar to the popular Netflix platform). Our aim was to contribute to efforts that provide the right information at the right time and in the right format to help women manage information at a critical time in their care journey for breast cancer. In a preliminary pilot test, we found generally positive responses to questions regarding the content and value of this type of e-tool.

Our findings regarding women's information needs and their experiences related to missing relevant treatment information and information overload are consistent with the existing literature [29-31]. There is a need for the development and assessment of more interventions that help information seekers manage health information overload [3] and a need to develop information filters to help information seekers identify relevant web-based health information [5]. None of the identified articles in a recent systematic review on mobile apps for breast cancer care used a recommender system to generate tailored

RenderX

information and only three mentioned a feature with regard to tailoring information [12,13]. Although the use of recommender systems is still sparse in the health sector, it has the potential to contribute to tailored health interventions [32], and mobile apps for breast cancer could contribute to reducing information overload by offering tailored information and machine learning. This study contributes to the scarce existing knowledge related to evidence-based eHealth apps that are designed to provide information and support for women with breast cancer in addition to the novel application of a recommender system to do so. Scientific literature presenting narrative-based apps designed on the basis of rigorous research is virtually nonexistent, as per our preliminary review of the literature.

#### **Considerations for Future Research**

Research in the last decade has demonstrated the challenges of measuring the health effects associated with health information usage of information offered on the web or through web-based tools. These mechanisms are complex and interrelated with many factors. Tools, such as the one described in this paper, offer the potential to contribute to new knowledge and to a better understanding of information-seeking practices because of the ability to relate the user feedback on the videos (relevant or not) to the app usage as well as to the personal characteristics of the user, the speaker, and the content of the video. For example, the app makes it possible to better understand whether certain personal user characteristics, such as age, ethnic background, having children, marital status, and literacy level, influence one's preference for certain speakers with similar characteristics. In the future, it may also be possible to add other important

characteristics that influence information needs [29], such as preexisting knowledge of the illness and preference for more basic or advanced illness information. A recently developed narrative taxonomy defines three different kinds of narratives: process, experience, and outcome narratives [33]. The authors argue that, for each type of app (information tool, decision aid, and behavior change information), different narrative types should be used. For example, for an information tool, creators should include narratives about a process or experience but exclude narratives focused on the outcome. Future research should aim to better understand the impact of different types of narratives on the effectiveness and uptake of particular mobile apps for health. Finally, it is important to further test the impact of the app on the users, for example, through a randomized controlled trial.

Our research group is part of a global network of researchers who conduct similar research in their respective countries. This app offers the possibility of expansion by including clips from international collections of breast cancer narratives or by creating similar tools that use scientifically gathered, personal experiences of a variety of health conditions. An international working group is currently formed with member countries of an international network for patients' experiences [34] for the application of the HERS app elsewhere.

In addition, it is important that the app also offers information that the user does not yet know that she needs to know (eg, information on lymphedema exercises and the need to consider fertility treatment). Research on how women can best be introduced to these subjects through the app would be important. For instance, should the recommender system continuously offer clips on these specific subjects or should women be made aware of them through other pathways? It would also be important to consider how other unexpected events or complications during treatment (such as drain tube removal or unclear margins) should be introduced without engendering unnecessary fear or anxiety.

# Limitations

The limitations of this study are primarily related to the scale and the limited nature of the pilot study. We convened a small sample of breast cancer survivors to conduct a preliminary test of the functionality and user experience of the app. Admittedly, our targeted app users are women who are yet to undergo surgery. In this study, we chose to involve women who had already undergone surgery to provide retrospective insights into how this app would have helped them during their journey. The participants first accessed biomedical information and then experiential information; the order of this information may have influenced their responses to the survey. This would need to be explored in future trials of this product. Although the results were not intended to provide any statistical significance, we were encouraged by the favorable trends in their responses. We will now seek additional opportunities to expand the evaluation of the app to involve more women with breast cancer who are yet to undergo surgery, develop an iOS version of the app for Apple mobile devices, invite other health experience research groups using similar methods to test the addition of an expanded data set (video narratives gathered in other jurisdictions and on different health conditions), optimize the saturation of information within topics identified for this app, and consider a cloud-based deployment to eliminate the need to be bound to a specific server. The aim of our next phase of development will be to formally evaluate the utilization and impact of this eHealth tool on women's shared decision making and the perceived needs for information and support around the time of surgery in their breast cancer journey.

# Conclusions

In this paper, we provide preliminary evidence for the feasibility and acceptability of an innovative eHealth app designed to tailor experiential information for women preparing for breast cancer surgery. The HERS app, based on a recommender system, is a unique attempt to ensure that women receive the right information at the right time in the right format; however, further testing is still required to measure the impact of the app.

We believe that these kinds of tools offer great potential to improve health information competence and reduce information overload, while ensuring that women receive timely, relevant information that meets their needs, and they complement more factual, biomedical information about their illness that they receive from their care team and other sources.

# Acknowledgments

This study, to develop a tailored information app, was supported by financial contributions from the Quebec Breast Cancer Foundation (SMHC #11-22B). The original breast cancer study was supported by St. Mary's Hospital Foundation (SMHC #11-22B Women's Wellness Initiative) and the McGill Rossy Cancer Network (SMHC #11-22C RCN). The sponsors had no role in the design and conduct of the research project. The authors would like to thank the original study participants for sharing their stories to help inform others about the diversity of lived experiences with breast cancer; the authors also thank their project advisory group that included patients, community organizations, collaborating breast cancer support organizations, clinicians, and other researchers. This study received support from St. Mary's Research Centre staff, Montreal. The authors thank Dr Sylvie Lambert and Dr Jeannie Haggerty who provided advice at the outset of this project regarding the study design and methods and Dr Adelaide Doussau for statistical analysis. They also thank Stephanie Babinski for overall editing support.

# **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.



Multimedia Appendix 1 System structure of breast cancer video service. [DOCX File , 135 KB - formative v5i6e22970 app1.docx ]

# Multimedia Appendix 2

Framework for coding and Health Experiences and Real Stories app. [DOCX File , 14 KB - formative\_v5i6e22970\_app2.docx ]

Multimedia Appendix 3 Description of app functions. [DOCX File , 13 KB - formative v5i6e22970 app3.docx ]

# Multimedia Appendix 4

Bringing Netflix technology to video narratives of experiences of breast surgery: helping women navigate the information tsunami. [PPTX File, 2263 KB - formative\_v5i6e22970\_app4.pptx]

# References

- Jo HS, Park K, Jung SM. A scoping review of consumer needs for cancer information. Patient Educ Couns 2019 Jul;102(7):1237-1250. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pec.2019.02.004</u>] [Medline: <u>30772114</u>]
- McHugh SM, Corrigan M, Morney N, Sheikh A, Lehane E, Hill AD. A quantitative assessment of changing trends in internet usage for cancer information. World J Surg 2011 Feb;35(2):253-257. [doi: <u>10.1007/s00268-010-0830-8</u>] [Medline: <u>20972679</u>]
- Khaleel I, Wimmer BC, Peterson GM, Zaidi ST, Roehrer E, Cummings E, et al. Health information overload among health consumers: a scoping review. Patient Educ Couns 2020 Jan;103(1):15-32. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pec.2019.08.008</u>] [Medline: <u>31451363</u>]
- 4. Halkett GK, Kristjanson LJ, Lobb E, Little J, Shaw T, Taylor M, et al. Information needs and preferences of women as they proceed through radiotherapy for breast cancer. Patient Educ Couns 2012 Mar;86(3):396-404. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2011.05.010] [Medline: 21664788]
- 5. Swar B, Hameed T, Reychav I. Information overload, psychological ill-being, and behavioral intention to continue online healthcare information search. Comput Hum Behav 2017 May;70:416-425. [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2016.12.068]
- 6. Chae J, Lee C, Jensen JD. Correlates of cancer information overload: focusing on individual ability and motivation. Health Commun 2016;31(5):626-634. [doi: 10.1080/10410236.2014.986026] [Medline: 26512760]
- Tao C, Gong Y, Xu H, Zhao Z. Introduction: the International Conference on Intelligent Biology and Medicine (ICIBM) 2016: special focus on medical informatics and big data. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2017 Jul 05;17(Suppl 2):77 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12911-017-0462-0] [Medline: 28699553]
- 8. Trussler T. Toward Kinder Care: Tracing Women's Experience of Breast Cancer from Risk Awareness through Detection, Diagnosis, Treatment and Survivorship. Toronto: Canadian Breast Cancer Foundation; 2007:1-56.
- 9. Campbell-Enns HJ, Woodgate RL. The psychosocial experiences of women with breast cancer across the lifespan: a systematic review. Psychooncology 2017 Nov;26(11):1711-1721. [doi: <u>10.1002/pon.4281</u>] [Medline: <u>27648726</u>]
- Gorman JR, Usita PM, Madlensky L, Pierce JP. Young breast cancer survivors: their perspectives on treatment decisions and fertility concerns. Cancer Nurs 2011;34(1):32-40 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/NCC.0b013e3181e4528d] [Medline: 20697269]
- Cruz FO, Vilela RA, Ferreira EB, Melo NS, Reis PE. Evidence on the use of mobile apps during the treatment of breast cancer: systematic review. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Aug 27;7(8):e13245 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/13245] [Medline: 31456578]
- 12. Foley NM, O'Connell EP, Lehane EA, Livingstone V, Maher B, Kaimkhani S, et al. PATI: Patient accessed tailored information: a pilot study to evaluate the effect on preoperative breast cancer patients of information delivered via a mobile application. Breast 2016 Dec;30:54-58. [doi: 10.1016/j.breast.2016.08.012] [Medline: 27611236]
- 13. Harder H, Holroyd P, Burkinshaw L, Watten P, Zammit C, Harris PR, et al. A user-centred approach to developing bWell, a mobile app for arm and shoulder exercises after breast cancer treatment. J Cancer Surviv 2017 Dec;11(6):732-742 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11764-017-0630-3] [Medline: 28741202]
- 14. Liua Y, Genga Z, Wua F, Yuana C. Developing "Information Assistant": a smartphone application to meet the personalized information needs of women with breast cancer. MEDINFO 2017: Precision Healthcare Through Informatics. 2017. URL: https://ebooks.iospress.nl/pdf/doi/10.3233/978-1-61499-830-3-156 [accessed 2021-05-11]
- Young-Afat DA, van Gils CH, Bruinvels DJ, van der Pol CC, Witkamp AJ, Sijtsema S, et al. Patients' and health care providers' opinions on a supportive health app during breast cancer treatment: a qualitative evaluation. JMIR Cancer 2016 Jun 07;2(1):e8 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/cancer.5334] [Medline: 28410170]

- 16. Device software functions including mobile medical applications. U.S. Food and Drug Administration. 2019. URL: <u>https://www.fda.gov/medical-devices/digital-health/device-software-functions-including-mobile-medical-applications</u> [accessed 2021-11-05]
- 17. Jongerius C, Russo S, Mazzocco K, Pravettoni G. Research-tested mobile apps for breast cancer care: systematic review. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Feb 11;7(2):e10930 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10930] [Medline: 30741644]
- Zhu J, Ebert L, Xue Z, Shen Q, Chan SW. Development of a mobile application of Breast Cancer e-Support program for women with breast cancer undergoing chemotherapy. Technol Health Care 2017;25(2):377-382. [doi: <u>10.3233/THC-161292</u>] [Medline: <u>28085020</u>]
- 19. Ziebland S, Wyke S. Health and illness in a connected world: how might sharing experiences on the internet affect people's health? Milbank Q 2012 Jun;90(2):219-249 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1468-0009.2012.00662.x] [Medline: 22709387]
- 20. Ziebland S, Herxheimer A. How patients' experiences contribute to decision making: illustrations from DIPEx (personal experiences of health and illness). J Nurs Manag 2008 May;16(4):433-439. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1365-2834.2008.00863.x</u>] [Medline: <u>18405260</u>]
- 21. Shaffer VA, Hulsey L, Zikmund-Fisher BJ. The effects of process-focused versus experience-focused narratives in a breast cancer treatment decision task. Patient Educ Couns 2013 Nov;93(2):255-264. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2013.07.013] [Medline: 23962673]
- 22. Ormel I, Magalhaes M, Josephson D, Tracey L, Law S. How to know what to know: information challenges for women in the diagnostic phase of breast cancer. Patient Educ Couns 2021 Jan;104(1):179-185 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2020.06.030] [Medline: 32646774]
- 23. Mobasheri MH, Johnston M, King D, Leff D, Thiruchelvam P, Darzi A. Smartphone breast applications what's the evidence? Breast 2014 Oct;23(5):683-689. [doi: 10.1016/j.breast.2014.07.006] [Medline: 25153432]
- 24. Blow AJ, Swiecicki P, Haan P, Osuch JR, Symonds LL, Smith SS, et al. The emotional journey of women experiencing a breast abnormality. Qual Health Res 2011 Oct;21(10):1316-1334. [doi: 10.1177/1049732311405798] [Medline: 21511978]
- 25. Smit A, Coetzee BJ, Roomaney R, Bradshaw M, Swartz L. Women's stories of living with breast cancer: a systematic review and meta-synthesis of qualitative evidence. Soc Sci Med 2019 Feb;222:231-245. [doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2019.01.020] [Medline: 30665063]
- 26. Canadian Health Experiences Research Network. 2021. URL: https://healthexperiences.ca/ [accessed 2021-05-17]
- Gale NK, Heath G, Cameron E, Rashid S, Redwood S. Using the framework method for the analysis of qualitative data in multi-disciplinary health research. BMC Med Res Methodol 2013 Sep 18;13:117 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2288-13-117] [Medline: 24047204]
- Kelly L, Ziebland S, Jenkinson C. Measuring the effects of online health information: scale validation for the e-Health Impact Questionnaire. Patient Educ Couns 2015 Nov;98(11):1418-1424 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2015.06.008] [Medline: 26162953]
- 29. Lu H, Xie J, Gerido LH, Cheng Y, Chen Y, Sun L. Information needs of breast cancer patients: theory-generating meta-synthesis. J Med Internet Res 2020 Jul 28;22(7):e17907 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/17907] [Medline: 32720899]
- 30. Halbach SM, Ernstmann N, Kowalski C, Pfaff H, Pförtner T, Wesselmann S, et al. Unmet information needs and limited health literacy in newly diagnosed breast cancer patients over the course of cancer treatment. Patient Educ Couns 2016 Sep;99(9):1511-1518. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2016.06.028] [Medline: 27378079]
- 31. Hanna L, Grothaus K, Peterson M, Bertram S. Breast cancer survivors' perceptions of the delivery of lymphedema education in the United States. J Women's Health Phys Ther 2017;41(3):137-144. [doi: <u>10.1097/JWH.00000000000083</u>]
- Cheung KL, Durusu D, Sui X, de Vries H. How recommender systems could support and enhance computer-tailored digital health programs: a scoping review. Digit Health 2019 Jan 24;5:A [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/2055207618824727] [Medline: 30800414]
- 33. Shaffer VA, Zikmund-Fisher BJ. All stories are not alike: a purpose-, content-, and valence-based taxonomy of patient narratives in decision aids. Med Decis Making 2013 Jan;33(1):4-13. [doi: <u>10.1177/0272989X12463266]</u> [Medline: <u>23065418</u>]
- 34. DIPEx International. URL: <u>https://dipexinternational.org/</u> [accessed 2021-05-18]

# Abbreviations

**DCIS:** ductal carcinoma in situ **HERS:** Health Experiences and Real Stories **SMHC:** Saint Mary's Hospital Center



Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 05.08.20; peer-reviewed by H Harder, M Lozano-Lozano; comments to author 04.10.20; revised version received 26.11.20; accepted 13.04.21; published 02.06.21. <u>Please cite as:</u> Ormel I, Onu CC, Magalhaes M, Tang T, Hughes JB, Law S Using a Mobile App–Based Video Recommender System of Patient Narratives to Prepare Women for Breast Cancer Surgery: Development and Usability Study Informed by Qualitative Data JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e22970 URL: https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e22970 doi:10.2196/22970 PMID:34076582

©Ilja Ormel, Charles C Onu, Mona Magalhaes, Terence Tang, John B Hughes, Susan Law. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 02.06.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Original Paper** 

# Multicultural Adaptation of Mighty Girls for Widespread Dissemination: Pilot Study, App Development and Usability Testing, and Gauging Parent Support With Focus Groups

Anne E Norris<sup>1,2</sup>, FAAN, PhD; Roxana Delcampo Thalasinos<sup>3</sup>, AS; Michael L Hecht<sup>3,4</sup>, DPhil

<sup>1</sup>REAL Prevention, LLC, Oviedo, FL, United States

<sup>2</sup>School of Nursing and Health Studies, University of Miami, Coral Gables, FL, United States

<sup>3</sup>REAL Prevention, LLC, Clifton, NJ, United States

<sup>4</sup>Department of Communication Arts and Science, Penn State University, State College, PA, United States

# **Corresponding Author:**

Anne E Norris, FAAN, PhD REAL Prevention, LLC 817 Kingsbridge Dr Oviedo, FL, 32765 United States Phone: 1 4074161727 Email: <u>anne@real-prevention.com</u>

# Abstract

**Background:** Taking evidence-based interventions to scale is a challenge for prevention science. Mighty Girls is an evidence-based sexual health intervention program that combines classroom sessions with novel, cutting-edge technology (digital puppetry). The program was developed for 7th grade Latinas, but US school and community demographics rarely allow interventions targeting a single ethnic group. Additionally, digital puppetry is costly to scale up, and parent disapproval often prevents successful dissemination of adolescent sexual health programs. Intervening steps along the scaling-up pathway are needed to adapt the program prior to scaling up for dissemination.

**Objective:** The aims of this study were to create a multicultural adaptation of the Mighty Girls program using a mobile app that is less costly to disseminate and is acceptable to parents of 7th grade girls.

**Methods:** This study used a three-phase process to adapt Mighty Girls into Mighty Teens. All phases used purposive (nonprobability) sampling of low-income, multicultural, urban metropolitan groups (7th grade girls and their parents) within central Florida. Phase 1 involved two videotaped implementations of a multicultural adaptation of the classroom sessions, one involving focus groups (N=14) and the other serving as a single-group pretest-posttest pilot study (N=23). Phase 2 involved development of a narrative cell phone app prototype, which was subjected to usability testing (N=25). App usability and engagement were assessed qualitatively (observation, focus group, open-ended questions) and quantitatively. Phase 3 used focus groups to assess parent support for the program (N=6). Qualitative data were analyzed using descriptive content analysis. Quantitative data were analyzed using descriptive statistics and paired *t* tests.

**Results:** Qualitative findings supported classroom sessions being multicultural, and identified simple changes to improve engagement and learning. Quantitative findings from the second classroom session implementation pilot study indicated a significant pre-post difference in intention to delay sexual intercourse (P=.04). App usability and appeal were supported by a System Usability Scale score of 76 (exceeding 68 per the industry standard) and 83% (20/24) of participants agreeing they would recommend the app to friends. Parents (mothers) expressed only positive regard for program goals, and classroom session and app activities.

**Conclusions:** This study adapted Mighty Girls into an engaging, easier-to-disseminate, multicultural program, termed Mighty Teens, that uses a narrative-generating app to support behavior change, and is likely to be accepted by parents of 7th grade girls. This study also provides evidence of the preliminary effectiveness of Mighty Teens classroom sessions. The sampling method and sample size were appropriate for adaptation, but research involving a more representative US sample is needed to confirm multicultural fit, parent receptivity, and program effectiveness. Study implications include integrating app use throughout the classroom sessions to build narrative-generating skills across the program and increasing the number of narratives produced, which should in turn increase the program's behavior change potency.

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e24937) doi:10.2196/24937

# **KEYWORDS**

implementation science; mobile apps; peer influence; early intervention; adolescent health

# Introduction

Taking evidence-based interventions to scale is a challenge for prevention science [1,2] because scaling up interventions for widespread dissemination is not always straightforward [3]. Scaling up is particularly challenging in sexual health interventions with traditional support from the literature focused on monocultural tailoring [4,5] and the focus of the US National Institutes of Health on innovation. Although these are certainly worthy goals, they are often at odds with achieving scale, particularly for school-based programs. Additionally, political and ideological issues, especially parent disapproval [6], can create barriers to dissemination [7,8]. Failure to consider these issues prior to scaling up for widespread dissemination can threaten the successful dissemination of evidence-based programs [9].

The purpose of this paper is to illustrate the steps taken to adapt Mighty Girls, an evidence-based sexual health intervention program [10], prior to scaling it up for widespread dissemination within US public school systems. Mighty Girl's program design is guided by a theoretical framework that integrates adolescent development theory [11], social cognitive theory [12], and narrative engagement theory [13]. The first two theories define program goals: delaying initiation of intercourse by building efficacy and skills in decision-making, goal-setting, risk evaluation, and resistance to peer pressure and media messages implying teen sex as a common behavior. By contrast, the narrative engagement theory defines the overarching program strategy: using narrative-generating activities to (a) build program skills, and (b) combine and imbed skill knowledge and program messages in memory. The resulting Mighty Girls program includes 6 classroom sessions and a computer game, DRAMA-RAMA, that generates a first-person narrative about responding to peer pressure in a simulated early adolescent world (Textbox 1).

# Textbox 1. Mighty Girls program components and corresponding components in the Mighty Teens adaptation

<b>Textbox 1.</b> Mighty Girls program components and corresponding components in the Mighty Teens adaptation.
Sessions began with "Mighty Moments," a kinesthetic learning experience of relationally competent resistance communication skills developed by the second author. Session objectives are listed with the original (Mighty Girls) program session title. Objectives were retained in the adaptation with minor modifications.
Choices & Results (split into two sessions in Mighty Teens: Goals and Choices & Results)
• Identify personal goals (modified as "Goals" in Mighty Teens)
• Understand the results of everyday choices (modified as "Choices & Results" in Mighty Teens)
• Relate choices and results to goals (modified as "Choices & Results" in Mighty Teens)
What's Risky? (maintained as "What's Risky?" in Mighty Teens)
• Explain why some behaviors could be considered risky
Identify potential results of choosing to engage in risky behaviors
• Discuss what increases or decreases the risk of a specific behavior
• Identify what behaviors are risky for oneself
The Avoid Skill (modified as "Avoid & Leave" in Mighty Teens)
Define Avoid Skill
• List 3 methods for avoiding an uncomfortable or risky situation
Avoid the Mighty Girls way: being considerate, confident, and convincing
The Refuse Skill (modified as "Refuse & Explain" in Mighty Teens)
• Explain differences between aggressive, passive, and assertive communication
Demonstrate matching voice and body language using Refuse Skill
Refuse the Mighty Girl way: being considerate, confident, and convincing
Media Influences (modified as "Challenging Media Messages" in Mighty Teens)
• Explain purpose of media
• Think critically about advertisements and TV show messages
• Identify positive and negative messages about girls and women in the media
• Identify ways in which teens on popular TV shows are different from and similar to teens in real life
Wrap-up & Review
Model results-based choices
• Demonstrate Mighty communication: using considerate, confident, and convincing words and body language.
Tech Component to Support and Sustain Behavior Change (modified as a cell phone app in Mighty Teens)

• Digital puppetry computer game, DRAMA-RAMA

The Avoid Skill and The Refuse Skill sessions were adapted from "keepin' it REAL" [14]. Other sessions were cocreated by the first and second authors.

Mighty Girls has three features, which the nonadoption, abandonment, scale-up, spread, and sustainability (NASSS) framework identifies as likely to result in failure to scale up and disseminate [9]. First, the program was developed for Latinas. This monocultural focus is at odds with successful dissemination within US public school systems given US school and community demographics [15]. Additionally, research findings argue for greater effectiveness of multicultural, relative to monocultural, program interventions in general [16] and within US school settings in particular [17,18]. Second, DRAMA-RAMA relies on human-in-the-loop technology (digital puppetry) [10]. Advances in artificial intelligence are

equipment costs estimated at US \$20,000 per school), making the intervention not sustainable within US public school systems. An alternative, less costly narrative-generating technological component such as a smartphone app would address this sustainability barrier. Third, it is wise to gauge potential parent support for any school-based sexual health program [6], particularly one that uses a smartphone app [19], early in the scaling-up process when changes are easier to accommodate.

not yet sufficient to reduce this cost (current personnel and



# Methods

# Overview

All three phases of program adaptation (Figure 1) used purposive [20] (nonprobability) sampling of groups living in a low-income,

Figure 1. Adapting Mighty Girls into Mighty Teens, a more scalable and easier to disseminate program.



# Phase 1: Multicultural Adaptation of Classroom Sessions and Pilot Study

# Design

Phase 1 used an iterative process involving consultation and two implementations of the classroom sessions, with the second implementation serving as a pilot study. After each iteration, the classroom sessions were revised.

Three changes to program materials were made in preparation for phase 1. First, session slide sets were revised to ensure representation of a variety of cultural/ethnic groups. Second, content on narrative writing was added to the final "Wrap-up & Review" session. Third, ordering of the Avoid Skill and Refuse Skill sessions was reversed relative to their positioning in the original program. This last change was driven by insights from implementing the original program [10]. Both sessions were adapted from an efficacious, early-adolescent substance use prevention program, "keepin' it REAL" [14], which stands for the relationally competent resistance communication skills Refuse, Explain, Avoid, and Leave. Only Refuse and Avoid were taught in Mighty Girls because formative work indicated that Explain could elicit more peer pressure by inviting peers to argue [21], and Leave could not be used in DRAMA-RAMA.

# Consultation

RenderX

Consultants included a female middle school staff member and three adult women in their early 20s (two African American women and one biracial African American/Native American woman). The latter were recruited as research assistants through Indeed, a worldwide employment website for job listings. These young women all lived in the same low-income, multicultural, urban metropolitan area in which the study was being performed. We specifically empowered them by emphasizing during recruitment and task directions that they brought a unique and

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e24937
```

valuable expertise critical to the success of the research effort (this message was repeated throughout phase 1 and phase 2 for all tasks involving these women). They were tasked with reviewing the Mighty Girls classroom session program manual and slide sets for language, terminology, and image inclusivity (ie, not heterosexist or specific to a particular ethnic group) and making recommendations.

multicultural, urban metropolitan area within central Florida.

Recruitment and study procedures were approved by the Prevention Strategies LLC Institutional Review Board and

participating school district. Below, we present information

specific to each phase, one phase at a time.

# Participants, Procedures, and Measures

Participants in both implementations were girls enrolled in the 7th grade (aged 11-14 years) at two multiethnic middle schools in an urban metropolitan area within central Florida. No participant had difficulty speaking, reading, or writing in English, and on average used only English, or English more than other languages, for these activities (ie, high level of acculturation). Participants of implementation 1 were recruited at a low-income (67% reduced/free lunch, in accordance with criteria to be designated as a "Title I" school: 65% of students/families qualify directly for supplemental nutrition assistance program, homeless, migrant, Medicaid, or foster care as verified by the state) middle school with 80% minority enrollment. Two girls dropped out after session 4 due to repeated disruptive behavioral issues. Participants of implementation 2 were recruited at a second low-income (52% reduced/free lunch) school with 69% minority enrollment (top 5% of state schools for enrollment diversity). Participants at both schools were recruited with: (1) flyers posted at the school; (2) a message sent out via phone by the principal to parents of 7th grade girls; and (3) the three research assistants discussing the study and handing out study packets during 7th grade lunch (packets contained the principal's letter of support, parental consent forms, and screening form assessing parents' culture/ethnicity and child's English language fluency).

Each implementation involved a two-person multicultural teaching team consisting of either the first or third author in the teaching role and one of the three research assistants in the teaching assistant role (ie, Hispanic or non-Hispanic White teacher paired with African American or multiethnic [African American/Native American] teaching assistant). This team also acted as participant observers who made postsession notes about the session they had taught, identifying what worked and did not work, and providing feedback on the cultural relevance of the wording and examples used to explain concepts.

Teaching assistant role training involved completing session activities in the role of a participant, and provided an opportunity to try out a training approach that combined two 2-hour face-to-face sessions with a "homework" assignment similar to what might be used for training when the program is taken to scale. All three research assistants spontaneously reported how much they liked their training, particularly the "homework" (using communication techniques with friends and family).

Both implementations were videotaped. The first implementation involved postsession focus groups, and the second was a one-group, pretest-posttest pilot study (not powered for significance).

# First Implementation

Participants at the first school completed a brief demographic questionnaire immediately prior to the first session that assessed age; birth country; race and ethnicity; acculturation (use of first language relative to English for those who spoke more than one language) [22,23]; and whether lunch was free, reduced in price, or full price.

Each Mighty Teens classroom session was delivered and then followed by a short focus group led by the teaching team. Focus group questions were displayed on slides. Participants wrote responses on large pieces of paper posted on walls or on anonymous index cards, depending on the question. They then voted (ie, agreed/disagreed) on themes identified in comments written publicly and anonymously, and responded to probes for more details or new thoughts emerging in response to other teens' comments.

# Second Implementation/Pilot Study

In lieu of focus groups, participants at the second school completed a paper-and-pencil pretest immediately prior to the first session (also containing the same demographic items used in the first implementation) and completed a posttest immediately after the last session. All measures had been pretested or used with this age group previously [10,24].

The pretest and posttest contained a short self-efficacy scale, along with items assessing resistance and sexual intentions, and intention to postpone sexual intercourse. The 9-item selfefficacy scale comprised 5 items from the 12-item measure reported by DiIorio et al [25] (eg, say "no" to sex even if the other person says they will break up with you if you don't have sex) and 4 items created by the first author to assess self-efficacy regarding specific program resistance behaviors [10]. These 4 items were: (1) stop someone who is pressuring you to do sexual things without making them angry, (2) leave a party or dance club where sexual things are going on without being made fun of, (3) avoid situations where you know other people will be making out, and (4) say no in a serious way and stick to it when someone you like is pressuring you to do sexual things. Response options range from 1 to 4 with labels for endpoints and midpoints (1=not at all sure; 3=moderately sure; 5=completely sure). Higher scores indicate greater resistance self-efficacy. Cronbach  $\alpha$  was .84.

All intention items used the same response options: definitely not (1), probably not (2), probably yes (3), and definitely yes (4). Higher scores indicate greater intention. Psychometric analysis argued for treating intention types as measures of separate constructs, not part of a single multi-item intentions scale. Resistance intentions were assessed by a question related to a particular response strategy when asked "to do something you do not want to do." Response strategies included: not resisting (go along with what they want me to do), resisting by using relationally competent communication strategies (4 items, including suggest doing something else;  $\alpha$ =.62), or resisting by using a nonrelationally competent strategy (tell them I don't want to because it's stupid). Kirby et al's [26] 3-item sexual intention measure was used to assess willingness to engage in sexual intercourse (eg, I would have sex now to keep someone I cared about romantically as a boyfriend/girlfriend); Cronbach  $\alpha$  was .79. Intention to postpone sexual intercourse was assessed with a single item: I want to wait to have sex until I am older.

# Data Analysis

Demographic responses were summarized with descriptive statistics. A paired t test was used to assess pretest-posttest differences in self-efficacy, resistance and sexual intentions, and intention to postpone sexual intercourse (second implementation only).

The first and second authors reviewed classroom session videos (both implementations) for signs of engagement, restlessness, and confusion. Engagement was defined as girls raising their hands to participate, smiling, looking at the teaching team or slide presentation when not engaged in a task, working on tasks, or easily redirected from chatting with peer(s) back to the main discussion and remaining attentive. Restlessness was defined as fidgeting, repeatedly talking with peer(s) and not easily redirected back to the task, complaining about the activity, being bored, or not having fun. Confusion was defined as a facial expression in which the nose and forehead were scrunched up in a type of frown, or complaints about being confused or not understanding task directions.

The first author also reviewed and performed a descriptive content analysis [27] of the teaching team postsession notes (both implementations) and postsession focus group videos (implementation 1 only). Content (eg, sentence or section of notes; participant response or portion of response if expressing multiple ideas) was sorted into one of three categories: (1) liking or positive, (2) disliking or negative, and (3) confusing or not clear. Improvement suggestions noticed in this process were also marked. Next, information within categories and improvement suggestions were each reviewed for themes and multiple instances, summarized, and then discussed with the study team.

XSL•FO

# Phase 2: Development of a Narrative Cell Phone App and Usability Testing

# Design

Phase 2 began with app development that culminated in usability testing. The app prototype was initially developed for Android phones given Pew Foundation reports [28] indicating greater Android use by low-income families living in the urban metropolitan area within central Florida in which this research was being performed. However, the next iteration of the app will be built for both Android and iPhone cell phones.

Two theories guided app development. First, the theory of fun [29] stresses the importance of engagement for app uptake, and defines engagement as the result of positive affect, fun, low predictability, novelty, and the right amount of challenge (not too little or too much) experienced while interacting with the app. Second, narrative engagement theory [13] stresses the centrality of engagement to behavior change. According to this theory, engagement mediates overall effectiveness of narrative

creation, a phenomenon that builds self-efficacy through cognitive rehearsal [12] while simultaneously imbedding intervention messages (eg, concepts) in a narrative [13]. App use was planned for nonschool settings (eg, home, public library), necessitating a simple and intuitive interface. Additionally, the interface needed to guide users in creating their own "Mighty Teens" electronic story of resistance (similar to the events that occurred with DRAMA-RAMA in the Mighty Girls program). Stories were to be recorded, mirroring natural storytelling.

Both the app and a secure, password-protected dashboard (backend accessible to administration staff) were developed using a collaborative approach, involving the authors and Margaret Broucek, Principal of Tapp.technology who was a phase 2 technology partner (Textbox 2). Tapp.technology iteratively created screen designs in response to feedback from the authors and the three research assistants, arriving at the designs used to create the prototype for usability testing (Figure 2).

Textbox 2. Required prototype features and functionalities.

#### Mighty Teens app

- Intuitive interface with minimal text or direction
- Record oral story. Text input only required for naming story
- Present users with icons representing places, characters and their emotions, and Mighty Teens skills from which to select
- Provide users with button to click to access definitions of individual Mighty Teens skills
- Provide users with a button to click to record story while viewing selected icon places, people and their emotions, and Mighty Teens skills
- Allow users to listen to their story, and submit, rerecord, or delete it
- Send user stories using secure encrypted transmission to Mighty Teens dashboard

#### **Mighty Teens Dashboard**

- Secure, password-protected
- Allow direct entry and edit of information into sortable fields with controlled access to such privileges
- Usernames grouped by implementer and implementation school/clinic site
- Implementation school/clinic site with street, address, state, and zip code information, and grouped by organization
- Store usernames, app access codes, addresses, and story submissions
- Assign various levels of access to all stored information



Norris et al

Figure 2. Mighty Teens app prototype story-creating screen with pop-ups allowing selection of places, characters with as many emotions (represented as emoticons) as needed, and Mighty Teens skills.



#### **Participants and Procedures**

Phase 1 participants were invited to participate in usability testing as part of their study participation. However, some were unable to attend due to transportation issues or schedule conflicts (eg, needed for sport team practice), resulting in a sample of 25 participants. Almost all participants (92%, 23/25) created and recorded at least one story. Two participants interacted with the app but did not record (or deleted recordings of) their stories. One of these participants did not want anyone to listen to her story. It is unclear if the other had difficulty with the recording feature or felt similarly. Although 25 girls participated in app testing, only 24 completed written assessments of usability and engagement.

Usability testing was performed at each school involved in phase 1 with hot spots, approximately 1 month apart. Participants

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e24937
```

XSL•FO RenderX accessed the app using either their own Android cell phone or a "testing" cell phone provided by the research team.

When participants arrived at their respective school, they were split into two groups with each group assigned to a different classroom. Once in their classroom, participants were split into dyads and a research team member was assigned to observe each dyad. Those that finished early were free to record additional stories. Research team members took ethnographic field notes describing participants' verbal and nonverbal behaviors during app use, but were unable to see the participants' screens unless shown to them. Research team members debriefed immediately after testing. Notes from this meeting became part of the ethnographic field notes.

After using the app, the girls completed written assessments of usability and engagement. Following this, a brief focus group

discussion was held with the first or second author in the role of facilitator and a member of the research team in the role of cofacilitator/notetaker.

# Measures

# **Quantitative Measures**

Self-reported usability was assessed with an adaptation of the System Usability Scale [30] in which the word "system" was replaced with "app," and wordiness and reading level were reduced to make items more accessible to teens. For example, the original item "I think that I would like to use this system frequently" was revised to "I would use this app a lot." Response options (strongly disagree, disagree, neutral, agree, strongly agree) were unchanged.

Consistent with the original scoring process [30], responses were assigned a value of 0 (strongly disagree) to 4 (strongly agree) with even-numbered items reverse-scored, and scores were summed with the result multiplied by 2.5 to create a usability score ranging from 0 to 100. Cronbach  $\alpha$  for the adapted measure was .80. Validity was supported by correlations with the app being interesting (*r*=0.60, *P*=.002), task difficulty (*r*=-0.44, *P*=.048), and flow (*r*=0.45, *P*=.03).

Usability was also assessed with an open-ended question asking what could be done to improve the app, and task difficulty was assessed with a closed-ended question: "It was hard to think of an idea to use for the Mighty Teens app." Response options were strongly disagree (1), disagree (2), agree (3), and strongly agree (4).

Self-reported engagement was measured with 6 items adapted from those used in DRAMA-RAMA development by replacing the word "game" with "app" and referring to writing stories instead of interacting with game characters [10]. A single item assessed whether the app was fun to use. A 5-item Likert scale consisted of the following items: three items describing the app experience (fun way to create a story, interesting, boring [recoded]), one item asking about using the app for a school assignment, and one item asking about recommending the app to friends. Response options ranged from strongly disagree (0) to strongly agree (3), without a neutral midpoint.

#### **Qualitative Measures**

Ethnographic field notes were used to assess usability and engagement presence and issues. Research team members were trained to collect these notes and used a checklist as a guide to verify that they had commented on all assessment domains. The checklist prompted assessment of (a) verbal and nonverbal signs of positive and negative affect, and (b) problems with usability indicated by participants having completed the storytelling task (eg, long delays, facial expressions of frustration, asking questions).

Focus group interviews consisted of open-ended questions that asked for general impressions, likes and dislikes, and recommendations for improvement. These questions were followed by requests for feedback on specific screens or parts of screens.

# Data Analysis

Ethnographic field notes, focus group notes, and participant responses to the open-ended usability question were analyzed using descriptive content analysis [27], similar to phase 1. However, the first author sorted units into categories, and then identified and presented a summary of themes represented by these categories to the usability testing team, along with copies of the raw qualitative data. The summary was finalized in the resulting discussion.

Participant stories were coded for narrative structure and reference to Mighty Teens program skills using two dichotomous (0, 1) variables. Narrative structure was defined as three complete components (1). A reference to a Mighty Teens program skill (1) required the participant to describe a character correctly using (or teaching another character to use) at least one skill. It was not necessary to use the exact program name for the skill. However, not referencing a skill or naming one without any application were both coded as no reference (0). Interrater agreement was 100%.

# Phase 3: Focus Groups to Gauge Parent Support

# Participants, Procedures, and Measures

Mothers and fathers of 7th grade girls involved in the second implementation were invited to participate in a focus group (a) by flyers included in the study packets given out to their daughters, and (b) during the parental consent process for their daughters' participation. No fathers expressed interest in participating or were involved in the consenting process.

Scheduling of focus group participation coincided with the first national lockdown in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. Parents were distracted, under distress, with other activities competing for their attention, complicating consenting and scheduling (eg, parents who had previously expressed interest did not return phone calls). Scheduling and COVID-19 accommodations resulted in two focus groups involving 6 mothers as participants.

Focus groups were conducted using Zoom conference technology, which was challenging because the participants seemed unfamiliar with Zoom and video conferences in general. However, the facilitator (second author) was able to assist by phone, and familiarize participants with the process and importance of confidentiality and privacy once they opened Zoom.

Focus group interviews consisted of open-ended questions about (1) what the parents had heard about Mighty Teen classroom sessions or the app from their daughters, and (2) the parents' feelings about and challenges related to their daughters' use of apps and cell phones. Information about classroom session topics and activities, and about the app was provided once parents shared what they had heard. Feedback was then solicited, followed by specific probing related to their daughters' use of the app, her doing so privately, and supervision preferences and concerns.



# Data Analysis

Descriptive statistics are used to summarize the mothers' ethnicities. Focus group recordings were transcribed verbatim and analyzed using descriptive content analysis [27], similar to phases 1 and 2. However, the first and second authors independently sorted units into positive/negative categories and

summarized themes within the categories. No differences in categorization or meaning of theme labels were noted.

# Results

# **Participant Characteristics**

Participant demographic characteristics for all three study phases are provided in Table 1.

Table 1. Demographic characteristics of participants by study phase.

Characteristic	Phase 1: Implementation		Phase 2: Usability testing (N=25)	Phase 3: Parent focus groups (N=6)
	1 (n=14)	2 (n=23)		
Age (years), median (range)	13 (12-14)	13 (11-14)	13 (11-14)	a
Qualifies for reduced/free lunch, n (%)	11 (85)	16 (70)	19 (76)	N/A <sup>b</sup>
Cultural/ethnic group, n (%)				
African American	5 (36)	5 (22)	8 (32)	2 (33) <sup>C</sup>
Arab American	0 (0)	1 (4)	1 (4)	0 (0)
Bahamian/Black Caribbean	2 (14)	2 (9)	2 (8)	1 (17) <sup>C</sup>
Haitian	0 (0)	4 (17)	3 (12)	1 (17) <sup>C</sup>
Hispanic/Latino	4 (29)	5 (22)	5 (20)	1 (17) <b>d</b>
Indo-American	1 (7)	1 (4)	1 (4)	0 (0)
Non-Hispanic White	1 (7)	2 (9)	2 (8)	1 (17)d
Multicultural (African American and Haitian; African American and Hispanic/Latino; Navajo and Non-His- panic White; Bahamian and Haitian)	1 (7)	3 (13)	3 (12)	0 (0)
US (mainland)-born, n (%)	11 (79)	20 (87)	21 (85%)	_
High level of acculturation, n (%)	12 (86)	20 (87)	22 (88%)	_

<sup>a</sup>Data not collected.

<sup>b</sup>N/A: not applicable.

<sup>c</sup>Part of same focus group.

<sup>d</sup>Part of same focus group.

# Phase 1: Multicultural Adaptation of Classroom Sessions

# Consultation

The consultants recommended taking more time in session 1 to explain the program, and making two changes to increase program language inclusivity: (1) replace "girls" with "teens" (including in the program title); and (2) use nongender-specific names and pronouns to avoid gender identity and sexual orientation biases. These changes were recommended to make teens feel included regardless of gender identity or sexual orientation. The only exception was in the Media Influences session, where the focus on how girls and women are depicted in advertisements was viewed as valuable. The three young adult consultants also reported (without prompting) how much they liked the program and wished it had been offered to them when they were in middle school, lending support for its multicultural potential.

# Implementations

# Overview

Review of classroom session videos and teaching impression notes from both implementations failed to identify instances indicating a lack of multiculturalism in terminology or directions, including those related to resisting peer pressure. For example, expressions of confusion tended to be made by multiple teens who were not more likely to be of a particular cultural/ethnic group than other participants. Moreover, the teaching teams of implementations 1 and 2 failed to report any instances of program content, directions, or examples feeling "off," "needing to be translated," and similar. Below, we discuss the implementation-specific findings.

#### **First Implementation**

Analyses of focus group and classroom session videos, and teaching impression notes identified two pedagogical issues and one opportunity to fine-tune the content. First, participants appeared to be confused when identifying goals in session 1,


indicating that more time was needed for teaching this content, resulting in the decision to split this session in two, with the first objective retained in the new Goals session and the remaining two objectives addressed in the new Choices & Results session (Textbox 1). Second, fidgeting and restlessness were noted during the session 3 content when the resistant communication skill Refuse was presented, indicating a need for physically active learning (eg, having the class stand and share in acting out the Refuse skill). Aside from these issues, all other disengagements could be linked to one or two participants with a preexisting peer conflict documented in teaching impression notes. Third, review of Refuse and Avoid session videos led to a discussion with the teaching team that resulted in (a) adding a clear definition of Explain, but restricting it to a type of vague explanation that is difficult for peers to argue with (eg, "I'm not into that"); and (b) defining Leave as a response that can be combined with Refuse, Explain, or Avoid. In the original program, this content has been presented more as a type of Refuse or Avoid skill but with little emphasis. As a result of this change, session objectives were slightly modified to include defining and applying Explain and Leave, respectively, and session titles were modified to "Refuse & Explain" and "Avoid & Leave."

### Second Implementation and Pilot Study

The teaching team reported that splitting session 1 into two different sessions increased class discussion time and allowed for the goal content to be covered more slowly, improving participants' grasp of this content. Review of videos indicated that any confusion initially present declined over the period in which the goal content was presented. Similarly, fidgeting and restlessness during the Refuse skill content presentation appeared to be eliminated by increasing the physical learning of this skill. Nevertheless, the teaching team reported that, overall, it was difficult to deliver all content within 45 minutes and still have sufficient time for discussion. This was particularly true for sessions 4 and 5, which had been revised to include content on Explain and Leave, respectively, and also for session 7 to which content on narrative writing had been added. In other words, all three sessions need to be revisited to streamline/reduce their content.

Engagement was evident across all sessions. Any disengagement could again be linked to a preexisting peer conflict noted in the teaching impression notes.

Quantitative analyses identified a significant pre-post increase in intention to delay sexual intercourse ( $t_{14}$ =-2.26, P=.04). No significant pre-post increases in resistance self-efficacy (P=.71) or resistance intentions (P≥.30), or decreases in sexual intentions (P≥.17) were observed.

# Phase 2: Narrative Cell Phone App Usability Testing

# Qualitative and Quantitative Measures

We could not detect any substantive differences between the results obtained for the two usability testing sessions. Hence, results presented herein are combined across sessions. The observed time to complete a task ranged from 6.30 to 13 minutes (median 6.67). The prototype did not track the time spent between opening the app and submitting a story, and teens were

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e24937
```

offered the opportunity to record their stories outside if they did not want to be overheard. Hence, the observed time to complete a task may be confounded with the time spent visiting with friends, a behavior observed at the same time the recording was presumed to be occurring, arguing for it being a "high-end" estimate of the actual time required.

Only 24% (6/25) of the participants created a story with a beginning, middle, and end, and less than half of the participants (44%, 11/25) created a story in which Mighty Teens skills were used. The stories reflected both same and opposite sex orientations, consistent with the tailoring expected in self-generated narratives.

### Usability

The System Usability Scale score was 76 despite 55% (12/22) of the participants agreeing that it was hard to think of an idea to use for the Mighty Teens app. Content analysis of open-ended question responses and focus group notes indicated that about half of the participants wanted the app to have a tutorial, more directions, or prompts, whereas about half felt that it was "simple," "easy," or "very straightforward."

Analysis of ethnographic field notes described some participants as frowning and stopping, as if concentrating, and others clearly stuck at the initial step of identifying a title until told they could use "My Story" as the title if they wanted to. Regardless, these participants quickly transitioned to a rush of tapping and swiping with brighter affect, and focus group notes indicated that all but one participant (disgruntled by a preexisting peer conflict) were pleased with their experience. Nevertheless, many did not like how their recorded voice sounded.

Slightly more than a third (9/24, 38%) of the participants stated in their written responses to the usability open-ended question that there was nothing needed to improve the app (eg, "no," "nope," "nothing"). Less than half (11/24, 46%) made one or more comments concerning actual or desired app features, and 17% (4/24) made no comments.

Descriptive content analysis of responses to the usability open-ended question ethnographic field notes or focus group notes identified ways to improve usability (Textbox 3). Triangulation of these data sources indicated that a majority of participants (80%, 20/25) were frustrated or disappointed that they could not type their story. In contrast, 20% (5/25) expressed joy and astonishment that they could record (they had expected text entry) and had quickly begun using the app with gusto. However, this latter group agreed in the focus groups that text entry would be useful if a teen was concerned about being overheard, or was mute or stuttered.

Four unsubmitted stories were found in the testing phones after the session supported participants' suggestion to add confirmation of a successful story submission. Additionally, the focus group discussion helped clarify other usability improvements. For example, all participants wanted the character set to be more representative but some also felt that the numbers of icons in the current character set was overwhelming, arguing for customizing over expanding the existing set.

XSL•FO RenderX

Similarly, the importance of adding an "other" category for character emotions was emphasized by comments indicating that participants considered qualities such as courageous, shy, and determined to be emotions. In contrast, comments regarding places suggested adding both icons (eg, corner store, fast food place, "jumping place" [a place for teen parties with trampolines]) and an "other" option to accommodate places that might be more regional or seasonal (eg, pool, beach).

Textbox 3. App improvement categories and themes identified in descriptive content analysis.

### Usability improvement categories and themes

- Allow both recording and text entry of stories.
- Label emoticons (cannot tell what some of the faces mean).
- Improve ability to select story elements:
  - Allow multiple selections without exiting and reentering screen.
  - Increase differentiation between skill versus skill definition selection (add a question mark for definition).
- Improve ability to delete characters.
- Make "controls" (pause, record, submit) on recording screen clear.
- Confirm story submission, so you know it worked.
- Increase choices and/or allow more customization:
  - Current character set not sufficiently representative (nobody looked like me).
  - Add selection of various different intensities of particular emotions (eg, a little angry, extremely angry).
  - Add more places.
  - Add "other" option for emotions and places similar to what is available for characters.
- Change to blue and red colors if app to be used by both boys and girls at some point; current colors are "girly."

### Engagement improvement categories and themes

- Make possible to anonymously share and chat about stories to help other teens or obtain feedback on how story creator responded (or could have responded) to a particular situation.
- Increase the fun:
  - Add emoticons floating across login page.
  - · Have app "read back" in a male or female voice, according to user's choice.
  - Animate stories (have characters act out story).

# Engagement

Descriptive content analysis indicated smiling, intense focus, and constant interaction with the app for 23 out of 25 (92%) participants with these same participants asking if they could use the app to make multiple stories. At least 4 out of 23 (17%) participants who requested this option did so in the time available with one participant creating 4 stories.

The word "fun" was used multiple times in all focus groups to describe the app; 83% (20/24) of participants reported they would recommend the app to their friends. Mean Fun and Like scores were 3.0 (SD 0.75) and 3.2 (SD 0.60), respectively, indicating that the participants agreed that the was app fun and liked using it. Additionally, both ethnographic and focus group notes indicated that participants found selecting icons for

characters, character emotions, and places very appealing. Selecting emotions was stated as a "favorite part."

Analysis of open-ended question and focus group data identified changes that could increase engagement (Textbox 3). One such change (sharing and chatting about stories with other teens) appeared part of a larger theme of wanting the app to have a purpose; otherwise, "why should we use it?"

# **Phase 3: Focus Groups Gauging Parent Support**

Descriptive content analysis of focus group transcripts indicated no obvious group differences, and no ethnic or racial differences. Hence, results for each group are combined with participants referred to as mothers because no fathers participated (Table 2). There were no negative comments about any aspect of the program.

RenderX

Table 2. Themes identified in parent focus groups.

Norris et al

Theme	Exemplar quote <sup>a</sup>
Mothers liked program goals and content	"she [referring to daughter] was just saying, 'You got to be careful when you're on social media, because you don't know who you're talk to who they are.'I was Okay, she must have mentioned it because of the sessionnow they're having a session and all of a sudden, they know what to do so, that I did appreciate."
Mothers liked the Mighty Teens app	"What I find different about yours versus the others is that she can either make up a story or use her own storyThe other thing that I find that your app is interesting about is the fact that it brings in emotions, which I don't think the others do that. I like the emotional aspect of your app."
Mothers want Mighty Teens app use monitored	"Sometimes they're not willing to talk about it themselves,if they shared something like that in a story, then it may put up a red flag: 'Hey, this person needs help.'"
Sharing is a benefit to daughter and other teens	"I think if it's in a controlled environment, as far as your company or whomever, I think that will be something that is great for the kids to share whether it's a fictitious or whether it's a true storyto kind of make awareness to other children"

<sup>a</sup>Each exemplar quote is from a different focus group participant. Participant race or ethnicity is not reported to protect confidentiality.

# Discussion

Scaling up culturally tailored sexual health interventions can be challenging and not always straightforward [3]. This study addressed three barriers that the NASSS framework [9] argued would impede successfully scaling up and disseminating the Mighty Girls program: lack of multiculturalism, cost, and parent receptivity. Phase 1 used an iterative process involving consultation, focus groups, and pretest-posttest evaluation to produce a multicultural adaptation of the classroom sessions and a new program name, Mighty Teens. The iterative process increased program language inclusivity with respect to gender identity, sexual orientation, and culture/ethnicity, consistent with best practices for creating multicultural programs [16]. Phase 1 also provided preliminary support for efficacy of the multicultural Mighty Teens classroom sessions.

Phase 2 used a combination of qualitative and quantitative methods to evaluate app usability and engagement potential. The usability score (76) exceeded the minimum industry standard (68) for minimum or average usability [31]. Additionally, the app enabled users to self-tailor their narratives to the level of sexual orientation, which was not possible using the original program's technical component. The app is less costly to disseminate than the Mighty Girls DRAMA-RAMA game, and potentially more powerful, because it affords a greater level of tailoring [13].

Finally, phase 3 parent focus groups demonstrated not only parent receptivity but also positive regard for the Mighty Teens program. This argues for the program's ability to surmount the political and ideological issues surrounding sex education that typically impede sexual health program dissemination and uptake [6-8].

Looking across the findings from all three phases of this study, two themes stand out. First, the study findings suggest that Mighty Teens has high engagement potential. This argues for program success and impact because engagement predicts program participation [32], learning [33], and behavior change [13]. Second, both mothers and daughters liked and valued a narrative-generating app that allows teens to (a) select emotions

XSL•FO RenderX for characters in a story and (b) share their stories with peers in a monitored environment. Although it is unclear if fathers would feel similarly, mother-daughter agreement suggests parents would support their daughters' app use in the home environment. This conclusion is also consistent with the technology acceptance model's premise that user value for particular app functionalities is critical to app acceptance and uptake [34].

This study did have limitations. Participants were purposively selected to represent various cultural and ethnic groups living within a low-income, urban metropolitan area within central Florida, and sample sizes were small, preventing us from statistical evaluation of possible cultural or ethnic differences. All parent focus group participants had previously consented to their daughters' participation in a sexual health program, and may have been more likely to approve of sex education in general, as well as this program. Further, only mothers participated in the parent focus groups. However, research shows that fathers often defer to mothers when it comes to their daughters' sexual health [35], and our sampling methods were suitable for adaptation purposes. Nevertheless, more cultural/ethnic differences might emerge in larger samples. Hence, we will evaluate both multicultural fit and parent receptivity in a future efficacy trial involving a more representative US sample.

Despite these limitations, this study illustrates how program developers can adapt a program prior to scaling up for dissemination so that clear barriers to implementation by targeted user organizations (ie, public schools) are addressed. Our three-phase approach models the use of specific guidelines and best practices for creating cultural [36] and multicultural adaptations [16] of evidence-based preventive interventions. For example, we involved a multicultural team of consultants (school counselor and three young adult women) familiar with and representative of a multicultural community. Our three young adult women were all intimately involved with the process of adapting the intervention in phases 1 and 2 in their roles as research assistants, and were empowered to shape this process. Our pilot study, usability testing, and parent focus groups provided data regarding intervention acceptability and efficacy as well as feasibility. Moreover, the empowered role

of our research assistants illustrates how to extend the principle of coproduction of public health interventions from intervention development to adaptation of an existing evidence-based intervention [37].

Additionally, the study findings provide clear directions for three app-related program improvements. First, there are clearly two different teen subgroups that need to be accommodated: those that prefer to record a story and those that prefer to use text. Second, story creation can be a difficult task for this age group. More support for structuring stories, including a prompt to use a Mighty Teens skill, needs to be designed into the app. Our findings suggest that either narrative writing is not consistently taught in 7th grade, despite being part of the US 7th grade common core standards [38], or, if it is taught, the content and related skills can be challenging for early adolescents to master. The ability of a sexual health program to support learning of an academic skill should increase the program's appeal to parents and public schools, thereby facilitating dissemination [6]. Third, the app should be introduced earlier and used to build narrative-generating skills

over the course of the program, opening up possibilities for classroom activities to move into the app, and creating more time for class discussion. This change also enhances relevance and synergy between the app and classroom session activities, and increases the number of narratives participants create. Meanwhile, increasing the number of narratives increases Mighty Teens behavior change potency [13].

In conclusion, this paper describes a three-phase process for adapting an evidence-based monocultural sexual health program to increase the ease and success of scaling up and dissemination. Specifically, this process (a) created a multicultural version of the classroom sessions (phase 1); (b) replaced a costly technological component with a less costly easier-todisseminate narrative-generating cell phone app (phase 2); and (c) obtained preliminary parent support for the adaptation, including their child's use of the program's app component (phase 3). Findings generated by this process provide preliminary support for Mighty Teens program efficacy, and insights for increasing program engagement, potency, and perceived value.

# Acknowledgments

Funding for this research was provided by a SBIR Phase 1 award from the National Institute of Nursing Research (R43 NR018977) to MLH. The authors wish to acknowledge the assistance of Annie Pezalla with manuscript preparation.

# **Conflicts of Interest**

MLH is President of REAL Prevention LLC, owns the intellectual property rights to the intervention, and will market it in the future. AEN and RDT are former employees of REAL Prevention LLC. Commercialization of Mighty Teens and its derivatives results in shared revenues involving REAL Prevention LLC, RDT, and AEN.

# References

- 1. Milat AJ, Newson R, King L, Rissel C, Wolfenden L, Bauman A, et al. A guide to scaling up population health interventions. Public Health Res Pract 2016 Jan 28;26(1):e2611604. [doi: 10.17061/phrp2611604] [Medline: 26863167]
- Indig D, Lee K, Grunseit A, Milat A, Bauman A. Pathways for scaling up public health interventions. BMC Public Health 2017 Aug 01;18(1):68 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-017-4572-5] [Medline: 28764785]
- 3. Barker PM, Reid A, Schall MW. A framework for scaling up health interventions: lessons from large-scale improvement initiatives in Africa. Implement Sci 2016 Jan 29;11:12 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13012-016-0374-x] [Medline: 26821910]
- Bowring AL, Wright CJC, Douglass C, Gold J, Lim MSC. Features of successful sexual health promotion programs for young people: findings from a review of systematic reviews. Health Promot J Austr 2018 Apr;29(1):46-57. [doi: 10.1002/hpja.3] [Medline: 29700941]
- Lustria MLA, Cortese J, Gerend MA, Schmitt K, Kung YM, McLaughlin C. A model of tailoring effects: A randomized controlled trial examining the mechanisms of tailoring in a web-based STD screening intervention. Health Psychol 2016 Nov;35(11):1214-1224. [doi: 10.1037/hea0000399] [Medline: 27441869]
- Wiley DC, Plesons M, Chandra-Mouli V, Ortega M. Managing sex education controversy deep in the heart of Texas: a case study of the North East Independent School District (NEISD). Am J Sex Educ 2019 Nov 18;15(1):53-81. [doi: 10.1080/15546128.2019.1675562]
- Hall WJ, Jones BLH, Witkemper KD, Collins TL, Rodgers GK. State policy on school-based sex education: a content analysis focused on sexual behaviors, relationships, and identities. Am J Health Behav 2019 May 01;43(3):506-519. [doi: 10.5993/AJHB.43.3.6] [Medline: 31046882]
- 8. Sex and HIV education. Guttmacher Institute. 2021 May 01. URL: <u>https://www.guttmacher.org/state-policy/explore/</u> sex-and-hiv-education [accessed 2021-05-12]
- 9. Greenhalgh T, Wherton J, Papoutsi C, Lynch J, Hughes G, A'Court C, et al. Beyond adoption: a new framework for theorizing and evaluating nonadoption, abandonment, and challenges to the scale-up, spread, and sustainability of health and care technologies. J Med Internet Res 2017 Nov 01;19(11):e367 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.8775] [Medline: 29092808]

- Norris AE, Hughes C, Hecht M, Peragallo N, Nickerson D. Randomized trial of a peer resistance skill-building game for Hispanic early adolescent girls. Nurs Res 2013;62(1):25-35 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/NNR.0b013e318276138f] [Medline: 23150043]
- 11. Do KT, Prinstein MJ, Telzer EH. Neurobiological susceptibility to peer influence in adolescence. In: Kadosh KC, editor. The handbook of developmental cognitive neuroscience. New York: Oxford University Press; Oct 2020.
- 12. Schunk DH, DiBenedetto MK. Motivation and social cognitive theory. Contemp Educ Psychol 2020 Jan;60:101832. [doi: 10.1016/j.cedpsych.2019.101832]
- Miller-Day M, Hecht ML. Narrative means to preventative ends: a narrative engagement framework for designing prevention interventions. Health Commun 2013;28(7):657-670 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1080/10410236.2012.762861</u>] [Medline: <u>23980613</u>]
- Hecht ML, Shin Y, Pettigrew J, Miller-Day M, Krieger JL. Designed cultural adaptation and delivery quality in rural substance use prevention: an effectiveness trial for the keepin' it REAL curriculum. Prev Sci 2018 Nov;19(8):1008-1018 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11121-018-0937-y] [Medline: 30056616]
- Vespa J, Armstrong D, Medina L. Demographic turning points for the United States: Population projections for 2020 to 2060. Report Number P25-1144. United States Census Bureau. Washington, DC: US Department of Commerce, Economics and Statistics Administration, USCB; 2020 Feb. URL: <u>https://www.census.gov/library/publications/2020/demo/p25-1144.</u> <u>html</u> [accessed 2021-05-12]
- Clauss-Ehlers CS, Chiriboga DA, Hunter SJ, Roysircar G, Tummala-Narra P. APA multicultural guidelines executive summary: ecological approach to context, identity, and intersectionality. Am Psychol 2019;74(2):232-244. [doi: <u>10.1037/amp0000382</u>] [Medline: <u>30762387</u>]
- Shin Y, Miller-Day M, Hecht ML, Krieger JL. Entertainment-education videos as a persuasive tool in the substance use prevention intervention "keepin' it REAL". Health Commun 2018 Jul;33(7):896-906 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/10410236.2017.1321163] [Medline: 28586239]
- 18. Taylor CS, Nolan SB. Classroom assessment and diversity. In: Banks JA, Banks CAM, editors. Multicultural education: issues and perspectives, 10th Edition. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons; Oct 2019:306-328.
- 19. Anderson M. How parents feel about—and manage—their teens' online behavior and screen time. Pew Research Center. 2019 Mar 22. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2019/03/22/</u>
- <u>how-parents-feel-about-and-manage-their-teens-online-behavior-and-screen-time/</u> [accessed 2021-05-12]
   20. Etikan I, Musa SA, Alkassim RS. Comparison of convenience sampling and purposive sampling. Am J Theor Appl Stat 2016 Jan 05;5(1):1-4. [doi: 10.11648/j.ajtas.20160501.11]
- 21. Norris AE, Aroian KJ, Warren S, Wirth J. Interactive performance and focus groups with adolescents: the power of play. Res Nurs Health 2012 Dec;35(6):671-679 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/nur.21509] [Medline: 22949032]
- 22. Norris AE, Ford K, Bova CA. Psychometrics of a brief acculturation scale for Hispanics in a probability sample of urban Hispanic adolescents and young adults. Hisp J Behav Sci 2016 Jul 25;18(1):29-38. [doi: 10.1177/07399863960181004]
- 23. Norris AE, Phillips RE, Kang HP. Evaluation of a generic brief acculturation scale in a sample of male enlisted naval personnel. Clin Nurse Spec 2008;22(4):172-178. [doi: 10.1097/01.NUR.0000311705.38404.14] [Medline: 18596485]
- 24. Norris AE, Torres-Thomas S, Williams ET. Adapting cognitive interviewing for early adolescent Hispanic girls and sensitive topics. Hisp Health Care Int 2014;12(3):111-119 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1891/1540-4153.12.3.111] [Medline: 25239207]
- 25. DiIorio C, Resnicow K, Thomas S, Wang DT, Dudley WN, Van Marter DF, et al. Keepin' it R.E.A.L.!: program description and results of baseline assessment. Health Educ Behav 2002 Feb 30;29(1):104-123. [doi: <u>10.1177/109019810202900110</u>] [Medline: <u>11822548</u>]
- 26. Kirby D, Korpi M, Barth RP, Cagampang HH. The impact of the postponing sexual involvement curriculum among youths in California. Fam Plan Perspect 1997 May;29(3):100-108. [doi: <u>10.2307/2953331</u>]
- Graneheim UH, Lindgren B, Lundman B. Methodological challenges in qualitative content analysis: A discussion paper. Nurse Educ Today 2017 Sep;56:29-34. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.nedt.2017.06.002</u>] [Medline: <u>28651100</u>]
- 28. Smith A. Smartphone ownership 2013. Pew Research Center Internet & Technology. 2013 Jun 05. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/2013/06/05/smartphone-ownership-2013/</u> [accessed 2021-05-12]
- 29. Koster R. Theory of fun for game design. 2nd edition. Sebastopol, CA: O'Reilly Media, Inc; 2014.
- 30. Lewis JR. The System Usability Scale: past, present, and future. Int J Hum–Comput Interact 2018 Mar 30;34(7):577-590. [doi: 10.1080/10447318.2018.1455307]
- 31. Bangor A, Kortum PT, Miller JT. An empirical evaluation of the System Usability Scale. Int J Hum-Comput Interact 2008 Jul 30;24(6):574-594. [doi: 10.1080/10447310802205776]
- Hansen WB, Fleming CB, Scheier LM. Self-reported engagement in a drug prevention program: individual and classroom effects on proximal and behavioral outcomes. J Prim Prev 2019 Feb;40(1):5-34 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10935-018-00532-1] [Medline: 30631997]
- Roorda DL, Jak S, Zee M, Oort FJ, Koomen HMY. Affective teacher–student relationships and students' engagement and achievement: A meta-analytic update and test of the mediating role of engagement. School Psychol Rev 2017 Sep 01;46(3):239-261. [doi: <u>10.17105/SPR-2017-0035.V46-3</u>]

RenderX

- Tao D, Wang T, Wang T, Zhang T, Zhang X, Qu X. A systematic review and meta-analysis of user acceptance of consumer-oriented health information technologies. Comput Hum Behav 2020 Mar 01;104:106147. [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2019.09.023]
- Widman L, Choukas-Bradley S, Noar SM, Nesi J, Garrett K. Parent-adolescent sexual communication and adolescent safer sex behavior: a meta-analysis. JAMA Pediatr 2016 Jan;170(1):52-61 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1001/jamapediatrics.2015.2731</u>] [Medline: <u>26524189</u>]
- Bernal G, Adames C. Cultural adaptations: conceptual, ethical, contextual, and methodological issues for working with ethnocultural and majority-world populations. Prev Sci 2017 Aug;18(6):681-688. [doi: <u>10.1007/s11121-017-0806-0</u>] [Medline: <u>28573426</u>]
- Hawkins J, Madden K, Fletcher A, Midgley L, Grant A, Cox G, et al. Development of a framework for the co-production and prototyping of public health interventions. BMC Public Health 2017 Sep 04;17(1):689 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-017-4695-8] [Medline: 28870192]
- English Language Arts Standards » Writing » Grade 7. Common Core State Standards Initiative. Washington DC: National Governors Association Center for Best Practices, Council of Chief State School Officers; 2010. URL: <u>http://www. corestandards.org/ELA-Literacy/W/7/</u> [accessed 2020-05-12]

# Abbreviations

NASSS: nonadoption, abandonment, scale-up, spread, and sustainability

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 10.10.20; peer-reviewed by S Rostam Niakan Kalhori, YH Kwan; comments to author 02.11.20; revised version received 18.02.21; accepted 13.04.21; published 02.06.21.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Norris AE, Thalasinos RD, Hecht ML Multicultural Adaptation of Mighty Girls for Widespread Dissemination: Pilot Study, App Development and Usability Testing, and Gauging Parent Support With Focus Groups JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e24937 URL: <u>https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e24937</u> doi:<u>10.2196/24937</u> PMID:<u>34076578</u>

©Anne E Norris, Roxana Delcampo Thalasinos, Michael L Hecht. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 02.06.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Original Paper** 

# Testing the Feasibility of Sensor-Based Home Health Monitoring (TEC4Home) to Support the Convalescence of Patients With Heart Failure: Pre–Post Study

Kendall Ho<sup>1\*</sup>, MD, FRCPC; Helen Novak Lauscher<sup>1\*</sup>, PhD; Jennifer Cordeiro<sup>1\*</sup>, BA; Nathaniel Hawkins<sup>2</sup>, MBChB, MD, MPH; Frank Scheuermeyer<sup>2</sup>, MD, MHSc; Craig Mitton<sup>3</sup>, PhD; Hubert Wong<sup>4</sup>, PhD; Colleen McGavin<sup>5</sup>, BA, DipED; Dianne Ross<sup>6</sup>, RN, CCN(C); Glory Apantaku<sup>3</sup>, MSc; Mohammad Ehsan Karim<sup>4</sup>, MSc, PhD; Amrit Bhullar<sup>1</sup>, BSc; Riyad Abu-Laban<sup>2</sup>, MD, MHSc, FRCPC; Suzanne Nixon<sup>2</sup>, BScN, RN, MSN; Tyler Smith<sup>7</sup>, CPA, MBA

<sup>1</sup>Digital Emergency Medicine, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

<sup>5</sup>BC Support for People & Patient-Oriented Research & Trials, Vancouver, BC, Canada

<sup>6</sup>Vancouver General Hospital, Vancouver, BC, Canada

<sup>7</sup>TELUS Health, Vancouver, BC, Canada

\*these authors contributed equally

# **Corresponding Author:**

Kendall Ho, MD, FRCPC Digital Emergency Medicine University of British Columbia 818 West 10th Avenue 2329 West Mall Vancouver, BC, V6T 1Z4 Canada Phone: 1 604 822 0327 Email: <u>kendall.ho@ubc.ca</u>

# Abstract

**Background:** Patients with heart failure (HF) can be affected by disabling symptoms and low quality of life. Furthermore, they may frequently need to visit the emergency department or be hospitalized due to their condition deteriorating. Home telemonitoring can play a role in tracking symptoms, reducing hospital visits, and improving quality of life.

**Objective:** Our objective was to conduct a feasibility study of a home health monitoring (HHM) solution for patients with HF in British Columbia, Canada, to prepare for conducting a randomized controlled trial.

**Methods:** Patients with HF were recruited from 3 urban hospitals and provided with HHM technology for 60 days of monitoring postdischarge. Participants were asked to monitor their weight, blood pressure, and heart rate and to answer symptomology questions via Bluetooth sensors and a tablet computer each day. A monitoring nurse received this data and monitored the patient's condition. In our evaluation, the primary outcome was the combination of unscheduled emergency department revisits of discharged participants or death within 90 days. Secondary outcomes included 90-day hospital readmissions, patient quality of life (as measured by Veterans Rand 12-Item Health Survey and Kansas City Cardiomyopathy Scale), self-efficacy (as measured by European Heart Failure Self-Care Behaviour Scale 9), end-user experience, and health system cost-effectiveness including cost reduction and hospital bed capacity. In this feasibility study, we also tested the recruitment strategy, clinical protocols, evaluation framework, and data collection methods.

**Results:** Seventy participants were enrolled into this trial. Participant engagement to monitoring was measured at 94% (N=70; ie, data submitted 56/60 days on average). Our evaluation framework allowed us to collect sound data, which also showed encouraging trends: a 79% reduction of emergency department revisits post monitoring, an 87% reduction in hospital readmissions, and a 60% reduction in the median hospital length of stay (n=36). Cost of hospitalization for participants decreased by 71%, and emergency department visit costs decreased by 58% (n=30). Overall health system costs for our participants showed a 56%

RenderX

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Centre for Clinical Epidemiology & Evaluation, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Centre for Health Evaluation & Outcome Sciences, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

reduction post monitoring (n=30). HF-specific quality of life (Kansas City Cardiomyopathy Scale) scores showed a significant increase of 101% (n=35) post monitoring (P<.001). General quality of life (Veterans Rand 12-Item Health Survey) improved by 19% (n=35) on the mental component score (P<.001) and 19% (n=35) on the physical component score (P=.02). Self-efficacy improved by 6% (n=35). Interviews with participants revealed that they were satisfied overall with the monitoring program and its usability, and participants reported being more engaged, educated, and involved in their self-management.

**Conclusions:** Results from this small-sample feasibility study suggested that our HHM intervention can be beneficial in supporting patients post discharge. Additionally, key insights from the trial allowed us to refine our methods and procedures, such as shifting our recruitment methods to in-patient wards and increasing our scope of data collection. Although these findings are promising, a more rigorous trial design is required to test the true efficacy of the intervention. The results from this feasibility trial will inform our next step as we proceed with a randomized controlled trial across British Columbia.

Trial Registration: ClinicalTrials.gov NCT03439384; https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03439384

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e24509) doi:10.2196/24509

# **KEYWORDS**

telemonitoring; heart failure; home health monitoring; technology; telehealth; emergency care; community care; emergency department; quality of life; self-efficacy

# Introduction

Heart failure (HF) is common, life-limiting, and the leading cause of hospitalization in North America and Europe [1]. Patients with HF are affected by debilitating symptoms and impaired quality of life. The median survival after hospitalization is 2.5 years, while rehospitalization rates exceed 20% at 30 days [1]. Telemonitoring has been proposed to support patients with HF in the community. Clinical studies to date have demonstrated promising but inconsistent evidence for this strategy. A recent meta-analysis of 17 studies of telemonitoring found mixed results with benefits reported in some areas and no significant change in others [2]. Two large randomized controlled trials (RCTs) failed to find a reduction in death or hospitalization [3,4]. These studies did not examine issues such as patients' level of familiarity and adoption of these technologies [3], or integration of technology-enabled monitoring in the context of convalescent care [4]. The Telemedical Interventional Management in Heart Failure II (TIM-HF2) trial demonstrated significant reductions in all-cause mortality and days lost due to unplanned cardiovascular hospitalization 1 year after monitoring [4]. Further, a meta-analysis concluded that a subpopulation of patients with HF recently discharged from hospital within 28 days of admission benefited preferentially from home telemonitoring and showed reduced mortality and all-cause hospitalizations [5]. Further trials of home telemonitoring for patients with HF are required to clarify these findings and their underlying factors.

Telehealth for Emergency-Community Continuity of Care Connectivity via Home Telemonitoring (TEC4Home) is a 4-year research initiative to evaluate the efficacy of home health monitoring (HHM) as an integrated component of health care delivery to support the transition of patients with HF from hospital to home. The initiative consists of a feasibility study followed by a pragmatic, multicenter, RCT [6]. The purpose of this paper is to report the results of the feasibility study conducted in preparation for the RCT, to test the clinical and technical monitoring protocols in hospital and community settings, and to refine the evaluation framework. We hypothesized that the study procedures would be acceptable to both patients and providers; that the evaluation framework would capture useful metrics for outcome evaluation; and that the results would suggest a trend toward decreasing 90-day emergency department (ED) revisits and hospital admission rates, enhancing quality of life, improving self-efficacy, and reducing health care costs for patients and the health care system.

# Methods

# **Recruitment Procedures**

The feasibility study was an unblinded trial. Participants were prospectively recruited from EDs and inpatient units at 3 large urban hospital sites in British Columbia from November 2016 to July 2017. As this study was designed to assess the feasibility of the study protocol and refine procedures with a purposive sample gleaned from the feasibility study sites, no power calculation was conducted. Rather, the sample size was estimated from the recruitable number of patients with HF presenting at the ED sites based on administrative data with HF diagnosis and factoring in estimation of eligibility and attrition rates.

The inclusion criteria were as follows: one or more typical clinical HF symptoms; one or more typical clinical HF signs; one or more objective measures of HF, such as brain natriuretic peptide elevation or chest x-ray findings; currently receiving diuretic therapy; and age of 19 years or above. The exclusion criteria were as follows: inability to complete study procedures; no access to a reliable phone for communicating with a nurse; coronary or structural heart intervention during admission that would alter the course of HF convalescence with medical therapies alone; patients not expecting to present back to hospital for further deterioration, such as those wanting to die at home (see Multimedia Appendix 1 for the patient participant eligibility criteria of the feasibility).

Potential participants were first identified via referrals from hospital ED staff and screening hospital ED lists. Throughout recruitment, the study team expanded referral streams to include hospital in-patient wards to increase recruitment numbers. Eligible patients were contacted in the hospital when possible

XSL•FO RenderX

or immediately after discharge. Participants completed the consent process and were enrolled within 7 days from hospital discharge.

This study obtained ethics and associated approvals (no. H16-01076) from the regions where the 3 hospitals operate: University of British Columbia (UBC), Vancouver Coastal Health, and Interior Health Authorities.

# **HHM Intervention**

The HHM device kits were provided by TELUS Health (technology partner). The kit included a touch screen tablet computer and Bluetooth-connected sensors that included a blood pressure cuff, a pulse oximeter, and a weighing scale. Upon enrollment and after patients returned home, monitoring nurses aimed to contact all participants within 1-3 days by telephone. Nurses trained to provide monitoring during the study period were seconded from cardiac clinics and had extensive experience managing patients with HF. During the first call, the nurse confirmed eligibility and scheduled the delivery of the HHM device kit. Kits were provided free of charge for 60 days and were delivered and set up in participants' homes by a technician. The protocol sought to have kits delivered within 7 days of discharge from the hospital; however, this varied depending on the individual patient's scheduling preference.

Participants were taught how to use the device kit by the technicians at the time of delivery and were observed submitting their first set of biometric measurements (ie, blood pressure, oxygen saturation, pulse, and weight) and answering 10-12 yes-or-no questions regarding symptoms (eg, "I feel more short of breath today") in the technician's presence. Participants were then asked to continue daily submissions of 1 set of this data per day for the next 60 days. The monitoring nurse sent an enrollment letter to the participant's primary care provider (PCP) and other health care team members (eg, specialists), if appropriate, to notify them of their patients' participation in the monitoring program and research study. PCPs or specialists were also asked to review and change the default monitoring limits of the patients (eg, blood pressure, heart rate limits, or oxygen saturation levels) to customize to patients' needs if required. Dry target weight was also requested if known.

Monitoring data were reviewed by a single monitoring nurse Monday through Friday between 8:00 AM and 4:00 PM (excluding statutory holidays) via a web-based dashboard. The primary monitoring nurse performing the monitoring was a cardiac specialty nurse with over 20 years of experience working in cardiac care settings, such as a heart function clinic.

The platform listed and flagged patient measurements falling outside of predefined default (or customized) values (eg, weight gain of more than 5 lbs in 2 days), changes in symptoms, or missed data submissions. Alerts were flagged as red/severe (eg, systolic blood pressure < 85 mm Hg or >160 mm Hg) or yellow/caution (eg, systolic blood pressure 85-89 mm Hg or 141-160 mm Hg). The monitoring nurse followed up by telephone with the participants on all concerning flags and alerts. The monitoring nurse was authorized to advise the patient on better managing their condition and to provide education on management of the patient's condition. For medication changes, the monitoring nurse would connect with the most responsible physician (eg, PCP) of the patient to facilitate these changes. In addition, the monitoring nurse would connect with other specialists with whom the patient was attached, if needed. For urgent situations, such as severe shortness of breath, the monitoring nurse was advised to direct the patient to their closest urgent care center or to call 911. Interventions that resulted from consultations between patients and monitoring nurses were documented in monitoring nurses' notes, and summaries were shared via fax with the participants' PCP every 2 weeks or as needed. The nurse also provided HF self-management education including advance care planning discussions to participants over the telephone, referring to a binder of HF self-management materials provided to participants upon enrollment into the study. Participants were discharged from the monitoring program after 60 days with a final report summarizing the monitoring data sent to the PCP. Participants were contacted again 30 days after discharge from the HHM program by telephone to complete a follow-up survey and to obtain their feedback on the HHM monitoring program.

# **Primary and Secondary Outcomes**

Key metrics were drawn from the Triple Aim Plus framework [7], and both quantitative and qualitative data were collected from patient participants, participants' PCPs, and the monitoring nurses. The primary outcome was the combination of unscheduled ED revisits in discharged participants within 90 days of discharge or all-cause death. Secondary outcomes included hospital readmission, patient participant health status (eg, quality of life, self-efficacy), end-user experience, and health system cost-effectiveness (including cost reduction and hospital bed capacity).

# **Data Collection**

# Patient Participant Experience and Outcomes

Administrative data and data regarding patient participant experience and 90-day outcomes were collected via presurveys (at the time of consent) and postsurveys (30 days after monitoring discharge), with participants serving as their own controls.

Participants completed presurveys at enrollment and postsurveys from home via mail or over the telephone. The surveys, as outlined below, comprised multiple validated scales to assess pre-to-post changes in quality of life, self-efficacy, and health care utilization.

The Veterans Rand 12-Item Health Survey (VR-12) was included to measure health-related quality of life (general) [8,9]. The scale assesses 8 domains of health to produce a physical component and a mental component score.

The Kansas City Cardiomyopathy Scale (KCCQ-12) measures HF-specific quality of life [10]. The shortened 12-item scale assesses "patient-reported symptoms, function and quality of life for patients with heart failure." Agreement between the KCCQ-12 and the full KCCQ 23-item scale, which it is derived from, has previously been tested and results in a construct validity of 0.93-0.96 in quality of life scores, 0.97 in physical limitation scores, 0.98 in social limitation scores, and 0.98-0.99

in summary scores. Test–retest reliability calculations of KCCQ-12 have resulted in scores ranging from a 0.76 to 0.91 correlation across all domains. Scoring is calculated on a 100-point scale, with a higher score indicating a better overall health status.

The European Heart Failure Self-Care Behaviour Scale 9 (EHFScBs-9) was employed to assess self-care self-efficacy [11]. Internal reliability of this scale has been previously tested with a test score of 0.80 [11]. This scale consists of a 9 to 45-point scale, with lower scores indicating better self-care. For this trial, the method of standardizing the score to a 0-100 scale was used to make interpretation easier [12].

The My Healthcare Utilization Survey was included, as it assesses health care resource utilization and can collect information about the type and frequency of health-related services used within a specified time period. This scale was developed for this trial in collaboration with the UBC School of Population and Public Health

The System Usability Scale (postsurvey only) was also used, as it can evaluate the usability of a technology-based application [13]. The scale is scored on a 0 to 100-point scale, with higher scores representing better usability.

Basic demographic data (presurvey only) were also collected from participants and included age, sex, education level, and ethnicity.

Optional interviews were offered to all patient participants who completed the 90-day follow-up survey to gather additional feedback about their overall experience.

# Health Care Provider Experience

After study completion, the monitoring nurses were interviewed to explore their overall experience with the monitoring model, the benefits and challenges, and suggestions for improvement (see Multimedia Appendix 2 for the monitoring nurse interview protocol).

Participants' PCPs were invited to provide feedback regarding the HHM intervention's impact on care delivery and workload through surveys, which were faxed to them (see Multimedia Appendix 3 for the primary care physician survey protocol).

# **Statistical Analysis**

# Patient Participant Experience and Outcomes

Survey data were entered into a Research Electronic Data Capture (REDCap) database [14,15] hosted at the Centre for Health Evaluation & Outcome Sciences (CHEOS) and were analyzed using R statistical package version 3.5.3 (R Foundation for Statistical Computing). The pre-to-postsurveys were coded and scored according to the validated scales' instructions, and paired *t* tests were used to assess pre-to-post difference across the outcome measures. The results are described as means with SD for parametric data and medians with IQRs for nonparametric data.

Pre-post analysis of administrative data was performed using Microsoft Excel (Microsoft Corporation). To determine pre-post change, we calculated the absolute risk reduction. Pre- and

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e24509
```

posthealth care costs and impacts were calculated using the self-reported health care utilization surveys. To calculate out-of-pocket costs, we used participants' self-reported data on expenses related to their health condition, which included information on drugs, aids to daily living, housekeeping or home care, and transportation to and from medical appointments.

Interviews with patient participants about the overall experience were recorded and transcribed verbatim. Transcripts were coded, and content analysis was performed to summarize the interviews into themes (see Multimedia Appendix 4 for the patient participant interview analysis codebook).

# Health Care Provider Experience

Survey and interview data collected from the monitoring nurses and the PCPs were summarized using content analysis to draw out themes and recommendations to guide future HHM implementations. Interview data were recorded and transcribed verbatim. Transcripts were coded and summarized by 2 researchers (AB and an undergraduate student) into main themes, including level of satisfaction for providing care, communication with participants, impact, and areas for improvement (see Multimedia Appendix 5 for the monitoring nurse interview analysis codebook).

# Results

# Recruitment

From October 2016 to June 2017, 519 patients who met the criterion of presenting to the hospital with shortness of breath were referred and screened for further HF eligibility screening: 219 met the study eligibility criteria for HF, and 70 were enrolled. Out of these 70, 47 (67%) participants completed the enrollment survey and thus provided demographic information. The median age of these participants was 75 years (range: 44-93 years), 24/47 (51%) participants identified as male, 36/47 (76%) identified as White (of European descent), and 45/47 (96%) identified English as their language of preference for health care matters.

The top 3 reasons for nonparticipation included patients declining, patients not meeting clinical eligibility criteria, and inability to provide informed consent (see Multimedia Appendix 6 for a summary of the most common reasons for patients not participating). Of the 121 patients who declined to participate, most did not provide a reason (see Multimedia Appendix 7 for a summary of reasons provided by eligible patients who declined to participate).

Of the 70 participants, 47 completed and returned the enrollment survey, 49 completed and returned the 90-day survey, and 35 completed and returned both the enrollment and 90-day survey. The subsamples providing data for each area of analysis are specified in the following section.

# **HHM Adherence**

Participants were expected to be in the monitoring system for 60 days, submitting data once per day. Actual monitoring adherence (ie, the actual days data were entered) averaged 56 days across our sample, which is a 94% adherence rate based on the 60 days of baseline expectation.

Satisfaction with the monitoring platform as measured by the System Usability Scale [13] resulted in a mean score of 80.0 and a median of 81.4 on a 100-point scale (n=49).

# **Patient Participant Experience and Outcomes**

# Health Care Utilization

Administrative data were available for 2 of the 3 participating sites that included 36 of the 70 participants (51%). ED visits, rehospitalizations, and length of stay all decreased for these

participants. Furthermore, the overall duration of rehospitalization decreased (see Table 1).

There was a 71% reduction in hospitalization costs (P<.001), along with a 58% reduction in ED visit costs, although the latter did not reach statistical significance. PCP and specialist costs were similar in the pre–post analysis.

For the 30 participants (43%) who completed survey items included in the cost analysis, we estimated a 49% reduction in out-of-pocket costs (Table 2).

Table 1. Administrative data of change in ED visits, hospital admissions, and length of stay (n=36).

Data type	90 days pre-TEC4Home <sup>a</sup>	90 days post-TEC4Home	Pre-post change (%)
ED <sup>b</sup> visits	66	14	-79
Hospital admissions	54	7	-87
Length of stay (days), total (median)	440 (5.0)	71 (8.0)	-84 (60)

<sup>a</sup>TEC4Home: Telehealth for Emergency-Community Continuity of Care Connectivity via Home Telemonitoring. <sup>b</sup>ED: emergency department.

### Table 2. Per-patient aggregate health care utilization cost.

Cost type	Mean pre-TEC4home <sup>a</sup> cost (US\$)	Mean post-TEC4home cost (US\$)	Cost reduction (US\$), n (95% CI)	Pre-post change (%)
ED <sup>b</sup> visits cost <sup>c</sup>	618	262	-376 (-87 to 799)	-58
PCP <sup>d</sup> visits cost <sup>e</sup>	126	129	3 (-52 to 47)	2
$\text{LoS}^{f} \text{cost}$ (ie, overall hospital $\text{cost}$ ) <sup>g</sup>	10,792	3091	-7701 (-3772 to 11,631)	-71
Specialist visits <sup>h</sup>	160	132	-28 (-72 to 128)	-18
Patient-reported out-of- pocket cost	357	185	-175 (-49 to -395)	-49

<sup>a</sup>TEC4Home: Telehealth for Emergency-Community Continuity of Care Connectivity via Home Telemonitoring.

<sup>b</sup>ED: emergency department.

<sup>c</sup>Costs calculated based on standard outpatient cost from the Canadian Institute for Health Information: US \$314.15. <sup>d</sup>PCP: primary care provider.

<sup>e</sup>Standard PCP visits cost obtained from the Ministry of Health Medical Services Commission payment schedule. <sup>f</sup>LoS: length of stay.

<sup>g</sup>Per diem ward (1 night in hospital) from the Canadian Institute for Health Information: US \$1520.20.

<sup>h</sup>Special visits cost obtained from the Ministry of Health Medical Services Commission payment schedule.

# Participant Experience and Outcomes

For the 35 participants who reported a complete set of pre- and postoutcomes, disease-specific quality of life demonstrated the

greatest improvement, and mental and physical general quality of life also significantly improved (Table 3). No significant change occurred in HF self-care behavior.



Table 3. Patient-reported outcomes pre- and post-TEC4Home.

Patient-reported outcome	Pre-TEC4Home <sup>a</sup> (score out of 100)	Post-TEC4Home (score out of 100)	Pre–post change, mean (95% CI)	Pre-post change (%)	P value
Heart failure–specific quality of life (KCCQ-12 <sup>b</sup> )	33.4	67.1	33.7 (40.05-23.84)	100.8	<.001
Health-related quality of life (VR-12 <sup>c</sup> mental component)	43.1	51.4	8.3(12.48-4.08)	19.2	<.001
Health-related quality of life (VR-12 physical component)	26.7	31.7	5.0 (0.83-8.12)	18.7	.02
Heart failure self-care behav- ior (EHFScBs-9 <sup>d</sup> )	70.2	74.3	4.1 (14.59-3.48)	5.84	.22

<sup>a</sup>TEC4Home: Telehealth for Emergency-Community Continuity of Care Connectivity via Home Telemonitoring.

<sup>b</sup>KCCQ-12: Kansas City Cardiomyopathy Scale.

<sup>c</sup>VR-12: Veterans Rand 12-Item Health Survey.

<sup>d</sup>EHFScBs-9: European Heart Failure Self-Care Behaviour Scale 9.

# Participant Experience

Participants who completed the postsurvey were invited to take part in a telephone interview to discuss their experiences further: 11 out of the 49 participants (22%) who completed the postsurvey participated in telephone interviews to further discuss their experiences in the study. The findings are summarized in Textbox 1. Most notably, they described TEC4Home as contributing to a sense of safety and security after the transition from the hospital: I wasn't afraid to come home [from the hospital]...it actually brought me a lot of comfort and security once I came home.

Participants also expressed that they felt more involved in their own care as a result of participating in the home monitoring intervention:

*The TEC4Home program taught me how valuable it is* [to monitor my condition]

Textbox 1. Summarized findings from patient interview feedback by themes.

### **Project satisfaction**

• Overall, all (11/11) participants described being pleased with their participation in the project.

### Experience

- Most (9/11) reported ease of use with the technology and training provided.
- Most (8/11) expressed they were content with the support and education provided by the monitoring nurse.
- All (11/11) expressed feeling more involved in their own care.

### Perceived impact

• A few (3/11) participants expressed that they perceived that their primary care provider appreciated the regular patient reports (most participants felt that the program did not impact the relationship, positively or negatively, with their primary care provider in any significant way).

### Challenges

- A few (3/11) participants expressed some technical difficulties with the equipment (eg, blood pressure cuff ripped, blood pressure cuff not fitting properly, oximeter not working, weight scale not accurate).
- Some (4/11) participants wished the monitoring was a 7-day support service.

### **Health Care Provider Experience**

Interviews were also conducted with the 2 monitoring nurses and covered satisfaction, patient–care provider interactions, procedures and usability, and perceived impact. Findings are summarized in Textbox 2. Monitoring nurses emphasized that they perceived positive impacts on participants quality of life and confidence:

Patients were definitely more engaged with their self-management. They're able to report changes in their symptoms and their weights and things like that.

PCPs were invited to participate in surveys, but we did not receive any responses from them.

Textbox 2. Summarized findings from monitoring nurse feedback by theme. Monitoring nurse feedback (n=2).

### Satisfaction

• Both (2/2) monitoring nurses expressed satisfaction with the project and their experiences working with patient participants.

### Patient-care provider interactions

- Monitoring nurses expressed satisfaction with the level of care they were able to provide through the program.
- The nurses described how some primary care providers were more responsive than others but that the overall coordination of care improved because of her communications with nurse practitioners at the HF clinics, home care clinicians, and specialist physicians.

### Procedures and usability

- The remote patient monitoring clinician station interface could have been more streamlined.
- Graphical visualizations of patients' biometric data were mentioned as an area of improvement.
- Consenting of patients too early led to dropout or ineligibility issues later on.
- For the HF protocol, questions could be modified to understand the patient's condition relative to the previous day (eg, "Is your shortness of breath the same, better or worse today?").

### Impact

• The clinicians expressed a perceived impact on their patients in quality of life and self-management and confidence.

# Discussion

This TEC4Home feasibility study, a precursor to the full TEC4Home RCT to follow, focused on exploring 3 key issues: (1) Would the study procedures be acceptable to both patients and providers? (2) Would the evaluation framework capture useful metrics for outcome evaluation? (3) Did the results suggest a trend toward HHM improving the care of patients with HF?

### Insights From the Results of the Feasibility Study

The purpose and scope of this feasibility study were not designed to determine the efficacy of HHM. Nevertheless, we observed important trending of the data showing benefits across all 3 domains of the Triple Aim Plus framework. Most importantly, fewer patients had unscheduled ED revisits, fewer were readmitted to hospital, and the overall length of hospitalization decreased. In terms of quality of life, participants reported improved scores for both HF and general questionnaires. Furthermore, in economic terms, a cost consequence analysis showed that in all health care utilization factors measured, TEC4Home participants demonstrated decreased cost to the health system and decreased out-of-pocket costs. Finally, both participants and providers felt an improved experience in managing the patient's HF.

The observation that our participants felt better while being monitored was similar to clinical case series and studies demonstrating high participant satisfaction when patients with HF were monitored at home [16]. Critically, our positive results differ from those of previous studies that suggested no benefit [3,4]. We hypothesize that TEC4Home was designed to support a patient in the postdischarge period for 60 days, which may be a reason for our promising results. Our study also measured participants' quality of life and end-user experience, and both were found to increase. These findings have not been frequently reported in the literature.

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e24509

# Acceptability of the Conduct of Research

This study, conducted in 3 urban sites in British Columbia, enrolled motivated patients. Of the 219 patients fulfilling eligibility criteria, only 70 patients enrolled, resulting in a recruitment rate of 32.0%. It would, therefore, be important to increase identification, recruitment, and enrollment of eligible patients. One challenge experienced was attempting to recruit patients at the height of their exacerbation in the ED. Indeed, other studies have encountered similar challenges in recruiting from the ED with common difficulties, such as time-consuming health record searches, limited research nurse support, and lack of face-to-face communication between patient and researcher [17]. The results we provide in Table 1 helped us to understand some of the factors that led to eligible patients declining participation, such as not feeling well enough to participate and not feeling comfortable using HHM or having someone to help them use it.

We presented these findings to our research study patient advisory committee and collectively developed the following ways to improve recruitment of eligible patients: increase engagement with the hospital staff members to raise awareness of TEC4Home to improve referral rates of potential patients, and identify optimal times to approach patients during patients' hospital stays (eg, when they begin to feel better) or being careful to avoid recruiting while in the ED, especially when patients are being admitted to hospital.

The feasibility study also helped us to devise the following refinements to recruitment procedures: refining recruiter materials, including brochures, videos on how to use the HHM tool kit, and other materials to demystify study procedures and pique the participants' interest; reviewing and clarifying the eligibility criteria with recruiters so they can conduct the screening and enrolment of patients more effectively; and establishing an ongoing support-and-feedback loop for site recruiters to promote consistent understanding and support for patient engagement.

Although a before–after analysis using administrative data is appropriate for a feasibility study, a more definitive trial design with a true control comparison is required. One site was unable to provide administrative data. Further, the discrepancy in responses and return rates between administrative data and survey data will be addressed in the RCT with an emphasis on provincial databases being the definitive source for our primary outcome.

Our results suggests that participants are generally able to perform self-monitoring routinely over 2 months postdischarge from the hospital. Our participants submitted data on nearly 95% of days, which compares favorably to similar studies. A recent telemonitoring feasibility study with patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus found lower adherence rates compared to our trial [18]. We further found the success rate of presurvey completion to be 67% (47/70), postsurvey completion to be 70% (49/70), and pre- and postsurvey completion by the same participants to be 50% (35/70). We identified ways, such as using scheduled reminders, to increase survey returns in our RCT.

Comments from patients in the survey revealed that those who persisted in using the HHM found the experience very helpful to support their self-management. Technology usability was another area that needed improvement—how to make the equipment more user friendly. Survey comments from monitoring clinicians were also highly useful to improving the types of data we needed to include in the dashboard, the workflow of monitoring nurses when contacting participants and their PCP, and how often the monitoring report summary should be sent to PCPs. We were unable to obtain feedback from participants' PCPs in this feasibility study and needed to understand the reasons for it. We conducted a focus group with the PCPs to explore this issue prior to conducting the full RCT.

# **Evaluation Framework**

This study allowed us to examine our data collection procedures and scope. Overall, our evaluation framework was able to guide the collection of metrics to assess the outcomes that we would like to measure: patient outcome, end-user experiences, and health system cost-effectiveness. The data we collected helped us determine the primary outcome differences before and after monitoring, a basis for hospital utilization and cost comparisons, and end-user experiences based on the validated scales that we selected. This study also guided us in improving the scope of data we would be collecting, such as additional provincial databases covering clinical baseline measures to learn more about our participants at enrollment (eg, severity of illness, comorbidities), more health care utilization indicators (eg, specialized medical services), health care system and patient costs (eg, prescription drugs dispensed), and vital statistics that include accurate and more detailed mortality data. Additionally, the lack of data from a control comparison is a true limitation of any feasibility study design and will be addressed in the upcoming RCT. We also lengthened the period of data collection from just 90 days before and after enrollment to include 3 additional 3-month periods, up to 1 year before and after enrollment to provide insight into long-term effects. A shift from the VR-12 to the EuroQol-5D (EQ-5D) quality of life assessment tool will allow for the calculation of quality-adjusted life-year analysis. All of these refinements based on the feasibility results were implemented in the second phase of TEC4Home, a large-scale RCT designed to further examine home health monitoring across 22 British Columbia hospitals from urban, regional, and rural communities.

# Conclusions

This feasibility study better prepared us for a planned multicenter RCT by helping us understand how best to engage patients in eligibility assessment, recruitment, and retention and how to refine our evaluation framework and metrics collection. Furthermore, analysis of the data we collected provided encouragement that HHM can be beneficial for patients with HF post discharge. Findings from this feasibility study provided practical lessons that allowed us to conduct the multicenter RCT as well as identify early positive signals of the benefits of HHM for patients with HF.

# Acknowledgments

Funding was provided by the Canadian Institute for Health Research, eHealth Innovations Partnership Program, the Michael Smith Foundation for Health Research, and the BC Ministry of Health Strategic Initiative Funding in a partnership between the UBC Digital Emergency Medicine Research Unit and the technology partner TELUS Health.

This manuscript is submitted on behalf of the TEC4Home Community, a multidisciplinary community of policy makers, physicians, epidemiologists, statisticians, and researchers from British Columbia.

The publication costs for this article have been covered by Canada Health Infoway Inc., a non-profit corporation funded by the Government of Canada. The funders had no role in study design, data collection, and analysis, or decision to publish the manuscript.

# **Conflicts of Interest**

KH is a full professor in UBC Faculty of Medicine leading the Digital Emergency Medicine Unit and, as part of his academic salary from UBC, his academic research work is on digital health technologies including the subject matter in this paper. This TEC4Home project is funded by grants from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research, the Michael Smith Foundation for Health Research, the BC Ministry of Health, TELUS Health, and private donations from the VGH & UBC Hospital Foundation. With the exception of the Health Professional Investigator Award from the Michael Smith Foundation for Health Research, from which KH received partial funding support through the UBC Department of Emergency Medicine for his research salary earnings, all

other grants and supports are to fund the implementation and evaluation of this project without benefiting KH directly. TS is an employee of TELUS Health, the technology partner for TEC4Home, which has been compensated for providing the hardware and software for the project as well as for professional services support.

TS is an employee of TELUS Health, the technology partner for TEC4Home, which has been compensated for providing the hardware and software for the project as well as for professional services support.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Feasibility study patient participant eligibility criteria. [DOCX File , 16 KB - formative\_v5i6e24509\_app1.docx ]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Monitoring nurse interview protocol. [DOCX File , 15 KB - formative\_v5i6e24509\_app2.docx ]

Multimedia Appendix 3 Primary care physician survey protocol. [DOCX File , 15 KB - formative v5i6e24509 app3.docx ]

Multimedia Appendix 4 Patient participant interview analysis code book. [DOCX File, 13 KB - formative\_v5i6e24509\_app4.docx ]

Multimedia Appendix 5 Monitoring nurse interview analysis code book. [DOCX File, 13 KB - formative v5i6e24509 app5.docx ]

Multimedia Appendix 6

Summary of most common reasons (not exhaustive) for patients not participating. [DOCX File , 15 KB - formative\_v5i6e24509\_app6.docx ]

Multimedia Appendix 7

Summary of reasons provided by eligible patients who declined to participate. [DOCX File, 12 KB - formative\_v5i6e24509\_app7.docx]

# References

- Ambrosy AP, Fonarow GC, Butler J, Chioncel O, Greene SJ, Vaduganathan M, et al. The global health and economic burden of hospitalizations for heart failure: lessons learned from hospitalized heart failure registries. J Am Coll Cardiol 2014 Apr 1;63(12):1123-1133 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2013.11.053] [Medline: 24491689]
- Brahmbhatt D, Cowie M. Remote management of heart failure: an pverview of telemonitoring technologies. Cardiac Failure Review 2019 May 01:86-92 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.15420/cfr.2019.5.3] [Medline: 31179018]
- 3. Chaudhry SI, Mattera JA, Curtis JP, Spertus JA, Herrin J, Lin Z, et al. Telemonitoring in patients with heart failure. N Engl J Med 2010 Dec 9;363(24):2301-2309 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1010029] [Medline: 21080835]
- 4. Koehler F, Koehler K, Prescher S, Kirwan BA, Wegscheider K, Vettorazzi E, et al. Mortality and morbidity 1 year after stopping a remote patient management intervention: extended follow-up results from the telemedical interventional management in patients with heart failure II (TIM-HF2) randomised trial. Lancet Digit Health 2020 Jan;2(1):e16-e24 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S2589-7500(19)30195-5] [Medline: 33328035]
- 5. Kitsiou S, Paré G, Jaana M. Effects of home telemonitoring interventions on patients with chronic heart failure: an overview of systematic reviews. J Med Internet Res 2015;17(3):e63 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4174] [Medline: 25768664]
- 6. TEC4Home Healthcare Innovation Community. Supporting heart failure patient transitions from acute to community care with home telemonitoring technology: a protocol for a provincial randomized controlled trial (TEC4Home). JMIR Res Protoc 2016 Dec 18;5(4):e198 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.5856] [Medline: 27977002]
- Berwick DM, Nolan TW, Whittington J. The triple aim: care, health, and cost. Health Aff (Millwood) 2008;27(3):759-769 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.27.3.759] [Medline: 18474969]
- 8. Kazis LE, Selim A, Rogers W, Ren XS, Lee A, Miller DR. Dissemination of methods and results from the veterans health study: final comments and implications for future monitoring strategies within and outside the veterans healthcare system. J Ambul Care Manage 2006;29(4):310-319. [doi: 10.1097/00004479-200610000-00007] [Medline: 16985389]

RenderX

- Kazis LE, Miller DR, Skinner KM, Lee A, Ren XS, Clark JA, et al. Applications of methodologies of the Veterans Health Study in the VA healthcare system: conclusions and summary. J Ambul Care Manage 2006;29(2):182-188. [doi: 10.1097/00004479-200604000-00011] [Medline: 16552327]
- Spertus JA, Jones PG. Development and validation of a short version of the Kansas City Cardiomyopathy Questionnaire. Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes 2015 Sep;8(5):469-476 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1161/CIRCOUTCOMES.115.001958] [Medline: 26307129]
- 11. Jaarsma T, Arestedt KF, Mårtensson J, Dracup K, Strömberg A. The European Heart Failure Self-care Behaviour scale revised into a nine-item scale (EHFScB-9): a reliable and valid international instrument. Eur J Heart Fail 2009 Jan;11(1):99-105 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/eurjhf/hfn007] [Medline: 19147463]
- Vellone E, Jaarsma T, Strömberg A, Fida R, Årestedt K, Rocco G, et al. The European Heart Failure Self-care Behaviour Scale: new insights into factorial structure, reliability, precision and scoring procedure. Patient Educ Couns 2014 Jan;94(1):97-102. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2013.09.014] [Medline: 24148605]
- 13. Brooke J. SUS A quick and dirty usability scale. In: Jordan PW, Thomas B, McClelland IL, Weerdmeester B, editors. Usability evaluation in industry. London, United Kingdom: Taylor & Francis Ltd; Jul 01, 1996:189-194.
- 14. Harris PA, Taylor R, Thielke R, Payne J, Gonzalez N, Conde JG. Research electronic data capture (REDCap)--a metadata-driven methodology and workflow process for providing translational research informatics support. J Biomed Inform 2009 Apr;42(2):377-381 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2008.08.010] [Medline: 18929686]
- Harris PA, Taylor R, Minor BL, Elliott V, Fernandez M, O'Neal L, REDCap Consortium. The REDCap consortium: Building an international community of software platform partners. J Biomed Inform 2019 Jul;95:103208 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2019.103208] [Medline: 31078660]
- Ware P, Ross HJ, Cafazzo JA, Boodoo C, Munnery M, Seto E. Outcomes of a heart failure telemonitoring program implemented as the standard of care in an outpatient heart function clinic: pretest-posttest pragmatic study. J Med Internet Res 2020 Feb 08;22(2):e16538 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/16538] [Medline: 32027309]
- Price D, Edwards M, Carson-Stevens A, Cooper A, Davies F, Evans B, et al. Challenges of recruiting emergency department patients to a qualitative study: a thematic analysis of researchers' experiences. BMC Medical Research Methodology 2020 Jun 01:151 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12874-020-01039-2] [Medline: 32522265]
- Shaw RJ, Yang Q, Barnes A, Hatch D, Crowley MJ, Vorderstrasse A, et al. Self-monitoring diabetes with multiple mobile health devices. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2020 May 01;27(5):667-676 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocaa007] [Medline: 32134447]

# Abbreviations

CHEOS: Centre for Health Evaluation & Outcome Sciences ED: emergency department EHFScBs-9: European Heart Failure Self-Care Behaviour Scale 9 EQ-5D: EuroQol-5D KCCQ-12: Kansas City Cardiomyopathy Scale HF: heart failure HHM: home health monitoring PCP: primary healthcare provider RCT: randomized controlled trial REDCap: Research Electronic Data Capture Tec4Home: Telehealth for Emergency-Community Continuity of Care Connectivity via Home Telemonitoring TIM-HF2: Telemedical Interventional Management in Heart Failure II UBC: University of British Columbia VR-12: Veterans Rand 12-Item Health Survey

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 22.09.20; peer-reviewed by Y Shahar, P Ware, CY Yeh; comments to author 02.11.20; revised version received 18.12.20; accepted 16.03.21; published 03.06.21.

Please cite as:

Ho K, Novak Lauscher H, Cordeiro J, Hawkins N, Scheuermeyer F, Mitton C, Wong H, McGavin C, Ross D, Apantaku G, Karim ME, Bhullar A, Abu-Laban R, Nixon S, Smith T Testing the Feasibility of Sensor-Based Home Health Monitoring (TEC4Home) to Support the Convalescence of Patients With Heart Failure: Pre–Post Study JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e24509 URL: https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e24509 doi:10.2196/24509



PMID:34081015

©Kendall Ho, Helen Novak Lauscher, Jennifer Cordeiro, Nathaniel Hawkins, Frank Scheuermeyer, Craig Mitton, Hubert Wong, Colleen McGavin, Dianne Ross, Glory Apantaku, Mohammad Ehsan Karim, Amrit Bhullar, Riyad Abu-Laban, Suzanne Nixon, Tyler Smith. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 03.06.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

# **Original Paper**

# Expanding the Reach of Research: Quantitative Evaluation of a Web-Based Approach for Remote Recruitment of People Who Hear Voices

Benjamin Buck<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Ayesha Chander<sup>1</sup>, MRes; Rachel M Brian<sup>1</sup>, MPH; Weichen Wang<sup>2</sup>, ME; Andrew T Campbell<sup>2</sup>, PhD; Dror Ben-Zeev<sup>1</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Behavioral Research in Technology and Engineering (BRiTE) Center, Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences, University of Washington, Seattle, WA, United States

<sup>2</sup>Department of Computer Science, Dartmouth College, Hanover, NH, United States

# **Corresponding Author:**

Benjamin Buck, PhD Behavioral Research in Technology and Engineering (BRiTE) Center Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences University of Washington 1959 NE Pacific Street Seattle, WA, 98195 United States Phone: 1 206 221 8518 Email: buckbe@uw.edu

# Abstract

**Background:** Similar to other populations with highly stigmatized medical or psychiatric conditions, people who hear voices (ie, experience auditory verbal hallucinations [AVH]) are often difficult to identify and reach for research. Technology-assisted remote research strategies reduce barriers to research recruitment; however, few studies have reported on the efficiency and effectiveness of these approaches.

**Objective:** This study introduces and evaluates the efficacy of technology-assisted remote research designed for people who experience AVH.

**Methods:** Our group developed an integrated, automated and human complementary web-based recruitment and enrollment apparatus that incorporated Google Ads, web-based screening, identification verification, hybrid automation, and interaction with live staff. We examined the efficacy of that apparatus by examining the number of web-based advertisement impressions (ie, number of times the web-based advertisement was viewed); clicks on that advertisement; engagement with web-based research materials; and the extent to which it succeeded in representing a broad sample of individuals with AVH, assessed through the self-reported AVH symptom severity and demographic representativeness (relative to the US population) of the sample recruited.

**Results:** Over an 18-month period, our Google Ads advertisement was viewed 872,496 times and clicked on 11,183 times. A total amount of US \$4429.25 was spent on Google Ads, resulting in 772 individuals who experience AVH providing consent to participate in an entirely remote research study (US \$0.40 per click on the advertisement and US \$5.73 per consented participant) after verifying their phone number, passing a competency screening questionnaire, and providing consent. These participants reported high levels of AVH frequency (666/756, 88.1% daily or more), distress (689/755, 91.3%), and functional interference (697/755, 92.4%). They also represented a broad sample of diversity that mirrored the US population demographics. Approximately one-third (264/756, 34.9%) of the participants had never received treatment for their AVH and, therefore, were unlikely to be identified via traditional clinic-based research recruitment strategies.

**Conclusions:** Web-based procedures allow for time saving, cost-efficient, and representative recruitment of individuals with AVH and can serve as a model for future studies focusing on hard-to-reach populations.

# (JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e23118) doi:10.2196/23118

# **KEYWORDS**

RenderX

digital health; research procedures; recruitment; mobile phone

# Introduction

# Background

Auditory verbal hallucinations (AVH; or voices), or erroneous perceptions of speech, are a hallmark symptom of schizophrenia spectrum disorders (SSDs). They are experienced by 5% to 28% of the general population [1-4], including many people with a range of psychiatric diagnoses as well as many people who are otherwise considered healthy. In their most severe form, AVH are linked to anxiety, depression, and functional impairment [5,6]. AVH present unique challenges for research. First, individuals with SSDs who hear voices are considered a hard-to-reach population or a group that faces geographical, social, or economic barriers to participation [7,8]. SSDs are overrepresented in economically deprived and socially isolated groups [9,10], and treatment resources for them are scarce [11]. Many have no contact with mental health providers [12-14]. Others are reluctant to engage with the mental health system because of concerns about stigma [15], disagreement with diagnosis [16,17], or negative attitudes toward services [18]. Second, common clinical research practices often fail to access individuals with less severe or non-clinical AVH. Most individuals with AVH do not meet the criteria for an SSD; they often present with a range of diagnoses, including major depressive disorder, bipolar disorder, or may have never received a diagnosis at all [19,20]. Due to their reduced impact and increased independent coping skills, individuals with nonclinical AVH may be less likely to engage in research through traditional clinical settings. They may also opt against self-identifying because of concerns about stigma [21].

Digital technologies may help address these barriers. The average American adult is estimated to spend 3 hours and 48 minutes per day on a smartphone, tablet, or computer, with the majority of that time (62%) spent on the internet and using an app on a smartphone [22]. More than 1 in 3 adults report that they have gone on the internet to better understand a health condition [23]. Although smartphone ownership tends to lag behind the general population, many individuals with serious mental illnesses report owning a smartphone [24], and this number has rapidly increased over the past two decades [25]. Individuals with SSDs report similar levels of health-related internet and web-based engagement [26] and are willing to engage in a variety of research or clinical activities on the web, including assessments [27,28], interventions [29-31], and peer communication [32,33]. Web-based approaches allow participants to covertly self-identify and thus could reduce the impact of stigma on research participation [34]. Furthermore, the COVID-19 pandemic has revealed additional vulnerabilities in in-person research recruitment procedures. During the pandemic, many of these activities have halted; however, research engagement through digital technology can continue while remaining adherent to physical distancing guidelines.

One particularly promising approach to address these issues is the use of technology-assisted remote research. This term describes a constellation of web-based tools (eg, advertisements posted in search engine results and email listservs) that require no face-to-face interactions with prospective participants and thus obviate many of the barriers common in traditional These differ from traditional recruitment research. methodologies that require partnerships with partner organizations with brick-and-mortar locations or other recruitment tools such as flyers. These efficient and cost-effective [35,36] tools have been used to recruit research participants from several psychiatric populations, including people with depression [35], bipolar disorder [36], and suicidality [37]. These tools may be specifically well suited to address the extant challenges in recruiting and engaging individuals who experience AVH. As it is not situated within a health care system, technology-assisted remote research may be less susceptible to overrepresenting individuals engaged in treatment. It also potentially removes economic and social barriers faced by hard-to-reach populations (eg, time constraints and travel time) and allows for anonymous participation, thus reducing the impact of stigma.

Web-based methodologies are not without challenges. Research has examined the extent to which web-based research participants (eg, users of web-based platforms such as Amazon Mechanical Turk) are representative of the general population [38-40]. Others have raised concerns about participants' *gaming* or earning payments without honest and effortful participation [41]. For example, participants may attempt to complete web-based studies multiple times by masking their identifiers (eg, name and email address). Few studies have presented methods and models to engage difficult-to-reach populations while preserving the security, privacy, and validity of research data.

# Objectives

In this paper, we report on the use of a technology-assisted remote research approach designed to recruit people who experience AVH. These procedures combine public-facing technologies (eg, Google Ads) with automated digital tools (eg, coding scripts to filter prospective participants) and available remote human support to efficiently recruit a difficult-to-reach population while preserving data security and quality. We describe the structure of that system and report several metrics assessing its performance, including (1) the number of web-based advertisement impressions (ie, number of times the web-based advertisement was viewed); (2) clicks on that advertisement; (3) engagement with web-based research materials; and (4) the extent to which it succeeded at representing a broad sample of individuals with AVH, assessed through self-reported AVH symptom severity and demographic representativeness (relative to the US population) of the sample recruited.

# Methods

# Overview

These digital tools were built for a primary study described elsewhere examining the real-time, real-place phenomenology of AVH [42]. This involved downloading and carrying a smartphone app for a 30-day study period that deployed brief ecological momentary assessment questionnaires and captured data through smartphone sensors. Study inclusion criteria included speaking English, being 18 years or older, living in

XSL•FO RenderX

the United States, experiencing AVH at least once per week, and ownership of an Android smartphone. Exclusion criteria included previous participation in the study and being unavailable for 30 days of consecutive data collection. The internal review boards at the University of Washington and Dartmouth College approved all the study procedures.

# **Google Ads and Keywords**

To recruit individuals reporting AVH, we used Google Ads, a system of web-based advertisements wherein advertisements are viewable by individuals who use terms that match preselected keywords provided by the advertiser. Advertisements are designed to resemble a typical Google search result and thus comprise a title, URL, and brief description. In addition to keywords, the system allows for the entry of negative keywords, which function in the opposite way, ensuring that the advertisements are not viewable by individuals who search one of the negative keywords. Google Ads records the number of impressions, keywords used, number of clicks linked to the landing page and cost per click, and basic demographics of those who clicked on the advertisement (eg, age, gender, and household income, if reported to Google by the user). For this study, we selected keywords based on several sources: qualitative responses during our early work [43] as well as a rapid review of the academic literature, consultation with researchers focused on serious mental illness, and a review of blogs of people with lived experience. These keywords included descriptors that involved both clinical language (eg, schizophrenia and bipolar disorder) and nontraditional appraisals of AVH or related terms (eg, talking to ghosts and going crazy). Positive keywords were allowed to have a broad match with search terms, according to which search terms could be reordered or accompanied with other terms. Negative keywords were entered with a phrase match setting, according to which the exact phrase must be included in the search for the user to be blocked. Negative keywords were selected to prevent

individuals from attempting to complete the study a second time (eg, *hearing voice research* and *bipolar studies that pay*).

# Web-Based Recruitment Materials

Once users clicked on the advertisement, they were taken to the study landing page that provided written and video descriptions of the study. The consent form was available for download on this page. Participants were instructed to click on a "see if I am eligible" button if they were interested; this button then triggered a pop-up message requesting their email and a valid mobile phone number. This number received a text message with a code that prospective participants had to enter on the study website to gain access to the eligibility questionnaire. Once found eligible, participants were again given access to the consent form to download and review and asked to answer all competency questions correctly within 3 attempts. Participants were excluded if they were unable to complete this step successfully, as they were deemed unable to provide informed consent. Participants were also excluded if they had previously participated in the study. Therefore, the server ran the email and phone numbers provided through the participant database and automatically blocked people with repeat phone numbers from continuing the enrollment process. If participants met eligibility criteria via the screening questions and provided informed consent, their participation in the study officially began (ie, access to baseline assessments and the study app was provided). If at any point their responses indicated that they were ineligible (eg, 3 failed attempts to answer competency questions or previous participation), they were taken to a page where they were thanked for their interest but informed that they were ineligible to participate. Throughout this process, a staff member was available by phone and email for participants to call if the prospective participant faced barriers or had questions. Figure 1 provides an overview of the flow of interested individuals from the landing page to the consent and initiation of the study.

Figure 1. Participant flow and attrition at each stage of the web-based engagement procedure.



### **Data Security and Validity Procedures**

In addition to the phone verification process, other procedures were also used to deter gamers or participants aiming to earn payments through duplicate or otherwise dishonest participation. These involved identifying prospective participants based on suspicious digital activity; when such users were identified, a research coordinator contacted them to conduct additional live screening by telephone. We identified this suspicious activity by (1) reviewing their means of access to the study landing page and (2) assessing duplicate emails, phone numbers, and email addresses. First, as a user cannot ensure that a Google Ad will appear in their search terms, it was expected that gamers would attempt to access the study landing page by entering the study URL directly, as opposed to honest participants who would only respond to the link listed in Google Ads. Thus, different links distinguished those who accessed the page via Google Ads versus those who accessed it directly. When a direct arrival initiated the screening process, a research coordinator would receive a notification and conduct additional screening of the prospective participant by phone; they were only allowed to proceed if cleared by the research coordinator. Second, the research coordinator would also receive an automated email if a participant attempted to enter the study with (1) an identical IP (internet protocol) address to a previous participant or (2) an

RenderX

email address for which characters matched the email of a previously enrolled participant by >90%. The study responses of these suspicious participants were reviewed on an ongoing basis (ie, identifiers and patterns in survey responses) and discussed at subsequent team meetings to determine whether additional screening was warranted by these patterns of responses. Participants were discontinued from the study if it was determined after additional screening that they were attempting to participate in the study for a second time (n=44) or were otherwise dishonest about their eligibility (n=2). No adverse events occurred throughout the course of the study.

# Results

### Overview

The aim of this study is to examine the efficiency and effectiveness of web-based recruitment of individuals who experience AVH, according to a number of metrics, including (1) the number of web-based advertisement impressions (ie, number of times it was viewed) and clicks; (2) engagement with web-based research materials (ie, whether and how participants enrolled); and (3) the extent to which it succeeded in representing a broad sample of individuals with AVH, assessed through self-reported AVH symptom severity and demographic representativeness (relative to the US population).

# **Advertisement Impressions and Clicks**

Advertisements were posted from February 2018 to September 2019, with a total budget of US \$4429.25. The advertisement was viewed 872,496 times and was clicked on 11,183 times, reaching a click-through rate (clicks per impression) of 1.28% at an average cost of US \$0.40 per click. The cost of a successfully recruited participant, that is, one who completed the screening processes and informed consent portions

completely, was US \$5.74 per person. The top 5 advertisement keywords were *mental illness*, *schizophrenia*, *mental health*, *bipolar*, and *hear voices*. Table 1 presents the number of impressions, clicks, click-through rate, and cost per click by advertisement keyword. Of the individuals who clicked on the advertisement and had available demographic information, most (9896/11,223, 88.18%) clicked on the advertisement through mobile phones, whereas few used desktop computers (700/11,223, 6.24%) or tablets (627/11,223, 5.59%).

**Table 1.** Measures of advertisement engagement for all keywords included to reach people who hear voices<sup>a</sup>.

Keywords	Impressions <sup>b</sup> , n	Clicks, n	Click-through rate (%)	Average cost per click (US \$)	Total cost (US \$)
Mental illness	188,766	2263	1.20	0.42	951.33
Schizophrenia	97,872	1945	1.99	0.41	794.19
Mental health	146,438	1753	1.20	0.43	757.05
Bipolar	82,815	931	1.12	0.44	410.64
Hear voices	59,321	881	1.49	0.33	294.16
I hear voices	55,629	815	1.47	0.35	286.64
Hearing sounds	47,702	610	1.28	0.37	226.86
Hearing voices in head	22,234	445	2.00	0.34	151.06
Mental illness hearing voices	19,685	422	2.14	0.35	148.30
Schizoaffective	8787	181	2.06	0.39	70.28
Hearing voices disorder	9972	175	1.75	0.39	67.77
Auditory hallucinations	6479	158	2.44	0.33	51.59
Hearing things	39,836	148	0.37	0.33	48.90
Delusional	22,321	130	0.58	0.33	42.88
Going crazy	11,880	78	0.66	0.33	25.49
Talking to ghosts	9904	67	0.68	0.37	24.96
Stress relief	21,329	64	0.30	0.46	29.12
Spirits talking	13,142	58	0.44	0.42	24.09
Musical ear syndrome	3767	19	0.50	0.44	8.39
Am I crazy	1644	19	1.16	0.31	5.95
Am I insane	942	12	1.27	0.45	5.43
Disembodied voices	227	3	1.32	0.28	0.84
I'm not crazy	1591	3	0.19	0.39	1.18
Hearing voices <sup>c</sup>	122	3	2.46	0.71	2.15
Voice hearing <sup>c</sup>	91	0	0	0	0

<sup>a</sup>The total number of impressions was 872,496; the total number of clicks was 11,183; average click-through rate was 1.28%; average cost per click was US \$0.40; and the total cost was US \$4429.25.

<sup>b</sup>An impression is counted each time the advertisement is shown on a search result page.

<sup>c</sup>These keywords were included for only a portion of the study period because of concerns related to repeat study participants searching for and finding the study advertisement.

# **Study Enrollment**

RenderX

The flow of interested users from Google Ads through informed consent is shown in Figure 1. Of the 11,183 clicks on the study Google Ad, a total of 2146 individuals provided their mobile phone number to be verified for participation in the study. Of the 2146 participants who provided a phone number, 1829

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e23118

(85.23%) verified this phone number with a code. Of the 1829 individuals with a verified phone number, 772 (42.21%) provided consent to participate in the study. Most individuals who verified their phone number but did not provide informed consent, did not meet the eligibility criteria (533/1057, 50.43%), whereas the remainder either failed a competency screening

questionnaire (135/1057, 12.77%) or chose not to participate (389/1057, 36.8%).

# **Participant AVH Frequency and Severity**

Results related to participants' AVH frequency and severity are presented in Table 2. Most individuals who provided consent to participate reported that they had sought treatment for their AVH at some point in their lifetime (492/756, 65.1%) but over one-third had not (264/756, 34.9%). The most common self-reported diagnoses were depression (488/749, 65.2%), bipolar disorder (352/749, 47%), and posttraumatic stress disorder (328/749, 43.8%). Most participants reported hearing voices at least once a day (666/756, 88.1%) and that the voices interfered with their daily activities in some way (697/755, 92.4%), with almost half of the participants reporting "quite a bit" or "extreme" interference (346/755, 45.9%). Most reported that the voices they hear are distressing (689/755, 91.3%) and more than half reported "quite a bit" or "extreme" distress (416/755, 55.1%). Participants varied in terms of how open they were about these voices with others. Most participants (443/756, 58.6%) had shared their experience of voices with a medical professional. Approximately half of the participants had immediate family members (376/755, 49.8%) or a significant other (350/754, 46.4%) who knew about their experience of voices. One-tenth (75/753, 10%) of the sample reported that no one else knew about their experience of voices. These figures suggest that this remote recruitment strategy successfully engaged a broad continuum of people with AVH experiences, including individuals with significant and severe AVH as well as those who had never engaged in treatment for them.



Table 2. Participants' diagnoses, experience, frequency, severity, and behavioral interference of auditory verbal hallucinations.

Clinical characteristics	Participants, n (%)			
Lifetime treatment seeking (n=756)				
Yes	492 (65.1)			
No	264 (34.9)			
Self-reported diagnosis <sup>a</sup>				
Alzheimer or Parkinson disease (n=747)	4 (0.5)			
Bipolar disorder (n=749)	352 (47.0)			
Depression (n=749)	488 (65.2)			
Traumatic brain injury (n=746)	50 (6.7)			
Migraines (n=747)	141 (18.9)			
Schizoaffective disorder (n=748)	210 (28.1)			
Schizophrenia (n=749)	208 (27.8)			
Posttraumatic stress disorder (n=749)	328 (43.8)			
Substance use (n=747)	228 (30.5)			
Seizures (n=748)	54 (7.2)			
None of the above (n=749)	61 (8.1)			
Other (n=772)	87 (11.3)			
Who knows about your voices? <sup>a</sup>				
No one knows (n=753)	75 (10.0)			
People you know online but not in person (n=756)	63 (8.3)			
Medical professionals/primary doctor/therapist (n=756)	443 (58.6)			
Significant other (ie, boyfriend, girlfriend, or spouse) (n=754)	350 (46.4)			
Some of my friends (n=756)	333 (44.0)			
All my friends (n=755)	83 (11.0)			
Extended family (n=756)	105 (13.9)			
Immediate family (n=755)	376 (49.8)			
How frequently do you hear a voice or voices? (n=756)				
No voices	2 (0.3)			
Less than once day	88 (11.6)			
Once or twice a day	199 (26.3)			
Several times a day	242 (32.0)			
All the time/constantly	225 (29.8)			
How much do the voices interfere with your daily activities? (n=755)				
No interference	58 (7.7)			
A little bit	162 (21.5)			
Moderately	189 (25.0)			
Quite a bit	187 (24.8)			
Extremely interfering	159 (21.1)			
How distressing are the voices that you hear? (n=755)				
No voices are distressing me	66 (8.7)			
A little bit	116 (15.4)			
Moderately	157 (20.8)			

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e23118

XSL•FO RenderX

```
JMIR Form Res 2021 | vol. 5 | iss. 6 |e23118 | p.60
(page number not for citation purposes)
```

Clinical characteristics	Participants, n (%)
Quite a bit	205 (27.2)
Extremely distressing	211 (27.9)

<sup>a</sup>Participants could select multiple options.

### **Participant Demographics and Representativeness**

The demographics of the study sample (Table 3) broadly reflect a number of US population trends. The average age of consented participants was 38.14 years (SD 9.86), which closely mirrored the median US age of 38.2 years [44]. In comparison with population estimates, the sample of individuals providing consent included larger percentages of multiple populations that are traditionally underrepresented in research, including Black or African American participants (108/760, 14.2% in our study, estimated at 12.7% of the US population [45]), multiracial participants (90/760, 11.8% vs 3.4% of the US population [45]), sexual minorities (156/766, 20.3% gay, lesbian, or bisexual vs 5% [46]; 12/771, 1.6% transgender vs 0.6% [47]), and the homeless (69/767, 9.0% vs 0.2% [48]). Other groups appeared underrepresented relative to the general population, including individuals who identified as Asian (9/760, 1.2% vs 5.6% [45]), Hispanic or Latino (101/765, 13.2% vs 18.3% [45]), and male (292/771, 37.9% vs 49.2% [45]).

Buck et al

Table 3. Demographics of participants who provided consent to participate.

Demographic characteristic	Values
Age (years; n=768), mean (SD)	38.14 (9.86)
Sex or gender (n=771), n (%)	
Female	470 (61.0)
Male	286 (37.1)
Transgender	12 (1.6)
Transgender woman	6 (0.8)
Transgender man	6 (0.8)
Other	3 (0.4)
Race (n=760), n (%)	
White	537 (70.7)
Black or African American	108 (14.2)
Pacific Islander	2 (0.3)
American Indian or Alaskan Native	14 (1.8)
Asian	9 (1.2)
More than one race	90 (11.8)
Hispanic (n=765), n (%)	
Yes	101 (13.2)
No	664 (86.8)
Sexual orientation (n=766), n (%)	
Heterosexual or straight	591 (77.2)
Gay or lesbian	50 (6.5)
Bisexual	106 (13.8)
Other	19 (2.5)
Housing status (n=767), n (%)	
Independent or living on my own	348 (45.4)
Living with family	313 (40.8)
Assisted or supported living	33 (4.3)
Substance treatment institution	4 (0.5)
Homeless	69 (9.0)

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e23118



# Discussion

# **Principal Findings**

Digital technologies are rapidly reshaping mental health research and services. One particular benefit of these approaches is their capacity to increase the reach of research to underserved populations. Previous work has demonstrated the potential of web-based engagement to facilitate help seeking among individuals at risk for psychosis by linking them to web-based resources about symptoms and treatments (eg, the Strong365 campaign [49]). This study builds on this earlier work by demonstrating that web-based tools can remotely facilitate research participation of individuals with psychotic symptoms at both clinical and nonclinical levels. The recruited sample reported clinically significant experiences with voices that were frequent, distressing, and functionally interfering, and over one-third had never received treatment for them. Overall, the results suggest that these web-based procedures allow for the efficient, affordable, and representative recruitment of research participants without reliance on a clinical setting.

Web-based digital recruitment methods compare favorably with extant approaches for engaging hard-to-reach populations in several ways. First, such methods appear to reduce costs. Traditional recruitment methods incur several costs in the process of raising interest and awareness of a study, such as increased staff time, flyers, mailings, and presentations to clinical or educational facilities [50]. These needs are obviated through remote recruitment. Our web-based advertisements were viewed by over 870,000 individuals for 18 months for less than US \$4500, a fraction of the cost that such exposure would necessitate using offline approaches. The approach of this study appeared to reduce costs relative to previous work using social media to recruit individuals with psychotic experiences [43]. Second, beyond increasing efficiency, these methods may improve representative sampling when the members of a group face barriers to participation. Research in other health-related populations has demonstrated that digital technologies may address these barriers [7,8,51], in particular, accessing broader geographic regions [52,53] and more diverse respondents [35,54]. This study provides support for these benefits and suggests that they may also reduce barriers specific to individuals on either end of the continuum of AVH severity. Individuals with psychosis are difficult to engage in clinical research, given social isolation and economic hardship [10,12,13]. Those with undiagnosed and untreated AVH may be even more difficult to engage, given a lack of contact with typical clinical research settings as well as potential concerns about self-identifying with stigmatized experiences. This approach appeared to engage participants from both ends of this continuum; one-third of the participants reported never seeking treatment for their voices, a similar proportion reported that they experienced highly distressing voices daily. This finding also provides additional support for the utility of these approaches to engage individuals at risk either in programs that

encourage help seeking [49,55] or in remotely delivered interventions [33]. Although a few examples provide support for the feasibility of these initiatives, future work should examine remote treatment-seeking support and intervention for the psychosis continuum at a population level. Furthermore, notable in these data were the number of participants who were also members of other underrepresented populations, including racial minorities, sexual minorities, and the homeless. Although it remains an open question why these groups are better represented using these methods, it is possible that web-based engagement reduces barriers for underrepresented groups that may face additional intersectional experiences of stigma on top of those related to their mental health concerns alone.

# Limitations

This study had some limitations. Although web-based methods may ameliorate some recruitment biases, they may worsen others. Web-based recruitment strategies rely on participants' ownership and adeptness to use technology to engage. Individuals who lack either may struggle to engage in these new avenues. This may be particularly pronounced among individuals who face economic barriers to several needed services. Most visitors to the research study landing page did not provide informed consent to participate. Specific factors may predict a lack of willingness to persist through automated screening steps (eg, persecutory ideation and cognitive functioning). If this is the case, this could limit the representativeness of the sample. Although our approach successfully engaged members of several typically underrepresented groups, others accounted for smaller proportions than their proportion of the US population, including Hispanic and Asian individuals. The prevalence of AVH in specific racial or ethnic groups is not clear in the academic literature at present; thus, it is not clear from these data whether overrepresentation of these groups relative to population demographic estimates is the result of a greater prevalence of AVH in specific groups, characteristics of our recruitment strategies, or other causes. Overall, however, our results suggest that web-based recruitment methods engage a diverse sample of individuals with AVH experiences.

# Conclusions

Technology-assisted remote research procedures address several barriers that are common in traditional research. Engaging prospective participants outside of typical clinical settings removes existing sampling biases, allowing for greater representation of psychiatric populations. These procedures have also been able to continue despite the halted in-person research activities in light of social distancing measures imposed by the COVID-19 pandemic. This expansion of access and reach has been a principal contribution of digital health technologies, and health care institutions have only just begun to witness their potential impact [56]. Just as digital technologies create considerable opportunities for treatment engagement, such tools can also enhance clinical research.



# Acknowledgments

This study was supported by a grant from the National Institute of Mental Health (R01MH112641). BB is supported by a Mentored Patient-Oriented Research Career Development Award from the National Institute of Mental Health (K23MH122504).

# **Conflicts of Interest**

DBZ has an intervention content licensing agreement with Pear Therapeutics and has financial interest in FOCUS technology. He has consulted for Trusst Health Inc, eQuility, and Otsuka Pharmaceuticals Ltd. The other authors have no conflicts of interest to disclose.

# References

- 1. Tien AY. Distribution of hallucinations in the population. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol 1991;26(6):287-292. [doi: 10.1007/bf00789221]
- 2. Scott J, Chant D, Andrews G, McGrath J. Psychotic-like experiences in the general community: the correlates of CIDI psychosis screen items in an Australian sample. Psychol Med 2005 Nov 23;36(2):231-238. [doi: 10.1017/s0033291705006392]
- Johns LC, Cannon M, Singleton N, Murray RM, Farrell M, Brugha T, et al. Prevalence and correlates of self-reported psychotic symptoms in the British population. Br J Psychiatry 2004 Oct 02;185(4):298-305. [doi: <u>10.1192/bjp.185.4.298</u>] [Medline: <u>15458989</u>]
- 4. Johns LC, Nazroo JY, Bebbington P, Kuipers E. Occurrence of hallucinatory experiences in a community sample and ethnic variations. Br J Psychiatry 2002 Feb 02;180(2):174-178. [doi: 10.1192/bjp.180.2.174] [Medline: 11823331]
- 5. Hoffman R, Varanko M, Gilmore J, Mishara A. Experiential features used by patients with schizophrenia to differentiate 'voices' from ordinary verbal thought. Psychol Med 2007 Nov 30;38(8):1167-1176. [doi: 10.1017/s0033291707002395]
- 6. Freeman D, Garety PA. Connecting neurosis and psychosis: the direct influence of emotion on delusions and hallucinations. Behav Res Ther 2003 Aug;41(8):923-947. [doi: 10.1016/s0005-7967(02)00104-3]
- 7. Shaghaghi A, Bhopal R, Sheikh A. Approaches to recruiting 'hard-to-reach' populations into re-search: a review of the literature. Heal Promot Perspect 2011 Dec 20;1(2):86-94. [doi: 10.5681/hpp.2011.009]
- Atkinson R, Flint J. Accessing hidden and hard-to-reach populations: snowball research strategies. Social Research Update. 2001. URL: <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/</u> 46214232 Accessing Hidden and Hard-to-Reach Populations Snowball Research Strategies/link/ 5540f43a0cf2322227314d32/download [accessed 2021-05-26]
- Richardson L, Hameed Y, Perez J, Jones PB, Kirkbride JB. Association of environment with the risk of developing psychotic disorders in rural populations: findings from the social epidemiology of psychoses in East Anglia study. JAMA Psychiatry 2018 Jan 01;75(1):75-83 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2017.3582] [Medline: 29188295]
- McGrath J, Saha S, Welham J, El Saadi O, MacCauley C, Chant D. A systematic review of the incidence of schizophrenia: the distribution of rates and the influence of sex, urbanicity, migrant status and methodology. BMC Med 2004 Apr 28;2:13
   [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1741-7015-2-13] [Medline: 15115547]
- 11. Saxena S, Thornicroft G, Knapp M, Whiteford H. Resources for mental health: scarcity, inequity, and inefficiency. Lancet 2007 Sep;370(9590):878-889. [doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(07)61239-2]
- 12. Schoenbaum M, Sutherland JM, Chappel A, Azrin S, Goldstein AB, Rupp A, et al. Twelve-month health care use and mortality in commercially insured young people with incident psychosis in the United States. Schizophr Bull 2017 Oct 21;43(6):1262-1272 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbx009] [Medline: 28398566]
- Mojtabai R, Fochtmann L, Chang S, Kotov R, Craig TJ, Bromet E. Unmet need for mental health care in schizophrenia: an overview of literature and new data from a first-admission study. Schizophr Bull 2009 Jul;35(4):679-695 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbp045] [Medline: 19505994]
- Doyle R, Turner N, Fanning F, Brennan D, Renwick L, Lawlor E, et al. First-episode psychosis and disengagement from treatment: a systematic review. Psychiatr Serv 2014 May 01;65(5):603-611. [doi: <u>10.1176/appi.ps.201200570</u>] [Medline: <u>24535333</u>]
- 15. Fung KM, Tsang HW, Corrigan PW. Self-stigma of people with schizophrenia as predictor of their adherence to psychosocial treatment. Psychiatr Rehabil J 2008;32(2):95-104. [doi: 10.2975/32.2.2008.95.104] [Medline: 18840563]
- Lincoln TM, Rief W, Westermann S, Ziegler M, Kesting M, Heibach E, et al. Who stays, who benefits? Predicting dropout and change in cognitive behaviour therapy for psychosis. Psychiatry Res 2014 May 15;216(2):198-205. [doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2014.02.012] [Medline: 24602992]
- 17. Tait L, Birchwood M, Trower P. Predicting engagement with services for psychosis: insight, symptoms and recovery style. Br J Psychiatry 2003 Feb 02;182(2):123-128. [doi: 10.1192/bjp.182.2.123] [Medline: 12562739]
- Schimmelmann BG, Conus P, Schacht M, Mc G, Lambert M. Predictors of service disengagement in first-admitted adolescents with psychosis. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2006 Aug;45(8):990-999. [doi: 10.1097/01.chi.0000223015.29530.65] [Medline: 16865042]
- 19. van Os J, Hanssen M, Bijl RV, Ravelli A. Strauss (1969) revisited: a psychosis continuum in the general population? Schizophr Res 2000 Sep 29;45(1-2):11-20. [doi: 10.1016/S0920-9964(99)00224-8]

XSL•FO RenderX

- 20. van Os J, Linscott RJ, Myin-Germeys I, Delespaul P, Krabbendam L. A systematic review and meta-analysis of the psychosis continuum: evidence for a psychosis proneness-persistence-impairment model of psychotic disorder. Psychol Med 2009 Feb;39(2):179-195. [doi: 10.1017/S0033291708003814] [Medline: 18606047]
- Gronholm PC, Thornicroft G, Laurens KR, Evans-Lacko S. Mental health-related stigma and pathways to care for people at risk of psychotic disorders or experiencing first-episode psychosis: a systematic review. Psychol Med 2017 Aug;47(11):1867-1879. [doi: 10.1017/S0033291717000344] [Medline: 28196549]
- 22. Nielsen total audience report, Q1 2018. The Nielsen Company (US), LLC. 2018. URL: <u>https://www.nielsen.com/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2019/04/q1-2018-total-audience-report.pdf</u> [accessed 2020-08-01]
- 23. Fox S, Duggan M. Pew Research Center. 2013. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/2013/01/15/health-online-2013/</u> [accessed 2020-08-01]
- Young AS, Cohen AN, Niv N, Nowlin-Finch N, Oberman RS, Olmos-Ochoa TT, et al. Mobile phone and smartphone use by people with serious mental illness. Psychiatr Serv 2020 Mar 01;71(3):280-283. [doi: <u>10.1176/appi.ps.201900203</u>] [Medline: <u>31744429</u>]
- Firth J, Cotter J, Torous J, Bucci S, Firth JA, Yung AR. Mobile phone ownership and endorsement of "mHealth" among people with psychosis: a meta-analysis of cross-sectional studies. Schizophr Bull 2016 Mar;42(2):448-455. [doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbv132] [Medline: 26400871]
- 26. Gay K, Torous J, Joseph A, Pandya A, Duckworth K. Digital technology use among individuals with schizophrenia: results of an online survey. JMIR Ment Health 2016;3(2):e15 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mental.5379] [Medline: 27146094]
- Niendam TA, Tully LM, Iosif A, Kumar D, Nye KE, Denton JC, et al. Enhancing early psychosis treatment using smartphone technology: a longitudinal feasibility and validity study. J Psychiatr Res 2018 Jan;96:239-246. [doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2017.10.017] [Medline: 29126059]
- Kumar D, Tully LM, Iosif A, Zakskorn LN, Nye KE, Zia A, et al. A mobile health platform for clinical monitoring in early psychosis: implementation in community-based outpatient early psychosis care. JMIR Ment Health 2018 Feb 27;5(1):e15 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mental.8551] [Medline: 29487044]
- Ben-Zeev D, Kaiser SM, Brenner CJ, Begale M, Duffecy J, Mohr DC. Development and usability testing of FOCUS: a smartphone system for self-management of schizophrenia. Psychiatr Rehabil J 2013 Dec;36(4):289-296 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/prj0000019] [Medline: 24015913]
- Alvarez-Jimenez M, Bendall S, Lederman R, Wadley G, Chinnery G, Vargas S, et al. On the HORYZON: moderated online social therapy for long-term recovery in first episode psychosis. Schizophr Res 2013 Jan;143(1):143-149. [doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2012.10.009] [Medline: 23146146]
- Bucci S, Barrowclough C, Ainsworth J, Machin M, Morris R, Berry K, et al. Actissist: proof-of-concept trial of a theory-driven digital intervention for psychosis. Schizophr Bull 2018 Sep;44(5):1070-1080. [doi: <u>10.1093/schbul/sby032</u>] [Medline: <u>29566206</u>]
- 32. Schlosser D, Campellone T, Kim D, Truong B, Vergani S, Ward C, et al. Feasibility of PRIME: a cognitive neuroscience-informed mobile app intervention to enhance motivated behavior and improve quality of life in recent onset schizophrenia. JMIR Res Protoc 2016 Apr 28;5(2):e77 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.5450] [Medline: 27125771]
- Schlosser DA, Campellone TR, Truong B, Etter K, Vergani S, Komaiko K, et al. Efficacy of PRIME, a mobile app intervention designed to improve motivation in young people with schizophrenia. Schizophr Bull 2018 Dec 20;44(5):1010-1020. [doi: <u>10.1093/schbul/sby078</u>] [Medline: <u>29939367</u>]
- 34. King R, Bambling M, Lloyd C, Gomurra R, Smith S, Reid W, et al. Online counselling: the motives and experiences of young people who choose the internet instead of face to face or telephone counselling. Couns Psychother Res 2006 Sep;6(3):169-174. [doi: 10.1080/14733140600848179]
- 35. Morgan AJ, Jorm AF, Mackinnon AJ. Internet-based recruitment to a depression prevention intervention: lessons from the Mood Memos study. J Med Internet Res 2013;15(2):e31 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2262] [Medline: 23403043]
- 36. Wise T, Arnone D, Marwood L, Zahn R, Lythe K, Young A. Recruiting for research studies using online public advertisements examples from research in affective disorders. Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat 2016 Feb:279-285. [doi: 10.2147/ndt.s90941]
- 37. Liu NH, Contreras O, Muñoz RF, Leykin Y. Assessing suicide attempts and depression among Chinese speakers over the internet. Crisis 2014 Sep 01;35(5):322-329 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1027/0227-5910/a000261] [Medline: 25115490]
- 38. Hauser DJ, Schwarz N. Attentive Turkers: MTurk participants perform better on online attention checks than do subject pool participants. Behav Res Methods 2016 Mar 12;48(1):400-407. [doi: 10.3758/s13428-015-0578-z] [Medline: 25761395]
- Casler K, Bickel L, Hackett E. Separate but equal? A comparison of participants and data gathered via Amazon's MTurk, social media, and face-to-face behavioral testing. Comp Hum Beh 2013 Nov;29(6):2156-2160. [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2013.05.009]
- 40. Huff C, Tingley D. "Who are these people?" Evaluating the demographic characteristics and political preferences of MTurk survey respondents. Res Polit 2015 Sep 10;2(3):1-12. [doi: 10.1177/2053168015604648]
- 41. Downs J, Holbrook M, Sheng S, Cranor L. Are your participants gaming the system?: screening mechanical turk workers. In: Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. 2010 Apr Presented at: CHI '10: CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems; April, 2010; Atlanta Georgia USA p. 2399-2402. [doi: 10.1145/1753326.1753688]

RenderX

- 42. Ben-Zeev D, Buck B, Chander A, Brian R, Wang W, Atkins D, et al. Mobile RDoC: using smartphones to understand the relationship between auditory verbal hallucinations and need for care. Schizophr Bull Open 2020 Jan;1(1):sgaa060 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/schizbullopen/sgaa060] [Medline: 33937774]
- 43. Crosier BS, Brian RM, Ben-Zeev D. Using Facebook to reach people who experience auditory hallucinations. J Med Internet Res 2016 Jun 14;18(6):e160 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5420] [Medline: 27302017]
- 44. Population estimates show aging across race groups differs. Public Information Office, United States Census Bureau. 2019 Jun 20. URL: <u>https://www.census.gov/newsroom/press-releases/2019/estimates-characteristics.html</u> [accessed 2020-08-01]
- 45. ACS demographic and housing estimates. United States Census Bureau. 2019. URL: <u>https://data.census.gov/cedsci/</u> <u>table?q=demographics%20and%20housing%20estimates&tid=ACSDP1Y2018.DP05</u> [accessed 2020-08-01]
- 46. Smith TW, Davern M, Freese J, Morgan S. General social surveys, 1972-2018. NORC Univ Chicago. URL: <u>https://gssdataexplorer.norc.org/trends/Gender & Marriage?measure=sexornt</u> [accessed 2020-08-01]
- 47. Flores A, Herman J, Gates G, Brown T. How many adults identify as transgender in the United States? Williams Institute, UCLA School of Law. 2016 Jun. URL: <u>https://williamsinstitute.law.ucla.edu/publications/trans-adults-united-states/</u> [accessed 2020-08-01]
- 48. Henry M, Bishop K, de Sousa T, Shivji A, Watt R. The 2017 Annual Homeless Assessment Report (AHAR) to Congress. The U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development. 2018 Oct. URL: <u>https://www.huduser.gov/portal/sites/default/files/pdf/2017-AHAR-Part-2.pdf</u> [accessed 2020-08-01]
- 49. Birnbaum ML, Garrett C, Baumel A, Scovel M, Rizvi AF, Muscat W, et al. Using digital media advertising in early psychosis intervention. Psychiatr Serv 2017 Nov 01;68(11):1144-1149. [doi: <u>10.1176/appi.ps.201600571</u>] [Medline: <u>28712355</u>]
- 50. Addington J, Epstein I, Reynolds A, Furimsky I, Rudy L, Mancini B, et al. Early detection of psychosis: finding those at clinical high risk. Early Interv Psychiatry 2008 Aug;2(3):147-153. [doi: 10.1111/j.1751-7893.2008.00078.x]
- 51. Sadler GR, Lee H, Lim RS, Fullerton J. Recruitment of hard-to-reach population subgroups via adaptations of the snowball sampling strategy. Nurs Health Sci 2010 Sep 01;12(3):369-374 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1442-2018.2010.00541.x] [Medline: 20727089]
- Fenner Y, Garland SM, Moore EE, Jayasinghe Y, Fletcher A, Tabrizi SN, et al. Web-based recruiting for health research using a social networking site: an exploratory study. J Med Internet Res 2012 Feb;14(1):e20 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1978] [Medline: 22297093]
- 53. Graham AL, Milner P, Saul JE, Pfaff L. Online advertising as a public health and recruitment tool: comparison of different media campaigns to increase demand for smoking cessation interventions. J Med Internet Res 2008 Dec 15;10(5):e50 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1001] [Medline: 19073542]
- 54. Seltzer ED, Stolley MR, Mensah EK, Sharp LK. Social networking site usage among childhood cancer survivors a potential tool for research recruitment? J Cancer Surviv 2014 Sep 16;8(3):349-354 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11764-014-0348-4] [Medline: 24532046]
- Birnbaum ML, Rizvi AF, Confino J, Correll CU, Kane JM. Role of social media and the internet in pathways to care for adolescents and young adults with psychotic disorders and non-psychotic mood disorders. Early Interv Psychiatry 2017 Dec;11(4):290-295. [doi: 10.1111/eip.12237] [Medline: 25808317]
- 56. Ben-Zeev D. The digital mental health genie is out of the bottle. Psychiatr Serv 2020 Dec 01;71(12):1212-1213. [doi: 10.1176/appi.ps.202000306] [Medline: 32576123]

# Abbreviations

AVH: auditory verbal hallucinations IP: internet protocol SSD: schizophrenia spectrum disorder

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 01.08.20; peer-reviewed by A Wright, C Arnold, T Campellone; comments to author 29.09.20; revised version received 09.10.20; accepted 12.04.21; published 03.06.21.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Buck B, Chander A, Brian RM, Wang W, Campbell AT, Ben-Zeev D Expanding the Reach of Research: Quantitative Evaluation of a Web-Based Approach for Remote Recruitment of People Who Hear Voices JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e23118 URL: <u>https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e23118</u> doi:10.2196/23118 PMID:34081011



©Benjamin Buck, Ayesha Chander, Rachel M Brian, Weichen Wang, Andrew T Campbell, Dror Ben-Zeev. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 03.06.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included. **Original Paper** 

# Racial Discrimination, Sedentary Time, and Physical Activity in African Americans: Quantitative Study Combining Ecological Momentary Assessment and Accelerometers

Soohyun Nam<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Sangchoon Jeon<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Garrett Ash<sup>2,3</sup>, PhD; Robin Whittemore<sup>1</sup>, PhD; David Vlahov<sup>1</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>School of Nursing, Yale University, West Haven, CT, United States

<sup>2</sup>Veterans Affairs Connecticut Healthcare System, West Haven, CT, United States

<sup>3</sup>Center for Medical Informatics, Yale University, New Haven, CT, United States

# **Corresponding Author:**

Soohyun Nam, PhD School of Nursing Yale University 400 West Campus Dr West Haven, CT, 06516 United States Phone: 1 203 737 2822 Email: soohyun.nam@yale.edu

# Abstract

**Background:** A growing number of studies indicate that exposure to social stress, such as perceived racial discrimination, may contribute to poor health, health behaviors, and health disparities. Increased physical activity (PA) may buffer the impact of social stress resulting from racial discrimination. However, to date, data on the relationship between racial discrimination and PA have been mixed. Part of the reason is that the effect of perceived racial discrimination on PA has primarily been examined in cross-sectional studies that captured retrospective measures of perceived racial discrimination associated with individuals' current PA outcomes. The association between real-time perceived racial discrimination and PA among African Americans remains unclear.

**Objective:** The purpose of this study is to examine the relationship among demographic, anthropometric and clinical, and psychological factors with lifetime racial discrimination and examine the within- and between-person associations between daily real-time racial discrimination and PA outcomes (total energy expenditure, sedentary time, and moderate-to-vigorous PA patterns) measured by ecological momentary assessment (EMA) and accelerometers in healthy African Americans.

**Methods:** This pilot study used an intensive, observational, case-crossover design of African Americans (n=12) recruited from the community. After participants completed baseline surveys, they were asked to wear an accelerometer for 7 days to measure their PA levels. EMA was sent to participants 5 times per day for 7 days to assess daily real-time racial discrimination. Multilevel models were used to examine the within- and between-person associations of daily racial discrimination on PA.

**Results:** More EMA-reported daily racial discrimination was associated with younger age (r=0.75; P=.02). Daily EMA-reported microaggression was associated with depressive symptoms (r=0.66; P=.05), past race-related events (r=0.82; P=.004), and lifetime discrimination (r=0.78; P=.01). In the within-person analyses, the day-level association of racial discrimination and sedentary time was significant ( $\beta$ =.30, SE 0.14; P=.03), indicating that on occasions when participants reported more racial discrimination than usual, more sedentary time was observed. Between-person associations of racial discrimination ( $\beta$ =-.30, SE 0.28; P=.29) or microaggression ( $\beta$ =-.34, SE 0.36; P=.34) with total energy expenditure were suggestive but inconclusive.

**Conclusions:** Concurrent use of EMA and accelerometers is a feasible method to examine the relationship between racial discrimination and PA in real time. Examining daily processes at the within-person level has the potential to elucidate the mechanisms of which racial discrimination may have on health and health behaviors and to guide the development of personalized interventions for increasing PA in racial ethnic minorities. Future studies with a precision health approach, incorporating within-and between-person associations, are warranted to further elucidate the effects of racial discrimination and PA.

International Registered Report Identifier (IRRID): RR2-10.1002/nur.22068

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e25687) doi:10.2196/25687

RenderX

## **KEYWORDS**

racial discrimination; physical activity; ecological momentary assessment; African American; pilot study; mobile phone

# Introduction

# Background

African Americans continue to experience disproportionately higher rates of cardiovascular disease and metabolic disorders than their White counterparts [1]. Although health disparities have been attributed to multiple factors, African Americans have been more likely than other racial and ethnic groups to report perceived racial discrimination (eg, 71.3% vs 24% in non-Hispanic Whites) [2-4]. In extensive research, exposure to racial discrimination events or perceived racial discrimination contributes to poor health, health behaviors, and health disparities [4,5].

Social stress derived from systems of inequality, such as racial discrimination, may provoke severe psychological and physiological responses and has been associated with unhealthy behaviors [6,7]. Studies have shown that perceived racial discrimination is linked to the consumption of fatty foods, smoking, and alcohol intake [4,8].

Increased physical activity (PA) may buffer the impact of social stress resulting from racial discrimination [9,10]. To date, studies on the relationship between racial discrimination and PA have shown inconclusive findings. For example, in a multiethnic study of PA, racial discrimination was not associated with PA as measured by pedometers when examined among the full sample or separately by race and ethnicity [11]. An unexpected finding was reported in the Jackson Heart Study cohort [12], with higher daily and lifetime racial discrimination associated with more PA in women based on their self-reported PA.

In addition, although not in the context of racial discrimination, some studies of psychological stress in other populations have linked perceived stress with less PA [13,14]. In recent studies that examined both between- and within-person effects of daily stress on PA, there was significant between-person variability in the relationship between PA and stress [15,16]. For example, the relationship may be bidirectional for some people; for others, it may be unidirectional or have no association, suggesting that examining the within-person effect of stress on PA may address the limitations of between-person analysis that predominate in traditional research [15,16].

To date, data on the relationship between racial discrimination and PA are sparse and inconsistent. Part of the reason is that the literature to date on the effect of perceived racial discrimination on PA comprises mostly cross-sectional studies that capture retrospective measures of lifetime discrimination associated with individuals' current health outcomes. Such data may be subject to recall and rumination biases. Furthermore, racial microaggressions—the brief and commonplace daily verbal or nonverbal denigrating messages directed toward racial and ethnic minorities that carry the offending party's implicit or unconscious bias—have been shown to disempower racial minorities and may negatively impact health outcomes [17,18]. However, this subtle form of racial discrimination may be difficult to capture by retrospective measures and has been understudied in research on perceived racial discrimination and health. In this study, we prospectively examined racial microaggression (hereinafter microaggression) as a subtle form of racial discrimination as well as lifetime racial discrimination. Examining perceived racial discrimination or microaggression at a single point in time—not incorporating the perspective that this experience fluctuates but combining with cumulative past experience of racial discrimination—may have limitations in examining the differences in behavioral responses across settings and time.

Ecological momentary assessment (EMA) is a real-time, self-report data-capturing method in which people report behavior in real time at multiple time points in their natural environment. It may reduce recall biases and enhance ecological validity by collecting self-report data that are more proximal to the time and place (ie, real world) in which stressful events and behaviors occur [19]. Recently, a growing number of studies that explore discrimination and health outcomes using EMA have been published; for example, the relationships between real-time discriminatory experiences and health behaviors have been examined in various sexual and gender ethnic minority groups [20-22]. The EMA method provides the opportunity to examine how fluctuations in daily perceived racial discrimination or microaggressions are associated with PA among African Americans at the within-person level. In addition, the use of accelerometers can minimize the weakness of self-report measures of PA.

# Objectives

Therefore, the purpose of this pilot study is (1) to describe the relationship among demographic (age, sex, income, and education), anthropometric and clinical factors (BMI, blood pressure, and body composition), and psychological factors (depression) with lifetime racial discrimination and (2) to examine the effects of real-time racial discrimination on total energy expenditure, sedentary time, and moderate-to-vigorous physical activity (MVPA) patterns of objectively measured PA using accelerometers and a real-time data capture strategy, that is, EMA in healthy African American adults at both the group (eg, between-person level) and individual (eg, within-person level approach or N-of-1) level.

# Methods

# Study Design

This study is a substudy of an intensive, observational, case-crossover design to examine the effects of perceived racial discrimination on physiological (ie, stress biomarkers) and behavioral responses in African Americans. Details of the overall study protocols have been published elsewhere [23]. In a case-crossover design, each participant serves as their own control to assess the within-person effects on repeatedly measured PA outcomes [24]. Within-person analysis of effects on PA occurred at the 2-hour interval level (using EMA at the

XSL•FO

end of the interval querying participants about racial discrimination over the duration of the interval) and day level (using average scores of EMA response across the day).

### **Participants and Recruitment**

Building on a relationship developed over the past 10 years, the research team recruited participants from greater New Haven communities in Connecticut via flyers and word-of-mouth communication within African American communities. Before implementing the study, we held meetings with community stakeholders to discuss an effective recruitment plan and the details of the pilot study protocols. Potential participants were called in and were screened by phone and scheduled for a baseline orientation visit. The inclusion criteria were (1) self-reported African American or Black, (2) aged between 30 and 55 years, (3) currently employed, (4) ownership of a smartphone, (5) able to respond to smartphone-based random survey prompts (ie, EMA) at least 3 times per day, and (6) English speaking. We excluded participants who were pregnant or who had serious acute or terminal medical conditions that would preclude PA. The sample size (n=12) was largely based on guidelines for pilot studies that suggest 10 to 40 participants per cell [25]. Even assuming moderate attrition of 20% (2/12), we would have 10 subjects, which is still within the guidelines for pilot studies [26]. We also estimated the minimum detectable effect sizes of other outcomes (ie, stress biomarkers-data not shown; [23]). Our observations would be able to detect medium effect sizes of 0.53-0.60 on primary outcomes (stress biomarkers) repeatedly measured within the individual with 80% power at a 5% significance level, based on a previous study using stress biomarkers [27].

# **Baseline Measures**

Baseline surveys included sociodemographic characteristics; current smoking status (yes or no); and alcohol consumption by the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test [28], which includes frequency of drinking and amount of alcohol consumption. We also used validated self-report measures collected at baseline that are mentioned below.

Perceived racial discrimination was measured at baseline using 2 scales. The Major Life Discrimination (MLD) scale is a 9-item self-report measure of past exposures to lifetime discrimination in diverse domains. Respondents indicated whether they had ever experienced each listed major discrimination event (eg, denied a bank loan, unfairly fired, getting a job, at work, and stopped by police; Cronbach  $\alpha \ge .88$ ) [29]. The MLD score represented the sum of each yes or no item (range 0-9). Higher scores indicate more lifetime discriminatory experiences. The Race-Related Events Scale (RES) has 22 items to assess exposure to stressful and potentially traumatizing experiences of race-related stresses in adults. Respondents indicated whether they had ever experienced each event (yes or no), and the items were summed for a total RES score ranging from 0 to 22 (Cronbach  $\alpha$ =.78-.88) [30]. Higher scores indicate more experiences of race-related stressful events.

The Black Racial Identity–Centrality subscale (Cronbach  $\alpha$ >.77) is an 8-item, 7-point Likert scale (ranging from strongly disagree=1 to strongly

agree=7). The centrality dimension of racial identity refers to the extent to which individuals normally define themselves with regard to race. It is a measure of whether race is a core part of an individual's self-concept [31]. After reverse-scoring 3 items, the overall score was calculated by averaging all items, with higher scores indicating stronger racial identity.

For *subjective social status*, participants were asked to place an "X" on the rung that best represented where they thought they stood on the ladder, with 10 rungs described as follows: at the top of the ladder are people who are the best off, those who have the most education, and those who have the best jobs, and at the bottom are people who are the worst off, those who have the least money, those who have the least money, those who have the least money, those who have the least so runo job (test-retest reliability,  $\rho$ =0.62) [32,33].

The Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression Scale (CES-D) is a 4-point Likert scale that captures current depressive symptoms with 20 items on how respondents have felt or behaved during the past week by selecting 1 of the 4 options (0=rarely, 1=some of the time, 2=occasionally, and 3=most of the time). The items were summed to obtain a total score. Higher numbers indicate greater depressive symptoms (Cronbach  $\alpha$ >.85) [34]. A recent meta-analysis [35] showed that a cutoff point of 20 yields a more adequate trade-off between sensitivity and specificity, compared with the cutoff point of 16, which has been used to indicate probable clinical depression.

### **EMA Measures**

Perceived racial discrimination was measured using the Experiences of Discrimination (EOD; Cronbach  $\alpha$ >.88) [29] and Racial Microaggression Scale (RMAS; Cronbach  $\alpha$ >.85) [36,37] adapted for EMA data collection. The EOD has subscales for worry, global, filed complaint, response to unfair treatment, day-to-day discrimination, and skin color [29]. The RMAS has subscales for invisibility, criminality, low-achieving or undesirable culture, sexualization, foreigner or not belonging, and environmental invalidations [36]. As the EOD and RMAS measure experiences of unfair treatment over the past month to year, of which response options are not relevant for real-time EMA assessment, response choices were revised for the EMA time frame using yes or no answers or Likert scale options. We also used a random subscale inclusion strategy so that only 60% of the items would be included in each EMA survey to reduce the subject burden and survey fatigue [38]. When prompted, participants were asked to report whether they had experienced any unfair treatment from a list of 11 common daily racial discriminations since their last prompt or within the past 2-3 hours if they missed or did not complete their last prompt (eg, "treated with less courtesy than other people because of your race or ethnicity," yes=1 or no=0) and also from a list of 32 microaggression experiences (eg, "people mistake me for being a service worker simply because of my race or ethnicity," 1=strongly disagree to 7=strongly agree). Possible daily scores of the EOD range from 0 to 10, with higher scores indicating more racial discriminatory experiences. Possible daily RMAS

scores range from 15 to 105, with higher scores indicating more microaggression. Each survey (5 times per day) consisted of 8-15 different combinations of questions varying by time of day (sequentially from the first survey to the fifth survey throughout the day).

# **PA Measures**

PA was measured using a triaxial hip accelerometer (ActiGraph GT9X), which samples movement at 30 Hz and aggregates data into 60-second epochs. The intensity cut points for PA were defined using validated thresholds for vertical axis accelerometry (sedentary<100 counts/min, moderate=2020 counts/min, and vigorous=5999 counts/min) [39]. Energy expenditure was calculated using respective validated triaxial vector magnitude (VM) equations for >2453 VM counts per minute [40] and ≤2453 VM counts per minute [41]. The nonwear periods were defined as  $\geq 60$  consecutive minutes of zero activity intensity counts, with allowance for 1-2 minutes of counts between 0 and 100. We considered a day valid if  $\geq 10$  hours of activity counts were collected [39] and a 2-hour interval valid if the full time was collected. Accelerometer data were downloaded into ActiLife software (ActiGraph) using the software's normal filters and scored to create the following variables: total wear time (min), daily wear time (hour/day), total daily energy expenditure, MVPA (min/day), and sedentary time (hour/day). For within-person analyses, these were normalized to the wear time (eg, percent time in MVPA).

# Procedures

Institutional review board approval was obtained from Yale University, and written informed consent was obtained from all participants. At the initial study visit, face-to-face baseline interviews were completed using validated questionnaires. Body weight and height were measured using a portable electronic scale (Omron HBF-514C body composition monitor and scale) and a stadiometer (Seca) following standard procedures. BMI was calculated as weight (kg)/height squared (m<sup>2</sup>). Percent body composition was measured using the same digital scale that measures foot-to-foot bioelectric impedance. This method has demonstrated significant correlations with the gold standard of body fat calculation (ie, dual energy x-ray absorptiometry scan) [42]. After 5 minutes of rest, blood pressure was measured twice with an automated cuff (Omron HEM 780 IntelliSense automatic blood pressure monitor), with 1 minute between readings, and the average of the 2 readings was recorded.

To tailor the EMA survey delivery time, we asked participants for their sleep, wake, or commuting schedules by phone before the baseline study visit. At the baseline visit, we loaded the mEMA app, which is compatible with both iOS and Android operating systems, into each participant's smartphone. The EMA survey prompted each participant at a random time within the 5 preprogrammed windows daily (ie, signal-contingent sampling) for 7 days (a total of 35 signals) to ensure adequate spacing throughout the day, except for nighttime and commuting time. Upon hearing the signal or vibration, the participants were instructed to complete a short electronic question sequence using their smartphone. Each EMA survey took approximately 3-4 minutes to answer. The EMA data collection system recorded the date and time it took each participant to respond to a random prompt survey and the date and time the survey expired. The survey expired after 40 minutes of nonresponse. After no entry was made, the EMA program became inaccessible until the next recording opportunity.

Participants were instructed to wear an accelerometer on their right hip during waking hours for 7 consecutive days to obtain at least three weekdays and one weekend day to determine the daily variability [39,43]. A paper diary was provided, and participants were instructed to fill out the diary on the time they took off (eg, shower) and wore their accelerometers. All participants received one-on-one in-person training in the EMA surveys and accelerometers. We also provided pictures and step-by-step written instructions on the use of EMA, accelerometers, a tiered payment schedule, and research staff contact information. In addition to the study questions, we sent reminders through EMA to wear their accelerometer daily for all 7 days. We also assessed the risks and symptoms of participants with a risk for depression (based on CES-D>16) and suggested primary care office visits or made referrals per study protocol.

# **Data Management and Analysis**

EMA data were exported from the mEMA server to a comma-separated values file format. We entered the EMA and accelerometer data as well as the baseline surveys and anthropometric and clinical data into a database uploaded into SAS for analysis. We reviewed the data and corrected errors, missing data, outliers, and skewness and calculated the scale scores for the EMA responses. Descriptive analysis was used for demographic characteristics, anthropometric and clinical data, and the average values for EMA and PA data. Pearson and Spearman correlation coefficients were calculated at the individual level using the following variables: age, sex, BMI, CES-D, RES sum, MLD sum, annual income, education, blood pressure, body fat, racial identity, subjective social status, smoking and alcohol consumption, EMA survey data, and accelerometer data. EMA and PA data were scored for daily and individual (average in subject) levels. Intraclass correlation coefficients were calculated to quantify the proportions of total variance of PA explained by within- and between-person variances. Multilevel models for predicting PA (percentage sedentary time and percentage MVPA) were developed to examine the associations with EMA survey data (racial discrimination and microaggression) at the 2-hour interval (within-person), daily (within-person), and individual (between-person) levels. The models included within- and between-person levels of racial discrimination (model 1) or microaggression (model 2) with covariates (eg, age, sex, and BMI). Compound symmetry was used as a within-person correlation structure. Standardized coefficients were obtained using standardized outcomes and covariates with 0 mean and 1 SD.

# Results

# Overview

The mean response rate for EMA surveys was 83% (29/35; SD 16%), and the mean number of EMA responses per day was 4.0 (SD 1.2) out of a possible maximum of 5 per day. A total of

83.3% (10/12) of participants met the inclusion requirements for valid accelerometer data ( $\geq$ 10 hours/day wear time) and wore the accelerometer on the hip 6 out of 7 days. The mean EMA-reported daily racial discrimination was 0.61 (SD 0.85) per day, with a range of 0-2.28 (possible range: 0 to 10 times/day). Three participants reported no daily racial discrimination over the 7-day period (ie, their 7-day mean racial discrimination was 0). For the EMA-reported daily microaggression, the mean score was 50.26 (SD 18.11), with a range of 19.14-76.71 (possible range: 15-105/day).

Participant characteristics and descriptive statistics from the survey and anthropometric and clinical and accelerometer data

are presented in Table 1. The mean age was 43.4 (SD 7.73) years. The majority worked full-time. Approximately 67% (8/12) had an annual income of less than US \$60,000. The mean CES-D score was 21.08 (SD 8.36). The mean Black racial identity (centrality) was 5.21 (SD 1.46), indicating that most of our participants self-defined Black race as a core part of their self-concept. The mean subjective social status was 7.08, indicating that most rated their social status as high in the community. The mean BMI was 34.19 (SD 11.41) kg/cm<sup>2</sup>; approximately 42% (5/12) of the participants were obese. The mean MVPA was 18.5 minutes/day, and the mean sedentary time was 8.6 hours/day. Paired data, including both EMA and valid accelerometer data, resulted in a sample size of 9.



 Table 1. Characteristics of the participants (n=12).

Characteristic	Value
Age (years), mean (SD)	43.4 (7.7)
Woman, n (%)	8 (67)
Work, n (%)	
Working full-time	10 (83)
Working part-time	2 (17)
Annual income (US \$), n (%)	
0-39,999	2 (17)
40,000-59,999	6 (50)
60,000-79,999	1 (8)
80,000-99,999	2 (17)
>100,000	1 (8)
Education, n (%)	
Some high school	1 (8)
Vocational or technical school	1 (8)
Some college	5 (42)
College graduate	5 (42)
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	
Mean (SD)	34.1 (11.4)
18.5-24.9 (normal), n (%)	3 (25)
25-29.9 (overweight), n (%)	4 (33)
30-34.9 (class 1 obesity), n (%)	0 (0)
35-39.9 (class 2 obesity), n (%)	1 (9)
>40 (class 3 obesity), n (%)	4 (33)
Systolic blood pressure (mm Hg), mean (SD)	123.0 (16.1)
Diastolic blood pressure (mm Hg), mean (SD)	82.5 (13.0)
Total body fat (%), mean (SD)	38.8 (14.2)
Visceral fat (%), mean (SD)	10.8 (5.3)
RMAS <sup>a</sup> (1-7), mean (SD)	4.5 (1.0)
EOD <sup>b</sup> (0-9), mean (SD)	5.1 (2.5)
Racial identity (1-7), mean (SD)	5.2 (1.5)
Depression>(by CES-D <sup>c</sup> ; 0-60)	
Mean (SD)	21.1 (8.4)
≥Cutoff value of 16, n (%)	8 (67)
≥Cutoff value of 20, n (%)	5 (42)
Subjective social status (1-10), mean (SD)	7.1 (2.4)
Smoking, n (%)	
No	11 (92)
Yes	1 (8)
Alcohol consumption, n (%)	
Never	3 (25)
Monthly or less	5 (42)

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e25687

XSL•FO RenderX JMIR Form Res 2021 | vol. 5 | iss. 6 |e25687 | p.72 (page number not for citation purposes)
Characteristic	Value
2-4 times a month	4 (33)
MVPA <sup>d</sup> (min/day) <sup>e</sup> , mean (SD)	18.5 (16.3)
Total energy expenditure (kcal/day) <sup>e</sup> , mean (SD)	547.3 (280.2)
Sedentary time (hour/day) <sup>e</sup> , mean (SD)	8.6 (2.1)

<sup>a</sup>RMAS: Racial Microaggression Scale.

<sup>b</sup>EOD: Experiences of Discrimination.

<sup>c</sup>CES-D: Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression Scale.

<sup>d</sup>MVPA: moderate-to-vigorous physical activity.

<sup>e</sup>Indicates accelerometer data (n=9).

#### **Between-Persons Survey and EMA Analyses**

In the bivariate analysis, using baseline surveys and anthropometric and clinical data, depressive symptoms were associated with major lifetime discrimination (r=0.58; P=.04) and a higher frequency of major lifetime discrimination (r=0.67; P=.04). Visceral fat was associated with diastolic blood pressure (r=0.62; P=.04) and sedentary time (r=0.73; P=.04) but was not associated with major lifetime discrimination. Income level was not significantly associated with Black racial identity (centrality; r=-0.26; P=.41).

Table 2 shows the bivariate correlations between the baseline sample characteristics and the average of the EMA-reported

daily racial discrimination variables or PA variables. Greater EMA-reported daily racial discrimination was significantly associated with younger age (r=-0.75; P=.02). Black racial identity was not significantly associated with EMA-reported daily racial discrimination (r=0.21; P=.58) or microaggression (r=0.06; P=.88). Daily EMA-reported microaggression was associated with depressive symptoms (r=0.66; P=.05), past race-related events (r=0.82; P=.004), and major lifetime discrimination (r=0.78; P=.01). A higher total energy expenditure was significantly associated with less major lifetime discrimination (r=0.92; P=.004). Less sedentary time was significantly associated with a stronger Black racial identity (r=-0.68; P=.04). More MVPA was significantly associated with lower levels of subjective social status (r=-0.75; P=.02).



#### Nam et al

Table 2. Correlations between demographic characteristics and the average scores of the ecological momentary assessment survey or physical activity.

Variables	EMA <sup>a</sup> survey				Physical activity					
	Racial discrimination		Microaggress	ion	Total energy e	expenditure	Percentage sedentary time		Percentage MVPA <sup>b</sup>	
	Correlation, r	P value	Correlation, r	P value	Correlation, r	P value	Correlation, r	P value	Correlation, r	P value
Age <sup>c</sup>	-0.75 <sup>d</sup>	.02	-0.04	.92	0.42	.26	-0.01	.97	0.05	.89
Sex <sup>c</sup>	-0.39	.30	0.21	.59	-0.07	.86	0.24	.54	-0.31	.42
BMI <sup>c</sup>	0.09	.82	0.05	.90	0.65	.06	0.52	.15	0.23	.55
Depression (CES-D <sup>e</sup> ) <sup>c</sup>	0.60	.08	0.66	.05	-0.53	.14	0.46	.22	-0.53	.14
Annual in- come <sup>f</sup>	-0.45	.22	-0.04	.91	-0.09	.82	0.47	.20	-0.31	.42
Education <sup>f</sup>	-0.30	.42	-0.33	.38	0.52	.15	0.19	.63	0.33	.38
Systolic blood pres- sure <sup>c</sup>	0.32	.41	0.04	.92	0.30	.43	0.64	.06	-0.45	.23
Diastolic blood pres- sure <sup>c</sup>	0.43	.24	0.00	.99	0.30	.44	0.61	.08	-0.23	.55
Total fat <sup>c</sup>	-0.22	.56	0.10	.79	0.52	.15	0.5	.17	0.00	.99
Racial identi- fy <sup>f</sup>	0.21	.58	0.06	.88	-0.02	.95	-0.68	.04	0.04	.91
Subjective social status <sup>f</sup>	-0.14	.72	0.30	.44	-0.22	.57	0.22	.57	-0.75	.02
Smoking <sup>f</sup>	0.42	.26	-0.14	.72	-0.14	.72	0.00	.99	0.14	.72
Alcohol con- sumption <sup>f</sup>	-0.13	.74	-0.10	.82	-0.59	.09	-0.54	.13	0.00	.99
Past RES <sup>g</sup> (RES sum) <sup>c</sup>	0.52	.15	0.82	.004	-0.60	.09	-0.18	.64	-0.12	.75
MLD <sup>h</sup> scale (MLD sum) <sup>c</sup>	0.40	.28	0.78	.01	-0.92	.004	-0.11	.77	-0.59	.09

<sup>a</sup>EMA: ecological momentary assessment.

<sup>b</sup>MVPA: moderate-to-vigorous physical activity.

<sup>c</sup>Indicates Pearson correlation coefficients.

<sup>d</sup>Italicized values denote significance.

<sup>e</sup>CES-D: Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression Scale.

<sup>f</sup>Indicates Spearman correlation coefficient.

<sup>g</sup>RES: Race-Related Events Scale.

<sup>h</sup>MLD: Major Life Discrimination.

#### Within- and Between-Person EMA Analyses

Intraclass correlation coefficients were calculated to represent the proportion of the total variance of the PA outcomes explained by the between-person levels. They were 0.54, 0.26, and 0.66 for total energy expenditure, sedentary time, and MVPA, respectively. The within-person interval-level analysis found that during the 2-hour windows in which people reported more perceived racial discrimination, they had moderately greater sedentary time ( $\beta$ =.30, SE 0.21; *P*=.18) and slightly more MVPA ( $\beta$ =.04, SE 0.13; *P*=.77). Similarly, during the 2-hour windows in which they reported more perceived microaggression, they had less sedentary time ( $\beta$ =-.11, SE 0.16; *P*=.51) and less MVPA ( $\beta$ =-.34, SE 0.18; *P*=.10). However, none of these relationships during the 2-hour windows reached statistical significance.

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e25687
```



The within-person daily levels and between-person analyses are presented in Table 3. In the within-person daily-level analyses, the association of racial discrimination and sedentary time was significant ( $\beta$ =.30, SE 0.14; *P*=.03), indicating that during days when participants reported more perceived racial discrimination, they had moderately more sedentary time.

Table 3. Multilevel model of mean daily physical activity outcomes (multilevels: level 1=daily and level 2=subject).<sup>a</sup>

Predictor variables and level	Outcome variables							
	Total expenditure (kcals) daily		Percentage sedentary t	ime daily	Percentage MVPA <sup>b</sup> daily (log-transformed)			
	Coefficient (SE)	P value	Coefficient (SE)	P value	Coefficient (SE)	P value		
Model 1: racial discrimination								
Within-person	0.12 (0.12)	.31	0.30 (0.14) <sup>c</sup>	.03	0.09 (0.11)	.41		
Between-person	-0.30 (0.28)	.29	-0.07 (0.24)	.76	-0.07 (0.31)	.81		
Model 2: microaggression								
Within-person	-0.05 (0.28)	.84	-0.05 (0.34)	.87	-0.25 (0.26)	.33		
Between-person	-0.34 (0.36)	.34	0.13 (0.39)	.73	0.03 (0.39)	.93		

<sup>a</sup>The predictor and outcome variables were standardized for 0 mean (SD 1).

<sup>b</sup>MVPA: moderate-to-vigorous physical activity.

<sup>c</sup>Italicized values denote significance.

# Discussion

## **Principal Findings**

Perceived racial discrimination is a significant psychological stressor that is hypothesized to have negative mental and physical health consequences with potential interactions with unhealthy behaviors. The relationship between overall psychological stress level and PA using EMA and objective measures has been evaluated in the general population; however, in what we believe to be the first published study of its kind, we examined momentary- and daily-level perceived racial discrimination and PA levels using EMA and accelerometers in African Americans. We collected repeated real-time racial discrimination exposure data in the natural environment while simultaneously collecting objective measures of sedentary behaviors and PA among African Americans. We also demonstrated the utility and feasibility of EMA coupled with accelerometers in studying the relationship between daily racial discrimination and PA in African Americans. Conventional accelerometer protocols require only 4 valid days for a 7-day wear period to be considered valid [39,43]. Approximately 83% (10/12) of our participants met the inclusion requirement for valid accelerometer data (≥10 hours/day wear time) and wore the accelerometer 6 out of 7 days, and they also showed high adherence to the EMA protocol.

In the examination of within-person level data, on days when participants reported more perceived racial discrimination than usual (ie, higher than their personal mean), more sedentary time was observed in the accelerometer data. The between-person analysis did not duplicate this finding in our study. However, this is consistent with the findings of between-person analysis in a prior study examining the relationship between general psychological stress and sedentary behaviors in other populations: end-of-day general stress ratings were not associated with sedentary time in the between-person analysis (at the group level) [16]. The influence of stress on sedentary behavior varies according to the source of stress within individuals [16,44]. Heterogeneity in the effect of stress on the amount and pattern of sedentary behaviors has been documented; for example, argument-related stress was associated with increased sedentary time, whereas work-related stress was associated with decreased sedentary time [16,45]. Similarly, in a study of sexual and gender minority individuals, between-person associations of discriminatory experiences and substance use were not significant, whereas more discriminatory experiences were significantly associated with more nicotine, alcohol, and drug use within the person [21]. This highlights the potential limitations of between-person methods (nomothetic) that predominate in research and suggests that the within-person level (idiographic) precision health approach may be highly relevant to target reductions in sedentary time and other unhealthy behaviors [16,44].

An important advantage of the EMA methodology is its ability to examine the frequency of racial discrimination experiences in real time and assess the impact of the experiences in a microtemporal relationship (eg, repeated assessments across minutes or hours). In our study, participants reported, on average, 0.61 overt racial discrimination experiences per day, and most participants experienced substantial daily microaggressions. The reported frequency of racial discrimination varies widely across studies [46-49]. In earlier cross-sectional studies using retrospective measures, discrimination was reported to occur only infrequently [50]; however, recent studies using EMA or other types of daily diaries have revealed that discrimination may occur multiple times per day. For example, in a study using EMA, African American participants reported about 2 experiences per day of racism [20]. In another study using EMA among African American adolescents [22], participants reported 5 experiences of racial discrimination per day when comprehensive measures of racial discrimination were used, including social media, vicarious, and teasing experiences, along with the more

XSL•FO RenderX

commonly measured individual and general forms of racial discrimination.

In several studies of psychological stress, not specific to racial discrimination-related stress in the general population, episodic stress predicts less PA, more sedentary behaviors, and reduced total energy expenditure [15,51]. Consistent with these studies, we found that major lifetime discrimination (from a retrospective measure) was significantly associated with lower total energy expenditure measured by the accelerometer. However, EMA-reported microaggressions were not associated with PA outcomes in our within-or between-person analyses. The nonsignificant relationship may be because of the small sample size and lack of variability in terms of the frequency of microaggression experiences within and across days. Overall, our participants reported frequent daily microaggressions, which may not have had a significant impact on their daily PA levels. However, the observed effect size based on standardized  $\beta$ coefficients [52] suggests the need for more studies to examine the determinants of PA and sedentary behaviors with a larger sample size and a longer assessment period.

Consistent with other studies [46,53,54], retrospectively measured exposure to race-based discrimination over a lifetime (assessed at baseline) was significantly associated with more depressive symptoms and with more daily microaggression experiences measured by EMA. Given the different data collection methods (retrospective surveys vs EMA) in this study, we could not determine the temporal relationship between racial discrimination or microaggression and depressive symptoms, and the findings may reflect a reverse causal relationship (eg, people with more depressive symptoms or such traits may perceive more microaggression). However, lagged effects of racial discrimination on depressive symptoms in subsequent days were reported among African Americans and Hispanics or Latinos in other studies [49,55], suggesting that individuals may not easily or fully recover from discrimination, and racial discrimination may have lasting effects on mental health [50,56]. Taken together, our findings highlight the important association between racial discrimination and mental health. Furthermore, future studies examining additional psychological factors, such as traits and personality, are needed to determine both the concurrent and lagged effects of racial discrimination on health and health behaviors. Such studies may inform the development of individualized interventions that can buffer the harmful effects of racial discrimination on health.

#### **Strengths and Limitations**

This study had several limitations. Although we found similar trends in within- or between-person effects on sedentary behaviors and PA, compared with other studies of general psychological stress, our small sample size offers limited evidence supporting racial discrimination as an antecedent to sedentary behaviors or PA. EMA minimizes recall bias and errors. However, it is also possible that our study findings may have been influenced by vigilance to discrimination from the repetitive assessment involved in EMA. In addition, the high CES-D scores observed in our participants may have influenced the associations with perceived racial discrimination or PA.

Although findings are mixed, previous studies have shown that neighborhood environments such as walkability, safety, or crime were associated with individuals' PA levels in the general population [57,58]. We obtained walkability (Walk Score) and crime index data based on participants' zip codes (data not shown); however, the predominantly Black neighborhoods in our sample showed a lack of variability. Future studies with measures of social environment, segregation, and perceived neighborhood environments, in addition to objective built environments, would be helpful in understanding the relationship between PA and relevant correlates. Owing to the exploratory nature of our pilot study with the scarcity of EMA studies of racial discrimination, we conducted a 2-hour within-person, prompt-level analysis; however, assessment may need longer time frames to determine the association between racial discrimination and PA levels. In addition, using event-contingent sampling (ie, EMA is reported when a discrimination event occurs) may be helpful in determining the frequency of racial discrimination; one caveat is that it may not accurately measure events if many participants forget to report them (missing EMA). In addition, our study included only in-person and individual racial discrimination experiences. Including web-based (eg, communication in social media) and vicarious discrimination experiences (eg, watching traumatic videos of police brutality) may provide more valid frequency estimates [22,59]. Future efforts should include studies with a large sample, more extensive racial discrimination measures, and EMA sampling to determine the optimal frequency of EMA to accurately capture discriminatory experiences and to examine its relationship with health behaviors.

Despite these limitations, this study provides valuable insights into examining the within-person effects of racial discrimination on health behaviors and suggests the need to examine a more complex relationship between racial discrimination and lifestyle behaviors with time-varying factors.

There is a growing emphasis on within-person examination of health behaviors and psychosocial correlates and on the importance of leveraging these data to develop personalized, *just-in-time* interventions [50,60]. Examining this daily process using a within-person approach has the potential to elucidate the mechanisms of which racial discrimination may have on health and health behaviors and to guide the development of personalized interventions for increasing PA and decreasing depressive symptoms in racial ethnic minorities.

#### Conclusions

In conclusion, the results of this study highlight the utility and feasibility of a within-person approach to target reductions in sedentary time and improvements in PA associated with daily racial discrimination by using EMA and an objective measure of PA. Further studies are needed to confirm the observed findings in light of the limitations of this study, including its small sample size. A precision health approach that incorporates between-person associations and accounts for within-person variations in the relationship between racial discrimination and health behaviors is warranted to mitigate race-based health disparities.

XSL•F() RenderX

# **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

# References

- Blackwell DL, Lucas JW, Clarke TC. Summary health statistics for U.S. adults: national health interview survey, 2012. Vital Health Stat 10 2014 Feb(260):1-161. [Medline: <u>24819891</u>]
- Pascoe EA, Richman LS. Perceived discrimination and health: a meta-analytic review. Psychol Bull 2009 Jul;135(4):531-554. [doi: <u>10.1037/a0016059</u>] [Medline: <u>19586161</u>]
- 3. Pérez DJ, Fortuna L, Alegria M. Prevalence and correlates of everyday discrimination among U.S. Latinos. J Community Psychol 2008 May 01;36(4):421-433 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/jcop.20221] [Medline: 19960098]
- 4. Williams DR, Neighbors HW, Jackson JS. Racial/ethnic discrimination and health: findings from community studies. Am J Public Health 2003 Mar;93(2):200-208. [doi: <u>10.2105/ajph.93.2.200</u>] [Medline: <u>12554570</u>]
- 5. Brondolo E, Gallo LC, Myers HF. Race, racism and health: disparities, mechanisms, and interventions. J Behav Med 2009 Mar 17;32(1):1-8. [doi: 10.1007/s10865-008-9190-3] [Medline: 19089605]
- 6. Perry BL, Harp KL, Oser CB. Racial and gender discrimination in the stress process: implications for African American women's health and well-being. Social Perspect 2013 Mar 01;56(1):25-48. [doi: <u>10.1525/sop.2012.56.1.25</u>]
- Dickerson SS, Gable SL, Irwin MR, Aziz N, Kemeny ME. Social-evaluative threat and proinflammatory cytokine regulation: an experimental laboratory investigation. Psychol Sci 2009 Oct;20(10):1237-1244 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9280.2009.02437.x] [Medline: 19754527]
- Sims R, Gordon S, Garcia W, Clark E, Monye D, Callender C, et al. Perceived stress and eating behaviors in a community-based sample of African Americans. Eat Behav 2008 Apr;9(2):137-142 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.eatbeh.2007.06.006] [Medline: 18329591]
- 9. Lincoln KD. Social stress, obesity, and depression among women: clarifying the role of physical activity. Ethn Health 2019 Aug 05;24(6):662-678. [doi: 10.1080/13557858.2017.1346190] [Medline: 28669235]
- Borrell LN, Roux AV, Jacobs DR, Shea S, Jackson SA, Shrager S, et al. Perceived racial/ethnic discrimination, smoking and alcohol consumption in the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis (MESA). Prev Med 2010 Sep;51(3-4):307-312 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2010.05.017] [Medline: 20609433]
- Shelton RC, Puleo E, Bennett GG, McNeill LH, Goldman RE, Emmons KM. Racial discrimination and physical activity among low-income-housing residents. Am J Prev Med 2009 Dec;37(6):541-545 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2009.07.018] [Medline: 19944922]
- Sims M, Diez-Roux AV, Gebreab SY, Brenner A, Dubbert P, Wyatt S, et al. Perceived discrimination is associated with health behaviours among African-Americans in the Jackson Heart Study. J Epidemiol Community Health 2016 Mar 28;70(2):187-194 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/jech-2015-206390] [Medline: 26417003]
- Laugero KD, Falcon LM, Tucker KL. Relationship between perceived stress and dietary and activity patterns in older adults participating in the Boston Puerto Rican Health Study. Appetite 2011 Mar;56(1):194-204 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.appet.2010.11.001] [Medline: 21070827]
- 14. Ng DM, Jeffery RW. Relationships between perceived stress and health behaviors in a sample of working adults. Health Psychol 2003 Nov;22(6):638-642. [doi: 10.1037/0278-6133.22.6.638] [Medline: 14640862]
- 15. Burg MM, Schwartz JE, Kronish IM, Diaz KM, Alcantara C, Duer-Hefele J, et al. Does stress result in you exercising less? Or does exercising result in you being less stressed? Or is it both? Testing the bi-directional stress-exercise association at the group and person (N of 1) level. Ann Behav Med 2017 Dec 13;51(6):799-809 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s12160-017-9902-4] [Medline: 28290065]
- Diaz KM, Thanataveerat A, Parsons FE, Yoon S, Cheung YK, Alcántara C, et al. The influence of daily stress on sedentary behavior: group and person (N of 1) level results of a 1-year observational study. Psychosom Med 2018;80(7):620-627. [doi: 10.1097/psy.00000000000610]
- 17. Sue DW, Capodilupo CM, Torino GC, Bucceri JM, Holder AM, Nadal KL, et al. Racial microaggressions in everyday life: implications for clinical practice. Am Psychol 2007;62(4):271-286. [doi: 10.1037/0003-066x.62.4.271]
- 18. Nadal KL, Issa M, Leon J, Meterko V, Wideman M, Wong Y. Sexual orientation microaggressions: "Death by a Thousand Cuts" for Lesbian, Gay, and bisexual youth. J LGBT Youth 2011 Jul;8(3):234-259. [doi: 10.1080/19361653.2011.584204]
- 19. Shiffman S, Stone AA, Hufford MR. Ecological momentary assessment. Annu Rev Clin Psychol 2008 Apr;4(1):1-32. [doi: 10.1146/annurev.clinpsy.3.022806.091415] [Medline: 18509902]
- 20. Mendez DD, Sanders SA, Lai Y, Wallace ML, Rathbun SL, Gary-Webb TL, et al. Ecological momentary assessment of stress, racism and other forms of discrimination during pregnancy using smartphone technology. Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol 2020 Sep 13;34(5):522-531. [doi: 10.1111/ppe.12619] [Medline: 31930744]
- Livingston NA, Flentje A, Heck NC, Szalda-Petree A, Cochran BN. Ecological momentary assessment of daily discrimination experiences and nicotine, alcohol, and drug use among sexual and gender minority individuals. J Consult Clin Psychol 2017 Dec;85(12):1131-1143 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/ccp0000252] [Medline: 29189029]

- English D, Lambert SF, Tynes BM, Bowleg L, Zea MC, Howard LC. Daily multidimensional racial discrimination among Black U.S. American adolescents. J Appl Dev Psychol 2020 Jan;66:101068 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.appdev.2019.101068] [Medline: 33994610]
- 23. Nam S, Dunton GF, Ordway MR, Ash GI, Jeon S, Vlahov D, et al. Feasibility and acceptability of intensive, real-time biobehavioral data collection using ecological momentary assessment, salivary biomarkers, and accelerometers among middle-aged African Americans. Res Nurs Health 2020 Sep;43(5):453-464. [doi: 10.1002/nur.22068] [Medline: 32856310]
- 24. Maclure M, Mittleman AM. Should we use a case-crossover design? Annu Rev Public Health 2000 May;21(1):193-221. [doi: <u>10.1146/annurev.publhealth.21.1.193</u>] [Medline: <u>10884952</u>]
- 25. Hertzog MA. Considerations in determining sample size for pilot studies. Res Nurs Health 2008 Apr;31(2):180-191. [doi: 10.1002/nur.20247] [Medline: 18183564]
- 26. Rounsaville BJ, Carroll KM, Onken LS. A stage model of behavioral therapies research: getting startedmoving on from stage I. Clin Psychol Sci Pract 2001;8(2):133-142. [doi: 10.1093/clipsy/8.2.133]
- Stawski RS, Cichy KE, Piazza JR, Almeida DM. Associations among daily stressors and salivary cortisol: findings from the National Study of Daily Experiences. Psychoneuroendocrinology 2013 Nov;38(11):2654-2665. [doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2013.06.023] [Medline: 23856186]
- Saunders JB, Aasland OG, Babor TF, de la Fuente JR, Grant M. Development of the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT): WHO collaborative project on early detection of persons with harmful alcohol consumption-II. Addiction 1993;6:791-804. [doi: 10.1111/j.1360-0443.1993.tb02093.x] [Medline: <u>8329970</u>]
- 29. Krieger N, Smith K, Naishadham D, Hartman C, Barbeau EM. Experiences of discrimination: validity and reliability of a self-report measure for population health research on racism and health. Soc Sci Med 2005 Oct;61(7):1576-1596. [doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2005.03.006] [Medline: 16005789]
- 30. Crusto CA, Dantzler J, Roberts YH, Hooper LM. Psychometric evaluation of data from the race-related events scale. Meas Eval Couns Dev 2017 Mar 07;48(4):285-296. [doi: 10.1177/0748175615578735]
- Sellers RM, Rowley SA, Chavous TM, Shelton JN, Smith MA. Multidimensional Inventory of Black Identity: a preliminary investigation of reliability and constuct validity. J Pers Soc Psychol 1997 Oct;73(4):805-815. [doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.73.4.805]
- 32. Adler NE, Epel ES, Castellazzo G, Ickovics JR. Relationship of subjective and objective social status with psychological and physiological functioning: preliminary data in healthy, White women. Health Psychol 2000 Nov;19(6):586-592. [doi: 10.1037/0278-6133.19.6.586]
- 33. Operario D, Adler NE, Williams DR. Subjective social status: reliability and predictive utility for global health. Psychol Health 2007 Feb;19(2):237-246. [doi: 10.1080/08870440310001638098]
- 34. Radloff LS. The CES–D scale: a self-report depression scale for research in general population. Appl Psychol Meas 2016 Jul 26;1(3):385-401. [doi: 10.1177/014662167700100306]
- 35. Vilagut G, Forero CG, Barbaglia G, Alonso J. Screening for depression in the general population with the Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression (CES-D): a systematic review with meta-analysis. PLoS One 2016;11(5):e0155431 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0155431] [Medline: 27182821]
- Torres-Harding SR, Andrade AL, Romero Diaz CE. The Racial Microaggressions Scale (RMAS): a new scale to measure experiences of racial microaggressions in people of color. Cultur Divers Ethnic Minor Psychol 2012 Apr;18(2):153-164. [doi: 10.1037/a0027658] [Medline: 22506818]
- 37. Williams DR, Yu Y, Jackson JS, Anderson NB. Racial differences in physical and mental health: socio-economic status, stress and discrimination. J Health Psychol 1997 Jul;2(3):335-351. [doi: 10.1177/135910539700200305] [Medline: 22013026]
- 38. Dunton GF, Liao Y, Dzubur E, Leventhal AM, Huh J, Gruenewald T, et al. Investigating within-day and longitudinal effects of maternal stress on children's physical activity, dietary intake, and body composition: protocol for the MATCH study. Contemp Clin Trials 2015 Jul;43:142-154 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.cct.2015.05.007] [Medline: 25987483]
- 39. Troiano RP, Berrigan D, Dodd KW, Mâsse LC, Tilert T, McDowell M. Physical activity in the United States measured by accelerometer. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2008 Jan;40(1):181-188. [doi: 10.1249/mss.0b013e31815a51b3] [Medline: 18091006]
- 40. Sasaki JE, John D, Freedson PS. Validation and comparison of ActiGraph activity monitors. J Sci Med Sport 2011 Sep;14(5):411-416. [doi: 10.1016/j.jsams.2011.04.003] [Medline: 21616714]
- 41. Williams R. Kcal estimates from activity counts using the potential energy method. 1998. URL: <u>https://actigraphcorp.com/</u> research-database/kcal-estimates-from-activity-counts-using-the-potential-energy-method/ [accessed 2021-02-15]
- 42. Jaffrin MY, Morel H. Body fluid volumes measurements by impedance: a review of bioimpedance spectroscopy (BIS) and bioimpedance analysis (BIA) methods. Med Eng Phys 2008 Dec;30(10):1257-1269. [doi: 10.1016/j.medengphy.2008.06.009] [Medline: 18676172]
- Hagströmer M, Oja P, Sjöström M. Physical activity and inactivity in an adult population assessed by accelerometry. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2007 Sep;39(9):1502-1508. [doi: <u>10.1249/mss.0b013e3180a76de5</u>] [Medline: <u>17805081</u>]
- 44. Davidson KW, Peacock J, Kronish IM, Edmondson D. Personalizing behavioral interventions through single-patient (N-of-1) trials. Soc Personal Psychol Compass 2014 Aug 05;8(8):408-421 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/spc3.12121] [Medline: 25267928]

- Elavsky S, Kishida M, Mogle JA. Concurrent and lagged relations between momentary affect and sedentary behavior in middle-aged women. Menopause 2016 Aug;23(8):919-923 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/GME.0000000000645] [Medline: 27326822]
- 46. Ong AD, Fuller-Rowell T, Burrow AL. Racial discrimination and the stress process. J Pers Soc Psychol 2009 Jun;96(6):1259-1271. [doi: 10.1037/a0015335] [Medline: 19469600]
- 47. Swim JK, Hyers LL, Cohen LL, Fitzgerald DC, Bylsma WH. African American college students' experiences with everyday racism: characteristics of and responses to these incidents. J Black Psychol 2016 Jul 25;29(1):38-67. [doi: 10.1177/0095798402239228]
- 48. Burrow AL, Ong AD. Racial identity as a moderator of daily exposure and reactivity to racial discrimination. Self Identity 2009 Oct 02;9(4):383-402. [doi: 10.1080/15298860903192496]
- 49. Seaton EK, Douglass S. School diversity and racial discrimination among African-American adolescents. Cultur Divers Ethnic Minor Psychol 2014 Apr;20(2):156-165. [doi: 10.1037/a0035322] [Medline: 24773002]
- 50. Potter LN, Brondolo E, Smyth JM. Biopsychosocial correlates of discrimination in daily life: a review. Stigma Health 2019 Mar;4(1):38-61 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/sah0000120] [Medline: 32524031]
- 51. Stults-Kolehmainen MA, Sinha R. The effects of stress on physical activity and exercise. Sports Med 2014 Jan 13;44(1):81-121 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s40279-013-0090-5] [Medline: 24030837]
- 52. Nieminen P, Lehtiniemi H, Vähäkangas K, Huusko A, Rautio A. Standardised regression coefficient as an effect size index in summarising findings in epidemiological studies. Epidemiol Biostat Public Health 2013;10:1-15.
- Brondolo E, Brady N, Thompson S, Tobin JN, Cassells A, Sweeney M, et al. Perceived racism and negative affect: analyses of trait and state measures of affect in a community sample. J Soc Clin Psychol 2008 Mar;27(2):150-173 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1521/jscp.2008.27.2.150] [Medline: 19079772]
- 54. Bowen-Reid TL, Harrell JP. Racist experiences and health outcomes: an examination of spirituality as a buffer. J Black Psychol 2016 Jul 25;28(1):18-36. [doi: 10.1177/0095798402028001002]
- 55. Torres L, Ong AD. A daily diary investigation of Latino ethnic identity, discrimination, and depression. Cultur Divers Ethnic Minor Psychol 2010 Oct;16(4):561-568. [doi: 10.1037/a0020652] [Medline: 21058819]
- 56. Cichy KE, Stawski RS, Almeida DM. Racial differences in exposure and reactivity to daily family stressors. J Marriage Fam 2012 Jun;74(3):572-586 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1741-3737.2012.00971.x] [Medline: 23543937]
- 57. Foster S, Giles-Corti B. The built environment, neighborhood crime and constrained physical activity: an exploration of inconsistent findings. Prev Med 2008 Sep;47(3):241-251. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ypmed.2008.03.017</u>] [Medline: <u>18499242</u>]
- Kepper MM, Myers CA, Denstel KD, Hunter RF, Guan W, Broyles ST. The neighborhood social environment and physical activity: a systematic scoping review. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2019 Dec 09;16(1):124 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12966-019-0873-7] [Medline: 31815626]
- Seaton EK, Iida M. Racial discrimination and racial identity: daily moderation among Black youth. Am Psychol 2019 Jan;74(1):117-127. [doi: <u>10.1037/amp0000367</u>] [Medline: <u>30652904</u>]
- 60. Smyth JM, Heron KE. Is providing mobile interventions "just-in-time" helpful? An experimental proof of concept study of just-in-time intervention for stress management. 2016 IEEE Wireless Health (WH) 2016:1-7. [doi: 10.1109/wh.2016.7764561]

# Abbreviations

CES-D: Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression Scale
EMA: ecological momentary assessment
EOD: Experiences of Discrimination
MLD: Major Life Discrimination
MVPA: moderate-to-vigorous physical activity
PA: physical activity
RES: Race-Related Events Scale
RMAS: Racial Microaggression Scale
VM: vector magnitude



*PMID:34096870* 

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 11.11.20; peer-reviewed by R Newton, A Alexander; comments to author 14.12.20; revised version received 30.01.21; accepted 04.04.21; published 07.06.21. <u>Please cite as:</u> Nam S, Jeon S, Ash G, Whittemore R, Vlahov D Racial Discrimination, Sedentary Time, and Physical Activity in African Americans: Quantitative Study Combining Ecological Momentary Assessment and Accelerometers JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e25687 URL: https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e25687 doi:10.2196/25687

©Soohyun Nam, Sangchoon Jeon, Garrett Ash, Robin Whittemore, David Vlahov. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 07.06.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Original Paper** 

# Multimodule Web-Based COVID-19 Anxiety and Stress Resilience Training (COAST): Single-Cohort Feasibility Study With First Responders

Janna Marie Heyen<sup>1,2</sup>, MSc; Noé Weigl<sup>3</sup>, MSc; Mario Müller<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Stefan Müller<sup>4</sup>, MD; Urs Eberle<sup>4</sup>; Andrei Manoliu<sup>1,5</sup>, PhD, MD; Stefan Vetter<sup>1</sup>, MD; Adam D Brown<sup>6,7</sup>, PhD; Thomas Berger<sup>3</sup>, PhD; Birgit Kleim<sup>1,2</sup>, PhD

<sup>4</sup>Zurich Schutz und Rettung, Zürich, Switzerland

<sup>5</sup>McLean Hospital Belmont, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, United States

<sup>6</sup>Department of Psychology, New School for Social Research, New York, NY, United States

<sup>7</sup>Department of Psychiatry, New York University, New York, NY, United States

# **Corresponding Author:**

Birgit Kleim, PhD Department of Psychiatry, Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics University of Zurich Lenggstrasse 31 PO Box 1931 Zürich, CH-8032 Switzerland Phone: 41 (0)44 384 21 11 Email: birgit.kleim@pukzh.ch

# Abstract

**Background:** Since the emergence of COVID-19, health care workers and first responders have been at a high risk for mental health symptoms owing to their exposure to the virus and increased work stress during the pandemic. Although interventions exist to address mental health issues following exposure to disasters, emergencies, and humanitarian crises, considerably less is known about web-based unguided interventions to help mitigate the negative impacts of such events. Additionally, in contexts in which emergencies reduce access to in-person care, remote forms of support are critical, yet there are limited studies on the use of such interventions. Evidence-based, easy-to-use, scalable interventions are direly needed for this population.

**Objective:** This study aimed to develop and test the feasibility of an unguided electronic mental health program, COVID-19 Anxiety and Stress Resilience Training (COAST), tailored to first responders and health care personnel, based on scientific evidence and empirically based techniques.

**Methods:** We developed COVID-19–specific training modules focusing on several domains that are previously reported as key to resilience and stress recovery: self-efficacy, mindfulness, sleep quality, and positive thinking. The program was made available to 702 first responders between May and August 2020, during the COVID-19 pandemic. Sociodemographic, work-, and COVID-19–related information was collected, and psychometric questionnaires were completed. We examined user acceptance and user activity, including module choice and participant feedback.

**Results:** In total, 52 of 702 (7%) first responders to whom we reached out used the program at least once. COAST use was independent of age, sex, or baseline levels of self-efficacy, mindful awareness, sleep quality, and positive thinking (for all, P>.39). First responders who had tested positive and those who had been quarantined were more likely to engage in the program. A click count analysis per module showed that participants used the self-efficacy and mindfulness modules most often, with 382 and 122 clicks, respectively, over 15 weeks. Overall, first responders expressed satisfaction with the program.

**Conclusions:** Engagement of first responders in the multimodule web-based COAST program was feasible and the first responder cohort expressed overall satisfaction with the program. Those in more difficult circumstances, including those in quarantine and those who tested positive, may be more likely to engage in such programs. Further controlled studies could pave the way for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Department of Psychiatry, Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics, University of Zurich, Zürich, Switzerland

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Department of Psychology, University of Zurich, Zürich, Switzerland

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Department of Psychology, University of Bern, Bern, Switzerland

efficacy studies and the development of additional modules, including just-in-time interventions or blended interventions combining individual use of an unguided self-help intervention, such as COAST, with subsequent individual psychotherapy for those who continue to experience stress and psychological symptoms.

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e28055) doi:10.2196/28055

# **KEYWORDS**

anxiety; COVID-19; electronic mental health; feasibility; first responder; mental health; mindfulness; resilience; self-efficacy; sleep quality; stress; training

# Introduction

Since early 2020, COVID-19 began to severely impact the daily lives of a majority of the world's population after a cluster of infections was first identified in China as early as December 2019 [1]. In most countries, including Switzerland, severe measures were taken to prevent the further spread of SARS-CoV-2, including strict safety and hygiene rules and physical distancing. Lockdown and physical distancing measures, along with perceived unpredictability and uncertainty, may lead to social isolation, loss of income, loneliness, inactivity, limited access to basic services, and other compromises. COVID-19 has thus resulted in an increase in known risk factors for psychiatric disorders such as depression and anxiety [2]. A number of studies documented significant effects on the population's mental health, with studies reporting higher levels of depression in the general population [3]. Health care workers and first responders were often found to be at high risk for mental health issues owing to increased exposure to the virus and higher work stress during the pandemic [4-7], and they experience increased mental health symptoms [8].

With physical distancing and other restrictions in place and a decreased mental health system capacity, calls for increased investment in telehealth and telepsychiatry, as well as other digital mental health solutions, have emerged [9-11]. Digital mental health prevention and intervention programs offer effective, often unguided, and scalable solutions to improve mental health. These can often be used anonymously, making their use lower threshold than that of in-person therapy [12-14], and are acceptable by users [15]. Early interventions could be key to prevent overburdening mental health care systems during and after the COVID-19 pandemic [16,17]. Indeed, some electronic mental health (e-mental health) interventions have already been implemented in different countries during the pandemic [18-20]. Studies on the feasibility and effectiveness of e-mental health interventions for medical personnel and first responders, however, remain scarce. A recent review reported 3 studies on mental health programs specifically targeted at medical personnel during the pandemic through e-mental health approaches [21]. However, there is evidence for the efficacy of e-mental health approaches for these populations in other circumstances. A blended e-mental health intervention to manage weight was effective in a sample of first responders and included interventions on sleep and psychological symptoms [22]. Another 3-month web-based intervention to reduce work-related fatigue and improve work function resulted in a small positive effect on overall stress in health care workers [23]. E-mental health interventions are thus a promising way

to support health care workers and first responders in general and possibly during crises, including the current COVID-19 pandemic. Not all current approaches are based on empirical evidence or employ principles of evidence-based treatment approaches for psychiatric disorders, such as cognitive behavioral therapy [24]. To help bridge this gap, we developed a research-based e-mental health program tailored to first responders and health care personnel, which is based on robust scientific evidence and empirically based techniques, is self-paced and unguided, and can be delivered anonymously. Our study aimed to (1) develop research-based, web-based, COVID-19-specific training modules focusing on the key areas of self-efficacy, mindfulness, sleep quality, and positive thinking to increase resilience in health care workers and first responders; (2) assess sociodemographic, COVID-19-, and stress-related characteristics of first responders opting into the program; and (3) examine user acceptance and activity, including their choice of different modules and feedback.

# Methods

# **Study Design**

This study was designed as single-cohort feasibility study to evaluate a COVID-19 Anxiety and Stress Resilience Training (COAST) program and receive user feedback for future adaptation of our modules. The study was approved by the ethics committee of the philosophical faculty of the University of Zurich. We included first responders who were offered free and unlimited access to the program. The first users and study participants joined COAST in May 2020, and final questionnaires were completed in July 2020. Our analyses encompass an overall period of 15 weeks, during which participants were followed-up during their individual use of the program.

# The COAST Program

COAST comprises 4 intervention modules to increase resilience to stress due to the COVID-19 pandemic. These modules were made available on a website for free and self-paced perusal by our participants. The self-paced option appeared relevant to adapt to the busy schedule of health care workers during the pandemic. All 4 modules are standalone modules, targeting (1) self-efficacy, (2) sleep quality, (3) mindfulness, and (4) gratitude and positive reframing. The choice of these module topics was based on previous reports that identified them as useful targets to improve resilience to stress and adversity [25-28] and on the target population's documented preference for e-mental health interventions to be focused on well-being rather than on ill health [29].

Each module contained explanations and mini-interventions that users could engage with in their daily lives, based on previous results and protocols and adapted for web-based use. The self-efficacy module was based on the findings that activating autobiographic memories of perceived self-efficacy can help strengthen clinically relevant factors for tolerating distress [30] and promote relevant cognitive processes and problem-solving that might help patients recover from stress [31] [Multimedia Appendix 1]. Users are asked to recall 3 memories of situations that they handled well and write down which hurdles they overcame and which traits, qualities, and strengths helped them overcome these hurdles. The sleep module consists of a worry diary and tips for better sleep hygiene, both proposed by Altena et al [32] and the European Academy for Cognitive-Behavioral Therapy for Insomnia. The module on mindfulness includes various audio files with guided meditations. Studies on populations of health care workers found mindfulness to be associated with reduced depressive symptoms, more adaptive defense mechanisms against stress, lower burnout and stress levels, and higher life satisfaction [33-35]. These findings are supported by a meta-analysis that reported mindfulness-based interventions to be an effective tool to help medical personnel cope with stress [26]. COAST's gratitude module involves a gratitude diary, which users can fill in daily. Killen and Macaskill [36] reported that a gratitude diary could positively influence well-being and found no difference in efficacy between the paper-based and web-based versions of this intervention. The use of interventions that train gratitude has further been proven effective in various studies [36-38], partially focusing on health care workers.

Decisions in favor of shorter interventions and questionnaires were taken considering previous reports highlighting the occasional low participation rates of health care workers and first responders and their high workload [39].

#### Recruitment

We recruited first responders from Schutz & Rettung Zürich, an urban first responder organization that provides first aid services in the Greater Zurich Region. For our study, all 702 first responders in the service, mostly including ambulance workers and fire fighters, were invited to use COAST via email. In total, 52 of them used COAST at least once and were included in the study. The emails contained an invitation to take part in the study, with the purpose of evaluating COAST, and a link to the first set of study questionnaires (baseline) immediately after registration. Furthermore, users were asked to fill in a short questionnaire on the website and were sent reminders to do so. Inclusion criteria were being a first responder at the abovementioned institution, providing consent to participate in the study, and signing up for the COAST program. Participants in the study were offered to enter a raffle and win 1 of multiple vouchers by entering a draw at the end of each external questionnaire. Owing to the exploratory nature of the study and our interest in feasibility indices that are largely independent of sample size, power analysis was not conducted.

## Procedure

Participants chose an anonymous username, as the privacy of e-mental health interventions had been previously raised as an

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e28055
```

important issue pertaining first-responder interventions [22]. They were also asked to complete self-report questionnaires that were sent via email and could be completed on the internet. These links were sent at three timepoints: at baseline (ie, after registration and prior to starting COAST) (questionnaire 1), at 2 weeks (questionnaire 2), and at 4 weeks (questionnaire 3). Questionnaires 2 and 3 also included a user experience questionnaire. They also were asked to complete several items covering each module's target outcome (self-efficacy, mindfulness, sleep, and optimism) on the COAST website.

First responder personnel in Zurich, who were interested in engaging with the COAST program, were sent a log-in code for the program via email. The program was delivered via a custom-built university website. For those participating in the study, the code was also used to match program-based data (including user indices and questionnaire items on the website) from the COAST website, with other questionnaires that were sent to participants via a link to their browser, and completed on the internet to ensure anonymity. The users agreed to the use of their data for research purposes when entering their code prior to their engagement with the COAST program and at the beginning of each questionnaire that was filled in outside of the program. All questionnaires were filled in on the internet. A total of 3 reminder emails were sent for questionnaire completion.

## Measures

Participants filled in items embedded in the COAST program as well as separate questionnaires at baseline and at 2 and 4 weeks' follow-up. Questionnaire completion was not mandatory for participating in the program, and the number of users who completed questionnaires varied. We thus report on different subsamples.

We used standardized, validated, self-reported measures at baseline (questionnaire 1) and follow-up (questionnaires 2 and 3), including the Perceived Stress Scale [40] (Cronbach  $\alpha$ =.95), the 9-item Patient Health Questionnaire [41] (Cronbach  $\alpha$ =.83), the 7-item Generalized Anxiety Disorder Scale [42] (Cronbach  $\alpha$ =.89), the General Self-Efficacy Scale [43] (Cronbach  $\alpha$ =.76), and the Posttraumatic Stress Disorder Checklist of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (5th edition) [44] (Cronbach  $\alpha$ =.95). An adapted version of the 8-item Client Satisfaction Questionnaire (CSQ-8) [45] was used in questionnaires 2 and 3 to assess the users' satisfaction with the web-based program. For our study, we adapted CSQ-8 items to refer to the web-based program rather than the service, the clinic, or the treatment. No further modifications were made. In our sample, the measure had a high internal consistency (Cronbach  $\alpha$ =.94). We also employed an open question on potential further suggestions to optimize the program (eg, "Do you have ideas, suggestions, or criticism for us that could help us make COAST better?").

Within the COAST program, sociodemographic, work-, and COVID-19-related questions were completed by the participants. We also included key questions corresponding to each of the target modules obtained from the validated questionnaires. Users were asked to fill in the questions when they started using the program. The questions measured stress ("How nervous or

XSL•FO

stressed do you feel today?"), perceived self-efficacy ("How much do you currently believe in being able to change things in your life?"), mindfulness ("I am in contact with my experiences here and now"), sleep quality ("How would you judge your sleep quality since the last log-in?"), and optimism or positive thinking ("I have a positive outlook on the future"). Users answered the questions on a scale of 0-10 for stress, self-efficacy, and optimism and 0-3 for sleep quality and mindfulness.

Activity scores were calculated over 15 weeks on the basis of the users' activity in the program, reflecting the number of times individual pages of the program were accessed, including repeated access to the same page.

## **Statistical Analysis**

All statistical analyses were conducted in RStudio (version 1.3.959) for Mac OS [46]. We calculated mean (SD) and percentage values for sociodemographic and COVID-19–related variables and for other questionnaire and activity scores. The number of clicks per page was grouped per module, and clicks per module were counted to determine the differences in user activity (n=52). Correlations were calculated among questionnaire item scores and user activity. Pearson correlation analysis was used where normality distribution assumptions

Table 1. Descriptive statistics (N=42).

were met and adjusted to nonparametric testing in all other cases. We applied 1-sided significance testing and a P value of .05 to indicate significance.

# Results

# Characteristics of First Responders Opting Into the COAST Program and Their Association With User Activity

Sociodemographic information and scores for in-program questions are displayed in Table 1. The sample comprised 52 first responders, of which 42 (42.9% female) completed in-program questionnaires. The mean age was 43 (SD 10.53) years, with 14 (26%) participants having been quarantined at some time point, and 1 (2%) was quarantined at the time of filling in the questionnaire. Moreover, 21% worked or had worked in direct contact with patients with COVID-19. In total, 1 (2%) participant had tested positive for COVID-19, and 6 (24%) stated that they belonged to a COVID-19 risk group for severe disease progression. Single questions within COAST yielded low perceived stress and sleep problems in our sample while showing high self-efficacy and optimism, as well as an intermediate level of mindfulness.

Characteristic	Value
Sex, n (%)	
Female	18 (42.90)
Male	24 (57.10)
Age (years), mean (SD)	43.79 (10.53)
Quarantine, n (%)	
At any time	11 (26.19)
At time of study	1 (2.38)
Direct contact with patients with COVID-19, n (%)	9 (21.43)
Member of a risk group, n (%)	10 (23.81)
Tested positive for COVID-19, n (%)	1 (2.38)
Activity score, mean (SD)	15.46 (10.31)
Question scores, mean (SD) <sup>a</sup>	
Perceived Stress	3.39 (2.83)
Perceived Self-Efficacy	6.85 (2.27)
Sleep	1.16 (0.85)
Mindfulness	1.63 (0.97)
Optimism	7.23 (2.20)

<sup>a</sup>Questionnaires were based on single items completed within the program while working on COAST modules. Scores ranged 0-10 for stress, self-efficacy, and optimism and 0-3 for sleep quality and mindfulness, with higher scores indicating more perceived stress, self-efficacy, lower sleep quality, and greater mindful awareness.

COAST participants were representative in terms of age and sex, for the overall population of first responders from the aforementioned first responder organization, one of the largest urban first responder units in Switzerland, and there were no significant differences between the 2 populations in these

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e28055

variables. However, the proportion of positive COVID-19 tests was higher among COAST participants than among the total sample of 702 first responders in the organization (2.4% vs 0.7%, respectively), and 26% of COAST participants reported

having been in quarantine at some time, while this number was at less than 1% in the overall first responder population.

## Participant Acceptance, Activity, and Feedback

We found no significant correlations between user activity (ie, number of clicks) and sociodemographic, COVID-19–, or work-related items (ie, previous COVID-19 infection, age, sex, current quarantine, etc). Perceived stress and self-reported scores relating to module targets (self-efficacy, mindfulness, sleep quality, and optimism) were also unrelated to user activity scores (Table 2).

Analysis of the click count per module indicated that the self-efficacy module was used the most (amounting to 382

clicks), followed by the mindfulness (122 clicks), sleep (103 clicks), and gratitude (47 clicks) modules. The mean activity score of all users was 15 (SD 11.11) clicks in the program, assessed over a period of 15 weeks. Activity scores ranged 0-54 clicks, while the time spent on the pages was not measured. We detected 3 outliers through visual analysis of the boxplot and excluded them from the activity scores.

On average, users were satisfied with the program, as indicated by a mean score of 21.42 (SD 4.08; range 8-32) on the CSQ-8, representing "mild satisfaction." Some participants reported difficulties using a web-based format or wanted more visualization of the content. One user was concerned about confidentiality, specifically with regard to work-related answers.

**Table 2.** Association between program activity levels (ie, click count score) and sociodemographic variables, perceived stress, and scores mapping on module targets.

Variable	Association with program activity <sup>a,b,c,d</sup>	P value
Age	0.03 <sup>c</sup>	.57
Sex	0.02 <sup>a</sup>	.56
Quarantine (at any time)	0.02 <sup>a</sup>	.44
Direct contact with patients with COVID-19	0.13 <sup>a</sup>	.21
Member of a risk group	0.05 <sup>a</sup>	.38
Perceived stress	-0.18 <sup>b</sup>	.81
Perceived self-efficacy	$-0.06^{b}$	.39
Sleep quality	$-0.05^{a}$	.60
Mindfulness	0.05 <sup>a</sup>	.40
Optimism	-0.03 <sup>b</sup>	.55

<sup>a</sup>Point biserial correlation coefficients.

<sup>b</sup>Spearman correlation coefficients.

<sup>c</sup>Pearson correlation coefficients.

<sup>d</sup>Correlations with positive COVID-19 test results could not be determined because only 1 person in the group that responded to the respective questionnaires had received a positive test result.

# Discussion

# **Principal Findings**

We developed an evidence-based, multimodule, web-based COAST program to increase resilience to stress among health care workers and first responders during the COVID-19 pandemic. Here we report data from a feasibility study. COAST was actively used by 52 first responders, which accounts for 7% of the overall first responder group targeted and invited to participate during the COVID-19 pandemic. COAST use was independent of age, sex, and perceived stress, as well as scores mapping on the content of the module target of the respective intervention (including self-efficacy, mindfulness, sleep quality, and optimism). First responders who had tested positive for COVID-19 and those who had been quarantined were more likely to engage with the program. This suggests that we indeed may have reached those who are more and directly affected by the COVID-19 pandemic and are potentially in need of an intervention; however, a decreased workload during quarantine

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e28055
```

may also have contributed to this. Individual users mostly engaged in the self-efficacy memory module, followed by the mindfulness, sleep quality, and gratitude modules. Overall, first responders expressed satisfaction with the program.

The use of web-based technology is gaining popularity in mental health care, and these technologies have become increasingly available and affordable, thus lending themselves to implementation in the current first responder setting. Owing to their busy and challenging work environment, we expected to face challenges with regard to the engagement of this population with our program. Previous studies have indeed confirmed that first responders [29] and medical personnel working at a hospital [39] may have very specific needs as well as expectations from interventions. Hence, we developed COAST to be easily accessible and self-paced and to fit to individual needs. Indeed, found large interindividual variability in COAST we participation, with the number of clicks and activity low among some but regular and high among other first responders. Interestingly, activity was independent of self-reported

XSL•FO RenderX

self-efficacy, mindfulness, sleep quality, optimism, and perceived stress. As expected, some modules were used more than others. The self-efficacy memory module was used most often. Self-efficacy may emerge as a key construct underlying risk and resilience in relation to COVID-19, given the unpredictability of the COVID-19 pandemic and lack of controllability and agency experienced by some individuals. Theoretical models [25] and numerous studies with trauma-exposed individuals have found that self-efficacy is an important mechanism underlying risk and recovery among first responders and emergency personnel [47-49]. Participants in this study may have been drawn to this module in an attempt to improve self-regulation and to experience a sense of control by recalling previous challenges and obstacles that had been not overcome. Although these data do include self-efficacy-related outcomes, interest and engagement in this module may offer a promising strategy for reducing distress and maintaining well-being, as studies have shown that perceptions of self-efficacy can be increased among healthy [50,51] and clinical populations [30,31]. Higher levels of self-efficacy have been associated with greater problem-solving abilities [51] and a higher level of persistence, as well as changes in the activity of brain regions linked to emotional regulation [52]. By instructing and supporting first responders' recall of autobiographical self-efficacy memories, such adaptive phenomena may have been activated, and self-efficacy may have been increased. While these studies support these assumptions, processes in the field, such as those investigated here among the first responder population, will have to be investigated further to elucidate the precise mechanisms of action of individual modules, such as the self-efficacy module.

The second-most frequently used module was mindfulness. This is in line with recent efforts and success of implementing mindfulness interventions for mental health and other health workers [53,54]. Previous studies have reported significant effects of mindfulness programs in scalable, practical ways, including successful delivery of web-based mindfulness training in high-risk workplace settings and first responders in an entirely web-based version, as in our study [50]. Again, we can only speculate the mechanisms of action of this training program. In a previous study on frontline medical workers, we found that lower activation of the arousal system, indexed by activation of the arousal system during an emotion regulation task, was associated with increased resilience during subsequent stressful medical work [55]. Since one demonstrated effect of mindfulness is a change in gray matter concentration in several brain regions, including the locus coeruleus arousal system [56], such changes may well underlie the effects of mindfulness interventions and could be important to the first responder populations. In other words, successful engagement in mindfulness may lead to changes in brain regions that contribute to a more adaptive arousal system and enhanced well-being after mindfulness practice. However, we might have hastened to draw further conclusions about the precise effects of our modules. The same applies to ranking activity in the modules. In addition to personal choice informed by module content, module choice may also reflect the position of the module on the web layout of our program, rather than reflecting the preferences of individual users.

Only a subgroup of participants provided feedback through questionnaires, however this could potentially be of use for further program development. Among the points raised by the participants were privacy concerns, which is commonly reported in such populations [22,29] and should be included in future developments. Specifically, users were concerned about information they provided and that might be fed back to line managers and employers. This was not the case in our program and should be approached similarly by future programs. Our and other future programs should also consider user preferences in terms of graphics and design and should increase and optimize graphical module features, which were rather basic in our program and could be enriched and animated in several ways and include elements of personalization; that is, users would create their very own character that accompanies them, guides them through the modules, and potentially encourages individual engagement.

Our sample was representative of the targeted population of first responders, but the health care system in Switzerland may not be comparable with those in other countries; hence, our findings may not be generalizable to other health care professionals during the COVID-19 pandemic. A country's economy and socioeconomic differences and the severity of the outbreak in the country have been shown to influence the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on a population [17,18,57]. All our study participants were employed as of this writing, thus also limiting the generalizability of our findings to health care workers and first responders from low-income countries or those with lower job stability.

#### Limitations

Our study is not without its limitations. First, while we noted significant interest in COAST among our study participants and subsequent activity in the program among those who registered, the response rate to the external questionnaires (questionnaires 1-3), which we administered to our participants for program evaluation, was low and these could therefore not be evaluated. Future programs should make module use conditional on completion of a core set of questionnaire items. Second, all questions were self-reported questionnaire items and were thus associated with known challenges, including a retrospective response bias, social desirability [58], and being affected by current mood states [59]. Further, the scores reported here have been obtained from single questions on each subject, and although these were based on full-length questionnaires, their separate use is not validated. Third, the exact timing of in-program questions and their relation to user progress in COAST could not be determined. We also did not obtain exact results on how long users spent in a given module. Our results are thus preliminary and future studies will need to assess larger samples and test for controlled effects of the program's effectiveness, which could then help establish the program's effectiveness in decreasing the symptoms of stress and change scores in our target processes for self-efficacy, mindfulness, sleep quality, and positive thinking. Finally, and perhaps most importantly, the response rate of the overall population of first responders was 7% and thus rather low. Such challenges to engage health care workers (and indeed other groups) in e-mental health interventions during the COVID-19 pandemic

XSL•FO RenderX

have been well documented. Chen et al [39] reported the reluctance of hospital staff in China to use available support. They adjusted their program to include staff feedback and established resting rooms and provided in-person counseling services. Ketelaar et al [23] suggest using blended care to reduce attrition and boost participation, and this option should be considered for the current program. Another study from Wuhan [37] reported that difficulties with engagement might stem from issues with reduced trust and a heightened sense of stigma, as well as a high workload, and implemented anonymous interventions and daily reminder messages. Additional suggested challenges and reasons for low participation could be low perceived need, technical problems, and unattractive channeling toward their intervention [23]. While we are not aware of any technical problems in the COAST program, the low perceived need could have contributed to low participation, as our baseline questionnaire indicated low mental health symptoms among most respondents. In the future, stepwise approaches could be implemented, including screening for at-risk participants, who will then be offered further interventions rather than a one-size-fits-all approach. Privacy concerns seem to be key in the target population [22,29], and participants often requested that a web-based intervention should be independent from their employer. While COAST was in fact developed, run, and analyzed entirely independently from the employer, the program and study was announced and offered to the participants through their institutional email.

# Conclusions

Despite these limitations, our study has practical and clinical implications for prevention and intervention science. We reached a small, albeit significant subgroup of first responders who actively used the program and provided feedback. Advantages of such e-mental health interventions include their application and use without physical contact and their scalability, as we can reach more clients than would be possible face-to-face. These are critical features during crises, such as the current pandemic. More controlled studies on developing and adapting web-based interventions tailored to the preferences and needs of health care workers and first responders during the COVID-19 pandemic are needed. Such studies could also pave the way for additional novel interventions, such as just-in-time interventions or blended interventions combining individual use of a self-paced intervention with subsequent individual psychotherapy for those who continue to experience stress and psychological symptoms.

# Acknowledgments

We thank all first responders who participated in the COAST program and in our study. We further thank Ute Kleim for the illustrations in the COAST program. JMH was supported by a stipend of the Swiss-European Mobility Programme, and AM was supported by the Swiss National Science Foundation (P2SKP3\_178107).

# **Authors' Contributions**

JMH and BK conceived the study. TB provided the online platform. JH, NW, BK, and TB developed the web-based modules, and all authors provided feedback and support for program development. SM and UE supported the study implementation and recruitment. JMH conducted the study. JMH and BK conducted the data analyses. JMH and BK wrote the manuscript, and all authors edited the manuscript and approved the final version.

# **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Exemplary screenshot: COAST Self-efficacy module. [DOC File, 267 KB - formative v5i6e28055 app1.doc]

# References

- 1. Novel Coronavirus China. World Health Organization. 2020 Jan 12. URL: <u>http://www.who.int/csr/don/</u> <u>12-january-2020-novel-coronavirus-china/en/</u> [accessed 2020-07-28]
- Serafini G, Parmigiani B, Amerio A, Aguglia A, Sher L, Amore M. The psychological impact of COVID-19 on the mental health in the general population. QJM 2020 Jun 22;113(8):531-537 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/qjmed/hcaa201] [Medline: 32569360]
- Galea S, Merchant RM, Lurie N. The Mental Health Consequences of COVID-19 and Physical Distancing: The Need for Prevention and Early Intervention. JAMA Intern Med 2020 Jun 01;180(6):817-818. [doi: <u>10.1001/jamainternmed.2020.1562</u>] [Medline: <u>32275292</u>]
- Lai J, Ma S, Wang Y, Cai Z, Hu J, Wei N, et al. Factors Associated With Mental Health Outcomes Among Health Care Workers Exposed to Coronavirus Disease 2019. JAMA Netw Open 2020 Mar 02;3(3):e203976 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.3976] [Medline: 32202646]
- 5. Wright H, Griffin B, Shoji K, Love TM, Langenecker SA, Benight CC, et al. Pandemic-related mental health risk among front line personnel. J Psychiatr Res 2021 May;137:673-680. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jpsychires.2020.10.045</u>] [Medline: <u>33189356</u>]

- 6. Heber A, Testa V, Smith-MacDonald L, Brémault-Phillips S, Smith-MacDonald L. Rapid response to COVID-19: addressing challenges and increasing the mental readiness of public safety personnel. Health Promot Chronic Dis Prev Can 2020 Dec 09;40(11-12):350-355 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.24095/hpcdp.40.11/12.04] [Medline: 32909935]
- 7. Kleim B, Westphal M. Mental health in first responders: A review and recommendation for prevention and intervention strategies. Traumatology 2011;17(4):17-24. [doi: 10.1177/1534765611429079]
- 8. Pappa S, Ntella V, Giannakas T, Giannakoulis VG, Papoutsi E, Katsaounou P. Prevalence of depression, anxiety, and insomnia among healthcare workers during the COVID-19 pandemic: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Brain Behav Immun 2020 Aug;88:901-907 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2020.05.026] [Medline: 32437915]
- Moreno C, Wykes T, Galderisi S, Nordentoft M, Crossley N, Jones N, et al. How mental health care should change as a consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic. Lancet Psychiatry 2020 Sep;7(9):813-824 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(20)30307-2] [Medline: 32682460]
- Khanna R, Forbes M. Telepsychiatry as a public health imperative: Slowing COVID-19. Aust N Z J Psychiatry 2020 Jul;54(7):758. [doi: 10.1177/0004867420924480] [Medline: 32363911]
- Gaebel W, Stricker J. E-mental health options in the COVID-19 pandemic and beyond. Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 2020 Aug;74(8):441-442 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/pcn.13079] [Medline: 32497358]
- 12. Lal S, Adair CE. E-mental health: a rapid review of the literature. Psychiatr Serv 2014 Jan 01;65(1):24-32. [doi: 10.1176/appi.ps.201300009] [Medline: 24081188]
- Kaltenthaler E, Sutcliffe P, Parry G, Beverley C, Rees A, Ferriter M. The acceptability to patients of computerized cognitive behaviour therapy for depression: a systematic review. Psychol Med 2008 Nov;38(11):1521-1530. [doi: <u>10.1017/S0033291707002607</u>] [Medline: <u>18205964</u>]
- Griffiths KM, Farrer L, Christensen H. The efficacy of internet interventions for depression and anxiety disorders: a review of randomised controlled trials. Med J Aust 2010 Jun 07;192(S11):S4-11. [doi: <u>10.5694/j.1326-5377.2010.tb03685.x</u>] [Medline: <u>20528707</u>]
- Berry N, Lobban F, Emsley R, Bucci S. Acceptability of Interventions Delivered Online and Through Mobile Phones for People Who Experience Severe Mental Health Problems: A Systematic Review. J Med Internet Res 2016 May 31;18(5):e121 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5250] [Medline: 27245693]
- Shevlin M, McBride O, Murphy J, Miller JG, Hartman TK, Levita L, et al. Anxiety, depression, traumatic stress and COVID-19-related anxiety in the UK general population during the COVID-19 pandemic. BJPsych Open 2020 Oct 19;6(6):e125 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1192/bjo.2020.109] [Medline: <u>33070797</u>]
- Hyland P, Shevlin M, McBride O, Murphy J, Karatzias T, Bentall RP, et al. Anxiety and depression in the Republic of Ireland during the COVID-19 pandemic. Acta Psychiatr Scand 2020 Sep;142(3):249-256. [doi: <u>10.1111/acps.13219</u>] [Medline: <u>32716520</u>]
- Marazziti D, Pozza A, Di Giuseppe M, Conversano C. The psychosocial impact of COVID-19 pandemic in Italy: A lesson for mental health prevention in the first severely hit European country. Psychol Trauma 2020 Jul;12(5):531-533. [doi: 10.1037/tra0000687] [Medline: 32525387]
- Kang L, Li Y, Hu S, Chen M, Yang C, Yang BX, et al. The mental health of medical workers in Wuhan, China dealing with the 2019 novel coronavirus. Lancet Psychiatry 2020 Mar;7(3):e14 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(20)30047-X] [Medline: 32035030]
- 20. Nguyen THD, Vu DC. Impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic upon mental health: Perspectives from Vietnam. Psychol Trauma 2020 Jul;12(5):480-481. [doi: <u>10.1037/tra0000694</u>] [Medline: <u>32525376</u>]
- Imperatori C, Dakanalis A, Farina B, Pallavicini F, Colmegna F, Mantovani F, et al. Global Storm of Stress-Related Psychopathological Symptoms: A Brief Overview on the Usefulness of Virtual Reality in Facing the Mental Health Impact of COVID-19. Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw 2020 Nov;23(11):782-788. [doi: <u>10.1089/cyber.2020.0339</u>] [Medline: <u>32640852</u>]
- 22. Jerome G, Lisman P, Dalcin A, Clark A. Weight management program for first responders: Feasibility study and lessons learned. Work 2020;65(1):161-166. [doi: <u>10.3233/WOR-193069</u>] [Medline: <u>31868723</u>]
- 23. Ketelaar SM, Nieuwenhuijsen K, Bolier L, Smeets O, Sluiter JK. Improving work functioning and mental health of health care employees using an e-mental health approach to workers' health surveillance: pretest-posttest study. Saf Health Work 2014 Dec;5(4):216-221 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.shaw.2014.08.002] [Medline: 25516815]
- 24. Van Daele T, Karekla M, Kassianos AP, Compare A, Haddouk L, Salgado J, et al. Recommendations for policy and practice of telepsychotherapy and e-mental health in Europe and beyond. J Psychother Integr 2020 Jun;30(2):160-173. [doi: 10.1037/int0000218]
- 25. Benight CC, Bandura A. Social cognitive theory of posttraumatic recovery: the role of perceived self-efficacy. Behav Res Ther 2004 Oct;42(10):1129-1148. [doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2003.08.008] [Medline: 15350854]
- Burton A, Burgess C, Dean S, Koutsopoulou GZ, Hugh-Jones S. How Effective are Mindfulness-Based Interventions for Reducing Stress Among Healthcare Professionals? A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Stress Health 2017 Feb;33(1):3-13. [doi: <u>10.1002/smi.2673</u>] [Medline: <u>26916333</u>]
- 27. Lee J, Kim S, Bae K, Kim J, Shin I, Yoon J, et al. The association of gratitude with perceived stress and burnout among male firefighters in Korea. Pers Individ Differ 2018 Mar;123:205-208 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2017.11.010]

- Palagini L, Moretto U, Novi M, Masci I, Caruso D, Drake CL, et al. Lack of Resilience Is Related to Stress-Related Sleep Reactivity, Hyperarousal, and Emotion Dysregulation in Insomnia Disorder. J Clin Sleep Med 2018 May 15;14(5):759-766 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5664/jcsm.7100] [Medline: 29734989]
- 29. Deady M, Peters D, Lang H, Calvo R, Glozier N, Christensen H, et al. Designing smartphone mental health applications for emergency service workers. Occup Med (Lond) 2017 Aug 01;67(6):425-428. [doi: <u>10.1093/occmed/kqx056</u>] [Medline: <u>28535246</u>]
- 30. Morina N, Bryant RA, Doolan EL, Martin-Sölch C, Plichta MM, Pfaltz MC, et al. The impact of enhancing perceived self-efficacy in torture survivors. Depress Anxiety 2018 Jan;35(1):58-64. [doi: <u>10.1002/da.22684</u>] [Medline: <u>28881455</u>]
- 31. Brown AD, Kouri NA, Rahman N, Joscelyne A, Bryant RA, Marmar CR. Enhancing self-efficacy improves episodic future thinking and social-decision making in combat veterans with posttraumatic stress disorder. Psychiatry Res 2016 Aug 30;242:19-25. [doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2016.05.026] [Medline: 27236589]
- Altena E, Baglioni C, Espie CA, Ellis J, Gavriloff D, Holzinger B, et al. Dealing with sleep problems during home confinement due to the COVID-19 outbreak: Practical recommendations from a task force of the European CBT-I Academy. J Sleep Res 2020 Aug;29(4):e13052. [doi: 10.1111/jsr.13052] [Medline: 32246787]
- Abeni MS, Magni M, Conte M, Mangiacavalli S, Pochintesta L, Vicenzi G, et al. Psychological care of caregivers, nurses and physicians: a study of a new approach. Cancer Med 2014 Feb;3(1):101-110 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cam4.163] [Medline: 24402889]
- Di Giuseppe M, Ciacchini R, Piarulli A, Nepa G, Conversano C. Mindfulness dispositions and defense style as positive responses to psychological distress in oncology professionals. Eur J Oncol Nurs 2019 Jun;40:104-110. [doi: 10.1016/j.ejon.2019.04.003] [Medline: 31229199]
- Duarte J, Pinto-Gouveia J. Effectiveness of a mindfulness-based intervention on oncology nurses' burnout and compassion fatigue symptoms: A non-randomized study. Int J Nurs Stud 2016 Dec;64:98-107. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2016.10.002</u>] [Medline: <u>27744228</u>]
- 36. Killen A, Macaskill A. Using a Gratitude Intervention to Enhance Well-Being in Older Adults. J Happiness Stud 2014 Jun 20;16(4):947-964. [doi: 10.1007/s10902-014-9542-3]
- 37. Cheng S, Tsui PK, Lam JHM. Improving mental health in health care practitioners: randomized controlled trial of a gratitude intervention. J Consult Clin Psychol 2015 Feb;83(1):177-186. [doi: <u>10.1037/a0037895</u>] [Medline: <u>25222798</u>]
- Jackowska M, Brown J, Ronaldson A, Steptoe A. The impact of a brief gratitude intervention on subjective well-being, biology and sleep. J Health Psychol 2016 Oct;21(10):2207-2217. [doi: 10.1177/1359105315572455] [Medline: 25736389]
- Chen Q, Liang M, Li Y, Guo J, Fei D, Wang L, et al. Mental health care for medical staff in China during the COVID-19 outbreak. Lancet Psychiatry 2020 Apr;7(4):e15-e16 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(20)30078-X] [Medline: 32085839]
- 40. Cohen S, Kamarck T, Mermelstein R. A global measure of perceived stress. J Health Soc Behav 1983 Dec;24(4):385-396. [Medline: <u>6668417</u>]
- 41. Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JBW. The PHQ-9: validity of a brief depression severity measure. J Gen Intern Med 2001 Sep;16(9):606-613 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1046/j.1525-1497.2001.016009606.x] [Medline: 11556941]
- 42. Spitzer RL, Kroenke K, Williams JBW, Löwe B. A brief measure for assessing generalized anxiety disorder: the GAD-7. Arch Intern Med 2006 May 22;166(10):1092-1097. [doi: 10.1001/archinte.166.10.1092] [Medline: 16717171]
- 43. Schwarzer R, Jerusalem M. Generalized Self-efficacy Scale. In: Measures in health psychology: A user's portfolio. Causal and control beliefs. Windsor: NFER-Nelson; 1995:35-37.
- 44. Weathers F, Litz B, Keane T, Palmieri P, Marx B, Schnurr P. The PTSD Checklist for DSM-5 (PCL-5). National Center for PTSD. 2013. URL: <u>https://www.ptsd.va.gov/professional/assessment/adult-sr/ptsd-checklist.asp</u> [accessed 2020-10-05]
- 45. Larsen DL, Attkisson C, Hargreaves WA, Nguyen TD. Assessment of client/patient satisfaction: development of a general scale. Eval Program Plann 1979;2(3):197-207. [doi: <u>10.1016/0149-7189(79)90094-6</u>] [Medline: <u>10245370</u>]
- 46. Rethink Reporting with Automation. RStudio. URL: <u>http://www.rstudio.com/</u> [accessed 2021-05-20]
- Schaubroeck J, Merritt DE. Divergent Effects Of Job Control On Coping With Work Stressors: The Key Role Of Self-Efficacy. AMJ 1997 Jun 01;40(3):738-754. [doi: <u>10.5465/257061</u>]
- 48. Cieslak R, Benight CC, Rogala A, Smoktunowicz E, Kowalska M, Zukowska K, et al. Effects of Internet-Based Self-Efficacy Intervention on Secondary Traumatic Stress and Secondary Posttraumatic Growth among Health and Human Services Professionals Exposed to Indirect Trauma. Front Psychol 2016;7:1009 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.01009] [Medline: 27458407]
- 49. Benight C, Swift E, Sanger J, Smith A, Zeppelin D. Coping Self-Efficacy as a Mediator of Distress Following a Natural Disaster. J Appl Social Pyschol 1999 Dec;29(12):2443-2464 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1559-1816.1999.tb00120.x]
- 50. Brown AD, Joscelyne A, Dorfman ML, Marmar CR, Bryant RA. The impact of perceived self-efficacy on memory for aversive experiences. Memory 2012;20(4):374-383. [doi: 10.1080/09658211.2012.667110] [Medline: 22424296]
- 51. Brown AD, Dorfman ML, Marmar CR, Bryant RA. The impact of perceived self-efficacy on mental time travel and social problem solving. Conscious Cogn 2012 Mar;21(1):299-306. [doi: 10.1016/j.concog.2011.09.023] [Medline: 22019214]



- 52. Titcombe-Parekh RF, Chen J, Rahman N, Kouri N, Qian M, Li M, et al. Neural circuitry changes associated with increasing self-efficacy in Posttraumatic Stress Disorder. J Psychiatr Res 2018 Sep;104:58-64. [doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2018.06.009] [Medline: 29982083]
- 53. Kaplan JB, Bergman AL, Christopher M, Bowen S, Hunsinger M. Role of Resilience in Mindfulness Training for First Responders. Mindfulness 2017 Apr 19;8(5):1373-1380. [doi: <u>10.1007/s12671-017-0713-2</u>]
- Joyce S, Shand F, Lal TJ, Mott B, Bryant RA, Harvey SB. Resilience@Work Mindfulness Program: Results From a Cluster Randomized Controlled Trial With First Responders. J Med Internet Res 2019 Feb 19;21(2):e12894 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/12894] [Medline: 30777846]
- 55. Grueschow M, Stenz N, Thörn H, Ehlert U, Breckwoldt J, Brodmann Maeder M, et al. Real-world stress resilience is associated with the responsivity of the locus coeruleus. Nat Commun 2021 Apr 15;12(1):2275 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41467-021-22509-1] [Medline: 33859187]
- Singleton O, Hölzel BK, Vangel M, Brach N, Carmody J, Lazar SW. Change in Brainstem Gray Matter Concentration Following a Mindfulness-Based Intervention is Correlated with Improvement in Psychological Well-Being. Front Hum Neurosci 2014;8:33 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2014.00033] [Medline: 24600370]
- 57. Osofsky JD, Osofsky HJ, Mamon LY. Psychological and social impact of COVID-19. Psychol Trauma 2020 Jul;12(5):468-469. [doi: 10.1037/tra0000656] [Medline: 32538653]
- 58. van de Mortel TF. Faking It: Social Desirability Response Bias in Self-report Research. Aust J Adv Nursing 2008;25(4):40-48 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3316/informit.210155003844269]
- Sato H, Kawahara J. Selective bias in retrospective self-reports of negative mood states. Anxiety Stress Coping 2011 Jul;24(4):359-367. [doi: 10.1080/10615806.2010.543132] [Medline: 21253957]

# Abbreviations

**COAST:** COVID-19 Anxiety and Stress Resilience Training **CSQ-8:** 8-item Client Satisfaction Questionnaire **e-mental health:** electronic mental health

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 19.02.21; peer-reviewed by Y Ying, T Ewais; comments to author 12.03.21; revised version received 31.03.21; accepted 17.04.21; published 07.06.21.

Please cite as:

Heyen JM, Weigl N, Müller M, Müller S, Eberle U, Manoliu A, Vetter S, Brown AD, Berger T, Kleim B Multimodule Web-Based COVID-19 Anxiety and Stress Resilience Training (COAST): Single-Cohort Feasibility Study With First Responders JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e28055 URL: https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e28055 doi:10.2196/28055 PMID:33999835

©Janna Marie Heyen, Noé Weigl, Mario Müller, Stefan Müller, Urs Eberle, Andrei Manoliu, Stefan Vetter, Adam D Brown, Thomas Berger, Birgit Kleim. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 07.06.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Original Paper** 

# Development of the 12-Item Social Media Disinformation Scale and its Association With Social Media Addiction and Mental Health Related to COVID-19 in Tunisia: Survey-Based Pilot Case Study

Noomen Guelmami<sup>1,2,3</sup>, PhD; Maher Ben Khalifa<sup>4</sup>, MSc; Nasr Chalghaf<sup>2,3,5</sup>, PhD; Jude Dzevela Kong<sup>6</sup>, PhD; Tannoubi Amayra<sup>1</sup>, MSc; Jianhong Wu<sup>6</sup>, PhD; Fairouz Azaiez<sup>2,3,5</sup>, PhD; Nicola Luigi Bragazzi<sup>3,6</sup>, MD, MPH, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Higher Institute of Sport and Physical Education of Kef, University of Jendouba, Jendouba, Tunisia

<sup>2</sup>Group for the Study of Development and Social Environment (GEDES), Faculty of Human and Social Science of Sfax, Sfax, Tunisia

<sup>3</sup>Postgraduate School of Public Health, Department of Health Sciences (DISSAL), University of Genoa, Genoa, Italy

<sup>4</sup>Research and Applications Unit in Marketing (URAM), Faculty of Economics and Management of Tunis (FSEGT), University of Tunis El Manar (UTM), Tunis, Tunisia

<sup>5</sup>Higher Institute of Sport and Physical Education of Sfax, University of Sfax, Sfax, Tunisia

<sup>6</sup>Department of Mathematics and Statistics, York University, Toronto, ON, Canada

# **Corresponding Author:**

Nicola Luigi Bragazzi, MD, MPH, PhD Department of Mathematics and Statistics York University 4700 Keele Street Toronto, ON, M3J 1P3 Canada Phone: 1 2818392210 Email: robertobragazzi@gmail.com

# Abstract

**Background:** In recent years, online disinformation has increased. Fake news has been spreading about the COVID-19 pandemic. Since January 2020, the culprits and antidotes to disinformation have been digital media and social media.

**Objective:** Our study aimed to develop and test the psychometric properties of the 12-item Social Media Disinformation Scale (SMDS-12), which assesses the consumption, confidence, and sharing of information related to COVID-19 by social media users.

**Methods:** A total of 874 subjects were recruited over two phases: the exploratory phase group had a mean age of 28.39 years (SD 9.32) and the confirmatory phase group had a mean age of 32.84 years (SD 12.72). Participants completed the SMDS-12, the Internet Addiction Test, the COVID-19 Fear Scale, and the 10-item Perceived Stress Scale. The SMDS-12 was initially tested by exploratory factor analysis and was subsequently tested by confirmatory factor analysis.

**Results:** The test supported the three-factor structure. In addition, no items were removed from the measurement scale, with three factors explaining up to 73.72% of the total variance, and the items had a lambda factor loading ranging from 0.73 to 0.85. Subsequently, confirmatory factor analysis confirmed the robustness of the measure by referring to a wide range of goodness-of-fit indices that met the recommended standards. The construct validity of the scale was supported by its convergent and discriminant validity. The reliability of the instrument examined by means of three internal consistency indices, and the corrected item-total correlation, demonstrated that the three dimensions of the instrument were reliable: Cronbach  $\alpha$  values were .89, .88, and .88 for the consumption, confidence, and sharing subscales, respectively. The corrected item-total correlation ranged from 0.70 to 0.78. The correlation of the instrument's dimensions with internet addiction and mental health factors showed positive associations.

**Conclusions:** The SMDS-12 can be reliably utilized to measure the credibility of social media disinformation and can be adapted to measure the credibility of disinformation in other contexts.

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e27280) doi:10.2196/27280

# **KEYWORDS**

RenderX

COVID-19 pandemic; media disinformation; social media addiction; mental health; scale validation

# Introduction

During the COVID-19 pandemic, caused by the emerging SARS-CoV-2, people around the world have been leaning toward an excessive use of the internet [1] and social media. This is the case because, on the one hand, this activity can lower their feelings of loneliness and, on the other hand, it can provide them with information on the states of emergency in their countries and globally [2].

This pandemic is characterized by a high potential for contagion, a low availability of vaccines, an absence of specifically effective drugs, and an exponential spread, which has impacted people's lifestyles and led to feelings of insecurity [3,4], fear [5], and even community panics in several populations [6-10].

Almost everyone is interested in hearing reliable, updated information concerning the pandemic, vaccines, and anything related to COVID-19. This is because during the pandemic, in addition to seeing their usual activities restricted, people are exposed to a wide range of information, including official messages, as well as erroneous and misleading news from a range of unreliable sources [11,12]. The global spread of the COVID-19 pandemic has been reflected in the dissemination of misinformation on social media and conspiracy theories about its origins [13].

Indeed, since the beginning of the spread of the disease, several fake news items related to the outbreak have been shared on social networks. Examples include that the virus was caused by 5G cell phones, was deliberately disseminated for political or financial reasons, was a biological weapon, or was not more dangerous than influenza, with the threats being exaggerated as a way of limiting freedom [14].

Sharing false news that contains biased, emotionally charged information tends to capture more attention and interest than detached, positive, or neutral information [15]. Communication is of crucial importance in the control of outbreaks, and misinformation represents a major public health concern in that the use of social media as a means of keeping abreast of all the pandemic-related news is becoming very popular for several categories of people, due to its capacity of providing information in real time [16]. Likewise, social media can be utilized as platforms and venues for disseminating false information in times of crisis [16].

From another perspective, according to Alheneidi et al [17], besides information and communications technologies, psychosocial factors seem to play a key role. Personal negative feelings, such as loneliness, experienced during the COVID-19–induced lockdown have been shown to promote internet addiction behaviors, resulting in a significantly increased number of hours spent online. The study was conducted in two Arabic countries—Kuwait and the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia—and showed that people who experienced greater loneliness were more likely to consume pandemic-related news from social media.

Governments have been implementing behavioral strategies and nonpharmaceutical interventions (NPIs), including social and physical distancing and stay-at-home orders, to control the

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e27280
```

spread of COVID-19 and flatten the epidemic curve [18,19]. As a consequence, addiction to social media has increased, as it is the most accessible and easy-to-use means of communication and social interaction, resulting in excessive news consumption, which can lead to acute psychological distress and mental health problems, such as anxiety and depression [20].

The public health measures thus taken and enforced by governments, such as the compulsory wearing of masks, quarantine, mobility restrictions, social and physical distancing, the closures of several public places, bans on gatherings, partial curfews, and isolation of sick people, risk being compromised because of erroneous information constantly propagated on social media platforms. Indeed, Wang et al [21] have found that health-related misinformation is a very common phenomenon on social media and tends to be more prevalent than the diffusion of accurate information, in general.

As a matter of fact, significant amounts of disinformation and conspiracy theories have been disseminated through several social media platforms and consumed by users willing to learn about the COVID-19 pandemic. In general, the COVID-19 outbreak was accompanied by a large proliferation of fictitious and inaccurate information on the virus, which was spread, in particular, by social networks [22].

In a descriptive study by Cinelli et al [23] on the dissemination of COVID-19–related information on five social media platforms—Twitter, Instagram, YouTube, Reddit, and Gab—analyses highlighted a great amount of information about the COVID-19 outbreak disseminated on social networks, a large part of which was false information or disinformation.

COVID-19–related misinformation can bring not only high stress rates and serious mental consequences [24], but can also have a negative impact on the effectiveness of government strategies, such as the compulsory wearing of masks, confinement, and social and physical distancing. For instance, the false belief that the virus threat is being exaggerated may result in poor compliance and adherence to NPIs and, therefore, jeopardize the fight against the coronavirus. In the health field, dissemination of spurious news poses serious challenges because it can delay or prevent the delivery of effective care provisions or even threaten people's lives.

Unfortunately, many fake news items are accepted by the general population. For instance, a recent US study on COVID-19 conspiracy speculation found that over 80% of participants surveyed believed a particular conspiracy theory to be "probably" or "certainly" true [25]. In another study conducted in the United States, Uscinski et al [26] found that 29% of subjects believed that the communication on COVID-19 was biased for political reasons, in order to place then–US President Donald Trump at a disadvantage against his competitors.

If false news is accepted as true, dissemination of scientifically proven and evidence-based narratives to amend such fake news would not have a significant impact on belief in disinformation [27].

XSL•FO RenderX

Although governments, public health decision makers and policy makers, and other stakeholders are suffering from the dissemination and sharing of misinformation on social media, there exists no scale that enables the quantitative assessment of the behavior of social media users in the face of misinformation related to COVID-19.

Therefore, the objective of this study was to develop and validate an ad hoc measurement tool to measure the behavior of social media users in terms of consumption, credibility, and sharing of information related to COVID-19.

# Methods

# **Ethical Declaration**

The protocol for this study received approval from the Ethics Committee of the Higher Institute of Sport and Physical Education of Kef, University of Jendouba, Jendouba, Tunisia. The study protocol also received ethical authorization from the UNESCO (United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization) Chair in Health Anthropology Biosphere and Healing Systems, University of Genoa, Genoa, Italy, as well as from the Higher Institute of Sport and Physical Education of Sfax, Sfax, Tunisia. The proposal was also approved by the Ethics Committee of the University of Jendouba. This study was undertaken in accordance with the ethical standards of the Declaration of Helsinki in 1964 and its subsequent amendments.

## **Participants and Data Collection**

A total of 874 subjects, with a mean age of 30.62 years (SD 11.37), who were recruited from social media platforms over two time periods participated in this study. Participants were interviewed by means of an online questionnaire distributed via two social media platforms: Facebook and Twitter. The characteristics of the participants (ie, gender, student or employment status, academic level, and marital status) are presented in Table 1.

Table 1. Sociodemographic characteristics of the participants selected for this study.

Characteristic	Value (N=874), n (%)	
Gender		
Male	415 (47.5)	
Female	459 (52.5)	
Student or employment status		
Student	297 (34.0)	
Public function employee	211 (24.1)	
Unemployed	94 (10.8)	
Private function employee	233 (26.7)	
Retired	39 (4.5)	
Academic level		
Secondary	252 (28.8)	
University	622 (71.2)	
Marital status		
Single	446 (51.0)	
Married	304 (34.8)	
Other	124 (14.2)	

Study participants were randomly divided into two groups with the same number of individuals in each: one group participated in the exploratory phase and the other participated in the confirmatory phase.

The exploratory phase group consisted of 437 out of 874 (50.0%) participants, of which 248 (56.8%) were female and 189 (43.2%) were male; the mean age of the participants in this group was 28.39 years (SD 9.32). The confirmatory phase group consisted of 437 out of 874 (50.0%) participants, of which 211 (48.3%) were female and 226 (51.7%) were male; the mean age of the participants in this group was 32.84 years (SD 12.72).

### Instruments

### Sociodemographic Questionnaire

The sociodemographic questionnaire consisted of questions about age, gender, level of education, the city in which the participant was currently living during the COVID-19–induced restrictions, student or employment status, and marital status.

# Development of the 12-Item Social Media Disinformation Scale

A thorough review of the literature showed that information consumption includes a series of behaviors and processes, such as information seeking and information encounter (ie, *finding without seeking*). The first is defined as the intentional acquisition of information, while information encounter

describes how individuals come across information without deliberately seeking or retrieving news [28].

Understanding social media consumption has proven to be a very important dimension to incorporate into the measurement instrument, as it can help analyze how people may face disinformation. The literature has shown that individuals who consume disinformation make a judgment on the credibility of the message, depending on the source of the information, the story, and the context [29]. Indeed, the work of Rosnow [30] has shown that if disinformation circulates repeatedly, it will be absorbed, reinforced, and accepted as credible.

A further step in the process of information consumption is news sharing. Previous studies have reported various personal predictors of sharing misinformation, such as fear of missing out, social media fatigue, lack of skills in verifying the reliability of information, and information overload on social media. When news about a rumor is collectively shared by communities, the dissemination of that message is amplified.

Based on these theoretical findings, we operationalized the measurement of disinformation through the 12-item Social Media Disinformation Scale (SMDS-12) instrument. The first dimension of the SMDS-12 assesses the degree to which COVID-19 information is consumed from social media. The second dimension reports users' judgments about their degrees of belief, confidence, and trust in information related to COVID-19 shared on social media. The third dimension describes how one interacts with such news; in this case, sharing of information related to COVID-19.

Each dimension is made up of four items that are rated on a 5-point Likert scale, ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree).

Subsequently, a construct evaluation was carried out by a focus group made up of seven experts: two professionals in social networks, both administrator and content creators; two professors in human sciences; two experts in linguistics; and an expert in information and communications technology. Members of the focus group discussed the components of the items and were invited to collectively modify and validate a usable version of the instrument.

# The COVID-19 Fear Scale

The Arabic-language adapted short version of the COVID-19 Fear Scale from Alyami et al was used [31]. This version has been translated and adapted into Arabic from the initial version of Ahorsu et al [32]. The scale assesses fear of COVID-19 using a one-dimensional factor tool divided into seven items, which are assessed on a 5-point Likert scale, ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree). Concomitant and confirmatory reliability and validity were examined on a set of Saudi participants.

The internal consistency of the Arabic version examined using Cronbach  $\alpha$  was satisfactory ( $\alpha$ =.88), with strong concurrent validity indicated by significant and positive correlations with the Hamilton Anxiety and Depression Scale (*r*=0.6). Likewise, examination of the factor structure according to Alyami et al [31] was adequate (comparative fit index [CFI]=0.995; root

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e27280
```

mean square error of approximation [RMSEA]=0.059; standardized root mean residual [SRMR]=0.024).

## The 10-Item Perceived Stress Scale

An Arabic-language version of the 10-item Perceived Stress Scale (PSS-10) by Cohen et al [33], adapted by Almadi et al [34], was used to assess stress. The PSS-10 is divided into two subscales: the first assesses perceived psychological distress, while the second measures coping strategy. Scores are obtained on a 5-point Likert scale, ranging from 0 (never) to 4 (very often). The reliability and validity of the Arabic version of the PSS-10 presented a two-factor structure adequate for exploratory factor analysis, and their Cronbach  $\alpha$  coefficients were .74 and .77, respectively. In addition, the test-retest reliability had an intracorrelation coefficient of 0.90.

For the purpose of our study, we considered only the related negative factor, which is distress; as such, the coping strategy was not taken into consideration.

## The Arabic Internet Addiction Test

To measure internet addiction, we used the Arabic language–adapted scale from Hawi [35]. The Arabic version of the Internet Addiction Test (IAT) is an adapted version of the instrument originally developed by Young [36]. It consists of 20 items, each of which is scored on a 6-point Likert scale, ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 6 (strongly agree). The scale exhibits a unidimensional construct with robust psychometric properties: the goodness-of-fit indices demonstrated by the confirmatory factor analysis were all adequate (normed fit index [NFI]=0.96; CFI=0.98; Tucker-Lewis index [TLI]=0.98; goodness-of-fit index [GFI] and adjusted goodness-of-fit index [AGFI] above the recommended thresholds of 0.90). In particular, the internal consistency examined using the classical Cronbach  $\alpha$  statistical index was satisfactory ( $\alpha$ =.92).

#### **Statistical Tools**

Data normality was tested by skewness and kurtosis tests during the exploratory phase, while multivariate normality was examined during the confirmatory phase. Asymmetry values greater than 7 or kurtosis values greater than 3 were judged to be non-Gaussian [37] and possessing low psychometric sensitivity [38]. In addition, the Mardia coefficient of multivariate normality was calculated during the confirmatory phase.

The exploratory analysis was carried out by unweighted least squares with a direct oblimin rotation. To assess whether the data were suitable for factor analysis, the sampling adequacy was examined by the Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin (KMO) statistic. According to the suggestions of Hair et al [39], the KMO value must be greater than 0.50 to accept the factorial solution. Furthermore, the chi-square value of the Bartlett sphericity test, which should be not significant, was calculated [40]. The factors were retained for eigenvalues greater than 1 and by examining the scree plot. In addition, an item was deleted if its factor loading was less than 0.5 [39-41]. The scale relationships have been examined through Pearson correlation tests between the SMDS-12, the COVID-19 Fear Scale, and the PSS-10.

XSL•FO RenderX

First-order confirmatory factor analyses were performed to examine the factor structure of the instrument. The reliability of the instrument was examined by evaluating three internal consistency indices simultaneously: McDonald  $\omega$ , Cronbach  $\alpha$ , and Gutmann  $\lambda 6$ . Convergent validity and discriminant validity were assessed, respectively, by calculating the average variance extracted (AVE) and comparing the square roots of the AVE values to the correlation coefficients. The relationships between instrument dimensions, internet addiction, and mental health parameters were assessed by the Pearson correlation matrix.

Descriptive statistical analyses of the factor structure were performed with SPSS for Windows, version 26 (IBM Corp), and Amos software for Windows, version 23 (IBM Corp). Internal consistency indices were calculated using JASP open source software, version 0.8.5 (JASP Team).

# Results

# **Exploratory Factor Analysis**

Table 2 shows the descriptive statistics, with means and standard deviations; the skewness and kurtosis coefficients of normality; and the lambda factor loadings. The coefficients of normality support the normality of the distributions.

The results indicate that the SMDS-12 was appropriate for proceeding with factor analysis (KMO=0.89; Bartlett test of sphericity=2988.98; df=66; P<.001). Exploratory factor analysis indicated a three-factor solution (eigenvalues were 5.45, 2.004, and 1.39 for the first, second, and third factor, respectively), explaining up to 73.72% of the total variance, with items having lambda factor loadings ranging from 0.73 to 0.85. The first factor explained 45.42% of the total variance, the second factor explained 16.70% of the variance, and the last factor explained 11.60% of the variance. In addition, the examination of the scree plot confirms the three-factor solution; a distinct change in the slope can be seen in the plot in Multimedia Appendix 1.

Table 2. E	Exploratory	factor analy	ysis of the	12-item	Social	Media	Disinformation	Scale	(SMDS-12)	(n=437).

SMDS-12 item No.	Mean (SD)	Skewness	Kurtosis	Lambda factor loading
1	2.94 (1.25)	0.02	2.94	1.25
2	2.95 (1.21)	0.04	2.95	1.21
3	2.89 (1.17)	0.00	2.89	1.17
4	2.83 (1.18)	0.11	2.83	1.18
5	2.76 (1.09)	0.10	2.76	1.09
6	2.80 (1.13)	0.12	2.80	1.13
7	2.65 (1.11)	0.15	2.65	1.11
8	2.64 (1.04)	0.07	2.64	1.04
9	2.45 (1.12)	0.31	2.45	1.12
10	2.45 (1.12)	0.23	2.45	1.12
11	2.42 (1.11)	0.27	2.42	1.11
12	2.41 (1.06)	0.31	2.41	1.06

## **Confirmatory Factor Analysis**

Before proceeding with the confirmatory factor analysis, univariate and multivariate tests of normality were performed. The results indicate that the item distribution followed a Gaussian distribution (Table 3), while the Mardia coefficient of multivariate normality indicated a value of 7.98 with a critical ratio of 4.55. These results suggest that multivariate normality was violated; on the other hand, the Mardia coefficient is sensitive to the size of the sample.



Table 3.	Confirmatory	factor analysis	of the 12-	item Social	Media Dis	sinformation S	Scale (	SMDS-1	2) (n=43	37)
----------	--------------	-----------------	------------	-------------	-----------	----------------	---------	--------	----------	-----

SMDS-12 item No.	Mean (SD)	Skewness	Critical ratio	Kurtosis	Critical ratio
1	3.16 (1.16)	-0.1	-0.5	-0.7	-3.1
2	3.20 (1.12)	-0.2	-1.4	-0.7	-2.9
3	3.12 (1.08)	-0.1	-0.7	-0.6	-2.5
4	3.05 (1.11)	0.0	-0.2	-0.7	-2.8
5	2.88 (1.13)	0.0	-0.3	-0.8	-3.4
6	2.91 (1.13)	0.1	0.6	-0.8	-3.2
7	2.80 (1.08)	0.1	0.7	-0.6	-2.7
8	2.78 (1.05)	0.1	0.7	-0.6	-2.7
9	2.43 (1.14)	0.27	2.85	-0.85	-4.57
10	2.43 (1.13)	0.28	3.02	-0.82	-4.39
11	2.35 (1.11)	0.33	3.58	-0.78	-4.21
12	2.38 (1.10)	0.29	3.11	-0.85	-4.58

Figure 1 shows an overview of the model of the confirmatory factor analysis for the SMDS-12; following guidelines and recommendations [40,41], which suggest that a factorial weight greater than 0.71 can be considered to be excellent, we note that

all items adequately contributed to the pre-established theoretical constructs. The confirmatory factor analysis results provided evidence for the three-factor structure of the SMDS-12. The factor loadings were acceptable and good (range 0.78 to 0.85).

**Figure 1.** The final confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) of the 12-item Social Media Disinformation Scale. Factor correlation coefficients are 0.24 (between consumption and sharing), 0.28 (between consumption and confidence), and 0.36 (between confidence and sharing). Factor loadings range from 0.78 to 0.85. e1 to e12 represent the error variance for each item (I). CFA statistics:  $\chi^2_{51}$ =62.5, *P*<.001;  $\chi^2$ /df=1.2; goodness-of-fit index=0.977; adjusted goodness-of-fit index=0.965; Tucker-Lewis index=0.995; comparative fit index=0.996; root mean square error of approximation=0.023 (90% CI 0-0.04); standardized root mean residual=0.036.



The chi-square value obtained ( $\chi^2_{51}$ =62.5; *P*<.001) may be due to the size of the sample. However, the chi-square divided by degrees of freedom value ( $\chi^2$ /df=1.2) respects the usual recommended threshold. The values of GFI and AGFI are 0.977 and 0.965, respectively. These two values must be greater than or equal to 0.90. In addition, the two indices TLI and CFI tend toward 1 and respect the threshold value of 0.95. Finally, the error indices—RMSEA=0.023 (90% CI 0-0.04) and SRMR=0.036—show that the measurement errors are tolerable.

RenderX

#### Reliability

The internal consistency and reliability of the three scale factors were calculated by the three indices: McDonald  $\omega$ , Cronbach  $\alpha$ , and Gutmann  $\lambda 6$ . Examination of the indices for the three components of the scale yielded values greater than or equal to 0.80. This provides evidence for the internal consistency of the scale. Likewise, a good internal consistency was supported by the Cronbach  $\alpha$  indices, which had values of .89, .88, and .88 for the consumption, confidence, and sharing subscales,

respectively, as well as by the Gutmann  $\lambda 6$  coefficients, which were greater than or equal to 0.84. In addition, the corrected item-total correlation was calculated for each latent variable. The results show that the values were adequate, since they were located between 0.72 and 0.78 for the first component (ie, consumption), between 0.70 and 0.76 for the second component (ie, confidence), and between 0.73 and 0.76 for the last component (ie, sharing). These results confirm that the instrument has good reliability (Table 4). The internal consistency of the component is considered good if the value is equal to or greater than 0.70 [41].

Table 4. Internal consistency of the 12-item Social Media Disinformation Scale (SMDS-12).

Latent variable and SMDS-12 item No.	Corrected item-total correlation	McDonald w	Cronbach α	Gutmann λ6
Consumption		0.89	.89	0.86
1	0.75			
2	0.72			
3	0.76			
4	0.78			
Confidence		0.88	.88	0.85
5	0.76			
6	0.73			
7	0.70			
8	0.74			
Sharing		0.88	.88	0.85
9	0.76			
10	0.75			
11	0.73			
12	0.74			

# **Construct Validity**

# **Convergent Validity**

The convergent validity was assessed following the Fornell-Larcker criterion [42] by the calculation of the AVE. AVE values above 0.7 are considered very satisfactory, whereas a level of 0.5 is considered acceptable. The AVE values were 0.67 for consumption, 0.64 for confidence, and 0.67 for sharing.

## Discriminant Validity

Discriminant validity is ensured when the variance shared by two different latent variables is less than the variance shared by the latent variable and its indicators (ie, items). This implies that the square root of the AVE must be greater than all correlations between latent variables. The comparison of the square roots of the AVE values presented on the diagonal of the matrix (Multimedia Appendix 2) with the correlation coefficients shows that the discriminant validity of the scale was adequate. The square roots of the AVE values for consumption, confidence, and sharing were 0.82, 0.80, and 0.81, respectively. The comparison of each AVE value with correlation coefficients with the other constructs shows that they were of higher value.

# **Relationship Between the Credibility of Disinformation and Mental Health During the COVID-19 Pandemic**

The correlation matrix (Table 5) provided positive, significant, and moderate associations between the dimension of consumption and internet addiction (r=0.22), perceived stress (r=0.16), and the fear of COVID-19 (r=0.21). For the confidence subscale, a moderate correlation was demonstrated with internet addiction (r=0.34), while the correlations with perceived stress and fear of COVID-19 were 0.14 and 0.23, respectively. The sharing dimension resulted in a correlation coefficient 0.19 with internet addiction and lower coefficient values for perceived stress (r=0.093) and fear of COVID-19 (r=0.16).



Table 5. Correlation matrix between the 12-item Social Media Disinformation Scale subscales and mental health parameters related to COVID-19.

Variable	Consumption	Confidence	Sharing	Internet addiction	Perceived stress	Fear of COVID-19
Consumption	-					
r	1	0.35 <sup>a</sup>	0.27 <sup>a</sup>	0.22 <sup>a</sup>	0.16 <sup>a</sup>	0.21 <sup>a</sup>
P value	b	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001
Confidence						
r	0.35 <sup>a</sup>	1	0.33 <sup>a</sup>	0.34 <sup>a</sup>	0.14 <sup>a</sup>	0.23 <sup>a</sup>
P value	<.001	_	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001
Sharing						
r	0.27 <sup>a</sup>	0.33 <sup>a</sup>	1	0.19 <sup>a</sup>	0.093 <sup>c</sup>	0.16 <sup>a</sup>
P value	<.001	<.001	_	<.001	.014	<.001
Internet addiction						
r	0.22 <sup>a</sup>	0.34 <sup>a</sup>	0.19 <sup>a</sup>	1	0.14 <sup>a</sup>	0.21 <sup>a</sup>
P value	<.001	<.001	<.001	—	<.001	<.001
Perceived stress						
r	0.16 <sup>a</sup>	0.14 <sup>a</sup>	0.093 <sup>c</sup>	0.14 <sup>a</sup>	1	0.33 <sup>a</sup>
P value	<.001	<.001	.014	<.001	_	<.001
Fear of COVID-19						
r	0.21 <sup>a</sup>	0.23 <sup>a</sup>	0.16 <sup>a</sup>	0.21 <sup>a</sup>	0.33 <sup>a</sup>	1
P value	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	_

<sup>a</sup>The correlation is significant at a significance level of .01 (two-tailed). <sup>b</sup>Not applicable.

<sup>c</sup>The correlation is significant at a significance level of .05 (two-tailed).

# Discussion

# **Principal Findings**

The objective of this study was to develop and test the psychometric properties of the SMDS-12 measurement scale to assess consumption, confidence, and sharing of information related to COVID-19 by social media users. The 12-item scale was initially tested through exploratory factor analysis.

The test supported the three-factor structure; in addition, no items were removed from the measurement scale. Subsequently, confirmatory factor analysis confirmed the robustness of the measurement tool. The results also supported the construct validity of the scale by its convergent and discriminant validity, both of which were adequate. The reliability of the instrument examined by means of three internal consistency indices and the corrected item-total correlation demonstrated that the three dimensions of the instrument are reliable.

The correlation between the three dimensions of the instrument with the internet addiction scale and mental health factors showed positive associations, which lay in a range from small, for the relationship of the sharing dimension with stress, to moderate, for the association of the other two factors with internet addiction, perceived stress, and fear of COVID-19. Regarding the links between the consumption of disinformation and internet addiction, similar results have been reported by Priego-Parra et al [43]. The authors found that internet addiction and overexposure to rapidly spreading disinformation are associated with anxiety and depression. In addition, internet addiction resulting in obtaining information about COVID-19 has increased stress and anxiety levels.

Furthermore, in other studies of COVID-19 related to disinformation spread on social media [44-48], aimed at identifying the prevalence and factors associated with the concept, disinformation was shown to be linked to demographic variables, such as age, gender, and academic level. Moreover, consistent with our findings, misinformation beliefs were significantly associated with fear of COVID-19 in addition to other variables, such as lower levels of health education, trust in government, and confidence in science.

During the COVID-19 pandemic, internet addiction and the use of social media in particular have increased significantly [44-48]. Also, time spent on the internet was associated with sharing misinformation related to the context of the illness [44-49].

Moreover, some studies [50-52] examined the association between social media and mental health linked to the COVID-19 pandemic. The results showed that social media use was linked to depression, and excessive social media use led to mental health issues.



Our findings are also in line with a pilot study by Zhong et al [20], which examined the possible association between social media use and the mental health toll linked to the COVID-19 pandemic in China. This study found that social media use was linked to both depression and secondary trauma, which also predicted a change in health behavior.

On the contrary, in a cross-sectional survey by Agley and Xiao [14], COVID-19–related information sharing behaviors were clustered, and four belief profiles emerged from the analysis. A total of 70% of the subjects surveyed believed in scientifically accepted theories (ie, zoonotic origin of the outbreak) and not in conspiratorial theories. Other profiles disagreed with the zoonotic explanation, and instead believed in misinformation, although to varying degrees. Briefly, trust in science was a strong and significant predictor of news sharing behavior.

Regarding the acquisition of disinformation and the subsequent sharing of this information, Chua and Banerjee [53] showed that gullible users had a greater propensity to share health rumors online. For that reason, Li and Sakamoto [54] suggested that exposing individuals to collective opinion measures may reduce the tendency to share false health messages. To explain the mechanism, the theory of cultural attraction can be utilized. Indeed, this theory postulates that the spread of rumors results from psychological pull factors. The reasons for the propagation of this false information are mainly due to the recruitment of cognitive pull factors that are likely to increase social interactions [55]. Indeed, on these platforms, content creators produce their works with a strong psychological appeal to encourage users to react to them and increase their audiences.

This highlights the need for much more research into the cultural, psychological, and social characteristics of users who

trust and disseminate this content on social media. In particular, it is crucial to better understand the roles of thinking and belief systems. For example, they should also be explored in empirical studies, in particular, relying on mathematical models based on big data and artificial intelligence. This would be of paramount importance, given the potential impact of COVID-19–related misinformation on the public health measures implemented to curb the pandemic [56-61].

### **Conclusions and Recommendations**

The results of this study provided a first demonstration for assessing behaviors related to use, consumption, and sharing of information related to COVID-19 on social media. The SMDS-12 exhibited acceptable psychometric properties and can be utilized in Tunisia and other Arabic countries to explore user engagement with social media, credibility of information, and interaction with information in terms of sharing. Furthermore, the instrument could be translated, culturally validated, and utilized by other scholars from other countries.

# Limitations of the Study

The main limitation of this study is the lack of concurrent validity testing of the instrument with similar instruments. In addition, the instrument has only been tested on a single population living in a single country. Also, the study was observational and not interventional; it did not investigate ways that could reduce credibility and counteract the sharing of rumors and misinformation. Another limitation relates to the study population, as the data were collected from a group of Tunisian social media users. Although we have confirmed the validity and reliability of the measurement instrument for these participants, a certain specificity linked to the cultural context does not allow for the generalization of the results.

# Acknowledgments

This research was funded by Canada's International Development Research Centre (IDRC) (grant 109559-001).

### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

### Multimedia Appendix 1

Scree plot for the principal component analysis of the 12-item Social Media Disinformation Scale (SMDS-12). [PNG File , 16 KB - formative v5i6e27280 app1.png ]

### Multimedia Appendix 2

Discriminant validity of the 12-item Social Media Disinformation Scale (SMDS-12) subscales. [DOCX File, 13 KB - formative\_v5i6e27280\_app2.docx ]

### References

- Shen TS, Chen AZ, Bovonratwet P, Shen CL, Su EP. COVID-19-related internet search patterns among people in the United States: Exploratory analysis. J Med Internet Res 2020 Nov 23;22(11):e22407 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/22407] [Medline: 33147163]
- Farooq A, Laato S, Islam AKMN. Impact of online information on self-isolation intention during the COVID-19 pandemic: Cross-sectional study. J Med Internet Res 2020 May 06;22(5):e19128 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/19128] [Medline: 32330115]

- 3. Molteni F, Ladini R, Biolcati F, Chiesi AM, Dotti Sani GM, Guglielmi S, et al. Searching for comfort in religion: Insecurity and religious behaviour during the COVID-19 pandemic in Italy. Eur Societies 2020 Oct 29;23(sup1):S704-S720. [doi: 10.1080/14616696.2020.1836383]
- 4. Wilson J, Lee J, Fitzgerald HN, Oosterhoff B, Sevi B, Shook NJ. Job insecurity and financial concern during the COVID-19 pandemic are associated with worse mental health. J Occup Environ Med 2020 Sep;62(9):686-691. [doi: 10.1097/JOM.00000000001962] [Medline: 32890205]
- Shah K, Kamrai D, Mekala H, Mann B, Desai K, Patel RS. Focus on mental health during the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic: Applying learnings from the past outbreaks. Cureus 2020 Mar 25;12(3):e7405 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7759/cureus.7405] [Medline: 32337131]
- 6. Zheng D, Luo Q, Ritchie BW. Afraid to travel after COVID-19? Self-protection, coping and resilience against pandemic 'travel fear'. Tour Manag 2021 Apr;83:104261. [doi: 10.1016/j.tourman.2020.104261]
- Malta M, Rimoin AW, Strathdee SA. The coronavirus 2019-nCoV epidemic: Is hindsight 20/20? EClinicalMedicine 2020 Mar;20:100289 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.eclinm.2020.100289] [Medline: 32154505]
- 8. Nicomedes CJC, Avila RMA. An analysis on the panic during COVID-19 pandemic through an online form. J Affect Disord 2020 Nov 01;276:14-22 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020.06.046] [Medline: 32697692]
- Islam MS, Ferdous MZ, Potenza MN. Panic and generalized anxiety during the COVID-19 pandemic among Bangladeshi people: An online pilot survey early in the outbreak. J Affect Disord 2020 Nov 01;276:30-37 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020.06.049] [Medline: 32697713]
- 10. Saurabh K, Ranjan S. Compliance and psychological impact of quarantine in children and adolescents due to Covid-19 pandemic. Indian J Pediatr 2020 Jul;87(7):532-536 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s12098-020-03347-3] [Medline: 32472347]
- Usher K, Jackson D, Durkin J, Gyamfi N, Bhullar N. Pandemic-related behaviours and psychological outcomes: A rapid literature review to explain COVID-19 behaviours. Int J Ment Health Nurs 2020 Dec;29(6):1018-1034. [doi: 10.1111/inm.12790] [Medline: 32860475]
- 12. Yang KC, Torres-Lugo C, Menczer F. Prevalence of low-credibility information on Twitter during the COVID-19 outbreak. In: Proceedings of the 14th International AAAI Conference on Web and Social Media Workshop. 2020 Presented at: 14th International AAAI Conference on Web and Social Media Workshop; June 8-11, 2020; Atlanta, GA p. 1-4 URL: <u>http://workshop-proceedings.icwsm.org/pdf/2020\_16.pdf</u> [doi: 10.36190/2020.16]
- 13. Pickles K, Cvejic E, Nickel B, Copp T, Bonner C, Leask J, et al. COVID-19 misinformation trends in Australia: Prospective longitudinal national survey. J Med Internet Res 2021 Jan 07;23(1):e23805 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/23805] [Medline: 33302250]
- 14. Agley J, Xiao Y. Misinformation about COVID-19: Evidence for differential latent profiles and a strong association with trust in science. BMC Public Health 2021 Jan 07;21(1):89 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-020-10103-x] [Medline: 33413219]
- 15. Grabowski A, Wojciszke B, Bromer P. Ambivalence of attitudes towards people with whom the contact is closed or continued. Pol Psychol Bull 2005;36(2):99-107 [FREE Full text]
- Islam AN, Laato S, Talukder S, Sutinen E. Misinformation sharing and social media fatigue during COVID-19: An affordance and cognitive load perspective. Technol Forecast Soc Change 2020 Oct;159:120201 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.techfore.2020.120201] [Medline: 32834137]
- 17. Alheneidi H, AlSumait L, AlSumait D, Smith AP. Loneliness and problematic internet use during COVID-19 lock-down. Behav Sci (Basel) 2021 Jan 06;11(1):5 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/bs11010005] [Medline: 33418914]
- 18. Cook J, Newberger N, Smalling S. The spread of social distancing. Econ Lett 2020 Nov;196:109511 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.econlet.2020.109511] [Medline: 32904988]
- Jay J, Bor J, Nsoesie EO, Lipson SK, Jones DK, Galea S, et al. Neighbourhood income and physical distancing during the COVID-19 pandemic in the United States. Nat Hum Behav 2020 Dec;4(12):1294-1302 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41562-020-00998-2] [Medline: <u>33144713</u>]
- 20. Zhong B, Huang Y, Liu Q. Mental health toll from the coronavirus: Social media usage reveals Wuhan residents' depression and secondary trauma in the COVID-19 outbreak. Comput Human Behav 2021 Jan;114:106524 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2020.106524] [Medline: 32836728]
- 21. Wang Y, McKee M, Torbica A, Stuckler D. Systematic literature review on the spread of health-related misinformation on social media. Soc Sci Med 2019 Nov;240:112552 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2019.112552] [Medline: 31561111]
- 22. Berriche M, Altay S. Internet users engage more with phatic posts than with health misinformation on Facebook. Palgrave Commun 2020 Apr 28;6(1):1-9. [doi: 10.1057/s41599-020-0452-1]
- 23. Cinelli M, Quattrociocchi W, Galeazzi A, Valensise CM, Brugnoli E, Schmidt AL, et al. The COVID-19 social media infodemic. Sci Rep 2020 Oct 06;10(1):16598 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-73510-5] [Medline: 33024152]
- Cuan-Baltazar J, Muñoz-Perez MJ, Robledo-Vega C, Pérez-Zepeda MF, Soto-Vega E. Misinformation of COVID-19 on the internet: Infodemiology study. JMIR Public Health Surveill 2020 Apr 09;6(2):e18444 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/18444] [Medline: 32250960]

- 25. Miller JM. Do COVID-19 conspiracy theory beliefs form a monological belief system? Can J Polit Sci 2020 May 21;53(2):319-326. [doi: 10.1017/s0008423920000517]
- 26. Uscinski JE, Enders AM, Klofstad C, Seelig M, Funchion J, Everett C, et al. Why do people believe COVID-19 conspiracy theories? Misinf Rev 2020 Apr 28;1(3):1-12 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.37016/mr-2020-015]
- Agley J, Xiao Y, Thompson EE, Golzarri-Arroyo L. COVID-19 misinformation prophylaxis: Protocol for a randomized trial of a brief informational intervention. JMIR Res Protoc 2020 Dec 07;9(12):e24383 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/24383] [Medline: 33175694]
- 28. Lewis M. Addiction and the brain: Development, not disease. Neuroethics 2017;10(1):7-18 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s12152-016-9293-4] [Medline: 28725282]
- 29. Moscadelli A, Albora G, Biamonte MA, Giorgetti D, Innocenzio M, Paoli S, et al. Fake news and Covid-19 in Italy: Results of a quantitative observational study. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2020 Aug 12;17(16):5850 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph17165850] [Medline: 32806772]
- 30. Rosnow RL. Inside rumor: A personal journey. Am Psychol 1991;46(5):484-496. [doi: 10.1037/0003-066x.46.5.484]
- Alyami M, Henning M, Krägeloh U, Alyami H. Psychometric evaluation of the Arabic version of the Fear of COVID-19 Scale. Int J Ment Health Addict 2020 May 16:1-14 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11469-020-00316-x] [Medline: 32427217]
- 32. Ahorsu DK, Lin C, Imani V, Saffari M, Griffiths MD, Pakpour AH. The Fear of COVID-19 Scale: Development and initial validation. Int J Ment Health Addict 2020 Mar 27:1-9. [doi: <u>10.1007/s11469-020-00270-8</u>]
- Cohen S. Perceived stress in a probability sample of the United States. In: Spacapan S, Oskamp S, editors. The Social Psychology of Health: The Claremont Symposium on Applied Social Psychology. Claremont, CA: SAGE Publications Inc; 1988:31-67.
- 34. Almadi T, Cathers I, Hamdan Mansour AM, Chow CM. An Arabic version of the perceived stress scale: Translation and validation study. Int J Nurs Stud 2012 Jan;49(1):84-89. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2011.07.012</u>] [Medline: <u>21851941</u>]
- 35. Hawi NS. Arabic validation of the internet addiction test. Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw 2013 Mar;16(3):200-204. [doi: 10.1089/cyber.2012.0426] [Medline: 23441685]
- 36. Young KS. Internet Addiction Test (IAT). Wood Dale, IL: Stoelting; 2017. URL: <u>https://www.stoeltingco.com/media/</u> wysiwyg/IAT\_web\_sample.pdf [accessed 2021-05-06]
- Finney SJ, DiStefano C. Nonnormal and categorical data in structural equation modeling. In: Hancock GR, Mueller RO, editors. Structural Equation Modeling: A Second Course. 2nd edition. Charlotte, NC: Information Age Publishing Inc; 2013.
- 38. Tabachnick BG, Fidell LS. Using Multivariate Statistics. 5th edition. Boston, MA: Pearson Education Inc; 2007.
- 39. Hair JF, Anderson RE, Tatham RL, Black WC. Multivariate Data Analysis. 4th edition. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice-Hall Inc; 1995.
- 40. Westfall PH, Henning KSS. Understanding Advanced Statistical Methods. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press; 2013.
- 41. Ware JE, Gandek B. Methods for testing data quality, scaling assumptions, and reliability. J Clin Epidemiol 1998 Nov;51(11):945-952. [doi: 10.1016/s0895-4356(98)00085-7]
- 42. Fornell C, Larcker DF. Evaluating structural equation models with unobservable variables and measurement error. J Mark Res 1981 Feb;18(1):39-50. [doi: 10.2307/3151312]
- 43. Priego-Parra BA, Triana-Romero A, Pinto-Galvez SM, Duran-Ramos C, Salas-Nolasco O, Manriquez Reyes M, et al. Anxiety, depression, attitudes, and internet addiction during the initial phase of the 2019 coronavirus disease (COVID-19) epidemic: A cross-sectional study in México. medRxiv. Preprint posted online on May 15, 2020. [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1101/2020.05.10.20095844]
- 44. Maroco J, Maroco AL, Campos JADB. Student's academic efficacy or inefficacy? An example on how to evaluate the psychometric properties of a measuring instrument and evaluate the effects of item wording. Open J Stat 2014;04(06):484-493. [doi: 10.4236/ojs.2014.46046]
- 45. Zhen L, Nan Y, Pham B. College students coping with COVID-19: Stress-buffering effects of self-disclosure on social media and parental support. Commun Res Rep 2021 Jan 08;38(1):23-31. [doi: 10.1080/08824096.2020.1870445]
- 46. Tsao SF, Chen H, Tisseverasinghe T, Yang Y, Li L, Butt ZA. What social media told us in the time of COVID-19: A scoping review. Lancet Digit Health 2021 Mar;3(3):e175-e194 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S2589-7500(20)30315-0] [Medline: 33518503]
- Onuora C, Torti Obasi N, Ezeah GH, Gever VC. Effect of dramatized health messages: Modelling predictors of the impact of COVID-19 YouTube animated cartoons on health behaviour of social media users in Nigeria. Int Sociol 2020 Oct 26;36(1):124-140. [doi: 10.1177/0268580920961333]
- 48. Ferrara E. #COVID-19 on Twitter: Bots, conspiracies, and social media activism. ArXiv. Preprint posted online on April 20, 2020. [FREE Full text]
- 49. Apuke OD, Omar B. Fake news and COVID-19: Modelling the predictors of fake news sharing among social media users. Telematics Inform 2021 Jan;56:101475. [doi: 10.1016/j.tele.2020.101475]
- 50. He Q, Fan B, Xie B, Liao Y, Han X, Chen Y, et al. Mental health conditions among the general population, healthcare workers and quarantined population during the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic. Psychol Health Med 2020 Dec 30:1-13. [doi: 10.1080/13548506.2020.1867320] [Medline: 33378219]

- 51. Su Z, McDonnell D, Wen J, Kozak M, Abbas J, Šegalo S, et al. Mental health consequences of COVID-19 media coverage: The need for effective crisis communication practices. Global Health 2021 Jan 05;17(1):4 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12992-020-00654-4] [Medline: 33402169]
- McCracken LM, Badinlou F, Buhrman M, Brocki KC. The role of psychological flexibility in the context of COVID-19: Associations with depression, anxiety, and insomnia. J Contextual Behav Sci 2021 Jan;19:28-35. [doi: 10.1016/j.jcbs.2020.11.003]
- Chua AY, Banerjee S. To share or not to share: The role of epistemic belief in online health rumors. Int J Med Inform 2017 Dec;108:36-41. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2017.08.010] [Medline: 29132629]
- 54. Li H, Sakamoto Y. Re-tweet count matters: Social influences on sharing of disaster-related tweets. J Homel Secur Emerg Manag 2015;12(3):737-761. [doi: 10.1515/jhsem-2014-0081]
- 55. Acerbi A. Cognitive attraction and online misinformation. Palgrave Commun 2019 Feb 12;5(1):1-7. [doi: 10.1057/s41599-019-0224-y]
- 56. Zheng GW, Siddik AB, Yan C, Masukujjaman M. Official and unofficial media information and the public panic during the COVID-19 pandemic in China: An empirical analysis. Rev Argent Clínica Psicológica 2020;29(5):1538-1551 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.24205/03276716.2020.1151]
- 57. Harris G. Combating the spread of health misinformation on social media. Br J Healthc Manag 2021 Jan 02;27(1):40-42. [doi: 10.12968/bjhc.2020.0128]
- 58. Heydari ST, Zarei L, Sadati AK, Moradi N, Akbari M, Mehralian G, et al. The effect of risk communication on preventive and protective behaviours during the COVID-19 outbreak: Mediating role of risk perception. BMC Public Health 2021 Jan 06;21(1):54 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-020-10125-5] [Medline: 33407302]
- Nazione S, Perrault E, Pace K. Impact of information exposure on perceived risk, efficacy, and preventative behaviors at the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic in the United States. Health Commun 2021 Jan;36(1):23-31. [doi: 10.1080/10410236.2020.1847446] [Medline: <u>33183090</u>]
- 60. Painter M, Qiu T. Political beliefs affect compliance with COVID-19 social distancing orders. J Econ Behav Organ 2021:1 (forthcoming). [doi: 10.2139/ssrn.3569098]
- 61. Ienca M, Vayena E. On the responsible use of digital data to tackle the COVID-19 pandemic. Nat Med 2020 Apr;26(4):463-464 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41591-020-0832-5] [Medline: 32284619]

# Abbreviations

AGFI: adjusted goodness-of-fit index AVE: average variance extracted CFI: comparative fit index GFI: goodness-of-fit index IAT: Internet Addiction Test IDRC: International Development Research Centre KMO: Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin NFI: normed fit index NPI: nonpharmaceutical intervention PSS-10: 10-item Perceived Stress Scale RMSEA: root mean square error of approximation SMDS-12: 12-item Social Media Disinformation Scale SRMR: standardized root mean residual TLI: Tucker-Lewis index UNESCO: United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 19.01.21; peer-reviewed by H Dai, R Treskes, SL Lee; comments to author 16.02.21; revised version received 03.03.21; accepted 03.05.21; published 09.06.21.

Please cite as:

Guelmani N, Ben Khalifa M, Chalghaf N, Kong JD, Amayra T, Wu J, Azaiez F, Bragazzi NL Development of the 12-Item Social Media Disinformation Scale and its Association With Social Media Addiction and Mental Health Related to COVID-19 in Tunisia: Survey-Based Pilot Case Study JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e27280 URL: https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e27280 doi:10.2196/27280 PMID:34021742

©Noomen Guelmami, Maher Ben Khalifa, Nasr Chalghaf, Jude Dzevela Kong, Tannoubi Amayra, Jianhong Wu, Fairouz Azaiez, Nicola Luigi Bragazzi. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 09.06.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

**Original Paper** 

# Perceptions of Endocrine Therapy in African-American Breast Cancer Survivors: Mixed Methods Study

Sara Donevant<sup>1\*</sup>, BSN, PhD; Sue P Heiney<sup>1\*</sup>, BSN, PhD; Cassandra Wineglass<sup>1\*</sup>, MA, PhD; Benjamin Schooley<sup>2\*</sup>, MBA, PhD; Akanksha Singh<sup>2\*</sup>, MS; Jingxi Sheng<sup>1\*</sup>, BSN

<sup>1</sup>College of Nursing, University of South Carolina, Columbia, SC, United States

<sup>2</sup>Department of Integrated Information Technology, College of Engineering and Computing, University of South Carolina, Columbia, SC, United States \*all authors contributed equally

**Corresponding Author:** 

Sara Donevant, BSN, PhD College of Nursing University of South Carolina 1601 Greene Street Columbia, SC, 29208 United States Phone: 1 803 777 7672 Email: Donevant@mailbox.sc.edu

# Abstract

**Background:** Although the incidence of breast cancer is lower in African-American women than in White women, African-American women have a decreased survival rate. The difference in survival rate may stem from poor endocrine therapy adherence, which increases breast cancer recurrence. Therefore, accessible and culturally sensitive interventions to increase endocrine therapy adherence are necessary.

**Objective:** The purpose of this concurrent convergent mixed methods study was to provide further data to guide the development of the proposed culturally sensitive mHealth app, STORY+ for African-American women with breast cancer.

**Methods:** We recruited 20 African-American women diagnosed with estrogen-positive breast cancer and currently prescribed endocrine therapy. We used a concurrent convergent data collection method to (1) assess the use of smartphones and computers related to health care and (2) identify foundational aspects to support endocrine therapy adherence for incorporation in a mobile health app.

**Results:** Overwhelmingly, the participants preferred using smartphones to using computers for health care. Communicating with health care providers and pharmacies was the most frequent health care use of smartphones, followed by exercise tracking, and accessing the patient portal. We identified 4 aspects of adherence to endocrine therapy and smartphone use for incorporation in app development. The factors that emerged from the integrated qualitative and quantitative data were (1) willingness to use, (2) side effects, (3) social connection, and (4) beliefs about endocrine therapy.

**Conclusions:** Further research is needed to develop a culturally sensitive app for African-American women with breast cancer to improve adherence to endocrine therapy. Our work strongly suggests that this population would use the app to connect with other African-American breast cancer survivors and manage endocrine therapy.

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e23884) doi:10.2196/23884

# **KEYWORDS**

mHealth; breast cancer survivors; medication adherence; cultural considerations; mobile health applications

# Introduction

Breast cancer is the second-most common cancer among women in the United States and results in the second-highest cancer death rates [1]. Earlier detection through screening and advances in treatments have contributed to an increase in the 5- and

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e23884

10-year breast cancer survival rates [2]; however, African-American women have decreased survival rates and higher mortality rates compared to White women despite lower incidence rates [3]. One potential explanation for the differences in survival rates and mortality among women with estrogen-positive breast cancer is adherence to long-term

endocrine therapy, which may last for 5 to 10 years [4]. Endocrine therapy, which blocks estrogen receptors in breast cancer cells, can reduce recurrence by 40% and lower the risk of dying by one-third [5]. Overall, African-American women have low long-term adherence rates to endocrine therapy [6,7]. Therefore, interventions to assist this vulnerable population with endocrine therapy adherence are essential [4,8].

We conducted a literature review on interventions that improve endocrine therapy adherence, which identified 2 consequential gaps in existing intervention research: use of education only interventions and a lack of cultural adaptations [9-16]. Next, we examined commercially available cancer and medication adherence mobile health (mHealth) apps as a possible option to address these gaps and assist African-American women with endocrine therapy adherence [17-21]. Unfortunately, available cancer and medication adherence apps also have several areas that cause concern: (1) a lack of adequate development or testing in clinical practice [17,22,23], (2) a lack of input from patients or providers resulting in significant usability problems [24-26], and (3) a lack of scientifically valid information, with the majority of cancer-related apps created to promote a pharmacy or organization and not to assist African-American women with endocrine therapy adherence [20,26]. Importantly, over 90% of medication adherence mHealth apps were simple reminders and not effective in improving adherence [20]. Cancer mHealth apps research has explored functionality and acceptability, but only one evaluated effectiveness or clinical outcomes [17-19].

To address these gaps in endocrine therapy adherence and mHealth apps for medication adherence, we propose to extend our earlier teleconferencing work, Sisters Tell Others and Revive Yourself (STORY), a culturally tailored intervention that connected African-American women with breast cancer to support and educated them during initial diagnosis and treatment [27]. We wanted to explore how STORY components could assist endocrine therapy adherence in a more accessible platform such as an mHealth app. The purpose of this concurrent convergent mixed methods study [28] was to provide further data to guide the development of the proposed culturally sensitive mHealth app, STORY+ for African-American women with breast cancer. Our initial work has been reported [14,29-34]. The aims of this study were to (1) assess the use of smartphones and computers related to health care in African-American women with breast cancer, and (2) identify foundational aspects to support endocrine therapy adherence for incorporation in an mHealth app.

# Methods

## Overview

The concurrent convergent mixed methods design of our study incorporated the simultaneous collection, analysis, and interpretation of qualitative and quantitative data to inform the design of an mHealth app to increase adherence to endocrine therapy in African-American women with breast cancer. We recruited 20 African-American women with a diagnosis of estrogen-positive breast cancer and prescribed endocrine therapy. We conducted an ex-ante study (ie, before the design and construction of the app). Prior to the start of the study, the

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e23884
```

University of South Carolina Institutional Review Board approved the study (Pro00085557).

#### Sampling Strategy and Inclusion Criteria

We combined 2 sampling schemes (ie, criterion and convenience) to select our sample. These strategies followed the works of Onwuegbuzie and Collins [35], who established typologies for sampling designs in social science research and suggested appropriate sample sizes. We also used design science research criteria (ie, innovation and evolution) to establish the legitimacy of our sample size. A sample of 20 or fewer for formative research is often employed [36,37]. We needed women who met our enrollment criteria, but we wanted heterogeneity in the sample. We used a random number generator to select potential participants for recruitment from a pool of 1577 patients. We reviewed the potential participants' medical records and selected the first 50 patients who met the inclusion criteria. This process created our first batch of potential participants. From previous recruitment efforts, we had estimated that 50 potential participants would supply our recruitment goal of 20 participants. We planned to recruit until we reached informational redundancy [38,39] (ie, both qualitative and quantitative data provided no new information). If the initial batch did not supply sufficient participants, the process was to be repeated, and data collection would be continued.

Inclusion criteria were African-American women who were 18 years of age or older, had been diagnosed with estrogen-positive breast cancer in the past 10 years, were currently prescribed endocrine therapy, and were able to speak and understand English. Reading English was not a requirement because the researcher read the informed consent and questions to the participants. Exclusion criteria were individuals with a diagnosis of psychosis, with significant cognitive impairment, or undergoing current treatment for another cancer excluding squamous cell (any type).

#### **Recruitment and Retention**

Women who were eligible based on the inclusion and exclusion criteria were recruited through a comprehensive oncology outpatient practice in South Carolina (500 new breast cancer patients annually). Our recruitment plan was covered by a Health Information Portability and Accountability Act waiver with the oncology outpatient cancer physician practice. We used the Heiney-Adams Recruitment Framework to guide our recruitment efforts [40]. The principal investigator mailed a personal letter to potential participants with a colorful and readable frequently asked questions flyer using the STORY logo (designed by focus group participants in STORY). Within 5 days of the mailing, a racially concordant researcher contacted participants by telephone. The researcher followed a script that asked if the patient had a diagnosis of estrogen-positive breast cancer and had been prescribed tamoxifen or an aromatase inhibitor. To improve recruitment and retention in the study, participants received a gift card for their time and effort. We successfully recruited 20 patients. From the original list of 50 potential participants, 19 could not be reached by phone or mail, 7 declined to participate, 2 did not meet the criteria, and 2 were not contacted because accrual was reached (Figure 1).

XSL•FO RenderX





# **Data Collection**

The research team, which included nurses and software computer engineers, developed a data collection tool using Research Electronic Data Capture (REDCap [41]; Vanderbilt University). The data collection tool consisted of a qualitative interview guide (Multimedia Appendix 1) and quantitative (open- and closed-ended) questions (Multimedia Appendix 2). Data collection, which we digitally recorded, began with structured questions and ended with semistructured questions. The researcher pilot tested the REDCap data collection tool with 1 African-American breast cancer survivor before the data collection process, resulting in minor adjustments of the tool based upon the feedback. This pilot testing established the ease of data collection using REDCap during an interview, not reliability or validity.

Once the researcher received verbal consent from the participant during the telephone conversations, she scheduled the assessment appointment at the participant's choice of location, usually in the home or a meeting room in the local library. During this assessment appointment, the researcher (1) read all interview questions to the participant, (2) recorded the responses directly in the REDCap data collection tool via a tablet for the quantitative questions, and (3) digitally recorded the qualitative interview questions and participants' responses. A professional transcriptionist transcribed the deidentified recordings verbatim.

### **Data Analysis**

### Quantitative Data

We exported the data from REDCap into Excel (Microsoft Inc) for analysis. For continuous variables, we calculated means,

standard deviations, and ranges. For categorical variables, we calculated frequencies and percentages.

# Qualitative Data

We used thematic analysis [42]. No software was used to analyze the qualitative data. Briefly, data analysis began by listening to the digital recordings of participant responses to the semistructured interview questions. Next, 2 researchers read and reread the transcripts and began open line by line coding of the data. We coded significant and salient phrases and words within each transcript. We identified and discussed themes from these codes until consensus was reached.

# **Data Integration**

For clarity, we organized the findings by aim. Most findings are reported with quantitative data and supporting qualitative quotes [39]. In some instances, qualitative themes emerged that were not explored in the quantitative questions and vice versa. In these cases, the results are displayed separately.

# Results

## **Sample Description**

Participants' (n=20; age: mean 59 years, SD 10) mean length of time diagnosed with breast cancer was 4 years (Table 1). Most participants had stage 1A breast cancer (9/20, 45%). Over 50% of participants (11/20) were prescribed tamoxifen, which did not change during their treatment period. The length of time on endocrine therapy was evenly split between more than 2 years (10/20, 50%) and 2 years or less (10/20, 50%).



Table 1. Participant characteristics.

Characteristics	Value, n (%)		
Age (years)			
Mean (SD)	59 (10)		
Range	46-82		
Length of time since diagnosis/recurrence <sup>a</sup> (years)			
Mean (SD)	4 (4)		
Range	1-17		
Stage of breast cancer			
0	4 (20)		
1A	9 (45)		
1B	2 (10)		
2A	1 (5)		
2B	2 (10)		
3A	1 (5)		
4	1 (5)		
Medications			
Tamoxifen	11 (55)		
Anastrozole	8 (40)		
Letrazole	1 (5)		
Length of time on medication			
<2 years	10 (50)		
>2 years	10 (50)		
Always prescribed same medication			
Yes	14 (70)		
No	6 (30)		

<sup>a</sup>One patient experienced recurrence within the past 5 years.

# Smartphone and Computer Use for Health Care

Overwhelmingly, the participants preferred using a smartphone for health care over using a computer.

*I pretty much do everything on my cell phone because it's always with me.* [Participant 13]

With respect to health care use, participants reported communicating with health care providers and pharmacies most frequently, followed by exercise tracking, and accessing the patient portal (Table 2).



Table 2. Smartphone and computer use for health care.

Donevant et al

Use	Quantitative data		Qualitative data
	Smartphone, n (%)	Computer, n (%)	Quotations
Communicate with health care provider	15 (75)	2 (10)	" sometimes my provider will send me a message or tell me they put something out on the portal for me to go and check." [Participant 14]
Communicate with pharmacy	13 (65)	0 (0)	"My pharmacist will contact me via text mail." [Participant 7]
			"The prompt I got today from [the pharmacy] was that I needed a refill and would I allow them to call my doctor. Of course which I said yes." [Participant 12]
Exercise tracking, coaching, or management	7 (35)	0 (0)	"The only health aid I use is a Fitbit to help keep up with my steps. I'm supposed to make at least 10,000 steps per day." [Participant 13]
			"I got an Engage app from my job with my insurance and stuff. It is a program we have on the job. Well, I went through the program with a dieting thing. It was to help you lose weight and it sets you up. They send you a scale. You weigh every day. They give you a coach. She logs in every day with different ideas and stuff for you to do meals to plan and it also helps, but my insurance will come down instead of paying a surcharge." [Participant 18]
Patient portal	7 (35)	7 (35)	"I use my patient portal" [Participant 1]
			"But I do a lot on my phone. If I want to check my medical records, I go to the patient portal for the various organizations that have my medical records where I can check." [Participant 19]
Connect or manage wearables	5 (25)	0 (0)	"I'm just mainly [monitor] with my Fitbit." [Participant 5]
			"I use the Fitbit" [Participant 19]
Medication management or reminders	2 (10)	0 (0)	"Just the pharmacy's [app] for my medication reminders." [Participant 13]
			"I feel if I ever took that reminder off my phone that I will miss one [medica- tion dose]"[Participant 4]
Diet tracking, coaching, or management	1 (5)	3 (15)	"Samsung app for fitness. You can put your food diet, your food thing in it. It counts your calories, your steps, your pulse, and all of that. And it's the app that automatically comes with a Samsung phone."[Participant 1]
			"Well, I went through the program with a dieting thing. It was to help you lose weight and it sets you up. They send you a scale. You weigh every day. They give you a coach. She logs in every day with different ideas and stuff for you to do meals to plan and it also helps, but my insurance will come down instead of paying a surcharge." [Participant 20]
Personal health records	1 (5)	2 (10)	a

<sup>a</sup>A representative quotation is not available.

#### Factors

#### **Overview**

We identified 4 aspects of endocrine therapy adherence and smartphone use that may guide app development. The factors that emerged from the integrated qualitative and quantitative data included (1) willingness to use, (2) side effects, (3) social connection, and (4) beliefs about endocrine therapy.

# Willingness to Use an App for African-American Breast Cancer Survivors

The majority of participants (17/20, 85%) stated that they would use an mHealth app to assist with endocrine therapy adherence. They specifically mentioned an online community of other breast cancer survivors and African-American–tailored graphics (ie, emojis, videos). The qualitative interviews provided additional details on the importance of an app for African-American breast cancer survivors: On the [majority] of apps, I see it is still [for] white [women]. I don't normally see too many blacks that I can reach out to. I would love to share with an African-American female [with breast cancer] what I've been through. Every app that I [see] dealing with breast cancer shows white [women], and I would love to talk to African-American women, women of color. [Participant 9]

I think the other thing is, when people see people like them, not like they're not out there, because they are, then they'd be more apt to reach out. [Participant 19]

It seems like a lot of women that have it [breast cancer] are ashamed to tell other women about it [breast cancer] and you're in the dark when you get it [breast cancer]. The only time you find out about it [breast cancer] is when you're in a conversation and you say, oh, I had breast cancer, then she'll share hers [diagnosis] with you. But other than that, they [women] don't like to say this, open with their answer.
No, and so to see that and then see what other women are going through it'll help me too. [Participant 8]

I feel like with my story...Sharing it [my story] with others... it [sharing my story] might brighten their day or it might help them to understand that just because you had cancer it's nothing to be ashamed of. [Participant 10]

#### Self-Reported Side Effects

In patients' self-reported experiences (ie, reports were not verified by health care providers) with the side effects of endocrine therapy (Table 3), almost one-third (6/20, 30%) of participants stated that they called their health care provider about the side effects, with 15% (3/20) reporting they made an appointment with the health care provider to discuss the side effects. In addition, 80% (16/20) of participants talked with a family member, friend, or significant other about the side effects.

Table 3.	Self-reported	endocrine	therapy	side	effects
----------	---------------	-----------	---------	------	---------

Side effect	Quantitative data, n (%)	Quotations
Hot flashes	17 (85)	"So, sometimes I put a cool towel around my neck, but it's just, I just get hot around the neck. It's like I'm on fire." [Participant 13]
		"I've been using a lot of air-conditioning. But it [hot flash] doesn't last long, and I usually get it like once a day. At any time. And it will last about like 15 minutes and then it's gone." [Participant 6]
Bone/joint pain	13 (65)	"I actually had to get referrals for some of the pain. I actually had to end up going to the orthopedic. I had problems with my left hand. The pain, I couldn't hold anything [in my left hand] and I was in severe pain." [Participant 5]
		"So, then you look up like, all right, God, my joints are hurting, what the hell?" [Participant 12]
Fatigue or lack of energy	11 (55)	"The biggest problem I had with side effects, the fatigue I would try to kind of pace myself when I'm doing certain things especially after coming home from work instead of just getting right into it doing some laundry or doing, I kind of take a break." [Participant 14]
Weight gain	11 (55)	"I have gained much weight. I hate it [weight gain]." [Participant 17]
		"I can deal with the weight gain because I can continue to walk and it just helps me see the nature outside," [Participant 4]
Hair thinning	10 (50)	"I did experience, um, hair thinning." [Participant 14]
Increased sweating	10 (50)	a
Mood swings	10 (50)	_
Leg cramps	9 (45)	_
Dry skin and/or eyes	7 (35)	_
Insomnia	7 (35)	"some nights I sleep five hours and some, but I know if I got at least six to seven hours that was a good night's sleep for me because there are times when I'm say, but if I'm up at night" [Participant 14]
Loss of sex drive	7 (35)	"God, I gotta have an orgasm, this is ridiculous. This is pissing me off. That almost made me quit." [Participant 12]
		"I do have to say that I was gonna talk to my doctor about, you know, anything she can do with the part that comes to like my loss of sex drive, like, that bothers me a lot because I know, like, I know my husband, not that anything is wrong." [Participant 4]
Constipation	6 (30)	_
Depression	5 (25)	"When I started, the depression almost made me quit. For sure. Because I'm not a depressed person." [Participant 12]
Vaginal dryness	5 (25)	_
Vision problems	5 (25)	_
Back pain	4 (20)	"Like I said, when I get up in the morning my back hurts me, but I go to a 9:30 class at Rec Center, so by the time I've exercised it's not hurting me as much. I was leaving there [Rec Center] and going two times per week for the dry needling and stuff and that has helped" [Participant 15]
Dizziness	4 (20)	"It, um, you do get a little dizzy with them because taking this medicine. I mean, I think any hormone medicine will make you feel a little woozy at times. Um, it's not, it's not every day though. I don't have it every day. I have it every now and then." [Participant 8]

<sup>a</sup>A representative quotation is not available.

#### Beliefs About the Value of Endocrine Therapy

There were many motivators, especially external motivators, for patients to continue endocrine therapy. The most prominent motivators for endocrine therapy adherence included the desire to live longer (16/20); children (16/20); and religion, church, or a higher being (15/20). Other motivators included friends (13/20), extended family (13/20), and significant others (11/20). Both quantitative and qualitative data demonstrated similar themes in motivators to endocrine therapy adherence, including increased mortality and living for family.

I must say life. Because if I didn't take it [endocrine therapy] then that would make my body more [likely] to [have] what I've had in the past. So, when it was told for me to take it this is what I needed to do and that is what I'm doing. So, I'm gonna say life. [Participant 9]

I take it [endocrine therapy] because they say I need to take it with the medicine because of my situation with the breast cancer. They say I have to take that. I didn't want to take it because I said I felt like it wasn't helping me. And she [the doctor] said, well, yeah you need to take that. You have to continue taking that. So, I'm just saying like they say I gotta take it [endocrine therapy]...Because it's gonna help me with my situation. I'm gonna do what I gotta do for me. [Participant 3]

Well, I was told that it [endocrine therapy] would keep the cancer away. It's a tool, I guess it's considered as a chemo agent to keep your hormonal level down. That's what was explained to me. [Participant 13]

Well, I know I have to take it [endocrine therapy] for the next five years. That's part of my treatment. I know it's part of my treatment, so I'm willing to do whatever is necessary to follow the treatment plan. [Participant 6]

My family. My grandson. My son. I only have one child and he's everything to me and my grandson he gives me life. My grandson gave me life. I got diagnosed the year that he was born, so it was like, oh no, no, no, no, no, I gots to be here for him. [Participant 4]

#### Social Connections

Qualitative and quantitative data supported the importance of connecting with other African-American women with breast cancer. Participants valued digital social connections and face-to-face interactions. They used smartphones to connect and interact with other individuals including survivors with 85% (17/20) using smartphones for communication (ie, phone calls, email, texting). Participants used smartphones for instant messaging (12/20, 60%) and video chat (11/20, 55%). Facebook was the most popular social media platform among the participants, with 65% (13/20) accessing Facebook via smartphones and computers. Instagram was the next popular social media platform with 25% (5/20) accessing Instagram via smartphone and 15% (3/20) accessing Instagram via computer.

Interviews with the participants substantiated the variety of ways African-American women with breast cancer connected and their importance in the breast cancer survivor journey. Participants discussed the need for connecting with other African-American breast cancer survivors and described supportive interactions.

We talk a lot because actually in my job it was quite a few of us that were diagnosed in a short period of time. [Participant 1]

We have a group, we still hang together after 52, 53 years, two of my friends, my classmates had already had breast cancer, so I certainly reached out to them to talk to them, and that helped, so that was it. [Participant 5]

Well, I only have a few people I connect with and we all work in the same department. We [are] all in it with the same type of cancer. [Participant 13]

I'd like to see what other women, African-American women are going through and see if, you know, if we're all going through the same thing or if it's, you know, different. [Participant 2]

It's [Livestrong Program] through the Y[MCA] and that's a program that you should share with other African-American women. I was the only African-American woman that was in it. [Participant 15]

But, when you talk to people, you really want support not sympathy. A person can empathize with you... But not sympathy and you need someone that's going to be strong in the support when you are talking to them. [Participant 5]

Find their support system whether it be family, group meetings and there's a bunch of them out there... Church, co-workers. I had all of that. Definitely, don't try to go through it alone. Have your support system. That's the most important thing because there's gonna be days you just feel like, why me. I mean, there's just gonna be those days. That's all I can say. You need somebody to talk to, talk to them. [Participant 17]

## Discussion

#### General

This concurrent convergent mixed methods study provides additional data to guide the development of STORY+. We assessed the use of smartphones and computers related to health care in the targeted population and identified foundational mHealth features to support endocrine therapy adherence. Overall, the participants used smartphones more frequently than they used computers for health care, especially for social interactions such as social media, messaging, and email. This finding suggests that African-American breast cancer survivors are more likely to use an mHealth app than they are to use a webpage via computer to assist with endocrine therapy adherence. Overwhelmingly, African-American breast cancer survivors use smartphones in managing their health through

communication with their health care provider and pharmacy to promote their health.

While fewer participants reported using mHealth apps for medication tracking and health care record management, qualitative results indicated that combining social and cultural features with mHealth functions would be desirable. Other researchers have also identified the need for racial and cultural content [43-49]. Our study verifies that African-American women do not have a culturally sensitive mechanism to track symptoms and discuss symptoms with health care providers. We concluded that foundational STORY+ features should include the following: an online community of other African-American breast cancer survivors, tailored graphics, information about prescribed endocrine therapy and its potential side effects, and a method for tracking side effects, sharing the frequency and severity of side effects, and recording medication adherence. Previous findings [50] have also supported the use interactive features to promote positive of health outcomes-participants overwhelmingly supported the development of an mHealth app to assist with endocrine therapy

adherence and social connections with other African-American breast cancer survivors.

#### Limitations

The study is not generalizable beyond the immediate needs of the research team; however, the results of this study provide a foundation for the mHealth app development, STORY+. The literature suggests that other breast cancer survivors experience similar endocrine therapy side effects [51].

#### Conclusions

This concurrent convergent mixed methods study established the use of smartphones by African-American breast cancer survivors for health care management. We also identified foundational features for STORY+. This work recognizes that one app does not fit all needs and advances the science of cultural and racial appropriate mHealth apps. Future work will include the development and testing of STORY+ for African-American breast cancer survivors to promote endocrine therapy adherence.

#### Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank South Carolina Oncology Associates for their assistance with participant recruitment.

Funding was provided by the Colleges of Nursing and Engineering and Computing Collaborative Seed Fund, University of South Carolina and Dunn-Shealy Professorship, College of Nursing, and University of South Carolina.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Qualitative questions. [DOCX File , 16 KB - formative v5i6e23884 app1.docx ]

#### Multimedia Appendix 2 Quantitative survey. [DOCX File , 33 KB - formative v5i6e23884 app2.docx ]

#### References

- 1. Breastcancer.org. U.S. breast cancer statistics. 2021 Feb 04. URL: <u>https://www.breastcancer.org/symptoms/understand\_bc/</u> <u>statistics</u> [accessed 2021-05-31]
- 2. National Cancer Institute. Cancer stat facts: female breast cancer. Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results. URL: https://seer.cancer.gov/statfacts/html/breast.html [accessed 2021-05-31]
- Richardson LC, Henley SJ, Miller JW, Massetti G, Thomas CC. Patterns and trends in age-specific black-white differences in breast cancer incidence and mortality - United States, 1999-2014. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2016 Oct 14;65(40):1093-1098 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6540a1] [Medline: 27736827]
- 4. Makubate B, Donnan PT, Dewar JA, Thompson AM, McCowan C. Surgical treatment of lung carcinoma. Surg Clin North Am 1987 Oct;67(5):909-1120. [Medline: <u>3629427</u>]
- Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Collaborative Group (EBCTCG). Effects of chemotherapy and hormonal therapy for early breast cancer on recurrence and 15-year survival: an overview of the randomised trials. Lancet 2005;365(9472):1687-1717. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(05)66544-0] [Medline: 15894097]
- Roberts MC, Wheeler SB, Reeder-Hayes K. Racial/ethnic and socioeconomic disparities in endocrine therapy adherence in breast cancer: a systematic review. Am J Public Health 2015 Jul;105 Suppl 3:e4-e15 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2014.302490] [Medline: 25905855]

- Hershman DL, Tsui J, Wright JD, Coromilas EJ, Tsai WY, Neugut AI. Household net worth, racial disparities, and hormonal therapy adherence among women with early-stage breast cancer. J Clin Oncol 2015 Mar 20;33(9):1053-1059 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2014.58.3062] [Medline: 25691670]
- Lee Y, Park YR, Lee JS, Lee SB, Chung IY, Son BH, et al. Prescription refill gap of endocrine treatment from electronic medical records as a prognostic factor in breast cancer patients. J Breast Cancer 2019 Mar;22(1):86-95 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4048/jbc.2019.22.e14] [Medline: 30941236]
- Germino BB, Mishel MH, Alexander GR, Jenerette C, Blyler D, Baker C, et al. Engaging African American breast cancer survivors in an intervention trial: culture, responsiveness and community. J Cancer Surviv 2011 Mar;5(1):82-91 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11764-010-0150-x] [Medline: 20886374]
- 10. Kreuter M, Haughton L. Integrating culture into health information for African American women. Am Behav Sci 2016 Jul 27;49(6):794-811. [doi: 10.1177/0002764205283801]
- 11. Egede LE. Race, ethnicity, culture, and disparities in health care. J Gen Intern Med 2006 Jul;21(6):667-669. [doi: 10.1111/j.1525-1497.2006.0512.x] [Medline: 16808759]
- Hurtado-de-Mendoza A, Cabling ML, Lobo T, Dash C, Sheppard VB. Behavioral interventions to enhance adherence to hormone therapy in breast cancer survivors: a systematic literature review. Clin Breast Cancer 2016 Aug;16(4):247-255. [doi: 10.1016/j.clbc.2016.03.006] [Medline: 27133733]
- Murphy CC, Bartholomew LK, Carpentier MY, Bluethmann SM, Vernon SW. Adherence to adjuvant hormonal therapy among breast cancer survivors in clinical practice: a systematic review. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2012 Jul;134(2):459-478. [doi: 10.1007/s10549-012-2114-5] [Medline: 22689091]
- Heiney SP, Parker PD, Felder TM, Adams SA, Omofuma OO, Hulett JM. A systematic review of interventions to improve adherence to endocrine therapy. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2019 Mar;173(3):499-510 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10549-018-5012-7] [Medline: 30387003]
- 15. Moon Z, Moss-Morris R, Hunter MS, Carlisle S, Hughes LD. Barriers and facilitators of adjuvant hormone therapy adherence and persistence in women with breast cancer: a systematic review. Patient Prefer Adherence 2017;11:305-322 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/PPA.S126651] [Medline: 28260867]
- 16. Dein S. Race, culture and ethnicity in minority research: a critical discussion. J Cult Divers 2006;13(2):68-75. [Medline: 16856693]
- 17. Bender JL, Yue RYK, To MJ, Deacken L, Jadad AR. A lot of action, but not in the right direction: systematic review and content analysis of smartphone applications for the prevention, detection, and management of cancer. J Med Internet Res 2013 Dec 23;15(12):e287 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2661] [Medline: 24366061]
- Dayer L, Heldenbrand S, Anderson P, Gubbins PO, Martin BC. Smartphone medication adherence apps: potential benefits to patients and providers. J Am Pharm Assoc (2003) 2013;53(2):172-181 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1331/JAPhA.2013.12202] [Medline: 23571625]
- Paladino AJ, Anderson JN, Krukowski RA, Waters T, Kocak M, Graff C, et al. THRIVE study protocol: a randomized controlled trial evaluating a web-based app and tailored messages to improve adherence to adjuvant endocrine therapy among women with breast cancer. BMC Health Serv Res 2019 Dec 19;19(1):977 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12913-019-4588-x] [Medline: 31856812]
- Burhenn PS, Smudde J. Using tools and technology to promote education and adherence to oral agents for cancer. Clin J Oncol Nurs 2015 Jul;19(3 Suppl):53-59. [doi: <u>10.1188/15.S1.CJON.53-59</u>] [Medline: <u>26030395</u>]
- 21. Pandey A, Hasan S, Dubey D, Sarangi S. Smartphone apps as a source of cancer information: changing trends in health information-seeking behavior. J Cancer Educ 2013 Mar;28(1):138-142. [doi: <u>10.1007/s13187-012-0446-9</u>] [Medline: <u>23275239</u>]
- 22. Wesley KM, Fizur PJ. A review of mobile applications to help adolescent and young adult cancer patients. Adolesc Health Med Ther 2015;6:141-148 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/AHMT.S69209] [Medline: 26316835]
- 23. Mohr DC, Schueller SM, Montague E, Burns MN, Rashidi P. The behavioral intervention technology model: an integrated conceptual and technological framework for eHealth and mHealth interventions. J Med Internet Res 2014 Jul 05;16(6):e146 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3077] [Medline: 24905070]
- 24. Sarkar U, Gourley GI, Lyles CR, Tieu L, Clarity C, Newmark L, et al. Usability of commercially available mobile applications for diverse patients. J Gen Intern Med 2016 Dec;31(12):1417-1426 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-016-3771-6] [Medline: 27418347]
- 25. Dawson RM, Felder TM, Donevant SB, McDonnell KK, Card EB, King CC, et al. What makes a good health 'app'? identifying the strengths and limitations of existing mobile application evaluation tools. Nurs Inq 2020 Apr;27(2):e12333 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/nin.12333] [Medline: 31854055]
- 26. Jongerius C, Russo S, Mazzocco K, Pravettoni G. Research-tested mobile apps for breast cancer care: systematic review. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Feb 11;7(2):e10930 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10930] [Medline: 30741644]
- Heiney SP, Millon Underwood S, Tavakoli A, Arp Adams S, Wells LM, Bryant LH. Randomized trial of therapeutic group by teleconference: African American women with breast cancer. Cancer 2012 Aug 01;118(15):3822-3832 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.26676] [Medline: 22180125]

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e23884
```

- 28. Creswell JW. Research Design: Qualitative, Quantitative, and Mixed Methods Approaches 3rd ed. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage; 2018.
- 29. Heiney SP, Truman S, Babatunde OA, Felder TM, Eberth JM, Crouch E, et al. Racial and geographic disparities in endocrine therapy adherence among younger breast cancer survivors. Am J Clin Oncol 2020 Jul;43(7):504-509. [doi: 10.1097/COC.0000000000696] [Medline: 32251120]
- Heiney SP, Hilfinger Messias DK, Felder TM, Phelps KW, Quinn JC. African American women's recollected experiences of adherence to breast cancer treatment. Oncol Nurs Forum 2017 Mar 01;44(2):217-224. [doi: <u>10.1188/17.ONF.217-224</u>] [Medline: <u>28222084</u>]
- 31. Heiney S, Adams S, Khang L. Agreement between patient self-report and an objective measure of treatment among African American women with breast cancer. J Oncol Navig Surviv 2014;5(3):21-27 [FREE Full text]
- 32. Heiney SP. Social disconnection in African American women with breast cancer. Oncol Nurs Forum 2014 Jan 01;41(1):E28-E34. [doi: 10.1188/14.ONF.E28-E34] [Medline: 24368250]
- 33. Heiney S, Tavaloki A, Millon-Underwood S, Wells L, Weinrich S. Social connection in African-American women with breast cancer. J Black Nurses Assoc 2013;24(2):1-7.
- Felder TM, Estrada RD, Quinn JC, Phelps KW, Parker PD, Heiney SP. Expectations and reality: perceptions of support among African American breast cancer survivors. Ethn Health 2019 Oct;24(7):737-753 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/13557858.2017.1373072] [Medline: 28870098]
- Onwuegbuzie A, Collins K. The role of sampling in mixed methods research. Köln Z Soziol 2017 Jul 3;69(S2):133-156 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11577-017-0455-0]
- 36. Venable J, Pries-Heje J, Baskerville R. FEDS: a framework for evaluation in design science research. Eur J Inf Syst 2017 Dec 19;25(1):77-89 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1057/ejis.2014.36]
- Arem H, Scott R, Greenberg D, Kaltman R, Lieberman D, Lewin D. Assessing breast cancer survivors' perceptions of using voice-activated technology to address insomnia: feasibility study featuring focus groups and in-depth interviews. JMIR Cancer 2020 May 26;6(1):e15859 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/15859] [Medline: 32348274]
- Saunders B, Sim J, Kingstone T, Baker S, Waterfield J, Bartlam B, et al. Saturation in qualitative research: exploring its conceptualization and operationalization. Qual Quant 2018;52(4):1893-1907 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11135-017-0574-8] [Medline: 29937585]
- Creswell J, Klassen A, Plano CV, Clegg K. Best practices for mixed methods research in the health sciences. Office of Behavioral and Social Sciences Research. 2013. URL: <u>https://obssr.od.nih.gov/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/</u> <u>Best Practices for Mixed Methods Research.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-06-07]
- 40. Heiney SP, Adams SA, Wells LM, Johnson H. Evaluation of conceptual framework for recruitment of African American patients with breast cancer. Oncol Nurs Forum 2010 May;37(3):E160-E167 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1188/10.ONF.E160-E167] [Medline: 20439201]
- 41. Harris PA, Taylor R, Thielke R, Payne J, Gonzalez N, Conde JG. Research electronic data capture (REDCap)--a metadata-driven methodology and workflow process for providing translational research informatics support. J Biomed Inform 2009 May;42(2):377-381 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2008.08.010] [Medline: 18929686]
- 42. Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qual Res Psychol 2006 Jan;3(2):77-101 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1191/1478088706qp063oa]
- 43. Bauerle Bass S, Jessop A, Gashat M, Maurer L, Alhajji M, Forry J. Take charge, get cured: the development and user testing of a culturally targeted mHealth decision tool on HCV treatment initiation for methadone patients. Patient Educ Couns 2018 Nov;101(11):1995-2004. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2018.07.007] [Medline: 30055893]
- 44. Bender MS, Martinez S, Kennedy C. Designing a culturally appropriate visually enhanced low-text mobile health app promoting physical activity for Latinos. J Transcult Nurs 2016 Jul;27(4):420-428. [doi: <u>10.1177/1043659614565249</u>] [Medline: <u>25556208</u>]
- 45. Burns MN, Montague E, Mohr DC. Initial design of culturally informed behavioral intervention technologies: developing an mHealth intervention for young sexual minority men with generalized anxiety disorder and major depression. J Med Internet Res 2013 Dec 05;15(12):e271 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2826] [Medline: 24311444]
- 46. Cameron LD, Durazo A, Ramírez AS, Corona R, Ultreras M, Piva S. Cultural and linguistic adaptation of a healthy diet text message intervention for Hispanic adults living in the United States. J Health Commun 2017 Mar;22(3):262-273 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/10810730.2016.1276985] [Medline: 28248628]
- 47. McCool J, Tanielu H, Umali E, Whittaker R. Assessing the cross-cultural adaptation and translation of a text-based mobile smoking cessation program in Samoa (TXTTaofiTapaa): pilot study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Aug 31;6(8):e173 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.9033] [Medline: 30170994]
- Owens OL, Beer JM, Reyes LI, Gallerani DG, Myhren-Bennett AR, McDonnell KK. Mindfulness-based symptom and stress management apps for adults with chronic lung disease: systematic search in app stores. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 May 15;6(5):e124 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.9831] [Medline: 29764800]
- Kolmodin MacDonell K, Naar S, Gibson-Scipio W, Lam P, Secord E. The Detroit young adult asthma project: pilot of a technology-based medication adherence intervention for African-American emerging adults. J Adolesc Health 2016 Oct;59(4):465-471 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2016.05.016] [Medline: 27475032]

- 50. Donevant SB, Estrada RD, Culley JM, Habing B, Adams SA. Exploring app features with outcomes in mHealth studies involving chronic respiratory diseases, diabetes, and hypertension: a targeted exploration of the literature. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2018 Oct 01;25(10):1407-1418 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocy104] [Medline: 30137383]
- Clancy C, Lynch J, OConnor P, Dowling M. Breast cancer patients' experiences of adherence and persistence to oral endocrine therapy: a qualitative evidence synthesis. Eur J Oncol Nurs 2020 Mar;44:1-14. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ejon.2019.101706</u>] [Medline: <u>32007696</u>]

#### Abbreviations

mHealth: mobile healthREDCap: Research Electronic Data CaptureSTORY: Sisters Tell Others and Revive Yourself

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 28.08.20; peer-reviewed by S Feldman, YH Kwan, K Heron, C Seebode, F Jijrees; comments to author 04.02.21; revised version received 05.03.21; accepted 30.04.21; published 11.06.21. <u>Please cite as:</u> Donevant S, Heiney SP, Wineglass C, Schooley B, Singh A, Sheng J Perceptions of Endocrine Therapy in African-American Breast Cancer Survivors: Mixed Methods Study JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e23884 URL: https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e23884 doi:10.2196/23884 PMID:<u>34114955</u>

©Sara Donevant, Sue P Heiney, Cassandra Wineglass, Benjamin Schooley, Akanksha Singh, Jingxi Sheng. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 11.06.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Original Paper** 

# A 5-Minute Cognitive Assessment for Safe Remote Use in Patients With COVID-19: Clinical Case Series

Thomas Beresford<sup>1,2\*</sup>, MD; Patrick J Ronan<sup>3,4\*</sup>, PhD; Daniel Hipp<sup>1,2\*</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Laboratory for Clinical and Translational Research in Psychiatry, Rocky Mountain Regional VA Medical Center, Aurora, CO, United States

<sup>2</sup>Department of Psychiatry, School of Medicine, University of Colorado, Aurora, CO, United States

<sup>3</sup>Research and Development Service, Sioux Falls Veterans Affairs Medical Center, Sioux Falls, SD, United States

<sup>4</sup>Department of Psychiatry and Basic Biomedical Sciences, Sanford School of Medicine, University of South Dakota, Sioux Falls, SD, United States <sup>\*</sup>all authors contributed equally

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Thomas Beresford, MD Laboratory for Clinical and Translational Research in Psychiatry Rocky Mountain Regional VA Medical Center (116), 1700 North Wheeling Street Aurora, CO, 80045 United States Phone: 1 7207237374 Fax: 1 7208575992 Email: thomas.beresford@ucdenver.edu

# Abstract

**Background:** Early clinical experience during the COVID-19 pandemic has begun to elucidate that the disease can cause brain function changes that may result in compromised cognition both acutely and during variable recovery periods. Reports on cognitive assessment of patients with COVID-19 are often limited to orientation alone. Further assessment may seem to create an inappropriate burden for patients with acute COVID-19, which is characterized by fatigue and confusion, and may also compromise examiner safety.

**Objective:** The aims of this study were to assess cognition in patients with COVID-19 as comprehensively as possible in a brief format, while observing safety precautions, and to establish a clear face value of the external validity of the assessment.

**Methods:** We adapted a brief cognitive assessment, previously applied to liver transplant candidates and medical/surgical inpatients, for remote use in patients hospitalized for COVID-19 treatment. Collecting quality assurance data from telephone-administered assessments, this report presents a series of 6 COVID-19 case vignettes to illustrate the use of this 5-minute assessment in the diagnosis and treatment of brain effects. Primary medical teams referred the cases for neuropsychiatric consultation.

**Results:** The age of the patients varied over four decades, and none of them were able to engage meaningfully with their surroundings on admission. On follow-up examination 6 to 10 days later, 4 of the 6 patients had recovered working memory, and only 1 had recovered calculation ability. Of the 6 patients, 2 were capable of complex judgment responses, while none of the cases completed frontal executive function testing in the normal range.

**Conclusions:** Cognitive assessment in patients with COVID-19 using this remote examination reveals patterns of cognitive recovery that vary among cases and are far more complex than loss of orientation. In this series, testing of specific temporal, parietal, and frontal lobe functions suggests that calculation ability, judgment, and especially frontal executive functions may characterize the effects of COVID-19 on the brain. Used widely and serially, this examination method can potentially inform our understanding of the effects of COVID-19 on the brain and of healing from the virus.

#### (JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e26417) doi:10.2196/26417

## KEYWORDS

RenderX

cognition; COVID-19; safety; remote use; delirium; brain injury, brain; diagnosis; assessment; test; telehealth; telemedicine

# Introduction

Early clinical experience with the COVID-19 pandemic has begun to elucidate that the disease can cause brain function changes, resulting in compromised cognition. These changes occur both acutely and during variable recovery periods. High frequencies of delirium and other brain phenomena in patients with COVID-19 [1,2] require adequate assessment of the patients' cognitive functions while preserving the health of caretakers. Safety is paramount for all caregivers, especially those with risk factors such as advanced age or physical vulnerability to the respiratory effects of COVID-19. Early literature reports, however, present only minimal cognitive assessments that are frequently confined to orientation [3]. A more complex assessment of specific cognitive functions enables better characterization of the extent to which factors such as the "cytokine storm" or other forms of inflammation, concurrent delirium, stroke, or virus infection of the brain may be at work in the course of recovery [4].

We defined three characteristics for a safe, workable cognitive assessment: (1) brevity, (2) remote administration, and (3) comprehensive content. First, the examination should not be burdensome, especially in fatigued patients with COVID-19 and their caregivers. Second, the examination must be conducted through remote communication, such as by telephone or a video telehealth session, that observes patient and caregiver distancing. Third, the examination should be capable of assessing mental functions related to specific brain structures in a short span of time.

Over the past several years, in consulting on patients admitted to medical and surgical inpatient units, we developed a 5-minute cognitive examination [5] adapted and extended from other instruments [6,7] that can characterize a panoply of brain disorders. These disorders include subtle forms of hepatic encephalopathy. Neuroanatomically, the examination tests temporal lobe memory functions, parietal lobe calculation ability, and each of the three frontosubcortical tracks that mediate (1) anterior cingulate engagement versus indifference, (2) anterior frontal lobe judgment, and (3) dorsolateral prefrontal executive functions [8,9]. The examination also assesses a series of standard mental status functions, such as basic orientation, concentration, fund of information, and ability to abstract meaning from concrete details. This brief examination can be expanded upon when responses indicate that further investigation is necessary.

Although most items on the examination can be found in other standardized formats, we have added two items that are particularly clinically useful. The first item is an ascending series of addition problems requiring mental calculation. Mathematics problems test parietal lobe functioning. The second item makes use of the Verbal Trails B Test in its entirety; this is a timed, standardized test of frontal executive functions [8] with a statistically derived cutoff point determining normal versus abnormal test responses.

Viewed as a quality assurance exercise, the purpose of this study was to afford early, proof-of-concept clinical data on the use and clinical implications of this 5-minute cognitive assessment with respect to patients with COVID-19. Here, we begin more rigorously to establish the validity of this assessment by providing clear-face value demonstrations of its external validity.

# Methods

We report here a series of 6 patients admitted for COVID-19 treatment to illustrate our experience with this telephone-based cognitive assessment. These case studies simply demonstrate the use of the assessment and do not quantitatively assess its validity or reliability. All patients were admitted for respiratory or fatigue symptoms to our Department of Veterans Affairs Medical Center, a large tertiary hospital that shares a campus with its university affiliate hospital. Examinations were conducted remotely during periods of hospital quarantine. For this review, all patients in this convenience sample were male and aged between 40 and 90 years. The same psychiatric consultant (TB) delivered each brief cognitive examination, as presented in Figures 1-3. Results were abstracted from our hospital records with Institutional Review Board approval. The cases have been disguised to preserve confidentiality. For brevity, we have included only details that are pertinent to assessing cognition. Our general hypothesis stated that we would find evidence of impaired cognition among patients with COVID-19.



Figure 1. Part 1 of the brief cognitive examination for remote use (working memory, calculations, and concentration).

I would like to ask you some questions that will let me know how your thinking is doing today.

#### Working Memory (temporal lobe)

First, I would like you to remember four things for me: hammer, mailbox, bus, tree.

Say them to me please. (Ask the person to repeat the objects until they can see them all the way through, noting the number of tries required.)

Keep them in your mind and I will ask you to say them in again a few minutes. (Note the time and ask for the objects to be repeated in five minutes by the clock.)

Some of these questions may be easy. For example, what is the name of the place we're in now?

What day is today? (month, year, day of the week)

#### Calculations (parietal lobe)

I would like you to add some numbers.

First, please tell me how much schooling you've had. (Note down the years of education or accomplished education beyond high school)

Please add 7 + 6 (13)	(single digits)
How much is 13 + 9 (22)	(single digit with a carryover)
How much is 22 + 15? (37)	(double digits without a carryover)
This is the last one. How much is 37 + 45? (82)	(double digits with a carryover)

#### Concentration (lower centers and frontal lobes)

Think of the word world, and spell it to me backwards.

Fund of Information:

Tell me about your interests or hobbies.

Now name 5 items (that relate to your interests).

(For example, fishing: Name 5 fish you can catch here in our State.)



Figure 2. Part 2 of the brief cognitive examination for remote use (judgment and abstract thought).

#### Judgment (frontal lobe, orbito-fronto-subcortical tracks)

I'm going to give you an imaginary, or pretend, situation and I would like you to tell me what you would do in that situation.

1) You are feeling well and decide to watch a movie. You go to a movie theater and are watching the movie. The theater is crowded, and you are the first one to see a fire break out in the theater. What would you do?

Poor judgment: yell FIRE! "Is there any danger in doing that." Cause a panic. "What might you do instead that would lessen the chance of a panic?" Good judgment: Inform the theater management, get the lights on, call for help, and so on.

2) You are at home, late at night, and you hear noises. You think someone might be trying to break in. What would you do?

Poor judgment: Get my gun and blow them away. "What if there were more than one intruder?" Good judgment: call the police. Dial 911.

#### Abstract Thought (frontal lobes)

1) Similarities

Can you tell me how an apple and an orange are alike?

Concrete: both are round.

How are a table and a chair alike?

Concrete: both have four legs. Abstract: both are furniture.

How are an automobile And a helicopter alike?

"One flies, the other drives on a road." That is how they differ. How are they alike?

Abstract: both are fruits.

Concrete: both have wheels. Abstract: both are transportation

How are a tree and an ant alike?

Concrete: they are not alike. Abstract: they're both living things.

2) Proverbs

If I were to say, 'It's no use crying over spilled milk', what would I be talking about?

(Concrete: you have to wipe the milk up. Abstract: don't worry about what can't be fixed.)



Figure 3. Part 3 of the brief cognitive examination for remote use (working memory retrieval, verbal trails B text, and engagement versus indifference).

#### Working Memory Retrieval (temporal lobe)

At about this point, check the clock and, if 5 minutes have gone by, ask the person to repeat the four memory objects. Recalling 3 or 4 is usually in the normal range. Recalling none, 1 or 2 can indicate a pathological response.

\_\_\_\_ of 4 objects at 5 minutes

#### Verbal Trails B Test (frontal lobe, dorso-lateral pre-frontal-subcortical tracks)

This is the last of the tasks I have for you. I appreciate your efforts in sticking with this exam. I am going to give you a pattern and I would like you to take the pattern as far as you can go with it.

The pattern is: 1 A, 2 B, ... What comes next?

This task is timed and begins with the patient's first response. Normal cut score is proceeding through 13 and the letter M or greater *in the space of 1 minute, without error*.

13-M yes or no

#### Engagement versus Indifference (frontal lobe, anterior cingulate- subcortical tracks)

(For the interviewer: Please judge how engaged the patient presented in the interview over the course of the examination.)

This patient was:	1) indifferent to the conversation	yes	no
	2) attentive but flexible	yes	no
	3) overly involved and not flexible	yes	no

## Results

#### Case #1

This male patient, aged in his 70s, was admitted with shortness of breath, fever, chills, dry cough and malaise for 2 days. On Day 3, his nurses reported profound malaise and new onset of confusion. On Days 2-5, he received dexamethasone 6 mg daily. Psychiatry consultation on Day 5 revealed marked difficulty sustaining attention, a relative indifference to his medical condition, and an inability to understand simple directions. By Day 10, the patient was awake, alert, and attentive. His mood was one of relief with appropriate affect. His speech was fluent and logical. Other than fleeting shadows in his room, he experienced no hallucinations. He had lost the senses of both taste and smell.

Responses to the patient's Day 10 telephone cognition assessment are listed below:

- Orientation: person, place, and date
- Memory: registered 4 objects, recalled 3 out of 4 after 5 minutes
- Calculations: complex addition intact (37 + 45 = 82)
- Concentration: "DLROW"

- Fund of information: the patient, a book collector, named 5 standard authors
- Judgment:
  - fire-theater: "Contact help by phone or the theater personnel."
  - burglar noises at night: "Call 911."
- Similarities/proverb:
  - similarities: 3/3 abstract
  - proverb: abstract
- Verbal Trails B [10]: lost track after 6-F

#### Case #2

This male patient with schizophrenia, aged in his 60s, stable on clozapine for many years, presented with increasing confusion and profound malaise, and he had not taken his clozapine for approximately the past week. The admission diagnosis was COVID-19 pneumonia; the patient was awake but poorly responsive to conversation. On Day 2, he could not focus his attention for testing and was unable to use his phone. On Day 3, a 3-week clozapine up-taper began at 50 mg/day, gradually increasing to his regular dose of 450 mg/day, while monitoring neutrophil counts.

By Day 6, the patient was awake, alert, and able to converse by telephone. Responses to the assessment on Day 6 are listed below:

- Mood: calm and upbeat
- Affect: appropriate
- Speech: logical progressions
- Hallucinations/delusions: none endorsed on specific inquiry
- Orientation: person, place, and date
- Memory: registered 4 objects and recalled 3 at 5 minutes
- Calculation: unable to add double digits with carryover but could identify right/left and the fingers of both hands
- Concentration: "DROLW"
- Judgment: appropriate answers to fire-theater and burglar-noises, getting help in both cases
- Similarities/proverb:
  - Similarities: 3/3 concrete
  - proverb: concrete ("It's about crying.")
- Verbal Trails B: 10-J and then lost track

#### Case #3

This male patient, aged in his 50s, was admitted with COVID-19 pneumonia; by Day 3, he required oxygen and was given dexamethasone. The nursing staff found him incontinent, with soiled clothes, to which he was indifferent, saying "I feel fine." He needed assistance in showering and in understanding what the water knobs were for. During a telephone cognitive examination, he reported his mood as "good," and he did not recall his confusion in the shower. He did not endorse hallucinations or paranoia. His thought process regarding similarities and a proverb was very concrete. Responses to the assessment are listed below:

- Orientation: to self and "hospital"
- Memory: could not register 4 objects on 3 tries
- Calculation: added single digit numbers only
- Verbal Trails B: could not understand the test directions

Responses to the Day 9 examination are listed below:

- Orientation: person, place, and date
- Memory: registered 4 items, recalled 3 after 5 minutes
- Calculation: added 2-digit numbers without carryover but not with carryover on 3 tries
- Judgment: fire-theater: "I'd leave the theater." No further insight as to danger
- Similarities/proverb:
  - Similarities: 3/3 concrete
  - proverb: concrete ("You have to wipe the milk up.")
- Verbal Trails B: unable to grasp the test directions on 3 tries

#### Case #4

This male patient, aged in his 40s, with a history of polydrug abuse was referred from another hospital with a positive COVID-19 test during treatment for peripheral cellulitis and "minimal" COVID-19 symptoms. On Day 5, he developed psychosis with paranoia, disorganized speech, hyper-religiosity, mood lability, and insomnia. These symptoms required increasing haloperidol doses over 2 days to 10 mg/day. There

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e26417

was no hyperactivity, and the patient complained of profound fatigue.

Responses to the telephone evaluation on Day 5 are listed below:

- Orientation: person, place, and date
- Memory: registered 4 objects and recalled 3 at 5 minutes
- Calculation:
  - unable to add 2-digit numbers
  - stereognosis and finger naming were clear
- Concentration:

•

- "DLOW"
- did not see the error
- Fund: named 5 Super Bowl–winning teams
- Judgment: fire-theater: "Run out, call 911, run back in and get people out. Break down a wall if I had to."
- Similarities/proverb:
  - similarities: 3/3 abstract
  - proverb: concrete ("Drink what's left.")
  - Verbal Trails B:
    - grasped the instructions on the second try
    - lost the sequence after 5-E

#### Case #5

This male patient, aged in his 80s, was COVID-19–positive and admitted with "altered mental status," malaise requiring oxygen, and supportive care with gradual improvement over 1 week. Responses to the Day 8 telephone assessment are listed below:

- Mood: "pretty good."
- Hallucinations/delusions or suicidal concerns: none endorsed
- Speech: fluent and logical if somewhat slowed
- Orientation: person, place only
- Memory: registered 4 objects, recalled 2 at 5 minutes
- Calculation: added single digits with carryover only
- Concentration: "DOWOLW"
- Judgment: fire-theater: "Don't yell FIRE!"; saw the panic danger but no alternative actions
- Verbal Trails B: lost track after 9-I

#### Case #6

This male patient, aged in his 50s, was admitted with COVID-19 and malaise but no respiratory compromise. Responses to the Day 2 telephone assessment are listed below:

- Mood: demoralized state with slow, sparse speech
- Hallucinations:
  - deprecatory voices
  - "shadows, like ghosts" intermittently
- Orientation: person, place, and date
- Memory: registered 4 objects, recalled none at 5 minutes
- Verbal Trails B: unable to grasp the directions on 2 tries

On Day 7, the patient's fatigue lifted. Responses to the Day 7 assessment are listed below:

- Mood: no demoralization
- Speech: fluent and logical
- Hallucinations: occasional nondeprecatory voices



- Orientation: person, place, and date
- Memory:
  - registered 4 objects, recalled 1 of 4 objects at 5 minutes
  - digit repetition: 5 numbers forward, not 6 on 2 tries
- Concentration: "DLROW"
- Calculations: unable to add double digits with or without carryover
- Fund of information: named 5 musicians he admires
- Judgment:
  - fire-theater: "Yell FIRE!"; did not see the panic danger or appropriate actions
  - burglar noises at night: "Call 911."
- Similarities/proverb:
  - similarities: 3/3 abstract
  - proverb: abstract
- Verbal Trails B: understood the directions but lost track at 6-F

#### **Overall Results**

Table 1 presents a collated listing of the cognitive presentations of the case patients. On admission, none of the patients were capable of meaningful engagements with the clinical staff; 5

Table 1. Selected cognitive results of patients with COVID-19 (N=6).

were awake, if confused, and confusion with psychosis developed in the sixth patient (Case #4). This finding suggests involvement of the anterior cingulate cortex, which mediates engagement with one's surroundings versus indifference to them [8,9]. This changed in the range of 1 week, as demonstrated by further assessment.

By that time, working memory had returned in 4 cases, indicating temporal lobe/hippocampal recovery. Judgment, which is associated with the anterior medial frontal lobe, returned to an extent in 3 cases, remaining poorly functional in 3. By contrast, 5 of the cases could not perform the ascending addition tasks, and 0 of the 6 performed normally on the Verbal Trails B Test. The latter finding is associated with impaired frontal executive function, such as planning and executing tasks. This impairment is associated with the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex.

Taken together, the case studies and Table 1 suggest a process of cognitive recovery over a short term of 5 to 10 days; however, questions on intermediate and long-term recovery remain unanswered. The data suggest the necessity of assessing higher cognitive functions that are associated with the neocortex in this brief format, with the goal of characterizing a series of cognitive functions differentially and in detail.

				1) (11 0).			
Case #	Age (decade)	Examination day (hospital- ization)	Temporal lobe: working memory (≥3 of 4 objects)	Parietal lobe: calcula- tion (2 digits with carryover)	Frontal lobe engage- ment on Day 1	Frontal lobe: judg- ment (basic, com- plex)	Frontal lobe: Verbal Trails B (13-M without error)
1	70s	10	Yes	Correct	No	Complex	Poor
2	60s	6	Yes	No	No	Complex	Poor
3	50s	9	Yes	No	No	No	Poor
4	40s	5	Yes	No	No	No	Poor
5	80s	8	No	No	No	No	Poor
6	50s	7	No	No	No	Basic	Poor

# Discussion

As expected, this inquiry found specific evidence of cognitive impairments among this case series of patients with COVID-19. Unexpectedly, however, the differential characteristics of COVID-19 cognitive recovery appeared. We were surprised to observe that some cognitive components recovered more quickly than others. This observation raises questions regarding the timing and return of those items that appeared least likely to recover in the short term of 5 to 10 days, most notably parietal lobe calculation ability and frontal lobe executive functions. It also raises concerns over the recovery timing for temporal lobe working memory and frontal lobe judgment.

In the face of a neuropsychiatric pandemic [1], the principle clinical advantages of this examination lie in its ability to provide a rapid, brief assessment of several anatomically based cognitive functions in the least invasive manner possible to preserve both patient and caregiver safety. In our view, it offers a much wider array of easily administered tests compared to orientation alone or generic comments such as "altered mental

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e26417

state." This examination offers a reasonable degree of brain function specificity and can be administered in approximately 5 minutes by telephone or videoconference.

This approach is not that of a screening examination that provides a series of tasks and delivers an overall score. Rather, it provides a first assessment of cognitive impairment that then directs further assessments in working through differential diagnoses toward a working or final diagnosis. For example, impaired working memory suggests the necessity to test registration functions further, such as through digit recall in Case #6, to clarify more generalized conditions such as memory impairment in delirium versus that in specific pathological conditions such as Wernicke-Korsakov Syndrome. Similarly, impaired calculation ability calls attention to the need to evaluate other parietal lobe functions, such as right/left orientation and finger agnosia, as in Cases #2 and #4.

This adapted format does not require a pencil and paper or in-person tasks; therefore, it is amenable to a telephone conversation. In contrast, the Frontal Assessment Battery (FAB) [11] must be performed in person, for example, when assessing

the FAB's judgment test of go/no-go responses. In contrast, the assessment reported here relies on assessing the cognitive process involved in judging what to do in a hypothetical situation.

Although the examination results are not diagnostic of specific causes [12], they do point to specific syndromes, such as delirium, that indicate further examination based on specific cognitive deficits. The syndromes themselves, including delirium, are frequently amenable to treatment, often with very low doses of antipsychotic agents such as haloperidol or olanzapine.

Although much more could be said about the increments of this 5-minute telephone cognitive assessment, its principal purpose is to characterize the nature and extent of impairment in patients with COVID-19 for both here-and-now assessment and follow-up recovery as the extent of illness lessens [4]. All the cases reported some form of cognitive impairment, whether profound, as in Cases #1 to #3, or more subtly, as in the other

cases. Although all of the cases improved, 2 (#2 and #4) required antipsychotic medication to restore what was likely their preinfection baseline. Working memory, calculation ability, and especially Verbal Trails B performance—testing frontal executive abilities ascribed to dorsolateral prefrontal cortex functioning [8]—were most often impaired and slower to approach normal baseline capabilities. As our experience with COVID-19 develops, we suspect that longitudinal follow-up of brain functions will take on considerable import as we address recovery at pandemic population levels [12].

Beginning with a brief, multifaceted approach to recognizing cognitive impairment can open the way to more specific assessments and investigations. From this baseline, a longitudinal, prospective study can guide understanding of longer-term recovery. In the acute setting, as noted here, treatment trials targeting return of function, such as through low-dose neuroleptic agents aimed at cognitive dysfunction relief, can guide treatment efforts.

#### Acknowledgments

This work was supported in part by a Merit Review Grant (1 I01 BX004712-01; TB and PR) from the US Department of Veterans Affairs Office of Research and Development. The views expressed in this article are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the position or policy of the Department of Veterans Affairs or the US government.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

TB receives research support from the Department of Veterans Affairs (Merit Review Grant 1 I01 BX004712) and support for an Advanced Research Fellow in Polytrauma from the same source. PR receives research support from the Department of Veterans Affairs as listed above as a co-investigator. He also receives research support from the National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH) via grants as follows: NIMH 1 R01 MH122954, NIH Dakota Cancer Collaborative on Translational Activity Feasibility Pilot Grant, and University of Alabama Life Research Institute Pilot Grant. DH receives research support as an Advanced Research Fellow In Polytrauma and as a research scientist, both from the Department of Veterans Affairs. None of the authors report any financial or other potential conflicts of interest.

#### References

- Troyer EA, Kohn JN, Hong S. Are we facing a crashing wave of neuropsychiatric sequelae of COVID-19? Neuropsychiatric symptoms and potential immunologic mechanisms. Brain Behav Immun 2020 Jul;87:34-39 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2020.04.027] [Medline: 32298803]
- 2. Lechien JR, Chiesa-Estomba CM, De Siati DR, Horoi M, Le Bon SD, Rodriguez A, et al. Olfactory and gustatory dysfunctions as a clinical presentation of mild-to-moderate forms of the coronavirus disease (COVID-19): a multicenter European study. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol 2020 Aug;277(8):2251-2261. [doi: 10.1007/s00405-020-05965-1] [Medline: 32253535]
- Varatharaj A, Thomas N, Ellul MA, Davies NWS, Pollak TA, Tenorio EL, CoroNerve Study Group. Neurological and neuropsychiatric complications of COVID-19 in 153 patients: a UK-wide surveillance study. Lancet Psychiatry 2020 Oct;7(10):875-882 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(20)30287-X] [Medline: 32593341]
- 4. Oldham MA, Slooter AJC, Cunningham C, Rahman S, Davis D, Vardy ERLC, et al. Characterising neuropsychiatric disorders in patients with COVID-19. Lancet Psychiatry 2020 Nov;7(11):932-933. [doi: 10.1016/s2215-0366(20)30346-1]
- 5. Beresford T, Lucey MR. Towards standardizing the alcoholism evaluation of potential liver transplant recipients. Alcohol Alcohol 2018 Mar 01;53(2):135-144. [doi: <u>10.1093/alcalc/agx104</u>] [Medline: <u>29211831</u>]
- Castanho TC, Amorim L, Zihl J, Palha JA, Sousa N, Santos NC. Telephone-based screening tools for mild cognitive impairment and dementia in aging studies: a review of validated instruments. Front Aging Neurosci 2014;6:16 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2014.00016] [Medline: 24611046]
- Newkirk LA, Kim JM, Thompson JM, Tinklenberg JR, Yesavage JA, Taylor JL. Validation of a 26-point telephone version of the Mini-Mental State Examination. J Geriatr Psychiatry Neurol 2004 Jun 29;17(2):81-87. [doi: <u>10.1177/0891988704264534</u>] [Medline: <u>15157348</u>]
- 8. Arciniegas DB, Beresford TP. Neuropsychiatry: An Introductory Approach. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press; 2001.

- 9. Arciniegas DB. Chapter 23: Mental status examiniation. In: Arciniegas DB, Anderson CA, Filley CM, editors. Behavioral Neurology & Neuropsychiatry. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press; 2013.
- 10. Tombaugh T. Trail Making Test A and B: Normative data stratified by age and education. Arch Clin Neuropsychol 2004 Mar;19(2):203-214. [doi: 10.1016/s0887-6177(03)00039-8]
- 11. Dubois B, Slachevsky A, Litvan I, Pillon B. The FAB: a Frontal Assessment Battery at bedside. Neurology 2000 Dec 12;55(11):1621-1626. [doi: 10.1212/wnl.55.11.1621] [Medline: 11113214]
- Paterson R, Brown RL, Benjamin L, Nortley R, Wiethoff S, Bharucha T, et al. The emerging spectrum of COVID-19 neurology: clinical, radiological and laboratory findings. Brain 2020 Oct 01;143(10):3104-3120 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/brain/awaa240] [Medline: 32637987]

#### Abbreviations

**FAB:** frontal assessment battery **NIMH:** National Institute of Mental Health

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 11.12.20; peer-reviewed by D Roy, M Wright; comments to author 23.02.21; revised version received 30.03.21; accepted 16.05.21; published 14.06.21. <u>Please cite as:</u> Beresford T, Ronan PJ, Hipp D A 5-Minute Cognitive Assessment for Safe Remote Use in Patients With COVID-19: Clinical Case Series JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e26417 URL: https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e26417 doi:10.2196/26417 PMID:34010137

©Thomas Beresford, Patrick J Ronan, Daniel Hipp. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 14.06.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Original Paper** 

# A Caregiver Digital Intervention to Support Shared Decision Making in Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services: Development Process and Stakeholder Involvement Analysis

Shaun Liverpool<sup>1,2</sup>, PhD; Julian Edbrooke-Childs<sup>1,3</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Anna Freud National Centre for Children & Families, London, United Kingdom

<sup>2</sup>Faculty of Health, Social Care & Medicine, Edge Hill University, Ormskirk, United Kingdom

<sup>3</sup>University College London, London, United Kingdom

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Shaun Liverpool, PhD Faculty of Health, Social Care & Medicine Edge Hill University St Helens Rd Ormskirk United Kingdom Phone: 44 169 557 5171 Email: <u>shaun.liverpool.14@ucl.ac.uk</u>

# Abstract

**Background:** Parents and caregivers are generally recognized by literature and the law as key to child and adolescent mental health decisions. Digital interventions are increasingly being used to support care and treatment in child and adolescent mental health services (CAMHS). However, evidence of the design and development process is generally not made available.

**Objective:** In light of calls for more transparency, this paper aims to describe the development of an evidence-based, theoretically informed digital decision support intervention for parents and caregivers of young people accessing CAMHS.

**Methods:** The intervention was developed in line with the UK Medical Research Council framework for developing complex interventions. The process incorporated the steps for developing patient decision aids, as follows: assessing need, assessing feasibility; defining objectives; identifying the framework of decision support; and selecting the methods, designs, and dissemination approach. We synthesized theory, research, international guidelines, and input from relevant stakeholders using an iterative design approach.

**Results:** The development steps resulted in Power Up for Parents, a decision support intervention, with five key features (ie, decisions, goals, journey, support, and resources). The intervention aims to encourage discussion, allow parents to ask questions during sessions or seek further information between sessions, and allow service providers to tailor the shared decision-making process to accommodate the needs of the parent and child.

**Conclusions:** We confirmed that it is possible to use input from end users—integrated with theory and evidence—to create digital interventions to be used in CAMHS. Key lessons with implications for practice, policy, and implementation science, along with preliminary findings, are presented.

International Registered Report Identifier (IRRID): RR2-10.2196/14571

#### (JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e24896) doi:10.2196/24896

#### KEYWORDS

digital health intervention; caregivers; parents; child mental health

# Introduction

#### Background

RenderX

Digital health interventions have been increasingly used in child and adolescent mental health services (CAMHS) [1-3]. Power

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e24896

Up, a mobile phone app for supporting young people in shared decision making (SDM), has shown some evidence of promise; young people who used Power Up reported greater levels of SDM after the intervention period [4,5]. SDM is central to person-centered care and describes a process in which service

users and service providers collaborate to make treatment decisions [6]. Depending on the age of the child, parents (including nonbiological primary caregivers) sometimes report feeling excluded from the decision-making process and therefore may also benefit from receiving additional support [7]. Previous research has highlighted that parents' decision support needs include obtaining information, talking to others, and feeling a sense of control over the decision-making process [8,9].

In addition, parents of children with mental health difficulties report experiencing an emotional roller coaster [10]. Furthermore, researchers identified parents' emotions as a possible influencing factor in the SDM process [11-13]. A review of parent-targeted SDM interventions for use in CAMHS revealed that existing interventions rarely addressed this concern, and only one available intervention explicitly addressed emotional support [14]. Counseling in Dialogue is a face-to-face intervention found to lower decisional conflict and promote the acceptance of recommended treatments [15]. However, concerns about stigma and confidentiality, shame or embarrassment in attending services, financial costs, time, appropriateness, or limited access to services are usually among the many barriers to accessing in-person CAMHS [16,17]. As a result, existing efficacious face-to-face interventions are adopting digital technology as a means of addressing these barriers [18,19]. Three interventions identified in a previous review [14] were considered to be digitally accessible. Two of those interventions targeted parents of children with autism spectrum disorders [20,21], and one intervention targeted parents of children with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorders [22]. However, recommendations to develop interactive digital interventions that promote well-being factors, in addition to targeted behavior change, are gaining momentum [23].

Despite the growing interest in digital health interventions, detailed descriptions of the development process of digital interventions used in CAMHS are limited [24], with implications for clinical and research reproducibility. Nonetheless, recent reviews of the extant literature have described innovative technological applications in parent management training programs [25,26] and programs to promote child health [27]. Although this research shows great efficacy for the use of parent-targeted technology in child health care, to the best of our knowledge, there are presently no parent-targeted interactive mobile apps designed for and tested in CAMHS that support an affective-appraisal SDM process [14]. The affective-appraisal approach refers to the ability to include key decision makers (ie, child or young person, parents, and service providers) and incorporate and address the influence of parental affective states on the SDM process [13].

Furthermore, health care quality standards and guidelines identify and define SDM as an essential characteristic of good quality care, endorsing support and interventions for both service users and service providers [28]. Experts highlight that for SDM to occur, the process should include the following nine essential elements: patient values and preferences, options, professional knowledge and recommendations, make or explicitly defer a decision, define and explain the problem, check and clarify understanding, explore benefits and risks, discuss patient's ability and self-efficacy, and arrange follow-up [29]. However,

available interventions meet an average of 4.57 (SD 1.93) SDM elements [14]. Furthermore, most of the work on defining, facilitating, and supporting SDM has focused on adult health care and dyad relationships between primary service users and health care providers [29,30]. In CAMHS, parents are sometimes surrogate decision makers or the parent, child, and health care provider engage in a triad decision-making process [13]. Owing to the many perceived challenges associated with decision making in pediatric care, researchers commonly highlight the lack of an evidence-based holistic conceptualization of SDM [31]. Therefore, in line with the broader health literature, it is recommended that all efforts are made to improve SDM. In so doing, experts call for clinicians to recognize SDM as an ethical imperative, stimulate a bidirectional flow of accurate and tailored information, and give patients and their families resources that facilitate an effective SDM process [32].

#### Objectives

Given the importance of SDM and the feasibility of digital interventions in CAMHS, it is essential to develop theoretically informed interventions. The overall aim of this paper is to describe the development of an evidence-based digital intervention for use by parents accessing CAMHS. Consequently, the following subobjectives are addressed:

- 1. Develop a logic model outlining how the intervention is proposed to work.
- 2. Consolidate evidence-based content to support the affective-appraisal model of SDM.
- 3. Involve end users in the design and development of an SDM intervention for use in CAMHS.
- 4. Highlight key learning and recommendations.

## Methods

#### **Framework for Intervention Development**

The UK Medical Research Council (MRC) framework for the development and evaluation of complex interventions was adopted. The intervention was described as complex, in line with the conventional definition describing complex interventions as interventions with several interacting components. The MRC framework proposes that during the development stage, it is important to identify the evidence base, identify the theory, and model the process and outcomes [33]. Alongside the MRC framework, activities are guided by the steps for developing decision aids [34].

#### Assessing Need

A broad overview of the literature explored existing evidence for the prevalence of child mental health problems, factors influencing SDM, and potential impact on the family. Another systematic review aimed to better understand the emotional experiences of having a child with mental health problems and explored how those experiences may influence parental involvement in care and treatment decisions (findings submitted for publication). In addition, existing decision support interventions available for parents of children with mental health problems were identified and assessed against SDM elements [14]. Qualitative interviews were also conducted to obtain insight into how clinicians and parents perceived and described

XSL•FO RenderX

experiences of SDM and to identify the support systems used [13].

#### **Assessing Development Feasibility**

First, as this research was part of a PhD project, it was agreed that the 3-year timeline was appropriate to develop and evaluate an intervention. Second, a preexisting relationship with the technology company (Create Health) made it suitable for the development of a digital intervention [5]. In addition, the financial resources necessary to develop the intervention were available through the PhD project funding. Furthermore, preliminary evidence from the original Power Up for young people suggested that it was feasible to develop and evaluate a novel digital intervention for CAMHS [4].

#### Defining the Objectives of the Decision Support Tool

On the basis of an overview of the literature and feedback from parents, practitioners, and researchers (described later in the paper), the following primary objectives were considered necessary to guide the intervention's development process:

- 1. Encourage discussion (ie, three-talk model proposed by Elwyn et al [35]).
- 2. Allow parents to ask questions during sessions or seek further information within sessions.
- 3. Provide a space for parents to identify their feelings and moods and receive support.
- 4. Allow service providers to tailor the SDM process to accommodate the needs of the parent and child (eg, informed vs involved).

#### Identifying the Framework of Decision Support

In general, the development process of the intervention was conducted in line with the International Patient Decision Aids Standards. These guidelines encourage the use of a systematic development process, disclosing conflicts of interest, internet delivery, using plain language, and basing information on up-to-date evidence, among others [36,37]. More specifically, in line with an affective-appraisal approach [13], the Youth SDM model [38], the Integrative Model of SDM in medical encounters, highlighting the nine essential elements of SDM [19] and the Ottawa Decision Support Framework [39] informed the content of the intervention. The Ottawa Decision Support Framework has been used to develop and evaluate over 50 patient decision aids, measures (eg, Decisional Conflict Scale), and training in providing decision support.

The Youth SDM model highlights three key SDM functional areas: setting the stage for youth SDM, facilitating youth SDM, and supporting youth SDM. The authors recommended that setting the stage for youth SDM should involve providing an introduction to the concept of SDM and inviting and acknowledging the service user's preference for involvement. To facilitate this, a co-design process to develop a webpage to define and explain SDM was undertaken (discussed in the *Stakeholder Involvement* section). Consequently, the webpage became the welcome screen for the intervention to *set the stage* for SDM.

The Integrative Model of SDM was used to *facilitate the SDM process*. The current intervention was designed to incorporate

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e24896
```

all the nine elements of SDM. Examples are presented in the Results section. In addition, the Ottawa Decision Support Framework was used to inform *support* for the SDM process. The framework proclaims that participants' decisional needs will affect decision quality, which in turn affects actions or behaviors (eg, delay), health outcomes, emotions (eg, regret or blame), and appropriate use of health services. This framework was pertinent to the intervention, as previous research highlighted the potential impact of parents' emotions on the SDM process.

# Selecting the Methods, Designs, and Planning for the Feasibility and Pilot Study

#### Overview

The remaining three steps outlined by O'Connor and Jacobsen [34] were collapsed under the subheading *stakeholder involvement*. There is an overarching consensus that involving end users in the development of health interventions is critical for successful implementation. Developers and researchers converge on the understanding that patient and public involvement (PPI) can benefit the uptake and usage of interventions. More specifically, the involvement of end users is known to improve idea generation and creativity [40-42]. The following sections describe how various stakeholders are involved in the development of the intervention.

#### Stakeholder Involvement

#### **Steering Committee**

From conception, a steering committee was formed comprising a senior researcher, a colleague with experience in the development of digital interventions, and 3 parents with experience of having a child with a mental health problem; the committee was chaired by the primary author (SL). The parents were appointed as part of the steering committee after expressing interest in this study at various presentations undertaken by the primary author. The committee was ideal for consensus forming and was mainly responsible for ensuring that the development process was transparent and unbiased. The steering committee also guided the feasibility and pilot study of the intervention by offering strategies to promote recruitment. Meetings convened on a web-based platform for a total of 6 times throughout the intervention design and development phase.

#### **Patient and Public Involvement**

The overall objective of the consultations was to obtain parents' expert advice on the research and intervention design. However, gaining insight into how parents may use digital health interventions and obtaining input on how to improve the intervention before this study began was necessary. First, an email consultation was conducted with the Family Research Advisory Group at the National Children's Bureau. Information about the aims of this study and plans for an intervention with specific questions to generate ideas were shared with the research team at the National Children's Bureau. The team contacted 9 parents who provided input on the value of the intervention, what support might be needed, and which group of parents we should target for recruitment. Prototype development was initiated based on the input received. Second,

the study design and an example of how the intervention might be used were presented to the group at a scheduled meeting. The pros and cons of digital versus other formats of decision-making tools were discussed along with general thoughts and concerns regarding the study and intervention design. The prototype was refined and updated before the final meeting. At the final meeting, a group discussion, including a presentation of the prototype, was conducted to examine the penultimate version of the intervention and study design. There were further discussions on how parents could use and benefit from the intervention in practice. Further refinement of the prototype was carried out based on the feedback received.

#### Showcase Pollinator Event With Clinicians and Researchers

At a showcase pollinator event, which was held in Austria at the Technology Enabled Mental Health Summer School, the prototype was then presented to clinicians, researchers, and intervention developers who were asked to provide feedback and specifically provide input to improve the interactivity of the intervention. Three roundtable discussions followed, and input was obtained from a total of 12 experts in the area of child mental health. Attendees at the event had a specific interest in digital interventions to prevent, treat, and promote policies for children and youth mental health.

#### **Public Engagement**

A collaborative approach was adopted to develop and design a webpage to promote SDM in CAMHS. First, a survey to elicit the public's opinion on the preferred mode of delivery for an SDM resource was conducted via social media. Responses from clinicians, parents, children and young people, school staff, and others were in favor of a web resource. Consequently, 3 parent champions and 4 young champions from the Anna Freud National Centre for Children and Families attended two workshops and provided email feedback on two versions of the webpage before agreeing to the final versions. At the first workshop, participants explored what SDM meant, and a consensus was reached for a family friendly definition that could be displayed on the webpage. In the second workshop, participants were involved in designing the paper prototypes of the webpage. Consequently, the webpage was designed, and the content was updated based on the feedback received. The communications team at the Centre was then involved to ensure that the content and design were in line with the Centre's standards. Consequently, the webpage was presented as the welcome screen for the intervention.

#### **App Developers**

The app developers at Create Health were responsible for the technical development of the intervention. However, design-specific components such as swipe versus touch features, labels for the settings menu of the app, and data security were proposed by the developers and included only after they were agreed upon by the primary author and the steering committee. On the basis of feedback from the steering committee, PPI sessions, and parent experts, a series of paper prototyping and digital designs were developed before the final version was adopted.

#### Ethics

Ethical approval for the development and pilot testing of Power Up for Parents was granted by the University College London and by the London Surrey Research Ethics Committee (IRAS 236277).

## Results

#### **Evidence Base**

The development process highlighted the need for an SDM intervention targeting parents of children with mental health concerns. Decisions could include, but not be limited to, medications, types of therapy, or service needs. The literature reviews revealed a high prevalence of child mental health problems, several decision-making opportunities, barriers to and facilitators of SDM, and positive outcomes when SDM was adopted in care. The potential influence of a parent's emotional state on the decision-making process was also identified [8-13,43-45]. Quantitative findings also highlighted a large number of parents reporting involvement in SDM and possible associations among ethnicity, their relationship to the child, and the presence of conduct problems or learning difficulties. Nonetheless, parents and service providers expressed the importance of including parents in the decision-making process. The existing parent-targeted decision support tools identified met an average of 4.57 (SD 1.93) SDM elements out of a possible nine elements [14]. Furthermore, that review reported time, accessibility, and appropriateness of the intervention as factors influencing usage and implementation of interventions, providing additional support for a digital mode of delivery. Table 1 presents an overview of how the evidence informed the intervention's design objectives and key features.



Table 1. Overview of the intervention's objectives and key features.

Research evidence	Intervention design objective	Key features of the intervention
Recognizing the need for help can be challenging, as carers' perceptions of their child's mental health difficulties differ from those of their child, teachers and health professionals. These disagreements are reflected in carers reporting not feeling listened to or respected, further adding to frustrations and disappointment.	<ul> <li>Encourage discussion</li> <li>Allow parents to ask questions during sessions or seek further information within sessions</li> </ul>	<ul><li>Decisions and goals</li><li>Decisions and resources</li></ul>
Findings suggest that parents are "expected to, but not always able to" engage with CAMHS <sup>a</sup> due to the "emotional roller coaster" they experience.	• Provide a space for parents to identify their feelings or moods and receive support	• Support and journey
Findings suggest that the triad relationship is unique and can be challenging in CAMHS. Recommendations are made to explore opportunities for varying levels of involvement, such as "informed" versus "actively in- volved" parents.	• Allow service providers to tai- lor the SDMb process to accom- modate the needs of the parent and child (ie, informed vs in- volved)	Decisions and resources
Findings indicated that time, accessibility, and the appropriateness of the intervention emerged as factors influencing the usage and implementation of parent-targeted SDM interventions.	• Be suitable and accessible to parents	• Digital mode of delivery

<sup>a</sup>CAMHS: child and adolescent mental health services. <sup>b</sup>SDM: shared decision making.

#### Logic Model

The abovementioned evidence was explored in detail and presented in a logic model to outline the purpose of the intervention. Multimedia Appendix 1 provides an overview of the adapted Evidence-Based Practice Unit Logic Model [46], consisting of four parts that describe the intervention and target audience. The logic model also highlights the aims of the intervention and expected outcomes once implemented. In addition, a list of potential moderators that may influence usage and implementation were reported.

#### **Outline of the Intervention**

#### **Overview**

This section summarizes the key features of the resulting prototype and the user manual (Multimedia Appendix 2). The Power Up for Parents title was adopted as this project was an emended version of the original Power Up intervention for young people that supports and promotes SDM in CAMHS [4,5]. Although the current prototype is referred to as Power Up for Parents, feedback from PPI sessions indicated that nonbiological caregivers may feel excluded. In response to this, the prototype included a customization feature to change the word *Parents*. Therefore, it can be labeled *Power Up for Rob* to reflect the child's or parent's name (Figure 1). The overall structure of the app content is as follows.



Figure 1. Examples of the home screen and decision tab.

POWER UP"	2 @ [→
Pecisions	Coals
Journ	? A Contraction of the second
?	?
Support	Resources



This is a decision aid that guides users to seek information about treatment options, to review the benefits and risks of each option, to track decisions, and to record where more information or support is needed (Figure 1). In addition, as the research focused on the triad relationship, parents were encouraged to involve others in the decision-making process by seeking preferences from the clinicians, their child, or other relevant persons. This section uses the nine essential elements of SDM to "walk" users through the decision-making process, prompting users to answer questions such as "Do you have sufficient information about the options available to you?" and " Do you feel ready to make this decision?" The other sections below



provide additional support throughout the decision-making process that is in line with the affective-appraisal model of SDM.

#### Goals

This feature is used in sessions or between sessions to record and track goals, as they are discussed with service providers and young service users. It allows users to set individual or consensus goals and explore plans to achieve these goals (Figure 2). In addition, parents could record any questions or concerns to address in the following session. Research findings suggest that goal-setting and tracking progress are associated with higher self-efficacy [47], and this is one approach to promote SDM in CAMHS [48].

Figure 2. Examples of the goal tab.

	_	0		
POWI for Rob	ER UP"	8	ţġ;	$[\rightarrow$
New C	Joal			
Related Dec	ision			4
Description				
				<i>h</i>
	Goal Progress			
Back	0	100	Su	bmit

#### Journey

XSL•FO RenderX

This feature allows parents to reflect on their emotions or issues that may affect their decision-making process. A parent could decide to share the content with the child and the clinician, and it could be used during and within sessions to keep track of the decision-making journey from user readiness to outcomes. Expectations, experiences, and reflections are recorded using the diary function (Figure 3). The usefulness of implementing case tracking and documenting client journeys has been highlighted in previous research [49]. Although previously explored in primary care services, those authors highlighted the importance of monitoring the comprehensiveness of service responses and the experiences of clients. Figure 3. Examples of the journey tab.



#### Support

XSL•FO RenderX

This section hosts a tool to allow parents to identify and express their views on various stressors affecting the decision-making process. Users are encouraged to think about stressful things and explore ways to manage them. They are able to track feelings toward decisions and explore where additional emotional support is required (Figure 4). The stress bucket concept has been endorsed across health care and well-being settings with positive feedback across age groups [50].



Figure 4. Examples of the support tab.

POWER UP" for Rob	2 @ [→



#### Resources

This section includes useful contact details that signpost users to provide further support and guidance. Parents could upload their own resources to help with the decision-making process and include contacts they find most helpful (Figure 5). Parents involved in previous child and adolescent mental health research indicated the benefits of receiving information and expressed feeling more included when provided with adequate evidence [7]. However, parents reported feeling overwhelmed when too much information was given at once. This section allows parents to work with service providers to identify and obtain tailored resources.



Figure 5. Examples of the resources tab.

<b>POWER UP</b> Ger PARENTS (6)	2 ⊚ (→
New R	esource
Name	
Call	~
Number	
Back	Submit
	$\bigcirc$



# Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

This paper describes an evidence-based process for the development of a complex intervention-referred to as Power Up for Parents—based on the MRC framework [33] and guided by the workbook for developing and evaluating decision aids [34]. Stakeholder input from parents and carers, service providers, researchers, and young service users informed the design and content of the intervention. The intervention was developed in accordance with the International Patient Decision Aids Standards and guidelines [36,37] and grounded in the following four SDM models: the Youth SDM model [38], the Ottawa Decision Support Framework [39], the Integrative Model of SDM in medical encounters [29], and the affective-appraisal approach to SDM in CAMHS [13]. The objectives of the intervention were informed by empirical studies and literature reviews, which highlighted the need to provide additional support for parents of children with mental health problems who are involved in child mental health decisions [13]. The

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e24896

RenderX

resulting prototype aimed to (1) encourage discussion, (2) allow parents to ask questions during sessions or seek further information within sessions, (3) provide a space for parents to identify their own feelings or moods and receive support, and (4) allow service providers to tailor the SDM process to accommodate the needs of the parent and child. To address the design aims, five key sections were embedded into the intervention. These features were the *Decisions*, *Goals*, *Journey*, *Support*, and *Resources* sections.

#### **Comparison With Existing Literature**

The development process described in this paper is consistent with the development process briefly outlined in other parent-targeted SDM interventions [51-54]. Developers generally reported using end-user feedback, literature reviews, established guidelines, and empirical studies to inform the intervention. Overall, researchers have reported adopting one or a subset of these approaches to inform the intervention development process. However, only Hayes et al [54] reported using the MRC guidelines to inform the development of the

i-THRIVE Grids. The current development process is in line with recommendations to promote well-being factors (eg, emotional regulation) in addition to targeted behavior change (eg, SDM) [23]. The iterative and collaborative approach adopted also supports other *user-based* frameworks embedded in human-computer interaction, such as the multiphase optimization strategy framework [55].

#### **Key Learnings**

Common themes were identified across the steps of the development process of Power Up for Parents. These were interpreted to develop a list of eight recommendations to inform policy and practice guidelines. The recommendations were initially developed by the primary author and reviewed using an iterative process by 6 independent reviewers (ie, 2 practitioners, 1 child development policy officer, 1 parent with experience of having a child with mental health problems, and 2 child mental health researchers) before reaching a consensus to include. In line with the Salzburg statement on SDM [32], the following eight perceived key learnings were highlighted:

- 1. Ensure that primary carers and young service users are invited to be part of the care and treatment decision-making process while considering the following: the age and capacity of the child; how much the child wishes to have the parent involved or informed; and how much or what support the family needs to be involved.
- 2. Review clinicians' time schedules so that they can provide sufficient time and encourage primary caregivers to ask questions and raise concerns during and within sessions.
- 3. Highlight the need for emotional support to be provided to primary caregivers, especially at the initial stages of accessing CAMHS or at crucial decision-making time points.
- 4. Propose a need for a key person in CAMHS who can provide answers to more general questions or be a liaison between clinicians and families, especially during periods when there is a change in service providers.
- 5. Consider the inclusion of the primary caregiver or key person (ie, an advocate for the family who is not the primary service provider) at multidisciplinary meetings when care and treatment options are being considered.
- 6. Review the role of parent support groups and explore the potential for further responsibilities.
- 7. Highlight the need for SDM support interventions as an adjunct to routine care.
- 8. Consider PPI activities at the core of design, development, testing, and implementation when SDM interventions are being developed. In doing so, it is also important that equal voices are given to service users and service providers, while ensuring interventions are accessible, acceptable, suitable and appropriate for the population, easy-to-use, useful, and do not incur additional time burden to service providers and service users.

#### **Implications for Implementation Science**

Interventions addressing mental health concerns or SDM could replicate this development process if the intervention was found to be effective in later studies. With the high prevalence of child mental health problems and the alarming emotional state of

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e24896
```

parents, CAMHS could benefit from offering web-based support to parents in the absence of resources to facilitate face-to-face sessions with such large numbers of families. In addition, developing an intervention that encourages service users to collaborate with service providers can empower service users.

#### **Implications for Research**

In keeping with the MRC framework, the intervention then entered the pilot and feasibility phase for testing the intervention, as discussed in the study protocol [56]. Preliminary results of the feasibility study [57] indicated that the intervention itself is generally acceptable by parents, carers, and health care professionals. The findings also indicate that there is scope for further development of Power Up for Parents. Results from the feasibility and pilot study have been integrated into refinements of the intervention and plans for further research.

#### **Strengths and Limitations**

First, the main strength of this development process is the adoption of participatory design methods, where researchers, app developers, service providers, parents and carers, and young people were involved as partners at various stages to determine the content and design of Power Up for Parents. Second, adhering to the MRC framework and following the workbook for developing decision aids provided a solid foundation for evidence-based intervention. In addition, the theoretical underpinning and evidence base informing the content of Power Up for Parents provide a basis for potential success when the intervention is tested for effectiveness in future studies. Another strength is the dynamic nature of web applications to integrate into electronic health record systems or be embedded in National Health Services' websites if found to be effective. Finally, the incorporation of all nine elements of SDM instead of the average 4.57 that is contained in similar interventions was viewed as a major strength.

However, the complexity of the intervention and the comprehensive approach taken to inform development resulted in a process that lasted almost 28 months. Although this may be viewed as a time-consuming process, developers aiming to develop similar interventions can use fewer empirical studies and incorporate rapid prototyping techniques [58]. In hindsight, another possible limitation could be the selection and combination of SDM models and theories. Other researchers in the field of SDM may criticize the chosen models and have a preference for alternatives. However, for the purpose of this research project, they seemed appropriate, and because they overlapped in some areas, they were readily combined. Similarly, the parents and young persons involved in the PPI sessions could represent a biased sample of persons who volunteered their time and expertise to inform research [59]. Therefore, they may not provide a broad representative view of families having a child with mental health problems. Moreover, the development of digital interventions can be costly. For this reason, it is recommended that cost-effectiveness be integrated into future study designs when evaluating interventions. Once proven effective, the cost can be justified as digital interventions have the ability to be scalable, affordable, and easily accessible to users [60-62]. Finally, the key learning and recommendations were based on a synthesis that went beyond the individual steps

in the development process and a brief consultation exercise, and as such should be taken with caution.

#### Conclusions

A multidimensional process was adopted, including an in-depth exploration of existing literature, empirical studies, theoretical underpinnings, and patient and public input to develop an evidence-based intervention to support parents involved in child and adolescent mental health decisions. The resulting intervention demonstrates and confirms that it is possible to use input from end users, integrated with theory and research evidence to create digital health interventions to be used in CAMHS. The intervention then entered the pilot phase aimed at obtaining end-user input for further development, views on acceptability, and an exploration of the feasibility of conducting a randomized controlled trial. The lessons learned from this process may inform the development of other interventions.

#### Acknowledgments

The authors thank the staff at Create Health for the technical development of Power Up for Parents. They also thank the members of the Family Research Advisory Group and the steering committee (especially Helen Anderson) for their input and guidance on the intervention and study design. They also thank Miles Weekes for his support at the time of writing the manuscript. This project received funding from the European Union's Horizon 2020 Research and Innovation Program under the Marie Sklodowska-Curie grant agreement 722561.

#### **Authors' Contributions**

SL and JEC developed initial ideas for the intervention. SL worked with the staff at Create Health (Helen Webber and Rob Matthews) to develop, adapt, and refine Power Up for Parents. SL drafted the manuscript, and both authors revised the manuscript and read and approved the final version.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Logic model outlining the intervention process. CAMHS: child and adolescent mental health services; NHS: National Health Service; SDM: shared decision making.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 894 KB - formative\_v5i6e24896\_app1.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 2 User manual. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 472 KB - formative v5i6e24896 app2.pdf ]

#### References

- 1. Grist R, Porter J, Stallard P. Mental health mobile apps for preadolescents and adolescents: a systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2017 May 25;19(5):e176 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7332] [Medline: 28546138]
- Hollis C, Falconer CJ, Martin JL, Whittington C, Stockton S, Glazebrook C, et al. Annual Research Review: digital health interventions for children and young people with mental health problems - a systematic and meta-review. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 2017 Apr 10;58(4):474-503. [doi: 10.1111/jcpp.12663] [Medline: 27943285]
- Liverpool S, Mota CP, Sales CM, Čuš A, Carletto S, Hancheva C, et al. Engaging children and young people in digital mental health interventions: systematic review of modes of delivery, facilitators, and barriers. J Med Internet Res 2020 Jun 23;22(6):e16317 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/16317] [Medline: 32442160]
- 4. Edbrooke-Childs J, Edridge C, Averill P, Delane L, Hollis C, Craven MP, et al. A feasibility trial of power up: smartphone app to support patient activation and shared decision making for mental health in young people. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Jun 4;7(6):e11677 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11677] [Medline: 31165709]
- Chapman L, Edbrooke-Childs J, Martin K, Webber H, Craven MP, Hollis C, et al. A mobile phone app to support young people in making shared decisions in therapy (power up): study protocol. JMIR Res Protoc 2017 Oct 30;6(10):e206 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.7694] [Medline: 29084708]
- Barry M, Edgman-Levitan S. Shared decision making the pinnacle of patient-centered care. N Engl J Med 2012 Mar;366(9):780-781 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1056/nejmp1109283]
- There for You: the Role of Parents in Supporting Young People With Mental Health Problems: Results of a Survey Internet. Association of Young People's Health (AYPH). 2016. URL: <u>http://www.youngpeopleshealth.org.uk/wp-</u> [accessed 2021-02-20]
- 8. Jackson C, Cheater FM, Reid I. A systematic review of decision support needs of parents making child health decisions. Health Expect 2008 Sep;11(3):232-251 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1369-7625.2008.00496.x] [Medline: 18816320]

- Lipstein EA, Brinkman WB, Britto MT. What is known about parents' treatment decisions? A narrative review of pediatric decision making. Med Decis Making 2012;32(2):246-258 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1177/0272989X11421528</u>] [Medline: <u>21969136</u>]
- 10. Corcoran J, Schildt B, Hochbrueckner R, Abell J. Parents of children with attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder: a meta-synthesis, part II. Child Adolesc Soc Work J 2017 Mar 4;34(4):337-348. [doi: 10.1007/s10560-017-0497-1]
- Brinkman WB, Sherman SN, Zmitrovich AR, Visscher MO, Crosby LE, Phelan KJ, et al. Parental angst making and revisiting decisions about treatment of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Pediatrics 2009 Aug;124(2):580-589. [doi: <u>10.1542/peds.2008-2569</u>] [Medline: <u>19651580</u>]
- 12. Hayes D, Edbrooke-Childs J, Town R, Wolpert M, Midgley N. Barriers and facilitators to shared decision-making in child and youth mental health: exploring young person and parent perspectives using the Theoretical Domains Framework. Couns Psychother Res 2019 Aug 19;20(1):57-67. [doi: 10.1002/capr.12257]
- Liverpool S, Hayes D, Edbrooke-Childs J. An affective-appraisal approach for parental shared decision making in children and young people's mental health settings: a qualitative study. Front Psychiatry 2021;12:626848 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.626848] [Medline: 33633610]
- 14. Liverpool S, Pereira B, Hayes D, Wolpert M, Edbrooke-Childs J. A scoping review and assessment of essential elements of shared decision-making of parent-involved interventions in child and adolescent mental health. Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2020 Apr 16:s00787-020-01530-7. [doi: 10.1007/s00787-020-01530-7] [Medline: 32300893]
- Westermann G, Verheij F, Winkens B, Verhulst F, van Oort FV. Structured shared decision-making using dialogue and visualization: a randomized controlled trial. Patient Educ Couns 2013 Jan;90(1):74-81. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pec.2012.09.014</u>] [Medline: <u>23107362</u>]
- 16. Gulliver A, Griffiths KM, Christensen H. Perceived barriers and facilitators to mental health help-seeking in young people: a systematic review. BMC Psychiatry 2010 Dec 30;10(1):e1471-244X-10-113. [doi: 10.1186/1471-244x-10-113]
- 17. Clement S, Schauman O, Graham T, Maggioni F, Evans-Lacko S, Bezborodovs N, et al. What is the impact of mental health-related stigma on help-seeking? A systematic review of quantitative and qualitative studies. Psychol Med 2014 Feb 21;45(1):11-27. [doi: 10.1017/s0033291714000129]
- Silfvernagel K, Gren-Landell M, Emanuelsson M, Carlbring P, Andersson G. Individually tailored internet-based cognitive behavior therapy for adolescents with anxiety disorders: A pilot effectiveness study. Internet Interv 2015 Sep;2(3):297-302. [doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2015.07.002]
- 19. Wangelin B, Szafranski D, Gros D. Telehealth technologies in evidence-based psychotherapy. In: Computer-Assisted and Web-Based Innovations in Psychology, Special Education, and Health. Massachusetts, USA: Academic Press; 2016:119-140.
- 20. Carlon S, Carter M, Stephenson J. Pilot study of a parent guided website access package for early intervention decision-making for autism spectrum disorder. Aust J Spec Educ 2017 Nov 16;41(2):141-156. [doi: 10.1017/jse.2017.7]
- 21. Grant N. Assisting Parents of Children With Autism to Make Intervention Decisions by Improving Their Health Literacy About Evidence. The University of Queensland. 2016. URL: <u>https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/43393047.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-02-20]
- 22. Ossebaard HC, van Gemert-Pijnen JE, Sorbi MJ, Seydel ER. A study of a Dutch online decision aid for parents of children with ADHD. J Telemed Telecare 2010 Jan 19;16(1):15-19. [doi: 10.1258/jtt.2009.001006] [Medline: 20086262]
- 23. Calvo R, Peters D. Positive Computing: Technology for Wellbeing and Human Potential. Sydney, Australia: The MIT Press; 2015.
- 24. Das JK, Salam RA, Lassi ZS, Khan MN, Mahmood W, Patel V, et al. Interventions for adolescent mental health: an overview of systematic reviews. J Adolesc Health 2016 Oct;59(4S):S49-S60 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2016.06.020] [Medline: 27664596]
- 25. Baumel A, Pawar A, Kane JM, Correll CU. Digital parent training for children with disruptive behaviors: systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized trials. J Child Adolesc Psychopharmacol 2016 Oct;26(8):740-749. [doi: 10.1089/cap.2016.0048] [Medline: 27286325]
- 26. Breitenstein SM, Gross D, Christophersen R. Digital delivery methods of parenting training interventions: a systematic review. Worldviews Evid Based Nurs 2014 Jun;11(3):168-176. [doi: <u>10.1111/wvn.12040</u>] [Medline: <u>24842341</u>]
- 27. Nieuwboer CC, Fukkink RG, Hermanns JM. Peer and professional parenting support on the internet: a systematic review. Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw 2013 Jul;16(7):518-528. [doi: 10.1089/cyber.2012.0547] [Medline: 23659725]
- 28. Shared Decision Making. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. 2019. URL: <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/about/</u> what-we-do/our-programmes/nice-guidance/nice-guidelines/shared-decision-making [accessed 2021-02-20]
- 29. Makoul G, Clayman ML. An integrative model of shared decision making in medical encounters. Patient Educ Couns 2006 Mar;60(3):301-312. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2005.06.010] [Medline: 16051459]
- 30. Bomhof-Roordink H, Gärtner FR, Stiggelbout AM, Pieterse AH. Key components of shared decision making models: a systematic review. BMJ Open 2019 Dec 17;9(12):e031763 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2019-031763] [Medline: 31852700]
- 31. Kon AA, Morrison W. Shared decision-making in pediatric practice: a broad view. Pediatrics 2018 Nov 1;142(Supplement 3):S129-S132. [doi: 10.1542/peds.2018-0516b]

- Salzburg Global Seminar. Salzburg statement on shared decision making. Br Med J 2011 Mar 22;342(mar22 3):d1745. [doi: <u>10.1136/bmj.d1745</u>] [Medline: <u>21427038</u>]
- Craig P, Dieppe P, Macintyre S, Michie S, Nazareth I, Petticrew M, Medical Research Council Guidance. Developing and evaluating complex interventions: the new Medical Research Council guidance. Br Med J 2008 Sep 29;337:a1655 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.a1655] [Medline: 18824488]
- 34. O'Connor A, Jacobsen MJ. Workbook on Developing and Evaluating Patient Decision Aids. The Ottawa Hospital Research Institute. 2003. URL: <u>https://decisionaid.ohri.ca/docs/develop/develop\_da.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-02-20]
- 35. Elwyn G, Durand MA, Song J, Aarts J, Barr PJ, Berger Z, et al. A three-talk model for shared decision making: multistage consultation process. Br Med J 2017 Nov 6;359:j4891 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.j4891] [Medline: 29109079]
- 36. International Patient Decision Aid Standards (IPDAS) Collaboration. Ottawa Health Research Institute. 2005. URL: <u>http://ipdas.ohri.ca/IPDAS\_checklist.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-02-20]
- 37. Elwyn G. Developing a quality criteria framework for patient decision aids: online international Delphi consensus process. Br Med J 2006 Aug 26;333(7565):417 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.38926.629329.ae]
- Crickard EL, O'Brien MS, Rapp CA, Holmes CL. Developing a framework to support shared decision making for youth mental health medication treatment. Community Ment Health J 2010 Oct 23;46(5):474-481. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10597-010-9327-z</u>] [Medline: <u>20571877</u>]
- 39. Ottawa Decision Support Tutorial (ODST): Improving Practitioners' Decision Support Skills Ottawa Hospital Research Institute. The Ottawa Hospital Research Institute. 2011. URL: <u>https://decisionaid.ohri.ca/odsf.html</u> [accessed 2021-02-20]
- 40. Bagley HJ, Short H, Harman NL, Hickey HR, Gamble CL, Woolfall K, et al. A patient and public involvement (PPI) toolkit for meaningful and flexible involvement in clinical trials a work in progress. Res Involv Engagem 2016 Apr 27;2(1):15 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s40900-016-0029-8] [Medline: 29062516]
- 41. Blackburn S, McLachlan S, Jowett S, Kinghorn P, Gill P, Higginbottom A, et al. The extent, quality and impact of patient and public involvement in primary care research: a mixed methods study. Res Involv Engagem 2018;4:16 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s40900-018-0100-8] [Medline: 29850029]
- 42. What Is Public Involvement in Research? National Institute of Health Research. 2017. URL: <u>http://www.invo.org.uk/</u><u>find-out-more/what-is-public-involvement-in-research-2/</u> [accessed 2021-02-20]
- Gondek D, Edbrooke-Childs J, Velikonja T, Chapman L, Saunders F, Hayes D, et al. Facilitators and barriers to person-centred care in child and young people mental health services: a systematic review. Clin Psychol Psychother 2017 Jul;24(4):870-886. [doi: <u>10.1002/cpp.2052</u>] [Medline: <u>27910173</u>]
- 44. Hayes D, Edbrooke-Childs J, Town R, Wolpert M, Midgley N. Barriers and facilitators to shared decision making in child and youth mental health: clinician perspectives using the Theoretical Domains Framework. Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2019 May;28(5):655-666 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00787-018-1230-0] [Medline: 30229306]
- 45. Polanczyk GV, Salum GA, Sugaya LS, Caye A, Rohde LA. Annual research review: a meta-analysis of the worldwide prevalence of mental disorders in children and adolescents. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 2015 Mar;56(3):345-365. [doi: 10.1111/jcpp.12381] [Medline: 25649325]
- 46. Wolpert M, Sharpe H, Humphrey N, Patalay P, Deighton J. EBPU Logic Model. Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services. 2016. URL: <u>https://www.corc.uk.net/resource-hub/ebpu-logic-model/</u> [accessed 2021-02-20]
- 47. Chang B, Webb TL, Benn Y, Stride CB. Which factors are associated with monitoring goal progress? Front Psychol 2017;8:434 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00434] [Medline: 28392775]
- Cheng H, Hayes D, Edbrooke-Childs J, Martin K, Chapman L, Wolpert M. What approaches for promoting shared decision-making are used in child mental health? A scoping review. Clin Psychol Psychother 2017 Nov;24(6):O1495-O1511. [doi: <u>10.1002/cpp.2106</u>] [Medline: <u>28752631</u>]
- 49. Barton E, Freeman T, Baum F, Javanparast S, Lawless A. The feasibility and potential use of case-tracked client journeys in primary healthcare: a pilot study. BMJ Open 2019 Jun 1;9(5):e024419 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2018-024419] [Medline: 31154293]
- 50. The Stress Bucket. Mental Health UK. 2002. URL: https://mentalhealth-uk.org/blog/the-stress-bucket/ [accessed 2021-02-20]
- Ahmed R, Raynor DK, McCaffery KJ, Aslani P. The design and user-testing of a question prompt list for attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. BMJ Open 2014 Dec 16;4(12):e006585 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2014-006585] [Medline: 25515843]
- 52. Brinkman WB, Hartl Majcher J, Poling LM, Shi G, Zender M, Sucharew H, et al. Shared decision-making to improve attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder care. Patient Educ Couns 2013 Oct;93(1):95-101 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2013.04.009] [Medline: 23669153]
- 53. Grant N, Rodger S, Hoffmann T. Intervention decision-making processes and information preferences of parents of children with autism spectrum disorders. Child Care Health Dev 2016 Jan;42(1):125-134. [doi: <u>10.1111/cch.12296</u>] [Medline: <u>26489390</u>]
- 54. Developing and Piloting i-THRIVE grids. Implementing THRIVE. 2018. URL: <u>http://www.implementingthrive.org/</u> <u>i-thrive-grids/</u> [accessed 2021-02-20]
- 55. Collins L. Optimization of Behavioral, Biobehavioral, and Biomedical Interventions: the Multiphase Optimization Strategy. New York City, USA: Springer; 2018.

- 56. Liverpool S, Webber H, Matthews R, Wolpert M, Edbrooke-Childs J. A mobile app to support parents making child mental health decisions: protocol for a feasibility cluster randomized controlled trial. JMIR Res Protoc 2019 Aug 14;8(8):e14571. [doi: 10.2196/14571]
- 57. Liverpool S, Edbrooke-Childs J. Feasibility and acceptability of a digital intervention to support shared decision-making in children's and young people's mental health: mixed methods pilot randomized controlled trial. JMIR Form Res 2021 Mar 2;5(3):e25235 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/25235] [Medline: 33650973]
- 58. McGurk M, Amis AA, Potamianos P, Goodger NM. Rapid prototyping techniques for anatomical modelling in medicine. Ann R Coll Surg Engl 1997 May;79(3):169-174 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>9196336</u>]
- 59. Staniszewska S, Denegri S. Patient and public involvement in research: future challenges. Evid Based Nurs 2013 Jul 6;16(3):69. [doi: 10.1136/eb-2013-101406] [Medline: 23749800]
- 60. Alvarez-Jimenez M, Alcazar-Corcoles MA, González-Blanch C, Bendall S, McGorry PD, Gleeson JF. Online, social media and mobile technologies for psychosis treatment: a systematic review on novel user-led interventions. Schizophr Res 2014 Jun;156(1):96-106. [doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2014.03.021] [Medline: 24746468]
- 61. Diehl JJ, Schmitt LM, Villano M, Crowell CR. The clinical use of robots for individuals with autism spectrum disorders: a critical review. Res Autism Spectr Disord 2012 Jan;6(1):249-262 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.rasd.2011.05.006] [Medline: 22125579]
- 62. Donker T, Petrie K, Proudfoot J, Clarke J, Birch M, Christensen H. Smartphones for smarter delivery of mental health programs: a systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2013 Nov 15;15(11):e247 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2791] [Medline: 24240579]

#### Abbreviations

CAMHS: child and adolescent mental health services MRC: Medical Research Council PPI: patient and public involvement SDM: shared decision making

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 08.10.20; peer-reviewed by H Belli, L McCann, K Fortuna; comments to author 22.03.21; revised version received 14.04.21; accepted 05.05.21; published 15.06.21.

Please cite as:

Liverpool S, Edbrooke-Childs J A Caregiver Digital Intervention to Support Shared Decision Making in Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services: Development Process and Stakeholder Involvement Analysis JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e24896 URL: https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e24896 doi:10.2196/24896 PMID:34128821

©Shaun Liverpool, Julian Edbrooke-Childs. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 15.06.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



# An mHealth Physical Activity Intervention for Latina Adolescents: Iterative Design of the Chicas Fuertes Study

Britta Larsen<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Emily D Greenstadt<sup>1</sup>, MA, MPH; Brittany L Olesen<sup>1</sup>, MPH; Bess H Marcus<sup>2</sup>, PhD; Job Godino<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Michelle M Zive<sup>3</sup>, MS, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Herbert Wertheim School of Public Health and Human Longevity Science, University of California, San Diego, San Diego, CA, United States <sup>2</sup>Department of Behavioral and Social Sciences, Brown University, Providence, RI, United States

Corresponding Author: Britta Larsen, PhD Herbert Wertheim School of Public Health and Human Longevity Science University of California San Diego 9500 Gilman Dr. San Diego, CA United States Phone: 1 8585348429 Email: blarsen@ucsd.edu

# Abstract

**Background:** Only 3% of Latina teens meet the national physical activity (PA) guidelines, and these habits appear to persist into adulthood. Developing effective interventions to increase PA in Latina teens is necessary to prevent disease and reduce disparities. Mobile technologies may be especially appropriate for this population, but mobile health (mHealth) intervention content must be designed in collaboration with the target population.

**Objective:** This study aims to develop an mHealth PA intervention for Latina adolescents using a multistage iterative process based on the principles of human-centered design and multiple iterations of the design phase of the IDEAS (Integrate, Design, Assess, Share) framework.

**Methods:** On the basis of the feedback from a previous pilot study, the planned intervention included visual social media posts and text messaging, a commercial wearable tracker, and a primarily visual website. The development of the requested mHealth intervention components was accomplished through the following 2 phases: conducting focus groups with the target population and testing the usability of the final materials with a youth advisory board (YAB) comprising Latina adolescents. Participants for focus groups (N=50) were girls aged 13-18 years who could speak and read in English and who were recruited from local high schools and after-school programs serving a high proportion of Latinos. Facilitated discussions focused on experience with PA and social media apps and specific feedback on intervention material prototypes and possible names and logos. Viable products were designed based on their feedback and then tested for usability by the YAB. YAB members (n=4) were Latinas aged 13-18 years who were not regularly active and were recruited via word of mouth and selected through an application process.

**Results:** The focus group discussions yielded the following findings: PA preferences included walking, running, and group fitness classes, whereas the least popular activities were running, swimming, and biking. Most participants (n=48, 96%) used some form of social media, with Instagram being the most favored. Participants preferred text messages to be sent no more than once per day, be personalized, and be positively worded. The focus group participants preferred an intervention directly targeting Latinas and social media posts that were brightly colored, included girls of all body types, and provided specific tips and information. Modified intervention materials were generally perceived favorably by the YAB members, who provided suggestions for further refinement, including the shortening of texts and the incorporation of some Spanish phrases.

**Conclusions:** Latina teens were generally enthusiastic about an mHealth PA intervention, provided that the materials were targeted specifically to them and their preferences. Through multiple iterations of development and feedback from the target population, we gained insight into the needs of Latina teens and joined with industry partners to build a viable final product.

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e26195) doi:10.2196/26195

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Department of Pediatrics, University of California, San Diego, San Diego, CA, United States

#### **KEYWORDS**

mobile health; human-centered design; qualitative research; adolescent health; health disparities; mobile phone

#### Introduction

#### **Adolescent Girls' Physical Activity**

Adolescent girls report the lowest levels of regular physical activity (PA), particularly girls from racial and ethnic minority backgrounds [1]. Although only 8% of adolescents meet the national guidelines of 60 minutes of moderate-to-vigorous physical activity (MVPA) per day [2], the number is even worse when examined by gender and ethnicity, with only 2.9% of Mexican American adolescent girls meeting the guidelines (compared with 17.9% of Mexican American boys) [1]. These disparities in adolescents are paralleled by disparities in adulthood, with Latina women reporting less MVPA than non-Latino White and non-Latino Black women and higher rates of lifestyle-related chronic diseases, including overweight or obesity and diabetes [3-5]. Developing interventions to increase MVPA in Latina adolescents could not only improve their physical, psychosocial, and cognitive health during childhood [6] but also promote lifelong health habits that can reduce growing health disparities [7,8].

# Theory-Based Interventions to Improve PA in Latina Adults

One approach is to use theory-based interventions shown to be effective in Latina adults and adapt them to an adolescent population. We previously developed and tested the efficacy of a 6-month, culturally adapted, individually tailored, Spanish web-based PA intervention called *Pasos Hacia La Salud* [9] for Latina women based on the principles of social cognitive theory (SCT) [10,11] and the transtheoretical model (TTM) [12]. The results showed that MVPA was significantly higher in the intervention [13], and the increase was maintained 6 months later [14]. In addition, the intervention group was approximately 3 times more likely to meet the national guidelines than the control group [13].

#### Pilot Study to Increase PA in Latina Adolescents

On the basis of this success, we adapted the web-based intervention through formative research to make it appropriate for Latina adolescents and then conducted a 12-week single-arm pilot study (called *Niñas Saludables*) to examine the feasibility, acceptability, and potential efficacy of the adapted intervention [15]. The results of this study were promising, with 90% (19/21) of Latina girls returning for follow-up measures at the end of 12 weeks, and self-reported PA increased by 58.8 (SD 11.33) minutes per week (P<.001) [15]. However, acceptability was only moderate, with girls in closeout interviews expressing a desire for an intervention that was primarily delivered via mobile technologies, including social media, wearables, apps, and text messaging.

#### **Developing a Mobile Health Intervention**

On the basis of the findings from the pilot study, a new study was launched to develop a mobile health (mHealth) multiplatform and multitechnology intervention to increase

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e26195
```

MVPA in Latina adolescents. The development of mHealth interventions requires the assimilation of user-friendly platforms and theoretical constructs in addition to technical and practical considerations and user feedback. Although mobile technologies are increasingly being incorporated into behavioral health interventions, the design of such interventions is not always guided by end users' experience with technology [16,17]. The successful integration of technology components is most likely to occur when interventions are cocreated with behavioral scientists and stakeholders, such as members of the target population and technology industry partners. Human-centered and user-centered design emphasizes understanding the needs of a target population and developing solutions through multiple iterations of design, testing, and feedback from end users [18]; these steps have been integrated into sequential frameworks, such as IDEAS (Integrate, Design, Assess, Share) [19,20], which grounds human-centered design in behavior change theory. To ensure acceptability and usability while maintaining theoretical rigor, we chose to design the new intervention through an iterative process, with the target population guided by principles of human-centered design and the design phase of the IDEAS framework. Our ultimate goal was to work with Latina teens and tech partners to co-design mHealth intervention content that would meet the needs and preferences of the target population while being based in behavior change theory.

#### Methods and Results

#### **Study Overview**

We conducted multiple iterations of formative research partnering with Latina adolescents to co-design intervention materials for a 6-month mHealth MVPA intervention. The focus was on the design of the content and protocols rather than ideating approaches or testing efficacy; thus, the process was guided by design frameworks, including human- and user-centered design [17,18] and the four phases of the design topic area of the IDEAS framework [19].

The IDEAS framework [19] comprises 10 phases organized into 4 larger topic areas (integrate, design, assess, and share; Figure 1). The first area, integrate, centers on broader processes of empathizing with the target population, specifying a target behavior, and grounding in behavior change theory. This was largely addressed by the *Niñas Saludables* pilot study [15], including initial formative interviews, a single-arm pilot study, and exit interviews with participants, all of which highlighted the need for an mHealth MVPA intervention for Latina adolescents further grounded in the TTM and SCT. IDEAS is meant to act as a flexible framework and toolbox rather than a rigid structure; thus, rather than moving sequentially through all phases, we chose to conduct multiple iterations of the design phase: ideate implementation strategies, prototype potential products, gather user feedback, and build a viable minimum product. Consistent with human-centered design, we conducted multiple iterations of these four steps in collaboration with the target population. Given the novelty of this intervention

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

approach with this population, rather than moving on to testing the new materials in a pilot trial, we chose to confirm the acceptability of the intervention materials by asking members of the target population to perform a usability test of the intervention components through an additional iteration of design feedback [17].

Figure 1. Study iterations addressing the phases of the IDEAS (Integrate, Design, Assess, Share) framework. RCT: randomized controlled trial.

Previous <i>Niñas Saludables</i> pilot trial exit interviews (N=17)		Nine focus groups (total N=50)							
		Youth Advisory Board (N=4)				Future randomized trial			
Integrate insights from users and theory			Design iteratively	and rapidly wi	th user feed	back	Assess rig	orously	Share
Empathize with target users	Specify target behavior	Ground in behavioral theory	Ideate implementation strategies	Prototype potential products	Gather user feedback	Build minimum viable product	Pilot potential efficacy and usability	Evaluate efficacy in RCT	Share intervention and findings

#### **Planned Intervention**

The planned intervention included multiple components—an initial goal-setting session based on motivational interviewing and teaching behavior change techniques and theoretical constructs (eg, goal setting, self-monitoring, behavioral capability, and self-efficacy), followed by a 6-month intervention delivered via multiple mobile technology channels. The approach was chosen in response to feedback from the pilot study, in which girls requested more use of mobile technology; frequent, short doses of intervention (vs weekly or monthly); greater accountability and real-time feedback; and primarily visual content [15]. On the basis of this feedback, the following changes were planned for the new intervention's content and delivery, following step 4 (ideate potential implementation strategies) of the design category:

- Theory-based behavior change tips previously posted on the website would be converted into Instagram posts.
- A commercial activity tracker (Fitbit) would be introduced to reinforce key elements of behavior change (eg, goal setting, self-monitoring, and reinforcement).
- Automated text messages would provide reminders, support, and accountability.
- The website would be redesigned to reduce text, focus on visuals, and integrate data from activity trackers.
- The study would adopt a new name, as participants felt that the name *Niñas Saluables* was more appropriate for younger girls.

The intervention content was developed through 2 phases: (1) conducting focus groups with the target population (first iteration of design) and (2) vetting the modified materials for usability with a youth advisory board (YAB) comprising Latina adolescents (second iteration). The procedure and findings are described here. As each process informed the next, the methods and results from each phase were presented contiguously.

#### **Focus Groups**

#### **Participants**

XSL•F() RenderX

Inclusion criteria for the focus groups required participants to identify as females aged between 13 and 18 years who reside in San Diego County and spoke English. We chose to develop an English intervention because the majority (88%) of Latino children in the United States speak only English or very good

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e26195
```

English, with only 1% speaking no English [21]. No interested participants were excluded because they did not speak English. Participants were recruited through in-person presentations at local middle and high schools with a high percentage of Latina students. Recruitment was also conducted through community partnerships and after-school teen programs, such as the Young Men's Christian Association and college-readiness programs, focused on Latinas. The focus groups were described as seeking insight and feedback from teenage Latinas regarding PA and social media as a means to develop a more age-relevant and culturally relevant digital media intervention. Ultimately, the final sample of participants included 9 focus groups of 2-8 girls in each (total: N=50), aged between 13 and 18 years, with 94% (47/50) of participants identifying as Latina. Focus groups took place across San Diego County between September 19, 2019, and October 29, 2019. All study procedures and data collection materials were reviewed and approved by the University of California San Diego institutional review board, and all participants provided written informed assent or parental consent. Parental consents were available in either English or Spanish.

#### Procedures

The focus groups were structured to capture information using 2 different methods. The first portion of the focus group was formatted as a semistructured group discussion, during which the focus group moderator posed questions regarding PA likes, dislikes, barriers, and motivators as well as questions about social media apps and use.

The second portion of the focus group adopted a market research approach to assess the intervention content. Each focus group viewed 16 sample Instagram posts intended to motivate teenage girls to become more physically active, each based on a behavioral change technique [19] or SCT or TTM theoretical constructs, such as goal setting, self-monitoring, outcome expectancy, social support, or environment [10-12], and modeled off of popular Latina, fitness-focused Instagram accounts. Participants were provided with prepared notepads in which they could record their personal thoughts and reactions to each one. They were then asked to provide written feedback on 12 sample text messages based on similar constructs that included either general information (eg, "remember to schedule your activity for the week!") or personalized information (eg, "call [friend's name] and see if she can exercise today"). Finally,

participants viewed potential study logos and potential names for the study and ranked their favorites.

Consistent with user-centered design [17], modifications were made to the content throughout the process. After 2 focus groups, staff members reviewed the feedback and eliminated posts or text messages that received consistently negative feedback. These were replaced by new samples that incorporated the suggestions.

#### Focus Group Data Synthesis

Audio-recorded data from the group discussions were transcribed and examined to identify trends in PA and social media preferences. Responses to questions regarding preferences for PA and social media were tallied to determine the most common responses. Feedback on social media posts and text messages were generally short (eg, "like it," and "not my favorite") and did not lend themselves to formal qualitative analysis; however, our ultimate goal was assessing end users' experience with the intervention products, particularly whether they were perceived positively or negatively and why. Therefore, written responses to sample Instagram posts and text messages were compiled and grouped based on the nature of the feedback, with 2 staff members determining which examples were viewed positively and negatively and whether there were specific suggestions for improvement.

#### Focus Group Findings

Focus group discussions yielded trends regarding PA preferences, barriers, and motivators among the participants. When asked which activities they enjoyed the most, the top 3 responses were walking (n=11), running (n=8), and going to the gym or group fitness classes (n=7). Regarding activities they disliked, running (n=10), swimming (n=7), and biking (n=7) were the least popular. Homework (n=17) and feeling lazy or tired (n=14) were the top 2 barriers to being physically active, and family support (n=10) and supportive friends or teammates (n=9) were the most common motivators across the focus groups.

Discussions of social media use showed that a large majority of the participants favored Instagram, Snapchat, and TikTok. For Instagram, participants expressed a preference for regular posts rather than using only Instagram stories (which expire after 24 hours) because they wanted to have access to all posts on the account. Feedback on the Instagram posts revealed several patterns regarding their preferences, with the most popular posts incorporating (1) brightly colored images and limited, succinct text; (2) specific tips and applicable information on PA; (3) Latina cultural themes and Spanish phrases; (4) images of relatable and ethnically diverse models of all body types engaging in PA; (5) images promoting social support; and (6) videos demonstrating specific exercises that they could try at home. They did not like posts with darker colors, with less specific suggestions or phrases, or with images of girls with extremely thin body types.

For feedback on text messages, participants indicated the types of texts that would be most helpful and motivating as well as how frequently they should be sent. When assessing the preferences expressed by participants, there were 3 notable patterns across the focus groups. The first was a preference for messages to be sent at a rate of no more than 1 message per day. Second, on reviewing samples of both personalized and generic text messages, there was a strong preference for personalized texts that included their own name, the name of a friend, and a familiar location and a particular preference for feedback and reminders based on their own current PA rather than generic reminders. Finally, feedback revealed that texts should be casually worded with positive messages. Participants expressed antipathy toward language they perceived as "negative," "annoying," or "nagging," with a particular aversion to any message that "sounds like something my mom would say."

Finally, participants were presented 8 eight potential study names and 5 potential logo styles, and they indicated which ones they felt were most appealing and appropriate for their demographic. Then, they ranked their top 3 choices for each, with the option of creating their own idea for a study name. The most popular choice was *Chicas Fuertes*, which was selected as the new study name. Participants also expressed enthusiasm for one particular logo's esthetic, which was chosen as the new study logo (Figure 2). Participants were also asked whether they would prefer an intervention that was only for Latinas or whether they would prefer a program targeted at adolescent girls in general that any of their friends could participate in. Participants expressed a desire for an intervention that was specifically built for and only included Latinas.



Figure 2. Chicas Fuertes study logo.

# Chicas Fuertes

#### Incorporating Focus Group Feedback

Following the last stage of the design phase, feedback from the focus groups was used to develop a minimum viable intervention product. On the basis of the findings from the focus groups, the study adopted a new name and logo, and staff developed new materials and protocols. The new study name, *Chicas Fuertes,* and the new logo framed the study branding and were incorporated into all study and recruitment materials. Feedback on PA preferences, motivators, and barriers was factored into the development of Instagram posts and text messages to feature topics and themes that proved relevant to the study population while still being based on SCT and TTM theoretical principles.

To provide personalized text messages, we engaged tech industry partners (Fitabase, Small Steps Lab LLC) to develop and implement an algorithm to provide automated texts based on real-time data from Fitbit activity and incorporate names of family and friends the participant identified as key supporters. A text messaging schedule was developed to reflect the preferences of the participants, with messages sent 4 days per week, and the language of all text messages was worded succinctly and positively regardless of whether the message was framed to praise, reinforce, or encourage PA. For the midweek feedback text, participants who had achieved  $\geq 45\%$ of their weekly goal received reinforcing messages informing them that they were on track to meet their goal. Those achieving <45% of their goal received an encouraging message along with specific suggestions of behavior change techniques, social support sources, and personalized locations where they could get the rest of their activity minutes for the week. Those already meeting goals received praise and were encouraged to set a higher goal for the following week. Table 1 provides the text messaging schedule and a sample of each type of text.

Table 1. Sample text messages.

Day	Type of text	Example
Thursday	Midweek physical activity feedback	"So far, you've logged ## active minutes. Schedule time this weekend to get in some exercise with [social support #1] so you can meet this week's goal of ## minutes by Sunday!"
Saturday	Weekly quiz reminder	"Take a 60 second break from your day and answer the weekly quiz question here! chicasfeurtessd.com"
Sunday	End of week physical activ- ity feedback	"Here's some good news for you! You completed your goal last week and got in ## active minutes! How many minutes will you get next week?"
Sunday	Plan activity reminder	"The best way to meet your activity goals is to plan ahead. Hop onto the website and plan your daily ac- tivity for the week! chicasfeurtessd.com"

When developing Instagram posts, the focus group participants' preferences coupled with evidence-based behavior change techniques and theoretical constructs determined the nature of the content, resulting in an Instagram posting schedule of 1 post per day (Textbox 1). Each day featured a different theoretical

construct or behavior change technique, including goal setting, self-monitoring, accountability, avoiding boredom, and finding time to exercise (Figure 3). Some images incorporated Spanish words or phrases, and all captions were written in English.

Textbox 1. Instagram posting schedule (day and behavior change construct).



Figure 3. Sample Instagram posts demonstrating (A) self-efficacy and (B) social support and accountability.



Instagram story posts were also created using the polling feature for additional reminders to exercise and sync Fitbits. A study hashtag was also created to allow participants to tag their own posts if they wanted to share them with the study team or other participants.

#### Youth Advisory Board

#### **Participants**

RenderX

Following the focus groups, iterative intervention development continued with the establishment of the YAB. The purpose of the YAB was to complete another iteration of the design phase by beta testing each of the newly developed intervention components to assess usability and by providing additional ongoing feedback on the finer details of the study design to develop the final version of the intervention materials to be used in a larger trial. Recruitment for the YAB took place across leaders helping to promote the position by distributing application forms to Latina teenagers. To be eligible, participants had to self-identify as Latina, be aged between 13 and 17 years, not engage in regular PA (<150 min per week of MVPA), and express an interest in public health research and promoting health in their community. Over the course of 2 weeks, the study team received applications from 10 candidates and ultimately selected 5 based on their application responses. The 5 members came from 3 different San Diego high schools and were aged between 15 and 17 years. After 1 week, 1 member notified the study team that she was unable to fulfill her commitment, resulting in a final YAB of 4 members.

local high schools and after-school programs, with teachers and

#### Procedures

The YAB members agreed to a minimum 6-month commitment, in which they would beta test intervention materials and provide
honest and timely feedback on a regular basis. During months 1 to 2, the YAB was invited to follow the *Chicas Fuertes* Instagram account and provide feedback on posts developed based on the focus group feedback. Through email, the YAB provided commentary on a weekly basis on each post from the past week regarding what they liked about each post, what they did not like, and what changes they would suggest for improvement. During this time, the YAB also received sample text messages intended to provide individualized PA information and motivation and responded to each of these text messages with a detailed report of their reactions.

Beyond the scope of the focus groups, the YAB members were each given a test account for the Chicas Fuertes website and asked to test out all the website features during months 3 to 4. They used emails to provide comments on their experience with the website and report any bugs or confusing elements. The study website was adapted from the version used in the Niñas Saludables pilot study through collaboration with industry partners (Illumina Inc, Fitabase) and included resources for motivating behavior change, planning activity, and connecting with other participants. The site included a calendar for planning out weekly activity, which was overlaid with real-time activity data from Fitbits. Other features included a weekly leader board showing the 2 participants with the most active minutes that week, a message board between participants, maps of the city with links to places to be active, and tips for overcoming common barriers. Finally, the website included questionnaires used in previous trials [9] about theoretical constructs (eg, social support, self-efficacy, and processes of change) that participants would fill out monthly, also indicating their stage of change regarding PA (ie, contemplation, preparation, and action) per the TTM. On the basis of their questionnaire responses, participants received individually tailored reports on their current activity, which included their progress to date, praise for behavioral and cognitive strategies of change they used, and suggestions for areas to improve (eg, identifying sources of social support and ways to enhance self-efficacy). To keep participants engaged in the features of the website, they received points for engaging in certain activities (eg, logging in, planning their activity, and writing on the message board), and they could redeem points for prizes.

Finally, in months 5 to 6, the YAB provided feedback on finer details of the intervention and research protocols, such as the types of study participation incentives (eg, cash and gift cards) they believed would be most appealing to Latina teenagers for research participant compensation. As intervention materials and procedures continued to evolve, the YAB provided ongoing feedback. As the YAB was small (only 4 members), data were not compiled across them; rather, we focused on their individual experiences as end users of the minimum viable products.

# YAB Findings

Intervention materials were generally perceived favorably by the YAB members, who also provided suggestions for further improvements (Table 2). Consistent with the feedback from the focus groups, YAB members enjoyed Instagram posts that were colorful and positive and particularly liked having specific suggestions or demonstrations of activity:

I liked the inspirational aspect to the post i know a lot of times when I'm on instagram and have nothing else to do and I see post with quotes that really inspire me I get up and do something active so it really helps. [YAB member 1]

I looked through the Instagram feed and like it so far. The ideas that are given to encourage are actually helpful in my opinion, for instance, the post that suggests to have friends join or to dance, these I consider helpful because it's not just hardcore Exercise like other accounts describe it to be. The videos that show certain exercises that would be easy to do at home or at a closed environment, for those who aren't comfortable doing so outside, are also very helpful. The stories are useful, reminding to check their sync because most of people have a busy schedule so they can often forget. [YAB member 2]

The post where the woman is running I didn't like. The words were motivating yes but the color of the picture was very dark and it didn't bring that enthusiasm for me to go for a run or something. I would have made it more clear and more. [YAB member 3]



Table 2.	Findings	from the	focus	groups	and	youth	advisory	board.
----------	----------	----------	-------	--------	-----	-------	----------	--------

Steps in the design phase	Findings	
	Focus groups	Youth advisory board
Prototype potential products	<ul> <li>Built sample Instagram posts incorporating theoretical constructs</li> <li>Wrote sample text messages prompting goal setting and providing progress feedback</li> <li>Redeveloped website to be primarily visual and incorporate real-time data from wearable trackers</li> <li>Developed possible study logos and study names</li> </ul>	• N/A <sup>a</sup>
Gather user feedback	<ul> <li>Desire for positive media; bright colors, positive wording, and encouragement versus nagging</li> <li>Preference for personalized (vs generic) text messages, at most 1 per day</li> <li>Preference for intervention exclusively for Latinas, with the incorporation of cultural themes and Spanish phrases</li> <li>Preference for Chicas Fuertes study name</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Largely positive response to all social media posts; appreciation for mix of cognitive and behavioral strategies for behavior change; and suggestions for even more bright colors, varied body types, and Spanish phrases</li> <li>Positive response to text messages, suggestions to make them shorter, and appreciation for positive language</li> <li>Positive response to website design and content</li> <li>Positive response to study name and logo</li> <li>Preference for cash incentives and identified prizes for engagement</li> </ul>
Build minimum viable product	<ul> <li>Built texting algorithm for automatic goal setting and real-time feedback based on Fitbit</li> <li>Wrote text messages in a casual language and positive tone</li> <li>Developed new Instagram posts with bright colors and with models with a broad array of body types and incorporated cultural themes and Spanish phrases</li> <li>Developed Instagram posting schedule of 1 post per day, which were mapped onto theoretical constructs and BCTs<sup>b</sup></li> <li>Branded all study materials with the new study name and logo</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Final schedule and content of text messages and social media posts developed and mapped onto behavior change theory constructs</li> <li>Bank of 120 Instagram posts developed featuring bright colors, motivational quotes, specific strategies for change, and Spanish phrases</li> <li>Website content finalized</li> <li>Text message algorithm finalized with positive, succinct text messages</li> <li>Prize and payment schedule finalized</li> </ul>

<sup>a</sup>N/A: not applicable.

<sup>b</sup>BCT: behavior change technique.

As for text messages, the YAB also provided feedback on the wording, length, and content of each. For the text message "You've completed 38 minutes out of your goal of 100 active minutes for the week. Use the weekend to reach your goal by getting active with a friend! You can do it!!!," YAB members provided the following feedback:

I like this message a lot actually. It's a useful reminder and not too long and doesn't sound like nagging. [YAB member 1 feedback]

I think it might be a little wordy in the beginning but overall I think it's pretty good. Maybe try "You've completed 38 out of 100 minutes for your goal this week." [YAB member 2 feedback]

For the text message "Hey girl! Got a minute? Click on chicasfuertessd.com to answer the weekly quiz question," a YAB member provided the following feedback:

Sounds good to me! I especially like the "Got a minute" part lol. [YAB member 1 feedback]

Finally, for the website, the YAB reported on the website's esthetics, functionality, and content. Feedback was largely positive:

I really liked how everything was really accessible. Everything was really clear and aesthetically cute. I could tell on the home page that there are more things coming up since there are empty spaces. I really liked the leader board, I am the type of person that likes comparing progress and knows my level of how active I've been, so the leader board would really be of motivation for me. Likewise, the instagram link seems very encouraging since there is a certain display of what is in the social media page. My favorite part is that in all it seems like it's a very supporting group to be more active, with many different ways to move along your day while being active. [YAB member 1]

Some critical feedback included the 15-minute monthly questionnaire, which was too lengthy. However, the study team ultimately decided to leave this feature, as the individual tailoring of the website was based on the questionnaire responses.

The YAB also provided feedback on which prizes to offer to study participants as incentives to complete website activities. Consistently favored prizes include logo-branded items, such as a cell phone power bank, plastic tumbler, aluminum water bottle, and a Bluetooth speaker. Finally, when asked which incentives they believed would be most appealing to participants in exchange for participating in study activities (eg, attending baseline visits and completing 6-month assessments), YAB members unanimously expressed that cash or checks would be more appealing than gift cards. Findings from the focus groups and YAB are summarized in Table 2.

# Discussion

# Partnering With Stakeholders to Design Intervention Content

This paper focused on ways to address the challenges encountered by both academia and industry when creating effective, user-friendly, and culturally adapted mHealth interventions with high retention rates. The first step in developing and implementing a successful mHealth intervention is to engage a multidisciplinary leadership team comprising researchers in public health, industry partners, and the target population. For this study, we included behavioral researchers, mHealth technology partners (web developers and programmers), and multiple groups of Latina adolescents and used the principles of human-centered design and the design phase of the IDEAS framework to integrate expertise from each party.

Our previous research highlighted Latina teens' desire for an MVPA intervention that was primarily delivered via mobile technologies. The research team ideated implementation strategies to incorporate text messaging, social media, a wearable tracker, and a redesigned website and then developed prototypes by collaborating with industry partners, including programmers and web developers. The design iterations in this study confirmed the acceptability of this approach, and preferences expressed by the target population guided the deep and surface features of the prototypes, which were mapped onto behavior change constructs from SCT and TTM. Further assessment of these prototypes through beta testing with a YAB allowed for further refinement and confirmation that the end product was viable and acceptable to the target population.

#### **Mobile Technology and Adolescents**

Digital technologies are an attractive component of behavioral interventions because of their low cost and broad reach in both adult and pediatric populations. Access to smartphones is now nearly universal in teens (95%) and eclipses computer access (88%), and nearly all teens (91%) reported using social media [22]. However, incorporating mobile technologies into interventions has achieved mixed success [23,24]. As more digital technologies emerge, frameworks guiding the incorporation of these technologies into behavioral interventions are increasingly needed [25]. Technology will improve efficacy and reach only if it is used as a tool to meet the needs of target populations and strategically designed to facilitate, rather than compete with, elements of behavior change theory [25].

XSL•FO

#### **Cocreating With Participants**

Human-centered design emphasizes enlisting members of a target population as cocreators of interventions, along with refining interventions through multiple iterations of design, testing, and feedback [18]. Importantly, the IDEAS framework expands this process to center it in sound behavioral theory, along with outlining a clear sequence of steps from ideating to disseminating solutions [20]. It was developed in the process of building an app-based intervention to increase vegetable consumption in overweight adults [19], and it has also been used to develop a mobile app to reduce problem drinking among college students [26] and to build a nutrition education mobile app for families [27]. No studies have previously used it to design content for a PA intervention or an intervention specifically targeting a racial and ethnic minority population.

As previously mentioned, the framework is meant to be flexible to allow for adaptation to populations and interventions. We felt it was most important to focus on multiple iterations of the design phase of the framework rather than moving on to a pilot trial for several reasons, as follows: (1) we targeted the intervention to a niche population with unique needs and preferences based on age and ethnicity, (2) no previous MVPA interventions had specifically targeted Latina teens using digital technologies, and (3) our intervention design focused on integrating multiple technologies rather than developing a single technology channel. By cocreating the intervention content with a large sample of the target population through multiple iterations of focus groups and a YAB, we developed intervention content with high acceptability, which is ready for testing in a trial.

# Strengths

This study had several strengths. The proposed intervention focused on a key preventive health behavior (MVPA) in an at-risk, underserved population (Latina teens) and thus will fill a critical gap in public health literature. The intervention development was guided by a framework that included elements of human-centered design and behavior change theory. To ensure the production of a viable product that met the needs of the target population, we engaged in multiple iterations of feedback and design, each with a new sample from the target population. In addition, the focus groups had a large sample size (N=50).

#### Limitations

Despite its notable strengths, this study had several limitations. Owing to the guidelines at schools where focus group participants were recruited from, we did not exclude non-Latina girls from participating in the focus groups. However, very few (n=3) non-Latina girls participated; thus, it is not likely that this influenced the results in any meaningful way. In addition, although the short, written feedback from participants in a market research format met the overall needs of the study, it did not allow for a more thorough qualitative analysis, which may have provided further insight into the needs and preferences of the target population. Finally, the intervention incorporated elements of SCT and the TTM because the original intervention

was designed around these theories; however, other theories of behavior could have also been appropriate.

#### Conclusions

We sought to design an mHealth MVPA intervention for Latina adolescents that not only incorporated digital technologies but did so in a way that was theory based and addressed the needs and preferences of our target population. Latinas were enthusiastic about a multitechnology intervention, particularly if it felt relatable, positive, and encouraging. Through multiple iterations of development and feedback, we gained insight into the needs of Latina teens and joined with industry partners to build a viable final product that is now being tested in a randomized controlled trial.

#### Acknowledgments

This research was supported by a grant from the National Institutes of Health and National Institute for Nursing Research, R01NR017876. The authors would like to thank the participants for their time and input and Kathryn O'Connor for assistance with recruitment.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

## References

- Whitt-Glover MC, Taylor WC, Floyd MF, Yore MM, Yancey AK, Matthews CE. Disparities in physical activity and sedentary behaviors among US children and adolescents: prevalence, correlates, and intervention implications. J Public Health Policy 2009;30(Suppl 1):S309-S334. [doi: 10.1057/jphp.2008.46] [Medline: 19190581]
- 2. Physical Activity Guidelines for Americans. Washington, DC: Department of Health and Human Services; 2018.
- Ogden CL, Carroll MD, Kit BK, Flegal KM. Prevalence of obesity among adults: United States, 2011-2012. NCHS Data Brief 2013 Oct(131):1-8 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 24152742]
- 4. Menke A, Casagrande S, Geiss L, Cowie CC. Prevalence of and trends in diabetes among adults in the United States, 1988-2012. J Am Med Assoc 2015 Sep 8;314(10):1021-1029. [doi: <u>10.1001/jama.2015.10029</u>] [Medline: <u>26348752</u>]
- 5. Blackwell DL, Lucas JW, Clarke TC. Summary health statistics for US adults: national health interview survey, 2012. Vital Health Stat 10 2014 Feb(260):1-161 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 24819891]
- Janssen I, Leblanc AG. Systematic review of the health benefits of physical activity and fitness in school-aged children and youth. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2010 May 11;7(1):40 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-7-40] [Medline: 20459784]
- 7. Barnekow-Bergkvist M, Hedberg G, Janlert U, Jansson E. Adolescent determinants of cardiovascular risk factors in adult men and women. Scand J Public Health 2001 Sep;29(3):208-217. [Medline: <u>11680773</u>]
- 8. Sacker A, Cable N. Do adolescent leisure-time physical activities foster health and well-being in adulthood? Evidence from two British birth cohorts. Eur J Public Health 2006 Jun;16(3):332-336. [doi: 10.1093/eurpub/cki189] [Medline: 16157610]
- Marcus BH, Hartman SJ, Pekmezi D, Dunsiger SI, Linke SE, Marquez B, et al. Using interactive Internet technology to promote physical activity in Latinas: rationale, design, and baseline findings of Pasos Hacia La Salud. Contemp Clin Trials 2015 Sep;44:149-158 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.cct.2015.08.004] [Medline: 26255237]
- 10. Bandura A. Social Foundations of Thought and Action: A Social Cognitive Theory. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall; 1986.
- Bandura A. Self-efficacy: toward a unifying theory of behavioral change. Psychol Rev 1977 Mar;84(2):191-215. [doi: 10.1037//0033-295x.84.2.191] [Medline: 847061]
- 12. Prochaska J, Redding C, Evers K. The transtheoretical model and stages of change. In: Health Behavior and Health Education. Fourth Edition. San Francisco, US: Jossey-Bass; 2008:97-122.
- 13. Marcus BH, Hartman SJ, Larsen BA, Pekmezi D, Dunsiger SI, Linke S, et al. Pasos Hacia La Salud: a randomized controlled trial of an internet-delivered physical activity intervention for Latinas. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2016 May 28;13:62 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12966-016-0385-7] [Medline: 27234302]
- Hartman SJ, Dunsiger SI, Bock BC, Larsen BA, Linke S, Pekmezi D, et al. Physical activity maintenance among Spanish-speaking Latinas in a randomized controlled trial of an internet-based intervention. J Behav Med 2017 Jun;40(3):392-402 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10865-016-9800-4] [Medline: 27752866]
- Larsen B, Benitez T, Cano M, Dunsiger SS, Marcus BH, Mendoza-Vasconez A, et al. Web-based physical activity intervention for latina adolescents: feasibility, acceptability, and potential efficacy of the Niñas Saludables study. J Med Internet Res 2018 May 9;20(5):e170 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9206] [Medline: 29743151]
- de vito Dabbs A, Myers BA, Mc Curry KR, Dunbar-Jacob J, Hawkins RP, Begey A, et al. User-centered design and interactive health technologies for patients. Comput Inform Nurs 2009;27(3):175-183 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/NCN.0b013e31819f7c7c] [Medline: 19411947]
- 17. Abras C, Maloney-Krichmar D, Preece J. User-Centered Design. In: Encyclopedia of Human-Computer Interaction. Thousand Oaks, SA: Sage; 2004.

- 18. Kelley D, Kelley T. Creative Confidence: Unleashing the Creative Potential Within Us All. New York, USA: Crown Business; 2013.
- Mummah SA, King AC, Gardner CD, Sutton S. Iterative development of Vegethon: a theory-based mobile app intervention to increase vegetable consumption. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2016 Aug 8;13:90 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1186/s12966-016-0400-z</u>] [Medline: <u>27501724</u>]
- 20. Mummah SA, Robinson TN, King AC, Gardner CD, Sutton S. Ideas (integrate, design, assess, and share): a framework and toolkit of strategies for the development of more effective digital interventions to change health behavior. J Med Internet Res 2016 Dec 16;18(12):e317 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5927] [Medline: 27986647]

org%2Fhispanic%2F2016%2F04%2F20%2Fthe-nations-latino-population-is-defined-by-its-youth%2F&asg=AOvVaw11yBu45waJ0hoFHWIBXL0Y [accessed 2021-06-04]

- 22. Mobile Fact Sheet. Pew Research Center. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.google.com/</u> <u>uf%a=t&act=j&q=&scat=s&suce=web&ad=&acat=ja&acat=2ahUKEwiTxsKchv7wAhVEyjgCHcQABT8QFmECAYQAA&at=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.</u> pewresearch.org%2Ftopics%2Fmobile%2F&usg=AOvVaw3TQk307iwqj0CdvFzDzQzx [accessed 2021-06-04]
- Fedele DA, Cushing CC, Fritz A, Amaro CM, Ortega A. Mobile health interventions for improving health outcomes in youth: a meta-analysis. JAMA Pediatr 2017 May 1;171(5):461-469 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2017.0042] [Medline: 28319239]
- 24. Jakicic JM, Davis KK, Rogers RJ, King WC, Marcus MD, Helsel D, et al. Effect of wearable technology combined with a lifestyle intervention on long-term weight loss: the idea randomized clinical trial. J Am Med Assoc 2016 Sep 20;316(11):1161-1171 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jama.2016.12858] [Medline: 27654602]
- Fedele DA, McConville A, Moon J, Thomas JG. Topical review: design considerations when creating pediatric mobile health interventions: applying the ideas framework. J Pediatr Psychol 2019 Apr 1;44(3):343-348 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jpepsy/jsy084] [Medline: 30346561]
- 26. Kazemi DM, Borsari B, Levine MJ, Lamberson KA, Dooley B. REMIT: development of a mHealth theory-based intervention to decrease heavy episodic drinking among college students. Addict Res Theory 2018;26(5):377-385 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/16066359.2017.1420783] [Medline: 32694964]
- 27. Gabrielli S, Dianti M, Maimone R, Betta M, Filippi L, Ghezzi M, et al. Design of a mobile app for nutrition education (trec-lifestyle) and formative evaluation with families of overweight children. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2017 Apr 13;5(4):e48 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.7080] [Medline: 28408361]

# Abbreviations

IDEAS: Integrate, Design, Assess, Share mHealth: mobile health MVPA: moderate-to-vigorous physical activity PA: physical activity SCT: social cognitive theory TTM: transtheoretical model YAB: youth advisory board

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 01.12.20; peer-reviewed by D Fedele, M Ramirez; comments to author 23.12.20; revised version received 17.02.21; accepted 17.04.21; published 15.06.21.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Larsen B, Greenstadt ED, Olesen BL, Marcus BH, Godino J, Zive MM An mHealth Physical Activity Intervention for Latina Adolescents: Iterative Design of the Chicas Fuertes Study JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e26195 URL: <u>https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e26195</u> doi:<u>10.2196/26195</u> PMID:<u>34128823</u>

©Britta Larsen, Emily D Greenstadt, Brittany L Olesen, Bess H Marcus, Job Godino, Michelle M Zive. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 15.06.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly

cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

# **Original Paper**

# Comparing Two Commercially Available Diabetes Apps to Explore Challenges in User Engagement: Randomized Controlled Feasibility Study

Alita Maharaj<sup>1</sup>, BSc, BCom, MSc; David Lim<sup>1</sup>, BSc, GradDipSci; Rinki Murphy<sup>2</sup>, MBChB, FRACP, PhD; Anna Serlachius<sup>1</sup>, BSc, MSc, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Department of Psychological Medicine, Faculty of Medical and Health Sciences, University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand <sup>2</sup>Department of Medicine, Faculty of Medical and Health Sciences, University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand

## **Corresponding Author:**

Anna Serlachius, BSc, MSc, PhD Department of Psychological Medicine Faculty of Medical and Health Sciences University of Auckland 22-30 Park Avenue Grafton Auckland, 1023 New Zealand Phone: 64 9 923 3073 Email: <u>a.serlachius@auckland.ac.nz</u>

# Abstract

**Background:** Diabetes apps represent a promising addition to face-to-face self-management interventions, which can be time and resource intensive. However, few randomized controlled trials have evaluated the efficacy of diabetes apps, in particular as a stand-alone intervention without additional clinical support.

**Objective:** We used a feasibility randomized trial design to investigate differences in user engagement between 2 commercially available apps (free versions of Glucose Buddy and mySugr) over 2 weeks in adults with type 2 diabetes. Feasibility was assessed based on recruitment uptake, adherence to the diabetes apps, and follow-up rates. We also hypothesized that the diabetes app mySugr would demonstrate higher user engagement at follow-up due to its use of gamification. We also predicted higher user engagement would be associated with improved self-care behaviors and illness beliefs.

**Methods:** Adults with type 2 diabetes attending outpatient diabetes clinics in Auckland were recruited and randomized (1:1 without blinding) to use either the Glucose Buddy or mySugr diabetes apps. User engagement, self-care behaviors, and illness beliefs were measured 2 weeks after baseline. Spearman rank correlations, Mann-Whitney tests, and Wilcoxon signed-rank tests were used to explore associations between the outcome measures and to investigate possible changes between and within groups. Six participants were interviewed to further explore acceptability and usability.

**Results:** In total, 58 participants (29 per group) completed the 2-week follow-up, of whom only 38 reported using the apps (Glucose Buddy: n=20; mySugr: n=18). Both groups reported low engagement (Glucose Buddy: median 4 days; mySugr: median 6.5 days; P=.06; use for both groups: median 10 minutes). No changes were observed in self-care or illness beliefs in either group. Out of the self-care behaviors, only blood glucose testing was significantly associated with minutes of app use (P=.02). The interviews suggested that although both apps were deemed acceptable, they were generally viewed as time-consuming and too complicated to use.

**Conclusions:** Low engagement with both Glucose Buddy and mySugr reflect the challenges associated with engaging users with diabetes apps. Due to low engagement and loss to follow-up, the changes in outcome measures should be interpreted with caution. The results highlight the need for more clinical support as well as involvement from end users and behavior change specialists in order to incorporate evidence-based behavior change techniques to motivate and provide value to users.

**Trial Registration:** Australia New Zealand Clinical Trials Registry ACTRN12618000424202; https://www.anzctr.org.au/Trial/Registration/TrialReview.aspx?id=374671

### **KEYWORDS**

type 2 diabetes; mobile apps; diabetes; self-management; user engagement; app; mHealth; randomized controlled trial; intervention; efficacy

# Introduction

The World Health Organization (WHO) estimates that diabetes affects over 400 million people [1]. Of all people with diabetes, an estimated 90% have type 2 diabetes (T2D) [2]. Treatment for T2D is multifaceted and includes modifying health behaviors, such as diet and physical activity, checking blood glucose levels, and adhering to medication. In New Zealand, diabetes affects approximately 241,000 people, with the majority having T2D [3]. T2D disproportionately affects people of Māori, Pasifika, and South Asian descent and is also more common among people residing in more socioeconomically disadvantaged regions in the country [4].

Several factors influence an individual's adherence to a diabetes treatment regimen, including economic and sociocultural factors as well as beliefs and cognitions regarding their illness [5-7]. For example, several studies have found that illness perceptions (ie, the cognitive and emotional representations that people have of their illness) influence how people with T2D cope with their illness and the degree to which they adhere to their treatment regimen [8,9]. Unlike sociocultural factors, illness beliefs are modifiable [10] and may therefore represent a promising approach for improving self-care behaviors and glycemic control in diabetes [11].

Self-management education for T2D generally involves face-to-face interactions between individuals and health care professionals, who provide instructions and limited cognitive and behavioral strategies (within the resource limitations of the health care environment) to help people to manage their diabetes [12,13]. Mobile technologies, including commercially available diabetes apps, represent a more scalable and potentially more cost effective alternative to traditional interventions, offering a means of improving T2D management by expanding the reach of health care services and improving individuals' access to health-related information and interventions [14,15].

Commercially available diabetes apps vary in the number and type of self-management behaviors they support [16]. The most commonly found features include logging of health information—including blood glucose levels, weight, physical activity, blood pressure, and dietary intake—educational modules, and insulin bolus calculators [16-18]. A large number of apps also provide some form of feedback to the user, most commonly as a graphical summary of their data or as a phone notification [17,18]. Some apps may also integrate directly with select blood glucose monitoring devices, allow data to be exported in various formats to be shared with third parties, or connect users directly with health care providers (HCPs) for feedback [16,18].

Reviews have increasingly suggested that diabetes apps may improve glycemic control and self-care behaviors in people with diabetes [17,18], possibly by facilitating the monitoring

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e25151

of self-care behaviors (eg, blood glucose monitoring) [19]. However, the findings of such reviews have several limitations that make it difficult to generalize to the wider T2D population. For example, detailed analyses of efficacy in the context of ethnicity, gender, and disparity in health literacy remain limited [20,21]. In addition, despite commercially available apps having arguably the largest user base, there is still a lack of studies that measure user engagement of commercially available diabetes apps [16,22-24]. "User engagement" comprises both frequency and duration of technology use, along with the users' overall experience of the technology [25]. It is therefore not surprising that user engagement is thought to be integral to whether or not a digital intervention is effective [26]. Furthermore, there is a lack of theoretical input into the development of health apps aimed at changing health-related behavior. The vast majority of health-related apps are not theory-based, and their efficacy for improving health-related outcomes has not been sufficiently tested [27-31]. Finally, despite the large number of commercially available diabetes apps, there are few randomized controlled trials investigating the efficacy of these apps, especially studies which explore the efficacy of the app without additional clinical support [32-34].

A promising approach for increasing user engagement is gamification [35-37]. The concept of gamification is arguably context specific but is generally defined as the use of elements (eg, score systems, avatars, challenges, awards) commonly linked with video games in a nongaming setting [38,39]. It is suggested that when integrated into digital health interventions, these elements may increase motivation and learning [35,36,40] (see Landers et al [40] for an overview of the psychological theories behind gamification). However, evidence for the effectiveness of gamification in digital health interventions is mixed [36], particularly as it concerns whether gamification can improve health or psychological outcomes [35].

This study aimed to address these gaps in the literature by conducting a randomized controlled feasibility study to explore user engagement of 2, free, commercially available diabetes apps (Glucose Buddy and mySugr) that function without additional clinical support. We were specifically interested in whether the aspect of gamification (present in the mySugr app) could increase user engagement and thereby influence self-care behaviors. We also wanted to explore whether there was a relationship between user engagement and adherence to self-care behaviors. These apps were chosen, as they are both popular, have high user ratings on both iOS and Android [41,42], and contain functions deemed most useful by users of diabetes apps [43], with 1 app being explicitly based on gamification [44]. We hypothesized that mySugr, by virtue of its use of gamification, would be rated as more engaging than would Glucose Buddy and would demonstrate between-group improvements in self-care behaviors. We also hypothesized that

higher user engagement would be associated with improved self-care behaviors at follow-up.

# Methods

# **Participants**

Participants were recruited from Auckland diabetes outpatient clinics between April 24, 2018, and July 24, 2018, and were randomized to trial 1 of 2 free apps (Glucose Buddy or mySugr), with follow-up after a 2-week trial period. Eighty-nine patients with T2D consented to participate and provided baseline data. This sample size was considered adequate to assess feasibility and conduct a preliminary evaluation of differences in user engagement between the 2 diabetes apps. Ethics approval for the study was obtained from the Health and Disability Ethics Committee on February 26, 2018 (reference #18/STH/43), and the study was prospectively registered with the Australia New Zealand Clinical Trials Registry on March 23, 2018 (ACTRN12618000424202). Inclusion criteria required that participants were 18 years or older; had a diagnosis of T2D; had the ability to speak, read, and write in English, and provide informed consent; and owned an iOS or Android smartphone capable of downloading apps.

## **Procedure and Randomization**

After completing baseline questionnaires, participants were randomly assigned 1:1 to parallel groups (Glucose Buddy or mySugr) using a computer-based random number generator. Blinding was not used. Randomization was done using sealed envelopes labeled with sequential study numbers. After randomization, AM helped the participants download the app onto their phone to use for 2 weeks. After the 2-week trial, participants were asked to complete a set of follow-up questionnaires online or were posted a hard copy of the questionnaires. Participants who completed the follow-up questionnaires received a NZ \$20 (US \$14.48) voucher to thank them for their time.

# **Intervention Groups**

# Glucose Buddy

The diabetes app, Glucose Buddy, is a commercially available app developed by Azumio Inc. The free version of the app was used. The app facilitates the manual entry of information pertaining to various self-care behaviors and other health parameters, including exercise, diet, blood glucose, medications, blood pressure, and glycated hemoglobin (HbA<sub>1c</sub>). Users can track trends in these behaviors over time. The glucose tab allows users to log blood glucose levels, carbohydrates and food, and medication in 1 entry. Colour-coded graphs assist with monitoring blood sugar levels and medication. The app also has a large food database, and users can manually enter or scan the barcode of food items to record calorie and nutrition information. Participants were asked to use the app at their own pace, with no minimum or maximum requirements for usage time or features used.

# mySugr

mySugr is a diabetes app developed by mySugr GmbH (acquired by Roche in 2017). The free version of the app was used. The

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e25151
```

mySugr app facilitates the manual input of information relating to self-care behaviors and other health parameters, including exercise, diet, medications, blood glucose, HbA<sub>1c</sub>, and blood pressure. Users can also track trends in these behaviors over time and set a target range for their blood glucose levels. A traffic light system facilitates monitoring of blood sugar levels, whereby entries falling within the target range are green and entries falling outside this range are red or orange depending on the values set by the user. A graph at the top of the home screen shows diet, exercise, medication, and blood glucose levels. Additionally, gamification is incorporated into all the key features of the app through the virtual avatar called the "diabetes monster." Users can "tame" their diabetes monster based on their entries, which earns them points. Again, there were no minimum or maximum requirements for usage time or features used.

#### Measures

Demographic details of age, sex, ethnicity, education, and employment status were collected at baseline through self-report. Other relevant information, including diabetes duration,  $HbA_{1c}$ levels at baseline (time of recruitment), and current diabetes treatments (including for comorbid conditions), was also obtained from patient medical records.

We used self-report questionnaires to examine user engagement, adherence to the diabetes apps, and changes in self-care behaviors and illness beliefs. To determine feasibility, we examined recruitment uptake, self-reported adherence to the diabetes apps, and follow-up rates. Due to the feasibility trial design, we did not specify primary or secondary outcomes.

#### User Engagement

User engagement was measured using an adapted form of the Mobile Application Rating Scale [45]. The original instrument was created for researchers, app developers, and health professionals to rate the quality of health apps. The current study used a simplified, user version of the Mobile Application Rating Scale (uMARS), which was designed for app users to complete [46]. The uMARS comprises 4 subscales: engagement, functionality, aesthetics, and information quality. In total, these subscales include 16 items. All items are rated on a 5-point Likert scale, where 1 indicates the app is unsatisfactory in that area and 5 indicates the app is excellent in that area. Mean scores are calculated for each subscale, and a total uMARS mean score is calculated by adding the mean scores for each of the subscales and dividing the total by 4. The uMARS demonstrates good internal reliability for both the whole instrument and for the individual subscales within the instrument [46]. The Cronbach  $\alpha$  for the instrument in the present sample was .95.

Two additional questions were also included to measure users' level of adherence with the apps. These were as follows: "In the last 14 days, on how many days did you use the app?" and "On the days that you used the app, approximately how many minutes did you spend using the app?"

#### Self-Care Behaviors

Self-care behaviors were assessed using a modified form of the Summary of Diabetes Self-Care Activities (SDSCA) [47]. This

self-management is multifaceted, this instrument allows scores for each component to be calculated individually. This study focused on self-care behaviors, and so to minimize participant burden, the 14 extra items from the expanded version of the SDSCA were omitted and only the first 7 subscales pertaining to self-care behaviors were included.

All 7 subscales were scored as the number of days per week participants engaged in a particular self-care behavior (eg, followed a healthy eating plan) on a scale of 0 to 7 days. Medication adherence was assessed with 1 item: "On how many of the last seven days did you take your recommended diabetes medication?"; the total number of days was then used to indicate participants' medication adherence behavior. The general diet, exercise, blood glucose testing, and foot care subscales all contained 2 items each. Means for each of the subscales were calculated with higher numbers signifying better adherence to the behavior in the previous 7 days. The specific diet subscale was also made up of 2 items; however, the authors of the scale advised that these items be scored individually due to the low interitem correlations for the subscale [47]. Additionally, the specific diet item, "On how many of the last seven days did you eat high fat foods such as red meat or full-fat dairy products?" was reverse coded in scoring, as it indexed less healthy dietary behavior. Finally, smoking status was scored as a yes or no response to the question, "Have you smoked a cigarette-even one puff-during the past seven days?" This section further asked participants that responded yes to specify how many cigarettes they smoked on an average day. The SDSCA demonstrates adequate reliability and validity across T2D populations [48,49].

# **Illness Beliefs**

Illness beliefs were measured using the Brief Illness Perceptions Questionnaire [50]. This scale has 9 items that assess cognitive and affective beliefs about illness. The cognitive items assess individuals' beliefs relating to the timeline, identity, controllability, consequences, and causes of the illness. The remaining items assess individuals' concern, understanding, and emotional representations of their condition. Furthermore, 8 of the 9 items are rated on a 0 to 10-Likert scale, where 0 represents the lowest score and 10 represents the highest score. The instrument shows satisfactory reliability and validity across a range of chronic conditions, including T2D [51].

# **Statistical Analyses**

The study was designed to explore the feasibility, acceptability, and possible differences in user engagement, self-care behaviors, and illness beliefs between the 2 app groups. Preliminary analyses were conducted to examine whether the data complied with parametric assumptions. The key outcome variables were not normally distributed; therefore, Mann-Whitney tests were used to examine differences between the 2 groups in user engagement, self-care behaviors, and illness beliefs at follow-up. Wilcoxon signed-rank tests were also used to check for changes in participants' self-care behaviors and illness beliefs from baseline to follow-up in each group. Spearman rank correlations were conducted to explore the relationships between user engagement and self-care behaviors at follow-up. Due to significant loss to follow-up (Figure 1), missing data were not included in the analyses and per protocol analyses were conducted.

The qualitative data obtained from the interviews were assessed using quantitative content analysis. Quantitative content analysis involves assessing how participants use language to describe their experiences and includes systematically allocating content into numerical categories [52]. In this study, quantitative content analysis was used to further explore participants' experiences of using the apps, which included assessing the acceptability and usability of the apps and exploring views on how the apps could be improved.



Maharaj et al

Figure 1. Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials (CONSORT) diagram of participant involvement.



# Results

Overall, 89 patients agreed to participate and provided baseline data. Of these, 31 were lost to follow-up and did not complete any of the follow-up questionnaires. Ultimately, 58 participants (29 per treatment arm) completed all assessments and were included in the final analyses (Figure 1).

#### **Baseline Characteristics**

The sample at baseline (N=89) was mostly male (58/89, 65%), ranging in age from 28 years to 80 years with a mean age of 53 years (SD 11.99). The majority identified as Indian (30/89, 34%) or Pasifika (22/89, 25%), had done some tertiary level study (42/78, 54%), were married (60/88, 68%), and were employed (69/89, 78%; Table 1).

With regard to clinical characteristics, the mean age at which participants were diagnosed with T2D was 43 years (SD 11.28). On average, participants had been diagnosed with T2D for 9.9

years (SD 6.93) and had a mean BMI of 33.8 kg/m<sup>2</sup>. HbA<sub>1c</sub> levels for participants at the time of recruitment ranged from 39 mmol/mol (5.7%) to 111 mmol/mol (12.3%), with a mean HbA<sub>1c</sub> level of 68.4 mmol/mol (8.4%). Approximately half the sample consumed alcohol (47/88, 53%), while a considerably smaller percentage of participants smoked (9/88, 10%). Most participants had other long-term illnesses together with their T2D (70/89, 79%), with hypertension (63/89, 71%) being the most commonly reported comorbid condition. Metformin was the medication participants were predominantly using to manage their T2D (80/88, 91%).

Equal numbers of participants owned an iPhone (38/87, 44%) or Samsung (38/87, 44%) smartphone, while the remaining participants (11/87, 13%) owned other Android smartphones, such as Sony, Huawei, or Oppo. Most participants (82/89, 92%) reported using apps on their phone and slightly more than one-third of the sample (33/89, 37%) reported using health apps.



RenderX

JMIR Form Res 2021 | vol. 5 | iss. 6 |e25151 | p.155 (page number not for citation purposes)

Table 1. Baseline characteristics of participants (N=89).

Characteristic	Glucose buddy (n=44)	mySugr (n=45)	P value
Age (years), mean (SD)	53.15 (11.06)	52.59 (12.96)	.83
Sex, n (%)			.46
Male	27 (61.4)	31 (68.9)	
Female	17 (38.6)	14 (31.1)	
Ethnicity, n (%)			.90
New Zealand European	6 (13.6)	9 (20)	
Mãori	4 (9.1)	5 (11.1)	
Pasifika	12 (27.3)	10 (22.2)	
Indian	16 (36.4)	14 (31.1)	
Other	6 (13.6)	7 (15.6)	
Relationship status <sup>a</sup> , n (%)			.17
Single	7 (15.9)	11 (25)	
In a relationship	3 (6.8)	7 (15.9)	
Married	34 (77.3)	26 (59.1)	
Education <sup>b</sup> , n (%)			.16
Secondary education	14 (37.8)	22 (53.7)	
Tertiary education	23 (62.2)	19 (46.3)	
Employment status, n (%)			.95
Employed	34 (77.3)	35 (77.8)	
Unemployed	10 (22.7)	10 (22.2)	

<sup>a</sup>Missing data for 1 participant (n=88).

<sup>b</sup>Missing data for 11 participants (n=78).

#### Feasibility and Attrition to the Intervention

It took 2 months to recruit 89 participants: 31 participants were lost to follow-up after completing the baseline questionnaires, and 20 participants did not use their allocated app but completed the self-care behaviors and illness beliefs measures at follow-up and were included in the final analyses. There were significant differences between individuals who completed the study (n=58) and those lost to follow-up (n=31) for sex ( $\chi^2_1$ =4.59; *P*=.03), with the proportion of men not using their allocated app (38/51, 75%) being greater than the proportion of women (13/51, 26%). There were also significant differences for ethnicity ( $\chi^2_1$ =11.43; *P*=.02), with European New Zealanders more likely to complete the study compared to the other ethnic groups. Of those participants who dropped out, a greater proportion identified as Indian (24/51, 47%) compared with other ethnicities.

#### **User Engagement and Self-Care Behaviors**

Out of the 58 participants who completed the study, only 20 participants in the Glucose Buddy group and 18 participants in

the mySugr group reported using the apps during the trial (Table 2). Self-reported user engagement was low in both groups (Glucose Buddy: median 4 days; mySugr: median 6.5 days; P=.06; use for both groups: median 10 minutes). The median uMARS score was 3.37 for Glucose Buddy and 3.36 for mySugr (uMARS scale 1-5).

There was little evidence to suggest any between-group differences in self-reported user engagement scores between the 2 app groups or in self-reported adherence to the diabetes apps (Table 2). No improvements were found in self-care behaviors or illness beliefs from baseline to follow-up in either group (Table S1, Multimedia Appendix 1).

In regard to associations between user engagement and self-care behaviors, no significant relationships were found between number of days of app use and any of the self-care behaviors at follow-up (Table 3). Blood glucose testing was positively and moderately related to minutes of app use (Spearman  $\rho$ =0.37; *P*=.02). There were no significant relationships found between total uMARS scores and self-care behaviors (Table 3).



Table 2. Self-reported user engagement of the 2 apps.

Measure	Glucose Buddy, median (n=20)	mySugr, median (n=18)	P value
Days used	4.00	6.50	.06
Minutes used	10.00	10.00	.43
Engagement	3.20	3.30	.39
Functionality	3.25	3.63	.16
Aesthetics	3.33	3.50	.58
Information	3.50	3.75	.47
Total uMARS <sup>a</sup> score	3.37	3.36	.89

<sup>a</sup>uMARS: user version of the Mobile Application Rating Scale.

Table 3. Spearman rank correlations between user engagement (days used, minutes used, total uMARS<sup>a</sup> score) and self-care behaviors at follow-up.

Measures	Days used	Minutes used	Total uMARS score
General diet	-0.04	0.21	-0.04
Fruit and vegetable consumption	-0.14	0.27	0.09
High-fat foods consumption	-0.03	0.02	-0.18
Exercise	-0.15	-0.06	0.17
Blood glucose testing	-0.07	0.37 <sup>b</sup>	0.34
Foot care	0.004	0.04	0.07
Medication adherence	-0.08	0.16	0.16

<sup>a</sup>uMARS: user version of the Mobile Application Rating Scale. <sup>b</sup>Italics indicate P < .05.

## Interviews

After the 2-week trial, 6 participants (3 from each app group) were interviewed over the phone after about their experience of using the diabetes app (Table 4). A diverse group of participants who reported having used the apps were selected for the interviewes in order to obtain a variety of viewpoints. Of the interviewees, 3 were female and 3 were male and aged between 29 and 58 years; 1 participant was New Zealand European, 2 participants were of Pasifika descent, 2 were of Indian descent, and 1 was of Chinese descent. Regarding

medication use, 1 participant's regimen included both oral diabetes medication and insulin, and the remaining 5 participants reported taking oral medication only. Additionally, 4 of the 6 participants reported being advised to test their blood sugar regularly, and the remaining 2 participants reported not being required to test their blood sugar regularly as part of their T2D self-management. Feedback was grouped into positive experiences, negative experiences, most frequently used functions, and suggestions for improvement (see Table 5 for a summary of the participants' feedback).



 Table 4. Illustrative interviewee responses.

Maharaj et al

Feedback category by respondent	Illustrative quote
Positive experiences using the app	
Male, 30 years, mySugr app	"I was curious and excited during the demonstrationgood initial impression."
Female, 50 years, Glucose Buddy app	"Looked great when going through initially."
Male, 49 years, mySugr app	"Yes, certainly I would download such an appCould be subsidized? I am willing to pay if it's worthwhile."
Female, 50 years, mySugr app	"Keeping track of glucose testing, keeping track of medication."
Female, 29 years, mySugr app	"Liked the diabetes monster."
Negative experiences using the app	
Female, 58 years, Glucose Buddy app	"Diet and calories is good and what I found most useful and necessary, but I don't know how to calculate, for example, how many calories in a piece of meat or a bowl of rice?"
Female, 29 years, mySugr app	"A bit confusing sometimes, don't understand all of it. Carbs a bit confusing."
Male, 49 years, mySugr app	"Converting carbs challenging. Food descriptions take a lot of time."
Female, 50 years, Glucose Buddy app	"I wanted to use it and tried to use it a few times, but I kept getting stuck on the medication page. I often couldn't navigate to other pages."
Male, 30 years, mySugr app	"Occasionally froze, a bit slow."
Female, 58 years, Glucose Buddy app	"So many features. Lots of things I need to know before I can use it. I have well-controlled diabetes, so only need simple monitoring functions."
Male, 49 years, mySugr app	"I want to do it quite quickly, but this app has too many thingstoo much information and too many questions. Could be simplified."
Male, 45 years, Glucose Buddy app	"Recording what I was already doing, so wasn't super useful. Became too much of a chore. Not interesting enough. No motivation."
Male, 49 years, mySugr app	"Current app is too much like a log book and not engaging enough."
Most frequently used functions	
Male, 30 years, mySugr app	"Blood glucose result most useful. Logging everythingKeeping track of numbers."
Female, 29 years, mySugr app	"I liked putting my blood glucose test in. Blood glucose test was the most useful feature."
Female 58 years, Glucose Buddy app	"Advice on diet—sample advice. You should be eating this sized bowl of carbs, this amount of fruit and vegetables, this much butter and fats. Videos. Suggestions of age-appropriate activities and how to do it safely."
Female, 29 years, mySugr app	"Tips on exercise and food and nutrition. Good meals, new workouts would help a lot. Things you can do at home if you don't have time to go out."
Suggestions for improvement	
Female, 58 years, Glucose Buddy app	"Measure food and activities more regularly. See pattern between things, like food and activity and how it affected my blood sugar."
Male, 49 years, mySugr app	"Should be able to set goals, for example, identify how many carbs you can eat per day and note down how much you've consumed at breakfast and how much you could still consume throughout the rest of the day. Same for activity—record steps taken so far and how many more to take to meet goals. Goals per day or per week."
Male, 45 years, Glucose Buddy app	"People that have had diabetes for two or three years, we know about eating and testing blood sugars, but you have so many things going on you forget, so it would be helpful to have regular reminders that are relevant."
Male, 49 years, mySugr app	"Something user-friendly and quick to enter. Simplify the current app and make it easier to navigate."
Male, 45 years, Glucose Buddy app	"Way that smartphone can talk directly to glucose meter. Glucose meter only remembers one month's readings and then records over, so would like to have it send readings directly to smartphone. Communication between existing apps, for example this app and Google Fit."

XSL•FO RenderX

Table 5.	Summary of J	participants'	feedback and	suggestions	for improv	vement (n=6).
----------	--------------	---------------	--------------	-------------	------------	---------------

Feedback category	mySugr	Glucose Buddy
Positive experiences	Graphs, colorful images, good interface, easy to read, glucose log, diabetes monster	Graphs, glucose log, medication log, food log
Negative experiences	Commercial emails, confusing, time-consuming, carb calculator hard to use	Hard to use, advertisements to upgrade to paid version, calorie calculator hard to use
Most frequently used functions	Glucose log	Glucose log, medication log
Suggestions for improvement	Provide fun and relevant reminders, allow the ability to set goals, simplify the app, provide dietary advice, make it quicker to enter information	Provide dietary advice, provide exercise advice, give relevant reminders, add more visual content, provide feedback based on blood sugar levels, use more videos

#### **Positive Experiences of Using the App**

All participants reported positive initial impressions of their respective app and reported a willingness to download a T2D smartphone app in the future and to pay for the app if they deemed the app to be valuable to them.

All participants reported finding both apps visually appealing. Four participants reported that they found the ability to monitor and log their blood sugar levels and produce graphs useful, and two participants also reported finding the medication and food logs useful. One participant also reported that they enjoyed the gamification aspect of mySugr.

#### **Negative Experiences Using the App**

All participants reported finding some aspect of the app confusing to use, with 3 of the 6 participants expressing that they found calculating calories and carbohydrates to be particularly challenging. Half of the participants also reported experiencing some technical obstacles like difficulty navigating the app. One of the main drawbacks reported by 3 participants was the large amount of information that was required to be entered into the app to use it. Participants found this to be time-consuming and complicated to use.

Some participants also felt that the apps did not engage or motivate them enough. Five of the six participants mentioned that they had not learnt any new information, for instance, about diabetes or how to improve their self-care behaviors, and two participants also mentioned that they forgot about the app sometimes.

#### **Most Frequently Used Functions**

Four of the six participants reported that logging blood glucose was one of the most useful features of the apps. Two participants reported that they used the medication tracker.

#### **Suggestions for Improvement**

Four of the six participants expressed a desire for more education and advice around nutrition and physical activity. With regard to diet, participants reported being interested in receiving advice on the types and quantities of the various food groups that they should be consuming. Similarly, for exercise, participants wanted suggestions of new exercises that they could do, along with advice and encouragement.

A desire for other features, in particular feedback and goal setting, were also mentioned. Three participants talked about wanting to receive feedback based on the information they

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e25151
```

XSL•FO RenderX entered, and two participants discussed the importance of being able to set goals and see how they are progressing towards achieving their goals.

Another feature that all 6 participants mentioned was tailored reminders and notifications. Participants stated that having reminders relating to their self-care behaviors, such as a reminder to check their blood glucose levels or take their medication, would be useful, as would be reminders relating to their goals.

Three of the six participants also reported wanting an app that allowed for easy monitoring of their self-care behaviors and that was not too time-consuming. One participant reported that having a diabetes app that communicated with their glucose meter or existing apps would be helpful.

# Discussion

To our knowledge, this is the first study to compare user engagement and associated changes in self-care behaviors in 2 popular, commercially available diabetes apps as stand-alone interventions without additional clinical support. The results suggested that over a period of 2 weeks, participants spent a limited amount of time using the apps, only using the apps for a median of 4 days for Glucose Buddy and 6.5 days for mySugr. There was little evidence to suggest that participants found one of the apps to be more engaging than the other despite mySugr's use of gamification. There were also no improvements in self-care behaviors or illness beliefs from baseline to follow-up in either group. Indicators of feasibility (including adherence to the diabetes apps and follow-up rates) suggest that expecting participants to engage daily with a diabetes app without additional clinical support may be unrealistic.

Regarding the qualitative data, although the apps were considered to be acceptable to participants based on favorable initial impressions of the apps and a willingness to download diabetes apps in the future, they also reported facing various challenges in terms of usability. Two main reported shortcomings were the time-consuming nature and complexity of the apps. Participants also reported wanting apps to include more education and advice about diabetes self-care behaviors like diet and exercise. Participants also reported wanting tailored reminders or notifications relating to T2D self-care behaviors in general and to their specific diabetes-related goals.

The quantitative results from this study contradict with many other recent trials of diabetes apps, which have demonstrated

efficacy in improving self-care behaviors or glycemic control in patients with type 1 diabetes (T1D) or T2D [18]. For example, Kirwan and colleagues [53] tested Glucose Buddy (coupled with weekly text messages from a diabetes nurse educator) in adults with T1D and found significant improvements in glycemic control from baseline to 9 months compared to standard care but no changes in self-care behaviors. In contrast to our study, their study included weekly clinical support from a certified diabetes educator over the duration of the intervention. Other differences included their intervention being significantly longer (6 months), the inclusion of a standard care control group, and testing of the app in adults with T1D. It is likely that all these differences played a role in improving glycemic control, particularly the additional clinical support, which has been argued to be the deciding factor for whether diabetes apps are effective in improving diabetes management outcomes. This makes it difficult to untangle whether intervention effects are due to the app or the increased clinical contact [54].

In contrast, the qualitative findings regarding the reported challenges and complexity of information in both apps are consistent with previous findings, in particular for older adults living with diabetes who are likely to benefit from a smaller range of functions [55]. Usability is a key factor influencing whether users engage with apps or not, and in the this study, all 6 participants who were interviewed reported finding some aspect of the app confusing, which included difficulties with calculating calories and carbohydrates and issues navigating the app. In a survey of more than 900 individuals who had downloaded a health app, just under half of these people reported discontinuing use of the app, with one of the main reasons being that they felt the app was not easy to use [56]. Other research also suggests that users fail to engage at all or stop engaging with technology once they consider it to be too hard to use [25]. These findings highlight the importance of having user input during the design and development of health apps [57], as something that seems intuitive to app developers or researchers may not feel straightforward to users, particularly if they are not confident or are new to using apps.

Research on user engagement and design indicates that several elements influence engagement with technology, like gamification, interactivity, feedback, challenge, and novelty [23,58], yet commercially available diabetes apps do not seem to fully leverage these features. The principal behavior change technique used in both free versions of the apps was self-monitoring, with the primary function being the recording of diabetes-related self-care behaviors. Thus, it seems that neither gamification nor self-monitoring alone may be sufficient to engage users, and greater inclusion of other evidence-based behavior change strategies (eg, goal setting) and fully exploiting the unique functions of smartphone technology (eg, the ability to provide personalized feedback through real-time reminders) are needed to successfully increase engagement, modify illness beliefs, and improve self-care behavior.

The glucose log feature was reported by all 6 participants to be one of the most useful—if not the most useful—feature of the apps. This is in line with other research that also found the glucose log to be the most frequently used diabetes app feature

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e25151
```

in a sample of patients with T2D who reported using apps [43]. Of the self-care behaviors, only blood glucose monitoring was significantly associated with minutes of app use and also demonstrated a trend towards a significant association with overall user engagement. This suggests that individuals who used the app for longer also tested their blood glucose more regularly. This may also indicate that more adherent patients are more likely to use diabetes technology in general [59], including diabetes apps. This is worth exploring in future studies to determine how we can improve engagement of diabetes technology for people who are currently struggling with diabetes self-management. In addition, despite the increased use of commercially available health apps by HCPs, there is relatively little evidence or guidance available for HCPs to evaluate their quality and efficacy [22,60]. Future studies should also incorporate interviews with HCPs to gather their feedback on the clinical usefulness of diabetes apps in diabetes self-management.

Several limitations of this study should be noted, including the short follow-up period, lack of blinding, and the high levels of attrition. We also tested the free versions of the Glucose Buddy and mySugr apps instead of the pro or paid versions, with the latter being more likely to incorporate more features that enhance user engagement, like real-time feedback and reminders. However, we deliberately chose the free versions of each app, as people living with T2D in New Zealand often come from lower socioeconomic status backgrounds. We also did not include regular clinical support to help patients use and engage with the apps, as the focal point of the study was to explore how patients use and engage with diabetes apps without additional support from HCPs. Another limitation was the reliance on self-reported user engagement. Ideally, user engagement should include a range of user engagement metrics, including app analytics, which was not possible in this study. Furthermore, the qualitative data collected from 6 participants may not be representative of the study cohort and cannot be generalized to the wider T2D population. Another limitation is the lack of intention-to-treat analyses, which we were unable to conduct due to the missing data.

The strengths of this study include the randomized controlled design, the testing of 2 popular apps that are commercially available and free to use, and the recruiting of a diverse sample of people living with T2D. Future research comprising larger samples and higher rates of user engagement and interaction with apps would offer greater power for detecting possible between-group differences. Longer follow-up would also be beneficial in ascertaining whether diabetes apps could successfully encourage long-term behavior change. Finally, studies examining whether clinical support from HCPs leads to better outcomes compared with unsupported use of diabetes apps are needed. It remains to be seen whether larger trials testing diabetes apps without additional clinical support can sufficiently engage patients.

In conclusion, there was little evidence of between-group differences in user engagement, and neither app group showed improvements in self-care behaviors or illness beliefs after a median of 6.5 days and 4 days of use over 2 weeks for mySugr and Glucose Buddy, respectively. However, our findings suggest

XSL•FO RenderX

that individuals who used the apps for longer periods per day also tested their blood glucose more frequently. Overall, the results of this feasibility trial demonstrate how difficult it is for individuals with long-term conditions to engage with diabetes apps without additional clinical support. It also highlights the importance of having both patients' and HCPs' input during the app development process to ensure the app meets patients' needs, both in terms of being user-friendly and engaging as well as targeting all self-care behaviors with appropriate behavior change techniques to support behavior change.

# Acknowledgments

We thank all the participants who took part in this trial and who gave us feedback on their experience of using the apps.

## **Authors' Contributions**

AS and RM designed the study, assisted with the analysis and interpretation of the data, and drafted and approved the final version of the manuscript. AM collected the data, conducted the initial analyses and interpretation of the data, wrote the first draft of the manuscript, and approved the final version of the manuscript. DL assisted with the analysis and interpretation of the data, assisted with drafting the manuscript, and approved the final version of the manuscript.

## **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Median scores of self-care behaviours and illness beliefs by app group at follow-up. [DOCX File , 16 KB - formative v5i6e25151 app1.docx ]

Multimedia Appendix 2 CONSORT-eHEALTH checklist (V 1.6.1). [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 11577 KB - formative\_v5i6e25151\_app2.pdf ]

#### References

- 1. Diabetes. World Health Organisation. URL: <u>https://www.who.int/health-topics/diabetes</u> [accessed 2018-05-25]
- American Diabetes Association. Diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Care 2014 Jan;37 Suppl 1:S81-S90. [doi: 10.2337/dc14-S081] [Medline: 24357215]
- 3. About diabetes. Ministry of Health. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.health.govt.nz/our-work/diseases-and-conditions/diabetes/</u> <u>about-diabetes</u> [accessed 2020-03-13]
- 4. Ministry of Health. Diabetes Māori health statistics. Diabetes. URL: <u>https://www.health.govt.nz/our-work/populations/</u> <u>maori-health/tatau-kahukura-maori-health-statistics/nga-mana-hauora-tutohu-health-status-indicators/diabetes</u> [accessed 2020-03-13]
- 5. Delamater AM. Improving patient adherence. Clinical Diabetes 2006 Apr 01;24(2):71-77. [doi: 10.2337/diaclin.24.2.71]
- 6. Bean D, Cundy T, Petrie KJ. Ethnic differences in illness perceptions, self-efficacy and diabetes self-care. Psychology & Health 2007 Oct;22(7):787-811. [doi: 10.1080/14768320600976240]
- Broadbent E, Donkin L, Stroh JC. Illness and treatment perceptions are associated with adherence to medications, diet, and exercise in diabetic patients. Diabetes Care 2011 Feb;34(2):338-340 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2337/dc10-1779] [Medline: 21270191]
- 8. Barnes L, Moss-Morris R, Kaufusi M. Illness beliefs and adherence in diabetes mellitus: a comparison between Tongan and European patients. N Z Med J 2004 Jan 30;117(1188):U743. [Medline: <u>14999303</u>]
- Searle A, Norman P, Thompson R, Vedhara K. Illness representations among patients with type 2 diabetes and their partners: relationships with self-management behaviors. J Psychosom Res 2007 Aug;63(2):175-184. [doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2007.02.006] [Medline: 17662754]
- Petrie KJ, Cameron LD, Ellis CJ, Buick D, Weinman J. Changing illness perceptions after myocardial infarction: an early intervention randomized controlled trial. Psychosom Med 2002;64(4):580-586. [doi: <u>10.1097/00006842-200207000-00007</u>] [Medline: <u>12140347</u>]
- 11. Keogh KM, Smith SM, White P, McGilloway S, Kelly A, Gibney J, et al. Psychological family intervention for poorly controlled type 2 diabetes. Am J Manag Care 2011 Feb;17(2):105-113 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 21473660]
- 12. Funnell MM, Brown TL, Childs BP, Haas LB, Hosey GM, Jensen B, et al. National Standards for Diabetes Self-Management Education. Diabetes Care 2007 Dec 28;31(Supplement 1):S97-S104. [doi: <u>10.2337/dc08-s097</u>]
- 13. Loveman E, Frampton G, Clegg A. The clinical effectiveness of diabetes education models for Type 2 diabetes: a systematic review. Health Technol Assess 2008 Apr;12(9):1-116, iii [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3310/hta12090] [Medline: 18405469]

- Hou C, Xu Q, Diao S, Hewitt J, Li J, Carter B. Mobile phone applications and self-management of diabetes: A systematic review with meta-analysis, meta-regression of 21 randomized trials and GRADE. Diabetes Obes Metab 2018 Dec;20(8):2009-2013. [doi: 10.1111/dom.13307] [Medline: 29582538]
- Peyrot M, Rubin RR, Funnell MM, Siminerio LM. Access to diabetes self-management education: results of national surveys of patients, educators, and physicians. Diabetes Educ 2009;35(2):246-8, 252. [doi: <u>10.1177/0145721708329546</u>] [Medline: <u>19208816</u>]
- Hood M, Wilson R, Corsica J, Bradley L, Chirinos D, Vivo A. What do we know about mobile applications for diabetes self-management? A review of reviews. J Behav Med 2016 Dec;39(6):981-994. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10865-016-9765-3</u>] [Medline: <u>27412774</u>]
- 17. Wu X, Guo X, Zhang Z. The efficacy of mobile phone apps for lifestyle modification in diabetes: systematic review and meta-analysis. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Jan 15;7(1):e12297 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/12297] [Medline: 30664494]
- 18. Bonoto BC, de Araújo VE, Godói IP, de Lemos LLP, Godman B, Bennie M, et al. Efficacy of mobile apps to support the care of patients with diabetes mellitus: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. JMIR mHealth and uHealth. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2017 Mar 01;5(3):e4 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.6309] [Medline: 28249834]
- 19. Shah VN, Garg SK. Managing diabetes in the digital age. Clin Diabetes Endocrinol 2015;1:16 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s40842-015-0016-2] [Medline: 28702234]
- 20. Sarkar U, Fisher L, Schillinger D. Is self-efficacy associated with diabetes self-management across race/ethnicity and health literacy? Diabetes Care 2006 Apr;29(4):823-829. [doi: <u>10.2337/diacare.29.04.06.dc05-1615</u>] [Medline: <u>16567822</u>]
- 21. Eiland L, Thangavelu T, Drincic A. Has technology improved diabetes management in relation to age, gender, and ethnicity? Curr Diab Rep 2019 Nov 04;19(11):111. [doi: 10.1007/s11892-019-1231-5] [Medline: 31686221]
- 22. Jake-Schoffman DE, Silfee VJ, Waring ME, Boudreaux ED, Sadasivam RS, Mullen SP, et al. Methods for evaluating the content, usability, and efficacy of commercial mobile health apps. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2017 Dec 18;5(12):e190 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.8758] [Medline: 29254914]
- 23. Mulvaney SA, Ritterband LM, Bosslet L. Mobile intervention design in diabetes: review and recommendations. Curr Diab Rep 2011 Dec;11(6):486-493 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11892-011-0230-y] [Medline: 21960031]
- 24. Nelson LA, Coston TD, Cherrington AL, Osborn CY. Patterns of user engagement with mobile- and web-delivered self-care interventions for adults with T2DM: A review of the literature. Curr Diab Rep 2016 Jul;16(7):66 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11892-016-0755-1] [Medline: 27255269]
- 25. O'Brien HL, Toms EG. What is user engagement? A conceptual framework for defining user engagement with technology. J. Am. Soc. Inf. Sci 2008 Apr;59(6):938-955. [doi: 10.1002/asi.20801]
- 26. Yardley L, Spring BJ, Riper H, Morrison LG, Crane DH, Curtis K, et al. Understanding and promoting effective engagement with digital behavior change interventions. Am J Prev Med 2016 Nov;51(5):833-842. [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2016.06.015] [Medline: 27745683]
- 27. West JH, Hall PC, Hanson CL, Barnes MD, Giraud-Carrier C, Barrett J. There's an app for that: content analysis of paid health and fitness apps. J Med Internet Res 2012 May 14;14(3):e72 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1977] [Medline: 22584372]
- Conroy DE, Yang C, Maher JP. Behavior change techniques in top-ranked mobile apps for physical activity. Am J Prev Med 2014 Jun;46(6):649-652. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.amepre.2014.01.010</u>] [Medline: <u>24842742</u>]
- 29. Donker T, Petrie K, Proudfoot J, Clarke J, Birch M, Christensen H. Smartphones for smarter delivery of mental health programs: a systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2013 Nov 15;15(11):e247 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2791] [Medline: 24240579]
- 30. Krebs P, Duncan DT. Health app use among US mobile phone owners: a national survey. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2015 Nov 04;3(4):e101 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.4924] [Medline: 26537656]
- Pagoto S, Bennett GG. How behavioral science can advance digital health. Transl Behav Med 2013 Sep 17;3(3):271-276 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13142-013-0234-z] [Medline: 24073178]
- 32. Barmanray R, Briganti E. Glycaemic control apps for diabetes: lifting the lid. Med J Aust 2018 Nov 19;209(10):426-427. [doi: 10.5694/mja18.00066] [Medline: 30041595]
- Drincic A, Prahalad P, Greenwood D, Klonoff DC. Evidence-based mobile medical applications in diabetes. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am 2016 Dec;45(4):943-965 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ecl.2016.06.001] [Medline: 27823614]
- 34. Eng DS, Lee JM. The promise and peril of mobile health applications for diabetes and endocrinology. Pediatr Diabetes 2013 Jun;14(4):231-238 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/pedi.12034] [Medline: 23627878]
- Johnson D, Deterding S, Kuhn K, Staneva A, Stoyanov S, Hides L. Gamification for health and wellbeing: A systematic review of the literature. Internet Interv 2016 Nov;6:89-106 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2016.10.002] [Medline: 30135818]
- 36. Pereira P, Duarte E, Rebelo F, Noriega P. A review of gamification for health-related contexts. In: Marcus A, editor. Design, User Experience, and Usability. User Experience Design for Diverse Interaction Platforms and Environments. New York: Springer; 2014:742-753.

- Priesterroth L, Grammes J, Holtz K, Reinwarth A, Kubiak T. Gamification and behavior change techniques in diabetes self-management apps. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2019 Feb 14:1932296818822998 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1932296818822998] [Medline: <u>30762420</u>]
- 38. Landers RN. Developing a theory of gamified learning: linking serious games and gamification of learning. Simulation & Gaming 2015 Jan 15;45(6):752-768. [doi: 10.1177/1046878114563660]
- 39. Deterding S. Gamification: designing for motivation. interactions 2012 Jul 01;19(4):14-17. [doi: 10.1145/2212877.2212883]
- 40. Landers R, Bauer K, Callan R, Armstrong M. Psychological theory and the gamification of learning. In: Gamification in Education and Business. Switzerland: Springer; 2015:165-186.
- 41. Fu H, Rizvi R, Wyman J, Adam T. Usability evaluation of four top-rated commercially available diabetes apps for adults with type 2 diabetes. Comput Inform Nurs 2020 Jun;38(6):274-280 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/CIN.000000000000596] [Medline: 31904594]
- 42. Goyal S, Lewis G, Yu C, Rotondi M, Seto E, Cafazzo JA. Evaluation of a behavioral mobile phone app intervention for the self-management of type 2 diabetes: randomized controlled trial protocol. JMIR Res Protoc 2016 Aug 19;5(3):e174 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.5959] [Medline: 27542325]
- 43. Boyle L, Grainger R, Hall RM, Krebs JD. Use of and beliefs about mobile phone apps for diabetes self-management: Surveys of people in a hospital diabetes clinic and diabetes health professionals in New Zealand. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2017 Jun 30;5(6):e85 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.7263] [Medline: 28666975]
- 44. Debong F, Mayer H, Kober J. Real-world assessments of mySugr mobile health app. Diabetes Technol Ther 2019 Jun;21(S2):S235-S240. [doi: 10.1089/dia.2019.0019] [Medline: 31169427]
- 45. Stoyanov SR, Hides L, Kavanagh DJ, Zelenko O, Tjondronegoro D, Mani M. Mobile app rating scale: a new tool for assessing the quality of health mobile apps. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2015 Mar;3(1):e27 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.3422] [Medline: 25760773]
- 46. Stoyanov SR, Hides L, Kavanagh DJ, Wilson H. Development and validation of the user version of the Mobile Application Rating Scale (uMARS). JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2016 Jun 10;4(2):e72 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.5849] [Medline: 27287964]
- 47. Toobert DJ, Hampson SE, Glasgow RE. The summary of diabetes self-care activities measure: results from 7 studies and a revised scale. Diabetes Care 2000 Jul;23(7):943-950 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2337/diacare.23.7.943] [Medline: 10895844]
- 48. Schmitt A, Gahr A, Hermanns N, Kulzer B, Huber J, Haak T. The Diabetes Self-Management Questionnaire (DSMQ): development and evaluation of an instrument to assess diabetes self-care activities associated with glycaemic control. Health Qual Life Outcomes 2013 Aug 13;11:138 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1477-7525-11-138] [Medline: 23937988]
- 49. Jannoo Z, Mamode Khan N. Summary of Diabetes Self-care Activities: A confirmatory factor analytic approach. Prim Care Diabetes 2018 Oct;12(5):425-431. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pcd.2018.04.004</u>] [Medline: <u>29735431</u>]
- 50. Broadbent E, Petrie KJ, Main J, Weinman J. The brief illness perception questionnaire. J Psychosom Res 2006 Jun;60(6):631-637. [doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2005.10.020] [Medline: 16731240]
- Broadbent E, Wilkes C, Koschwanez H, Weinman J, Norton S, Petrie KJ. A systematic review and meta-analysis of the Brief Illness Perception Questionnaire. Psychol Health 2015;30(11):1361-1385. [doi: <u>10.1080/08870446.2015.1070851</u>] [Medline: <u>26181764</u>]
- 52. Krippendorff K. Content Analysis: An Introduction to Its Methodology. Beverly Hills: Sage; 1980.
- 53. Kirwan M, Vandelanotte C, Fenning A, Duncan MJ. Diabetes self-management smartphone application for adults with type 1 diabetes: randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2013 Nov;15(11):e235 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2588] [Medline: 24225149]
- 54. Knox ECL, Quirk H, Glazebrook C, Randell T, Blake H. Impact of technology-based interventions for children and young people with type 1 diabetes on key diabetes self-management behaviours and prerequisites: a systematic review. BMC Endocr Disord 2019 Jan 10;19(1):7 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12902-018-0331-6] [Medline: 30630442]
- 55. Arnhold M, Quade M, Kirch W. Mobile applications for diabetics: a systematic review and expert-based usability evaluation considering the special requirements of diabetes patients age 50 years or older. J Med Internet Res 2014;16(4):e104 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2968] [Medline: 24718852]
- 56. Krebs P, Duncan DT. Health app use among US mobile phone owners: a national survey. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2015 Nov;3(4):e101 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.4924] [Medline: 26537656]
- 57. McCurdie T, Taneva S, Casselman M, Yeung M, McDaniel C, Ho W, et al. mHealth consumer apps: the case for user-centered design. Biomed Instrum Technol 2012;Suppl:49-56. [doi: <u>10.2345/0899-8205-46.s2.49</u>] [Medline: <u>23039777</u>]
- 58. Upland. 21% of users abandon an app after one use. Upland Localytics. 2018. URL: <u>https://uplandsoftware.com/localytics/</u> resources/blog/21-percent-of-users-abandon-apps-after-one-use/ [accessed 2018-05-15]
- Gonder-Frederick LA, Shepard JA, Grabman JH, Ritterband LM. Psychology, technology, and diabetes management. Am Psychol 2016 Oct;71(7):577-589. [doi: <u>10.1037/a0040383</u>] [Medline: <u>27690486</u>]
- 60. Boudreaux ED, Waring ME, Hayes RB, Sadasivam RS, Mullen S, Pagoto S. Evaluating and selecting mobile health apps: strategies for healthcare providers and healthcare organizations. Transl Behav Med 2014 Dec;4(4):363-371 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13142-014-0293-9] [Medline: 25584085]

## Abbreviations

HbA<sub>1c</sub>: glycated hemoglobin
HCP: health care provider
SDSCA: Summary of Diabetes Self-Care Activities
T1D: type 1 diabetes
T2D: type 2 diabetes
uMARS: user version of the Mobile Application Rating Scale
WHO: World Health Organization

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 19.10.20; peer-reviewed by Q Xu, B Carter; comments to author 10.11.20; revised version received 16.11.20; accepted 07.05.21; published 16.06.21.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Maharaj A, Lim D, Murphy R, Serlachius A Comparing Two Commercially Available Diabetes Apps to Explore Challenges in User Engagement: Randomized Controlled Feasibility Study JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e25151 URL: <u>https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e25151</u> doi:10.2196/25151 PMID:34132640

©Alita Maharaj, David Lim, Rinki Murphy, Anna Serlachius. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 16.06.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Original Paper** 

# Inpatient Telemedicine Implementation as an Infection Control Response to COVID-19: Qualitative Process Evaluation Study

Nadia Safaeinili<sup>1</sup>, MPH; Stacie Vilendrer<sup>1</sup>, MD, MBA; Emma Williamson<sup>2</sup>; Zicheng Zhao<sup>3</sup>, MS; Cati Brown-Johnson<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Steven M Asch<sup>1,4</sup>, MD, MPH; Lisa Shieh<sup>1</sup>, MD, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Department of Medicine, School of Medicine, Stanford University, Stanford, CA, United States

<sup>2</sup>Department of Engineering, Stanford University, Stanford, CA, United States

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Nadia Safaeinili, MPH Department of Medicine School of Medicine Stanford University 1265 Welch Rd x216 Stanford, CA, 94305 United States Phone: 1 8053001922 Email: nadiasaf@stanford.edu

# Abstract

**Background:** The COVID-19 pandemic created new challenges to delivering safe and effective health care while minimizing virus exposure among staff and patients without COVID-19. Health systems worldwide have moved quickly to implement telemedicine in diverse settings to reduce infection, but little is understood about how best to connect patients who are acutely ill with nearby clinical team members, even in the next room.

**Objective:** To inform these efforts, this paper aims to provide an early example of inpatient telemedicine implementation and its perceived acceptability and effectiveness.

**Methods:** Using purposive sampling, this study conducted 15 semistructured interviews with nurses (5/15, 33%), attending physicians (5/15, 33%), and resident physicians (5/15, 33%) on a single COVID-19 unit within Stanford Health Care to evaluate implementation outcomes and perceived effectiveness of inpatient telemedicine. Semistructured interview protocols and qualitative analysis were framed around the RE-AIM (reach, effectiveness, adoption, implementation, and maintenance) framework, and key themes were identified using a rapid analytic process and consensus approach.

**Results:** All clinical team members reported wide reach of inpatient telemedicine, with some use for almost all patients with COVID-19. Inpatient telemedicine was perceived to be effective in reducing COVID-19 exposure and use of personal protective equipment (PPE) without significantly compromising quality of care. Physician workflows remained relatively stable, as most standard clinical activities were conducted via telemedicine following the initial intake examination, though resident physicians reported reduced educational opportunities given limited opportunities to conduct physical exams. Nurse workflows required significant adaptations to cover nonnursing duties, such as food delivery and facilitating technology connections for patients and physicians alike. Perceived patient impact included consistent care quality, with some considerations around privacy. Reported challenges included patient–clinical team communication and personal connection with the patient, perceptions of patient isolation, ongoing technical challenges, and certain aspects of the physical exam.

**Conclusions:** Clinical team members reported inpatient telemedicine encounters to be acceptable and effective in reducing COVID-19 exposure and PPE use. Nurses adapted their workflows more than physicians in order to implement the new technology and bore a higher burden of in-person care and technical support. Recommendations for improved inpatient telemedicine use include information technology support and training, increased technical functionality, and remote access for the clinical team.

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e26452) doi:10.2196/26452



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Department of Comparative Medicine, School of Medicine, Stanford University, Stanford, CA, United States

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Center for Innovation to Implementation, Veterans Affairs, Palo Alto, CA, United States

#### **KEYWORDS**

telemedicine; inpatient; COVID-19; qualitative; RE-AIM; infection control; personal protective equipment; implementation science; quality improvement

# Introduction

The COVID-19 pandemic created new challenges to delivering safe and effective health care while minimizing virus exposure among staff and patients without COVID-19. Telemedicine has long been recognized as a potential solution to these challenges and was deployed in response to the Ebola, SARS, and H1N1 outbreaks [1], and now the COVID-19 pandemic [2,3]. Health systems worldwide have moved quickly to implement telemedicine in diverse settings [4-8], drawing on existing best practices for implementing telemedicine to increase remote access [9]. Much less is understood about how best to connect patients who are acutely ill with nearby clinical team members, even in the next room. To guide this widespread deployment, a deeper understanding of inpatient telemedicine's current use and potential impact on quality of care and team dynamics is needed.

Inpatient telemedicine adoption is also useful for personal protective equipment (PPE) conservation. For inpatients with known infections, the clinical team must don one-time-use PPE each time they enter the patients' rooms to safely provide care and help prevent transmission. Increased demand for PPE has led to intermittent regional supply shortages that place millions of health workers at risk [10,11]. Inpatient telemedicine allows health workers to address patient needs without physically entering the room, thereby reducing exposure and preserving scarce PPE resources [2,12]. These consults occur on the same unit, making them qualitatively different from other telemedicine in that the clinical team is able to convert an initial virtual encounter to an in-person one should the need arise.

Health systems hoping to incorporate telemedicine must overcome several recognized barriers, including costs, training, resistance to change by clinical team members and staff, and patient characteristics associated with reduced comfort in using technology, such as older age or lower level of education [13,14]. The COVID-19 pandemic has helped facilitate the removal of some of these barriers, as the United States moved to relax regulations on interstate licensing and offered parity in reimbursement in many telemedicine settings [15]. Examples of this adoption by hospitalists to deliver inpatient care include system-wide deployment of an in-room video intercom system [16] and tablet-based web-conferencing systems [17]. Specialty care via telemedicine has also been explored in palliative medicine [18], urological care [19,20], and dermatology [21]. The United States is not alone, as telemedicine programs have been developed in other infection hot spot countries, such as China, Spain, and Italy, to minimize virus transmission [5,22,23].

Despite the growing implementation of inpatient telemedicine, formal evaluations are limited. Telemedicine used to deliver care remotely has been shown to be effective in many clinical settings [24]. In the more novel use of infection control, Borchert et al demonstrated that a portion of inpatient telemedicine

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e26452
```

urological consults were safely directed through a triage protocol that included a pathway exclusively for inpatient telemedicine care [20]. Given the nascent use of inpatient telemedicine, an exploratory understanding of how clinical teams are using inpatient telemedicine and the challenges they face is needed. Qualitative approaches are best suited for exploratory, ground-up understanding of emerging issues and situations within health services research [25]. In evaluating inpatient telemedicine, for example, qualitative methods have afforded us insights around how the technology is implemented and why it is or is not adopted. This paper is one of the first to seek frontline clinical team voices to understand how inpatient telemedicine is being implemented and its downstream effects on patient care, team dynamics, and perceived quality.

# Methods

#### Overview

This study conducted 15 semistructured interviews with attending (5/15, 33%) and resident (5/15, 33%) physicians and nurses (5/15, 33%) on a designated COVID-19 unit at Stanford Health Care as part of a qualitative process evaluation. To clarify, attending physicians (eg, consultants) have completed all medical training and oversee resident physicians (eg, house officers) who have recently graduated from medical school and are in years 1 to 3 of their hospital training. This evaluation sought to understand the implementation and perceived effectiveness of an inpatient telemedicine solution across multiple domains, including patient care, clinical workflow, and clinical team satisfaction.

#### Setting

Beginning in March 2020, a large academic health center-Stanford Health Care, Palo Alto, California, USA-designated a single inpatient nonintensive care unit to treat all potential and confirmed patients with COVID-19 admitted to their hospital. To reduce clinical team and staff pathogen exposure and to conserve PPE, each patient received an iPad tablet (Apple Inc) with the ability to receive web-conference calls from computers in two private conference rooms on the unit. A patient's unique web-conferencing link and a password were required to enter the privacy-compliant system; this information was available to any clinical team members on the unit. Each tablet in the patient rooms had the web-based teleconferencing software Zoom (Zoom Video Communications, Inc) installed in a "hub-and-spoke" configuration, such that a call from the "hub" tablet on the unit floor would trigger the "spoke" patient tablet to automatically turn on its audio and video functions. The inpatient telemedicine intervention aimed to reduce clinical team in-person encounters and allowed the primary and specialist physician team, nurses, and extended care team members (ie, dietitians, respiratory therapists, physical therapists, social workers, and others) to provide patient care remotely in the on-unit conference rooms throughout the day.

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

#### **Instrument and Population**

Semistructured interview protocols explored the implementation and perceived effectiveness of inpatient telemedicine in reducing pathogen exposure and PPE use. The interviews also captured perceptions of the appropriateness of inpatient telemedicine use in various settings and its impact on clinical team satisfaction. Interview protocols were developed using RE-AIM (reach, effectiveness, adoption, implementation, and maintenance), an implementation science framework most commonly used to support effective implementation of interventions, but that is also valuable in structuring the evaluation of key implementation outcomes [26-28]. Interview questions were open-ended and organized into themes around individual experience with the intervention, perceived patient and clinical team outcomes, changes to clinical team workflow, and anticipated future use cases of inpatient telemedicine beyond the COVID-19 pandemic. Interviews lasted approximately 30 minutes and took place by phone, except in the case of two interviews that were conducted in person in a private location on the COVID-19 unit. Though the team would have preferred to conduct all interviews in person, access to the unit was rightfully highly restricted requiring use of phone interviews.

The target population for interviews included nurses and resident and attending physicians who were part of the clinical team and had used telemedicine since its launch within the organization in March 2020. The evaluation team contacted the medical director and nursing manager on the COVID-19 unit and received a list of clinical team member names from which to contact potential participants and request an interview. Interviews were conducted between May and June 2020 and reflect technical capabilities and workflows used during this period. Purposive sampling methods were used to recruit participants until thematic saturation was reached. Recruitment was challenging due to the small pool of clinical team members working on the COVID-19 unit and their demanding responsibilities in the context of the pandemic. Saturation was reached, by role, when new themes no longer emerged during interviews [29].

#### Analysis

Interviews were audio recorded and transcribed verbatim using Rev (Rev.com Inc). A qualitative health services researcher (NS) and a physician health services researcher (SV) independently reviewed and summarized key themes across all interview transcripts using a rapid analytic process structured around a priori categories informed by interview question categories (eg, structure, process, and patient outcomes) and RE-AIM constructs (Multimedia Appendix 1) [30]. Key themes and any inductive categories that emerged from this preliminary round of analysis were then validated using a consensus approach including an additional qualitative health services researcher on the evaluation team (CBJ) and two research assistants (EW and ZZ) who were also closely familiar with the data [31]. Each member of the team provided feedback on the others' key themes, highlighted similarities and differences, and surfaced relevant participant quotes. Differences in data interpretation were reviewed and resolved only once a majority of the team came to consensus. The Stanford Institutional Review Board determined that this project did not qualify as human subjects research (Protocol 55927). As such, informed consent for participation was not required. However, each participant received a verbal description of the evaluation and was informed that their participation was voluntary and confidential.

# Results

# Overview

Using RE-AIM, as defined above, and categories drawn from the semistructured interview guide as an *a priori* coding framework for analysis, the following themes emerged: (1) implementation setting and climate, (2) clinical team workflows around inpatient telemedicine, (3) clinical team satisfaction with inpatient telemedicine, (4) perceived impacts on patients, (5) limitations of inpatient telemedicine, and (6) anticipated future uses of inpatient telemedicine. Table 1 describes the qualitative findings by theme and subtheme.



Safaeinili et al

 Table 1. Qualitative results by theme and subtheme and example quotes.

Theme and subtheme	Quote
Implementation setting and climate	
Adoption	"Great. And who's using this video chat option? Which types of roles are using it? Is it just attendings? Are residents involved? Nursing? Who else?" (Interviewer)
	"Yeah, I think everybody is, and I know nurses go in and out of the room too when I'm using it. So, everybody, essentially." (Attending physician #2)
Information sharing and training	"I believe I was told about it at a division meeting and I didn't receive any formal training in it, but it was easy enough to use without having to go through a training session." (Attending physician #3)
Information sharing and training	"What information were you given when this all first launched about how to use the technology?" (Interviewer)
	"Not a lot. I was told it was available and that most patients with COVID had it as long as they were on the right units. And then that it was allowed in lieu of the physical exam now. So that was sort of the information that we were given." (Resident physician #2)
Clinical team workflows	
Physician workflow	"Typically what we do is as a team, we'll go into one of the Zoom rooms and we will call the patient using the video chat. We'll call in an interpreter if we need, and we'll do the history taking and a visual physical exam over Zoom. And if the patient is new to me or had a clinical change that requires a physical exam, then after we do the rounding over the video chat, then I'll go into the room and do any parts of the physical exam that require me to be physically in the room." (Attending physician #4)
Nurse workflow	"The organization is really depending on nurses to be solely, I guess the person who's doing direct patient care most of the time in COVID rooms. Before this there were very few barriers to having physical therapy in the room or consulting teams doing their assessment and chatting with the patient, having housekeeping come in, right? But now we've taken over some of respiratory therapy's responsibilities just to decrease exposure for them and to conserve PPE [personal protective equipment], so we're doing metered-dose inhalers, et cetera, for them. Housekeeping isn't allowed into the room except to do discharge. So we're doing trash and linen for the moment. I mean, physicians will come in if it's emergent and there are definitely different teams that come in to do their daily assessments, but for the most part it's solely nursing doing physical assessments and they're really relying on us to see the changes and advocate for the patients if something is new or if they're deteriorating, et cetera." (Nurse #5)
Nurse workflow	"in the beginning when the nurse comes in, before she goes in the room, she'll do a teleconference with the patient to check on them, see if they're awake, if they're ready to order breakfast. What do they need before we come into the room, because we're trying to compile care, kind of do as much as possible when we enter, so we'll do it in the morning. We'll bring them the breakfast tray, we'll get them fresh linen, we'll get them the morning medicine. So, we're doing as much as possible when we go in the patient's room." (Nurse #3)
Extended care team workflow	"You have to first log in with the patient and then you say, 'Hey.' I speak Spanglish. I'm like, 'Hola. Un minuto.' And then I get the information for the chat, the number and the password, and I text it to the interpreter and then they hop in and some are between five and 10 minutes." (Attending physician #2)
	"So in that five- to ten-minute gap, what happens?" (Interviewer)
	"Yeah, that's awkward. And if you leave the room then the password changes. So, you have to stay there. I say in my Spanglish, 'A person's coming,' and then we just kind of hang out. But actually, today the patient fell asleep, literally while we were sitting there because I think it took like nine minutes." (Attending physician #2)
Technology support workflow	"You mentioned a few things that weren't going well already, but what else with the Zoom technology isn't working well?" (Interviewer)
	"I think those were the main things. Like there were a couple times when it just like, was on pause or out of batteries or something" (Resident physician #3)
	"Okay. And who's actually responsible for maintaining the iPads? Like charging them?" (Interviewer)
	I don't know. (Resident physician #3)
Clinical team satisfaction	
Physician satisfaction	"For me, it helps the anxiety a lot. I have a young child at home, so related to that, I was really extra worried about becoming sick myself. Once I was actually in the hospital for the first time during COVID and seeing how smoothly things were going with the PPE and everything, I felt a little better already. But then just knowing that I didn't need to be exposed any more than absolutely necessary. That was very helpful." (Attending physician #5)
Physician satisfaction	"So when I was on wards, I never went physically in the room with any of these [COVID-19] patients and in that way I think it's detrimentalyou don't get a lot of the teaching about the physical exam that you probably wanted." (Resident physician #3)

XSL•FO RenderX

Theme and subtheme	Quote
Nurse satisfaction	"It's a little time consuming to be able to coordinate [calls]. [Physicians ask] 'Oh, can you show me how to Zoom? Can you show me?', even though we have clear instructions in each of those Zoom rooms, each of the conference rooms on how to set it up, everyone's like, 'Oh, can you show me how to do it?' So, we have to kind of stop what we're doing if it's nothing too important and we have to go." (Nurse #1)
Perceived impacts on patients	
Quality of care	"I think from a like, is the patient getting the care that they need and are they getting better standpoint? The answer is yes, but I do think you lose something by not being able to be physically present next [to] your patient. And that might be something that's like a, it's like an intangible, but it's kind of just like the, having the proximity of being a physician next to you to comfort you or reassure you, which is just different when you're doing things remotely." (Attending physician #3)
Quality of care	"I think it puts a lot of onus on the nursing staff, which is okay because there is clinically a really strong staff, but I just wonder if that is the safest quality of careThat is why I don't know if it really is good. I mean, yeah. I'm a little bit indifferent about itI think in certain scenarios, it is really important and probably others, it is probably not. I do think there is potential for something to be missed. I worry, I guess." (Nurse #4)
Patient privacy considerations	"Sometimes we would try calling first to ask on the room phone and to ask if it was a good time. Another thing is [the tablet] was angled such that it was at their faces, not anywhere else, and so we felt like it was unlikely that they were going to be kind of like exposing that much of themselves. That was a challenge I don't think I've fully solved." (Attending physician #5)
Patient privacy considerations	"I don't think [privacy]'s an issue at all, and I could see how it'd be a question, butto be honest with you, if you had to wait for the patient to answer, it just wouldn't work. Most of the time they're sleeping, even the middle of day, or they just don't hear itSo if you needed them to answer the call, then it would only work 50 percent of the time." (Attending physician #2)
Limitations of inpatient telemedicine	
Communication	"[Researchers] were consenting [the patient] for remdesivir and they used an interpreter. They didn't go into the room and they used an interpreter via phone and there was still a language barrier where the patient didn't understand what they were consenting him on. So, he said no to remdesivir I speak Spanish, so the next day I went into the room and I said, 'Just a question. Why did you say no to the remdesivir trial?' And he's like, 'I don't know. I couldn't really understand what they were saying over the phone, so I just said no.'" (Nurse #1)
Patient-clinical team connection	"I had one COVID patient where I needed to have a goals of care conversation that really didn't feel like it was working well over the Zoom, and so I did that in the room. I think I worry a little bit sometimes that if we only see patients over the Zoom, that it increases their sense of isolation and their feeling of fear and feeling Yeah, their feelings of isolation and fear. And that there's something to be said for the emotional connection and support that comes from physically being in the room." (Attending physician #4)
Anticipated future uses of inpatient t	telemedicine
N/A <sup>a</sup>	"I do think that especially if it were something that we could access from all over the hospitalnow that we have a new hospital and our patients are not well co-localized, people spend so much time just walking from place to place. I could see it really being helpful. Of course you want, under normal circumstances, to see every patient in person at least once a day, but if you're literally a mile away in the hospital and a patient just has a question, it does feel more personal to Zoom in and be able to talk to them where they can see your faceOf course you get more information too, you can see, are they having trouble breathing? Do they look sicker than when you saw them earlier? That kind of thing." (Attending physician #5)

<sup>a</sup>N/A: not applicable; there were no subthemes for this theme.

#### **Implementation Setting and Climate**

Implementation setting and climate subthemes addressed adoption, information sharing, and training.

#### Adoption

RenderX

Adoption of inpatient telemedicine was reported to be near universal across attending and resident physicians and nurses who cared for patients on the COVID-19 designated inpatient unit. Web-conferencing was also used to replace morning rounds for patients with COVID-19, which would otherwise take place with the full physician team (both residents and attendings) and nurses, when available.

# Information Sharing and Training

Information sharing and training about the intervention were reported to be informal. The novelty of the inpatient telemedicine system also led to variations in the terminology used to describe it. Clinical team members called it "video visits," "virtual rounding," "inpatient telemedicine," "telemedicine," "video chat," "Zoom visits," or "Zoom." There were no consistent terms used within interviewee roles, and no miscommunications resulting from variation in terminology were reported.

Most clinical team members learned about the inpatient telemedicine system through word of mouth, though some did participate in a technical training session, and instructions for

initiating inpatient telemedicine visits were posted on the computers in the designated web-conferencing rooms. Most physicians reported learning about the technology from either the nursing team or from a physician coming off a previous shift. Most nurses also reported learning about inpatient telemedicine through their peers, though one had received training from an information technology (IT) representative. Though instructions were posted, nurses shared that they regularly received an influx of questions and requests for help initiating visits from physician team members and others. Nurses reported that these questions and requests did not seem to diminish in the months following implementation.

# Clinical Team Workflows Around Inpatient Telemedicine

# Overview

Clinical team workflow subthemes addressed the relative stability of physician workflows compared to the period before the COVID-19 pandemic, the significant adaptations of nurse workflows to account for additional responsibilities associated with COVID-19 restrictions and inpatient telemedicine, workflows for extended care team members hinging on call coordination and availability of translators, and a need for improved technology support workflows.

# Physician Workflow

Attending physicians and senior residents shared that they entered patient rooms less frequently due to the availability of inpatient telemedicine and, as a result, they reduced their PPE use and exposure to COVID-19. Junior residents did not enter the rooms at all per trainee program guidelines.

Clinical team members reported that a baseline physical exam was typically conducted in person by the senior resident or attending physician. Any additional in-room examinations were conducted by the nurse, senior resident, or attending and took place anywhere from daily to every few days, depending on the patient's clinical needs. When asked how they decided whether or not to enter a room for an in-person assessment, physicians considered patient acuity of illness, opting to forgo low-value in-person encounters that could otherwise be addressed via video. Any decrement in clinical status also triggered an in-person exam. Rounding activities typically included daily telemedicine conversations between the patient and the physician team (ie, attendings and residents), as long as patients were clinically stable.

# Nurse Workflow

Patients continued to receive regular, in-room nursing care multiple times each day. In addition to their usual responsibilities, nurses reported being tasked with additional responsibilities outside their standard work. These included delivering food multiple times per day, changing linens, and disinfecting patient rooms due to room entry restrictions barring housekeeping and cafeteria staff from entering the rooms of patients with COVID-19. Nurses reported "batching" their entrances to complete several tasks at once to reduce PPE use, and they used inpatient telemedicine when they wanted to check on patients but deemed an in-room encounter unnecessary. Nurses shared that inpatient telemedicine was primarily used for hourly assessments of each inpatient, which is considered best practice in nursing care, and was often a satisfactory alternate to an in-person encounter.

Most notably, nurses reported expending significant time to facilitate team use of inpatient telemedicine, including scheduling the virtual meetings and circulating web-conferencing links and passwords to all participants (eg, clinical team, interpreters, family members, and extended care team members). The coordination of a single call was reported to take up to 20 minutes of a nurse's time to complete. While some attendings and residents reported setting up calls themselves, some corroborated their ongoing reliance on nursing support to facilitate calls.

Nurses also reported being asked to don PPE and enter patient rooms during inpatient telemedicine visits to turn the tablet screen or increase tablet volume to optimize the interaction with the physician or extended team member in the conference, as patients frequently moved the tablet or adjusted its settings between visits. These situations negated any reduction in PPE consumption that the inpatient telemedicine system may have facilitated and transferred potential exposure from the caller to the nurse. While nurses did not express dissatisfaction with these changes directly, some nurses shared concern that time spent facilitating telemedicine encounters for other team members pulled them away from their own patient care responsibilities.

Nurse-led adaptations of the technology that supported patient care included the following: (1) acquiring an extra tablet at the nursing station through IT to be able to monitor and provide 24/7 visualization of a delirious patient with dementia who was a fall risk and (2) facilitating communication between patients and family members, particularly in acute care situations, if they had time to coordinate the conference room and the family member and patient schedules.

# Extended Care Team Workflow

On-site extended care team members, such as respiratory therapists, dietitians, psychiatrists, social workers, research coordinators, and other team members, were not physically permitted on the unit and could, therefore, not initiate inpatient telemedicine visits through on-site conference rooms. Given these limitations, nurses were also sometimes asked to conduct respiratory therapy activities or fulfill other clinical needs on behalf of their remote care team members.

Call coordination via inpatient telemedicine was reported to rely on nurses to coordinate and required each relevant team member to be available simultaneously in their own confidential setting for the telemedicine visit to take place effectively. Many patients with COVID-19 did not speak English as their first language, and it was particularly challenging to schedule remote interpreters on telemedicine visits. Interpreters worked virtually in multiple settings using multiple technical platforms, often producing a 5- to 10-minute delay while the physician and patient waited in the teleconference room.

XSL•FO

## Technology Support Workflow

The logistics of using and maintaining tablets in patient rooms created new workflows for the clinical team. Each tablet was mounted on a cart to the side of the patient bed and nurses mentioned that the placement of the tablet sometimes interfered in patient care, specifically in conducting physical exams or providing treatment that required access to that side of the bed. Additionally, tablet maintenance meant that updates automatically pushed by the technology companies or a dead battery could put a tablet out of commission, without reported backup machines available on the inpatient unit that could immediately address the issue.

# Clinical Team Satisfaction With Inpatient Telemedicine

Satisfaction subthemes highlighted high attending and resident physician satisfaction specific to reduced infection exposure and improved efficiency in daily workflows, resident physician concerns with reduced educational opportunities, and no stated change in satisfaction for nurses.

## **Physician Satisfaction**

Most physicians perceived inpatient telemedicine to have a positive impact on their daily work and reported that the platform was intuitive to use, given their experience with the technology in nonclinical settings. Physicians also perceived having additional time to check in on patients given the reduction in time spent walking between patient rooms. These factors, in addition to reduced PPE use and in-room COVID-19 exposure, were reported to contribute to improved job satisfaction and reduce feelings of anxiety around infection among attending and resident physicians.

In-room physical exams prior to the pandemic typically included attending physicians and senior and junior residents; however, during the pandemic, attending physicians and senior residents primarily conducted in-room physical exams with patients with COVID-19 alone. Junior residents mentioned missing educational aspects of the physical exam due to this reduction in training at the bedside, though they appeared to accept the small trade-off on education to prioritize their safety and were still able to engage with patients through inpatient telemedicine.

# Nursing Satisfaction

Nurses did not report a change in job satisfaction or anxiety, as they perceived that their in-room exposure stayed at similar, if not increased, levels following the implementation of inpatient telemedicine due to the increased housekeeping and care responsibilities described above. As fewer members of the primary physician team and extended care team were allowed to enter patient rooms, these additional tasks fell on the nursing team to complete.

#### **Perceived Impacts on Patients**

Perceived patient impact subthemes included consistent quality of care, privacy considerations, and limitations of inpatient telemedicine, particularly with respect to communication, physical exams, and patient–clinical team connection.

# Quality of Care

Overall, inpatient telemedicine was perceived to be effective in reducing COVID-19 exposure and PPE use without significantly compromising quality of care. Patient outcomes, specifically around quality of care, were perceived to be of similar quality to in-person visits. Physicians and nurses reported that inpatient telemedicine facilitated improved care by allowing the clinical team to "eyeball" a patient's physical status remotely throughout the day without donning PPE. Additionally, all physicians reported that the inpatient telemedicine system allowed for higher-quality care than care delivered via phones available at the patient's bedside, as physicians were able to assess patients' physical statuses and capture facial expressions otherwise missed through audio alone.

# Patient Privacy Considerations

Physicians and nurses felt that patient privacy was protected, as calls could only be made in the designated conferencing rooms through the secure system. Some clinical team members mentioned feeling concerned about the auto-activation of video in the patient's room and would call the patient by phone just before initiating a web-conferencing visit to alert the patient. However, some physicians felt the auto-accept feature was critical to provide timely care if patients were unable to activate video by themselves.

The clinical team reported that patients sometimes turned the tablet screen away from themselves for privacy reasons and reduced the volume, especially at nighttime when the screen brightness and sound might interrupt their sleep. This allowed patients to rotate the screen toward themselves when they were ready for the visit, but it also meant that sometimes calls from the clinical team were missed, as the patient did not notice or could not hear the team initiating the call. It was at these points that a physician might ask a nurse to don PPE and enter the room to turn the tablet screen toward the patient and increase the audio volume.

# **Limitations of Inpatient Telemedicine**

Some residents acknowledged concern that the lack of physical presence may compromise care, particularly for vulnerable patients with an altered mental status and hearing challenges as well as for non-English speakers. At the same time, a resident also acknowledged that telemedicine opened up new care possibilities for a deaf patient who was admitted with COVID-19 and could only read lips. Whereas PPE would have covered the resident's mouth during an in-person exam, telemedicine allowed a conversation to take place.

Additional use cases where inpatient telemedicine was thought to be inappropriate around prognosis included when sharing bad news or communicating complex information in another language. Several nurses reported concerns of less appropriate use by the extended care team, such as a psychiatric evaluation completed over telemedicine for a patient with known dementia or a physical therapy evaluation for a patient who had trouble standing. Other adaptations made to adjust to virtual patient care were also reported as less ideal, such as directing patients to identify complex medical instruments or asking nurses to conduct exams typically done by a resident. Some physicians

and nurses also noted the loss of in-person connection, worrying that it may inadvertently lead to worse outcomes or at least reduce patient satisfaction. One nurse felt that this loss of interpersonal connection went against her training.

Loss of connection was reported to be felt by the patients as well. The clinical team reported that few patients had commented on their inpatient telemedicine experience, though those who had received feedback shared that some patients were confused as to why physicians and nurses were not entering the room as often. Some clinical team members perceived that inpatient telemedicine made their patients feel more isolated.

## **Anticipated Future Uses of Inpatient Telemedicine**

Clinical team members agreed that inpatient telemedicine might expand beyond use in patients with COVID-19 in future use cases. Contexts favorable to telemedicine use included those with patients who were comfortable with the technology and were clinically stable and mentally coherent. When asked what percentage of daily encounters they prefer to conduct via inpatient telemedicine in the future, clinical team members shared preferences ranging from 0% to 80%. Suggested uses included leveraging inpatient telemedicine to allow remote (ie, off-unit) access to patients throughout the day and to connect patients with remote visitors.

# Discussion

# **Principal Findings**

This is the first qualitative analysis of inpatient telemedicine used to improve infection control using established implementation science frameworks that the authors are aware of. Findings suggest that telemedicine used as an infection control tool in a nonintensive care inpatient setting was generally accepted and adopted among attending physicians, resident physicians, and nurses. Clinical team members agreed that quality of patient care remained largely unchanged, particularly given the ever-present option to convert a telemedicine assessment to an in-person exam if clinical deterioration was suspected. Recognized limitations included challenges around clinical team communication and personal connection with the patient, perceptions of patient isolation, ongoing technical challenges, and certain aspects of the physical exam. Such barriers have been previously reflected in the literature alongside concerns of technical costs and unfavorable reimbursement [13,32,33]. However, this work goes further to suggest that telemedicine used in the context of an infectious disease may be uniquely more favored by the clinical team than its past uses, which predominantly focused on connecting patients to remote providers. In the infectious disease setting, inpatient telemedicine provides both an additional layer of defense against an infectious pathogen and an opportunity to visually connect "face-to-face" (ie, without a mask) with vulnerable patients in need of care.

# **Inpatient Telemedicine Improvements Underway**

Investigations to augment key aspects of the physical exam and others with a "remote hospital system," such as a connected stethoscope, are ongoing in the institution. In addition, the institution is implementing solutions to the challenges around

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e26452
```

the patient-clinical team connection; ease of communication, particularly with the timeliness of incorporating interpreters, is in the process of being improved, following rapid feedback of these findings. These findings also point to the possibility of incorporating a calendar system for patients who are hospitalized who may see their schedules filled with procedures, specialist consults, and family conference calls. A series of remote but human connections throughout the day may ease reported feelings of patient isolation and simplify challenges related to multi-party scheduling.

#### Variance in Level of COVID-19 Exposure, by Role

While stakeholders perceived that inpatient telemedicine is effective in preventing COVID-19 exposure and reducing PPE use for most clinical team members, perceptions varied by role. Physicians, especially junior residents, reported having the lowest degree of in-room exposure, as attendings and senior residents conducted the majority of in-person assessments. In-room exposure was reportedly highest among the bedside nursing team who spent more time in the room, as their responsibilities shifted to include ancillary duties (eg. food delivery, linen changes, and respiratory care) that would have otherwise been conducted by the extended care team; their experience is consistent with those in other health systems and countries that have highlighted the critical roles nurses have played in the COVID-19 response [34]. The overall impact that telemedicine availability had on the number of times nurses entered a room was not clear from interviews: while nurses adapted to increased responsibilities, they also reported "batching" these activities to reduce PPE use. This shift in behavior is consistent with previously documented nursing responses in infection settings [35]. Overall, telemedicine seemed to magnify pre-existing discrepancies of time spent at the bedside between roles [36], with physicians spending less time at the bedside and nurses spending the same or more time at the bedside.

Literature suggests this major shift in clinical workflow may not be without cost. Nursing interruptions are dangerous and have been shown to compromise patient safety and quality of care, particularly around wrong medication or wrong dose [37-39]. In this academic setting, early learnings have facilitated conversations with operational, IT, and nursing leadership, and solutions to minimize nursing interruptions are actively being investigated. Any such solution must also consider nursing goals to optimize patient care and experience, as literature suggests that nurses may prefer to oversee who enters the patient room, even if virtually, to avoid disrupting the patient's sleep or to optimize coordinated communication with family [40-42].

#### Need for Rapid Evaluation of Information Technology

Many have pointed out that for health care institutions to become learning health care systems, they must pair rapid innovation with rapid evaluation [43]. Perhaps this is nowhere more important than in the adaptation of IT during a pandemic. Stanford Health Care had previously developed a system for such rapid evaluation [44] and deployed it in real time as the system struggled to adapt to the strain of the influx of new COVID-19 cases. This allowed clinical managers to draw lessons quickly and fine-tune the socio-technological system

to maximize patient quality and minimize infection risk. Other health care systems might employ similar techniques in implementing IT solutions.

These interviews with clinical stakeholders point to a set of key opportunities to improve inpatient telemedicine, including clinical team education, IT support and training during the transition phase, technical functionality around audio volume and video privacy, and remote access for staff. Recommendations for improved inpatient telemedicine use are outlined in Table 2.

Table 2. Recommendations for improved inpatient telemedicine use.

Opportunity for improvement	Recommendations
Information technology (IT) support and training	<ul> <li>Robust and locally available IT support staff to manage tablet maintenance, including charging and updating software, and to support the education of key end users</li> <li>Technological onboarding for the extended care team should go beyond written instructions and include videos and real-time support</li> </ul>
Increased technical functionality	<ul> <li>Camera and microphone functionalities in the patient room may be further optimized by relocating devices to the ceiling or wall, out of the way of bedside care</li> <li>Remote direction change, zoom, and volume functionalities may reduce the currently reported need for nursing staff to enter the room to reposition and change tablet settings</li> <li>Additional functionality focused on patient privacy may include a camera that clearly points away from the patient when it is not in use and incorporates a "knock knock" feature prior to automatic answer</li> </ul>
Remote access for staff	<ul> <li>Remote inpatient telemedicine can increase patient-team connections and leverage a partially remote workforce by enabling the clinical team to check on patients from remote settings outside of the COVID-19 designated unit</li> <li>National policies surrounding parity in reimbursement for telemedicine services and privacy laws that are still under debate in the United States will determine the feasibility of this recommendation</li> </ul>

# Limitations

This study was conducted within a single academic medical center undergoing operational changes in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, and learnings are, therefore, not generalizable to other institutions or time periods. The use of qualitative methods provided a more nuanced assessment of facilitators and barriers to inpatient telemedicine implementation and adoption; however, this study was limited by a small sample size representing each role, as the hospital appropriately restricted nonclinical staff on the COVID-19 unit of interest. While the evaluation team felt that thematic saturation for each population was attained, unexpected viewpoints from a broader population may have been missed. Additionally, though efforts were made to include patient voices in this evaluation, the authors were unable to complete a sufficient number of patient interviews to draw meaningful conclusions from this perspective. An exploration of the patient perspective and a

# quantitative analysis of inpatient telemedicine's impact on patient outcomes are important areas of future work.

## Conclusions

In this evaluation of an inpatient telemedicine system deployed as an infection control measure, attending and resident physicians and nurses reported virtual encounters as acceptable and effective in reducing COVID-19 exposure and PPE use for certain clinical team members. Additionally, the clinical team perceived quality of patient care to remain unchanged, though challenges were identified around the following: increased burden of technical implementation borne disproportionately by nurses, technology support, integration of remote extended care team members, patient–clinical team communication and connection, and conducting physical exams. Ongoing optimization of the technical and team workflow aspects of inpatient telemedicine is needed to deliver safe, effective care during the current and future pandemics.

# **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Semistructured interview protocol. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 47 KB - formative\_v5i6e26452\_app1.pdf ]

#### References

- 1. Ohannessian R. Telemedicine: Potential applications in epidemic situations. Eur Res Telemed 2015 Sep;4(3):95-98. [doi: 10.1016/j.eurtel.2015.08.002]
- Livingston E, Desai A, Berkwits M. Sourcing personal protective equipment during the COVID-19 pandemic. JAMA 2020 May 19;323(19):1912-1914. [doi: <u>10.1001/jama.2020.5317</u>] [Medline: <u>32221579</u>]

- Hollander JE, Carr BG. Virtually perfect? Telemedicine for Covid-19. N Engl J Med 2020 Apr 30;382(18):1679-1681. [doi: <u>10.1056/NEJMp2003539</u>] [Medline: <u>32160451</u>]
- 4. Ohannessian R, Duong TA, Odone A. Global telemedicine implementation and integration within health systems to fight the COVID-19 pandemic: A call to action. JMIR Public Health Surveill 2020 Apr 02;6(2):e18810 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/18810] [Medline: 32238336]
- 5. Hong Z, Li N, Li D, Li J, Li B, Xiong W, et al. Telemedicine during the COVID-19 pandemic: Experiences from Western China. J Med Internet Res 2020 May 08;22(5):e19577 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/19577] [Medline: 32349962]
- Mann DM, Chen J, Chunara R, Testa PA, Nov O. COVID-19 transforms health care through telemedicine: Evidence from the field. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2020 Apr 23:1132-1135 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocaa072] [Medline: 32324855]
- Turer R, Jones I, Rosenbloom S, Slovis C, Ward M. Electronic personal protective equipment: A strategy to protect emergency department providers in the age of COVID-19. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2020 Jun 01;27(6):967-971 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocaa048] [Medline: 32240303]
- 8. Bokolo AJ. Exploring the adoption of telemedicine and virtual software for care of outpatients during and after COVID-19 pandemic. Ir J Med Sci 2021 Feb;190(1):1-10 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11845-020-02299-z] [Medline: 32642981]
- Young JD, Abdel-Massih R, Herchline T, McCurdy L, Moyer KJ, Scott JD, et al. Infectious Diseases Society of America position statement on telehealth and telemedicine as applied to the practice of infectious diseases. Clin Infect Dis 2019 Apr 24;68(9):1437-1443. [doi: <u>10.1093/cid/ciy907</u>] [Medline: <u>30851042</u>]
- 10. Kamerow D. Covid-19: The crisis of personal protective equipment in the US. BMJ 2020 Apr 03;369:m1367. [doi: 10.1136/bmj.m1367] [Medline: 32245847]
- 11. Ranney ML, Griffeth V, Jha AK. Critical supply shortages The need for ventilators and personal protective equipment during the Covid-19 pandemic. N Engl J Med 2020 Apr 30;382(18):e41. [doi: 10.1056/NEJMp2006141] [Medline: 32212516]
- Miller SL, Clements N, Elliott SA, Subhash SS, Eagan A, Radonovich LJ. Implementing a negative-pressure isolation ward for a surge in airborne infectious patients. Am J Infect Control 2017 Jun 01;45(6):652-659 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ajic.2017.01.029] [Medline: 28330710]
- 13. Scott Kruse C, Karem P, Shifflett K, Vegi L, Ravi K, Brooks M. Evaluating barriers to adopting telemedicine worldwide: A systematic review. J Telemed Telecare 2018 Jan;24(1):4-12 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1357633X16674087] [Medline: 29320966]
- 14. Vimarlund V, Le Rouge C. Barriers and opportunities to the widespread adoption of telemedicine: A bi-country evaluation. Stud Health Technol Inform 2013;192:933. [Medline: 23920707]
- 15. Gadzinski AJ, Gore JL, Ellimoottil C, Odisho AY, Watts KL. Implementing telemedicine in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. J Urol 2020 Jul;204(1):14-16 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/JU.000000000001033] [Medline: 32249678]
- Schwamm LH, Erskine A, Licurse A. A digital embrace to blunt the curve of COVID19 pandemic. NPJ Digit Med 2020;3:64 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41746-020-0279-6] [Medline: 32377575]
- Vilendrer S, Patel B, Chadwick W, Hwa M, Asch S, Pageler N, et al. Rapid deployment of inpatient telemedicine in response to COVID-19 across three health systems. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2020 Jul 01;27(7):1102-1109 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocaa077] [Medline: 32495830]
- Humphreys J, Schoenherr L, Elia G, Saks NT, Brown C, Barbour S, et al. Rapid implementation of inpatient telepalliative medicine consultations during COVID-19 pandemic. J Pain Symptom Manage 2020 Jul;60(1):e54-e59 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2020.04.001] [Medline: 32283219]
- Novara G, Checcucci E, Crestani A, Abrate A, Esperto F, Pavan N, Research Urology Network (RUN). Telehealth in urology: A systematic review of the literature. How much can telemedicine be useful during and after the COVID-19 pandemic? Eur Urol 2020 Dec;78(6):786-811 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.eururo.2020.06.025] [Medline: 32616405]
- Borchert A, Baumgarten L, Dalela D, Jamil M, Budzyn J, Kovacevic N, et al. Managing urology consultations during COVID-19 pandemic: Application of a structured care pathway. Urology 2020 Jul;141:7-11 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.urology.2020.04.059] [Medline: 32330531]
- 21. Rismiller K, Cartron AM, Trinidad JCL. Inpatient teledermatology during the COVID-19 pandemic. J Dermatolog Treat 2020 Aug;31(5):441-443. [doi: 10.1080/09546634.2020.1762843] [Medline: 32364809]
- 22. Webster P. Virtual health care in the era of COVID-19. Lancet 2020 Apr 11;395(10231):1180-1181 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30818-7] [Medline: 32278374]
- Vidal-Alaball J, Acosta-Roja R, Pastor Hernández N, Sanchez Luque U, Morrison D, Narejos Pérez S, et al. Telemedicine in the face of the COVID-19 pandemic. Aten Primaria 2020;52(6):418-422 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.aprim.2020.04.003] [Medline: 32402477]
- 24. Ekeland AG, Bowes A, Flottorp S. Effectiveness of telemedicine: A systematic review of reviews. Int J Med Inform 2010 Nov;79(11):736-771. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2010.08.006] [Medline: 20884286]
- 25. Tuckerman J, Kaufman J, Danchin M. How to use qualitative methods for health and health services research. J Paediatr Child Health 2020 May;56(5):818-820 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jpc.14849] [Medline: 32281207]
- 26. Glasgow RE, Vogt TM, Boles SM. Evaluating the public health impact of health promotion interventions: The RE-AIM framework. Am J Public Health 1999 Sep;89(9):1322-1327. [doi: <u>10.2105/ajph.89.9.1322</u>] [Medline: <u>10474547</u>]

- Srinivasan M, Asch S, Vilendrer S, Thomas SC, Bajra R, Barman L, et al. Qualitative assessment of rapid system transformation to primary care video visits at an academic medical center. Ann Intern Med 2020 Oct 06;173(7):527-535 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7326/M20-1814] [Medline: 32628536]
- 28. Kwan BM, Chadha S, Hamer MK, Spagnolo D, Kee S. Mixed methods evaluation of a collaborative care implementation using RE-AIM. Fam Syst Health 2017 Sep;35(3):295-307. [doi: 10.1037/fsh0000291] [Medline: 28805404]
- 29. Creswell JW, Poth CN. Qualitative Inquiry and Research Design: Choosing Among Five Approaches. 4th edition. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications, Inc; 2018.
- 30. Hamilton A. Qualitative methods in rapid turn-around health services research. US Department of Veterans Affairs, Health Services Research & Development. 2013 Nov 12. URL: <u>https://www.hsrd.research.va.gov/for\_researchers/cyber\_seminars/</u> archives/video\_archive.cfm?SessionID=780 [accessed 2020-12-11]
- 31. Bradley EH, Curry LA, Devers KJ. Qualitative data analysis for health services research: Developing taxonomy, themes, and theory. Health Serv Res 2007 Aug;42(4):1758-1772 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1475-6773.2006.00684.x] [Medline: 17286625]
- 32. Moeckli J, Gutierrez J, Kaboli PJ. Perceived need and potential applications of a telehospitalist service in rural areas. Telemed J E Health 2021 Jan;27(1):90-95. [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2020.0018] [Medline: 32316876]
- Kuntz JG, Kavalieratos D, Esper GJ, Ogbu N, Mitchell J, Ellis CM, et al. Feasibility and acceptability of inpatient palliative care e-family meetings during COVID-19 pandemic. J Pain Symptom Manage 2020 Sep;60(3):e28-e32 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2020.06.001] [Medline: 32505643]
- 34. Zhang Y. Strengthening the power of nurses in combating COVID-19. J Nurs Manag 2021 Apr;29(3):357-359 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jonm.13023] [Medline: 32259325]
- Musau J, Baumann A, Kolotylo C, O'Shea T, Bialachowski A. Infectious disease outbreaks and increased complexity of care. Int Nurs Rev 2015 Sep;62(3):404-411. [doi: <u>10.1111/inr.12188</u>] [Medline: <u>25922983</u>]
- Li RC, Marafino BJ, Nielsen D, Baiocchi M, Shieh L. Assessment of a real-time locator system to identify physician and nurse work locations. JAMA Netw Open 2020 Feb 05;3(2):e1920352 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.20352] [Medline: 32022876]
- 37. Westbrook JI, Woods A, Rob MI, Dunsmuir WTM, Day RO. Association of interruptions with an increased risk and severity of medication administration errors. Arch Intern Med 2010 Apr 26;170(8):683-690. [doi: 10.1001/archinternmed.2010.65] [Medline: 20421552]
- 38. Balas MC, Scott LD, Rogers AE. The prevalence and nature of errors and near errors reported by hospital staff nurses. Appl Nurs Res 2004 Nov;17(4):224-230. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.apnr.2004.09.002</u>] [Medline: <u>15573330</u>]
- Tucker AL, Spear SJ. Operational failures and interruptions in hospital nursing. Health Serv Res 2006 Jun;41(3 Pt 1):643-662 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1475-6773.2006.00502.x] [Medline: 16704505]
- 40. Stirling B. Communicating the changing role of a nurse in an epidemic: The example of the MERS-CoV outbreak in Saudi Arabia. J Healthc Commun 2017;02(03):1-6. [doi: 10.4172/2472-1654.100070]
- Tuller S, McCabe L, Cronenwett L, Hastings D, Shaheen A, Daley-Faulkner C, et al. Patient, visitor, and nurse evaluations of visitation for adult postanesthesia care unit patients. J Perianesth Nurs 1997 Dec;12(6):402-412. [doi: 10.1016/s1089-9472(97)90003-4] [Medline: 9464029]
- 42. Söderström IM, Benzein E, Saveman B. Nurses' experiences of interactions with family members in intensive care units. Scand J Caring Sci 2003 Jun;17(2):185-192. [doi: <u>10.1046/j.1471-6712.2003.00222.x</u>] [Medline: <u>12753520</u>]
- Institute of Medicine. In: Olsen LA, Aisner D, McGinnis JM, editors. The Learning Healthcare System: Workshop Summary. Institute of Medicine (US) Roundtable on Evidence-Based Medicine. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press; 2007:1-364.
- 44. Brown-Johnson C, Shaw JG, Safaeinili N, Chan GK, Mahoney M, Asch S, et al. Role definition is key: Rapid qualitative ethnography findings from a team-based primary care transformation. Learn Health Syst 2019 Jul;3(3):e10188 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/lrh2.10188] [Medline: 31317071]

# Abbreviations

IT: information technologyPPE: personal protective equipmentRE-AIM: reach, effectiveness, adoption, implementation, and maintenance



Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 14.12.20; peer-reviewed by A Garg, M Mueller, R Rahman; comments to author 15.01.21; revised version received 05.02.21; accepted 19.05.21; published 16.06.21. <u>Please cite as:</u> Safaeinili N, Vilendrer S, Williamson E, Zhao Z, Brown-Johnson C, Asch SM, Shieh L Inpatient Telemedicine Implementation as an Infection Control Response to COVID-19: Qualitative Process Evaluation Study JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e26452 URL: https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e26452 doi:10.2196/26452 PMID:34033576

©Nadia Safaeinili, Stacie Vilendrer, Emma Williamson, Zicheng Zhao, Cati Brown-Johnson, Steven M Asch, Lisa Shieh. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 16.06.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



# Professionals' and Students' Perceived Needs for an Online Supportive Application for Reducing School Absence and Stimulating Reintegration: Concept Mapping Study

Mariette H H Hoogsteder<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Linda N Douma<sup>1,2</sup>, PhD; Charlotte G A Eskens<sup>3</sup>, MSc; Renske L Berendsen<sup>4</sup>, MSc; Yvonne T M Vanneste<sup>5</sup>, MD, PhD; Frederieke G Schaafsma<sup>1</sup>, MD, PhD, Prof Dr

<sup>1</sup>Department of Public and Occupational Health, Amsterdam Public Health Research Institute, Amsterdam University Medical Centers (UMC), Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam, Amsterdam, Netherlands
 <sup>2</sup>GGD (Public Health Service) Flevoland, Almere, Netherlands
 <sup>3</sup>De Zorgcirkel, Purmerend, Netherlands
 <sup>4</sup>Ksyos Telemedical Centre, Amstelveen, Netherlands
 <sup>5</sup>Dutch Knowledge and Innovation Centre Youth and Health (NCJ), Utrecht, Netherlands
 **Corresponding Author:** Mariette H H Hoogsteder, PhD
 Department of Public and Occupational Health
 Amsterdam Public Health Research Institute
 Amsterdam University Medical Centers (UMC), Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam
 Van der Boechorststraat 7
 Amsterdam, 1081 BT

Netherlands Phone: 31 20 4445965 Email: <u>m.hoogsteder@amsterdamumc.nl</u>

# Abstract

**Background:** To limit students' medical absenteeism and premature school dropout in the Netherlands, the Medical Advice for Sick-reported Students (MASS) intervention was developed to enhance collaboration between students, parents, school, and health care professionals. MASS reduces medical absenteeism. However, it does not yet optimally support professionals in monitoring students nor automatically stimulating students' autonomy regarding their situation.

**Objective:** This study aimed to identify professionals' and students' perceived need for an online supportive application to monitor and reduce absenteeism and stimulate student autonomy and school reintegration.

**Methods:** Concept mapping sessions were held with professionals (n=23) and secondary school students (n=27) in group meetings or online to identify their perspectives and needs. Multidimensional scaling and hierarchical clustering were done with Ariadne 3.0 software. The resulting concept maps were reclustered and interpreted by 4 researchers.

**Results:** Three heterogeneous groups of professionals generated 17 clusters (135 unique statements), with a mean importance rating ranging from 2.9 to 4.6 on a Likert scale with scores ranging from 1 to 5. Three heterogeneous groups of secondary school students generated 18 clusters (95 unique statements), with a mean importance rating ranging from 3.2 to 4.6. Professionals considered as most important the following: easily accessible contact with students; supporting, motivating, and rewarding students; monitoring absent students; providing information to students and their parents; exchanging information between professionals. Students considered as most important the following: better teacher-student communication and respect; communication between school professionals on the one hand and parents, other professionals, and students on the other hand; guidance in missed learning materials and tests. Students perceived an online format for support as the obvious option.

**Conclusions:** Both professionals and students were positive about an online application to support students in dealing with medical absenteeism, especially considering the need for better and easily accessible contact between students and professionals. An eHealth or mobile health (mHealth) application addressing these aspects could stimulate student autonomy and have positive effects on medical absenteeism.

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e24659) doi:10.2196/24659



#### **KEYWORDS**

medical absenteeism; secondary education; eHealth; mHealth; mobile health; students; schools, health occupations; youth health physicians; concept mapping

# Introduction

School absenteeism is a serious problem in many countries worldwide [1-3], including the Netherlands. Recent numbers show that, for example, in the United States, at least 13% of all students (5-18 years old) are chronically absent from school, involving both excused and unexcused absences as well as suspensions. In the Netherlands, no clear-cut definition of chronic absenteeism exists. Problematic absenteeism is defined as being absent from school for a minimum of 16 hours during a consecutive period of 4 weeks [4]. Recent numbers show that at least 5% of all students aged 5 to 18 years old is problematically absent from school [5,6]. However, this only involves unexcused absences and not absences because of illness or problems. Although Dutch schools are required to register both unexcused and excused absences, they only need to report chronic unexcused absences to the authorities [4]. Frequent and prolonged school absenteeism due to either unexcused or excused absences can have a significant impact on a student's life, for example leading to stagnation of a student's (learning) development, a lower education level, and even school dropout [7-10]. In the Netherlands, 2% of students attending secondary or vocational schools (12-23 years old) drop out prematurely, a number that is slowly increasing [5,6,11]. Successfully completing school and having a degree is important, as it will provide better employment opportunities, contributing to a better financial and living situation. Furthermore, people with a school diploma are less likely to exhibit delinquent behavior and more likely to continue studying and to live healthier and longer lives [12-18]. Subsequently, health outcomes can be improved by early diagnosis and management of specific physical and mental health problems associated with school absence [19] and by optimizing educational opportunities [20]. Therefore, school absenteeism and school dropout should be considered public health problems [13,15,16,18].

Behind excused school absenteeism there may be many reasons, medical absenteeism being one of them. Medical absenteeism refers to students reporting absent from school because of (a wide range of) health-related problems [1,12]. Exact numbers relating to medical absenteeism are unclear, as schools are not required to report these to the Dutch authorities. Multiple factors are involved in chronic absenteeism, and schools may differ in how they report absence [4,6,12]. However, a World Health Organization report from 2002 [21] showed that, in half of the school absenteeism cases in Dutch secondary schools, being ill was reported as the cause. Additionally, a national health monitor study with students in the second and fourth grades of secondary school showed that in 40% of absentee cases, students reported that this was because of illness, while truancy was reported in 11% of the cases [22]. This indicates that, in secondary school, medical absenteeism is a significant and prevalent type of absenteeism. However, in most countries, the approach to reducing school absenteeism primarily focuses on truancy. Nonetheless, integrated solutions are being developed such as the involvement of physicians and (public) health services [1,7,12]. In the Netherlands, an integrated approach to addressing medical absenteeism has been developed, namely the Medical Advice for Sick-reported Students (MASS) intervention [23,24] (see Figure 1 by Vanneste et al [25]). This intervention, as well as other school health care activities, is coordinated by the youth health care section of regional Public Health Services. The MASS intervention has dual purposes: (1) stimulating collaboration between professionals involved in the care of a medically absent student, in particular schools, youth health care, and the school attendance service, and (2) optimizing students' health, maximizing students' participation in school activities, and limiting school absenteeism for medical reasons [17,18,24,25].



Figure 1. Description of the Dutch intervention "Medical Advice for Sick-reported Students" (MASS) by Vanneste et al [25]. YHCP: youth health care provider.

The MASS intervention consists of an integrated approach in a public health setting. MASS provides a clear framework in which schools, in direct collaboration with YHCPs, are able to reach students and their parents, discuss aspects of the student's medical absence, and design and monitor a management plan that aims to optimize students' health and maximize students' participation in school activities. In summary, the aim of the MASS intervention is to limit the absenteeism by arranging appropriate care, educational adjustments and adequate support for students and parents. A systematic routine is followed.

# Step 1 School's policy

The school communicates with students and parents about the new policy in case of absenteeism because of medical reasons.

# Step 2 Referral to the YHCP

Students with extensive medical absence are identified by school by using well-defined threshold criteria: reported sick four times in 12 school weeks or more than six consecutive school days (MASS-criteria). Meeting the criteria always leads to a referral to the YHCP for student and parents.

# Step 3 Consultation of student and parents with the YHC

During the interview and medical assessment YHCPs look for biological, psychological and social factors that contribute to the students' medical absenteeism. The YHCP identifies whether there is a specific somatic or psychiatric diagnosis to account for the absence. If the diagnosis is clear the focus will be on optimising the (adherence to) treatment. In cases of frequent physical complaints and psychosocial problems with no clear medical diagnosis, the YHCP considers diagnostics, and looks for family-related and school-related, as well as health risk behaviours and lifestyle aspects that contribute to the physical complaints and psychosocial problems. If needed, the YHCP refers to a medical specialist or a psychosocial support network. A management plan is then designed together with student, parents and school, and with curative professionals, if applicable. This plan includes agreements on cure, care and school attendance.

# Step 4 Monitoring the management plan

School and YHCP monitor the execution of the management plan.

The MASS intervention shows promising effects regarding the reduction of absenteeism in secondary schools for medical reasons [25-27]. However, certain aspects of the intervention could still be further improved, for example, regarding the monitoring of students and stimulating students' autonomy regarding their situation, as well as regarding the collaboration between professionals [28]. Many different professionals are involved in the MASS intervention and the care and support of

students frequently absent from school. This makes collaboration and the alignment of efforts more complex, but also more necessary [29]. eHealth and particularly mobile health (mHealth) could be used to support communication and collaboration between all professionals involved [30,31]. Additionally, it could have beneficial effects for students. According to the European Commission, mHealth has a preventive function and adds value to patient-focused care [32]. mHealth has a broad

reach, can be tailored, is easily accessible, appeals to a person's autonomy, and is relatively low in cost [28,30,33]. Furthermore, mHealth is considered a low threshold tool to access information, change behavior, and monitor and guide a person from a distance [28]. All these aspects would make eHealth or mHealth an appealing tool for both professionals and students to use as support in reducing school absenteeism and stimulating student autonomy, especially in the Netherlands, where over 93% of students use the internet daily [34]. Therefore, a supportive online application might be a helpful tool to complement the MASS intervention and enhance its effects regarding the reduction of school absenteeism and school dropout.

To develop a relevant and effective online application to complement the MASS intervention, it is key to first explore and take into account the perspectives and needs of the target population [35,36]: professionals in the field of school absenteeism and students. Therefore, our study focused on the following research questions:

- 1. What are the perspectives and needs of professionals involved in the care of an absent student concerning an online application aimed at reducing school absenteeism, stimulating student autonomy, and stimulating school reintegration?
- 2. What are the perspectives and needs of students concerning an online application aimed at reducing school absenteeism, stimulating student autonomy, and stimulating school reintegration?

# Methods

# Design

This study followed an exploratory descriptive design. To examine the perceptions of relevant stakeholders, the participatory research method of concept mapping was used [37,38]. Concept mapping has been widely applied in health care-related research for this purpose [39]. Concept mapping consists of 6 steps: (1) preparation, (2) generation of statements, (3) structuring of statements, (4) analysis and representation of statements in the form of a concept map, (5) interpretation of the maps, (6) utilization of maps. A qualitative method is used to collect group data (ie, perspectives/statements from the group) following an inductive and structured approach. Quantitative analysis is then used to generate a representation of the collected statements in the form of a concept map. To interpret the generated concept maps, qualitative analysis is used.

# **Recruitment of Participants**

For our study, we recruited professionals involved in the care or support of absent students, as well as students currently attending secondary school. Concept mapping sessions were conducted with both target groups independently from each other to ensure that they could speak freely, as the hierarchy between students and professionals may affect the group dynamics and responses given. All concept mapping sessions were facilitated by CE and RB. Regarding both target groups, we aimed for a heterogeneous group of participants, to stimulate discussion and provide a more comprehensive and diverse range of perspectives. Participants for both target groups were recruited in the period of February 2018 and March 2018.

With the Public Health Service Flevoland (GGD Flevoland) as our base, we recruited professionals and students from the 2 largest cities in the Flevoland province: Almere (205,000 inhabitants) and Lelystad (77,000 inhabitants) [40].

# **Professionals**

The professionals were selected through purposive sampling, aiming to include 30 professionals with diverse job functions from various organizations relevant to (medical) school absenteeism or the MASS intervention (eg, youth health care physicians, teachers, school care coordinators, remedial educationalists, other health professionals, and school attendance officers). All professionals were recruited by email. Follow-up telephone calls were conducted with those who were nonresponsive to the initial email.

#### Students

To recruit students, we first contacted secondary schools—varying in educational levels—located in Almere and Lelystad by email. Follow-up telephone calls were conducted with those that were nonresponsive to the initial email. Eventually, 3 secondary schools were willing to participate. Once a school agreed to participate, the school sent their students a pamphlet and information letter concerning our study. Participants were promised a gift voucher of  $\pounds 10$  after completion of the data collection.

#### **Ethics Approval**

The study protocol did not need approval by a Medical Ethics Review Committee because it did not fall within the legal scope of medical research involving human subjects. All students received an informational letter, and written informed consent was obtained before participation. If a student was under the age of 16 years, a parent or caregiver received an informational letter concerning our study as well and had to cosign the informed consent form.

To ensure anonymity and privacy of the participants, personal data and informed consent forms were stored in a secured file only accessible by the researchers. Other data such as fieldnotes and online input per email during the concept mapping were de-identified, removing names and other identifying data if necessary. All data were stored and processed on a secured network drive at the university.

# **Concept Mapping Sessions**

All sessions followed a similar structure, using the 6 steps involved in concept mapping. We organized 3 concept mapping sessions with professionals (maximum of 2 hours). The first 2 sessions were physical meetings, and the third one was conducted online. We also conducted 3 concept mapping sessions with students at the 3 school locations. However, with Hidding et al [41] as an example, the concept mapping sessions conducted with the students were split into 2 parts because their attention spans can be more limited than that of adults. The first part (1 hour) consisted of the generation of statements (step 2 of concept mapping). The second part (1 hour) consisted of the
structuring of statements (step 3). Between the first and second part was an intermission of 1-3 weeks.

#### Step 1: Preparation

Participants were selected, and the focus statement was formulated. A focus statement is used as a starting point in order to stimulate participants to "free associate" and to generate as many perspectives or statements as possible. The focus statement for the professional sessions was: "How can you support young people who are frequently or long-term (medically) absent from school with the help of a digital tool?"

The focus statement for the student sessions was intentionally formulated more broadly in order to explore their overall supportive needs and not only their need for an online application. Additionally, to enhance the understanding of the student participants, the same focus statement was formulated in 2 ways: (1) "How do I want school to help me when I am frequently or long-term ill?" and (2) "When I am frequently or long-term ill, I want school to help me with ..."

#### Step 2: Generation of Statements

Each concept mapping session started with an introduction to the topic and concept mapping. Then, participants were asked to respond to the focus statement and to generate as many statements as possible. Participants started with an individual brainstorm of approximately 10 minutes, after which they shared their responses in a group brainstorm. Participants were asked to share 1 statement at a time, after which the other participants could add something to this statement. In the online session (only with professionals), all the statements of the individual brainstorm were sent by email to the facilitators, who merged all the statements and subsequently shared all the statements with the group. Then, via email, participants could respond to the given statements and add new ones. Regarding all sessions, the final list of generated statements was reformulated, where necessary, by the session facilitators (CE and RB and discussed with MH and FS until consensus was reached) to keep the meaning of the statements clear and understandable for every participant.

#### Step 3: Structuring of Statements

The structuring of statements was conducted using the concept mapping software Ariadne 3.0 [42]. Participants first individually organized all statements generated in their session according to content, grouping statements into clusters of related statements. Subsequently, they each ranked the importance of all statements according to a 5-point Likert scale, where 1 represented "not important at all" and 5 represented "very important."

# Step 4: Representation of Statements in the Form of a Concept Map

Using Ariadne 3.0, a graphical representation of the statements was created in the form of a concept map [39]. All statements are presented as separate points in the visual representation/concept map. Statements that are frequently

placed together are similar in content and presented more closely together on the concept map, resulting in clusters. Statements that are seldomly placed together by the participants are placed on the map opposite from each other. The analyses were conducted separately for each concept mapping session.

#### Step 5: Interpretation of the Maps

The interpretation of the final concept maps, in which the clusters (ie, themes) are named and discussed, was done by 4 researchers (CE, RB, FS, and MH). Similarities between statements in every cluster were identified. The researchers named each cluster in the final concept maps by the overarching theme that it represented. Subsequently, the researchers critically contemplated the clusters generated by the software Ariadne 3.0, because some of the statements did not optimally suit a particular cluster. After deliberation and when consensus between the researchers was reached, some of the statements were moved to other clusters nearby, or new clusters were formed. Finally, using Ariadne 3.0, the average importance rates of the clusters were calculated to rank them from high to low.

#### Step 6: Utilization of Maps

The sixth and final concept mapping step, utilization of the maps, involves the identification of determinants that could be used for the development of a supportive mobile online application to complement the MASS intervention (see Discussion).

#### **Statistical Analysis**

The data from each concept mapping session were analyzed with the software program Ariadne 3.0 [42], which uses multivariate statistical techniques (multidimensional scaling and hierarchical clustering) to visually present statements generated in the group sessions. The analyses resulted in 1 concept map per session.

# Results

#### **Participants**

#### **Professionals**

Overall, 23 professionals participated in our concept mapping sessions (Table 1). For the first session, 28 professionals were invited, of which 5 were able to participate. For the second session, 17 professionals were invited, of which 10 were able to participate. The third (online) session consisted of 8 professionals who were initially invited for the first or second session but could not participate earlier because of a busy work schedule. In this session, only 6 participants were involved with the clustering and prioritizing of the statements (step three of concept mapping), again because of a busy work schedule. The majority of our sample was female (n=21), ranging from 27 to 60 years old and with an average work experience with school absenteeism of 9 (SD 6.4) years. The participants were professionals with diverse functions in 7 organizations and 6 schools (see Multimedia Appendix 1 for an overview of the professionals' job functions).



 Table 1. Sample characteristics of professionals (n=23).

Characteristic	n (%)
Gender	
Male	2 (9)
Female	21 (91)
Age group (years)	
21-30	4 (17)
31-40	6 (26)
41-50	8 (35)
51-60	5 (22)
Work experience with school absenteeism (years)	
<5	8 (35)
5-10	6 (26)
11-20	8 (35)
>20	1 (4)

#### Students

Overall, 27 students participated in our study (Table 2), ranging in age from 13 to 18 years old, with the majority being female (n=16). They attended 1 of the 3 participating secondary schools: (1) a special education school teaching at the general secondary level (n=7); (2) a regular school teaching at various educational levels (n=11); (3) a regular school teaching at the prevocational secondary level (n=9). The MASS criteria were met by 8 participants (see Figure 1, Step 2 [24,25]) of school absenteeism for medical reasons. Although 4 participants, of which 3 met the MASS criteria, were not able to attend the second part of the concept mapping session, 1 of them completed the session online.

Table 2. Sample characteristics of students (n=27).

Characteristic	n (%)
Gender	
Male	11 (40)
Female	16 (60)
Age (years)	
13	5 (18)
14	3 (11)
15	1 (4)
16	10 (37)
17	7 (26)
18	1 (4)
Educational level	
Pre-vocational secondary (Dutch: vmbo)	16 (59)
Higher general secondary (Dutch: havo)	7 (26)
Pre-university (Dutch: vwo)	3 (11)
Unknown	1 (4)
Special education (yes)	7 (26)
Meeting MASS <sup>a</sup> criteria (yes)	8 (30)

<sup>a</sup>MASS: Medical Advice for Sick-reported Students.



#### **Concept Maps and Clusters**

#### **Professionals**

Three heterogeneous groups of professionals generated 135 unique statements, with an importance rating ranging from 1.6 to 4.8 on the Likert scale with scores ranging from 1 to 5. These statements were combined into 17 clusters, with a mean importance rating ranging from 2.9 to 4.6 on the Likert scale with scores ranging from 1 to 5 (see Multimedia Appendix 2

for the corresponding concept maps). Table 3 presents the clusters relating to the perspectives and needs for a supportive tool in reducing school absenteeism mentioned by professionals. Important aspects as considered by professionals were (1) easily accessible contact with students; (2) supporting, motivating, and rewarding students; (3) monitoring absent students; (4) providing information to students and their parents; and (5) exchanging information between professionals.

**Table 3.** Clusters, associated example statements, and mean importance ratings per group concerning the perspectives and needs of professionals for a supportive tool in reducing school absenteeism.

Clu	ister name	Example statement	Mean importance <sup>a</sup>
Gr	oup 1		
	1. Contact from (school) professional to student	An extra function for mentors to get in contact with the students	4.6
	2. Reward system	A reward system when showing desired behavior	4.2
	3. Contact from student to (school) professional	The possibility for students to have easily accessible contact with the outside world	3.8
	4. Characteristics and functions of the application	User-friendly for all school levels	3.7
	5. Exchange information between professionals	An overview of concerned parties to improve the collaboration be- tween professionals	3.5
	6. Responsibilities of involved youth health care professionals	Help from the youth health care nurse during start-up for students to use the application	3.2
	7. Inform students and parents about school absenteeism	To provide information about the consequences of school absen- teeism, including appropriate tools	3.2
Gr	oup 2		
	1. Dossier access for professionals	Access to the student's dossier so all involved parties can add supplemental information	4.1
	2. Contact with students and other features of the application	Direct lines with the students to make them feel noticed	3.7
	3. Monitor absent students	A system to map the (absenteeism) developments of the students	3.7
	4. A separate account for parents	A notification for parents about their child's school absenteeism	3.2
	5. Provide information and an overview of professionals involved	An overview for students to understand precisely what is and is not a legitimate reason for school absenteeism	2.9
Gr	oup 3		
	1. Contact between (school) professionals and students	Daily or more frequent contact with students who are absent	4.3
	2. Support and motivate students	Inclusion of self-set goals by the students in the tool, with indicators if they are achieved or not	3.7
	3. Responsibilities of schools and other profession- als	Prevent students from long-term absenteeism by supporting them in formulating their action plan and goals	3.5
	4. Provide information and monitor absenteeism	To provide students with advice, tailored to their problems, such as problems with eating, sleeping, gaming, or mood swings	3.5
	5. Involve parents and professionals	Support and unburden parents using the tool	3.1

<sup>a</sup>Rated on a 5-point Likert scale with higher scores indicating higher importance.

The first aspect, easily accessible contact with students, refers to the professionals' reported need for a supportive online tool to be able to communicate and stay in contact with absent students in an easy and low-threshold way. Professionals expressed the belief that students should receive attention and support in an approachable and informal manner. Additionally, the application design should be appealing for and tailored to the target group of students.

The second, third, and fourth aspects (supporting, motivating, and rewarding students; monitoring absent students; and providing information to students and their parents, respectively) were closely related to each other, with all emphasizing the importance of adequately supporting, motivating, and

monitoring students. Professionals expressed the importance of working with personal goals and a reward system when students show the behavior that brings them closer to their personal goals, for example, when they are present at school or doing schoolwork at home. Additionally, suggestions were made to add a game or reward element to motivate students to work on their goals and to continue using the tool. The ability to monitor students using a supportive tool would provide professionals with more insight into the frequency of school absenteeism and to what extent absent students experience physical and psychological symptoms. In addition, professionals mentioned a preference for a separate account for parents, enabling them to support their child with working on their goals, after their child gave permission. Furthermore, professionals expressed a need to provide information to both students and parents through an online tool, especially about the causes and consequences of school absenteeism and how to deal with common health and learning issues in general.

The fifth aspect, exchanging information between professionals, refers to professionals wanting to know which other care organizations or professionals are involved with a student and

to be able to share relevant information with them—in a secure manner and with the student's informed consent—in order to improve collaboration and support for the student. The suggestion was to use the online tool to provide an overview and contact details of the professionals involved.

#### Students

Three heterogeneous groups of secondary school students generated 95 unique statements, with an importance rating ranging from 2.2 to 4.9 on the Likert scale with scores ranging from 1 to 5. These statements were combined into 18 clusters, with a mean importance rating ranging from 3.2 to 4.6 on the Likert scale with scores ranging from 1 to 5 (see Multimedia Appendix 3 for the corresponding concept maps). Table 4 presents the clusters relating to the perspectives and needs for a supportive tool in reducing school absenteeism mentioned by students. Important aspects as considered by students were (1) respect and better teacher-student communication; (2) communication between school on the one hand and parents, professionals, and students on the other hand; and (3) guidance for missed learning materials and tests. They perceived an online format as a supportive tool as undoubtedly the obvious option.



Table 4. Clusters, associated example statements, and mean importance ratings per group concerning the perspectives and needs of students for a supportive tool in reducing school absenteeism.

Cluster name		Example statement	Mean importance <sup>a</sup>
Group 1			
1. Training teacher	ers	Training teachers to support students in returning to school	4.2
2. Counsellor		You should get along with your counsellor	3.8
3. Information for	r parents	Overview for parents of when their child has to go and does not have to go to school	3.6
4. Dossier		Information in the dossier is confidential and well-protected	3.6
5. Missed learnin	g materials and tests	Review of missed learning materials provided by school	3.4
6. Contact betwee	en teachers and students	Teachers are better informed on what is going on with the student	3.2
7. Independent ca	ase management	Improve and expedite the communication between school and attendance officer	3.2
Group 2			
1. Communicatio	n and respect	Equal rights and rules for students and teachers	4.6
2. Registration of	medical absence	Easier logging in and out	4.4
3. Schedule		Access to correct school schedule	4.4
4. Overview of m	issed learning materials	Online summary of missed learning materials available	4.2
5. Alleviating the	rules on absenteeism	Maintaining the opportunity to do a makeup test when you missed a test due to illness	4.1
6. Preparations for	or a test	Having the option to review a test before the next one to be able to prepare better	3.9
7. Communicatio	n during absenteeism	Weekly check-in by school how the absent student is doing	3.6
Group 3			
1. Keeping up wi more fun classes	th learning materials and	More fun classes help to pay attention and to return to school	4.0
2. Respect and ru	les on absenteeism	Teachers have to treat students respectfully	3.8
3. Online features	8	One working app that displays the schedule, homework, grades, and missed information	3.6
4. Makeup tests		Offering makeup tests for a longer period of time	3.2

<sup>a</sup>Rated on a 5-point Likert scale with higher scores indicating higher importance.

The first 2 aspects (respect and better teacher-student communication; communication between school on the one hand and parents, professionals, and students on the other hand) refer to students' reported need for teachers to be better informed about a student's situation and well-being and to improve communication between all parties involved (ie, school, students, parents, other professionals). Students expressed a desire for equal rights, rules, and respect between teachers and themselves and a preference to be able to ask their teacher questions through an easily accessible (online) tool. Students also believed that schools should ask in-depth questions about their reason for their absence and expressed a need for earlier communication by the school regarding a possible change in their schedule.

The third aspect (guidance for missed learning materials and tests) refers to students' expressed need for an overview of the missed learning materials and a main contact person from which to receive relevant notes, learning materials, and homework. Additionally, students expressed a desire for take-home tests

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e24659

RenderX

and an extension of the period to take tests that they missed. The fourth aspect (online support as obvious) refers to the students' preferred supporting format, namely online. Students mentioned that one comprehensive application is necessary, providing them access to their schedule, homework, grades, and (missed) learning materials. They also discussed the need for a forum where they can post questions to their peers and teachers.

# Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

Both professionals and students expressed positive perceptions and identified added value regarding an online application to support students in dealing with school absenteeism for medical reasons and to stimulate student autonomy and return to school. The most important aspects of a supportive eHealth or mHealth application as considered by professionals were easily accessible contact with students; supporting, motivating, and rewarding students; monitoring absent students; providing information to

students and their parents; and exchanging information between professionals. The most important aspects as considered by students were better teacher-student communication and respect; communication between school on the one hand and parents, professionals, and students on the other hand; and guidance for missed learning materials and tests. Furthermore, students perceived an online format as a supportive tool as undoubtedly the obvious and self-evident option.

A shared need among professionals and students in our study was the fostering of better and easily accessible contact between students, parents, and professionals involved, preferably using online facilities. Previous research on the needs of health care professionals relating to patient care and the use of eHealth or mHealth also found easily accessible contact to be an important need [35,43]. Additionally, studies reviewing the impact of mHealth interventions worldwide reported that the use of mHealth can improve communication with and between health care professionals [30,44]. Furthermore, previous research within the context of school absenteeism and dropout also confirms the importance of easily accessible contact between students, parents, and professionals. Positive teacher-student contact contributes to students feeling supported, empowered, and engaged in school, as well as a reduction of school absenteeism [45-48]. e-Learning and other online tools can facilitate establishing this contact and related benefits [49,50]. In addition, better communication between schools and parents contributes to parental involvement, which has shown to be beneficial to students' school engagement and reduced absenteeism [46,51,52]. The benefits of better and easily accessible contact between all parties involved relate to the monitoring, supporting, motivating, and guiding of students in general, which are all aspects of a supportive online application considered important by professionals and or students in our study.

The importance of easily accessible contact is also supported by research on occupational health [53-55], which appears to have relevant similarities to the context of school absenteeism. From the occupational health research, it is known that keeping in touch with medically absent workers on a regular basis and providing supervisor or co-worker support helps with the return to work or being able to continue working when chronically ill [53]. Additionally, these studies have shown that it is beneficial for the absent worker to discuss returning to work with their employer and to receive information on the recovery process as well as on sick leave procedures. Also, if necessary, an occupational health physician will be involved [54,55]. For an absent worker, it is just as essential as it is for students that contact and communication between all parties involved is done with respect, taking the perspective of the absentee as a starting point [53,55].

The perceptions and needs expressed by professionals and students in our study relate to key elements of the MASS intervention, particularly communication, motivation, individual monitoring/guidance, early detection of absence, and professional collaboration [24-27], with the addition of incorporating online facilities. The MASS intervention is promising in reducing medical absenteeism in secondary schools [25-27], but aspects such as the monitoring of students,

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e24659

XSI•FC

stimulating students' autonomy, and collaboration between professionals could be further improved [28]. The findings from our study indicate that these specific aspects could be addressed with the use of an online application, which is supported by many previous studies showing eHealth or mHealth and online tools to have an empowering and facilitating effect [28,30-33,50,56-59]. Therefore, developing an online application complementary to the MASS intervention could potentially stimulate and enhance the intervention's positive effects on school absenteeism, especially when the online application can be tailored to students' unique sets of reasons behind their absenteeism and their individual needs [45].

#### **Strengths and Limitations**

To our knowledge, this is the first study to apply concept mapping to examine professionals' and students' perspectives regarding (medical) school absenteeism as well as the use of an online tool. Our study has several strengths. First, our study samples of professionals and students were relatively heterogeneous (differing in age, education level, experience with school absenteeism, school location, organization, job function, and work experience), increasing the generalizability of our findings. Second, combining individual generation of ideas with a group discussion of these ideas, as well as the context of heterogeneous groups, results in an ample and diverse selection of ideas, thoughts, and perceptions. Third, the concept mapping method has the added value of structuring qualitative data in a quantitative manner and visualizing the results.

Our study also has some limitations. First, generalizability could be affected because we only included participants from 1 of 12 Dutch provinces and most student participants were not randomly selected by their school. Also, professionals with-or experiencing-a heavier workload may have been underrepresented, as a busy work schedule was the most common reason not to participate. Additionally, the sample sizes of 2 of the professional concept mapping sessions were smaller than the recommended minimum number of 8 participants [42]. However, other studies using smaller sample sizes have been successful in applying the concept mapping method [60,61]. Furthermore, the online format used with the third group of professionals resulted in less interaction between professionals compared to the physical group meetings, potentially restricting the generation of new ideas. Nevertheless, this online concept mapping session generated the most statements of all sessions with professionals. It is possible data saturation regarding the professionals' perspectives has not been reached, although the themes generated in both the online and physical sessions were similar to each other. Due to time restrictions as well as the busy schedules of professionals, an additional concept mapping session was not feasible within our current study. Data saturation regarding the students' perspectives does appear to have been reached, as only one new theme emerged during the third concept mapping session with students.

#### **Future Activities**

The sixth and final concept mapping step, utilization of the maps, was not conducted in this study. However, the development of an actual online application, in which the

perspectives of both professionals and students will be included, was already planned. The interpretation of clusters and concept maps generated in our current study proved helpful in deciding which statements or themes to include in the development of the online application. A selection of these themes will be translated into functionalities for a pilot version of the application that will be tested and evaluated with professionals and students from more cities and provinces than in our current study. We consider the online application development a co-creation process, collaborating with relevant stakeholders from needs assessment to development, testing, and (effect) evaluation [62,63].

#### Conclusion

Both professionals and students were positive about an online application to support students in dealing with school absenteeism for medical reasons and to stimulate student autonomy and return to school. Better and easily accessible contact between students, parents, and professionals was a shared need for which an online tool is highly suited. Developing an online application to be used complementary to the MASS intervention could potentially stimulate and enhance the intervention's positive effects on school absenteeism.

#### Acknowledgments

This study was part of a project (736300012) granted by ZonMw, the Dutch Health research and care innovation fund.

#### **Authors' Contributions**

MH conceptualized the study, with the assistance of FS. RB and CE executed the concept mapping study, under the supervision of MH and FS. RB, CE, MH, and FS analyzed and interpreted the data. LD and MH wrote the first draft of the paper. All authors critically reviewed the manuscript and provided suggestions. MH finalized the manuscript. All authors have read and approved the final version of this manuscript.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### Multimedia Appendix 1

Overview of professionals' job functions (total N=23). [DOCX File , 15 KB - formative v5i6e24659 app1.docx ]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Concept maps of the sessions with professionals. [DOCX File, 1112 KB - formative v5i6e24659 app2.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 3 Concept maps of the sessions with students. [DOCX File , 154 KB - formative v5i6e24659 app3.docx ]

#### References

- Allen C, Diamond-Myrsten S, Rollins L. School absenteeism in children and adolescents. Am Fam Physician 2018;98(12):738-744. [doi: <u>10.4324/9780203126622-7</u>] [Medline: <u>30525360</u>]
- Pflug V, Schneider S. School Absenteeism: An Online Survey via Social Networks. Child Psychiatry Hum Dev 2016 Jun;47(3):417-429. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10578-015-0576-5</u>] [Medline: <u>26374328</u>]
- 3. Reid K. The strategic management of truancy and school absenteeism: finding solutions from a national perspective. Educational Review 2012 May;64(2):211-222. [doi: 10.1080/00131911.2011.598918]
- 4. Geoorloofd schoolverzuim en spijbelen [Excused school absence and truancy] 2020. Rijksoverheid Dutch Government. URL: <u>https://www.rijksoverheid.nl/onderwerpen/leerplicht/geoorloofd-schoolverzuim-en-spijbelen</u> [accessed 2020-07-10]
- 5. Statline 2018. Centraal Bureau voor de Statistiek (CBS) Statistics Netherlands. URL: <u>www.statline.cbs.nl</u> [accessed 2020-08-20]
- 6. Brief van Arie Slob aan de Tweede Kamer van 19 februari 2018 betreffende cijfers schoolverzuim [Government letter concerning numbers of school absenteeism]. Ministerie van Onderwijs, Cultuur en Wetenschappen. 2018. URL: <u>https://www.rijksoverheid.nl/documenten/kamerstukken/2018/02/19/</u>

<u>kamerbrief-over-cijfers-schoolverzuim-en-vrijstellingen-funderend-onderwijs</u> [accessed 2020-07-10]
7. Christenson SL, Thurlow ML. School Dropouts. Curr Dir Psychol Sci 2016 Jun 22;13(1):36-39. [doi:

- <u>10.1111/j.0963-7214.2004.01301010.x</u>]
  Eckstein Z. Wolpin KI. Why Youths Drop out of High School: The Impact of Preferences. C
- Eckstein Z, Wolpin KI. Why Youths Drop out of High School: The Impact of Preferences, Opportunities, and Abilities. Econometrica 1999 Nov;67(6):1295-1339. [doi: <u>10.1111/1468-0262.00081</u>]

- 9. Kearney CA. School absenteeism and school refusal behavior in youth: a contemporary review. Clin Psychol Rev 2008 Mar;28(3):451-471. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.cpr.2007.07.012</u>] [Medline: <u>17720288</u>]
- 10. Rumberger RW. Why students drop out of school and what can be done. Dropouts in America: How severe is the problem? What do we know about intervention and prevention? Harvard University 2001:1-45 [FREE Full text]
- 11. Landelijke VSV cijfers [National numbers on drop-out in education]. Ministerie van Onderwijs, Cultuur en Wetenschappen. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.onderwijsincijfers.nl/kengetallen/onderwijs-algemeen/leerlingen-en-studenten/</u> prestaties-voortijdig-schoolverlaten/landelijke-vsv-cijfers [accessed 2020-07-11]
- 12. Allison MA, Attisha E, COUNCIL ON SCHOOL HEALTH. The Link Between School Attendance and Good Health. Pediatrics 2019 Feb;143(2):1-13 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.2018-3648] [Medline: 30835245]
- 13. Freudenberg N, Ruglis J. Reframing school dropout as a public health issue. Prev Chronic Dis 2007 Oct;4(4):A107 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 17875251]
- Gase LN, Kuo T, Coller K, Guerrero LR, Wong MD. Assessing the connection between health and education: identifying potential leverage points for public health to improve school attendance. Am J Public Health 2014 Sep;104(9):e47-e54 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2014.301977] [Medline: 25033134]
- 15. Rumberger RW, Rotermund S. The relationship between engagement and high school dropout. In: Christenson SL, Reschly AL, Wylie C, editors. Handbook of research on student engagement. Secaucus, NJ: Springer Science; 2012:491-513.
- 16. Theunissen-Lamers MJ. Stay in or drop out: the pathways to school dropout from a public health perspective. Maastricht, the Netherlands: Datawyse / Universitaire Pers Maastricht; 2016.
- Vanneste YTM, Feron FJM, van Mook MAW, de Rijk A. Towards a Better Understanding of Sickness Absence in Adolescence: A Qualitative Study among Dutch Intermediate Vocational Education Students. Biomed Res Int 2017;2017:1-9 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2017/1064307] [Medline: 28573135]
- 18. Vanneste YTM. Reported sick from school: a study into addressing medical absenteeism among students. Maastricht, The Netherlands: Datawyse / Universitaire Pers Maastricht; 2015.
- Hawkrigg S, Payne DN. Prolonged school non-attendance in adolescence: a practical approach. Arch Dis Child 2014 Oct;99(10):954-957. [doi: 10.1136/archdischild-2013-304595] [Medline: 24914097]
- 20. Global Accelerated Action for the Health of Adolescents (AA-HA!) Guidance to Support Country Implementation. World Health Organisation (WHO). 2017. URL: <u>http://www.who.int/maternal\_child\_adolescent/topics/adolescence/second-decade/en</u> [accessed 2021-06-14]
- 21. Schoolverzuim in het Voortgezet Onderwijs [Report on school absenteeism in secondary school]. NIPO. 2002. URL: <u>http://www.tns-nipo.com/pages/persvannipo/pdf/schoolverzuim03.pdf</u> [accessed 2020-07-10]
- 22. Gezondheidsmonitor Jeugd 2015 [Health Monitor Youth 2015]: Schoolverzuim [Schoolabsence]. RIVM [National Institute for Public Health and the Environment]. 2016. URL: <u>https://www.volksgezondheidenzorg.info/onderwerp/gezondheidsmonitor-jeugd/schoolverzuim</u> [accessed 2020-07-10]
- 23. M@ZL op het vo [MASS in secondary schools]. RIVM [National Institute for Public Health and the Environment]. 2017. URL: <u>https://interventies.loketgezondleven.nl/leefstijlinterventies/interventies-zoeken/1400718</u> [accessed 2020-08-12]
- 24. Vanneste YTM, Rots CMC, van de Goor LAM, Feron FJM. Medische Advisering Ziekgemelde Leerling door de jeugdarts (M@ZL): ontwikkeling van een interventie [Medical Advice for Sick- reported Students in secondary school by the youth health care physician (MASS): development of an intervention]. Tijds. gezondheids.wetenschappen 2012;90(7):412-419. [doi: 10.1007/s12508-012-0145-2]
- 25. Vanneste YTM, Mathijssen JJP, van de Goor LAM, Rots-de Vries CMC, Feron FJM. Extensive Medical Absenteeism among Secondary School Students: An Observational Study on Their Health Condition from a Biopsychosocial Perspective. OJPM 2015;05(03):111-121. [doi: 10.4236/ojpm.2015.53013]
- 26. Dam P, Prinsen B. Investeren in opvoeden en opgroeien loont. Kosteneffectiviteit van de preventie van pedagogische, psychosociale en psychosomatische problematiek door de jeugdgezondheidszorg [Investing in child rearing and child raising pays off. Cost-effectiveness of the prevention of pedagogical, psychosocial and psychosomatic problems by youth health care]. Actiz & GGD Nederland. 2013. URL: <a href="https://vng.nl/files/vng/201300912-brochure">https://vng.nl/files/vng/201300912-brochure</a> in opvoeden en opgroeien loont.pdf [accessed 2020-07-08]
- Vanneste YTM, Mathijssen JJP, van de Goor IAM, Rots-de Vries CMC, Feron FJM. Addressing medical absenteeism in pre-vocational secondary students: effectiveness of a public health intervention, using a quasi-experimental design. BMC Public Health 2016 Oct 21;16(1):1107 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-016-3718-1] [Medline: 27769205]
- Bakker D, Kazantzis N, Rickwood D, Rickard N. Mental Health Smartphone Apps: Review and Evidence-Based Recommendations for Future Developments. JMIR Ment Health 2016 Mar 01;3(1):e7 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mental.4984] [Medline: 26932350]
- 29. Nauta N. Complexiteit van samenwerken, het speelveld [Complexity of collaboration, the playing field]. In: Hammelburg R, Lubbers WJ, Nauta N, editors. Veranderende samenwerking in de zorg [Changing collaboration in health care]. Houten, the Netherlands: Bohn Stafleu van Loghum; 2014:23-26.
- 30. mHealth. New horizons for health through mobile technologies. World Health Organization. 2011. URL: <u>https://www.who.int/goe/publications/goe\_mhealth\_web.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-06-14]

- 31. Oh H, Rizo C, Enkin M, Jadad A. What is eHealth (3): a systematic review of published definitions. J Med Internet Res 2005 Feb 24;7(1):e1 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7.1.e1] [Medline: 15829471]
- 32. Green Paper on mobile Health ('mHealth'). European Commission. 2014. URL: <u>https://digital-strategy.ec.europa.eu/en/</u> <u>library/green-paper-mobile-health-mhealth</u> [accessed 2020-08-12]
- Whitehead L, Seaton P. The Effectiveness of Self-Management Mobile Phone and Tablet Apps in Long-term Condition Management: A Systematic Review. J Med Internet Res 2016;18(5):e97 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4883] [Medline: 27185295]
- 34. Internettoegang en internetactiviteiten [Internet access and internet activities]. Centraal Bureau voor de Statistiek (CBS) [Statistics Netherlands]. 2020 Nov 18. URL: <u>https://opendata.cbs.nl/#/CBS/nl/dataset/84888NED/table?ts=1623344020676</u> [accessed 2021-06-10]
- Bombard Y, Baker GR, Orlando E, Fancott C, Bhatia P, Casalino S, et al. Engaging patients to improve quality of care: a systematic review. Implement Sci 2018 Jul 26;13(1):98 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1186/s13012-018-0784-z</u>] [Medline: <u>30045735</u>]
- Geryk LL, Roberts CA, Sage AJ, Coyne-Beasley T, Sleath BL, Carpenter DM. Parent and Clinician Preferences for an Asthma App to Promote Adolescent Self-Management: A Formative Study. JMIR Res Protoc 2016 Dec 06;5(4):e229 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.5932] [Medline: 27923777]
- Burke JG, O'Campo P, Peak GL, Gielen AC, McDonnell KA, Trochim WMK. An introduction to concept mapping as a participatory public health research method. Qual Health Res 2005 Dec;15(10):1392-1410. [doi: 10.1177/1049732305278876] [Medline: 16263919]
- 38. Trochim WMK. An introduction to concept mapping for planning and evaluation. Evaluation and Program Planning 1989 Jan;12(1):1-16. [doi: 10.1016/0149-7189(89)90016-5]
- 39. Trochim WMK, Kane M. Concept mapping: an introduction to structured conceptualization in health care. Int J Qual Health Care 2005 Jun;17(3):187-191. [doi: 10.1093/intqhc/mzi038] [Medline: 15872026]
- 40. Bevolkingsontwikkeling per regio [Population development per region]. Centraal Bureau voor de Statistiek (CBS) [Statistics Netherlands]. 2018. URL: <u>http://statline.cbs.nl/Statweb/publication/</u>
   <u>?DM=SLNL&PA=37230ned&D1=0,17&D2=308&D3=195-206,208-211&VW=T</u> [accessed 2021-06-10]
- 41. Hidding LM, Altenburg TM, van Ekris E, Chinapaw MJM. Why Do Children Engage in Sedentary Behavior? Child- and Parent-Perceived Determinants. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2017 Jun 22;14(7):1-27 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph14070671] [Medline: 28640232]
- 42. van Randeraad C, Severens P. Manual Ariadne 3.0. Minds21.org. 2015. URL: <u>http://www.minds21.org/images\_public/manual%20%20ARIADNE%203.0%20%20april%202015.pdf</u> [accessed 2020-07-10]
- 43. Floch J, Zettl A, Fricke L, Weisser T, Grut L, Vilarinho T, et al. User Needs in the Development of a Health App Ecosystem for Self-Management of Cystic Fibrosis: User-Centered Development Approach. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 May 08;6(5):e113 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.8236] [Medline: 29739742]
- Marcolino MS, Oliveira JAQ, D'Agostino M, Ribeiro AL, Alkmim MBM, Novillo-Ortiz D. The Impact of mHealth Interventions: Systematic Review of Systematic Reviews. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Jan 17;6(1):e23 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.8873] [Medline: 29343463]
- 45. Attwood G, Croll P. Truancy in secondary school pupils: prevalence, trajectories and pupil perspectives. Research Papers in Education 2006 Dec;21(4):467-484. [doi: 10.1080/02671520600942446]
- 46. Fall A, Roberts G. High school dropouts: interactions between social context, self-perceptions, school engagement, and student dropout. J Adolesc 2012 Aug;35(4):787-798 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.adolescence.2011.11.004] [Medline: 22153483]
- Roorda DL, Koomen HMY, Spilt JL, Oort FJ. The Influence of Affective Teacher–Student Relationships on Students' School Engagement and Achievement. Review of Educational Research 2011 Dec 01;81(4):493-529. [doi: 10.3102/0034654311421793]
- M. Strand A. 'School no thanks it ain't my thing': accounts for truancy. Students' perspectives on their truancy and school lives. International Journal of Adolescence and Youth 2012 Dec 11;19(2):262-277. [doi: 10.1080/02673843.2012.743920]
- 49. Paechter M, Maier B, Macher D. Students' expectations of, and experiences in e-learning: Their relation to learning achievements and course satisfaction. Computers & Education 2010 Jan;54(1):222-229. [doi: 10.1016/j.compedu.2009.08.005]
- 50. Sher A. Assessing the relationship of student-instructor and student-student interaction to student learning and satisfaction in Web-based online learning environment. Journal of Interactive Online Learning 2009;8(2):102-120 [FREE Full text]
- 51. Gonzalez-DeHass AR, Willems PP, Holbein MFD. Examining the Relationship Between Parental Involvement and Student Motivation. Educ Psychol Rev 2005 Jun;17(2):99-123. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10648-005-3949-7</u>]
- 52. Im MH, Hughes JN, West SG. Effect of Trajectories of Friends' and Parents' School Involvement on Adolescents' Engagement and Achievement. J Res Adolesc 2016 Dec;26(4):963-978 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jora.12247] [Medline: 28239244]
- Bosma AR, Boot CRL, Schaafsma FG, Kok G, Anema JR. Development of an Intervention to Create a Supportive Work Environment for Employees with Chronic Conditions: An Intervention Mapping Approach. J Occup Rehabil 2020 Dec;30(4):624-634 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10926-020-09885-z] [Medline: 32200483]

- Bouwsma EVA, Vonk Noordegraaf A, Szlávik Z, Brölmann HAM, Emanuel MH, Lips JP, et al. Process evaluation of a multidisciplinary care program for patients undergoing gynaecological surgery. J Occup Rehabil 2014 Sep;24(3):425-438 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10926-013-9475-4] [Medline: 24057871]
- 55. van Vilsteren M, van Oostrom SH, de Vet HCW, Franche RL, Boot CRL, Anema JR. Workplace interventions to prevent work disability in workers on sick leave. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2015 Oct 05(10):CD006955. [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD006955.pub3] [Medline: 26436959]
- 56. Årsand E, Frøisland DH, Skrøvseth SO, Chomutare T, Tatara N, Hartvigsen G, et al. Mobile health applications to assist patients with diabetes: lessons learned and design implications. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2012 Sep;6(5):1197-1206 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 23063047]
- 57. Beldarrain Y. Distance Education Trends: Integrating new technologies to foster student interaction and collaboration. Distance Education 2006 Aug;27(2):139-153. [doi: 10.1080/01587910600789498]
- 58. Ventola CL. Mobile devices and apps for health care professionals: uses and benefits. P T 2014 May;39(5):356-364 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 24883008]
- 59. Wu YP, Hommel KA. Using technology to assess and promote adherence to medical regimens in pediatric chronic illness. J Pediatr 2014 Apr;164(4):922-927. [doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2013.11.013] [Medline: 24359939]
- 60. van Randeraad-van der Zee CH, Beurskens AJHM, Swinkels RAHM, Pool JJM, Batterham RW, Osborne RH, et al. The burden of neck pain: its meaning for persons with neck pain and healthcare providers, explored by concept mapping. Qual Life Res 2015 Oct 14;25(5):1219-1225. [doi: 10.1007/s11136-015-1149-6]
- 61. Kornet-van der Aa DA, van Randeraad-van der Zee CH, Mayer J, Borys JM, Chinapaw MJM. Recommendations for obesity prevention among adolescents from disadvantaged backgrounds: a concept mapping study among scientific and professional experts. Pediatr Obes 2018 Jun;13(6):389-392 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/ijpo.12239] [Medline: 28921882]
- 62. Martin A, Caon M, Adorni F, Andreoni G, Ascolese A, Atkinson S, et al. A Mobile Phone Intervention to Improve Obesity-Related Health Behaviors of Adolescents Across Europe: Iterative Co-Design and Feasibility Study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2020 Mar 02;8(3):e14118 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/14118] [Medline: 32130179]
- 63. Whitehouse SR, Lam P, Balka E, McLellan S, Deevska M, Penn D, et al. Co-Creation With TickiT: Designing and Evaluating a Clinical eHealth Platform for Youth. JMIR Res Protoc 2013 Oct 18;2(2):e42 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.2865] [Medline: 24140595]

#### Abbreviations

MASS: Medical Advice for Sick-reported Students **mHealth:** mobile health

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 29.09.20; peer-reviewed by A Hidki, Dr, C Jacob; comments to author 12.02.21; revised version received 08.04.21; accepted 12.04.21; published 21.06.21.

Please cite as: Hoogsteder MHH, Douma LN, Eskens CGA, Berendsen RL, Vanneste YTM, Schaafsma FG Professionals' and Students' Perceived Needs for an Online Supportive Application for Reducing School Absence and Stimulating Reintegration: Concept Mapping Study JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e24659 URL: https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e24659 doi:10.2196/24659 PMID:34152275

©Mariette H H Hoogsteder, Linda N Douma, Charlotte G A Eskens, Renske L Berendsen, Yvonne T M Vanneste, Frederieke G Schaafsma. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 21.06.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Original Paper** 

# Modeling the Implementation Context of a Telemedicine Service: Work Domain Analysis in a Surgical Setting

Hedvig Aminoff<sup>1</sup>, MSc; Sebastiaan Meijer<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Urban Arnelo<sup>2,3</sup>, PhD; Kristina Groth<sup>4</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Biomedical Engineering and Health Systems, KTH Royal Institute of Technology, Stockholm, Sweden

<sup>2</sup>Department of Surgical and Perioperative Sciences, Surgery, Umeå University, Umeå, Sweden

<sup>3</sup>Division of Surgery, Department of Clinical Science, Intervention and Technology, Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

<sup>4</sup>Innovation Center, Karolinska University Hospital, Stockholm, Sweden

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Hedvig Aminoff, MSc Biomedical Engineering and Health Systems KTH Royal Institute of Technology Teknikringen 42 Stockholm, 11428 Sweden Phone: 46 734606075 Email: <u>hedvigam@kth.se</u>

# Abstract

**Background:** A telemedicine service enabling remote surgical consultation had shown promising results. When the service was to be scaled up, it was unclear how contextual variations among different clinical sites could affect the clinical outcomes and implementation of the service. It is generally recognized that contextual factors and work system complexities affect the implementation and outcomes of telemedicine. However, it is methodologically challenging to account for context in complex health care settings. We conducted a work domain analysis (WDA), an engineering method for modeling and analyzing complex work environments, to investigate and represent contextual influences when a telemedicine service was to be scaled up to multiple hospitals.

**Objective:** We wanted to systematically characterize the implementation contexts at the clinics participating in the scale-up process. Conducting a WDA would allow us to identify, in a systematic manner, the functional constraints that shape clinical work at the implementation sites and set the sites apart. The findings could then be valuable for informed implementation and assessment of the telemedicine service.

**Methods:** We conducted observations and semistructured interviews with a variety of stakeholders. Thematic analysis was guided by concepts derived from the WDA framework. We identified objects, functions, priorities, and values that shape clinical procedures. An iterative "discovery and modeling" approach allowed us to first focus on one clinic and then readjust the scope as our understanding of the work systems deepened.

**Results:** We characterized three sets of constraints (ie, facets) in the domain: the treatment facet, administrative facet (providing resources for procedures), and development facet (training, quality improvement, and research). The constraints included medical equipment affecting treatment options; administrative processes affecting access to staff and facilities; values and priorities affecting assessments during endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography; and resources for conducting the procedure.

**Conclusions:** The surgical work system is embedded in multiple sets of constraints that can be modeled as facets of the system. We found variations between the implementation sites that might interact negatively with the telemedicine service. However, there may be enough motivation and resources to overcome these initial disruptions given that values and priorities are shared across the sites. Contrasting the development facets at different sites highlighted the differences in resources for training and research. In some cases, this could indicate a risk that organizational demands for efficiency and effectiveness might be prioritized over the long-term outcomes provided by the telemedicine service, or a reduced willingness or ability to accept a service that is not yet fully developed or adapted. WDA proved effective in representing and analyzing these complex clinical contexts in the face of technological change. The models serve as examples of how to analyze and represent a complex sociotechnical context during telemedicine design, implementation, and assessment.

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e26505) doi:10.2196/26505

#### **KEYWORDS**

telemedicine; telementoring; implementation context; surgical guidance; health technology; usability; work domain analysis; cognitive work analysis

# Introduction

This paper focuses on a successfully trialed telemedicine service for remote surgical guidance [1] that was to be scaled up to four additional hospitals and clinically evaluated. However, there were many technical, social, and organizational differences between the participating clinics, and indications that the acceptance of teleguidance varied [2]. We wanted to account for the implementation context by conducting a work domain analysis (WDA) to systematically investigate what set the sites apart and identify the factors that might come to affect the implementation and clinical outcomes of the telemedicine service [3-5].

#### Background

Health technology innovations that appear successful in one setting can produce different outcomes in another context. This may contribute to variability in clinical outcomes and cause failure to scale. There is growing recognition that the complexity of health care presents challenges for evaluating new health information technology (IT) [6] and that high-quality design and evaluation requires considering the context in which new technologies will be used. This paper focuses on systematically charting the implementation context for a telemedicine service for surgical consultation.

The telemedicine service was a practitioner-to-practitioner videoconferencing system designed to enable remote surgical guidance in endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography (ERCP), a technically advanced procedure for biliary and pancreatic disease. The telemedicine innovation, called teleguidance, was successfully trialed through collaboration between a high-volume clinic at a university hospital and a low-volume regional clinic, and health economic modeling demonstrated positive quality impacts [7]. Teleguidance was subsequently scaled up to four additional hospitals and clinically evaluated.

However, there were many technical, social, and organizational differences between the clinics participating in the scale-up process, along with indications that acceptance toward telemedicine services varied among practitioners [2]. This raised concerns about how to successfully implement the service and understand the outcomes. It was unknown if and how contextual variations might affect clinical outcomes or whether telemedicine might interact with daily ERCP work in ways that might affect the implementation and use of teleguidance over time.

Therefore, we wanted to identify important contextual issues to be considered when evaluating the implementation and clinical outcomes by first focusing on factors that shape regular ERCP "work as done" [8] at the teleguidance implementation sites. This required a method that could accommodate the complexity of the clinical work systems [9,10]. Methodological concerns about the implementation context, complexity, and

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e26505

RenderX

the scope of the analysis are discussed in detail in a related paper [11].

#### **Cognitive Systems Engineering**

Cognitive systems engineering [3,12,13] is a systems design discipline for complex settings; it emphasizes that the design and evaluation of technologies must be based on knowledge about the real-world context of their use [14]. Cognitive work analysis (CWA) [3,4] is a set of methods driven by systems theory, where work systems are viewed as fields of practice in which the agents, artifacts, and external world interact to produce outcomes [15]. This set of methods has been used for design and evaluation in a range of sociotechnical systems, including health care [16].

#### WDA Method

The first level of analysis in CWA is WDA. WDA is typically performed to provide representations of a complex work setting in the face of technological change (eg, during the design requirements and specification phase, or acquisition evaluation) [5]. This method has proved valuable in the design and evaluation of health technology [17], in the definition of health care team requirements [18,19], and in patient safety work [20].

WDA explicitly focuses on contextual factors by modeling the terms and conditions that shape work in functional terms. WDA provides compact representations that can support systematic investigations of how new technology impacts the overall domain purposes [21] in settings with large variability in behaviors and events as well as during system change [22].

#### Objectives

Our aim was to identify intrinsic constraints that shape ERCP work from a clinician's perspective, ranging from physical objects to processes and priorities that affect regular work. A broad WDA would provide a systematic description of the factors shaping regular ERCP work at one hospital, including the macroscopic, mesoscopic, and microscopic levels of the system [23], which are commonly analyzed and represented separately [24]. The graphical format would be useful to contrast the work systems where teleguidance is to be implemented and proactively identify how the telemedicine service might interact with work at the different sites.

The *Methods* section describes how we modeled daily ERCP work as a work system involving physical components, processes, and goals and intentions, and how this allowed us to contrast the implementation contexts at the hospitals involved and reflect upon how teleguidance might interact with the work systems.

# Methods

#### **Data Collection**

An ethnographical approach was used, with extensive field work conducted to collect data and generate a deep understanding of

the context in a work system [25]. This included three iterations of data collection using a sequence of techniques, moving from

a general "rough" level of description to a finer understanding, as Figure 1 shows.

Figure 1. Phases in data collection, analysis, and modeling.



The focus during the first round of observations and interviews was on the practical aspects of ERCP work, namely identifying everyday work practices, including tradeoffs and challenges encountered by the staff. The aim was to understand the ERCP procedure itself, roles of different stakeholders, and details about the clinical work from the perspective of the ERCP staff. We also read the clinical decision support and strategic documents and spoke to practitioners with administrative and management roles to gain an understanding of the organizational issues shaping the clinical work.

After these steps, a service blueprint [26] was developed as an intermediate, shared representation to externalize our understanding of the different phases of regular work practices and tasks during each phase (see Multimedia Appendix 1, which is in Swedish). The service blueprints were used as a resource to support discussions with practitioners and help compare work practices at the different hospitals.

The second phase of data collection included designing a protocol for semistructured interviews focusing on the details of regular ERCP practices (see Multimedia Appendix 2) and conducting a series of interviews with physicians, nurses, and technical and administrative staff at each of the four remote participant sites. Observations of the work practices, such as how surgery was prepared and conducted at each site, were documented as field notes, and the surgical facilities at the remote sites were documented as images to obtain details regarding the layout and medical equipment available in the operating theaters.

#### Analysis

All interviews were recorded and transcribed. The coding work was mainly performed by the first author, with support from the second author. We conducted thematic analyses [27] to identify the constraints mentioned in the interviews; the initial codes were generated by grouping and naming interesting or repeated findings, such as the patterns of activities or the mention of challenges in the work environment or during ERCP. We used the prompts derived from the WDA framework to link our findings to a priori identified themes in line with the abstraction levels suggested by Naikar [5]( see Multimedia Appendix 3).

#### Modeling

One of the common WDA representations is the abstraction hierarchy (AH). The AH matrix is a way of modeling the work domain, and it shows means-ends relationships among constraints (eg, how a physical object serves or interferes with system objectives).

The AH can be used as a tool to trace how introducing new technologies and work processes can interact with numerous aspects of work [28]. The AH was constructed using Naikar's method [5] as the main resource, together with feedback from three domain experts, two ERCP surgeons and one project manager.

The modeling focused on the ERCP team subsystem, and these cells were populated at the highest level of detail in the AH matrices.

Suggestions regarding system decomposition and populating the cells of the AH were developed through multiple iterations, and the details are available elsewhere [11].

We worked through several versions of the work system decomposition, identifying systems and subsystems within the hospital organization. We found that the open nature of the hospital systems and constant reorganization made it difficult to define a detailed hierarchical decomposition that would contribute to the analysis. Moreover, after three modeling iterations, we found a satisfactory way to represent the domain as three functional facets: treatment, development, and administration. These facets are sets of constraints distinguished by the nature of the tasks, competencies, and roles. Individuals can have multiple roles and be involved with several facets, as is the case with senior physicians and nurses who may perform clinical, managerial, research, or teaching/mentoring functions.

#### **Exploring Interactions Among Constraints**

Considering the individual nodes in the AH and tracing the means-ends links to the levels above and below (Figure 2), the models were used as a tool to verify our understanding of how ERCP is currently performed and further explore possible interactions and system changes when teleguidance is introduced.

Figure 2. How the means-ends structure of an abstraction hierarchy can support the investigation of interactions in a work system.



The purpose of these exercises was to elicit new insights about the implementation of teleguidance and determine whether the models provided a representation that different stakeholders could relate to.

# Results

### **Multiple Models**

Owing to the open nature of the work systems, the scope of our analysis was very wide and deep; we identified many causal

(physical) and intentional constraints (goals, priorities, etc). Some constraints were conflicting, such as policies that might cause tradeoffs between clinical performance and economic efficiency.

The complexity of the context was difficult to incorporate within a single AH, and we resolved this by modeling three sets of constraints affecting ERCP procedures, namely the clinical, administrative, and development facets of the domain, as Figure 3 shows.



Figure 3. Three sets of constraints shaping daily endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography work.



In the following sections, we present the AHs, which were aggregated to increase legibility, and representative examples of constraints; we describe how these can vary between the implementation sites and how the constraints may interact with teleguidance. The clinical facet is described in greater detail than the development and administration facets.

#### **The Clinical Facet**

The clinical facet (Figure 4) represents the constraints that shape the ERCP team's work in terms of the functional purpose, namely "patient diagnosis, relief, or cure through ERCP." The physical entities are the ERCP team members, patients, medical facilities, and medical equipment.

Figure 4. Abstraction hierarchy, clinical facet.

Functional purpose		elief, or cure RCP		
Values and priority measures	Appropriate and timely treatment	Effectiveness and efficiency	State-of-the-art practice	Patient safety
Purpose- related functions	Situation assessment	Clinical assessment	Interventional procedure	Team coordination
Object related processes	Preparation and configuration	View, navigate, and access inner organs	Support and assistance	Communication
Objects	Staff	Patients	Facilities and IT	Medical supplies and equipment

Clinical facet

The set of possible clinical actions during an ERCP session is largely determined by causal constraints such as the patient's condition, staff competencies, and capabilities and limitations of the available technology and devices. Teleguidance introduced new physical equipment and staff to the ERCP team, providing new affordances and constraints that propagate throughout the clinical facet.

Constraints were represented in considerably higher detail during modeling. Multimedia Appendix 4 shows a cropped image of a detailed model of the clinical facet.

#### **Values and Priority Measures**

The values and priority measures show the criteria that must be respected for the clinical facet to achieve its functional purposes and those guiding decision-making and tradeoffs during procedures (eg, between patient safety and quality on the one hand, and efficiency on the other hand).

We visualized four values and priority measures: appropriate and timely treatment; effectiveness and efficiency; state-of-the-art practice; and patient safety (see Multimedia Appendix 5).

Multimedia Appendix 6 shows an example of how "appropriateness," a value/priority constraint, differs among hospitals, and how this might interact with teleguidance. Textbox 1 shows an example transcript regarding findings linked to the abstracted constraint "appropriateness."

Textbox 1. Sample transcript showing value and priority measures: appropriate treatment.

#### Appropriate treatment

"Yes, it is more dangerous with PTC\* than ERCP, even though ERCP can be dangerous and risky. But I have noticed it all over the country so there are still ideas about PTC and if you are not as skilled at ERCP then it often happens that you do them."

"We have shown it, the more skilled we become at ERCP the fewer the PTCs will be. Provided the indications are the same. But in the past people were allowed to die in icterus. And that's not so very long ago. And it may not be so... if you have a huge spread of cancer, then maybe you should ask yourself how far to drive this? The oncologists are happy to push for it only if there is a small snippet left to live, to try an option. But we still have to consider, I want to do that, what do we want, what is the goal of this activity? After all, the person will die within a month or so anyhow... maybe it's not that bad to die of icterus instead of drying out emaciation, pain everywhere."

\*Percutaneous transhepatic cholangiography and drainage

#### **Purpose-Related Functions**

The purpose-related functions represent the general functions that the ERCP work system must fulfill to achieve its functional purpose.

We defined four main functions: situation assessment, clinical assessment, interventional procedure, and team coordination (see Multimedia Appendix 7).

Multimedia Appendix 8 illustrates how this constraint shapes work, how it can vary between sites, and how it might interact with teleguidance.

#### **Object-Related Processes**

The object-related processes level represents the functional capabilities of physical objects, namely the use of physical objects, and their properties and affordances.

We defined four main object-related processes: preparation and configuration; view, navigate, and access inner organs; support and assistance; and communication (see Multimedia Appendix 9).

Multimedia Appendix 10 provides an example of the constraint "preparation and configuration."

#### **Physical Objects**

The physical objects level shows objects that afford functional capabilities to the system. Causal constraints such as patient conditions, staff availability and competencies, and the capabilities and limitations of the technology and devices in an ERCP clinic constrain the set of possible clinical actions during an ERCP session.

We grouped the large number of physical objects required during ERCP procedures into four main categories: staff; patients; facilities and IT; and medical supplies and equipment (Multimedia Appendix 11).

Multimedia Appendix 12 provides an example of the constraint "facilities and IT."

#### **The Administrative Facet**

The administrative facet (Figure 5) was conceptualized as part of the domain that provides the resources for "primary" clinical work.



Figure 5. Abstraction hierarchy, administrative facet.

Administrative facet							
	Hospital level ERCP unit level						
Functional purpose	Provision of hig care according	ghly specialized health g to national mission	Ensure that ERCP is performed safely and efficiently based on allocated resources				
Values and priority measures	Optimal use of resources	Health care equity and quality Patient safety Balanced Efficient budget workflow					
Purpose- related functions	Strategic decision making	Allocation of financial resources and funding Workflow and staff management		Monitoring resources, finances, and clinical outcomes			
Object related processes	Technical and health care agreements	Management of facilities and technology	Financial and logistical processes		Facility and equipment processes	Clinical processes	
Objects	Facilities	Software and databases	Staff and patients		Medical supplies and equipment	Standards and guidelines	

This facet is largely shaped by intentional constraints such as institutional objectives, organizational and management policies, legislations, and regulations. The administrative facet also places demands on work performance, such as efficiency. Although efficiency demands are considered even during surgery, these demands are largely controlled from outside the clinical facet, which is emphasized in our model.

Individuals can play multiple roles and be involved with several facets, as is the case with senior physicians and nurses who may be directly involved in an ERCP procedure (clinical facet) while also executing managerial, research, and teaching/mentoring functions.

We arrived at two levels of decomposition when we modeled the university hospital, one at the hospital level and the other involving the subsystem "ERCP unit." Although the administrative facet largely set intentional constraints on ERCP work, there were also causal constraints that might affect teleguidance.

All hospitals were under considerable pressure for increasing their efficiency and undergoing constant reorganization. At the hospital level, this was represented as the values and priority measure "optimal use of resources," and at the unit level, it was represented as "balanced budget" and "efficient workflow."

Multimedia Appendix 13 shows an example of how the purpose-related function "strategic decision-making" in the administrative facet might affect teleguidance. More examples are presented in Multimedia Appendix 14.

#### **The Development Facet**

The development facet (Figure 6) is distinguished from the administrative facet owing to its focus on training, research, and quality management, which are the characteristics of advanced clinical practices. In many cases, funding and accountability for these activities are external to the ERCP work system; clinical education and training are often linked to an educational facility; research funding is external; and clinical quality and patient safety criteria are set according to standards and regulations. However, many development activities take place during procedures, such as research activities (eg, documenting unusual physiological features) or teaching and training activities (eg, taking extra time for instruction or allowing a less experienced practitioner operate equipment under supervision).



#### Figure 6. Abstraction hierarchy, development facet.

	Development facet						
	Ho	spital level		ERCP unit level			
Functional purpose	Provide medical teaching and training	Management of research and development in medicine and technology		ERCP-rela developmen research	ted t and 1	Teachi of r	ng and training nedical staff
Values and priority measures	Improved outcomes	Academic and professional status		Best practice, professional values	Well-tr ERCP	rained team	Increased knowledge about ERCP
Purpose- related functions				Clinical training	Studie clinica	es and l trials	Tracking outcomes
Object related processes				Teaching/Supervision/ Mentoring		Study	y design, data ction, and data storage
Objects				Scientific publications, guidelines	Qua databas EH	lity ses and IR	Staff, students and trainees

The development facet is accorded higher priority at the university hospital, where part of the functional purpose includes a mission to provide development, education, and training at the national level.

Many aspects of the development facet appeared to motivate the staff we interviewed, and academic and professional statuses were important aspects for being regarded as trustworthy team members. At the regional hospitals, there were expectations that teleguidance would strengthen the development facet by not only increasing opportunities for training but also for participating in research activities.

Multimedia Appendix 15 provides an example of how a constraint in the development facet might affect teleguidance.

# Discussion

#### **Principal Results**

The ERCP work system is an open system as there are factors beyond the control of the clinical team, which influence how ERCP procedures are conducted. The high number of factors that could potentially affect each procedure led us to characterize the ERCP work context as having three facets, representing clinical work as the primary field of interest, and administration and development as complementary fields of the domain, which provide resources for clinical work.

Each facet served as a "dimension" along which we could reason about the differences between the implementation sites and how the different sets of constraints affecting ERCP could impact the implementation of teleguidance.

Although the clinical and administrative facets in some aspects reflected organizational partitions, the development facet was clearly not reflected within the organizational structures. However, development is an important aspect of the work

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e26505

domain, which motivates staff and shapes daily clinical work in the highly specialized and constantly evolving field of ERCP, where quality work, training, research, and design of medical equipment are pervasive.

#### **Specific Findings**

The implementation sites could be described with the same AHs and compared by contrasting how specific constraints were instantiated.

The functional purposes of the clinical facet show the ERCP team's primary objectives, namely "patient diagnosis, relief, or cure through ERCP." Teleguidance will not change the functional purpose, but it will affect the constraints through which this purpose is achieved.

During procedures, we expect teleguidance to mainly support the purpose-related functions of clinical assessment and interventional procedures by advising how to interpret imagery or providing specific suggestions for handling a certain instrument.

Teleguidance may create challenges in the functions of "situation assessment" and "team coordination." Situation assessment will change in some ways during teleguidance sessions because team members will be in different locations, and there are risks that the remote surgeon and on-site team might perceive the situation differently (eg, the guiding surgeon may miss information that is apparent to the on-site team).

Team coordination may be affected in ways we do not yet understand as the guiding surgeon becomes part of a geographically and organizationally distributed clinical team that requires cognitive, practical, and administrative coordination.

Teleguidance may also cause differences in the values and priorities among clinical practitioners to surface during

teleguidance sessions, as shown by the example of appropriateness.

The broad definition of the ERCP work system allowed us to identify constraints that shape events during procedures, along with the object-related processes included in in the work prior to the clinical procedure, such as preparation and configuration. An example is how handling the telemedicine equipment can affect the workload of the assisting staff; at two of the hospitals, the staff would need to spend additional time for preparation and configuration as they must fetch and set up the teleguidance cart, as well as establish a functioning video link. In an already strained work setting, this inconvenience may very well lead to negative experiences with teleguidance over time.

Regarding the "secondary" facets of the domain, the AHs provide some indications of how technical and administrative issues may play out more significantly over time, such as technical responsibility for service and reimbursement issues. We expect that the initial mismatches between the administrative facets can be overcome if the priorities and responsibilities for development work are clear.

If development activities are not a priority, then there is a risk that users will not have the time and resources necessary to handle the awkwardness of work process adaptations.

#### **Comparison With Prior Work**

There are prior examples of WDA that distinguish primary operations and resource management through multiple models, showing the different stakeholder perspectives or facets of a problem [5]. There are also examples of behavioral studies involving health care work systems, which differentiate clinical work and the infrastructure and resources for this work, conceptualizing health care work in terms of primary (clinical) and secondary (billing, audit, and management) work activities [29].

In our case, a third facet, development, is relevant, and this highlights that teleguidance is an effort to facilitate training and quality assurance in routine clinical ERCP practices and the control and constraints for these aspects appear different from the clinical and administration facets.

#### Limitations

There are many ways to construct AHs, and the answer to the question of whether it is well done in this study lies in issues such as the boundary definition and conceptualization of abstraction levels, goals, and objects. These aspects were continually addressed during the numerous iterations for creating the AHs.

Owing to the broad system definition and the open nature of the work system, it was not easy to achieve a hierarchical decomposition, and we initially struggled to represent the wide array of constraints. The facets presented a solution to this dilemma.

WDA is developed for complex settings that are resistant to deterministic analysis because of their nature. Therefore, AHs cannot be objectively correct or complete; the highlight of this study is that the models provide a structured and accountable way to reason flexibly and imaginatively on how constraints from multiple system levels interact.

#### Conclusions

According to numerous reviews and policy documents, system dynamics and complexity should be considered during the design and evaluation of technological change in health care [30]. This includes the contextual factors constituting "the normal conditions of practice," thus contributing to the implementation outcomes [31]. Our WDA serves as an example of how a complex clinical implementation context can be analyzed and represented in a in a granular yet structured manner while also showing the interactions among the system elements.

We identified clinical, development, and administrative facets of the work domain. These facets represent the general aspects of clinical work systems as sets of contextual factors that should be factored in during the design and implementation of any telemedicine service.

#### **Future Work**

The AHs can serve as artifacts to support the shared understanding required for multidisciplinary collaboration, which is a prerequisite for successful human-system integration [32] (eg, by increasing project managers' understanding of project complexities). This may be extremely valuable in participatory development processes such as contextual inquiries and value specifications, which are important for developing a holistic implementation approach [33].

The models may also be valuable for providing the necessary insights regarding proactive project risks and patient safety management during implementation [34] as well as for guiding clinical and project evaluations [11].

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Service blueprint showing the processes involved prior to, during, and after endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography (in Swedish). [PNG File, 319 KB - formative v5i6e26505 app1.png]

Multimedia Appendix 2

Protocol for semistructured interviews. ERCP: endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography.

[PNG File, 61 KB - formative\_v5i6e26505\_app2.png]

Multimedia Appendix 3

Coding categories and criteria for qualitative data analysis. ERCP: endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography. [PNG File, 28 KB - formative\_v5i6e26505\_app3.png]

Multimedia Appendix 4 Partial view of a detailed model of the clinical facet. This image shows the high level of detail in which we modeled the domain, prior to aggregating the abstraction hierarchies. [PNG File, 89 KB - formative v5i6e26505 app4.png]

Multimedia Appendix 5 Values and priority measures. [PNG File, 39 KB - formative v5i6e26505 app5.png]

Multimedia Appendix 6

Example of the value/priority constraint "appropriateness" showing how it diverged among hospitals and how this might interact with teleguidance. ERCP: endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography. [PNG File , 73 KB - formative\_v5i6e26505\_app6.png]

Multimedia Appendix 7 Purpose-related functions. [PNG File , 40 KB - formative v5i6e26505 app7.png]

Multimedia Appendix 8 Example of purpose-related function: team coordination. ERCP: endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography. [PNG File, 67 KB - formative v5i6e26505 app8.png]

Multimedia Appendix 9 Object-related processes. ERCP: endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography. [PNG File, 38 KB - formative\_v5i6e26505\_app9.png]

Multimedia Appendix 10

Example of object-related processes: preparation and configuration. ERCP: endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography. [PNG File , 57 KB - formative v5i6e26505 app10.png ]

Multimedia Appendix 11 Physical objects (aggregated). ERCP: endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography; IT: information technology. [PNG File, 30 KB - formative\_v5i6e26505\_app11.png]

Multimedia Appendix 12 Example of physical objects: facilities and information technology. [PNG File, 36 KB - formative\_v5i6e26505\_app12.png]

Multimedia Appendix 13 Example of how the purpose-related function "strategic decision-making" might interact with teleguidance. ERCP: endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography. [PNG File , 22 KB - formative\_v5i6e26505\_app13.png]

Multimedia Appendix 14

Examples of constraints in the administrative facet that might affect teleguidance. ERCP: endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography; IT: information technology. [PNG File , 62 KB - formative v5i6e26505 app14.png ]

Multimedia Appendix 15

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e26505

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

Example of how a constraint in the development facet might affect teleguidance. ERCP: endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography.

[PNG File, 50 KB - formative\_v5i6e26505\_app15.png]

#### References

- Påhlsson HI, Groth K, Permert J, Swahn F, Löhr M, Enochsson L, et al. Telemedicine: an important aid to perform high-quality endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography in low-volume centers. Endoscopy 2013;45(5):357-361. [doi: <u>10.1055/s-0032-1326269</u>] [Medline: <u>23468194</u>]
- Aminoff H, Meijer S, Arnelo U, Frennert S. Telemedicine for remote surgical guidance in endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography: mixed methods study of practitioner attitudes. JMIR Form Res 2021 Jan 11;5(1):e20692 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/20692] [Medline: 33427670]
- 3. Rasmussen J, Pejtersen A, Goodstein L. Cognitive Systems Engineering. New York, NY: John Wiley & Sons, Inc; 1994.
- 4. Vicente K. Cognitive Work Analysis: Toward Safe, Productive, and Healthy Computer-Based Work. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press; 1999.
- 5. Naikar N. Work Domain Analysis: Concepts, Guidelines, and Cases. Baton Rouge, LA: CRC Press; 2013.
- 6. Plsek PE, Greenhalgh T. Complexity science: the challenge of complexity in health care. BMJ 2001 Sep 15;323(7313):625-628 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.323.7313.625] [Medline: 11557716]
- Brinne Roos J, Bergenzaun P, Groth K, Lundell L, Arnelo U. Telepresence-teleguidance to facilitate training and quality assurance in ERCP: a health economic modeling approach. Endosc Int Open 2020 Mar;8(3):E326-E337 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1055/a-1068-9153] [Medline: 32118106]
- 8. Hollnagel E. Why is work-as-imagined different from work-as-done? In: Resilient Health Care. Baton Rouge, LA: CRC Press; 2015:279-294.
- Shiell A, Hawe P, Gold L. Complex interventions or complex systems? Implications for health economic evaluation. BMJ 2008 Jun 07;336(7656):1281-1283 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.39569.510521.AD] [Medline: 18535071]
- 10. Greenhalgh T, Papoutsi C. Studying complexity in health services research: desperately seeking an overdue paradigm shift. BMC Med 2018 Jun 20;16(1):95 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12916-018-1089-4] [Medline: 29921272]
- Aminoff H, Meijer S. Accommodating complexity in telemedicine evaluation: using work domain analysis to analyze and represent the implementation context of a telemedicine service. JMIR Preprints. Preprint posted online on December 17,2020. This is a link to a preprint of a commentary article we have submitted [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/preprints.26580]
- 12. Woods D, Roth E. Cognitive systems engineering. In: Helander M, editor. Handbook of Human-Computer Interaction. Amsterdam, Netherlands: North-Holland; 1988:3-43.
- 13. Smith P, Hoffman R. Cognitive Systems Engineering: The Future for a Changing World. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press; 2018.
- Flach JM, Tanabe F, Monta K, Vicente KJ, Rasmussen J. An ecological approach to interface design. In: Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Annual Meeting. Los Angeles, CA: SAGE Publications; 2016 Nov 05 Presented at: The Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Annual Meeting; 1998; Chicago, Illinois p. 295-299. [doi: 10.1177/154193129804200324]
- 15. Read GJ, Salmon PM, Lenné MG, Stanton NA. Designing sociotechnical systems with cognitive work analysis: putting theory back into practice. Ergonomics 2015;58(5):822-851. [doi: <u>10.1080/00140139.2014.980335</u>] [Medline: <u>25407778</u>]
- 16. Jiancaro T, Jamieson GA, Mihailidis A. Twenty years of cognitive work analysis in health care. J Cogn Eng Decis Mak 2013 May 29;8(1):3-22. [doi: 10.1177/1555343413488391]
- 17. Benda PJ, Sanderson PM. Representation of changes to anesthesia work domain and activity structures. Proc Hum Factors Ergon Soc Annu Meet 2016 Nov 06;43(8):563-567. [doi: 10.1177/154193129904300803]
- Burns C, Torenvliet G, Chalmers B, Scott S. Work domain analysis for establishing collaborative work requirements. Proc Hum Factors Ergon Soc Annu Meet 2009 Oct 19;53(4):314-318. [doi: <u>10.1518/107118109X12524441080984</u>]
- 19. Cassin BR, Barach PR. Balancing clinical team perceptions of the workplace: applying 'work domain analysis' to pediatric cardiac care. Prog Pediatr Cardiol 2012 Jan;33(1):25-32. [doi: 10.1016/j.ppedcard.2011.12.005]
- Pickup L, Lang A, Atkinson S, Sharples S. The dichotomy of the application of a systems approach in UK healthcare the challenges and priorities for implementation. Ergonomics 2018 Jan;61(1):15-25. [doi: <u>10.1080/00140139.2017.1306632</u>] [Medline: <u>28306384</u>]
- 21. Jenkins DP, Stanton NA, Salmon PM, Walker GH. Using work domain analysis to evaluate the impact of technological change on the performance of complex socio-technical systems. Theor Issues Ergon Sci 2011 Jan;12(1):1-14. [doi: 10.1080/14639220903353401]
- 22. Vicente KJ. Task analysis, cognitive task analysis, cognitive work analysis: what's the difference? Proc Hum Factors Ergon Soc Annu Meet 2016 Nov 05;39(9):534-537. [doi: 10.1177/154193129503900921]
- 23. Greenhalgh T, Stones R. Theorising big IT programmes in healthcare: strong structuration theory meets actor-network theory. Soc Sci Med 2010 May;70(9):1285-1294. [doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2009.12.034] [Medline: 20185218]

- 24. Greenhalgh T, Shaw S, Wherton J, Vijayaraghavan S, Morris J, Bhattacharya S, et al. Real-world implementation of video outpatient consultations at macro, meso, and micro levels: mixed-method study. J Med Internet Res 2018 Apr 17;20(4):e150 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9897] [Medline: 29625956]
- 25. Morgan-Trimmer S, Wood F. Ethnographic methods for process evaluations of complex health behaviour interventions. Trials 2016 May 04;17(1):232 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13063-016-1340-2] [Medline: 27142662]
- 26. Lynn Shostack G. How to design a service. Eur J Mark 1982 Jan 21;16(1):49-63. [doi: <u>10.1108/EUM000000004799</u>] [Medline: <u>5637250</u>]
- 27. Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qual Res Psychol 2006 Jan;3(2):77-101. [doi: 10.1191/1478088706qp063oa]
- 28. Jenkins D, Stanton NA, Walker GH. Cognitive Work Analysis: Coping with Complexity. London, UK: CRC Press; Jan 2017.
- 29. Berg M. The search for synergy: interrelating medical work and patient care information systems. Methods Inf Med 2018 Feb 08;42(4):337-344. [doi: 10.1055/s-0038-1634227]
- 30. Beenkens FP. Context dependency of medical devices. The Priority Medical Devices Project. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2010. URL: <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/70456</u> [accessed 2021-06-07]
- 31. May CR, Johnson M, Finch T. Implementation, context and complexity. Implement Sci 2016 Oct 19;11(1):141 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13012-016-0506-3] [Medline: 27756414]
- 32. Pew RW, Mavor AS, editors. Human-System Integration in the System Development Process: A New Look. Washington DC, USA: National Academies Press; 2007.
- 33. van Gemert-Pijnen JEWC, Nijland N, van Limburg M, Ossebaard HC, Kelders SM, Eysenbach G, et al. A holistic framework to improve the uptake and impact of eHealth technologies. J Med Internet Res 2011 Dec 05;13(4):e111 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1672] [Medline: 22155738]
- Augustsson H, Churruca K, Braithwaite J. Change and improvement 50 years in the making: a scoping review of the use of soft systems methodology in healthcare. BMC Health Serv Res 2020 Nov 23;20(1):1063 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12913-020-05929-5] [Medline: 33228657]

#### Abbreviations

AH: abstraction hierarchy
CWA: cognitive work analysis
ERCP: endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography
IT: information technology
WDA: work domain analysis

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 14.12.20; peer-reviewed by C Burns, D Juzwishin; comments to author 24.02.21; revised version received 17.04.21; accepted 29.04.21; published 21.06.21.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Aminoff H, Meijer S, Arnelo U, Groth K Modeling the Implementation Context of a Telemedicine Service: Work Domain Analysis in a Surgical Setting JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e26505 URL: <u>https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e26505</u> doi:<u>10.2196/26505</u> PMID:<u>34152278</u>

©Hedvig Aminoff, Sebastiaan Meijer, Urban Arnelo, Kristina Groth. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 21.06.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



# Usability Analysis of a Health Sciences Digital Library by Medical Residents: Cross-sectional Survey

Amr Jamal<sup>1</sup>, MBBS, MD; Shabana Tharkar<sup>2</sup>, BDS, MS; Hanan Alenazi<sup>3</sup>, MPH; Bedoor Saud Julaidan<sup>4</sup>, MBBS; Dania Ali Al Hindawi<sup>4</sup>, MBBS; Norah Suleman AlAkeel<sup>4</sup>, MBBS; Ola Mohammed AlNuhayer<sup>4</sup>, MBBS; Raneem Hamoud AlDubaikhi<sup>4</sup>, MBBS

<sup>1</sup>Evidence-Based Health Care & Knowledge Translation Research Chair, Department of Family and Community Medicine, College of Medicine, King Saud University, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia

<sup>2</sup>Prince Sattam Chair for Epidemiology and Public Health Research, Department of Family and Community Medicine, College of Medicine, King Saud University, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia

<sup>3</sup>National Health Information Center, Saudi Health Council, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia

<sup>4</sup>College of Medicine, King Saud University, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Amr Jamal, MBBS, MD Evidence-Based Health Care & Knowledge Translation Research Chair, Department of Family and Community Medicine College of Medicine King Saud University 3145 Riyadh Saudi Arabia Phone: 966 467000 Email: amrjamal@ksu.edu.sa

# Abstract

**Background:** The usability of a digital library depends on a myriad of factors ranging from the end users' ability to website complexity. Although digital libraries provide instant access to online content, offering an efficient reference platform, their usability is highly variable.

**Objective:** The aim of this study was to measure users' perspectives and usability of the digital library of the Saudi Commission for Health Specialties (SCFHS).

**Methods:** A web-based questionnaire survey was conducted using a validated System Usability Scale (SUS) containing 5 positive and 5 negative items on the usability of the digital library. The SUS standard cut-off score of 68 was considered for interpretation.

**Results:** The overall mean SUS score of digital library usability was 52.9 (SD 15.2) with a grade "D" categorization, indicating low usability. The perceived measures of attributes of the 10 SUS items of findability, complexity, consistency, and confidence obtained below average scores. Only item 1 relating to perceived willingness to use the digital library frequently obtained a score above the targeted benchmark score (mean score 3.6). Higher SUS scores were associated with training (P=.02). Men felt the digital library to be more complex (P=.04) and board-certified physicians perceived a greater need for training on digital library use (P=.05). Only the UpToDate database was widely used (72/90, 80%).

**Conclusions:** These findings demonstrate the low usability of the extensive facilities offered by the SCFHS digital library. It is pivotal to improve awareness of the availability of the digital library and popularize the databases. There is also a need for improved user training to enhance the accessibility and usability of the multiple databases.

#### (JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e23293) doi:10.2196/23293

# KEYWORDS

RenderX

digital library usability; medical education; system usability scale; medical residents; Saudi Arabia

# Introduction

The transition of conventional print materials to electronic formats has revolutionized the use of libraries. Digital libraries are a result of the marvelous technological advancements of the 21st century. The availability of extensive online literature has curtailed the classic style of print-based articles and photocopying, resulting in diminished usage over the last decade [1]. Digital libraries provide comprehensive databases containing electronic books, journals, online gray literature, web publishing, and evidence-based guidelines and literature, with additional benefits of animation, audio-visual aids, and mobile apps with scientific content. Institutional libraries are an invaluable asset in making users competent in terms of scientific knowledge, research skills, and keeping pace with the most updated information [2]. As early as the second half of the 1990s, when internet technology was still in a nascent stage, Morse and Clintworth [3] compared the usage of a traditional library with the then-novel electronic library (e-Library) and found an astoundingly high predominance of electronic usage among health science students of an academic library in California. Recent studies have demonstrated that the worldwide web has made traditional libraries obsolete, forcing students to rely entirely on digital libraries even in low- and middle-income countries [4,5]. Given that the economics of establishing and running a digital library costs millions of dollars, its quality of services and effectiveness should be decisive and significant.

The Saudi Commission for Health Specialties (SCFHS), which was established in 1983, is the regulatory body in Saudi Arabia that is responsible for the country's health care workforce in aspects related to licensing, training, and continuous professional development. The SCFHS has been commissioned as the Kingdom's largest and most competent digital library service, facilitating the work of health care practitioners and trainees from all specialties, thereby empowering continuing medical education [6]. The SCFHS extensively partners with international institutions, and subscribes to leading medical and health care journals and online databases. Residents are given free access to the digital library by registering with a valid residency ID. The provision of such extensive facilities and universal access to online literature necessitates the end users' usability description. The term "usability" has varied definitions since this multidimensional construct can be evaluated from different perspectives. Some authors have linked usability to ease of use, considering the effectiveness of human-computer interaction [7], while others prefer the usability definition highlighted by Brinck et al [8] "as the degree to which people (users) can perform a set of required tasks." The perceived usability of interactive systems is evaluated to identify usability issues, improve the usability of the design, and to encourage recommendations [9].

Although a library is a platform that offers access to a variety of databases and applications, the library portal itself consists of many features and services that warrant assessment of their usability measures. The user experience includes the start of accessing the digital library portal until acquiring the needed information. This journey involves many interactions with the portal, such as the universal search, finding the right

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e23293/
```

database/journal/book, authenticating access to third-party portals, technical and librarian support, and integration with other systems. All of these user-portal interactions are related to the library itself and warrant usability assessment. This study was performed with the objective of assessing the usability of the digital health sciences library provided by the SCFHS among trainees, including their information-seeking behavior and perceptions in the usability of the digital library. The findings may point toward the generic deficiencies in any digital library, which, if rectified, may enhance the user interface and increase the usability of the digital library for professional development in research to ameliorate evidence-based practice.

### Methods

#### **Study Design and Sampling**

A quantitative cross-sectional study design was applied to assess the usability of the digital library of the SCFHS. The study participants included the trainee residents from all specialties with valid registration at the SCFHS. A list containing the registered names of 3455 professionals was obtained from the SCFHS, which constituted the sample frame. Assuming that 50% of the population conveys positive perceptions of digital library usability, with a 95% CI and a precision of 5%, the estimated sample size using the single proportion formula was calculated to be 384. This study was performed over a period of 2 months, in March and April of 2018. The study tool was constructed using the SurveyMonkey platform. The tool was sent online to all registered email IDs listed in the sample frame. Two reminder emails were sent after 2 weeks to increase the response rate.

#### **Description of the Questionnaire**

This study adopted the validated questionnaire of the System Usability Scale (SUS) developed by John Brooke in 1996 [10]. The SUS system is a robust, reliable, and valid tool, which has been extensively used by researchers. It has also shown a high degree efficiency in testing library systems, repositories, and websites [11]. The first section comprises 10 questions measuring the system usability of various hardware, software, websites, and applications, with scaled responses on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from strongly disagree to strongly agree. The SUS is considered to be an easy-to-use tool with simple and straightforward statements arranged as odd numbers (1, 3, 5, 7, 9) that are positively expressed and statements with even numbers (2, 4, 6, 8, 10) that are negatively expressed.

The 10 items on the SUS are as follows: (1) I think that I would like to use this system frequently, (2) I found the system unnecessarily complex, (3) I thought the system was easy to use, (4) I think that I would need the support of a technical person to be able to use this system, (5) I found the various functions in this system to be well-integrated, (6) I thought there was too much inconsistency in this system, (7) I would imagine that most people would learn to use this system very quickly, (8) I found the system very cumbersome to use, (9) I felt very confident using the system, and (10) I needed to learn a lot of things before I could get going with this system.

XSL•FO RenderX

The sequence of the statements was created so as to reduce concurrence and extreme bias. The second section comprised questions on demographic characteristics, accessibility, training and experiences in using databases, and suggestions to improve the digital library. A pilot study was performed with 12 participants to ensure reliability and validity of the questions in section 2, and these responses were not included in the main analysis.

#### **Scoring SUS Responses**

The SUS scores were calculated with reference to the guidance outlined by Jeff Sauro [12]. The scores for each question were converted to a new number, summed, and then multiplied by 2.5 to convert the original scores ranging from 0 to 40 to a range of 0 to 100. The SUS scores were interpreted with a cutoff of 68. A score above 68 indicates average performance, whereas a score below 68 is considered to be below average. Furthermore, comparison and easy reference of individual items of findability, complexity, consistency, and confidence can be achieved using targeted benchmark scores that make the responses more meaningful [12].

#### **Data Analysis**

The data were analyzed using the IBM software Statistical Package for Social Sciences version 22.0. Descriptive statistics (frequencies, percentages, mode, and mean and SD) were used to describe the categorical and quantitative variables. Testing of associations between categorical and continuous variables was performed by the Student t test and analysis of variance, respectively. A P value less than .05 was judged to indicate statistical significance.

#### **Ethical Considerations**

The study was reviewed and approved by the Institutional Review Board Committee of College of Medicine, with reference number CMED 305-F8-2018-18. All participants were informed about the purpose of the study and electronic informed consent was obtained on the first page of the survey tool. The study ensured that the participants' data will be confidential, private, and used for research purposes only.

# Results

Ninety completed questionnaires were received at the end of the study period. The majority of the respondents were men with a mean age of 29.3 years (SD 4.2). The distribution of demographic characteristics is provided in Table 1.

The study participants' overall average SUS score was 52.9. The average mean score in comparison with benchmark scores for the 10 SUS items are presented in Table 2. Item 1, which states "I think that I would like to use the digital library frequently," was the only SUS item that obtained a score above the targeted average benchmark.

The participants' experience with the SCFHS digital library is shown in Table 3. The most successful method of spreading awareness of the SCFHS digital library was email. However, communication through colleagues was also popular. UpToDate was the most predominantly used database, whereas Cochrane and DynaMed showed low utilization. The most frequently stated purpose for use of the SCFHS digital library was preparation for presentations, closely followed by patient care-seeking information. The use of the digital library for research and teaching support ranked in the third and fourth priority, respectively. The other popular alternatives to the SCFHS digital library were the participants' respective institutions' libraries, followed by the Saudi Digital Library.

The associations between demographic and other variables with the total score are presented in Table 4. The results showed that training on how to access databases was significantly associated with a higher total score (P=.02). Although not significant, female gender, non-Saudi nationality, and senior residency levels obtained higher SUS scores. However, the analysis of individual SUS items with different study variables showed two items with a significant association. The score for item 2, which states "I found the digital library to be unnecessarily complex," was significantly higher in men than in women (P=.04) and among board-certified physicians (P=.01). The score for item 4, which states "I think that I would need the support of a technical person to be able to use this digital library," was significantly higher among board-certified physicians (P=.05).



Jamal et al

Table 1. Demographic characteristics and System Usability Scale (SUS) scores of Saudi Commission for Health Specialties digital library users (N=90).

Variable	Value
Gender, n (%)	
Male	53 (59)
Female	37 (41)
Nationality, n (%)	
Saudi	83 (92)
Non-Saudi	7 (8)
Age (years), n (%)	
20-25	8 (9)
26-30	57 (63)
31-35	20 (22)
>35	5 (6)
Residency level, n (%)	
R1	17 (19)
R2	27 (30)
R3	14 (16)
R4	11 (12)
Fellowship	6 (7)
Board-certified	3 (3)
Medical specialty, n (%)	
Family medicine	16 (18)
Internal medicine	17 (19)
Pediatrics: general	11 (12)
Surgery	9 (10)
Psychiatry	3 (3)
Radiology	4 (5)
Emergency medicine	3 (3)
Community medicine/public health	3 (3)
Critical care medicine (intensive care unit)	3 (3)
Other	9 (10)
SUS score	
Mean (SD)	52.9 (15.2)
Range	25-100



Table 2. Comparison of the mean scores with benchmark targets for average scores of the 10 System Usability Scale items.

	e , ,	
Item	Benchmark target mean score	Obtained mean score
1: I think that I would like to use digital library frequently	≥3.39	3.6
2: I found the digital library to be unnecessarily complex	≤2.44	2.8
3: I thought the digital library was easy to use	≥3.67	3.3
4: I think that I would need the support of a technical person to be able to use the digital library	≤1.85	3.1
5: I found the various functions in the digital library to be well-integrated	≥3.55	2.9
6: I thought there was too much inconsistency in the digital library	≤2.20	2.9
7: I would imagine that most people would learn to use the digital library very quickly	≥3.71	3.3
8: I found the digital library to be very cumbersome to use	≤2.25	3.0
9: I felt very confident using the digital library	≥3.72	3.1
10: I needed to learn a lot of things before I could get going with the digital library	≤2.09	3.2

Table 3. Participants' experience with the Saudi Commission for Health Specialties (SCFHS) digital library (N=90).

Question	Participants, n (%)
How did you learn about the SCFHS digital library?	
Colleagues	21 (23)
Email	59 (66)
Trainers	7 (8)
Twitter	5 (6)
WhatsApp	7 (8)
SCFHS website	4 (4)
Others	5 (6)
What are the databases that you used within the digital library?	
UpToDate	72 (80)
Cochrane	14 (16)
Clinical evidence	17 (19)
Best evidence	14 (16)
DynaMed Plus	19 (21)
Others	13 (14)
Purpose (s) for use of the SCFHS digital library?	
Research	62 (69)
Support teaching activities	55 (61)
Patient care	68 (76)
Preparation for presentation	70 (78)
Preparation for examination	46 (51)
Continuing medical examination	35 (39)
Others	2 (2)
What other electronic library/libraries do you have access to?	
None	32 (36)
Saudi Digital Library	37 (41)
My institute/hospital/center library	43 (48)
Others	10 (11)



Jamal et al

Table 4. Association of questionnaire responses with System Usability Scale (SUS) scores (N=90).

Question	Response, n (%)	Total SUS score, mean (SD)	P value
Do you pay to use any other databases or electronic libraries?			.40
Yes	18 (20)	50.2 (15.8)	
No	72 (80)	53.5 (15.0)	
Did you have previous experience with electronic libraries before the SCH	HS <sup>a</sup> digital library?		.94
Yes	61 (68)	52.8 (16.6)	
No	29 (32)	53.1 (12.3)	
Have you ever received training on how to access and use health informat	ion databases/libraries?		.02
Yes	20 (22)	59.5 (14.5)	
No	70 (88)	51.1 (14.5)	
Gender			.35
Male	53 (59)	51.8 (13.8)	
Female	37 (41)	54.9 (17.3)	
Nationality			.51
Saudi	83 (92)	52.8 (14.5)	
Non-Saudi	7 (8)	56.7 (25.5)	
Residency level			.08
R1	17 (22)	53.2 (8.7)	
R2	27 (35)	51.1 (17.4)	
R3	14 (18)	59.4 (14.2)	
R4	11 (14)	51.5 (17.4)	
Fellowship	6 (8)	66.6 (17.7)	
Board-certified	3 (4)	39.1 (10.1)	
Residency category			.28
Junior (R1 and R2)	44 (49)	51.9 (14.6)	
Senior (R3 and R4)	25 (28)	56.0 (15.8)	
Age group (years)			.99
20-25	8 (9)	51.5 (9.8)	
26-30	57 (63)	53.2 (15.7)	
31-35	20 (22)	53.3 (16.9)	
>36	5 (6)	53.0 (17.6)	

<sup>a</sup>SCFHS: Saudi Commission for Health Specialties.

# Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

This study focusing on the usability of the SCFHS digital library by registered trainee health practitioners is the first of its kind in Saudi Arabia. Some of the main findings indicate that digital library use in terms of perceived complexity, consistency, and confidence is below average among the trainees. Since the overall SUS score obtained in this study was 52.9, a grade D categorization may be given, denoting low usability [13]. Benchmarking of the scores of individual SUS items provides useful interpretation [14]. In this study, item 1 that reflects the digital library's frequent use was the sole item that obtained a

RenderX

score above the benchmark score. This finding suggests the participants' increased perceived usability toward using the digital library, whereas the rest of the SUS items obtained low scores, suggesting difficulty in all attributes of measures of complexity, consistency, and confidence.

Nevertheless, on a positive note, the SUS score showed a significant increase among those who attended a voluntary introductory training session on an ad hoc basis that was provided either by the individual databases or by their affiliated institutions through webinars and YouTube sessions. However, it must be emphasized that no formal training sessions were organized facilitating use of the digital library. These key findings may draw attention. Research studies have linked high

computer literacy and social media to increased digital library usability among users. Umukoro et al [15] examined the factors associated with increased digital library use among university students by performing a mixed methods study in Nigeria, and established three major predictors among the users. They linked high system and service quality, computer skills, and level of satisfaction with electronic services to increased e-Library use, whereas the determinants of not using the digital library were primarily lack of awareness of services, inadequate computer skills, and absence of user-training facilities. These results are highly consistent with our findings, which could indicate the chief reasons for low usability. Similarly, Piccoli et al [16] built a conceptual framework of contributing factors for effective electronic learning (e-Learning) that depends on the interface between human and design factors. Human factors constitute the instructors' and students' roles such as motivation, learning, and training, whereas design factors include technology, course contents, and an interactive environment that have a direct effect on the level of use. A qualitative analysis demonstrated incomprehensible website design and content as some of the major themes for low usability of a digital library, which suggested that the search protocol should be established in accordance with the end users' expectations to improve website usefulness [17]. Since some users may demonstrate computer literacy, the reasons for low usability remain ambiguous. In-depth qualitative research is required to comprehend the factors associated with low SUS scores. The poor system usability may reflect a combination of factors or attributes that regulate actual usability.

The other main finding of training-assisted improvement in digital library usability suggests that the respondents may enhance usability with essential training skills and operative assistance. These findings are in accordance with similar studies from Nigeria and Zimbabwe, where lack of training and awareness were identified as principal barriers for poor electronic resource utilization [4,5,18]. These findings are further supported by a study that demonstrated improved e-Learning behavior after implementation of a successful end-user internet literacy training program for university students [19]. Our study thereby suggests the definite need for training measures to be reinstated by the SCFHS for the effective use of digital library facilities. Future studies obtaining pre and post evaluation measures of efficacy of training programs are highly recommended.

Another issue of concern is the lack of awareness of digital library facilities. The finding that only 3.7% of the participants knew about the digital library facility through the SCFHS website is alarming. The content display on the website plays a constructive role in spreading awareness about the digital library. There is an immediate need to exemplify content guidance to improve awareness and accessibility of the digital library in the SCFHS website. Hinchliffe and Mummery [20] elucidated the significance of the involvement of intended audience and end users in designing websites through usability testing to improve and optimize user experiences. Likewise, we recommend performing similar research to obtain users' suggestions for content directions of the SCFHS website

highlighting the digital library facilities, which can result in increased usability.

Furthermore, the library usage patterns demonstrate that preparation for presentations and obtaining information on routine patient care are the two most common reasons for use. Although these results are reasonably expected from the trainees, the suboptimal usage for other relevant purposes warrants further clarification. The use of a digital library during examinations and for research and additional support materials was found to be low. However, the use of alternate sources such as institutional libraries and the Saudi Digital Library may account for the probable low use. These findings are strong indicators of the suboptimal awareness of available online databases. A similar study performed at a university library in the United States showed that 94.5% of residents accessed the resources for patient care, 92% of nursing professionals accessed the library for class preparations, and 76% accessed the library for research purposes [1]. There is great potential for research to further discover the reasons for low usage among the participants. Library orientation for residents and fellows, web helpdesk service, training on online database searching skills, and web-based notification systems are some of the suggested methods to improve usability [21].

This study found an inclined preponderance toward the use of UpToDate as the most popular online database. This is also reflected in the lower utilization of other multiple databases. Provision of training facilities ought to incorporate content description and specifications of other online databases such as Cochrane, Best evidence, and DynaMed to maximize benefits. These three evidence-based medicine databases containing full free texts and voluminous literature on clinical trials with a level of evidence and recommendations based on established guidelines serve as priceless assets for both research and clinical practice. The reported low use of these resources raises concerns. Moreover, this may lead to concealing a significant amount of variance in perceived usability scores. These findings point toward the need for further exploratory research to identify the determinants and reasons for low usage, which can inform exhaustive measures to be taken to improve awareness and usability.

#### Limitations

This study has certain limitations. The relatively small sample size restricts the generalizability of the findings. Furthermore, the sample included only trainees, and other health care providers who could have served as potential resource participants were not included, which again may lead to limited generalizability. However, the strength of this study is that it is the first such investigation in the region of Saudi Arabia, and the multiple findings generated can be considered as a vital basis for future research. Another relevant point is the ambiguity in the usability of each of the multiple online databases. This study assessed the overall usability of the digital library; however, details of the usability of individual databases were not explored, which can be a subject of future research.

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e23293/

XSL•FO

#### Conclusion

The concept of digital libraries has revolutionized the usability of libraries by providing instant and simplified access. The digital library of the SCFHS is a major source of referencing for health professionals in Saudi Arabia. This study is the first to evaluate the usability of the digital library of SCFHS.

Lower usability scores were obtained, demonstrating the below-average utilization of resources. The participants demonstrated low confidence in accessing the digital library, and needed technical support, guidance, and training programs for efficient access and use of the contents. The online database UpToDate was the most popular database accessed for clinical support decisions, whereas the remaining databases showed limited usability. However, training and orientation were associated with higher usability scores, suggesting a promising solution to improve usage. A well-structured training program facilitating simplified and efficient navigation of the digital library contents is the need of the hour. In addition, the SCFHS website should consider increasing awareness through innovative methods to increase the potential use of multiple databases. There is a great potential for modification in website design to increase awareness and improve digital library usability.

#### **Recommendations to Improve e-Library Usability**

This research may highlight certain general recommendations to improve the usability of the SCFHS digital library based on the identified findings in two major contexts: personnel and technical. Primarily, at the outset, we highly recommend facilitating an end-user training program as a mandatory apprenticeship featuring the navigatory steps in addition to the introduction of the available online databases and their specifications for wider use.

Next, the focus of recommendations may include the technicality and design of the website. Accessibility can be markedly improved by direction and guidance in a user-friendly mode. In addition, the design should facilitate categorization and description of the digital library contents. The homepage of the website must contain a downloadable user-friendly guide as an overview of digital library orientation. Furthermore, the trainees must be assisted with provision of helpdesk facilities, online chats, and regular notifications on digital library updates.

#### Acknowledgments

We extend gratitude to the SCFHS digital library for sending the questionnaire. The authors are also grateful to the Deanship of Scientific Research, King Saud University for funding through Vice Deanship of Scientific Research Chairs.

#### **Authors' Contributions**

AJ and HA conceived and designed the study. BSJ, DAA, NSA, OMA, and RHA acquired the data and performed the analysis. ST wrote the manuscript. All authors contributed to the interpretation of the data and critically revised the manuscript for important intellectual content.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### References

- 1. De Groote SL, Dorsch JL. Measuring use patterns of online journals and databases. J Med Libr Assoc 2003 Apr;91(2):231-240 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1043/0025-7338(2003)091<0231:MUPOOJ>2.0.CO;2] [Medline: 12883574]
- 2. Hassan B, Mansor Y. Chapter 6. Role of academic libraries in promoting information literacy among students of higher learning institutions. In: Strengthening higher education for a successful workforce. Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia: IIJM Press; 2009.
- 3. Morse D, Clintworth W. Comparing Patterns of Print and Electronic Journal Use in an Academic Health Science Library. Issues Sci Technol Librariansh 2000 Oct 01:1-4. [doi: 10.5062/F42B8W0Z]
- 4. Martinez-Silveira MS, Oddone N. Information-seeking behavior of medical residents in clinical practice in Bahia, Brazil. J Med Libr Assoc 2008 Oct;96(4):381-384 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3163/1536-5050.96.4.016] [Medline: 18974818]
- 5. Mawere T, Sai KO. An investigation on e-resource utilisation among university students in a developing country: A case of Great Zimbabwe University. SA J Inf Manag 2018 Jun 12;20(1):1-7. [doi: <u>10.4102/sajim.v20i1.860</u>]
- 6. Saudi Commission for Health Specialties. URL: <u>https://www.scfhs.org.sa</u> [accessed 2020-03-13]
- 7. Jeng J. What is usability in the context of the digital library and how can it be measured. Inf Technol Librar 2005 Jun 01;24(2):47. [doi: 10.6017/ital.v24i2.3365]
- 8. Brinck T, Gergle D, Wood S. Usability for the web, designing websites that work. San Francisco, CA: Morgan Kaufmann Publishers Inc; Oct 20, 2001.
- 9. Conyer M. User and usability testing how it should be undertaken? Austral J Educ Technol 1995 Dec 01;11(2):38-51. [doi: <u>10.14742/ajet.2075</u>]
- 10. Brooke J. SUS: A QuickDirty Usability Scale. In: Jordan PW, Thomas B, Weerdmeester BA, McClelland IL, editors. Usability Evaluation in Industry. London: Taylor and Francis; 1996.

- 11. Sauro J. Measuring usability with the sytem usability scale. 2011 Feb 03. URL: <u>https://measuringu.com/sus/</u> [accessed 2011-02-03]
- 12. Sauro J. Interpreting single items from the SUS. 2018. URL: <u>https://measuringu.com/sus-items/</u> [accessed 2021-02-17]
- 13. Brandy K. An overview of the System Usability Scale in library website and system usability testing. J of Lib User Experience 2017;1(6):1-19. [doi: 10.3998/weave.12535642.0001.602]
- 14. Lewis J, Sauro J. Item benchmarks for the System Usability Scale. J Usab Stud 2018;13:158-167.
- 15. Umukoro IO, Tiamiyu MA. Determinants of e-library services' use among university students: A study of John Harris Library, University of Benin, Nigeria. J Librariansh Inf Sci 2016 Jun 22;49(4):438-453. [doi: 10.1177/0961000616653176]
- 16. Piccoli G, Ahmad R, Ives B. Web-based virtual learning environments: a research framework and a preliminary assessment of effectiveness in basic IT skills training. MIS Quart 2001 Dec;25(4):401. [doi: 10.2307/3250989]
- Kous K, Pušnik M, Heričko M, Polančič G. Usability evaluation of a library website with different end user groups. J Librariansh Inf Sci 2018 May 28;52(1):75-90. [doi: <u>10.1177/0961000618773133</u>]
- 18. Adeniran P. Usage of electronic resources by undergraduates at the Redeemer's University, Nigeria. Int J Libr Inf Sci 2013;5(10):319-324.
- 19. Adeleke A, Olorunsola R. Training in the use of e-resources in academic libraries: one university's approach. Library Hi Tech News 2010 Aug 10;27(6/7):16-19. [doi: 10.1108/07419051011095872]
- 20. Hinchliffe A, Mummery WK. Applying usability testing techniques to improve a health promotion website. Health Promot J Austr 2008 Apr 01;19(1):29-35. [doi: 10.1071/he08029] [Medline: 18481929]
- 21. Davies K, Harrison J. The information-seeking behaviour of doctors: a review of the evidence. Health Info Libr J 2007 Jun;24(2):78-94. [doi: 10.1111/j.1471-1842.2007.00713.x] [Medline: 17584211]

#### Abbreviations

e-Learning: electronic learning e-Library: electronic library SCFHS: Saudi Commission for Health Specialties SUS: System Usability Scale

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 06.08.20; peer-reviewed by R Zaini, J Brooke; comments to author 27.08.20; revised version received 04.09.20; accepted 13.04.21; published 24.06.21.

Please cite as:

Jamal A, Tharkar S, Alenazi H, Julaidan BS, Al Hindawi DA, AlAkeel NS, AlNuhayer OM, AlDubaikhi RH Usability Analysis of a Health Sciences Digital Library by Medical Residents: Cross-sectional Survey JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e23293 URL: https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e23293/ doi:10.2196/23293 PMID:34184992

©Amr Jamal, Shabana Tharkar, Hanan Alenazi, Bedoor Saud Julaidan, Dania Ali Al Hindawi, Norah Suleman AlAkeel, Ola Mohammed AlNuhayer, Raneem Hamoud AlDubaikhi. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 24.06.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



# Virtual Engagement in a Social Media Community of Mothers With Substance Use Disorders: Content Analysis

Shayna Mazel<sup>1</sup>, MPP, MA; Yaara Zisman-Ilani<sup>2</sup>, PhD; Shannon Hennig<sup>3</sup>, MA; Deborah Garnick<sup>1</sup>, ScD; Joanne Nicholson<sup>1</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Heller School for Social Policy and Management, Brandeis University, Waltham, MA, United States

<sup>2</sup>College of Public Health, Temple University, Philadelphia, PA, United States

<sup>3</sup>Maternal Mental Health Research Collaborative, Calgary, AB, Canada

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Shayna Mazel, MPP, MA Heller School for Social Policy and Management Brandeis University 415 South Street Mailstop 035 Waltham, MA, 02454-9110 United States Phone: 1 (781) 736 3820 Email: mazel@brandeis.edu

# Abstract

**Background:** Co-occurring substance use disorder is common among pregnant and parenting women with mental illness, but their engagement with and utilization of relevant services and treatment is low. Social media has the potential to convey benefits and facilitate engagement among this target group.

**Objective:** This study aimed to explore the reach and engagement of specific social media posts among pregnant women and mothers with substance use disorders.

**Methods:** Eighteen posts providing content related to substance use (cannabis, opioids, or alcohol), varying in type of content (informational or experiential) and target (policy-, practice-, or perception-related), were posted in a closed Facebook community page comprising over 33,000 pregnant women and mothers between May 2019 and October 2019.

**Results:** The overall level of reach of these Facebook posts ranged from 453 to 3045 community members. Engagement levels, measured via the number of likes, comments, or posts shared, varied based on the type of post content (ie, informational or experiential).

**Conclusions:** Participation in a virtual community via social media platforms can facilitate engagement among pregnant women and mothers with mental illness by communicating relevant information about substance use, as well as potentially promoting awareness of, access to, and engagement with treatment services.

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e24353) doi:10.2196/24353

#### **KEYWORDS**

virtual engagement; virtual community participation; social media; mental health; opioids; substance use

# Introduction

During the perinatal period, women are vulnerable to a variety of life stressors and are at a higher risk of experiencing depressive symptoms [1,2]. Many find themselves at an increased risk for using substances [3-5]. Yet, women's needs for mental health services are often unmet [6], and those who are vulnerable and at high risk often disengage from mental health services and substance use treatment [7,8]. Several factors

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e24353/

RenderX

contribute to such high levels of disengagement from services and treatment among high-risk women, including stigma, fear of losing the child's custody, or fear of legal consequences of substance use [3,9-14]. The postpartum period itself presents additional stressors such as childcare responsibilities, work-life balance, and physical and emotional recovery, which may interfere with the utilization of mental health and/or substance use services [15,16].

Social media communities have become a central platform for individuals seeking emotional support, especially during the COVID-19 pandemic [17,18]. Social media communities are web-based platforms wherein members with common experiences and interests share real - time information and offer support [19-22]. Social media offers anonymity, reduces perceptions of stigma, and helps eliminate geographic barriers [20,23]. Therefore, by providing relevant information and support, social media has the potential to overcome barriers to facilitate engagement among women during pregnancy and in the postpartum period [24,25].

Recent surveys indicate that individuals experiencing bipolar disorder, major depressive disorder, anxiety, or schizophrenia spectrum disorder are inclined to using Facebook [26]. However, little is known about the willingness of social media users and online community members to engage interactively in substance use–related topics on social media platforms. Furthermore, limited information is available about the potential of those online communities for engaging pregnant and parenting women with mental illness who are at risk for using substances. The purpose of this exploratory study is to fill a gap in the literature by investigating, for the first time, the extent to which social media posts can be used to increase outreach to high-risk, vulnerable women. We also investigated how social media posts can increase awareness and sense of support among women and facilitate engagement in managing their mental health. Specifically, this study focuses on the level of *reach* of social media posts, impact of the post content, and relevance of the target of content to the *engagement* within an online community.

# Methods

#### **Study Design**

This exploratory, descriptive study assessed responses to Facebook posts pertaining to substance use (N=18) on the Maternal Mental Health Research Collaborative (MMHRC) Facebook page [27] between May and October 2019. Data were obtained from the MMHRC Facebook page by using Facebook Insights data in response to the purposefully selected sample of posts regarding substance, type, and target of content. Examples of published posts can be seen in Figures 1 and 2. This study was deemed exempt by the Brandies University Institutional Review Board.

Figure 1. An example of a cannabis-related Facebook post on the Maternal Mental Health Research Collaborative Facebook page.

Post Details			×
	Performance	for Your Post	
Maternal Mental Health Research Collaborative - MMHRC *** Published by Hootsuite 191 - Poster based in Canada - June 11, 2019 · 🕲	3,412 People Re	ached	
"While the new paper did not assess the reasons behind substance use trends, the uptick in cannabis use likely has to do with relaxed marijuana	104 Reactions, Co	omments & Shares 👔	
laws across the country." http://ow.ly/BSNn30ohl3r	44 O Like	37 On Post	7 On Shares
	S Love	8 On Post	0 On Shares
	1 Wow	1 On Post	0 On Shares
	8 😡 Sad	7 On Post	1 On Shares
	2 O Angry	2 On Post	0 On Shares
TIME.COM More Women Are Using Marijuana During Pregnancy, Report	29 Comments	23 On Post	6 On Shares
Says	12 Shares	12 On Post	0 On Shares
Get More Likes, Comments and Shares	441 Post Clicks		
Vinen you boost this post, you'll show it to more people.	0 Photo Views	103 Link Clicks (2)	338 Other Clicks (7)
3,412 545 Boost Post People Reached Engagements	NEGATIVE FEEDBAC	ж	
A Commante 12 Channel	0 Hide Post	0 Hide /	All Posts
and 33 outlets 8 Comments 12 Shares	0 Report as Spam	0 Unlike	Page
🖒 Like 💭 Comment 🏟 Share 🚥 🕶	Insights activity is reported in the time a	ported in the Pacific tir zone of your ad accou	ne zone. Ads activity is nt.

Figure 2. An example of an alcohol-related Facebook post on the Maternal Mental Health Research Collaborative Facebook page.

#### Post Details



#### Setting

MMHRC is a peer-led, patient-centered online community dedicated to linking pregnant and parenting women with mental health conditions with information and support, providers, and researchers [28]. Currently funded by the Patient Centered Outcomes Research Institute (PCORI), the MMHRC was created in 2016 to provide opportunities for mothers, researchers, providers, and other stakeholders to cocreate research; amplify the voices of women who have experienced a perinatal mood or anxiety disorder; and foster strength, advice, and support within a community of others with shared experiences. MMHRC is an active group in many social media networks, including Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, and Pinterest, and it utilizes social media best practices to expand its reach.

The MMHRC Facebook page has an international base of followers or Facebook users who choose to receive updates from the MMHRC Facebook page. Ninety percent of MMHRC's followers are from the United States and Canada, with additional followers living in Australia, the United Kingdom, South Africa, India, Philippines, New Zealand, Ireland, and Mexico. During the time of the study (May 2019 to October 2019), the MMHRC Facebook page following rose to 32,410 followers, and it currently exceeds 33,000 followers. The vast majority are

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e24353/
```

RenderX

women (99%). Of those identifying as women, 92% were of childbearing age (18-44 years old) at the time they joined the community. Followers of the MMHRC Facebook page do not need to self-identify as having a mental illness in order to view page content. We posit that these followers are users who are interested in or may have a lived experience of mental illness. Because extensive research in the literature underscores the high prevalence of co-occurring mental health and substance use disorders, we conjecture that many women with mental illness may have experience with substance use issues as well [29-32].

#### **Study Sample: Facebook Posts**

In this study, the analytic sample comprised 18 Facebook posts selected by the researchers to allow exploration of the relationship between the post's characteristics and potential reach and engagement. A Facebook post was defined as content that is inserted and appears on a Facebook newsfeed. For the MMHRC Facebook page, posting is managed by the page administrator—the MMHRC Program Director. Most posts are accompanied by a caption, also inserted by the page administrator, as an introduction to or an explanation of the content posted (eg, a web link to an article, photo, or graphic). Content on the MMHRC Facebook page is posted approximately four times a day—at 7:00 am, 9:00 am, 12:00 pm, and 2:00 pm

Mountain Time (MT). The study content was posted on the MMHRC Facebook page on randomly selected days and times during the study months. The purposefully selected sample of substance use-related posts were considered independent variables in this study. These posts included content selected by members of the research team from the scientific literature, gray literature, and popular press, during the study months. To help generate interest in the content among Facebook users, all content was purposely designed to be relatively current, with most posts from content that was recently published. Each post was categorized in three ways: (1) by specific substance (opioids, cannabis, or alcohol), (2) the type of information delivered (informational or experiential), and (3) the target of the post (policy-, practice-, or perception-related). Informational posts included content that educates and informs. Examples of informational posts included a research article providing statistics about opioid use among pregnant women or information pertaining to a recently opened recreational cannabis facility. Experiential posts included content that was designed to conjure sensory and behavioral reactions or material that may be relatable to followers' experiences with substances [33]. Examples of experiential posts included a woman's blog post about her experience in recovery from using opioids or a link to popular media article about a celebrity's story of alcohol use while they were pregnant. Policy-related posts reflected aspects of local, state, or federal policy pertaining to substance use. Practice-related posts referred to an individual's actual use of opioids, cannabis, or alcohol (ie, a person's behavior or habits). Perception-related posts referred to individual, organizational, or societal beliefs, awareness, or judgement about opioid, cannabis, or alcohol use, treatment, and recovery. Members of the research team identified and discussed each post and achieved consensus regarding the categorization of post characteristics. It is important to note that the titles of posts do not fully reflect their content; content was reviewed as part of the categorization process (Table 1).

Table 1. Characteristics of Facebook posts classified by substance.

Substance type and post title		Date posted (2019)	Туре	Target	
Oj	pioids				
	Insurance and pregnancy are barriers to opioid treatment	June 1	Informational	Policy	
	Opioids increasingly tied to deaths of pregnant women	May 14	Informational	Practice	
	Embracing the needs of pregnant women and infants in our nation's battle against the opioid crisis	May 24	Informational	Perceptions	
	Most physician health plans don't allow medical professionals access to the same treatment as patients	September 30	Experiential	Policy	
	The dangerous stigma against pregnant women addicted to opioids	July 10	Experiential	Practice	
	How the opioid epidemic affects women differently	June 13	Experiential	Perceptions	
Ca	nnabis				
	Is cannabis safe during pregnancy? More expecting mothers are wondering	August 7	Informational	Policy	
	Pregnant women in the US are giving up major vices-except one	May 15	Informational	Practice	
	Marijuana use doubles in U.S. pregnant women, especially during first trimester	August 9	Informational	Perceptions	
	More women are using marijuana during pregnancy, report says	June 11	Experiential	Policy	
	Why some mothers keep using cannabis during pregnancy and breastfeeding	June 19	Experiential	Practice	
	Good Chemistry, Worcester's first marijuana dispensary, is open for recreational sales	May 5	Experiential	Perceptions	
Al	Alcohol				
	Conversational approach most successful way of encouraging drinking habit disclo- sure	October 1	Informational	Policy	
	Study tracks drinking habits of new parents	June 4	Informational	Practice	
	Mixed messages about safe consumption during pregnancy	September 30	Informational	Perceptions	
	Drinking during pregnancy: is a little alcohol ever okay?	June 6	Experiential	Policy	
	Jenna Drennen: fighting back against 'mommy wine culture'	June 29	Experiential	Practice	
	Does pregnant Gretchen Rossi drink a little wine?	June 7	Experiential	Perceptions	
#### Measures

#### **Organic Reach**

Organic reach was defined as the number of unique Facebook users who viewed an MMHRC post as indicated by Facebook Analytics. Users can view a post that is pushed to their newsfeed or find Facebook content via word of mouth, online or offline referrals, and from targeted web searches of the Facebook page. Organic reach metrics were used in this study rather than total reach metrics that include paid reach, to reflect the number of unique users reached by each piece of content. Although organic and paid reach data together indicate the number of Facebook users who saw or engaged with a post and both metrics are a result of Facebook-created search algorithms, organic reach considered is a better indicator of the number of users who may have specifically sought out MMHRC-related content. In contrast, paid reach includes the number of Facebook users who may have seen MMHRC content because it was provided to them by paid Facebook advertising. Facebook does not publish information regarding how they operationalize their algorithms.

#### Engagement

Engagement was measured in terms of actions taken by the Facebook user in response to viewing content—an original post, a shared post, or another user's comment regarding a post. Engagement data, also obtained via Facebook Analytics, included the following:

- The number of *clicks* was defined as the total number of times people click on a post content.
- The number of *likes* was defined as the total number of times people like either an original post content or a comment by another user.
- The number of *comments* was defined as the total number of times users respond to posts by entering text into a post's comment box, including emojis, tags, or hashtags (eg, @JohnDoe or #PMAD).
- The number of *shares* was defined as the total number of times users share content on their personal timeline; a Facebook friend's timeline; in a Facebook group; in an event page; in a page managed by the user; or in a private message to a friend, group, or page.

Facebook provides a dashboard of quantitative information regarding user views or the number of users reached by each Facebook post, as well as the number of times content was reshared by users. User views are only viewable by the administrators of the Facebook account, whereas the volume of engagement for each post (ie, clicks, likes, comments, and shares) are public.

Facebook discloses the number of *likes* garnered from each post, as well as emoji-based *reactions*. These reactions include the number of positive reactions as well as negative reactions to the post (eg, sad or angry emojis) to the posts. These data provide insight into the level of engagement elicited by each Facebook post.

#### **Procedures and Analyses**

Members of the research team extracted data using Facebook Analytics, compiling responses to post information into a standard spreadsheet format. Responses to Facebook content were deidentified as data were extracted, to ensure anonymity of Facebook users who view the MMHRC Facebook page was maintained. Data were extracted at least one month after substance use content was posted, as Facebook uses that timeframe when sharing information about reach. Descriptive counts were compiled and tabulated according to substance (cannabis, opioids, or alcohol), content type (informational or experiential), and target (policy-, practice-, or perception-related) to facilitate review by the research team over the course of the study and to report findings.

# Results

# Reach and Engagement Classified by Substance Featured in Post Content

Posts related to cannabis generated the largest reach on Facebook, followed by alcohol- and opioid-related content (Table 2). User reactions to content had a similar ranking; cannabis-related content generated the most reactions, followed by opioid- and alcohol-related content. The level of engagement paralleled the level of reach. Cannabis-related content generated the highest levels of engagement, followed by alcohol- and opioid-related content.



 Table 2. Levels of reach and engagement per Facebook post classified by substance.

Substance type and post title	Organic reach, n	Clicks, n	Likes, n	Comments, n	Shares, n
Opioids		·		·	,
Insurance and pregnancy are barriers to opioid treatment	530	3	4	0	2
Opioids increasingly tied to deaths of pregnant women	688	17	8	0	3
Embracing the needs of pregnant women and infants in our nation's battle against the opioid crisis	491	10	3	0	1
Most physician health plans don't allow medical professionals access to the same treatment as patients	461	4	0	0	0
The dangerous stigma against pregnant women addicted to opioids	1117	24	8	1	2
How the opioid epidemic affects women differently	833	18	3	2	3
Cannabis					
Is cannabis safe during pregnancy? More expecting mothers are wondering	1242	125	12	3	3
Pregnant women in the US are giving up major vices—except one	1076	56	5	1	1
Marijuana use doubles in U.S. pregnant women, especially during first trimester	1990	59	17	0	10
More women are using marijuana during pregnancy, report says	3045	441	44	29	12
Why some mothers keep using cannabis during pregnancy and breastfeeding	1256	67	9	1	5
Good Chemistry, Worcester's first marijuana dispensary, is open for recreational sales	654	8	5	0	2
Alcohol					
Conversational approach most successful way of encouraging drinking habit disclosure	453	13	0	0	0
Study tracks drinking habits of new parents	2291	249	17	11	12
Mixed messages about safe consumption during pregnancy	1086	204	9	0	3
Drinking during pregnancy: is a little alcohol ever okay?	754	30	6	0	1
Jenna Drennen: fighting back against 'mommy wine culture'	1642	46	36	6	10
Does pregnant Gretchen Rossi drink a little wine?	534	22	2	0	0

# Reach and Engagement Classified by Type of Post Content

Experiential posts reached more Facebook users than informational posts for cannabis- and opioid-related content, whereas informational posts reached more Facebook users than experiential posts for alcohol-related content (see Tables 1 and 2). A similar trend was observed for the number of likes, comments, and shares; there were more likes, comments, and shares for experiential posts than informational posts for cannabis- and opioid-related content, whereas there were more likes, comments, and shares for informational posts than experiential posts for alcohol-related content.

For cannabis-related content, experiential posts reached and engaged more Facebook users than informational content. For opioid-related content, experiential posts reached more Facebook users and had slightly higher levels of engagement than informational posts. For alcohol-related content, informational

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e24353/

RenderX

posts both reached and engaged more Facebook users than did experiential posts.

# Reach and Engagement Classified by Target of Post Content

For cannabis-related content, policy-targeted posts reached and engaged almost double the number of Facebook users than perception- and practice-targeted posts. Although the levels of reach were similar for practice- and perception-targeted posts, practice-targeted posts had almost double the number of clicks yet half the number of shares and similar numbers of likes as compared to perception-targeted posts. For opioid-related content, practice-targeted posts reached the most Facebook users (n=1805), followed by perception-targeted posts (n=1324) and policy-targeted posts (n=991). Practice-targeted posts had almost double the number of clicks as perception-targeted posts and more than five times the number of clicks as policy-targeted posts. Practice-targeted posts also had more likes, comments, and shares than perception- and policy-targeted posts. For alcohol-related content, practice-targeted posts reached the most

Mazel et al

Facebook users (n=3933), followed by policy-targeted posts (n=1840) and perception-targeted posts (n=987). Although policy-targeted posts had less than half the level of reach compared to practice-targeted posts, both post types had similar numbers of clicks (n=234 and n=295, respectively). Perception-targeted posts had a much lower number of clicks (n=35). Practice-targeted posts also had more likes and shares than policy- and perceptions-targeted posts.

# Discussion

# **Principal Findings**

The purpose of this study was to explore, for the first time, the level of engagement with social media posts in an online community for mothers with mental health and substance use disorders. The study supports the potential benefit of social media in reaching mothers and conveying information about substance use, potentially serving as an avenue to treatment access and engagement. Our findings highlight the potential benefits of using social media to provide preventive messaging about substance use during or after pregnancy and opportunities to provide information to women about what is safe and unsafe and how to anonymously ask these questions.

Social media posts through the MMHRC Facebook page reached approximately 3000 members of the online community. Although previous studies have not explored whether different substances or content characteristics elicit different levels of reach and engagement, our results suggest that social media users who viewed the posts may have been more interested in engaging with content related to cannabis use than alcohol or opioid use at the time of the study. It is possible that cannabis elicited more reach and engagement among these women because cannabis use has increased among women and pregnant women in recent years [34] and because, at the time of the study, additional states decriminalized cannabis, possibly resulting in additional media coverage and awareness. With a focus on cannabis-related content, policy-targeted posts garnered more reach and engagement than practice- and perception-targeted posts. For opioid- and alcohol-related content, however, posts that were targeted toward practice generally garnered more reach, clicks, likes, comments, and shares than those targeted toward policy or perceptions. Cannabis- and opioid-related experiential posts also generated more reach and engagement than informational posts, as compared to alcohol-related content (which generated more reach and engagement from informational posts). These results have implications for which types of content may be best shared in a social media setting. Perhaps it would behoove individuals looking to share substance use content to tailor posting language in accordance with these findings, acknowledging that women may be more likely to engage with content that pertains to more widely used substances (eg, cannabis). At the same time, these findings suggest that women are interested in information pertaining to alcohol use and perhaps would further engage with informational social media posts.

#### Limitations

There are a few notable limitations to this exploratory study. First, this study refers to substance use or misuse as a continuum

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e24353/
```

of substance use problems. We have not made a distinction between substance use or misuse and substance use disorders, such as meeting the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders criteria (which is less common than use or misuse), although using or misusing substances during pregnancy requires different strategies (ie, preventative messaging) as opposed to substance use disorders (which implies chaotic or uncontrolled use despite consequences). This study also presents the results of online engagement with one social media-based community; therefore, the findings may not be generalizable to other online communities and to the general population of Facebook users. As the MMHRC's mission is to connect mothers with researchers and other stakeholders in the cocreation of research, it is possible that MMHRC followers are more willing to be engaged in content than similar online communities and social media-based peer support networks. At the same time, MMHRC followers do not need to self-identify with a mental illness or have experience with substance use or substance use disorder in order to view or engage with the Facebook community posts. Hence, viewing or engaging with the posts does not necessarily suggest that a person is actively engaged in substance use, meets the criteria for a substance use disorder, or is interested in treatment or other health services.

Second, only one piece of content was posted for each intersection of substance type, type of post, and target of post. Since only 18 pieces of content were posted in total, the generalizability of findings is further limited, as one piece of substance use content cannot fully represent all of its intersections. Moreover, although the time of posting was randomized, each piece of content was not posted more than once. Therefore, the day and time of posting could have impacted the levels of reach and engagement for each post.

Third, it is unknown whether the reach and engagement was due to the content itself or the caption used when posting the content piece on the Facebook page. Because the post caption precedes the post content, the caption has the potential to either encourage or dissuade the Facebook user from engaging with the content.

Fourth, organic reach includes Facebook users who may not be followers of the MMHRC page, so it is possible that individuals other than women with mental health conditions who follow the MMHRC Facebook page were reached and that they engaged with the social media content.

Despite these limitations, this exploratory study is a step toward identifying and framing substance use content in a way that is accessible and available to women with mental health conditions and substance use disorders. Future studies could include additional postings to increase generalizability and perhaps repeat posting content on additional days and times to ensure all MMHRC followers can view the content.

#### **Conclusions and Implications**

Policymakers and providers are challenged to develop effective ways to reach women with substance use disorders and engage them in services, treatment, and support that will ultimately benefit them as well as their children. Although some states offer priority treatment for this vulnerable population [35],

barriers to accessing treatment persist. The COVID-19 pandemic has intensified the need for digital and, potentially, social media solutions to mitigate logistical barriers and act as an extender of the system of care to help pregnant women and mothers engage in the substance use treatment system. Although the pandemic makes it difficult for women to access in-person treatment and services due to safety concerns, online peer support, perhaps navigated via social media platforms, could reduce social isolation and result in enhanced treatment access, engagement, and outcomes for women with substance use disorders.

Social media has the potential to be an important avenue for reaching Facebook users and engaging them with substance use content, making them aware of health consequences for both the mother and baby and available treatment options. This is especially useful for engaging individuals with co-occurring mental health conditions, who can be a difficult-to-reach population for the substance use treatment system. Given the additional challenges that the COVID-19 pandemic poses in terms of the limitations of in-person treatment services and the increasing the number of individuals who may be in need of treatment for substance use disorders, these findings suggest that providers and policymakers incorporate social media in their plans to mitigate these barriers. Additional research is needed to determine why certain substances garnered more engagement than others; nevertheless, this study suggests that social media has the potential to be an equal player in the treatment system.

# Acknowledgments

This study was supported by the Brandeis/Harvard NIDA Center to Improve System Performance of Substance Use Disorder Treatment 5 (P30 DA035772). SM is supported by a National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism (NIAAA) predoctoral trainee (grant T32 AA 007567-25). Research reported in this article was partially funded through a Patient-Centered Outcomes Research Institute (PCORI) Eugene Washington PCORI Engagement Award (8285-Brandeis University).

The statements presented in this article are solely the responsibility of the authors and do not necessarily represent the views of PCORI, its Board of Governors, or Methodology Committee.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

# References

- Lancaster CA, Gold KJ, Flynn HA, Yoo H, Marcus SM, Davis MM. Risk factors for depressive symptoms during pregnancy: a systematic review. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2010 Jan;202(1):5-14 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ajog.2009.09.007</u>] [Medline: <u>20096252</u>]
- Sherman LJ, Ali MM. Diagnosis of postpartum depression and timing and types of treatment received differ for women with private and Medicaid coverage. Womens Health Issues 2018;28(6):524-529. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.whi.2018.08.007</u>] [Medline: <u>30314906</u>]
- Jané-Llopis E, Matytsina I. Mental health and alcohol, drugs and tobacco: a review of the comorbidity between mental disorders and the use of alcohol, tobacco and illicit drugs. Drug Alcohol Rev 2006 Nov;25(6):515-536. [doi: 10.1080/09595230600944461] [Medline: 17132571]
- Bishop D, Borkowski L, Couillard M, Allina A, Baruch S, Wood S. Jacobs Institute of Women's Health. 2017 Feb. URL: <u>https://publichealth.gwu.edu/sites/default/files/downloads/JIWH/Pregnant\_Women\_and\_Substance\_Use\_updated.pdf</u> [accessed 2019-12-01]
- 5. Zhu S, Valbø A. Depression and smoking during pregnancy. Addictive Behaviors 2002;27(4):649-658. [doi: 10.1016/s0306-4603(01)00199-x]
- Sanmartin MX, Ali MM, Chen J, Dwyer DS. Mental health treatment and unmet mental health care need among pregnant women with major depressive episode in the United States. Psychiatr Serv 2019 Jun 01;70(6):503-506. [doi: 10.1176/appi.ps.201800433] [Medline: 30966943]
- Smith MV, Shao L, Howell H, Wang H, Poschman K, Yonkers KA. Success of mental health referral among pregnant and postpartum women with psychiatric distress. Gen Hosp Psychiatry 2009;31(2):155-162 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2008.10.002] [Medline: 19269536]
- Kimmel MC, Platt RE, Steinberg DN, Cluxton-Keller F, Osborne LM, Carter T, et al. Integrating maternal mental health care in the pediatric medical home: treatment engagement and child outcomes. Clin Pediatr (Phila) 2017 Oct;56(12):1148-1156. [doi: 10.1177/0009922816679510] [Medline: 27872354]
- 9. Murphy S, Rosenbaum M. Pregnant Women on Drugs: Combating Stereotypes and Stigma. New Jersey: Rutgers University Press; 1999.
- 10. Poland ML, Dombrowski MP, Ager JW, Sokol RJ. Punishing pregnant drug users: enhancing the flight from care. Drug Alcohol Depend 1993 Feb;31(3):199-203. [doi: 10.1016/0376-8716(93)90001-7]
- 11. Roberts SC, Nuru-Jeter A. Women's perspectives on screening for alcohol and drug use in prenatal care. Womens Health Issues 2010;20(3):193-200 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.whi.2010.02.003] [Medline: 20457407]

- 12. Stone R. Pregnant women and substance use: fear, stigma, and barriers to care. Health Justice 2015 Feb 12;3(1):1-15. [doi: 10.1186/s40352-015-0015-5]
- 13. Substance use during pregnancy. Guttmacher Institute. URL: <u>https://www.guttmacher.org/state-policy/explore/</u> <u>substance-use-during-pregnancy</u> [accessed 2019-06-13]
- 14. Kaplan K, Brusilovskiy E, O'Shea AM, Salzer MS. Child protective service disparities and serious mental illnesses: results from a national survey. Psychiatr Serv 2019 Mar 01;70(3):202-208. [doi: 10.1176/appi.ps.201800277] [Medline: 30821211]
- Yang R, Vigod SN, Hensel JM. Optional web-based videoconferencing added to office-based care for women receiving psychotherapy during the postpartum period: pilot randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2019 May 20;21(6):e13172 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/13172] [Medline: 31199291]
- 16. Lara M, Navarrete L, Nieto L, Berenzon S. Acceptability and barriers to treatment for perinatal depression. An exploratory study in Mexican women (Aceptación y barreras al tratamiento para depresión perinatal. Estudio exploratorio en mexicanas). Salud Ment 2014 Jan 01;37(4):293-301 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.17711/sm.0185-3325.2014.034]
- Samuels R, Taylor JE. Deepening the divide: crises disproportionately silence vulnerable populations on social media. J Manage Eng 2020 Nov;36(6):04020083. [doi: <u>10.1061/(ASCE)ME.1943-5479.0000848</u>]
- Revathy VR, Aram IA, Sharmila VS. Social media as a means to overcome stress and depression among women. J Media Commun Stud 2018 Jul 31;10(6):46-64. [doi: 10.5897/JMCS2018.0605]
- Anderson LS, Bell HG, Gilbert M, Davidson JE, Winter C, Barratt MJ, et al. Using social listening data to monitor misuse and nonmedical use of bupropion: a content analysis. JMIR Public Health Surveill 2017 Feb 01;3(1):e6 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/publichealth.6174] [Medline: 28148472]
- 20. Kim SJ, Marsch LA, Hancock JT, Das AK. Scaling up research on drug abuse and addiction through social media big data. J Med Internet Res 2017 Oct 31;19(10):e353 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6426] [Medline: 29089287]
- Gruzd A, Haythornthwaite C. Enabling community through social media. J Med Internet Res 2013 Oct 31;15(10):e248 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2796] [Medline: 24176835]
- 22. Gruzd A, Haythornthwaite C. Enabling community through social media. J Med Internet Res 2013 Oct 31;15(10):e248 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2796] [Medline: 24176835]
- Davey Z, Schifano F, Corazza O, Deluca P, Psychonaut Web Mapping Group. e-Psychonauts: conducting research in online drug forum communities. J Ment Health 2012 Aug;21(4):386-394. [doi: <u>10.3109/09638237.2012.682265</u>] [Medline: <u>22823094</u>]
- 24. Sendall MC, McCosker LK, Crane P, Rowland B, Fleming M, Biggs HC. Using Facebook for health promotion in "hard-to-reach" truck drivers: qualitative analysis. J Med Internet Res 2018 Nov 01;20(11):e286 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9689] [Medline: 30389653]
- Martinez O, Wu E, Shultz AZ, Capote J, López Rios J, Sandfort T, et al. Still a hard-to-reach population? using social media to recruit Latino gay couples for an HIV intervention adaptation study. J Med Internet Res 2014 Apr 24;16(4):e113 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3311] [Medline: 24763130]
- 26. Brunette M, Achtyes E, Pratt S, Stilwell K, Opperman M, Guarino S, et al. Use of smartphones, computers and social media among people with SMI: opportunity for intervention. Community Ment Health J 2019 Aug;55(6):973-978 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10597-019-00431-7] [Medline: 31175518]
- 27. Maternal Mental Health Research Collaborative MMHRC Facebook page. URL: <u>https://www.facebook.com/research4moms</u> [accessed 2019-10-31]
- Mazel S, Hennig S, Zisman Ilani Y, Nicholson J. Mothers, mental health and opioids: engaging with researchers @research4moms.com. Journal of Parent and Family Mental Health 2019 May 09;4(1):e1012. [doi: 10.7191/parentandfamily.1012]
- 29. Le Strat Y, Dubertret C, Le Foll B. Prevalence and correlates of major depressive episode in pregnant and postpartum women in the United States. J Affect Disord 2011 Dec;135(1-3):128-138. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jad.2011.07.004</u>] [Medline: <u>21802737</u>]
- Tong V, Farr S, Bombard J, D Angelo D, Ko J, England L. Smoking before and during pregnancy among women reporting depression or anxiety. Obstet Gynecol 2016 Sep;128(3):562-570 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/AOG.00000000001595] [Medline: 27500342]
- 31. Han B, Compton WM, Blanco C, Colpe LJ. Prevalence, treatment, and unmet treatment needs of us adults with mental health and substance use disorders. Health Aff (Millwood) 2017 Oct 01;36(10):1739-1747. [doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.2017.0584] [Medline: 28971918]
- Zhou J, Ko JY, Haight SC, Tong VT. Treatment of substance use disorders among women of reproductive age by depression and anxiety disorder status, 2008-2014. J Womens Health (Larchmt) 2019 Aug;28(8):1068-1076. [doi: 10.1089/jwh.2018.7597] [Medline: 31298606]
- 33. Tafesse W, Wien A. A framework for categorizing social media posts. Cogent Business & Management 2017 Mar 09;4(1):1284390. [doi: 10.1080/23311975.2017.1284390]
- 34. McCance-Katz EF. The National Survey on Drug Use and Health: 2017. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. URL: <u>https://www.samhsa.gov/data/sites/default/files/nsduh-ppt-09-2018.pdf</u> [accessed 2019-12-01]

35. Normile B, Hanlon C, Eichner H. State options for promoting recovery among pregnant and parenting women with opioid or substance use disorder. National Academy for State Health Policy. 2018 Oct. URL: <u>https://nashp.org/wp-content/uploads/</u>2018/10/NOSLO-Opioids-and-Women-Final.pdf [accessed 2019-12-01]

# Abbreviations

**MMHRC:** Maternal Mental Health Research Collaborative **NIAAA:** National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism **PCORI:** Patient-Centered Outcomes Research Institute

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 15.09.20; peer-reviewed by S Lord, M Lowenstein; comments to author 12.12.20; revised version received 19.04.21; accepted 19.05.21; published 24.06.21.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Mazel S, Zisman-Ilani Y, Hennig S, Garnick D, Nicholson J Virtual Engagement in a Social Media Community of Mothers With Substance Use Disorders: Content Analysis JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e24353 URL: <u>https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e24353/</u> doi:10.2196/24353 PMID:<u>34184993</u>

©Shayna Mazel, Yaara Zisman-Ilani, Shannon Hennig, Deborah Garnick, Joanne Nicholson. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 24.06.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



# Effects of Mobile App–Based Intervention for Depression in Middle-Aged and Older Adults: Mixed Methods Feasibility Study

Christine E Gould<sup>1,2</sup>, PhD; Chalise Carlson<sup>1</sup>, MA; Flora Ma<sup>1,3</sup>, PhD; Valerie Forman-Hoffman<sup>4</sup>, MPH, PhD; Kristian Ranta<sup>4</sup>, MSc; Eric Kuhn<sup>2,5</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Geriatric Research, Education, and Clinical Center, VA Palo Alto Health Care System, Palo Alto, CA, United States

<sup>2</sup>Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences, Stanford University, Palo Alto, CA, United States

<sup>3</sup>Pacific Graduate School of Psychology, Palo Alto University, Palo Alto, CA, United States

<sup>4</sup>Meru Health, Inc, San Mateo, CA, United States

<sup>5</sup>National Center for Posttraumatic Stress Disorder, VA Palo Alto Health Care System, Menlo Park, CA, United States

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Christine E Gould, PhD Geriatric Research, Education, and Clinical Center VA Palo Alto Health Care System 3801 Miranda Ave Palo Alto, CA, 94304 United States Phone: 1 6504935000 ext 68899 Email: <u>cegould@stanford.edu</u>

# Abstract

**Background:** Digital mental health interventions may help middle-aged and older adults with depression overcome barriers to accessing traditional care, but few studies have investigated their use in this population.

**Objective:** This pilot study examines the feasibility, acceptability, and potential efficacy of the Meru Health Program, an 8-week mobile app–delivered intervention.

**Methods:** A total of 20 community-dwelling middle-aged and older adults (age: mean 61.7 years, SD 11.3) with elevated depressive symptoms participated in a single-arm pilot study investigating the Meru Health Program, an app-delivered intervention supported by remote therapists. The program primarily uses mindfulness and cognitive behavioral skills to target depressive symptoms. A semistructured interview was completed at the baseline to establish current psychiatric diagnoses. Depressive symptoms were measured using the Patient Health Questionnaire and Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System (PROMIS) depression measures. Anxiety symptoms were measured using the Generalized Anxiety Disorder Scale and the PROMIS Anxiety measure. User experience and acceptability were examined through surveys and qualitative interviews.

**Results:** In total, 90% (18/20) of the participants completed the program, with 75% (15/20) completing at least 7 of the 8 introductory weekly lessons. On average, participants completed 60 minutes of practice and exchanged 5 messages with their therapists every week. The app was rated as helpful by 89% (17/19) participants. Significant decreases in depressive (P=.03) and anxiety symptom measures (P=.01) were found; 45% (9/20) of participants showed clinically significant improvement in either depressive symptoms or anxiety symptoms.

**Conclusions:** The findings suggest that the commercially available Meru Health Program may be feasible, acceptable, and potentially beneficial to middle-aged and older adults. Although larger controlled trials are needed to demonstrate efficacy, these findings suggest that digital health interventions may benefit adults of all ages.

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e25808) doi:10.2196/25808

# **KEYWORDS**

RenderX

aging; depression; digital health; digital therapeutics; mHealth; mobile phone

# Introduction

#### Background

Major depressive disorder (MDD) is among the foremost causes of disability worldwide among older adults [1-3]. In adults aged 55 years and older in the United States, 5.6% experienced MDD within a 1-year period [4]. Two nonpharmacological interventions, cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT) and mindfulness-based interventions have been efficacious in reducing late-life depressive symptoms [5-7]. However, high rates of depression persist because of undertreatment [8,9].

Older adults face multiple barriers in accessing mental health interventions, including limited transportation and mobility, living distally from treatment settings, and high health care costs, which could be addressed with digital health interventions [10,11]. As smartphone use grows, interest in using mobile apps to deliver therapeutic interventions has proliferated [12]. A meta-analysis [13] of randomized controlled trials of mobile apps for depression in adults found a moderate effect size than in inactive controls and a small effect size than in active controls. The applicability of these findings to older adults is unknown because the majority (65%) of randomized controlled trials in the meta-analysis included younger participants (age: mean  $\leq$  30 years). Trends in smartphone ownership suggest that older adults, particularly baby boomers, are rapidly adopting mobile devices [14], yet many older adults have not yet used mental health-related mobile apps, despite reported interest and openness to these interventions [15,16].

Few studies have examined mental health-related mobile apps among older users. One group tested an adapted app-based intervention to promote the self-management of chronic conditions alongside peer coaching among middle-aged and older adults with serious mental illness and found it to be feasible, acceptable, and potentially helpful in improving outcomes among the 8 study completers [17]. Another small study examining an app targeting mental wellness in a group-based treatment setting yielded positive feedback about the app from older users, but the findings were limited by substantial attrition [18]. These small studies suggest the acceptability of mental health apps among older users when used alongside in-person support (ie, peer coaches and group-based support). Given the barriers to care faced by older adults, there is a need to examine app-based interventions that do not include extensive in-person support.

# Objectives

This study investigates the use of an 8-week mobile app–based intervention with remote therapist support called the Meru Health Program (version 2.0), a commercially available digital health program. The Meru app contains video instructional content and guided practices delivered to a group of 5 to 10 individuals who work through the program as a cohort. Videos and practices teach CBT and mindfulness techniques to manage depressive and related symptoms, such as worry. Patients have access to a dedicated therapist via asynchronous within-app messaging or, if needed, a phone call. The therapist provides guidance by (1) responding to patients' messages, (2) sending unprompted messages to patients and encouraging program

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e25808

adherence, and (3) reviewing responses to practice exercises. The app also includes a moderated discussion where group members can share thoughts and experiences with practices and support other patients by providing limited feedback on their posts.

An uncontrolled study of the Meru Health Program in young adults demonstrated feasibility and reduced depressive symptoms [19]. Similarly, a second uncontrolled study found that 60% exhibited clinically significant improvement in depressive symptoms at the 12-month follow-up [20]. This study extends to an understudied age group of middle-aged and older adults. It examined the feasibility, acceptability, and preliminary efficacy of the Meru Health Program among middle-aged and older adults using a mixed methods approach.

# Methods

#### **Participants**

Participants were recruited through various announcements describing a mobile app intervention for depression using (1) flyers posted at medical offices and on community boards (eg, at libraries and coffee shops), (2) web-based advertisements (Craigslist and Facebook), (3) word of mouth, and (4) invitations to previous research participants interested in future research opportunities.

The inclusion and exclusion criteria were assessed during the telephone screening. Inclusion criteria were age  $\geq$ 40 years, elevated depressive symptoms, owning a smartphone, and residing in California because of telehealth laws regarding practicing across state lines. Exclusion criteria included cognitive impairment, suicidal ideation, current participation in psychotherapy, problematic drinking, and psychotic symptoms. Participants taking psychotropic medications must have been on a stable dose (>1 month) to be included.

#### Measures

#### Demographic and Health Questionnaire

Demographic information and health status, presence of eight major health conditions (arthritis, asthma or bronchitis, cancer, diabetes, epilepsy, heart disease, hypertension, and stroke), and vision and hearing impairment were gathered at baseline via questionnaires.

#### The Mobile Device Proficiency Questionnaire

The Mobile Device Proficiency Questionnaire (MDPQ) [21] examines experience with and aptitude for using mobile devices across eight domains: mobile device basics, communication, data and file storage, internet, calendar, entertainment, privacy, troubleshooting, and software management. Each of the 46 items is rated using a 5-point scale with an option for "never tried" (1) and then ratings for ease of completion from "not at all" (2) to "very easily" (5). The total score ranges from 8 to 40, with higher scores reflecting greater proficiency. Internal consistency was excellent (Cronbach  $\alpha$ =.96). The MDPQ was completed at the baseline.

#### Patient Health Questionnaire 9-Item

The Patient Health Questionnaire 9-item (PHQ-9) [22] measures the frequency of depression symptoms over the last 2 weeks. Total scores range from 0 to 27, with higher scores reflecting increased depressive symptom severity. Internal consistency varied across timepoints (baseline  $\alpha$ =.60; week 5  $\alpha$ =.82; posttreatment  $\alpha$ =.77). The PHQ-9 was completed at the telephone screen, baseline, week 5, and week 8 (posttreatment). Within the app, the PHQ-9 was completed during weeks 1, 3, 5, 7, and 8.

#### Generalized Anxiety Disorder 7-Item Scale

The Generalized Anxiety Disorder 7-item (GAD-7) scale [23] measures anxiety symptoms characterizing Generalized Anxiety Disorder. Total scores range from 0 to 21, with higher scores reflecting increased anxiety symptom severity. Internal consistency was acceptable to good across timepoints (baseline  $\alpha$ =.77; week 5  $\alpha$ =.83; posttreatment  $\alpha$ =.86). The GAD-7 was completed at baseline, week 5, and posttreatment. Within the app, the GAD-7 was completed during weeks 1, 5, and 8.

# Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System Depression and Anxiety Measures

The Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System (PROMIS) Depression (short form 8a) and Anxiety (short form 8) scales were used as secondary measures [24]. Total scores ranged from 8 to 40 on the PROMIS Depression and from 7 to 35 on the PROMIS Anxiety, with higher scores reflecting increased symptom severity. The PROMIS Depression and Anxiety scores had good-to-excellent internal consistency at baseline ( $\alpha$ =.90 and .89, respectively) and posttreatment ( $\alpha$ =.97 and .95, respectively). The PROMIS measures were completed at baseline and at weeks 5 and 8.

# Mini International Neuropsychiatric Interview

The Mini International Neuropsychiatric Interview (MINI 7.0.2) [25] is a semistructured interview that assesses psychiatric disorders using the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders 5th Edition [26] criteria. The MINI psychotic screen was administered during the telephone screen; the remainder was administered at baseline to assess current major depression and other comorbid psychiatric disorders. For diagnostic accuracy and supervision purposes, the principal investigator conducted live or audio-recorded observations for half of the interviews conducted by the research staff.

# App Use

The app use data collected included the number of messages sent, duration of use, lessons completed, and the number and types of practices completed.

#### User Experience Survey

At posttreatment, participants completed a 6-item self-report measure about their experiences and impressions of the program (Multimedia Appendix 1). Participants ranked the four components of the app (information, practices, therapist chat, and group support) from most to least helpful. Participants then responded to five statements about the ease of use of the app, helpfulness of the app, helpfulness of the emails, frequency of the emails, and duration of the program using a 5-point Likert-type scale ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree).

#### Qualitative Interview

After treatment, participants completed a semistructured qualitative interview about the program (Multimedia Appendix 1). They were asked about helpful and unhelpful aspects of the program, technical or navigational issues, program benefits, and suggested improvements. The interviews were audio-recorded, transcribed, and reviewed for transcription accuracy.

#### Procedures

#### Initial Screening and Baseline Assessment

The study was approved by the Stanford University School of Medicine Institutional Review Board and registered at ClinicalTrials.gov (NCT03652948). The study was conducted between July 2018 and May 2019.

Potential participants completed a telephone screen to assess the inclusion and exclusion criteria. The PHQ-9 [22] determined the presence of elevated depressive symptoms ( $\geq$ 10) [27]. If PHQ-9 item 9 (death or suicide ideation) was endorsed as *several days* or more, then the P4 Suicide Risk Screener [28] was administered to assess active suicidal ideation and, if present, individuals were excluded and referred for treatment. Questions about current mental health treatment assessed for current psychotherapy and use of medications. The Short Blessed Test [29] identified possible cognitive impairments ( $\geq$ 6). The Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT-C) [30] was used to identify problematic drinking ( $\geq$ 5). Finally, possible psychotic disorders were identified using a psychotic screen from the MINI [25].

Eligible participants were invited to an in-person visit, during which the research staff obtained informed consent, followed by administration of the complete MINI and self-report assessments. Participants then received a handout explaining the steps to begin the Meru Health Program. First, study referrals were sent directly to the Meru therapist, who scheduled an introductory call with the participant. Five days before the start of the program, participants received an email with instructions on downloading and logging into the app on their own smartphone.

#### Meru Health Program

Meru Health is a registered health care provider in multiple states in the United States and Finland. Individuals primarily access the Meru Health Program by selecting health and employee plans. The app is available for download via the App Store (iOS) or Play Store (Android), but patients require a referral and eligibility screen to access the app after download. As described earlier, the program consists of an app, therapist support (via app and weekly emails), and group discussion. The app has five menu options: (1) "today screen" with informational videos and practices to be completed, (2) group discussion page, (3) program timeline, (4) notifications, and (5) asynchronous within-app messaging with the therapist (Figure 1). Participants can review previous days' content

through the program timeline screen and are advised of missed content through notifications. The interactive aspects of the program include the group-based discussion feature wherein participants can share their thoughts, and other members can respond with either a heart icon or one of four supportive statements.





Meru Health therapists are licensed practitioners with doctoral or master's degrees in psychology, counseling, social work, marriage and family therapy, or other related fields. Therapists have formal training in mindfulness, CBT, and manual training (>30 hours), which includes an assessment of skill acquisition to deliver the Meru Health Program. Therapists send weekly emails introducing new content (ie, CBT or mindfulness skills) to be learned within the app each week. Therapists monitor practice completion; send messages to encourage adherence; and review participants' messages and group discussion posts for possible suicide or homicidal ideation, active substance use, or the presence of psychotic symptoms. The therapist responded to participants exhibiting these symptoms or those who had evidence of worsening mental health within 12 hours. In addition, posts deemed inappropriate or potentially harmful to other group members (ie, triggering) were removed.

# 5- and 8-Week (Posttreatment) Assessments

Participants were contacted by researchers during week 5 to complete questionnaires assessing depressive and anxiety symptoms. At the posttreatment assessment, participants completed these questionnaires again and provided feedback about the program via a user experience survey and qualitative interview. Participants received payment only for completion of assessments administered by the research team at baseline, week 5, and week 8/posttreatment (total compensation=US \$80; US \$40 for baseline and posttreatment assessment). No other payment was provided.

# **Statistical Analysis**

To assess the feasibility of the program, we summarized participant flow, inspected retention rates, and calculated the mean use of different app components using the app use data. Acceptability was examined by summarizing responses to the user experience survey. The qualitative interview transcripts were excerpted by the first author (CEG) using Dedoose 8.2.14 (SocioCultural Research Consultants) web-based software [31]. A codebook was developed using inductive (ie, review of transcripts) and deductive methods. Excerpts were independently coded by the 2 coders. The codebook was revised and adjudicated three times to reach a prespecified reliability of  $\kappa$ >0.70 (final pooled  $\kappa$ =0.81). Excerpts were discussed among 3 authors (CEG, CC, and FM), and matrices were created to examine variations in patterns or themes by quantitative ratings consistent with a mixed methods approach [32].

Intervention effects on depressive and anxiety symptoms were estimated using linear mixed effects models using SPSS version 24 (IBM) [33]. All participants were included in the analyses, which used intention-to-treat principles. The models included random intercepts and slopes and used residual maximum likelihood estimation owing to the small sample size [34]; 5% of the data points on dependent variables were missing because of dropouts. Improvement in symptoms indicative of response was defined as having equal to or surpassing the minimally clinically important difference of five points or more [35] on the PHQ-9 or 4 points or more [36] on the GAD-7.

# **Data Availability**

A limited data set that supports the findings of this study is available from the corresponding author upon reasonable request.

# Results

# **Participant Characteristics**

Participants (N=20) had a mean age of 61.65 years (SD 11.32; range 42-81 years), and most were women (14/20, 70%) and White and non-Hispanic (12/20, 60%; Table 1). In total, 60%



(12/20) participants were aged 60 years or older; 70% (14/20) met the criteria for the current MDD.

 Table 1. Participant characteristics (N=20).

Gould et al

Participant characteristics	Values
Age (years), mean (SD)	61.65 (11.32)
Education (years), mean (SD)	16.60 (2.46)
Sex, n (%)	
Female	14 (70)
Male	6 (30)
Race and ethnicity, n (%)	
White, non-Hispanic	12 (60)
Any race, Hispanic	2 (10)
Asian	3 (15)
Multiracial	3 (15)
Marital status, n (%)	
Single	10 (50)
Married	3 (15)
Separated or divorced	6 (30)
Widowed	1 (5)
Current living situation <sup>a</sup> , n (%)	
Alone	9 (45)
With spouse or partner	7 (35)
With relative or roommate	3 (15)
Employment, n (%)	
Full-time	6 (30)
Part-time	2 (10)
Unemployed	7 (35)
Retired	5 (25)
Taking psychotropic medications, n (%)	10 (50)
Self-rated health, n (%)	
Excellent	1 (5)
Good	11 (55)
Fair	6 (30)
Poor	2 (10)
Current medical conditions, n (%)	
Arthritis	10 (50)
Asthma or bronchitis	7 (35)
Cancer	1 (5)
Diabetes	2 (10)
Heart disease	2 (10)
Hypertension	7 (35)
Sensory difficulties, n (%)	
Use eyeglasses	18 (90)
Hearing loss (both ears)	7 (35)
Use hearing aids	3 (15)

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e25808

XSL•FO RenderX

Gould et al

Participant characteristics	Values
Prevalence of current psychiatric diagnoses (MINI <sup>b</sup> ), n (%)	
Major depressive disorder	14 (70)
Anxiety disorders	12 (60)
Posttraumatic stress disorder	3 (15)
Other disorders <sup>c</sup>	5 (20)
MDPQ <sup>d</sup> , mean (SD)	34.68 (4.62)

 $^{a}N=19$ . Percentages of medical conditions, sensory difficulties, and psychiatric diagnoses do not add up to 100% because participants may have had more than 1 condition.

<sup>b</sup>MINI: Mini International Neuropsychiatric Interview.

<sup>c</sup>Other disorders include alcohol use (early remission), obsessive-compulsive disorder, and binge eating disorder.

<sup>d</sup>MDPQ: Mobile Device Proficiency Questionnaire.

#### Feasibility, User Experience, and Acceptability

As displayed in Figure 2, 90% (18/20) participants completed the program, and 2 discontinued the program. One individual (aged >60 years) discontinued the program because of technical challenges with using the app on an older smartphone but completed the postassessment; the other (aged <60 years) discontinued the program because of spontaneous symptom improvement and activities conflicting with app use and did not complete the postassessment. Of the 4 groups conducted during the study, 3 included some Meru Health Program nonstudy patients; one group (n=5) included only study participants. The groups' sizes ranged from 5 to 9 participants. In the mixed groups of study and nonstudy participants, the nonstudy patients comprised half (3/6, 50%) of the participants in one group or a smaller minority (1/9, 11% and 2/6, 33%) in the other two groups. Each group was led by 1 of 2 therapists. No qualitative differences emerged based on which therapist led the groups or whether the groups consisted of study participants only or study and nonstudy participants. Per the app use data (N=20), all participants downloaded the app, logged on, messaged with their therapist, and practiced at least once. The mean duration of time spent on practices throughout the program was 9.07 hours (SD 6.67), which averaged out to approximately 68 minutes each week. Participants sent 13.4 (SD 10.89) messages to their therapist, with a range spanning 2 to 38 messages. Most (15/20, 75%) completed at least 7 of the 8 weekly introductory lessons.

Figure 2. Flow of participants through the study. PHQ-9: Patient Health Questionnaire 9-item.



The user experience survey results displayed in Table 2 highlight that the program was deemed usable by most with some nuances identified during the qualitative interview. Most participants (15/19, 79%) indicated that the program somewhat or completely met their expectations, and 89% (17/19) believed the app was helpful. Examinations of the core program components revealed that the practices were deemed most helpful, and group discussion was the least helpful (Table 3). The inclusion of a therapist proved very important, as highlighted by one participant:

Having the therapist there for me was great in the fact that I felt like it wasn't just a computer that I was

interacting with in the program. She provided a personal touch which was very important in the program. Because I think we all, at least me, like to be validated by a human, it makes it [the program] more real to me...I had her in case the app was bothering me, I needed a connection to someone that I can talk to about, or if I didn't understand something, I had her to be there for me.

Another program component, the group discussion component, was deemed the least helpful. However, some participants appreciated reading what others posted (Table 2).

#### Table 2. User experience survey and qualitative interview findings.

Item	Responses, n (%)	Qualitative interview findings	Example quotes
App usability: the Meru Health app was easy to use. <sup>a</sup>	<ul> <li>5 (25): strongly agree; 12 (60): agree</li> <li>0 (0): neutral</li> <li>2 (10): disagree</li> <li>0 (0): strongly disagree</li> </ul>	Challenges included difficulty reviewing previous content, typing long answers in response to questions after practices, progress not being saved, crashing, or freezing.	<ul> <li>"On some of them [practices] I could pause and rewind and play again, but some of them I could only pause and play."</li> <li>"I'm a typer as opposed to a tapper. I'm much more able to ramble like I'd like to if I had a keyboard in front of meI seem to have a better hand at expressing my thoughts when I can go back and quickly edit."</li> </ul>
Communication: the emails from Meru Health were helpful to me. <sup>b</sup>	<ul> <li>9 (45): strongly agree</li> <li>4 (20): agree</li> <li>4 (20): neutral</li> <li>1 (5): disagree</li> <li>0 (0): strongly disagree</li> </ul>	Some expected more communication direct- ly with the therapist. Three were unaware that they would be receiving emails.	<ul> <li>"I occasionally got confused whether messages would show up in my email inbox or whether they would show up on the app."</li> <li>"[emails] would break down the topics, and I think that was fabulous, that was very informative. Without that information, it would have been difficult because it was not really explained, I went back and read the emails a few times, so it would make some sense."</li> </ul>
Communication frequency: the emails from Meru Health were frequent enough. <sup>b</sup>	<ul> <li>11 (55): strongly agree</li> <li>6 (30): agree</li> <li>0 (0): neutral</li> <li>1 (5): disagree</li> <li>0 (0): strongly disagree</li> </ul>	Weekly emails were frequent enough for most participants. Most comments reflected a desire for more personalized communica- tion.	• "I thought there would be a little more of the individual therapist or individual communication between the therapist and myself, just a little more of that, a lot more"
Program length: the Meru Health Program was the right length of time. <sup>a</sup>	<ul> <li>9 (45): strongly agree</li> <li>4 (20): agree</li> <li>2 (10): neutral</li> <li>3 (15): disagree</li> <li>1 (5): strongly disagree</li> </ul>	Six participants recommended that it could be longer (9 to 24 weeks). One recommend- ed it be shorter (4 weeks).	• "I think it would be great if the app gives [the] participant a time to choose from, for me 3 months would have been ideal."

<sup>a</sup>n=19. <sup>b</sup>n=18.



Table 3.	Mixed	methods	evaluation	of	program	components	(n=19).
----------	-------	---------	------------	----	---------	------------	---------

Component	Most helpful <sup>a</sup> , n (%)	Least helpful, n (%)	Helpful aspects	Areas to improve
Practices	12 (63)	0 (0)	<ul> <li>Having narrator-guided practices</li> <li>Specific practices, spanning CBT<sup>b</sup> and mindfulness deemed helpful</li> <li>Included 3-minute reset, breathing, mindfulness, self-compassion, estab- lishing boundaries, and thought record</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Usability issues such as loss of progress if interrupted (or exiting app) while practicing</li> <li>Desire for chimes or signals when practices end (too much silence)</li> <li>Need for more introductory practices for certain components (eg, self-compassion)</li> <li>Clearer option to skip reflection questions after practices</li> </ul>
Therapist Sup- port	7 (37)	2 (11)	<ul> <li>Therapist was caring, thoughtful, genuine, and supportive</li> <li>Provided helpful feedback and comments on participant entries</li> <li>Helped personalize the program by providing additional information and resources when necessary</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Unclear how frequently to interact with therapist</li> <li>Unclear how much information to share with therapist</li> </ul>
Information Provided	4 (21)	2 (11)	<ul> <li>Education and information about mood and thinking patterns</li> <li>Provides underlying rationale for CBT and mindfulness practices</li> </ul>	• One participant requested practices to help differentiate rumination from reflection concerning thought boundaries.
Group	0 (0)	15 (79)	• Reading others' responses helped people feel less alone and feel validated in their struggles.	<ul> <li>Confusion about how to use the group and need for guidelines</li> <li>Low rates of participants using group</li> <li>Limited response options (prepro- grammed drop-down) to other mem- bers' comments</li> </ul>

<sup>a</sup>Three individuals ranked more than 1 component as most helpful; 1 person did not select the most helpful component.

<sup>b</sup>CBT: cognitive behavioral therapy.

Qualitative findings highlighted the aspects of each component that were confusing or would benefit from improvement. Specifically, participants wanted more guidance about how best to use aspects of the program, ranging from questions about the interface to the need for some guidelines in using the therapist and group support. Regarding group support, participants expected to have more flexibility in responding to other group members:

A couple of things I read that other people [posted], I wanted to give a comment on, but you were limited to 4 choices...it didn't give you the opportunity to say anything personal, positive, in your own words.

Other suggestions pertained to having an improved orientation to the app and guidance on how frequently they communicate with the therapist.

#### Preliminary Effects of the Program on Mental Health Symptoms

Figure 3 displays the mean PHQ-9 and GAD-7 mean scores across timepoints. Table 4 presents the results of the linear mixed effects model. Time was significant (P=.03-.001) in all 4 linear mixed models, which demonstrated that both depressive and anxiety symptoms reduced across the 8-week program (Table 4). The (uncontrolled) effect sizes ranged from medium to large (Hedges g values=.41-.94). Regarding clinically significant improvement, 30% (6/20) participants had improvements in depressive symptoms and 45% (9/20) in anxiety symptoms. All 6 who experienced improvement in depression also showed improvement in anxiety. Age and mobile device proficiency were not significantly associated with change in scores on any outcome measures, but older age was associated with lower mobile device proficiency (r=-0.60; P=.005). Mobile device proficiency total scores ranged from 26.47 to 40, which falls above the average for older adults (mean 19.2, SD 10.5) in the initial MDPQ validation paper [21].



Figure 3. Mean depression and anxiety symptoms measured within the app and by paper or phone assessments. GAD-7: Generalized Anxiety Disorder 7-item; PHQ-9: Patient Health Questionnaire 9-item.



Table 4. Mean assessment scores across timepoints and linear mixed effects models.

Measure	Baseline, mean (SD)	5 weeks, mean (SD)	8 weeks <sup>a</sup> , mean (SD)	Parameter estimate (SE)	t value (df)	P value	Hedges g
PHQ-9 <sup>b</sup>	13.90 (4.25)	12.95 (5.86)	10.95 (5.77)	-1.36 (0.58)	-2.33 (19.63)	.03	0.53
GAD-7 <sup>c</sup>	12.10 (4.24)	10.33 (5.42)	8.53 (5.18)	-1.74 (0.65)	-2.67 (23.09)	.01	0.69
PROMIS De- pression	29.05 (6.96)	24.89 (7.64)	21.21 (8.18)	-3.84 (1.03)	-3.72 (20.32)	<.001	0.94
PROMIS Anxiety	25.25 (6.47)	23.11 (5.92)	21.32 (10.32)	-2.01 (0.83)	-2.40 (20.88)	.03	0.41

<sup>a</sup>N=19 for week 8. Parameter estimates for main effects (time) correspond to changes across each time point (baseline, midpoint, and end of program). <sup>b</sup>PHQ-9: Patient Health Questionnaire 9-item.

<sup>c</sup>GAD-7: Generalized Anxiety Disorder 7-item.

# Discussion

# **Principal Findings**

Our findings suggest the feasibility and acceptability of an 8-week mobile app-based intervention for depressive and anxiety symptoms in a sample of middle-aged and older adults approximately 30 years older than samples in most mobile intervention research. The low dropout rate (10%) and robust engagement with the app mirrors findings with the Meru Health Program in younger adults [19,20] and with an average dropout rate of 17% for internet or mobile interventions [37]. Similarly, the high satisfaction with the app, good ratings of usability, and overall perception that the program was helpful by most participants underscores the acceptability of this intervention in older age groups.

Older adults with depression may benefit from mobile interventions, such as the Meru Health Program, based on significant reductions in depression and anxiety outcomes. This and the finding that 45% (9/20) of individuals achieved a clinically significant reduction in symptoms suggest that the program may be beneficial to some middle-aged and older users. The uncontrolled effect sizes were slightly larger than, but comparable with, those found in a meta-analysis of mobile interventions for depression [13]. Larger controlled studies are needed to replicate our findings and to explore the moderators

RenderX

of treatment outcomes, such as cognition in older adults with depressive symptoms.

The qualitative findings provide an important context to help elucidate specific aspects of the feasibility and acceptability of the program. As expected, the practices were found to be the most helpful component, which is consistent with previous findings regarding guided self-management programs in older adults [38]. The therapist was a critical aspect of the program, particularly for participants who desired human contact, support, and encouragement or struggled with the practices or the app itself. The support model mostly used *pull* support where users reach out for help but also incorporated some push-based support (eg, feedback on practice reflections or weekly messages). According to the Efficiency Model of Support, the limitations of pull support include underutilization because of concerns about burdening the supporter [39]. Our findings corroborate this with participants describing uncertainty about how often to communicate with the therapist and warrant further consideration for program refinement.

Group support was a unique, yet underutilized, program component. Being part of a group facing similar struggles was helpful to some in promoting understanding and a sense of not being alone. Unfortunately, the limited response options for communicating with other members undermined the use of and interest in this feature. Thus, this component should be considered for modification to increase its utilization. Such

future enhancements will need to balance the risks of providing open-ended interactions, including potential breaches in confidentiality.

Another potential refinement to the program that might especially benefit older adults is an enhanced program orientation, including an in-person or preview of the app, a handout, instructional videos, or a combination of these. Such an orientation may encourage greater exploration of the app, as older users tend to be hesitant about making errors or pressing incorrect buttons, resulting in less app exploration compared with younger users. Other suggestions for program improvements included greater control over video-delivered information (eg, ability to rewind videos to review content). Program compatibility with tablets could help older users experience dexterity and vision challenges. Including older users in usability testing and research on digital health interventions would ensure that these interventions are optimized for all users. Furthermore, ensuring universal design is an important step before dissemination in health care settings, such as primary care that serves patients across the life span.

#### Limitations

Conclusions from our findings must consider the limitations of the study. Foremost among these was the lack of a control condition, leaving open the question of whether the intervention was responsible for symptom improvement. Second, most of our sample had at least 16 years of education, which may limit the generalizability of the findings to those with less education. Third, our sample for the pilot study was quite small, with 90% (18/20) of participants completing the intervention. Although the sample included 40% (8/20) non-White individuals, because of the small overall sample size, further research is needed to evaluate the efficacy of this intervention in larger and even more racially and ethnically diverse samples. Fourth, a standardized mobile app rating scale or evidence-based usability measure was not used to assess the acceptability or usability of the Meru Health app. Fifth, mobile device proficiency for the sample was substantially higher than that evidenced in the initial study of the MDPQ [21]; thus, the findings may not generalize to individuals less proficient with mobile devices.

# Conclusions

In summary, this study found evidence of feasibility and acceptability of a commercially available app, the Meru Health Program, in a small sample of middle-aged and older users. Furthermore, the findings show that some participants experienced reduced psychiatric symptoms. Although larger, controlled trials are needed to demonstrate efficacy, our findings align with research with younger adults and suggest that digital health interventions may benefit and should be offered to adults of all ages. If future research validates these preliminary findings, mobile mental health interventions could be a valuable tool in addressing unmet treatment needs and reducing the burden of depression among older adults.

# Acknowledgments

Meru Health, Inc, provided funding for this project, but CEG retains full control over the data, analyses, and interpretation of the findings. CEG is supported by a Career Development Award (IK2 RX001478) from the Department of Veterans Affairs Rehabilitation Research and Development Service. The Stanford REDCap platform was developed and operated by the Stanford Medicine Research IT team. The REDCap platform services at Stanford are subsidized by (1) Stanford School of Medicine Research Office and (2) the National Center for Research Resources and the National Center for Advancing Translational Sciences, National Institutes of Health, through grant UL1 TR001085. The views expressed in this paper are those of the authors and not necessarily those of the Department of Veterans Affairs or the Federal Government.

# **Conflicts of Interest**

CEG, CC, FM, and EK have no conflicts of interest to report. VFH is employed as the Head of Research at Meru Health, Inc, receives a salary from the company, and owns the options of the company. KR serves as the Chief Executive Officer of Meru Health, Inc and owns a large share of the company's stocks.

#### Multimedia Appendix 1

Meru Health Program study user experience and interview. [DOC File , 56 KB - formative v5i6e25808 app1.doc]

# References

- Beekman A, Penninx B, Deeg D, de Beurs E, Geerling SW, van Tilburg W. The impact of depression on the well-being, disability and use of services in older adults: a longitudinal perspective. Acta Psychiatr Scand 2002 Jan;105(1):20-27. [doi: 10.1034/j.1600-0447.2002.10078.x] [Medline: 12086221]
- 2. Schillerstrom JE, Royall DR, Palmer RF. Depression, disability and intermediate pathways: a review of longitudinal studies in elders. J Geriatr Psychiatry Neurol 2008 Sep 23;21(3):183-197. [doi: 10.1177/0891988708320971] [Medline: 18838741]
- 3. Depression and other common mental disorders: global health estimates. World Health Organization. 2017. URL: <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/254610/WHO-MSD-MER-2017.2-eng.pdf</u> [accessed 2020-05-27]

- Reynolds K, Pietrzak RH, El-Gabalawy R, Mackenzie CS, Sareen J. Prevalence of psychiatric disorders in U.S. older adults: findings from a nationally representative survey. World Psychiatry 2015 Feb 05;14(1):74-81 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/wps.20193] [Medline: 25655161]
- Lenze EJ, Hickman S, Hershey T, Wendleton L, Ly K, Dixon D, et al. Mindfulness-based stress reduction for older adults with worry symptoms and co-occurring cognitive dysfunction. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry 2014 Oct 18;29(10):991-1000 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/gps.4086] [Medline: 24677282]
- Pinquart M, Duberstein PR, Lyness JM. Effects of psychotherapy and other behavioral interventions on clinically depressed older adults: a meta-analysis. Aging Ment Health 2007 Nov;11(6):645-657. [doi: <u>10.1080/13607860701529635</u>] [Medline: <u>18074252</u>]
- Wetherell JL, Hershey T, Hickman S, Tate SR, Dixon D, Bower ES, et al. Mindfulness-based stress reduction for older adults with stress disorders and neurocognitive difficulties. J Clin Psychiatry 2017 Aug 23;78(7):734-743. [doi: 10.4088/jcp.16m10947]
- Barry LC, Abou JJ, Simen AA, Gill TM. Under-treatment of depression in older persons. J Affect Disord 2012 Feb;136(3):789-796 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2011.09.038] [Medline: 22030136]
- 9. Kok RM, Reynolds CF. Management of depression in older adults: a review. J Am Med Assoc 2017 May 23;317(20):2114-2122. [doi: 10.1001/jama.2017.5706] [Medline: 28535241]
- 10. Pepin R, Segal DL, Coolidge FL. Intrinsic and extrinsic barriers to mental health care among community-dwelling younger and older adults. Aging Ment Health 2009 Sep 27;13(5):769-777. [doi: 10.1080/13607860902918231] [Medline: 19882416]
- Thorpe JM, Thorpe CT, Kennelty KA, Pandhi N. Patterns of perceived barriers to medical care in older adults: a latent class analysis. BMC Health Serv Res 2011 Aug 03;11(1):181 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6963-11-181] [Medline: 21812953]
- 12. Bakker D, Kazantzis N, Rickwood D, Rickard N. Mental health smartphone apps: review and evidence-based recommendations for future developments. JMIR Ment Health 2016 Mar;3(1):e7 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mental.4984] [Medline: 26932350]
- Firth J, Torous J, Nicholas J, Carney R, Pratap A, Rosenbaum S, et al. The efficacy of smartphone-based mental health interventions for depressive symptoms: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. World Psychiatry 2017 Oct;16(3):287-298 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/wps.20472] [Medline: 28941113]
- 14. Vogels E. Millennials stand out for their technology use, but older generations also embrace digital life. Pew Research Center. 2019. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2019/09/09/us-generations-technology-use</u> [accessed 2019-09-23]
- Kuerbis A, Mulliken A, Muench F, A. Moore A, Gardner D. Older adults and mobile technology: factors that enhance and inhibit utilization in the context of behavioral health. Ment Health Addict Res 2017;2(2):1000136. [doi: 10.15761/MHAR.1000136]
- Gould CE, Loup J, Kuhn E, Beaudreau SA, Ma F, Goldstein MK, et al. Technology use and preferences for mental health self-management interventions among older veterans. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry 2020 Mar 29;35(3):321-330. [doi: <u>10.1002/gps.5252</u>] [Medline: <u>31854029</u>]
- 17. Fortuna KL, DiMilia PR, Lohman MC, Bruce ML, Zubritsky CD, Halaby MR, et al. Feasibility, acceptability, and preliminary effectiveness of a peer-delivered and technology supported self-management intervention for older adults with serious mental illness. Psychiatr Q 2018 Jun 26;89(2):293-305 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11126-017-9534-7] [Medline: 28948424]
- 18. Similä H, Immonen M, Toska-Tervola J, Enwald H, Keränen N, Kangas M, et al. Feasibility of mobile mental wellness training for older adults. Geriatr Nurs 2018 Sep;39(5):499-505. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.gerinurse.2018.02.001</u>] [Medline: <u>29530292</u>]
- Goldin PR, Lindholm R, Ranta K, Hilgert O, Helteenvuori T, Raevuori A. Feasibility of a therapist-supported, mobile phone-delivered online intervention for depression: longitudinal observational study. JMIR Form Res 2019 Jan 22;3(1):e11509 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11509] [Medline: 30682726]
- 20. Economides M, Ranta K, Nazander A, Hilgert O, Goldin PR, Raevuori A, et al. Long-term outcomes of a therapist-supported, smartphone-based intervention for elevated symptoms of depression and anxiety: quasiexperimental, pre-postintervention study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Aug 26;7(8):e14284 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/14284] [Medline: 31452521]
- 21. Roque NA, Boot WR. A new tool for assessing mobile device proficiency in older adults: the mobile device proficiency questionnaire. J Appl Gerontol 2018 Feb 11;37(2):131-156. [doi: 10.1177/0733464816642582] [Medline: 27255686]
- 22. Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JB. The PHQ-9: validity of a brief depression severity measure. J Gen Intern Med 2001 Sep;16(9):606-613 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1046/j.1525-1497.2001.016009606.x] [Medline: 11556941]
- 23. Spitzer RL, Kroenke K, Williams JB, Löwe B. A brief measure for assessing generalized anxiety disorder: the GAD-7. Arch Intern Med 2006 May 22;166(10):1092-1097. [doi: 10.1001/archinte.166.10.1092] [Medline: 1671717]
- 24. Gershon RC, Rothrock N, Hanrahan R, Bass M, Cella D. The use of PROMIS and assessment center to deliver patient-reported outcome measures in clinical research. J Appl Meas 2010;11(3):304-314 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 20847477]
- 25. Sheehan DV. Mini-International Neuropsychiatric Interview (MINI) for DSM-5. Harm Research Institute. 2014. URL: https://harmresearch.org/index.php/mini-international-neuropsychiatric-interview-mini [accessed 2020-05-26]
- 26. American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders: DSM 5. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association Publishing; 2017.

- Arroll B, Goodyear-Smith F, Crengle S, Gunn J, Kerse N, Fishman T, et al. Validation of PHQ-2 and PHQ-9 to screen for major depression in the primary care population. Ann Fam Med 2010 Jul;8(4):348-353 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1370/afm.1139] [Medline: 20644190]
- 28. Dube P, Kurt K, Bair MJ, Theobald D, Williams LS. The p4 screener: evaluation of a brief measure for assessing potential suicide risk in 2 randomized effectiveness trials of primary care and oncology patients. Prim Care Companion J Clin Psychiatry 2010 Dec;12(6):00978 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4088/PCC.10m00978blu] [Medline: 21494337]
- 29. Katzman R, Brown T, Fuld P, Peck A, Schechter R, Schimmel H. Validation of a short Orientation-Memory-Concentration Test of cognitive impairment. Am J Psychiatry 1983 Jun;140(6):734-739. [doi: 10.1176/ajp.140.6.734] [Medline: 6846631]
- Bush K, Kivlahan DR, McDonell MB, Fihn SD, Bradley KA. The AUDIT alcohol consumption questions (AUDIT-C): an effective brief screening test for problem drinking. Ambulatory Care Quality Improvement Project (ACQUIP). Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test. Arch Intern Med 1998 Sep 14;158(16):1789-1795. [doi: <u>10.1001/archinte.158.16.1789</u>] [Medline: <u>9738608</u>]
- 31. Dedoose Version 8.2.14. Los Angeles: SocioCultural Research Consultants, LLC; 2019. URL: <u>https://www.dedoose.com/</u> [accessed 2021-06-11]
- 32. Creswell JW, Clark VL. Designing and Conducting Mixed Methods Research (3rd Ed). Thousand Oaks, California, United States: Sage Publications Inc; 2018.
- 33. IBM SPSS Statistics. IBM Corp. 2016. URL: <u>https://www.ibm.com/in-en/analytics/spss-statistics-software</u> [accessed 2021-06-12]
- 34. Snijders T, Bosker R. Multilevel Analysis: An Introduction To Basic And Advanced Multilevel Modeling Second Edition. Thousand Oaks, California, United States: SAGE Publications Ltd; 2011:1-368.
- 35. Löwe B, Unützer J, Callahan CM, Perkins AJ, Kroenke K. Monitoring depression treatment outcomes with the patient health questionnaire-9. Med Care 2004 Dec;42(12):1194-1201. [doi: <u>10.1097/00005650-200412000-00006</u>] [Medline: <u>15550799</u>]
- 36. Kroenke K, Wu J, Yu Z, Bair MJ, Kean J, Stump T, et al. Patient health questionnaire anxiety and depression scale: initial validation in three clinical trials. Psychosom Med 2016;78(6):716-727. [doi: 10.1097/psy.0000000000022]
- Josephine K, Josefine L, Philipp D, David E, Harald B. Internet- and mobile-based depression interventions for people with diagnosed depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Affect Disord 2017 Dec 01;223:28-40. [doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2017.07.021] [Medline: 28715726]
- Gould CE, Carlson C, Wetherell JL, O'Hara R, Goldstein MK, Loup JR, et al. Guided self-management targeting anxiety and activity participation in older Veterans. Aging Ment Health 2020 May 13:1-10. [doi: <u>10.1080/13607863.2020.1758905</u>] [Medline: <u>32397822</u>]
- 39. Schueller SM, Tomasino KN, Mohr DC. Integrating human support into behavioral intervention technologies: the efficiency model of support. Clin Psychol Sci Pract 2016 Nov 17;24(1):27-45. [doi: <u>10.1111/cpsp.12173</u>]

# Abbreviations

AUDIT-C: Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test
CBT: cognitive behavioral therapy
GAD-7: Generalized Anxiety Disorder 7-item
MDD: major depressive disorder
MDPQ: Mobile Device Proficiency Questionnaire
MINI: Mini International Neuropsychiatric Interview
PHQ-9: Patient Health Questionnaire 9-item
PROMIS: Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 17.11.20; peer-reviewed by E Parrish, F Abujarad; comments to author 04.01.21; revised version received 02.02.21; accepted 31.05.21; published 29.06.21.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Gould CE, Carlson C, Ma F, Forman-Hoffman V, Ranta K, Kuhn E Effects of Mobile App–Based Intervention for Depression in Middle-Aged and Older Adults: Mixed Methods Feasibility Study JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e25808 URL: <u>https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e25808</u> doi:10.2196/25808 PMID:<u>34185000</u>



©Christine E Gould, Chalise Carlson, Flora Ma, Valerie Forman-Hoffman, Kristian Ranta, Eric Kuhn. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 29.06.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

# Transforming Health and Resiliency Through Integration of Values-based Experiences: Implementation of an Electronic Evidence-based Whole Health Clinical Program

Jolie N Haun<sup>1,2\*</sup>, EdS, PhD; Jacquelyn Paykel<sup>3\*</sup>, MD; Christine Melillo<sup>1\*</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Research Service, James A. Haley Veterans' Hospital, Tampa, FL, United States

<sup>2</sup>Department of Community & Family Health, University of South Florida, Tampa, FL, United States

<sup>3</sup>Whole Health Service, James A. Haley Veterans' Hospital, Tampa, FL, United States

<sup>\*</sup>all authors contributed equally

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Jolie N Haun, EdS, PhD Research Service James A. Haley Veterans' Hospital 8900 Grand Oak Circle Tampa, FL, 33637 United States Phone: 1 813 558 7622 Email: JolieHaun@gmail.com

# Abstract

**Background:** Complementary and integrative health (CIH) is the foundation of the Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) Whole Health System program (WH), including Transforming Health and Resiliency through Integration of Values-based Experiences (THRIVE). The global COVID-19 pandemic prompted an urgent need to provide services such as THRIVE while following guidelines for social distancing.

**Objective:** The objective of this paper was to describe the systematic implementation of THRIVE using an electronic delivery model.

**Methods:** The study involved an observational clinical program implementation project using the RE-AIM framework to contextualize the implementation strategies and results, and then the implementation of an electronically delivered CIH group medical appointment program (eTHRIVE).

**Results:** Clinical staff transitioned to 100% electronic delivery of the THRIVE curriculum using the new eTHRIVE delivery model. The current electronic delivery model, eTHRIVE, has effectively enrolled 10-12 veterans per cohort, with 8 cohorts, totaling 87 veterans to date. eTHRIVE attrition has been 6% (5/87) since initiation.

**Conclusions:** The current climate of the VA WH programmatic initiative combined with the public health needs during a global pandemic prompted the move of THRIVE program into an electronic format to broaden scalability and reach.

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e26030) doi:10.2196/26030

# **KEYWORDS**

virtual care; group medical appointment; complementary and integrative health; veteran; implementation

# Introduction

Opioid reduction, mental health management, and suicide prevention are named priorities for the Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) and the nation. Chronic pain conditions are often not responsive to pharmacological treatment long term [1], yet opioid agents have been the mainstay of treatment. Mental health conditions are often complex, requiring difficult work from

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e26030

RenderX

patients and are responsive to an integrated approach of medication, lifestyle, and psychological counseling when patients complete treatment programs [2-5]. The urgent need for improved pain and mental health management coupled with veteran demand resulted in the VA Complementary and Integrative Health (CIH) mandate in Subtitle C of the Comprehensive Addiction and Recovery Act (CARA) [6]. In a strategic responsive effort, the VA has implemented a

systematic effort to promote patient-centered care through the implementation of a Whole Health System program (WH) of care [7].

The WH integrates allopathic and CIH care, focusing on patients' goals and priorities, with peer-led support, personalized health planning, WH coaches, and well-being classes. There are 3 major components of the WH: (1) the pathway, (2) well-being programs, and (3) whole health clinical care. The pathway introduces veterans to the concepts of WH and helps them identify their health goals and develop their personal health plan. Through the pathway, veterans are introduced to the components of Proactive Health & Well-Being Programs to support their personal health, including health coaching and CIH services, such as acupuncture, chiropractic care, meditation, therapeutic massage, biofeedback, clinical hypnosis, guided imagery, yoga, and Tai Chi. Finally, the third and final component is whole health clinical care, which is a clinical care model that includes use of a WH paradigm for providing a higher level of care in both allopathic and CIH settings, delivered by a multidisciplinary team of clinical providers (eg, physician, social worker, psychologist, pharmacist). Although this third component is critical for combining the delivery of CIH and clinical care, a standardized evidence-based program has not yet been adopted by VA. Standardization of content and delivery of a program supports broader program fidelity efforts (ie, evaluation, treatment effectiveness research, and service administration) [8]. Basing clinical programs on evidence in published literature assures program effectiveness for targeted outcomes (ie, informed clinical decisions, patient outcomes) [9]. Without standardized evidence-based clinical programs, health care programs may stagnate to the status quo, providers and facilities cannot anticipate fidelity, and veterans cannot all access the same quality programs across facilities. There is a need for a standardized evidence-based WH Proactive Health & Well-Being Programs. In addition, group medical appointments provide a sustainable model, to meet the demand of the Proactive Health & Well-Being Programs.

Transforming Health and Resiliency through Integration of Values-based Experiences, more commonly known as THRIVE, based on evidence-based principles of whole health/integrative medicine [10-12], positive psychology [13,14], and acceptance and commitment therapy [15,16], is a clinical program to improve access to CIH modalities for chronic pain, mental health, and suicide prevention services. THRIVE has been implemented in multiple VA regions and is gaining attention as a potential opportunity to fill the need for the WH Proactive Health & Well-Being Programs component. THRIVE is a 14-week curriculum-based group medical appointment for veterans, facilitated by an interdisciplinary team of clinicians. Each weekly group medical appointment focuses on a different component of wellness (eg, financial, spiritual, physical) and is led by a knowledgeable clinician (eg, social worker, chaplain, physical therapist). THRIVE is currently the only evidence-based clinical program in practice that fulfills the 3 components of WH, namely, the pathway, well-being programs, and clinical care, and is identified a best practice by the VA Office of Patient Centered Care and Cultural Transformation (OPCCCT). Although this program was developed for

XSL•F() RenderX face-to-face delivery, it was adapted for the remote electronic delivery format during the COVID pandemic due to the suspension of face-to-face group medical appointments.

The purpose of this paper is to describe the systematic, rapid implementation of THRIVE using an electronic delivery model. Our intention is to provide a practical example that may be applied to other CIH and group medical appointments as they transition to electronic delivery while maintaining integrity and quality. Evaluation of this implementation is ongoing.

# Methods

#### Overview

RE-AIM is an ideal evidence-based framework for contextualizing the implementation of THRIVE [17]. RE-AIM's 5 elements (reach the target population, effectiveness, adoption, implementation, and maintenance) provide a systematic framework for planning and implementing programs from the initial efforts of reaching audiences, to establishing effectiveness, then on to promoting adoption, implementation, and ultimately sustaining maintenance over time [18-20]. It is also noteworthy that RE-AIM is a commonly used framework for implementing evidence-based programs in large health care systems, such as the VA, making it a popular and practical framework for such implementation efforts as the THRIVE program. The RE-AIM model has been the guiding framework throughout the development and implementation of THRIVE; however, the pandemic required a real-time adaptation that was expeditious in nature. Through an ongoing development and quality improvement between the clinical team and the implementation team, RE-AIM has been used to provide a to contextualize framework and guide **eTHRIVE** implementation. Planning and implementation of THRIVE are described using the 5 elements.

#### **Reach the Target Population**

THRIVE was developed by a female veteran physician for female veterans. The program was provided within VA women's health care clinics, using a clinician-informed referral process to ensure the program was aligned and appropriate for the *target population* (female veterans with chronic conditions). Subsequently, based on patient outcomes and feedback, the THRIVE program was expanded and modified for male veterans. The program moved from women's health to the larger WH service to ensure access and integration throughout the health care system to reach all veterans in need of access to CIH modalities in managing not only chronic conditions but also living a values-based life.

#### Effectiveness

Effectiveness can be measured in many ways (eg, clinical outcomes, organizational outcomes). A recent evaluation of 201 female veteran participants in THRIVE demonstrated the *effectiveness* of this program at improving self-reported mental health outcomes, such as depression, anxiety, psychological inflexibility, and experiential avoidance, as well as improvements in life satisfaction and work pain interference [21]. Organizational outcomes such as cost-effectiveness are currently under review.

#### Adoption

An organizational cultural transformation is imperative for adoption of innovative programs such as THRIVE [7,22,23]. THRIVE gained popular support and *adoption* by clinical teams, administration, and veterans. Once adopted at the originating veterans' hospital, implementation efforts expanded to facilities within the Veterans Integrated Service Network (VISN) followed by spread to neighboring VISNs.

#### **Implementation and Maintenance**

The VA is an established leader in implementation science. The *implementation* of eTHRIVE was subsequent to many implementation efforts to the original THRIVE program. Implementation strategies [24] facilitated the strategic steps used to reach the population (ie, veterans) with an effective program (ie, THRIVE) through a new service delivery (ie, electronic). This rapid practical application of implementation strategies was based on best practices [24], literature [24], experience of the implementation team [25,26], and the needs of the program in the real-time implementation. [Implementation strategies are hereafter presented in parenthesis in the following sections.]

# Results

# **eTHRIVE** Overview

The eTHRIVE process resulted in 14 strategic steps and implementation strategies, and data on program uptake and attrition. In its initial development, to support fidelity, scalability, and maintenance of THRIVE, an implementation manual and a train-the-trainer program (*use train-the-trainer strategies, make training dynamic*), THRIVE Immersion, were developed for VA staff to facilitate and sustain the THRIVE program within various clinical settings.

As THRIVE moved into its fourth year of implementation in 2020, a growing waitlist and limited resources posed challenges for access and hopes for establishing the scalability of this clinical program. As with most programs, staffing, space, and other resources that are often in high demand illustrate the limitations of scaling up access to the program. Transferring the earlier in-person THRIVE program to a standardized

electronic format for delivery creates an exponential opportunity for scalability, mobility, and control. For example, in the face-to-face delivery model, 10 veterans per cohort, averaging 13 cohorts per year, totaled 400 veterans to date. Whereas with an electronic version (*stage implementation scale up*) processes allow approximately 10 veterans per cohort (to maintain a small, yet high-quality dynamic group), with 50 cohorts per year, resulting in 500 veterans served per year, exponentially increasing the number of veterans served annually. The eTHRIVE program not only creates an opportunity to broaden reach through scalability, but also presents benefit through resource conservation, cutting costs in materials, and space. For example, some of the in-person materials were modified to electronic materials (eg, presentations converted to video), thus eliminating the need for staff to be present for those segments of the program, creating more time to serve additional cohorts. It is critical to understand there is an issue with supply and demand when considering meeting space within most medical centers. With competing interests and high demand, remote delivery becomes the most economical strategy to broaden reach to veterans. Although the program creator and early adopting providers saw the potential of delivering the program as an electronically delivered service, VA policies and infrastructure did not support the opportunity for eTHRIVE in the current system. However, recent COVID-19 pandemic events have thrust the VA into a new era of policy and opportunity for innovating in the delivery of care using electronic resources while reducing contact. As such, providers must now deliver services virtually, including WH care. This presents a timely opportunity for implementing the THRIVE program in the broader VA system.

# Implementation and Maintenance of eTHRIVE

# **Overview** of Steps

Implementation of eTHRIVE was a clinical care process that required clear communication and quick response to ever evolving public health pandemic crisis. During this unprecedented public health emergency, WH providers, staff, and clients acted together to support continuity of care through electronically delivered services. The 14-step process is shown in Figure 1.



Figure 1. 14-step process for implementation of electronically delivered Transforming Health and Resiliency through Integration of Values-based Experiences (eTHRIVE).



#### Step 1

The first step was to garner leadership support (involve executive boards) and resources (hardware, software, ongoing technical support as staff learned new systems, reallocation of funding from salaries to equipment) for the transfer and implementation of eTHRIVE. This critical step involved establishing stakeholder buy-in and justification of necessary resources to transition to electronic delivery (*change service sites*) of THRIVE in the wake of a larger transition required to maintain continuity and access to care in the wake of establishing new paradigms of remote care in the context of a global pandemic. Staff were organized into small groups (*organize clinician implementation team meetings*) for brain storming implementation (*conduct local consensus discussions*).

#### Step 2

Communication of transition with staff and veteran patients was imperative. As in-person group medical appointments came to an immediate halt at the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, the disruption of workflow for staff and potential discontinuation of services to veteran patients presented problems that required immediate attention. As such, communication about the transition of THRIVE to electronic delivery (eTHRIVE) was prioritized as a critical need to establish new workflow patterns and ensure veteran patients continued to have access to care (*promote adaptability*).

#### Step 3

The THRIVE team leveraged existing resources to identify a platform (*tailor strategies, promote adaptability*) to provide electronically delivered services. The platform needed to be

XSL•FO

accessible to all levels of technology-proficient providers, staff, and clients. Intuitive platforms were most desirable to facilitate platform training (*facilitation*) to all who would access the platform. The platform also needed to include an educational package such as whiteboards, polling, and shared video viewing. After reviewing the locally available platforms, an appropriate platform was selected.

#### Step 4

eTHRIVE materials were reviewed to determine if they were already in the appropriate electronic format (ie, video, PowerPoint) or if they needed to be revised (*audit and provide feedback*) to an optimal presentation mode for the new platform. Paper-based materials would be delivered in the eTHRIVE tool kit (see Step 5).

#### Step 5

It was critical to prepare staff with skills and proficiency in using technology to deliver eTHRIVE [in addition to the THRIVE immersion training (train-the-trainer training)]. Most clinic staff worked within the clinic weekdays during regular business hours. They had no need for computer, video, or audio equipment to be assigned to them for use from home. This caused a delay in standing up the eTHRIVE program. Lack of equipment and software for work from home created transition stress for staff and providers. Once individuals had the technical mobility for remote work (change physical structure and equipment), training on the new platform began. We ran through scenarios, tested platform functions, and delegated "champions" (identify and prepare champions, provide local technical assistance) who could be a resource for technical issues. These champions (identify early adopters) were instrumental in assisting team members with transitions to the home environment. As staff and providers became familiar with the platform, we began training patients. With each patient training, staff became more familiar with the platform and were able to independently modify trainings (conduct ongoing training) to best meet patient needs. Teams met routinely with staff, consultants, and leadership to provide ongoing consultation (provide ongoing consultation) and continued education (conduct educational meetings).

# Step 6

While staff and clients became familiar with the platform and new processes, eTHRIVE leadership, in collaboration with researchers (*use data experts, use an implementation advisor*), identified and developed standardized tools (*develop and implement tools for quality monitoring*) and processes (*develop and organize quality monitoring systems*) to capture patient and workflow data. Data, collected in an organized, standard way across providers and time, was used to identify glitches in the new system. These issues were brought to the attention of leadership (*inform local opinion leaders*) and addressed in a timely fashion to maintain continuity of care, even though this was such a large transition.

# Step 7

When transitioning into a remote work environment, it is critical to give staff time and support to acclimate to their new workflow dynamics. WH leadership recognized the stress of these

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e26030
```

transitions and built time into plans to allow acclamation to this new work environment and all the changes that come with a public health emergency requiring stay at home orders. Most urgent transitions can be burdensome, creating stress not only among clients but also for the staff and providers who provide care. Stay at home orders meant many staff and providers were also juggling personal life demands with new work protocols while finding space and equipment in the home for all household members to continue addressing their responsibilities.

# Step 8

The next step was to create eTHRIVE tool kits (*develop* educational materials). Each tool kit contained a THRIVE workbook, THRIVE journal, art supplies, markers, dry erase response paddle, and other supplies used with each of the 14 units. Tool kits were mailed to participants (*distribute* educational materials) in a single package. Materials for each unit were placed in individual envelopes. The tool kit also included additional worksheets, metrics, and packets for clients to complete in specific weeks with a self-addressed stamped envelope to return metrics to the WH team.

# Step 9

Although identification of eTHRIVE cohorts was a step in this process, the means for identification did not change from identification of THRIVE cohorts. Each cohort is generated from consults. Consults were typically entered into the VA electronic health record by primary care providers familiar with WH and the benefits of group medical appointments such as THRIVE. WH staff contacted veterans with pending consults and invited them to participate in eTHRIVE. When clients accepted the invitation, staff further verified acceptability and capability with electronically delivered care (*intervene with patients/consumers to enhance uptake and adherence, prepare patients/consumers to be active participants*).

# Step 10

Conversion of clinics (*alter incentive/allowance structures, change record systems*) from standard to virtual care was conducted to get organizational virtual care credit (*make billing easier*). This conversation required rebuilding every clinic, creating a grid and renaming these clinics, and obtaining time-consuming administration approvals.

# Step 11

Pilot an eTHRIVE group medical appointment with veterans (*assess for readiness and identify barriers and facilitators*) to ensure usability. Piloting the eTHRIVE group was an essential component to ensuring the staff and veterans were comfortable using the technology, as well as ensuring the technology and delivery modes were fully functional for eTHRIVE delivery.

#### Step 12

Conduct an eTHRIVE program with veteran cohorts. Once all systems, processes, and materials were prepared and piloted, the eTHRIVE program was conducted as a fully functioning electronically delivered group medical appointment.

#### Step 13

As in any implementation of a large-scale process change, rapid feedback on the process (conduct cyclical small tests of change) is imperative and a critical aspect of maintaining optimal implementation over time. Hard copy standard metrics were sent to all participants (N=87) with the majority (n=69) returned to the team by postal mail. There is typically a response burden when participants are required to mail (postal) paper data to clinicians or evaluators. Electronic data collection was subsequently implemented to be in alignment with delivery and remote accessibility. Attrition (5/87, 6%) and acceptability were tracked (purposely reexamine the implementation) as a marker for the new platform. Additional feedback measures included feedback surveys (obtain and use patients/consumers and family feedback) after each episode of care and recap after each session with staff to improve performance. These data (ie, acceptability, feedback surveys) are currently being analyzed.

# Step 14

Identify next cohort and repeat delivery of eTHRIVE with integration of feedback and lessons learned to enhance delivery support program implementation maintenance over time. As with all program implementation and evaluation, eTHRIVE used this approach with the first groups to elicit feedback (*involve patients/consumers and family members*) and inform revisions (*capture and share local knowledge*) to improve the program process and delivery to optimize veterans' experience and promote program outcomes.

# **Uptake and Attrition**

Clinical staff have transitioned to 100% electronic delivery of the THRIVE curriculum using the new eTHRIVE delivery model. The current electronic delivery model, eTHRIVE, has effectively enrolled 10-12 veterans per cohort, with 8 cohorts, totaling 87 veterans to date. eTHRIVE attrition has been 6% (5/87) since initiation. As efforts move forward, program content will be fully re-designed for electronic format and program administrators will leverage opportunities, such as the use of tablets, while balancing barriers associated with those same opportunities, including acquisitions.

# Discussion

# **Principal Findings**

The Whole Health Program is the VA's systematic response to provide a CIH care approach to help veterans manage their health, particularly mental health and pain conditions associated with opioid use and suicide. THRIVE, an evidence-based clinical CIH program, has been systematically transitioned to an electronic delivery model to ensure continuity and access to care in light of the COVID-19 crisis, and the resultant critical need for remote access of care.

Implementation of eTHRIVE was a clinical care process that transitioned face-to-face group medical appointments to electronic delivery group medical appointments in 14 systematic steps. From garnering stakeholder support and selecting a virtual platform, to implementing, evaluating, and refining the program, the process was systematically conducted to ensure successful delivery of eTHRIVE for targeted veteran patients in need.

eTHRIVE presents a multitude of opportunities, including moving to a more pliable applicable platform that is sustainable and remotely accessible, improving reach to marginalized populations. However, eTHRIVE implementation also presented a multitude of potential challenges. First, government-issued equipment for speed and security is required, and patients require technology such as smart pads and personal computers. In addition to equipment and bandwidth requirements, information technology support, which is often limited, is a critical resource required for implementation. Besides, adequate transition time is required to get staff and patients prepared for electronic delivery. While the challenges and resource limitations pose barriers for any electronically delivered program implementation, the benefits of remote access and patient outcomes associated with CIH in a group medical appointment setting warrant effort and resources.

Because of the urgency for continuity of care during the COVID-19 pandemic, the transition and implementation of THRIVE to eTHRIVE was done with urgency. Some limitations to this rapid implementation include lack of a needs and readiness assessment and co-creation of a stakeholder-invested implementation plan, and solutions (eg, adequate equipment, employee telework protocols, and IT support) had to be developed concurrently and reactively opposed to a proactive strategic process. Although these limitations clearly present challenges to the implementation process, the real-world implementation necessitated by a global pandemic presented a unique opportunity to create a remote delivery option that was previously prohibitive, due to outdated confidentiality and privacy policies that did not reflect modern technological capabilities in an emerging era of remotely delivered health care.

# Conclusions

This paper shows the value of outlining the strategic process for adapting a shared medical appointment approach to a remote delivery model while maintaining the integrity of the group medical experience. The current climate of the VA WH programmatic initiative combined with the health care remote access needs due to the current pandemic creates an opportune time to move group medical appointment clinical care programs into an electronic format to broaden scalability and reach. The VA now has the motivation-and need-to leverage infrastructure and resources to implement group medical appointment clinical care programs such as eTHRIVE. The transition from face-to-face to electronic delivery of eTHRIVE occurred in 14 pseudo-simultaneous steps. As implementation of this exemplar group medical appointment clinical care program advances, dissemination of data findings, return on investment, cost-effectiveness, and factors effecting electronic implementation will be critical in moving the science forward as the VA strategizes the electronic delivery of care to all veterans while reducing contact.



# Acknowledgments

The Department of Veterans Affairs, Veterans Health Administration, and Office of Patient Centered Care and Cultural Transformation supported the development of this manuscript. This manuscript was supported in part by the Research Service at the James A. Haley Veterans Hospital. The authors wish to acknowledge the extensive work Whole Health Service staff performed to quickly implement eTHRIVE amongst all the changes brought about by a global pandemic. The contents of this manuscript do not represent the views of the Department of Veterans Affairs or the US Government. This clinical project received no grant from any funding agency in the public, commercial, or not-for-profit sectors.

# **Authors' Contributions**

JH, as primary author, consulted on the program implementation, developed this manuscript, participated heavily in drafting all sections, and provided extensive editing. JP spearheaded the implementation of eTHRIVE, provided details on the steps of implementation and oversight to the integrity of this manuscript with implementation of eTHRIVE. CM developed this manuscript, drafted Abstract, Background, Methods, and Discussion. CM was responsible for formatting, editing, and submission of this manuscript. The corresponding author attests that all coauthors have reviewed and approved of the manuscript prior to submission.

# **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

# References

- Chou R, Turner JA, Devine EB, Hansen RN, Sullivan SD, Blazina I, et al. The effectiveness and risks of long-term opioid therapy for chronic pain: a systematic review for a National Institutes of Health Pathways to Prevention Workshop. Ann Intern Med 2015 Feb 17;162(4):276-286 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7326/M14-2559] [Medline: 25581257]
- Nemeroff CB. The State of Our Understanding of the Pathophysiology and Optimal Treatment of Depression: Glass Half Full or Half Empty? Am J Psychiatry 2020 Aug 01;177(8):671-685. [doi: <u>10.1176/appi.ajp.2020.20060845</u>] [Medline: <u>32741287</u>]
- Zhou Y, Sun L, Wang Y, Wu L, Sun Z, Zhang F, et al. Developments of prolonged exposure in treatment effect of post-traumatic stress disorder and controlling dropout rate: A meta-analytic review. Clin Psychol Psychother 2020 Jul 18;27(4):449-462. [doi: <u>10.1002/cpp.2443</u>] [Medline: <u>32157761</u>]
- 4. Spidel A, Lecomte T, Kealy D, Daigneault I. Acceptance and commitment therapy for psychosis and trauma: Improvement in psychiatric symptoms, emotion regulation, and treatment compliance following a brief group intervention. Psychol Psychother 2018 Jun;91(2):248-261. [doi: 10.1111/papt.12159] [Medline: 28976056]
- Krystal JH, Davis LL, Neylan TC, A Raskind M, Schnurr PP, Stein MB, et al. It Is Time to Address the Crisis in the Pharmacotherapy of Posttraumatic Stress Disorder: A Consensus Statement of the PTSD Psychopharmacology Working Group. Biol Psychiatry 2017 Oct 01;82(7):e51-e59. [doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2017.03.007] [Medline: 28454621]
- 6. VHA Directive 1137: Provision of Complementary and Integrative Health (CIH). U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs. 2017. URL: <u>https://www.va.gov/vhapublications/ViewPublication.asp?pub\_ID=5401</u> [accessed 2020-08-20]
- Abadi MH, Barker AM, Rao SR, Orner M, Rychener D, Bokhour BG. Examining the Impact of a Peer-Led Group Program for Veteran Engagement and Well-Being. J Altern Complement Med 2021 Mar;27(S1):S37-S44. [doi: 10.1089/acm.2020.0124] [Medline: <u>33788603</u>]
- 8. Mowbray CT, Holter MC, Teague GB, Bybee D. Fidelity Criteria: Development, Measurement, and Validation. American Journal of Evaluation 2016 Jun 30;24(3):315-340. [doi: 10.1177/109821400302400303]
- Fineout-Overholt E, Melnyk B, Schultz A. Transforming health care from the inside out: advancing evidence-based practice in the 21st century. J Prof Nurs 2005;21(6):335-344 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.profnurs.2005.10.005] [Medline: 16311228]
- 10. Yang NY, Wolever RQ, Roberts R, Perlman A, Dolor RJ, Abrams DI, et al. Integrative health care services utilization as a function of body mass index: A BraveNet practice-based research network study. Advances in Integrative Medicine 2017 Apr;4(1):14-21. [doi: 10.1016/j.aimed.2017.02.003]
- Fletcher CE, Mitchinson AR, Trumble EL, Hinshaw DB, Dusek JA. Perceptions of other integrative health therapies by Veterans with pain who are receiving massage. J Rehabil Res Dev 2016;53(1):117-126 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1682/JRRD.2015.01.0015] [Medline: 27004453]
- 12. Crocker RL, Grizzle AJ, Hurwitz JT, Rehfeld RA, Abraham I, Horwitz R, et al. Integrative medicine primary care: assessing the practice model through patients' experiences. BMC Complement Altern Med 2017 Nov 15;17(1):490 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12906-017-1996-5] [Medline: 29141643]
- Seligman MEP, Fowler RD. Comprehensive Soldier Fitness and the future of psychology. Am Psychol 2011 Jan;66(1):82-86. [doi: <u>10.1037/a0021898</u>] [Medline: <u>21219053</u>]
- 14. Resnick SG, Rosenheck RA. Recovery and positive psychology: parallel themes and potential synergies. Psychiatr Serv 2006 Jan;57(1):120-122. [doi: 10.1176/appi.ps.57.1.120] [Medline: 16399972]

- 15. Lang AJ, Schnurr PP, Jain S, He F, Walser RD, Bolton E, et al. Randomized controlled trial of acceptance and commitment therapy for distress and impairment in OEF/OIF/OND veterans. Psychol Trauma 2017 Aug 20;9(Suppl 1):74-84. [doi: 10.1037/tra0000127] [Medline: 27322609]
- Forman EM, Herbert JD, Moitra E, Yeomans PD, Geller PA. A randomized controlled effectiveness trial of acceptance and commitment therapy and cognitive therapy for anxiety and depression. Behav Modif 2007 Nov 26;31(6):772-799. [doi: <u>10.1177/0145445507302202</u>] [Medline: <u>17932235</u>]
- Glasgow R, Harden S, Gaglio B, Rabin B, Smith ML, Porter GC, et al. RE-AIM Planning and Evaluation Framework: Adapting to New Science and Practice With a 20-Year Review. Front Public Health 2019;7:64 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2019.00064] [Medline: 30984733]
- Glasgow RE, Dickinson P, Fisher L, Christiansen S, Toobert DJ, Bender BG, et al. Use of RE-AIM to develop a multi-media facilitation tool for the patient-centered medical home. Implement Sci 2011 Oct 21;6(1):118 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-6-118] [Medline: 22017791]
- 19. Gaglio B, Shoup JA, Glasgow RE. The RE-AIM framework: a systematic review of use over time. Am J Public Health 2013 Jun;103(6):e38-e46. [doi: <u>10.2105/AJPH.2013.301299</u>] [Medline: <u>23597377</u>]
- 20. Bennett GG, Glasgow RE. The delivery of public health interventions via the Internet: actualizing their potential. Annu Rev Public Health 2009 Apr;30:273-292. [doi: 10.1146/annurev.publhealth.031308.100235] [Medline: 19296777]
- Haun JN, Paykel J, Alman AC, Patel N, Melillo C. A complementary and integrative health group-based program pilot demonstrates positive health outcomes with female Veterans. Explore (NY) 2020 Mar;16(2):85-89 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.explore.2019.08.001] [Medline: <u>31477475</u>]
- 22. Taylor SL, Bolton R, Huynh A, Dvorin K, Elwy AR, Bokhour BG, et al. What Should Health Care Systems Consider When Implementing Complementary and Integrative Health: Lessons from Veterans Health Administration. J Altern Complement Med 2019 Mar;25(S1):S52-S60. [doi: 10.1089/acm.2018.0445] [Medline: 30870020]
- 23. Bokhour BG, Fix GM, Mueller NM, Barker AM, Lavela SL, Hill JN, et al. How can healthcare organizations implement patient-centered care? Examining a large-scale cultural transformation. BMC Health Serv Res 2018 Mar 07;18(1):1-11 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12913-018-2949-5] [Medline: 29514631]
- 24. Powell BJ, Waltz TJ, Chinman MJ, Damschroder LJ, Smith JL, Matthieu MM, et al. A refined compilation of implementation strategies: results from the Expert Recommendations for Implementing Change (ERIC) project. Implement Sci 2015 Feb 12;10(1):21 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13012-015-0209-1] [Medline: 25889199]
- 25. Haun J, Chavez M, Hathaway W, Antinori N, Melillo C, Cotner BA, et al. Virtual Medical Modality Implementation Strategies for Patient-Aligned Care Teams to Promote Veteran-Centered Care: Protocol for a Mixed-Methods Study. JMIR Res Protoc 2018 Aug 15;7(8):e11262 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11262] [Medline: 30111531]
- 26. Haun J. Advancing Implementation Science in Healthcare. 2018 Sep 30 Presented at: American Congress of Rehabilitation Medicine; September 30, 2018; Dallas, TX URL: <u>https://www.eventscribe.com/2018/ACRM/fsPopup.</u> <u>asp?Mode=presInfo&PresentationID=401779</u>

# Abbreviations

CARA: Comprehensive Addiction and Recovery Act CIH: complementary and integrative health OPCCCT: Office of Patient Centered Care and Cultural Transformation THRIVE: Transforming Health and Resiliency through Integration of Values-based Experiences VA: Department of Veterans Affairs VISN: Veterans Integrated Service Network WH: Whole Health System program

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 01.12.20; peer-reviewed by J Murphy, S Kunkle, J Zhang; comments to author 23.12.20; revised version received 29.04.21; accepted 16.05.21; published 29.06.21.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Haun JN, Paykel J, Melillo C Transforming Health and Resiliency Through Integration of Values-based Experiences: Implementation of an Electronic Evidence-based Whole Health Clinical Program JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e26030 URL: <u>https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e26030</u> doi:10.2196/26030 PMID:<u>34184996</u>

©Jolie N Haun, Jacquelyn Paykel, Christine Melillo. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 29.06.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

# **Original Paper**

# Advancing Mental Health and Psychological Support for Health Care Workers Using Digital Technologies and Platforms

# Jiancheng Ye<sup>1</sup>

Feinberg School of Medicine, Northwestern University, Chicago, IL, United States

**Corresponding Author:** Jiancheng Ye Feinberg School of Medicine Northwestern University 633 N Saint Clair St Chicago, IL United States Phone: 1 312 503 3690 Email: jiancheng.ye@u.northwestern.edu

# Abstract

**Background:** The COVID-19 pandemic is a global public health crisis that has not only endangered the lives of patients but also resulted in increased psychological issues among medical professionals, especially frontline health care workers. As the crisis caused by the pandemic shifts from acute to protracted, attention should be paid to the devastating impacts on health care workers' mental health and social well-being. Digital technologies are being harnessed to support the responses to the pandemic, which provide opportunities to advance mental health and psychological support for health care workers.

**Objective:** The aim of this study is to develop a framework to describe and organize the psychological and mental health issues that health care workers are facing during the COVID-19 pandemic. Based on the framework, this study also proposes interventions from digital health perspectives that health care workers can leverage during and after the pandemic.

**Methods:** The psychological problems and mental health issues that health care workers have encountered during the COVID-19 pandemic were reviewed and analyzed based on the proposed MEET (Mental Health, Environment, Event, and Technology) framework, which also demonstrated the interactions among mental health, digital interventions, and social support.

**Results:** Health care workers are facing increased risk of experiencing mental health issues due to the COVID-19 pandemic, including burnout, fear, worry, distress, pressure, anxiety, and depression. These negative emotional stressors may cause psychological problems for health care workers and affect their physical and mental health. Digital technologies and platforms are playing pivotal roles in mitigating psychological issues and providing effective support. The proposed framework enabled a better understanding of how to mitigate the psychological effects during the pandemic, recover from associated experiences, and provide comprehensive institutional and societal infrastructures for the well-being of health care workers.

**Conclusions:** The COVID-19 pandemic presents unprecedented challenges due to its prolonged uncertainty, immediate threat to patient safety, and evolving professional demands. It is urgent to protect the mental health and strengthen the psychological resilience of health care workers. Given that the pandemic is expected to exist for a long time, caring for mental health has become a "new normal" that needs a strengthened multisector collaboration to facilitate support and reduce health disparities. The proposed MEET framework could provide structured guidelines for further studies on how technology interacts with mental and psychological health for different populations.

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e22075) doi:10.2196/22075

# KEYWORDS

mental health; health care workers; health informatics; digital intervention; health technology; mobile health; COVID-19

# Introduction

RenderX

The COVID-19 pandemic, as a prolonged global public health crisis, has heavily burdened health care systems and the health

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e22075

care workers who are the direct responders to safeguard people's health. Positive and optimistic emotional states play important roles in stimulating the human body's immune system, which could enable health care workers to effectively engage in the fight against the pandemic. Excessive pressure, anxiety, and

depression can be detrimental to mental health and may prevent health care workers from actively performing their duties in response to the pandemic. The scale, pervasiveness, and complexity of the stressors associated with the ongoing pandemic are unprecedented, despite the fact that some countries have achieved milestones in controlling the pandemic and have moved forward to the initiation of vaccination [1]. With the realization that the end of the pandemic is far from close, the toll of the pandemic on the mental health and well-being of health care workers still requires urgent attention.

Experiencing intense pressure at work for a long time may cause a series of problems that can affect physical and mental health, which can also affect workers' quality of life and work efficiency [2,3]. The threat of being infected by the virus, inability to complete work, emotional impact of patients' deaths, and concerns regarding the safety of family members all increase the emotional pressure on health care workers. Although vaccines have been distributed in some countries, research indicates that vaccine compliance remains variable and inconsistent [4,5]. The existing mental problems in the face of extensive media coverage of the rising numbers of casualties, overburdened health care systems, and psychological issues caused by the COVID-19 pandemic may have fostered health care workers' anxieties and distrust in preventative health care. These fears could also result in vaccine hesitancy [4]. Given that the COVID-19 pandemic is expected to persist for a long time, caring for health care workers' mental health has become a "new normal" that requires strengthened multisector collaboration to facilitate mental health support and reduce health disparities. However, to enhance their psychological preparedness for the new normal of the pandemic, there is a need to integrate resources and provide a more comprehensive and concerted psychological support for health care workers.

Understanding the risks of mental health issues that health care workers have been experiencing, identifying effective interventions to address the adverse effects of the pandemic, and proposing tailored strategies based on digital health will offer valuable support for health care workers. As we look to an uncertain future, a conceptual framework for the development and deployment of support will facilitate well-being endeavors and provide a foundation for addressing long-term mental health needs. The aim of this study is to develop a framework to describe and organize the mental health and psychological problems that health care workers are facing during the pandemic. Based on the framework, this study also proposes potential interventions from digital health perspectives that

# Methods

pandemic.

#### **Conceptual Framework**

In this study, we reviewed and analyzed the psychological problems and mental health issues that health care workers have encountered during the COVID-19 pandemic, and we developed the MEET (Mental Health, Environment, Event, and Technology) framework (Figure 1) to demonstrate the interactions of mental health, digital interventions, and social support.

health care workers could leverage during and after the

There is a mismatch between the societal and organizational sources of psychological problems, such as lack of personal protective equipment, overwhelming workload, and the attempts by health care systems to address mental health issues at an individual level [6]. In this framework, mental health includes cognitive status, activities of daily living, behaviors, and instrumental activities of daily living. Environment refers to factors that are related to social support, family, and network composition. Events include the COVID-19 pandemic, lockdown, social distancing, and vaccine distribution [7]. Technology includes diverse types of digital interventions and platforms [8], such as online support forums, telehealth platforms, health apps, and wearable devices. Through the MEET framework, it is possible to better understand the interactions between mental health, event, environment, and technology.

Figure 1. The MEET (Mental Health, Environment, Event, and Technology) framework.



#### Search Strategy

The search strategy and selection criteria were designed to search the PubMed, Health Source: Nursing/Academic Edition, Embase database, and Scopus databases to identify relevant articles published up to the date of the study. Search terms

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e22075

included *COVID-19*, 2019-nCov, SARS-CoV-2, SARS-CoV, and *coronavirus* and in combination with *health care worker, mental health, psychological health, technology,* and *digital intervention.* The search strategy also included Medical Subject Headings terms in the search strategy for PubMed and Emtree terms for Embase. The search was not restricted by study design.

Textbox 1 demonstrates the search strategy based on the proposed MEET framework. This framework could also be applied to other populations by replacing section V with the corresponding population, such as older patients, pediatrics, etc [<mark>9</mark>].

Textbox 1. Search strategy outline based on the proposed MEET (Mental H	lealth, Environment, Event, and Technology) framework.
I: Mental health	
1. Mental*	
2. Psychol*	
3. Psychiatric*	
4. Anxiety	
5. Depress*	
6. Stress*	
7. Psychosocial	
8. Emotion*	
II: Environment	
1. COVID-19*	
2. SARS-CoV-2*	
3. Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2	
4. 2019-nCoV*	
III: Event	
1. Pandemic	
2. Lockdown	
3. Quarantine	
4. Social distanc*	
5. Infection	
6. Vaccin*	
IV: Technology	
1. Technology	
2. Digital intervention	
3. Digital health	
4. Digital platform	
5. Informatic*	
6. Health technology	
V: Population	
1. Health care worker*	
2. Health care provider*	
3. Health care professional*	
Search strategy:	
(I1 or I2 or I3 or I4 or I5 or I6 or I7 or I8) AND (II1 or II 2 or II 3 or II 4) or IV4 or IV5 or IV6) AND (V1 or V2 or V3)	AND (III1 or III2 or III3 or III4 or III5 or III6) AND (IV1 or IV2 or IV3
Study Selection and Eligibility Criteria	interventions aimed at preventing or reducing negative mental health issues were analyzed and summarized narratively. The

This study included any type of study about any type of health care worker during the COVID-19 pandemic with outcomes relating to their mental and psychological health, as well as studies about digital health technologies and platforms. The prevalence of mental health issues and effects and the

XSL•FC RenderX search strategy imposed no restrictions on study design, methodology, or language. This study focused on the health care worker population and identified references by searching (title/abstract) using the keywords from the four domains

(mental health, environment, event, and technology) that are listed in Textbox 1.

# Results

# Psychological Problems and Mental Health Issues of Health Care Workers

#### Anger

The inner sense of security of health care workers has been threatened by the global pandemic. Health care workers may feel helpless and powerless. From the psychological perspective, anger is a type of psychological defense [10]. There are multiple triggers of anger: anger with sudden outbreak, helplessness during the spread of the pandemic, delayed vaccination, etc.

#### Anxiety

Health care workers have received professional medical training, which can help them address the pandemic objectively and rationally. However, they also have the same emotional responses as the general population, who are experiencing feelings of anxiety and panic. In addition to worrying about themselves and their families being infected with SARS-CoV-2, some health care workers are worried that the pandemic will continue to spread. Some health care workers pay too much attention to negative news and information. When they feel physical discomfort, especially with respiratory symptoms, they often manifest anxiety, nervousness, and restlessness. This sense of losing control will likely result in overthinking, pessimism, loss of appetite, overeating, or weight loss [11].

# Obsessive-Compulsive Habits, Traits, and Disorder

Obsessive-compulsive disorder [12] refers to a mental disorder with the main symptoms of repeated compulsive actions or forced thinking. In the current pandemic situation, hand washing, opening windows, and wearing masks are effective means to prevent SARS-CoV-2 infection. However, health care workers may engage in forced actions of excessive disinfection behaviors. They may overthink the negative consequences of the disease, while these abnormal behaviors can cause painful feelings.

# **Hypochondriasis**

Hypochondriasis is a psychopathological status [13] in which a person ascertains that they have a specific disease without clear medical evidence. In the context of the COVID-19 pandemic, health care workers are in close proximity or direct contact with a large number of patients, and the potential risk factors for infection are significantly increased, which can lead to hypochondriasis. When physical discomfort occurs, the health care workers may overthink their symptoms, which may cause unnecessary anxiety and nervousness.

#### Depression

Pessimistic feelings are likely to trigger negative and hopeless emotions. These emotions are signs of depression. Various factors may contribute to depression, such as grief over the loss of lives, fear of becoming ill, and psychological trauma from the global pandemic [14].

#### Ye

#### Sleep Issues

Sufficient sleep is essential for health care workers to restore physical strength and improve immunity after high-intensity work. Having a good quality of sleep can reduce the risk of illness. However, during the pandemic, there are multiple barriers to sleep: isolation from society, disordered life rhythm, mental fatigue, depression, loss of interest and joy in life, etc. Health care workers may have difficulty falling asleep even when in an exhausted physical state, or they may experience shortened sleep time, frequent waking and dreaming, and disordered sleep rhythms [15].

# **Physical Discomfort and Somatization**

During the pandemic, some health care workers may feel physical discomfort, which may be caused by physiological or mental health issues. Strong psychological fluctuation will lead to physical discomfort involving organ systems throughout the body. When health care workers are under great pressure, negative emotions tend to be transformed into physical symptoms, which is commonly called somatization [16]. With these symptoms, psychological disorders and pain may not be detected but may be present in the psychopathological process in the forms of physical discomfort or dysfunction. Common types of physical discomfort include palpitations, chest tightness, shortness of breath, airway obstruction, dizziness, bloating, fatigue, decreased appetite, unstable blood pressure, and menstrual disorders [17]. These experiences of physical discomfort tend to increase the tendency toward hypochondriasis and often lead to a sense of panic.

# **Cognitive Issues in Concentration**

The human body will redistribute blood nutrients to the heart, muscles, and other organs when it is under stress. This process will reduce the essential supply to the brain and result in inattention, inability to focus, and decreased ability of judgment and perception. In addition, paranoia may be generated in such situations [18].

#### **Behavioral Issues**

In hospitals, when health care workers treat patients who are suspected SARS-CoV-2 carriers, and they are likely to be sensitive to patients' coughing and prone to have conflicts with them. An irregular lifestyle, such as unhealthy diet, poor sleep, and lack of physical activity, will increase the likelihood of infection. Common behavioral problems include performance avoidance, decreased work enthusiasm and physical activity, increased dependence on families, and disorderly lifestyle and self-management. Health care workers may also experience unhealthy lifestyle activities, such as smoking, drinking, staying up late, and overeating; or blind behaviors, such as panic buying and stockpiling of disinfection supplies, food, drugs, etc [19].

# Mental Health and Psychological Protection Interventions

The COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in an increase in risk factors for mental health issues, which requires both short-term adaptations and sustained responses. Lack of training, social support, effective communication, and accommodative coping are common factors for developing psychological morbidities



and adverse psychiatric outcomes [20]. Comprehensively integrated intervention approaches are often more effective than single treatment methods and have a longer-lasting effect. The emerging health information technologies [21] coupled with recent innovations in digital health could enable health services to offer tailored and proactive mental health care for health care workers.

#### **Digital Communication Platforms**

During the COVID-19 pandemic, health care workers are most likely to communicate with colleagues with whom they have been working together closely. This is because these colleagues are empathetic and understand the hardships and difficulties of frontline work, and their mutual consolation will be an effective intervention. Understanding and support from family are also important. However, due to the policy of social distancing, digital platforms may be more accessible during a pandemic [22]. These platforms could enable health care workers to communicate, which is an essential component of any universal, community-led response to the pandemic [23]. Furthermore, the digital communication platforms could provide a peer-support network for health care workers to share their emotional feelings, challenges, and personalized resolutions, which may foster resilience and comradeship.

# **Telehealth Platforms**

Another ideal communication partner is a psychologist. Communicating with psychologists through telehealth or remote platforms can allow health care workers to express negative emotions, actively talk about the difficulties they face, and express personal feelings encountered during the work. Primary mental health care modes such as counseling, psychotherapy, or pharmacological treatment should be provided through the health care workers' local health care system or organization as needed. Professional guidance from psychologists will help health care workers to relieve negative emotions, adjust their negative cognition, and restore a healthy mentality to enable them to better cope with work and interact harmoniously with their families. For those health care workers who are too busy to receive support from local psychologists, resources such as employee assistance programs, [24] crisis hotlines [25], and other institutional resources may be good first steps.

#### Self-Guided Psychological Interventions

Nonpharmacological interventions, such as cognitive-behavioral therapy, meditation, mindfulness, breathing, and relaxation training through websites or mobile apps, will be suitable for health care workers. Internet-based psychological intervention may be the most convenient, fast, and economical means for health care workers who are currently fighting the novel coronavirus. With the help of information technology, these interventions can be transformed into audiovisual interactions, which enables health care workers to access web-based psychological intervention without being restricted to a particular time and place. This media information can also transmit scientific psychological crisis response strategies to frontline health care workers effectively. In this way, health care workers can improve their mental health protection awareness and take timely action.

#### **Internet-Based Interventions**

Regularity, order, and a sense of control are effective means of coping with anxiety and panic. During the pandemic, despite the limited range and number of activities, health care workers are still expected to actively balance work and life. They should not overuse alcohol or tobacco to relieve pressure or negative emotions. Health care workers who have sleep issues need to pay attention to sleep hygiene and decrease their use of caffeine [26]. Studies have shown that evidence-based internet interventions can be helpful to address these issues [27]. For health care institutions that have not implemented internet-based interventions, providing mindfulness education or meditation interventions could significantly reduce stress and other psychological diseases [28,29].

#### Web-Based Learning Communities

Obtaining mental health knowledge through web-based learning communities is another effective approach. Emotions such as anxiety and fear are normal psychological reactions, and moderate anxiety can help people increase their awareness of prevention [30] and avoid dangerous environments. However, excessive pressure and anxiety will weaken the human body's immune system and damage its protection mechanisms. Receiving mental health education and training enables health care workers to make rapid and scientific judgments about their psychological status and offers them keen insights into abnormal psychological reactions.

This training includes education on the psychosocial impact of high-casualty events in different settings. Health care workers could develop a personalized resilience plan that involves the identification of anticipated responses. Meanwhile, they should also be taught how to use digital and mobile health technologies for delivering care [31,32]. The earlier the intervention, the more likely that negative moods and psychological situations will be adjusted in time. Furthermore, this training will help health care workers understand stress-related obstacles and approaches to adjust their emotions in the face of catastrophic events as well as establish the correct psychological defense mechanism against crises. Although training and education may not generate an immediate effect, these efforts will create an active continuum of improved environment [33], reinforce the capacity to support increased access to care for mental health issues, and strengthen health care workers' readiness for the new normal of the postpandemic era.

#### Artificial Intelligence in Health Care Systems

The COVID-19 pandemic has increased the stress of health care workers who were already overwhelmed by high workloads. Many health care workers are on the fringe of reaching their physical and psychological limits. High stress and overwork not only damage health care workers' physical and mental health [34] but also affect their decision-making during clinical work [35]. Health care workers should objectively assess their own ability to withstand pressure and stress and measure their ability to devote themselves to effective work. Using artificial intelligence approaches, such as machine learning and deep learning [36], to plan a reasonable schedule of shifts and assist

XSL•FO RenderX

in clinical decision-making [37] may help health care workers avoid physical and mental burnout [38].

#### Mobile Health

Point-of-care systems such as portable and smart devices [39], home diagnosis technologies based on the Internet of Things [40], and other digital interventions can help health care workers detect potential physical issues at early stages. In addition, these interventions could be tailored to health care workers and fit with their personal needs and lifestyles.

#### Short Videos

Health care workers are always seeking a transparent understanding of the situation during the pandemic [41]. Short videos provide a panoramic and detailed record of the actual situation. The intuitive ways in which they present information greatly improve the audience's acceptance and understanding [42]. Some short videos could provide advice on ways to stay healthy by teaching health care workers how to include sufficient physical activity in their routine, eat fresh food, and consume natural supplements that can support their immune systems. In addition, the short videos could facilitate wellness therapies to relieve stress, anxiety, and help health care workers maintain a general sense of mental and physical well-being.

#### New Media

The timely disclosure and dissemination of information could help health care workers and their families understand the course of the incident, the truth, and the real situation [43]. Meanwhile, authoritative information also eliminates rumors and prevents excessive pressure on health care workers. Higher satisfaction with disseminated public information may contribute to lower psychological distress. In the current situation, authoritative news could be quickly and widely disseminated through health communication technologies (ie, social media, short videos) to address public concerns. This information can strengthen the credibility of official departments and help reduce or even eliminate the influence of rumors [44]. New media platforms are also enhancing the affinity and attractiveness of digital approaches.

#### Social Media

Social media platforms are important sources for supervision of public opinion. During the pandemic, all departments, agencies, and institutions in society have been interlocked in their responses to the emergency, which requires an orderly, accurate, and efficient workflow. Mobile information and health communication technologies play prominent roles in media supervision, investigation, and filling in information gaps. Through mobile communication platforms, health care workers from different departments at the front line could share their perseverance, efforts, and strategies to prevent and control the pandemic situation from multiple perspectives [45].

Through social media, humanistic information and communication can not only calm health care workers and boost their confidence but also positively guide the public and help mitigate negative and anxious environments [46]. Social media is playing a comprehensive role in science popularization, as it is based on modern mobile communication technologies that

are conveying scientific knowledge to the public in a fast, timely, and vivid fashion. With multiplatform and multichannel support to achieve rapid information coverage, the public can obtain a scientific understanding of the dynamic situation in a short time and mobilize their subjective initiatives for effective preventive actions, which is more efficient than passive installation [47].

# Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

Health care workers and professionals have the critical responsibilities of saving lives and protecting people's health during the COVID-19 pandemic. The pandemic has undoubtedly created universal psychological distress. Efforts to address the problem and to prevent the long-term mental health deterioration of health care workers are paramount in the response to COVID-19. Understanding the risks of mental health issues that health care workers are experiencing, identifying effective interventions to address the adverse effects of the pandemic, and proposing tailored strategies based on digital health will offer valuable support for health care workers. We provide a conceptual framework for allocation of the main sectors (mental health, environment, event, and technology) at the individual, organizational, and societal levels, focusing on addressing health care workers' well-being needs during and after the pandemic.

To prepare for the long-term fight against the pandemic, these guardians of human life must maintain their physical and mental health to work effectively to take care of more patients. Providing health care workers with positive support will help mobilize their self-psychological protection capabilities, thus allowing them to continue their valuable work. The need for more mental health services will introduce additional burdens to health care systems, and digital health technologies are playing vital roles to relieve these overwhelmed systems. Leveraging hybrid solutions that offer web-based, telehealth-based, or blended face-to-face intervention and treatment may be more accessible and effective [48].

In addition to using digital technologies and platforms, health care workers should avoid information overload. Due to the modernization of communication approaches, the amount of information about the pandemic is overwhelming, which can increase the sense of insecurity and uncertainty. The traditional ways in which people obtain information, such as newspapers, radio, and television, have been transferred to the internet and mobile platforms such as social media, video, or live broadcast platforms. Mobile information and health communication technologies have revolutionized information dissemination, data exchange, media supervision, guidance of public opinion, and health communication [49]. Health care workers should pay more attention to authoritative information, actively avoiding negative news and preventing information from overwhelming them. Meanwhile, health care workers should also keep in regular contact with families and friends, which can not only increase emotional interaction and psychological support but can also increase mutual encouragement.

XSL•FO
The pandemic may cause pressure, panic, and psychological trauma to health care workers. Technologies could not solve all the problems. Mild emotional distress can be adjusted by health care workers themselves, while serious panic will seriously impact their daily life. Self-regulation often has a limited effect and requires professional assistance, and it is not suitable for every health care worker, especially young health care providers who have not experienced such a serious crisis. Health care workers with insufficient clinical experience may generate more pressure and experience persistent depression, anxiety, insomnia, and other symptoms. Health care workers should request remote counseling from experts or go to a psychological clinic for consultation when necessary. If their psychological problems cannot be relieved after receiving professional psychological intervention or mental health services, psychiatrists should intervene in time and provide corresponding diagnosis and treatment. Given that the COVID-19 pandemic is expected to continue for a long time, caring for mental health has become a new normal that needs strengthened multisector collaboration to improve social support and reduce health disparities. To

enhance the psychological preparedness of health care workers for the new normal of the pandemic, there is a need to integrate resources and provide them with more comprehensive and concerted psychological support.

# Conclusion

The COVID-19 pandemic has heavily burdened health care systems throughout the world. It is urgent and critical to protect the mental health and strengthen the psychological resilience of health care workers. The proposed MEET framework could aid understanding of the interactions among the mental health, event, environment, and technology sectors. In addition, this framework may provide structured guidelines for future research on mental and psychological studies for different populations. Long-term, proactive individual, organizational, and societal infrastructures to support health care workers' mental health are needed to mitigate the psychological impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. Embedding these mental health practices as part of the new normal can be a stepping stone to a new future with benefits and implications for other global public health issues far beyond the response to the COVID-19 pandemic.

# **Authors' Contributions**

JY was responsible for the study design, data analysis, interpretation of results for the work, and writing of the manuscript.

# **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

# References

- 1. Ye J. Health information system's responses to COVID-19 pandemic in China: a national cross-sectional study. Appl Clin Inform 2021 Mar 19;12(2):399-406. [doi: 10.1055/s-0041-1728770] [Medline: 34010976]
- Koinis A, Giannou V, Drantaki V, Angelaina S, Stratou E, Saridi M. The impact of healthcare workers job environment on their mental-emotional health. Coping strategies: the case of a local general hospital. Health Psychol Res 2015 Apr 13;3(1):1984 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4081/hpr.2015.1984] [Medline: 26973958]
- Ye J, Zhang R, Bannon JE, Wang AA, Walunas TL, Kho AN, et al. Identifying practice facilitation delays and barriers in primary care quality improvement. J Am Board Fam Med 2020 Sep 28;33(5):655-664 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3122/jabfm.2020.05.200058] [Medline: 32989060]
- Dror AA, Eisenbach N, Taiber S, Morozov NG, Mizrachi M, Zigron A, et al. Vaccine hesitancy: the next challenge in the fight against COVID-19. Eur J Epidemiol 2020 Aug 12;35(8):775-779. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10654-020-00671-y</u>] [Medline: <u>32785815</u>]
- Omer SB, Salmon DA, Orenstein WA, deHart MP, Halsey N. Vaccine refusal, mandatory immunization, and the risks of vaccine-preventable diseases. N Engl J Med 2009 May 07;360(19):1981-1988. [doi: <u>10.1056/nejmsa0806477</u>]
- Ye J. The impact of electronic health record-integrated patient-generated health data on clinician burnout. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2021 Apr 23;28(5):1051-1056. [doi: <u>10.1093/jamia/ocab017</u>] [Medline: <u>33822095</u>]
- 7. van de Bovenkamp HM, Trappenburg MJ. The relationship between mental health workers and family members. Patient Educ Couns 2010 Jul;80(1):120-125. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2009.09.022] [Medline: 19836188]
- Cooper B, Harwin BG, Depla C, Shepherd M. Mental health care in the community: an evaluative study. Psychol Med 1975 Nov 09;5(4):372-380. [doi: 10.1017/s0033291700056993] [Medline: 1197539]
- 9. Ye J. Pediatric mental and behavioral health in the period of quarantine and social distancing with COVID-19. JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020 Jul 28;3(2):e19867 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/19867] [Medline: 32634105]
- 10. Harmon-Jones EA, Harmon-Jones C. Anger: causes and components. In: Cavell TA, Malcolm KT, editors. Anger, Aggression and Interventions for Interpersonal Violence. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates; 2007:99-117.
- Vindegaard N, Benros ME. COVID-19 pandemic and mental health consequences: systematic review of the current evidence. Brain Behav Immun 2020 Oct;89:531-542 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2020.05.048] [Medline: 32485289]
- Leckman JF, Grice DE, Boardman J, Zhang H, Vitale A, Bondi C, et al. Symptoms of obsessive-compulsive disorder. Am J Psychiatry 1997 Jul;154(7):911-917. [doi: <u>10.1176/ajp.154.7.911</u>] [Medline: <u>9210740</u>]
- 13. Warwick HM, Salkovskis PM. Hypochondriasis. Behav Res Ther 1990;28(2):105-117. [doi: 10.1016/0005-7967(90)90023-c]

- Pappa S, Ntella V, Giannakas T, Giannakoulis VG, Papoutsi E, Katsaounou P. Prevalence of depression, anxiety, and insomnia among healthcare workers during the COVID-19 pandemic: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Brain Behav Immun 2020 Aug;88:901-907 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2020.05.026] [Medline: 32437915]
- 15. Ye J, Wang Z, Hai J. Social networking service, patient-generated health data, and population health informatics: patterns and implications for using digital technologies to support mental health. medRxiv. Preprint posted online June 18, 2021. URL: <u>https://www.medrxiv.org/content/10.1101/2021.06.11.21258777v1</u>
- 16. Escobar JI, Burnam MA, Karno M, Forsythe A, Golding JM. Somatization in the community. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1987 Aug 01;44(8):713-718. [doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.1987.01800200039006] [Medline: 3498454]
- 17. Adhanom Ghebreyesus T. Addressing mental health needs: an integral part of COVID-19 response. World Psychiatry 2020 Jun 11;19(2):129-130 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/wps.20768] [Medline: 32394569]
- Ho CS, Chee CY, Ho RC. Mental health strategies to combat the psychological impact of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) beyond paranoia and panic. Ann Acad Med Singap 2020 Mar 31;49(3):155-160. [doi: <u>10.47102/annals-acadmedsg.202043</u>]
- Feinglass J, Wang JA, Ye J, Tessier R, Kim H. Hospital care for opioid use in Illinois, 2016-2019. J Behav Health Serv Res 2021 Jan 27:1-13 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11414-020-09748-8] [Medline: <u>33502670</u>]
- 20. Naushad VA, Bierens JJ, Nishan KP, Firjeeth CP, Mohammad OH, Maliyakkal AM, et al. A systematic review of the impact of disaster on the mental health of medical responders. Prehosp Disaster Med 2019 Oct 18;34(6):632-643. [doi: 10.1017/s1049023x19004874]
- 21. Ye J. The role of health technology and informatics in a global public health emergency: practices and implications from the COVID-19 pandemic. JMIR Med Inform 2020 Jul 14;8(7):e19866 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/19866] [Medline: 32568725]
- 22. Mental health and psychosocial considerations during the COVID-19 outbreak. World Health Organization. 2020 Mar 18. URL: <u>https://www.who.int/docs/default-source/coronaviruse/mental-health-considerations.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-06-14]
- 23. Abrams EM, Greenhawt M. Risk communication during COVID-19. J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract 2020 Jun;8(6):1791-1794 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jaip.2020.04.012] [Medline: 32304834]
- 24. Colantonio A. Assessing the effects of employee assistance programs: a review of employee assistance program evaluations. Yale J Biol Med 1989;62(1):13-22 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 2728498]
- Kalafat J, Gould MS, Munfakh JLH, Kleinman M. An evaluation of crisis hotline outcomes. Part 1: Nonsuicidal crisis callers. Suicide Life Threat Behav 2007 Jun 31;37(3):322-337. [doi: <u>10.1521/suli.2007.37.3.322</u>] [Medline: <u>17579544</u>]
- 26. Suzuki K, Ohida T, Kaneita Y, Yokoyama E, Uchiyama M. Daytime sleepiness, sleep habits and occupational accidents among hospital nurses. J Adv Nurs 2005 Nov;52(4):445-453. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2648.2005.03610.x] [Medline: 16268848]
- 27. Baumeister H, Reichler L, Munzinger M, Lin J. The impact of guidance on Internet-based mental health interventions a systematic review. Internet Interv 2014 Oct;1(4):205-215. [doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2014.08.003]
- Bögels SM, Lehtonen A, Restifo K. Mindful parenting in mental health care. Mindfulness (N Y) 2010 Jun 25;1(2):107-120 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s12671-010-0014-5] [Medline: 21125026]
- 29. Christensen H, Griffiths KM, Jorm AF. Delivering interventions for depression by using the internet: randomised controlled trial. BMJ 2004 Jan 31;328(7434):265. [doi: 10.1136/bmj.37945.566632.ee]
- 30. Rickwood D, Bradford. The role of self-help in the treatment of mild anxiety disorders in young people: an evidence-based review. PRBM 2012 Feb:25. [doi: 10.2147/prbm.s23357]
- Zhang J, Wu W, Zhao X, Zhang W. Recommended psychological crisis intervention response to the 2019 novel coronavirus pneumonia outbreak in China: a model of West China Hospital. Precis Clin Med 2020 Feb 18;3(1):3-8. [doi: 10.1093/pcmedi/pbaa006]
- 32. Ye J, Ma Q. The effects and patterns among mobile health, social determinants, and physical activity: a nationally representative cross-sectional study. AMIA Jt Summits Transl Sci Proc 2021.
- Richardson GE, Waite PJ. Mental health promotion through resilience and resiliency education. Int J Emerg Ment Health 2002;4(1):65-75. [Medline: <u>12014295</u>]
- 34. Nakao M. Work-related stress and psychosomatic medicine. Biopsychosoc Med 2010 May 26;4(1):4 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1751-0759-4-4] [Medline: 20504368]
- 35. Porcelli AJ, Delgado MR. Stress and decision making: effects on valuation, learning, and risk-taking. Curr Opin Behav Sci 2017 Apr;14:33-39 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.cobeha.2016.11.015] [Medline: 28044144]
- Ye J, Yao L, Shen J, Janarthanam R, Luo Y. Predicting mortality in critically ill patients with diabetes using machine learning and clinical notes. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2020 Dec 30;20(Suppl 11):295 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12911-020-01318-4] [Medline: 33380338]
- 37. Ye J, Sanchez-Pinto LN. Three data-driven phenotypes of multiple organ dysfunction syndrome preserved from early childhood to middle adulthood. AMIA Annu Symp Proc 2020;2020:1345-1353 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>33936511</u>]
- Peterson U, Demerouti E, Bergström G, Samuelsson M, Åsberg M, Nygren Å. Burnout and physical and mental health among Swedish healthcare workers. J Adv Nurs 2008 Apr;62(1):84-95. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1365-2648.2007.04580.x</u>] [Medline: <u>18352967</u>]

- Zhang J, Fu R, Xie L, Li Q, Zhou W, Wang R, et al. A smart device for label-free and real-time detection of gene point mutations based on the high dark phase contrast of vapor condensation. Lab Chip 2015 Oct 07;15(19):3891-3896. [doi: 10.1039/c5lc00488h] [Medline: 26266399]
- 40. Ye J, Li N, Lu Y, Cheng J, Xu Y. A portable urine analyzer based on colorimetric detection. Anal Methods 2017;9(16):2464-2471. [doi: 10.1039/c7ay00780a]
- Tasnim S, Hossain MM, Mazumder H. Impact of rumors or misinformation on coronavirus disease (COVID-19) in social media. J Prev Med Public Health 2020 May;53(3):171-174 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.3961/jpmph.20.094</u>] [Medline: <u>32498140</u>]
- 42. Molyneaux H, O'Donnell S, Daniels B. Communicating health information with online videos. NRC Publications Archive. 2011 Jul 01. URL: <u>https://nrc-publications.canada.ca/eng/view/accepted/?id=750abe88-b1fd-4038-b888-db22967b4696</u> [accessed 2021-06-14]
- 43. Ng K, Poon BH, Kiat Puar TH, Shan Quah JL, Loh WJ, Wong YJ, et al. COVID-19 and the risk to health care workers: a case report. Ann Intern Med 2020 Jun 02;172(11):766-767. [doi: <u>10.7326/120-0175</u>]
- 44. Huxtable R. COVID-19: where is the national ethical guidance? BMC Med Ethics 2020 May 01;21(1):32 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12910-020-00478-2] [Medline: 32357883]
- 45. Keesara S, Jonas A, Schulman K. Covid-19 and health care's digital revolution. N Engl J Med 2020 Jun 04;382(23):e82. [doi: 10.1056/nejmp2005835]
- 46. Ornell F, Schuch JB, Sordi AO, Kessler FHP. "Pandemic fear" and COVID-19: mental health burden and strategies. Braz J Psychiatry 2020 Jun;42(3):232-235. [doi: 10.1590/1516-4446-2020-0008]
- Holmes EA, O'Connor RC, Perry VH, Tracey I, Wessely S, Arseneault L, et al. Multidisciplinary research priorities for the COVID-19 pandemic: a call for action for mental health science. Lancet Psychiatry 2020 Jun;7(6):547-560. [doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(20)30168-1]
- 48. Mohr DC, Weingardt KR, Reddy M, Schueller SM. Three problems with current digital mental health research...and three things we can do about them. Psychiatr Serv 2017 May 01;68(5):427-429 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1176/appi.ps.201600541] [Medline: 28412890]
- Istepanian RSH, Lacal JC. Emerging mobile communication technologies for health: some imperative notes on m-health. In: Proceedings of the 25th Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society. 2003 Presented at: 25th Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society; September 17-21, 2003; Cancun, Mexico p. 1414-1416. [doi: 10.1109/iembs.2003.1279581]

# Abbreviations

MEET: Mental Health, Environment, Event, and Technology

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 02.07.20; peer-reviewed by S Chen, S Farag; comments to author 17.11.20; revised version received 02.02.21; accepted 13.04.21; published 30.06.21.

Please cite as:

Ye J Advancing Mental Health and Psychological Support for Health Care Workers Using Digital Technologies and Platforms JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e22075 URL: https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e22075 doi:10.2196/22075 PMID:34106874

©Jiancheng Ye. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 30.06.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Original Paper** 

# A Web-Based Intervention to Increase Smokers' Intentions to Participate in a Cessation Study Offered at the Point of Lung Screening: Factorial Randomized Trial

Jordan M Neil<sup>1,2,3</sup>, PhD; Yuchiao Chang<sup>2,3,4</sup>, PhD; Brett Goshe<sup>2,5</sup>, PhD; Nancy Rigotti<sup>3,4</sup>, MD; Irina Gonzalez<sup>2</sup>, MD; Saif Hawari<sup>2</sup>, MD; Lauren Ballini<sup>6</sup>, BA; Jennifer S Haas<sup>3</sup>, MD, MSPH; Caylin Marotta<sup>3</sup>, MPH; Amy Wint<sup>3</sup>, MA; Kim Harris<sup>3</sup>, BSc; Sydney Crute<sup>3</sup>, BSc; Efren Flores<sup>2,7</sup>, MD; Elyse R Park<sup>2,4,5</sup>, PhD, MPH

# **Corresponding Author:**

Jordan M Neil, PhD Health Promotion Research Center Stephenson Cancer Center University of Oklahoma Health Sciences Center 655 Research Parkway 1404 Oklahoma City, OK, 73104 United States Phone: 1 6034430743 Email: jordan-neil@ouhsc.edu

# Abstract

**Background:** Screen ASSIST is a cessation trial offered to current smokers at the point of lung cancer screening. Because of the unique position of promoting a prevention behavior (smoking cessation) within the context of a detection behavior (lung cancer screening), this study employed prospect theory to design and formatively evaluate a targeted recruitment video prior to trial launch.

**Objective:** The aim of this study was to identify which message frames were most effective at promoting intent to participate in a smoking cessation study.

**Methods:** Participants were recruited from a proprietary opt-in online panel company and randomized to a 2 (benefits of quitting vs risks of continuing to smoke at the time of lung screening; BvR) × 2 (gains of participating vs losses of not participating in a cessation study; GvL) message design experiment (N=314). The primary outcome was self-assessed intent to participate in a smoking cessation study. Message effectiveness and lung cancer risk perception measures were also collected. Analysis of variance examined the main effect of the 2 message factors and a least absolute shrinkage and selection operator (LASSO) approach identified predictors of intent to participate in a multivariable model. A mediation analysis was conducted to determine the direct and indirect effects of message factors on intent to participate in a cessation study.

**Results:** A total of 296 participants completed the intervention. There were no significant differences in intent to participate in a smoking cessation study between message frames (P=.12 and P=.61). In the multivariable model, quit importance (P<.001), perceived message relevance (P<.001), and affective risk response (ie, worry about developing lung cancer; P<.001) were significant predictors of intent to participate. The benefits of quitting frame significantly increased affective risk response (Mean<sub>benefits</sub> 2.60 vs Mean<sub>risk</sub> 2.40; P=.03), which mediated the relationship between message frame and intent to participate (b=0.24; 95% CI 0.01-0.47; P=.03).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Health Promotion Research Center, Stephenson Cancer Center, University of Oklahoma Health Sciences Center, Oklahoma City, OK, United States <sup>2</sup>Mongan Institute Health Policy Research Center, Department of Medicine, Massachusetts General Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, United States

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Division of General Internal Medicine, Department of Medicine, Massachusetts General Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, United States

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Tobacco Research and Treatment Center, Massachusetts General Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, United States

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Department of Psychiatry, Massachusetts General Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, United States

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Department of Community Health, Tufts University, Medford, MA, United States

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Department of Radiology, Massachusetts General Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, United States

**Conclusions:** This study provides theoretical and practical guidance on how to design and evaluate proactive recruitment messages for a cessation trial. Based on our findings, we conclude that heavy smokers are more responsive to recruitment messages that frame the benefits of quitting as it increased affective risk response, which predicted greater intention to participate in a smoking cessation study.

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e28952) doi:10.2196/28952

# KEYWORDS

clinical trials recruitment; digital outreach; message design experiment; smoking cessation; lung cancer screening; prospect theory

# Introduction

# Background

In the United States, lung cancer is the leading cause of cancer-related death and accounts for more deaths than breast, prostate, colorectal, and brain cancers combined [1]. The number one risk factor for lung cancer is cigarette smoking, which is linked to 80%-90% of all lung cancer deaths [2]. Despite a substantial decline in smoking prevalence over the past 30 years, approximately 1 in 7 adults still report daily cigarette smoking [3]. To reduce lung cancer mortality, the US Preventative Services Task Force (USPSTF) recommends eligible individuals complete an annual lung cancer screening test to detect cancer early and improve survival outcomes [4]. To maximize the benefit of lung cancer screening, the National Cancer Institute also strongly recommends tobacco cessation services be provided to patients undergoing screening as an adjunct [5].

Annual lung cancer screening is a viable opportunity to integrate smoking cessation interventions, as smokers are more receptive to changing their smoking behaviors when they present for screening. McBride et al [6] propose that undergoing the screening process can act as a "teachable moment," in which receptivity to cessation services is greater because screening (1) increases perceptions of personal risk and outcome expectancies, (2) prompts strong affective or emotional responses, and (3) can redefine self-concept as a smoker. By not promoting smoking cessation during lung cancer screening, it may also send the message that screening obviates the need to quit. From a clinical standpoint, if screening identifies a malignancy, quitting smoking after diagnosis can decrease treatment complications and improve survival rates. Thus, integrating smoking cessation interventions into the lung cancer screening process remains a key public health priority.

However, there remains uncertainty over which cessation treatments are most effective to provide smokers undergoing lung cancer screening. Screen ASSIST is a multicomponent tobacco cessation trial offered to smokers during the lung cancer screening process. Screen ASSIST examines each component's effectiveness, cost, and burden to determine an optimal combination of cessation treatments. Yet, approximately 20% of all clinical trials fail to reach their accrual goal [7]. To proactively recruit and engage smokers in cessation treatment, Screen ASSIST employs digital outreach strategies. These strategies include identification of eligible patients scheduled for lung cancer screening and dissemination of a targeted recruitment video prior to a patient's upcoming lung cancer screening appointment.

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e28952

This study details a formative message design experiment used to determine the most effective message content to include within a recruitment video prior to trial launch. Because of the unique position of promoting a prevention behavior (smoking cessation) within the context of a detection behavior (lung cancer screening), the study was guided by prospect theory. As such, we investigated how best to frame (1) the importance of cessation at the time of lung cancer screening (benefits of quitting vs risks of continuing to smoke) and (2) information about the study to motivate participation in Screen ASSIST (gains of participating vs losses from not participating).

# Formative Message Evaluation of Clinical Trial Recruitment Messages

There is lack of a formal evaluation of recruitment strategies prior to trial launch, with best recruitment practices typically identified as a by-product of conducting a trial [8]. Rigorous evaluation of recruitment messages prior to dissemination may improve accrual rates, but this area is still understudied, often nontheoretical, and methods to empirically select the most effective messages before dissemination are limited [9]. Krieger and Neil [10] detail that when developing digital recruitment strategies for clinical trials, pretesting recruitment messages must go beyond simplistic source, channel, and content considerations. As such, careful manipulations of different theory-driven message strategies must be tested based on the trial's target population, the requirements of the trial, and the health setting in which the trial is offered, as all have the potential to differentially motivate trial participation.

A limited number of studies have leveraged different communication theories to improve recruitment materials for clinical trials. For patients with low motivation and low ability to comprehend health-related information, animations improve knowledge about and attitudes toward clinical trials [11]. Other studies have demonstrated interactivity in decision aids promote information sharing about clinical trials [12], whereas narrative interventions have been shown effective at conveying complex information through patient storytelling [13]. The use of cultural metaphors can effectively improve comprehension about randomization and intent to participate in a trial [14,15], while visual appeals that reflect social group memberships may increase perceptions of identity with the trial's purpose [16]. Efforts to tailor recruitment materials for minorities have focused on framing participation as a way to reduce existing racial disparities in research, but have not yet been shown effective [17]. Other strategies specific to cessation trials have integrated information about the genetic basis of nicotine dependence in recruitment messages, and have been found to significantly increase enrollment rates of current smokers [18].

XSL•FO

In order to be effective, information processing models suggest recruitment messages must be perceived as personally relevant, credible, clear to understand, and inform decision making about trial participation [19]. Perceived message relevance is the extent to which people view trial information as being relevant to them or applicable to their health needs. Message relevance has been shown to mediate the effect of an intervention on cancer screening [20], smokers' response to antismoking messages [21], and the effectiveness of a tailored cessation program [22]. However, limited inquiry has explored its relationship with research participation [15]. Credibility evaluations of clinical trials comprise how accurate trial information is perceived and how believable or knowledgeable the source communicating the information is appraised [23]. Assessments of credibility have been demonstrated salient when patients review information about clinical trials participation [24]. Informational clarity ensures patients with diverse health literacy demands can feel informed about participating in a clinical trial [25]. Ethically, proactive recruitment messages should inform patient decision making prior to being contacted for consent by study staff. Therefore, it is crucial to determine whether different message strategies negatively impact these measures of message effectiveness. To evaluate the effectiveness of the study's message frames across these dimensions, we propose the following research question:

**Research Question (RQ1):** Are there differences in message effectiveness measures (perceived message relevance, message credibility, message clarity, and informed decision making) by message frame: (1) benefits of quitting versus risks of continued smoking or (2) gains of participating in a smoking cessation study versus losses of not participating in a smoking cessation study?

#### **Prospect Theory**

Prospect theory has been extensively studied in the context of health decision making, and offers a framework within which to understand the nonlinear relationship between objective health outcomes and how best to present the likelihood of those outcomes [26]. The theory implies that an individual's response to objectively equivalent health messages is dependent upon how the messages are framed, either highlighting perceived benefits or stressing costs. Gray and Harrington [27] outline that gain-framed messages predominantly present the likelihood of attaining a desirable outcome, whereas loss-framed messages predominantly present the likelihood of avoiding an undesirable outcome. The utility of each message frame often depends upon the type of health decision in which they are presented. For example, gain-framed messages are more successful at encouraging risk-averse choices (eg, engaging in preventive behaviors), whereas loss-framed messages are more successful at motivating choices where the outcome is more uncertain or risky (eg, engaging in detection behaviors).

The "prevention-detection distinction" offers a unique theoretical lens in which to develop messages to promote smoking cessation (prevention) at the time of lung cancer screening (detection). Gain-framed messaging has been shown to be more persuasive in promoting smoking cessation [28]. Toll and colleagues [29] highlight that because cessation is a

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e28952
```

prevention behavior with little associated risk, it is likely that gain-framed messages are more effective, as the benefits are more salient in the short- (eg, "You will have less shortness of breath within 7 days") and long-term (eg, "You will live longer if you quit smoking"). In comparison, losses of not quitting are most often presented as a long-term risk (eg, "You will die sooner if you do not quit smoking"). For cancer screening, however, the losses from not completing a detection behavior are made more immediately prominent, invoking individuals to be more willing to complete a risk-seeking behavior (eg, "If you do not screen for lung cancer now, you will not find cancer early when it is more treatable"). A meta-analysis by O'Keefe and Jenson [30] found that loss-framed appeals, which emphasized the disadvantages of noncompliance messages, significantly encouraged disease detection behaviors.

For smokers, the risk of noncompliance of a prevention or detection behavior can differ based on smoking history, motivation or confidence to quit, and perceived risk. Light smokers may perceive less harm to smoking and fewer benefits of quitting than heavy smokers [31]. For lung cancer screening, heavy smokers have reported fatalistic attitudes toward a diagnosis, and therefore decreased willingness to want to undergo a screening test [32]. As such, utilizing gain and loss frames within this context may have differential effects based on a smoker's individual perceptions of risk. Past research has demonstrated loss frames can increase fear arousal [33]. Within cessation messages, loss frames may increase risk perception (ie, a smoker's understanding of absolute or comparative risk of lung cancer), as well as affective risk response (ie, worry about developing lung cancer). Therefore, we propose the following hypothesis:

**Hypothesis 1 (H1):** The risks of continuing to smoke message frame will lead to greater (1) risk perception of developing lung cancer and (2) affective risk response when compared to benefits of quitting smoking message frame.

As noted, studies have explored gain versus loss framing to motivate cessation behaviors [29,34-36], but these interventions did not directly promote participation in a cessation trial. To the best of the authors' knowledge, Balls-Berry and colleagues [37] have conducted the only previous study to examine the effectiveness of prospect theory message framing on intent to participate in health research. In a sample of African American women, a loss-framed message was more effective at increasing intent to enroll in a health study than a gain-framed message, but only for women with high self-efficacy in their ability to enroll. While self-efficacy to participate in research has been demonstrated as important in other studies [38], this is the first evidence of loss-framed messages being more effective. Loss-framed messages can engender a deeper processing of message content than gain-framed messages and may be useful within recruitment materials [39].

Little is known about the effect of gain- versus loss-framed recruitment messaging on patient participation in a clinical trial. In part, this is because of the ethical requirements of most consent documents to detail that there are no direct benefits of participating in a trial that tests an unproven treatment or the potential to be randomized to receive a placebo. However, these

requirements are not necessarily extended to recruitment materials, nor are they extended to all trial types. For example, Screen ASSIST tests a combination of different evidence-based tobacco treatments, ensuring that all participants (1) receive an active treatment combination (not a placebo) and (2) do have the opportunity to directly benefit through the provision of free cessation resources. Despite the effectiveness of loss framing in other contexts, framing how patients will lose out on the opportunities provided in a cessation trial, rather than the benefits of what they will receive, is still an underinvestigated area. Therefore, we propose the following research hypothesis:

*H2:* The losses of not participating message frame will lead to greater intent to participate in a smoking cessation study compared to gains of the participating message frame.

Past studies have identified disparate enrollment rates in cessation trials and uptake of cessation services across patient subgroups, including race, age, and gender [40-43]. Another study has identified nicotine dependence, quit motivation, and a previous quit attempt were positively associated with greater enrollment rates [44]. To explore participant characteristics associated with intent to participate, as well as better understand how those characteristics are associated with evaluating and better informing the formative development of the recruitment messages, we propose the following exploratory research questions:

**RQ2:** What participant sociodemographic, smoking characteristics, message effectiveness, and lung cancer perception measures are associated with greater intent to participate in a smoking cessation study?

**RQ3:** For message effectiveness and lung cancer perception measures that are associated with intent to participate in a cessation study, are there differences in subgroups defined by participant sociodemographic and smoking characteristics?

# Methods

# **Sample and Procedures**

In January 2019, 314 participants were recruited from Qualtrics Panels (Qualtrics), a proprietary opt-in online panel company, to complete a 20-minute survey. Participants received a small compensation for their participation and Institutional Review Board approval was obtained before data collection began (#2018P002035). Eligibility criteria reflected national guidelines for lung cancer screening and inclusion criteria for the parent trial [4]. Participants were required to be aged 55-77 and a current smoker (defined as having a "puff in the past 30 days"), as well as reporting a smoking history of a minimum of 20 years and no diagnosis of cancer within the past 5 years. Massachusetts residents were excluded from the study to prevent against contamination with the parent trial and all participants had to be able to read and write in English.

Participants were randomly assigned to receive 1 of 4 videos as part of a  $2 \times 2$  factorial design. The first factor tested framing on the importance of changing smoking behaviors at the time of lung cancer screening (benefits of quitting vs risks of continued smoking; BvR) and the second factor tested framing

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e28952

motivating participation in Screen ASSIST (gains of participating in a smoking cessation study vs losses of not participating in a smoking cessation study; GvL). All participants completed self-assessment premessage surveys, and after viewing 1 of the 4 videos, participants immediately completed postmessage surveys.

# Stimuli

Four videos were created specifically for this study, with the aim of selecting 1 video to use as part of the primary video recruitment strategy in the parent trial, Screen ASSIST. Each video included 2 members of the trial team talking directly into the camera: a primary care physician, who is also a study investigator (NR), and a tobacco treatment specialist (IG), who provides cessation counseling in the parent trial. Each video was segmented into 6 sections, including 4 kernel sections that all videos possessed: (1) introducing the aims of Screen ASSIST; (2) reaffirming the importance of attending the patient's upcoming lung cancer screening appointment; (3) what resources were available through Screen ASSIST (eg, access to remote counselling, nicotine replacement therapy, and a community-based resource); and (4) a call to action to indicate willingness to join the study.

Therefore, within each video there were 2 sections that tested how best to frame: (1) the importance of changing smoking behaviors at the time of lung cancer screening and (2) motivating participation in Screen ASSIST. For changing smoking behaviors, the benefits of quitting message frame included the text: "As you probably know, stopping smoking is the *major action you can take to avoid* lung cancer...Your lung screening appointment can be your *first step to quitting*." The risks of continued smoking message frame included the text: "As you probably know, smoking is the *major cause* of lung cancer...Your lung screening appointment can be your *first step to reducing your risk from smoking*."

For motivating study participation, the gain-framed motivation to participate message frame included the text: "The good news is that quitting, or even reducing the number of cigarettes you smoke each day, could be much easier with the support of our study. In our previous study, patients who participated were 3 times more likely to quit smoking than the average patient. By participating, you can benefit from learning how to control your cravings and have a better quality of life." The loss-framed motivation to participate message frame included the text: "The not-so-good news is that quitting, or even reducing the number of cigarettes you smoke each day, can be more challenging without the support of our study. In our previous study, the average patient was 3 times less likely to stop smoking compared to patients who participated. By not participating, you can lose out on learning how to control your cravings and have a better quality of life." The greater likelihood of quitting was informed by quit rates in a past trial conducted by the study team when compared with national quit rates.

# Measures

# **Predictor Measures**

# Sociodemographics

The following sociodemographic characteristics were measured: gender (male, female, transgender, gender nonconforming, other); race (American Indian or Alaska Native, Asian, Black or African American, Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander, Other); ethnicity (Hispanic/Latino, White, or not Hispanic/Latino); age (in years); health insurance (yes, no, unsure); household income (less than US \$20,000, US \$20,000-US \$39,999, US \$40,000-US \$59,999, US \$60,000-US \$79,999, US \$80,000-US \$99,999, US \$100,000-US \$199,999, US \$120,000-US \$139,999, or more than US \$140,000); and highest level of education (no schooling completed; some school, up to eighth grade; some high school, no diploma; high-school graduate, diploma or the equivalent; some college credit, but less than 1 year; 1 or more years of college, no degree; associate degree, bachelor's degree; master's degree; professional degree; doctoral degree). Participants reported screening history (prostate [eg, prostate-specific antigen], lung [eg, low-dose computed tomography scan], breast [eg, mammogram], pancreas [eg, endoscopic ultrasound], skin [eg, examination by doctor], stomach [eg, endoscopy], gynecological [eg, pap smear], colorectal [eg, home stool test or colonoscopy], other, and never screened for any type of cancer).

# **Smoking Characteristics**

The following smoking characteristics were measured: how long the participant had smoked cigarettes (in years); how many cigarettes the participant smoke per day; how soon after the participant wakes up does he/she smoke (within 5 minutes; 6 to 30 minutes; 31 to 60 minutes; after 60 minutes); how much of the time the participant felt the urge to smoke in the past 24 hours (all the time; almost all the time; a lot of the time; some of the time; a little of the time; not at all). Participants attitudes toward quitting were measured using 4 dimensions previously used by the authors (blinded for review): how important it was that the participant quit smoking, 0 (not important at all) to 10 (very important); how confident the participant was he/she could quit smoking, 0 (not confident at all) to 10 (very confident); how much quitting smoking would reduce the participant's chances of developing cancer, 0 (not at all) to 10 (very much); stage of motivation to quit smoking (I have decided to continue smoking; I do not think about quitting smoking; I rarely think about quitting and have no plans to quit; I sometimes think about quitting but I have no plans yet; I often think about quitting but I have no plans yet; I plan to quit smoking in the next 6 months; I plan to quit smoking in the next 30 days; I have begun to make changes in my smoking; I have made changes in my smoking but I need to keep working at it; I have already quit smoking).

# eHealth Literacy

eHealth literacy was measured using the eHealth Literacy Scale (eHEALS), a rating scale that measures patients combined knowledge, comfort, and perceived skills at finding, evaluating, and applying electronic health information to health problems and their ability to make subsequent health decisions [45]. The

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e28952
```

scale includes 8 items measured on a 5-point Likert-type scale ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree). A composite score was computed, where a higher score indicates greater perceived eHealth literacy (mean 3.97 [SD 0.63]). The internal consistency of data collected using the eHEALS in this study was high ( $\alpha$ =.83).

# **Manipulation Check Measures**

# Video Watched

Each video was embedded within the survey software, which was able to provide metadata on whether participants (1) reached the survey question in which video was embedded and (2) how long the participant spent on that question before clicking onto the next question. The investigative team used these metadata as proxies of whether the participant watched the video and the length of time the participant watched the video for. If participants remained on the question for at least the length of the video, they were coded as having watched the video. The 4 videos were all similar in length (mean 3 minutes and 1 second; range 2 minutes and 59 seconds to 3 minutes and 4 seconds).

# Message Framing and Tone

Items were adapted from King et al [42] to determine how participants perceived the focus of each video. For the smoking behavior change message frame, responses to the prompt "this video focused heavily on..." were measured on a scale from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree) for the benefits of quitting smoking and risks of continuing to smoke. For the study participation message frame, responses to the prompt "This video focused heavily on..." were measured on a scale from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree) for the benefits of participating in the study and the costs of not participating in the study. To determine participant perspectives on the overall tone of the video, responses were measured on a scale from 1 (extremely negative) to 5 (extremely positive).

# **Outcome Measures: Message Evaluation**

# Message Credibility

Perceptions of informational credibility were measured using items from Appelman and Sundar [23] and assessed participants' perceptions that the video was accurate, credible, and believable. Three items (eg, "The information discussed in the video is accurate") were rated on a 5-point Likert scale, with responses ranging from "strongly disagree" to "strongly agree" ( $\alpha$ =.89; mean 4.23 [SD] 0.78).

# Message Clarity

Perceptions of message clarity were adapted from Cacioppo et al [46] and measured the extent to which participants perceived the content of the video to be clear and the people in the video to be understandable. Two items (eg, "The content in the video is clearly explained.") were rated on a 5-point Likert scale, with responses ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree) ( $\alpha$ =.85; mean 4.44 [SD 0.81]).

# Message Relevance

Perceived message relevance was measured using 2 items from a perceived message relevance scale [20,47]. Items measured how personalized or customized the stimuli was (eg, "The video

XSL•FO

seemed to be made personally for me"). Items were measured on a 5-point Likert scale, with response categories ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree) ( $\alpha$ =.83; mean 3.69 [SD 1.05]).

# Informed Decision Making

Informed decision making about participation in a smoking cessation study was measured using a 1-item scale on a 5-point Likert scale, with response categories ranging from a scale of 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree). The item stated: "With this video, I believe I can make an informed decision on participation in a smoking cessation study" (mean 4.01 [SD 1.02]).

# Lung Cancer Perceptions

Lung cancer risk perception was measured on a 2-item scale used previously by the study authors (blinded by review). The first item measured absolute risk of lung cancer ("How likely do you think it is that you will develop lung cancer in your lifetime?"), with response categories ranging from a scale of 1 (extremely likely) to 5 (extremely unlikely) and was reverse coded. The second item measured comparative risk of lung cancer ("When compared to other smokers, what do you think your chance of getting lung cancer is in your lifetime?"), with response categories ranging from a scale of 1 (much lower) to 5 (much higher) ( $\alpha$ =.64; mean 3.25 [SD 0.72]). Affective risk response measured lung cancer worry on a 1-item scale ("How worried are you about getting lung cancer in your lifetime?"), with response categories ranging from 1 (not at all) to 4 (extremely) (mean 2.56 [SD 0.93]).

# **Behavioral Intent to Enroll**

Behavioral intent to enroll in a smoking cessation study was adapted from the authors' previous work on intention to enroll in a cancer clinical trial (blinded for review). Intention was measured on a 5-item Likert scale, with responses ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 7 (strongly agree) (eg, "I intend to talk to my doctor about enrolling in a smoking cessation study"). The scale had a very strong internal consistency ( $\alpha$ =.94; mean 4.25 [SD 1.69]).

# **Statistical Analyses**

Summary statistics were reported using mean with SD for continuous variables and frequency (n) with percentage for categorical variables. Chi-square tests were performed to examine the main effect of the 2 message factors on the completion of watching video and a logistic regression model was used to test the interaction between the 2 factors. All other manipulation check outcomes, message effectiveness, lung cancer risk perception, and intent to participate were compared using analysis of variance (ANOVA) to examine the main effect of the 2 message factors and the interaction between the 2 factors. To determine the predictors for intent to participate in a smoking cessation study, univariate analyses were conducted the to determine relationship between participant sociodemographic, smoking characteristics, message effectiveness, lung cancer perception measures, and intent to participate. Candidate variables with P values of .1 or less were included in the variable selection process. The least absolute shrinkage and selection operator (LASSO) approach was used for variable selection in the final multivariable model. The LASSO approach identifies candidate variables and corresponding regression coefficients that lead to a model that minimizes (1) overfitting the number of variables and (2) overestimating the overall model performance, thus reducing prediction error. A mediation analysis was conducted to determine the direct and indirect effects of message factors on intent to enroll in a cessation trial, guided by statistical principles detailed by VanderWeele [48]. An ANOVA was used to explore differences between subgroups on message effectiveness and lung cancer risk perception variables, in which continuous measures were bifurcated on a mean split (eg, eHealth literacy) or widely accepted clinical comparisons (eg, first cigarette within 30 minutes of waking up).

An a priori power analysis was conducted to ensure the study was powered to detect a medium effect size (Cohen d=0.5) between each message factor level (ie, BvR and GvL). In the case without message factor interaction, a total sample of 256 participants would permit detection of such a main effect size with 80% power with a 2-sided significance level of .05. After data collection, interactions between message factors were conducted for message relevance (P=.68), credibility (P=.63), clarity (P=.26), informed decision making (P=.48), lung cancer risk perception (P=.82), intent to enroll (P=.81), but none were found to be significant and so are not discussed further. All analyses were conducted using SAS software, version 9.4 (SAS Institute).

# Results

# **Participant Characteristics**

A total of 314 participants were recruited for the study but 18 participants indicated the video did not display or they were unable to play it; therefore, responses from 296 participants were included in the final analysis. There were no meaningful differences between the 18 participants and the remaining 296 in participant characteristics (see Multimedia Appendix 1). Among the 296, participants had a mean age of 62.9 (SD 5.5), were predominantly female (196/296, 66.2%), White (262/296, 88.5%), had no post-high-school education (102/296, 34.5%), had health insurance (264/296, 89.2%), and approximately half reported a household income below US \$40,000 (141/296, 47.6%). Participants reported a lifetime of nicotine dependence through the number of years in which they smoked cigarettes (mean 41.11 [SD 9.56]), as well as a current dependence through cigarettes smoked per day (mean 15.44 [SD 9.24]) and time to first cigarette (less than 30 minutes, 221/296, 74.7%). Over a quarter of participants had previously completed a lung cancer screening (Table 1).



Table 1. Characteristics of study sample by message factor (N=296).

Participant characteristics	Total	$\begin{array}{l} \text{Risk} \times \text{Loss} \\ \text{(n=71)} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{l} \text{Benefit} \times \text{Loss} \\ \text{(n=82)} \end{array}$	Risk × Gain (n=68)	Benefit × Gain (n=75)
Age (years), mean (SD)	62.9 (5.5)	62.5 (5.4)	62.9 (5.8)	63.6 (5.6)	63.0 (5.3)
Gender, n (%)					
Male	97 (32.8)	18 (25.4)	22 (26.8)	27 (39.7)	30 (40.0)
Female	196 (66.2)	52 (73.2)	60 (73.2)	40 (58.8)	44 (58.7)
Other	3 (1.0)	1 (1.4)	0	1 (1.5)	1 (1.3)
Race, n (%)					
White	262 (88.5)	64 (90.1)	71 (86.6)	57 (83.8)	70 (93.3)
Black/African American	18 (6.1)	5 (7.0)	5 (6.1)	7 (10.3)	1 (1.3)
Other	16 (5.4)	2 (2.8)	6 (7.3)	4 (5.9)	4 (5.3)
Ethnicity, n (%)					
Hispanic	12 (4.1)	2 (2.8)	6 (7.3)	2 (2.9)	2 (2.7)
Education, n (%)					
High-school graduate	102 (34.5)	26 (36.6)	28 (34.1)	21 (30.9)	27 (36.0)
Post-high-school education	194 (65.5)	45 (63.4)	54 (65.9)	47 (69.1)	48 (64.0)
Health insurance, n (%)					
Insured	264 (89.2)	66 (93.0)	70 (85.4)	63 (92.6)	65 (86.7)
Not insured/do not know	32 (10.8)	5 (7.0)	12 (14.6)	5 (7.4)	10 (13.3)
Income, n (%)					
Less than US \$40k	141 (47.6)	34 (47.9)	41 (50.0)	28 (41.2)	38 (50.7)
US \$40k or above	95 (32.1)	37 (52.1)	41 (50.0)	40 (58.8)	37 (49.3)
eHealth literacy, mean (SD); range	3.97 (0.63); 1.5- 5	3.96 (0.66); 2-5	4.04 (0.64); 1.5- 5	4.01 (0.59); 2.25-5	3.86 (0.61); 2.13-5
Lung screening history, n (%)					
Screened for lung cancer	78 (26.4)	21 (29.6)	15 (18.3)	23 (33.8)	19 (25.3)
Other cancer screening history, n $(\%)^a$					
Prostate	9 (3.1)	2 (2.9)	3 (3.7)	2 (3.1)	2 (2.8)
Breast	20 (7.0)	4 (5.8)	5 (6.2)	5 (7.7)	6 (8.5)
Pancreatic	1 (0.3)	0 (0.0)	1 (1.2)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)
Skin	8 (2.8)	3 (4.3)	1 (1.2)	1 (1.5)	3 (4.2)
Stomach	1 (0.3)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	1 (1.4)
Gynecological	28 (9.8)	5 (7.2)	10 (12.3)	8 (12.3)	5 (7.0)
Colorectal	130 (45.5)	33 (47.8)	35 (43.2)	34 (52.3)	28 (39.4)
Other	2 (0.7)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	1 (1.5)	1 (1.4)
Never screened for any test	87 (30.4)	22 (31.9)	26 (32.1)	14 (21.5)	25 (35.2)
Smoking characteristics, n (%)					
Years smoked, mean (SD); range	41.1 (9.6); 20- 65	41.4 (8.5); 20- 65	39.0 (9.1); 20- 60	43.3 (10.8); 20- 60	41.1 (9.5); 20- 60
Cigarettes smoked per day, mean (SD); range	15.44 (9.2); 0- 66	16.8 (10.8); 4- 66	13.8 (8.5); 0-40	17.4 (9.6); 0-50	14.2 (7.6); 1-40
Minutes to first cigarette, n (%)					
Within 5 minutes	80 (27.0)	21 (29.6)	16 (19.5)	23 (33.8)	20 (26.7)
6-30 minutes	141 (47.6)	35 (49.3)	40 (48.8)	32 (47.1)	34 (45.3)

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e28952

XSL•FO RenderX JMIR Form Res 2021 | vol. 5 | iss. 6 |e28952 | p.262 (page number not for citation purposes)

Participant characteristics	Total	Risk × Loss (n=71)	Benefit $\times$ Loss (n=82)	Risk × Gain (n=68)	Benefit $\times$ Gain (n=75)
31-60 minutes	43 (14.5)	12 (16.9)	15 (18.3)	7 (10.3)	9 (12.0)
After 60 minutes	32 (10.8)	3 (4.2)	11 (13.4)	6 (8.8)	12 (16.0)
Urge to smoke in the past 24 hours, n (%)					
All of the time	33 (11.1)	9 (12.7)	8 (9.8)	10 (14.7)	6 (8.0)
Almost all the time	29 (9.8)	9 (12.7)	9 (11.0)	7 (10.3)	4 (5.3)
A lot of the time	92 (31.1)	17 (23.9)	29 (35.4)	16 (23.5)	30 (40.0)
Some of the time	100 (33.8)	23 (32.4)	23 (28.0)	27 (39.7)	27 (36.0)
A little of the time	40 (13.5)	12 (16.9)	12 (14.6)	8 (11.8)	8 (10.7)
Not at all	2 (0.7)	1 (1.4)	1 (1.2)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)
Quit importance, mean (SD); range	6.76 (3.01); 0- 10	6.57 (3.13); 0- 10	6.73 (2.80); 1- 10	6.51 (3.30); 0- 10	7.15 (2.90); 0- 10
Quit confidence, mean (SD); range	4.72 (2.90); 0- 10	4.66 (2.96); 0- 10	5.18 (2.92); 0- 10	4.76 (2.73); 0- 10	4.19 (2.99); 0- 10
Benefits of quitting to reduce cancer risk, mean (SD); range	6.75 (2.99); 0- 10	7.15 (2.72); 0- 10	7.11 (2.87); 0- 10	6.25 (3.27); 0- 10	7.11 (2.87); 0- 10
Intention to quit smoking, mean (SD); range	4.90 (2.39); 1- 10	5.15 (2.38); 1-9	4.74 (2.38); 1- 10	4.87 (2.42); 1-9	4.96 (2.42); 1-9

<sup>a</sup>10 responses were not recorded (n=69, 81, 65, and 71 for columns 2-5).

# **Manipulation Check**

Of the 296 participants who did not report problems with the videos, 245 (82.8%) completed watching the whole video. There were no significant differences in the video completion rate by message condition (risk and loss=76.1%; benefits and loss=89.0%; risk and gain=83.8%; benefits and gain=81.3%;  $\chi^2_3$  [N=296]=2.84; P=.20). For the smoking behavior change frames, there were no significant differences between BvR on perceived benefits of quitting (Mean<sub>benefits</sub> 4.27 vs Mean<sub>risk</sub> 4.16; P=.28) or on risks of continued smoking (Mean<sub>benefits</sub> 3.20 vs Mean<sub>risk</sub> 3.08; P=.45). For the motivating study participation messages, there was no significant difference between GvL frames on the benefits of participating (Mean\_{gain}\,4.08\,vs\,Mean\_{loss} 4.17; P=.39), but those assigned to the losses frame reported greater perception of costs of not participating in the study (Mean<sub>gain</sub> 3.02 vs Mean<sub>loss</sub> 3.37; *P*=.02). For the assessment of the overall tone of the video, there were no significant differences between the BvR frames on tone (Mean<sub>benefits</sub> 4.13

vs Mean<sub>risk</sub> 4.21; *P*=.46) or between the GvL frames (Mean<sub>gain</sub> 4.14 vs Mean<sub>loss</sub> 4.20; *P*=.59).

# Study Outcome: Message Effectiveness (RQ1)

To answer RQ1, message effectiveness was measured across 4 dimensions: perceived message relevance, credibility, clarity, and informed decision making about participating in a smoking cessation study. The pooled mean across conditions indicated that all the videos were perceived to be relevant (mean 3.68 [SD 1.05]), credible (mean 4.23 [SD 0.78]), clear (mean 4.44 [SD 0.81]), and informed decision making about participating in a smoking cessation study (mean 4.01 [SD 1.02]). Across the 4 message effectiveness measures, there were no significant differences between the BvR message frames (message relevance, P=.78; message credibility, P=.70; message clarity, P=.43; informed decision making, P=.74), between the GvL message frames (message relevance, P=.80; message credibility, P=.50; message clarity, P=.28; informed decision making, P=.72), or among the 4 message conditions (message relevance, P=.96; message credibility, P=.85; message clarity, P=.39; informed decision making, P=.86; Table 2).



Study outcomes

Table 2. Comparison of message frames on study outcomes.

0						
	Benefits of quitting v	ersus risks of continuin	g to smoke	Gains of participating	g versus losses of not pa	articipating
	Benefits, mean (SD)	Risks, mean (SD)	P value	Gains, mean (SD)	Losses, mean (SD)	P value
	2.70(1.07)	266(102)	70	2.70(1.05)	266(106)	80

Me	essage effectiveness						
	Perceived message relevance	3.70 (1.07)	3.66 (1.03)	.78	3.70 (1.05)	3.66 (1.06)	.80
	Message credibility	4.24 (0.79)	4.21 (0.77)	.70	4.19 (0.81)	4.26 (0.75)	.50
	Message clarity	4.48 (0.86)	4.40 (0.76)	.43	4.39 (0.88)	4.49 (0.74)	.28
	Informed decision making	4.03 (1.04)	3.99 (1.00)	.74	4.04 (1.01)	3.99 (1.04)	.72
Lu	ng cancer perceptions						
	Combined risk perception	2.86 (0.44)	2.88 (0.43)	.67	2.91 (0.46)	2.84 (0.41)	.13
	Affective risk response	2.64 (0.93)	2.42 (0.92)	.04	2.57 (0.95)	2.50 (0.91)	.52
	Intention to participate	4.37 (1.64)	4.06 (1.71)	.12	4.17 (1.62)	4.27 (1.73)	.61

# Lung Cancer Perception (H1)

There were no differences in the perceived risk of developing lung cancer between the BvR message frames (Mean<sub>benefits</sub> 2.90 vs Mean<sub>risk</sub> 2.90; P=.67); therefore, H1a was not supported. However, the benefits of quitting message frame reported a significantly greater affective risk response (ie, worry about developing lung cancer; Mean<sub>benefits</sub> 2.60 vs Mean<sub>risk</sub> 2.40; P=.03); therefore, H1b was not supported and was, in fact, the inverse of our hypothesis. There was no difference between conditions on lung risk perception or affective risk response.

# Intention to Enroll in a Smoking Cessation Study (H2)

There were no differences in intention to enroll in a cessation study between the GvL message frames (Mean<sub>gain</sub> 4.14 vs Mean<sub>loss</sub> 4.20; P=.61); therefore, H2 was not supported. Exploratory analyses also identified there were also no significant differences between the BvR message frames or message conditions on intent to enroll (P=.12).

# Predicting Intention to Enroll in a Smoking Cessation Study (RQ2)

Participant sociodemographic, smoking characteristics, message effectiveness, and lung cancer perception predictors were

explored to determine their association with intention to participate in a smoking cessation study. Message frames were not included in the model as there were no significant differences on intention (*H*2). Univariate analyses identified sociodemographic and smoking characteristic predictors (P<.1), which included younger age (P=.03), female gender (P=.05), history of lung cancer screening (P=.04), higher eHealth literacy (P=.02), fewer years of smoking (P=.07), stronger urge to smoke (P=.004), higher quit importance (P<.001), higher quit confidence (P=.004), higher agreement on quitting reduces risk of cancer (P<.001), and higher motivation to quit (P<.001). In addition, all message effectiveness and lung cancer perception measures were found to be associated with intention to participate and also included in the multivariable model.

In the final multivariable model, 3 candidate variables were identified using a LASSO regression approach and selected as independent predictors: quit importance, perceived message relevance, and affective risk response about developing lung cancer. The overall variance explained by the model was 58% (Table 3). A higher quit importance score was significantly associated with a higher intent to enroll (*b*=0.14; SE=0.02; *P*<.001), as were greater perceptions of message relevance (*b*=0.72; SE=0.07; *P*<.001) and greater extent of worry about developing lung cancer (*b*=0.39; SE=0.09; *P*<.001).

 Table 3. Final multivariable model predicting intent to participate in a smoking cessation study.

Predictors <sup>a</sup>	b	Standard error	β	t (df)	<i>P</i> value
Importance of quitting smoking	0.14	0.02	.25	5.69 (1)	<.001
Perceived message relevance	0.72	0.07	.45	9.61 (1)	<.001
Affective risk response	0.39	0.09	.21	4.42 (1)	<.001

<sup>a</sup>List of variables included in the model's variable selection process: age, gender, history of lung cancer screening, eHealth literacy, years smoking, urge to smoke, importance of quitting smoking, confidence to quit smoking, belief quitting reduces risk of cancer, motivation to quit smoking, perceived message relevance, message credibility, message clarity, informed decision making about participation in a cessation study, combined risk perception, and affective risk response.

Because participants who received the benefits of quitting message frame reported a significantly greater affective risk response (P=.04; H1), and affective risk response was associated with intent to participate (P<.001; RQ2), a mediation analysis was conducted to examine whether affective risk was a mediator on intent to participate (ie, message frame  $\rightarrow$  affective risk

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e28952

RenderX

response  $\rightarrow$  intent to participate; Table 4). As shown in *RQ2*, the total effect of BvR on intent to participate in a smoking cessation study was not significant (*b*=0.30; 95% CI –0.08 to 0.68; *P*=.12). The total effect comprised a nonsignificant direct effect (*b*=0.06; 95% CI –0.25 to 0.37; *P*=.70) but a significant indirect effect, mediated through affective risk response (*b*=0.24;

95% CI 0.01-0.47; *P*=.03). Thus, the indirect effect of affective risk response explained 79.8% of the total effect on increased

intent to participate in a cessation study when participants received the benefits of quitting message frame.

Table 4. A mediation analysis estimating the effect of affective risk response on intention to participate in a smoking cessation study.

Summary of effects	В	Standard error	Wald 95% CI	Ζ	P value
Total effect	0.30	0.19	-0.08 to 0.68	1.56	.12
Direct effect	0.06	0.16	-0.25 to 0.37	0.39	.70
Indirect effect <sup>a</sup>	0.24	0.12	0.01 to 0.47	2.08	.04

<sup>a</sup>Mediation analysis only includes participants who received either the benefits of quitting versus risks of continuing to smoke message frames as it was shown to have a direct effect on affective risk response.

# Subgroup Analysis for Perceived Message Relevance and Affective Risk Response (RQ3)

Finally, perceived message relevance and greater affective risk response were identified as being associated with greater intent to participate in a smoking cessation study (RQ2). Therefore, for RQ3, we explored which sociodemographic or smoking characteristics predicted greater perceptions of message relevance and affective risk response. Participants with higher eHealth literacy were more likely to perceive the message as relevant (P=.02). Similarly, participants with greater quit importance (P<.001), a greater belief that quitting can reduce their risk of cancer (P<.001), and a greater motivation to quit (P<.001) all perceived the message as more relevant to them. There were no significant differences by other sociodemographic or smoking characteristics.

Female participants were more likely to report greater affective risk response than male participants (P=.003). There were significant differences in affective risk response by nicotine dependence, including those who smoked a greater number of cigarettes per day (P=.04) and those who reported a greater urge to smoke in the past 24 hours (P=.003). Similar to perceived message relevance, participants with greater quit importance (P<.001), greater belief that quitting can reduce the risk of cancer (P<.001), and greater motivation to quit (P<.001) all reported a greater affective risk response. There were no significant differences by other sociodemographic or smoking characteristics.

# Discussion

# **Principal Findings**

Improving participation rates in smoking cessation trials remains a key priority in the delivery of evidence-based tobacco treatment. To ensure more trials meet their accrual goals, outreach strategies must conduct rigorous formative evaluation of recruitment messages. This study adds to the prospect theory literature by developing and testing proactive recruitment messages prior to dissemination in Screen ASSIST, a cessation trial offered at the point of lung screening. Screen ASSIST offers a unique context within which to test recruitment messages that are guided by prospect theory, as it promotes a prevention behavior (smoking cessation) within the context of a detection behavior (lung cancer screening). Therefore, we tested how best to frame the importance of changing smoking behaviors at the time of lung cancer screening. We also tested how best to motivate participation in a smoking cessation study, an area overlooked in the prospect theory literature.

From the message design experiment, the benefits of quitting frame increased affective risk response when compared with participants who received the risks of continuing to smoke frame. Therefore, participants who were told they could take action to avoid lung cancer by quitting reported a greater worry about developing lung cancer. We did not hypothesize this relationship; however, risk communication literature suggests groups who already have high residual perceptions of risk, such as heavy smokers, may be more likely to strongly counterargue messages that incorporate overt risk messaging about a modifiable risk behavior [49]. Other message processing theories (eg, extended parallel processing model) suggest that without sufficient efficacy information to support behavior change, participants will appraise threat-based messages through defensive motivation and fear control processes before rejecting the message [50,51]. It is possible, therefore, that participants who received the benefits frame did not induce psychological reactance, which instead resulted in a greater affective response and internalization of their own risk for lung cancer.

There were no significant differences in intent to participate in a cessation research study by message frame. The manipulation check measures indicated participants randomized to the losses frame reported greater understanding of the costs of not participating in the study. One of the 3 decision-making biases explicated by prospect theory is loss aversion, that is, losses loom larger than commensurate gains, and the pain of losing is psychologically more powerful than the pleasure of gaining [52]. For this reason, we purposefully worded the loss frame message to incorporate a negative valence (not-so-good news) and promote internalization of the short-term (more challenging without) and long-term outcomes (3 times less likely to stop smoking) of not participating. While participants may have identified that quitting would be more difficult if they did not participate in the study, this finding did not affect participation intentions.

Individual predictors in the multivariable model suggest quit importance, perceived message relevance, and affective risk response to developing lung cancer explained the most variance in intention to participate. Past studies have demonstrated baseline cognitive perceptions about quitting as a predictor of enrollment in cessation trials [44,53]. Consistent with the elaboration likelihood model, greater perceptions of message relevance are associated with high-involvement processing and

XSL•FO RenderX

greater motivations to adhere to recommendations made within a message [20,54,55]. Perceived message relevance has been demonstrated to be important at predicting intentions within other smoking behavior contexts, but is a novel finding in predicting research participation. Past studies have found inconsistent association for affective risk response and completion of prevention and detection behaviors. Lung cancer worry has been associated with a greater change in readiness to stop smoking [56], but also reduced intent to want to complete a lung screening test [31]. In the National Lung Screening Trial, worry was strongly associated with greater risk perceptions of the likelihood of developing lung cancer, but qualitatively, smokers reported frequency or intensity of worry was not sufficient to make them want to quit [57,58].

Finally, we explored participant-level predictors of perceived message relevance and affective risk response. Cognitive perceptions about quitting (greater quit importance, greater belief that quitting can reduce their risk of cancer, and a greater motivation to quit) were associated with both message relevance and affective risk. Understandably, participants who were more positively motivated to want to quit felt the message promoting Screen ASSIST was more relevant to them. Participants with greater nicotine dependence were associated with greater affective risk response, which is consistent with previous studies that have demonstrated heavy smokers report greater worry and risk perception for lung cancer [59]. An interesting finding was that participants with higher eHealth literacy found the recruitment messages more relevant. Higher eHealth literacy is associated with greater capacity to not only find online health information but also distinguish credible and trustworthy online health sources [60]. Source credibility and perceived message relevance have been found to constitute second-order determinants that influence decision making about online sources [61]. In the context of clinical trial participation, where medical mistrust remains high [62], it is logical that participants with higher eHealth literacy perceived the recruitment videos to be more credible and to be more relevant to them. Nonetheless, digital recruitment messages should strive to overcome traditional health literacy barriers and not to incur new technological literacy barriers, so as to cater for a diverse eHealth literate population.

#### Limitations

The study has limitations that warrant attention. First, the recruitment videos promoted a specific cessation trial (Screen ASSIST), which was offered through a health care network in Massachusetts. Past studies have discussed a hypothetical research and provided no geographic cues to deter perceptions of access [17,37]. To try and maintain engagement, participants were told before viewing the video that they had similar characteristics to the patients who would be enrolled in Screen ASSIST and that their feedback would improve the video. Second, there was no control condition, so it is not possible to infer the degree to which the messages increased or decreased, for example, lung cancer risk perceptions. This was a decision by the study team as a scientifically comparable and practical control condition was difficult to create. A generic antismoking message would have been inappropriate as the videos promoted enrollment in a specific study. Further, a kernel message without both smoking and participation frames was also deemed infeasible as content addressing both issues was required in the final recruitment video to fully inform participants about the aim of the trial and outcome expectancies.

Third, we did not separate framing of cessation and lung screening to ascertain if they had synergistic or antagonistic effect on intent to participate. This decision was made with physician partners who expressed concern about framing risks of both continued smoking and not screening, which is too negative for an initial outreach message. It was also deemed not reflective of how lung screening shared decision-making visits are conducted in clinical practice, as well as inconsistent with institutional marketing efforts to promote lung cancer screening. Fourth, the study was powered to identify significant differences between message factors on intent to participate in a cessation trial, not for individual subgroup analyses. However, estimation of heterogenous treatment effects is a widely accepted statistical practice in randomized trials, and identifying subgroups is an important process in formative message design evaluation. Fifth, the sample was predominantly White (262/296, 88.5%), which overlooks the need to proactively improve minority representation in clinical trials and to test recruitment videos with underrepresented groups who report greater medical mistrust and lower enrollment rates [63-65]. To try and address this issue, we are currently co-developing linguistically and culturally sensitive recruitment videos with and for Englishand Spanish-speaking Hispanic and Latinx smokers.

# **Implications and Future Research**

As a result of the study's findings, the recruitment video employed in Screen ASSIST incorporated the benefits of quitting at the time of lung screening and the losses from not participating message frames. Because of the mediated pathway, in which greater affective risk response increased intent to participate, the benefits of quitting frame was preferred to the risks of continuing to smoke. The losses of not participating frame was selected due to participants identifying the costs of not participating in the study in the manipulation check and feedback that the loss aversion framing was attention getting.

When evaluating the implications of these findings, it is important to compare how sample characteristics reflect patient characteristics in other national lung screening programs. This sample was predominantly lower income, with almost 48% (141/296, 47.4%) reporting a household income below US \$40,000. Despite heavy smoking disproportionately affecting the health of people from low socioeconomic backgrounds [66], screening programs often overrepresent patients with higher socioeconomic backgrounds [67]. This sample had a comparative level of nicotine dependence in terms of years smoked (mean 41.1 vs 43.4) but lower average number of daily cigarettes smoked (mean 15.4 vs mean 28.4). Compared with the national lung screening eligible population, this sample did report a higher rate of previous lung cancer screening (26.4% [78/296] vs 4.4%-12.5%) [68,69]. It should be acknowledged that there are limitations of convenience samples through Qualtrics, but the sample characteristics of the study align with current USPSTF lung cancer screening guidelines and other heavy smoking patient populations recruited for cessation trials.

XSL•FO RenderX

To meaningfully improve digital outreach for cessation trials, future research should find innovative ways in which to adapt recruitment materials to address participant-specific concerns about trial enrollment. The participant-level analyses identified heterogeneity in the cognitive and affective predictors associated with greater intention to participate, as well as message relevance and affective risk response. It is current practice to target prospective participants through community-level outreach, but integrating individually tailored study information within recruitment materials may enhance these processes. For example, if a patient reports low self-efficacy to participate in a trial, a recruitment video platform should be adaptive to incorporate specific efficacy-building content on how to participate. Alternatively, if a patient reports high self-efficacy in participating but low confidence in quitting, the message content should prioritize information on the positive outcome expectancies due to the cessation support offered through the trial. In practice, this will likely require a combination of community-, clinic-, or patient portal-driven recruitment strategies that collect patient perspectives on research participation or a specific cessation trial in order to dynamically tailor and display recruitment materials.

Ethical concerns associated with motivating clinical trials participation should be paramount during the outreach and

consent process, and investigators must ensure participation is informed and voluntary to prevent manipulation. However, there is scope within certain types of clinical trials to enhance the effectiveness of recruitment efforts by including strategic message appeals and still ensure patient centeredness. For example, describing the benefits of participating in a trial for an investigational new drug is not similar to Screen ASSIST, which tests the best combination of evidence-based tobacco treatments. It is, therefore, important that recruitment materials are theory driven, and when appropriate, lean on strategies that have been successful in other health promotion and behavior change contexts to increase accrual rates. In doing so, patients are provided greater access to the best cessation resources to help them quit smoking.

# Conclusion

This study adds to the prospect theory and digital outreach literature. The study provides an overview of the development and a formative evaluation of proactive recruitment messages for a smoking cessation trial offered at the point of lung screening. Based on our findings, we conclude that heavy smokers are more responsive to recruitment messages that frame the benefits of quitting as it increased affective risk response, which predicted greater intention to participate in a smoking cessation study.

# **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 CONSORT-eHEALTH checklist (V 1.6.1). [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 1117 KB - formative\_v5i6e28952\_app1.pdf]

# References

- Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2020. CA Cancer J Clin 2020 Jan;70(1):7-30 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3322/caac.21590] [Medline: 31912902]
- Walser T, Cui X, Yanagawa J, Lee JM, Heinrich E, Lee G, et al. Smoking and Lung Cancer: The Role of Inflammation. Proceedings of the American Thoracic Society 2008 Dec 01;5(8):811-815. [doi: <u>10.1513/pats.200809-100TH</u>] [Medline: <u>19017734</u>]
- 3. CDC. Current Cigarette Smoking Among Adults in the United States. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. URL: https://www.cdc.gov/tobacco/data\_statistics/fact\_sheets/adult\_data/cig\_smoking/index.htm [accessed 2021-06-09]
- 4. USPSTF. Final Recommendation Statement: Lung Cancer: Screening | United States Preventive Services Taskforce. Published. 2013. URL: <u>https://www.uspreventiveservicestaskforce.org/uspstf/document/RecommendationStatementFinal/</u> <u>lung-cancer-screening</u> [accessed 2021-06-09]
- 5. Joseph AM, Rothman AJ, Almirall D, Begnaud A, Chiles C, Cinciripini PM, et al. Lung Cancer Screening and Smoking Cessation Clinical Trials. SCALE (Smoking Cessation within the Context of Lung Cancer Screening) Collaboration. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2018 Jan 15;197(2):172-182. [doi: 10.1164/rccm.201705-0909ci]
- 6. McBride C, Emmons K, Lipkus I. Understanding the potential of teachable moments: the case of smoking cessation. Health Educ Res 2003;18(2):156-170. [doi: 10.1093/her/18.2.156]
- Iruku P, Goros M, Gelfond J, Chang J, Padalecki S, Mesa R, et al. Developing a model to predict accrual to cancer clinical trials: Data from an NCI designated cancer center. Contemporary Clinical Trials Communications 2019 Sep;15:100421. [doi: 10.1016/j.conctc.2019.100421]
- 8. Pfammatter A, Marchese S, Pellegrini C, Daly E, Davidson M, Spring B. Using the Preparation Phase of the Multiphase Optimization Strategy to Develop a Messaging Component for Weight Loss: Formative and Pilot Research. JMIR Form Res 2020 May 13;4(5):e16297 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/16297] [Medline: 32347804]

- Marcano Belisario JS, Bruggeling M, Gunn L, Brusamento S, Car J. Interventions for recruiting smokers into cessation programmes. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2012 Dec 12;12:CD009187 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD009187.pub2] [Medline: 23235672]
- Krieger J, Neil J. Communication and Recruitment to Clinical Research Studies. Oxford Research Encyclopedia of Communication. Published online August 2016 Aug 31:31.
- Occa A, Morgan SE. Animations about Clinical Trial Participation for Cancer Patients and Survivors. J Health Commun 2019 Sep 21;24(10):749-760. [doi: 10.1080/10810730.2019.1668089] [Medline: <u>31543072</u>]
- Mao B, Morgan SE, Peng W, McFarlane SJ, Occa A, Grinfeder G, et al. What Motivates You to Share? The Effect of Interactive Tailored Information Aids on Information Sharing about Clinical Trials. Health Commun 2020 Apr 28:1-9. [doi: 10.1080/10410236.2020.1754588] [Medline: 32345059]
- Neil JM, Gough A, Kee F, George TJ, Pufahl J, Krieger JL. The Influence of Patient Identification and Narrative Transportation on Intentions to Participate in Cancer Research. J Cancer Educ 2019 Aug 3;34(4):725-734 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13187-018-1364-2] [Medline: 29721780]
- Krieger JL. Last resort or roll of the die? Exploring the role of metaphors in cancer clinical trials education among medically underserved populations. J Health Commun 2014 May 31;19(10):1161-1177. [doi: <u>10.1080/10810730.2013.801537</u>] [Medline: <u>23725021</u>]
- Krieger JL, Neil JM, Strekalova YA, Sarge MA. Linguistic Strategies for Improving Informed Consent in Clinical Trials Among Low Health Literacy Patients. J Natl Cancer Inst 2017 Mar 28;109(3):djw233 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jnci/djw233] [Medline: 27794035]
- 16. Flood-Grady E, Hough D, Damiani RE, Gebru NM, Fedele DA, Leeman RF, et al. Communication strategies for designing Facebook advertising campaigns to recruit rural participants to develop healthcare delivery interventions. J Clin Transl Sci 2020 Jan 16;4(5):398-407 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1017/cts.2020.5] [Medline: 33244428]
- Langford AT, Larkin K, Resnicow K, Zikmund-Fisher BJ, Fagerlin A. Understanding the Role of Message Frames on African-American Willingness to Participate in a Hypothetical Diabetes Prevention Study. J Health Commun 2017 Aug 27;22(8):647-656. [doi: <u>10.1080/10810730.2017.1339146</u>] [Medline: <u>28749729</u>]
- Schnoll RA, Cappella J, Lerman C, Pinto A, Patterson F, Wileyto EP, et al. A novel recruitment message to increase enrollment into a smoking cessation treatment program: preliminary results from a randomized trial. Health Commun 2011 Dec;26(8):735-742 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/10410236.2011.566829] [Medline: 21667366]
- Chaiken S. Heuristic versus systematic information processing and the use of source versus message cues in persuasion. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology 1980 Nov;39(5):752-766. [doi: <u>10.1037/0022-3514.39.5.752</u>]
- Jensen JD, King AJ, Carcioppolo N, Davis L. Why are Tailored Messages More Effective? A Multiple Mediation Analysis of a Breast Cancer Screening Intervention. J Commun 2012 Oct 27;62(5):851-868 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1460-2466.2012.01668.x] [Medline: 26405350]
- 21. Zhao X, Peterson E. Effects of Temporal Framing on Response to Antismoking Messages: The Mediating Role of Perceived Relevance. J Health Commun 2017 Jan 21;22(1):37-44. [doi: <u>10.1080/10810730.2016.1250844</u>] [Medline: <u>28001492</u>]
- Strecher V, Shiffman S, West R. Moderators and mediators of a web-based computer-tailored smoking cessation program among nicotine patch users. Nicotine Tob Res 2006 Dec;8 Suppl 1(1):S95-101. [doi: <u>10.1080/14622200601039444</u>] [Medline: <u>17491176</u>]
- 23. Appelman A, Sundar SS. Measuring Message Credibility. Journalism & Mass Communication Quarterly 2015 Oct 05;93(1):59-79. [doi: 10.1177/1077699015606057]
- 24. Flood-Grady E, Neil JM, Paige SR, Lee D, Damiani RE, Hough D, et al. A Pilot Study Determining Comprehension and the Acceptability of a Cancer Research Study Website for Cancer Patients and Caregivers. J Cancer Educ 2020 Jun 7;35(3):589-598 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13187-019-01501-w] [Medline: 30847837]
- 25. Livaudais-Toman J, Burke N, Napoles A, Kaplan C. Health Literate Organizations: Are Clinical Trial Sites Equipped to Recruit Minority and Limited Health Literacy Patients? J Health Dispar Res Pract 2014;7(4):1-13 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 26295011]
- 26. Tversky A, Kahneman D. The framing of decisions and the psychology of choice. Science 1981 Jan 30;211(4481):453-458. [doi: <u>10.1126/science.7455683</u>]
- 27. Gray JB, Harrington NG. Narrative and framing: a test of an integrated message strategy in the exercise context. J Health Commun 2011 Mar 28;16(3):264-281. [doi: <u>10.1080/10810730.2010.529490</u>] [Medline: <u>21058142</u>]
- 28. Cacciamani GE, Aron M, Gill I, Desai M. Re: Oncological outcome according to attainment of pentafecta after robot-assisted radical cystectomy in patients with bladder cancer in the multicentre KORARC database. BJU Int 2020 July 18. DOI: 10.1111/ bju.15178. BJU Int 2020 Nov;126(5):644-645.
- 29. Toll BA, O'Malley SS, Katulak NA, Wu R, Dubin JA, Latimer A, et al. Comparing gain- and loss-framed messages for smoking cessation with sustained-release bupropion: A randomized controlled trial. Psychology of Addictive Behaviors 2007;21(4):534-544. [doi: 10.1037/0893-164x.21.4.534]
- 30. O'Keefe D, Jensen J. The Relative Persuasiveness of Gain-Framed and Loss-Framed Messages for Encouraging Disease Detection Behaviors: A Meta-Analytic Review. Journal of Communication 2009;59(2).

- Quaife SL, Marlow LAV, McEwen A, Janes SM, Wardle J. Attitudes towards lung cancer screening in socioeconomically deprived and heavy smoking communities: informing screening communication. Health Expect 2017 Aug 11;20(4):563-573 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/hex.12481] [Medline: 27397651]
- Jonnalagadda S, Bergamo C, Lin JJ, Lurslurchachai L, Diefenbach M, Smith C, et al. Beliefs and attitudes about lung cancer screening among smokers. Lung Cancer 2012 Sep;77(3):526-531 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2012.05.095] [Medline: 22681870]
- 33. Macapagal K, Janssen E, Matson M, Finn PR, Heiman JR. The Impact of Gain- and Loss-Framed Messages on Young Adults' Sexual Decision Making: An Experimental Study. Arch Sex Behav 2017 Feb 22;46(2):385-394 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10508-015-0679-x] [Medline: 26696408]
- 34. Arendt F, Bräunlein J, Koleva V, Mergen M, Schmid S, Tratner L. Effects of Gain- and Loss-Framed Quit Messages on Smokers: Test of the Ability to Process the Health Message as a Moderator. J Health Commun 2018 Oct 09;23(8):800-806. [doi: 10.1080/10810730.2018.1527878] [Medline: 30300104]
- Toll B, Salovey P, O'Malley S, Mazure C, Latimer A, McKee S. Message framing for smoking cessation: the interaction of risk perceptions and gender. Nicotine Tob Res 2008 Jan;10(1):195-200 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/14622200701767803] [Medline: 18188760]
- 36. Vlăsceanu S, Vasile M. Gain or Loss: How to Frame an Antismoking Message? Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences 2015 Aug;203:141-146. [doi: 10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.08.272]
- Balls-Berry JE, Hayes S, Parker M, Halyard M, Enders F, Albertie M, et al. The Effect of Message Framing on African American Women's Intention to Participate in Health-Related Research. J Health Commun 2016 May 14;21(5):527-533 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/10810730.2015.1103333] [Medline: 27077665]
- Flood-Grady E, Liu J, Paige SR, Lee D, Nelson DR, Shenkman E, et al. Audience segmentation as a strategy for enhancing the use of research registries for recruiting patients into clinical trials. Contemp Clin Trials Commun 2020 Mar;17:100510 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.conctc.2019.100510] [Medline: 31956721]
- O'Keefe DJ, Jensen JD. Do Loss-Framed Persuasive Messages Engender Greater Message Processing Than Do Gain-Framed Messages? A Meta-Analytic Review. Communication Studies 2008 Feb 21;59(1):51-67. [doi: 10.1080/10510970701849388]
- Audrain-McGovern J, Hughes Halbert C, Rodriguez D, Epstein LH, Tercyak KP. Predictors of Participation in a Smoking Cessation Program among Young Adult Smokers. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2007 Mar 02;16(3):617-619. [doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.epi-06-0791]
- Dahm JL, Cook E, Baugh K, Wileyto EP, Pinto A, Leone F, et al. Predictors of Enrollment in a Smoking Cessation Clinical Trial After Eligibility Screening. Journal of the National Medical Association 2009 May;101(5):450-455. [doi: 10.1016/s0027-9684(15)30931-7]
- 42. King AC, Cao D, Southard CC, Matthews A. Racial differences in eligibility and enrollment in a smoking cessation clinical trial. Health Psychol 2011 Jan;30(1):40-48 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/a0021649] [Medline: 21299293]
- 43. Wagner EH, Schoenbach VJ, Orleans CT, Grothaus LC, Saunders KW, Curry S, et al. Participation in a Smoking Cessation Program: A Population-Based Perspective. American Journal of Preventive Medicine 1990 Sep;6(5):258-266. [doi: 10.1016/s0749-3797(18)30993-0]
- 44. Thrul J, Stemmler M, Goecke M, Bühler A. Are you in or out? Recruitment of adolescent smokers into a behavioral smoking cessation intervention. Addict Behav 2015 Jun;45:150-155 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2015.01.030] [Medline: 25678303]
- 45. Norman GJ, Zabinski MF, Adams MA, Rosenberg DE, Yaroch AL, Atienza AA. A review of eHealth interventions for physical activity and dietary behavior change. Am J Prev Med 2007 Oct;33(4):336-345 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2007.05.007] [Medline: 17888860]
- 46. Cacioppo JT, Petty RE, Morris KJ. Effects of need for cognition on message evaluation, recall, and persuasion. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology 1983 Oct;45(4):805-818. [doi: <u>10.1037/0022-3514.45.4.805</u>]
- Jensen JD, King AJ, Carcioppolo N, Krakow M, Samadder NJ, Morgan S. Comparing tailored and narrative worksite interventions at increasing colonoscopy adherence in adults 50-75: a randomized controlled trial. Soc Sci Med 2014 Mar;104:31-40. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.socscimed.2013.12.003</u>] [Medline: <u>24581059</u>]
- 48. VanderWeele TJ. A Unification of Mediation and Interaction. Epidemiology 2014;25(5):749-761. [doi: 10.1097/ede.00000000000121]
- 49. Hoek J, Gifford H, Maubach N, Newcombe R. A qualitative analysis of messages to promote smoking cessation among pregnant women. BMJ Open 2014 Nov 27;4(11):e006716 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2014-006716] [Medline: 25431224]
- So J. A further extension of the Extended Parallel Process Model (E-EPPM): implications of cognitive appraisal theory of emotion and dispositional coping style. Health Commun 2013 Jan;28(1):72-83. [doi: <u>10.1080/10410236.2012.708633</u>] [Medline: <u>23330860</u>]
- 51. Witte K. Fear control and danger control: A test of the extended parallel process model (EPPM). Communication Monographs 2009 Jun 02;61(2):113-134. [doi: 10.1080/03637759409376328]

- Rouyard T, Attema A, Baskerville R, Leal J, Gray A. Risk attitudes of people with 'manageable' chronic disease: An analysis under prospect theory. Soc Sci Med 2018 Oct;214:144-153 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2018.08.007] [Medline: 30193175]
- Sanders M, Fiscella K, Veazie P, Dolan JG, Jerant A. Does patient time spent viewing computer-tailored colorectal cancer screening materials predict patient-reported discussion of screening with providers? Health Educ Res 2016 Aug;31(4):555-562 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/her/cyw032] [Medline: 27343254]
- Altendorf M, Hoving C, Van Weert JC, Smit ES. Effectiveness of Message Frame-Tailoring in a Web-Based Smoking Cessation Program: Randomized Controlled Trial. J Med Internet Res 2020 Apr 03;22(4):e17251 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/17251] [Medline: 32242826]
- 55. Occa A, Kim S, Carcioppolo N, Morgan SE, Anderson D. A Comparison of Metaphor Modality and Appeals in the Context of Skin Cancer Prevention. J Health Commun 2020 Nov 21;25(1):12-22. [doi: 10.1080/10810730.2019.1694607] [Medline: 31752624]
- 56. Taylor KL, Cox LS, Zincke N, Mehta L, McGuire C, Gelmann E. Lung cancer screening as a teachable moment for smoking cessation. Lung Cancer 2007 Apr;56(1):125-134. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.lungcan.2006.11.015</u>] [Medline: <u>17196298</u>]
- 57. Park ER, Ostroff JS, Rakowski W, Gareen IF, Diefenbach MA, Feibelmann S, et al. Risk perceptions among participants undergoing lung cancer screening: baseline results from the National Lung Screening Trial. Ann Behav Med 2009 Jun 27;37(3):268-279 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s12160-009-9112-9] [Medline: 19711141]
- 58. Park ER, Streck JM, Gareen IF, Ostroff JS, Hyland KA, Rigotti NA, et al. A qualitative study of lung cancer risk perceptions and smoking beliefs among national lung screening trial participants. Nicotine Tob Res 2014 Feb 02;16(2):166-173 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/ntr/ntt133] [Medline: 23999653]
- 59. Finney Rutten LJ, Blake KD, Hesse BW, Augustson EM, Evans S. Illness representations of lung cancer, lung cancer worry, and perceptions of risk by smoking status. J Cancer Educ 2011 Dec 19;26(4):747-753 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13187-011-0247-6] [Medline: 21688184]
- 60. Paige SR, Krieger JL, Stellefson ML. The Influence of eHealth Literacy on Perceived Trust in Online Health Communication Channels and Sources. J Health Commun 2017 Jan;22(1):53-65 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/10810730.2016.1250846] [Medline: 28001489]
- O'Reilly K, MacMillan A, Mumuni AG, Lancendorfer KM. Extending Our Understanding of eWOM Impact: The Role of Source Credibility and Message Relevance. Journal of Internet Commerce 2016 Apr 04;15(2):77-96. [doi: 10.1080/15332861.2016.1143215]
- 62. Williamson LD, Bigman CA. A systematic review of medical mistrust measures. Patient Educ Couns 2018 Oct;101(10):1786-1794. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2018.05.007] [Medline: 29861339]
- 63. Fisher JA, Kalbaugh CA. Challenging Assumptions About Minority Participation in US Clinical Research. Am J Public Health 2011 Dec;101(12):2217-2222. [doi: 10.2105/ajph.2011.300279]
- 64. Hussain-Gambles M, Atkin K, Leese B. Why ethnic minority groups are under-represented in clinical trials: a review of the literature. Health Soc Care Community 2004 Sep;12(5):382-388. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1365-2524.2004.00507.x</u>] [Medline: <u>15373816</u>]
- Regnante JM, Richie NA, Fashoyin-Aje L, Vichnin M, Ford M, Roy UB, et al. US Cancer Centers of Excellence Strategies for Increased Inclusion of Racial and Ethnic Minorities in Clinical Trials. JOP 2019 Apr;15(4):e289-e299. [doi: 10.1200/jop.18.00638]
- 66. Hitchman SC, Fong GT, Zanna MP, Thrasher JF, Chung-Hall J, Siahpush M. Socioeconomic status and smokers' number of smoking friends: findings from the International Tobacco Control (ITC) Four Country Survey. Drug Alcohol Depend 2014 Oct 01;143:158-166 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2014.07.019] [Medline: 25156228]
- 67. Schütte S, Dietrich D, Montet X, Flahault A. Participation in lung cancer screening programs: are there gender and social differences? A systematic review. Public Health Rev 2018 Aug 15;39(1):23 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s40985-018-0100-0] [Medline: 30128168]
- Richards TB, Soman A, Thomas CC, VanFrank B, Henley SJ, Gallaway MS, et al. Screening for Lung Cancer 10 States, 2017. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2020 Feb 28;69(8):201-206 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6908a1] [Medline: 32106215]
- Richards TB, Doria-Rose VP, Soman A, Klabunde CN, Caraballo RS, Gray SC, et al. Lung Cancer Screening Inconsistent With U.S. Preventive Services Task Force Recommendations. Am J Prev Med 2019 Jan 31;56(1):66-73 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2018.07.030] [Medline: 30467092]

# Abbreviations

ANOVA: analysis of variance eHEALS: eHealth Literacy Scale LASSO: least absolute shrinkage and selection operator USPSTF: US Preventative Services Task Force



Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 19.03.21; peer-reviewed by E Flood-Grady; comments to author 12.04.21; revised version received 25.04.21; accepted 16.05.21; published 30.06.21. <u>Please cite as:</u> Neil JM, Chang Y, Goshe B, Rigotti N, Gonzalez I, Hawari S, Ballini L, Haas JS, Marotta C, Wint A, Harris K, Crute S, Flores E, Park ER A Web-Based Intervention to Increase Smokers' Intentions to Participate in a Cessation Study Offered at the Point of Lung Screening: Factorial Randomized Trial JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e28952 URL: https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e28952 PMID:34255651

©Jordan M Neil, Yuchiao Chang, Brett Goshe, Nancy Rigotti, Irina Gonzalez, Saif Hawari, Lauren Ballini, Jennifer S Haas, Caylin Marotta, Amy Wint, Kim Harris, Sydney Crute, Efren Flores, Elyse R Park. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 30.06.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Original Paper** 

# Meaning in Life Among Patients With Chronic Pain and Suicidal Ideation: Mixed Methods Study

Alessandra Costanza<sup>1\*</sup>, MD; Vasileios Chytas<sup>2,3\*</sup>, MD; Valérie Piguet<sup>2</sup>, MD; Christophe Luthy<sup>4,5</sup>, Prof Dr; Viridiana Mazzola<sup>3</sup>, PhD; Guido Bondolfi<sup>1,3</sup>, Prof Dr; Christine Cedraschi<sup>2,4,5</sup>, Prof Dr

<sup>1</sup>Department of Psychiatry, Faculty of Medicine, University of Geneva, Geneva, Switzerland

\*these authors contributed equally

# **Corresponding Author:**

Alessandra Costanza, MD Department of Psychiatry Faculty of Medicine University of Geneva Rue Michel-Servet 1 Geneva, 1211 Switzerland Phone: 41 223795900 Fax: 41 223795954 Email: alessandra.costanza@unige.ch

# Abstract

**Background:** Patients with chronic pain have elevated risk of suicidal ideation and behavior, including suicide attempts and completed suicides. In most studies, associations between chronic pain and suicidal ideation/suicidal behavior are robust even after adjusting for the effect of sociodemographics and psychiatric comorbidity. However, to refine the risk profile of these patients, further exploration of other possible risk and protective factors is necessary.

**Objective:** There is a common clinical observation that experiencing chronic pain often requires a revision of life goals and expectations, and hence, it impacts the existential domain including one's perception of the meaning in life (MiL). This study aimed to characterize the main domains that constitute the personal MiL, including the "presence of" and "search for" constructs, in a group of patients with chronic pain and suicidal ideation.

**Methods:** Seventy participants were enlisted by ongoing recruitment through a larger project anchored in daily clinical practice at the Multidisciplinary Pain Center of the Geneva University Hospitals. It was an observational mixed method study. Data were recorded through both validated quantitative questionnaires and qualitative open-ended questions.

**Results:** The total sample consisted of 70 patients. Responses to questionnaires showed a depressive episode in 68 (97%) patients and anxious disorders in 25 (36%) patients. With a score threshold for positive MiL of 24, the mean score for the "presence of" construct was 20.13 (SD 8.23), and 63% (44/70) of respondents had a score <24. The mean score for the "search for" construct was lower at 18.14 (SD 8.64), and 70% (49/70) of respondents had a score <24. The "presence of" and "search for" constructs were significantly positively correlated (R=0.402; P=.001). An open question addressed the "presence of" construct by inviting the respondents to cite domains they consider as providing meaning in their life at the present time. All patients responded to this question, citing one or more domains. The three main dimensions that emerged from content analysis of this qualitative section were as follows: the domain of relationships, the domain of personal activities, and pain and its consequences on MiL.

**Conclusions:** The study results provide insights into patients with chronic pain and suicidal ideation, including the domains that provide them with meaning in their lives and the impact of pain on these domains with regard to suicidal ideation. The main clinical implications concern both prevention and supportive/psychotherapeutic interventions. They are based on a narrative approach aiming to explore with the patients the content of their suffering and the MiL domains that they could identify to mitigate it, in order to restructure/reinforce these domains and thus possibly reduce suicidal ideation. Specifically, a focus on maintaining

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Division of Clinical Pharmacology & Toxicology, Multidisciplinary Pain Centre, Geneva University Hospitals, Geneva, Switzerland

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Department of Psychiatry, Service of Liaison Psychiatry and Crisis Intervention, Geneva University Hospitals, Geneva, Switzerland

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Division of General Medical Rehabilitation, Geneva University Hospitals, Geneva, Switzerland

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Department of Geriatrics and Rehabilitation, Faculty of Medicine, University of Geneva, Geneva, Switzerland

the domains of interpersonal relationships and personal activities can allow patients to ultimately escape the biopsychosocial vicious cycle of chronic pain-induced deep moral suffering.

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e29365) doi:10.2196/29365

# **KEYWORDS**

suicide; suicidal behavior; suicidal ideation; suicide attempt; chronic pain; meaning in life; protective factors; risk factors; mental health

ideation.

Setting

Methods

# Introduction

Patients experiencing chronic pain are at elevated risk of suicidal ideation and behavior, including suicide attempts and completed suicides. It has been reported that there is a 20% to 40% prevalence rate of suicidal ideation, a lifetime prevalence between 5% and 14% of suicide attempts, and a double risk of death by suicide in patients with chronic pain as compared to controls [1-4].

In most studies, associations between chronic pain, suicidal ideation, and suicidal behavior have been demonstrated to be robust, even after adjusting for the effect of sociodemographics and psychiatric comorbidities, particularly depressive conditions [5-9]. A number of specific factors modulating the suicidal ideation and suicidal behavior risk in patients with chronic pain have been investigated (eg, pain characteristics, functional interference, illness beliefs, and access to opioids) [1,3,10]. However, the literature also highlights the need for further exploration of other possible risk and protective factors in order to refine the characterization of the risk profile in these patients [1]. In particular, in patients with chronic pain, protective factors have been less addressed than risk factors [11]. The interest in exploring protective factors in suicidal chronic pain patients arises from the common clinical observation that experiencing chronic pain often requires a revision of one's life goals and expectations; hence, its impact affects the existential domain [12]. This perspective is of particular interest to provide clinicians the keys to identify relevant elements for the assessment of crisis factors and psychotherapeutic work, which can be important when making the decision to refer a patient to specialized care [13,14].

The historical intuitions of Frankl, who made his initial observations among prisoners of Nazi concentration camps, described the psychological construct of "meaning in life" (MiL) as a potent protective factor against suicide [15-17], with the individual having a "will of meaning" that presented a potent resiliency resource and the best chance to survive [15]. Afterwards, MiL was conceptualized under several theoretical perspectives, which pointed out different aspects of it. Among them, a recent model described MiL as "the web of connections, understandings, and interpretations that help us comprehend our experience and formulate plans directing our energies to the achievement of our desired future" [18]. This model divides MiL into two constructs, specifically "presence of" and "search for" MiL, which are not mutually exclusive [19]. However, somehow paradoxically, few studies have investigated MiL in relation to suicidal ideation and suicidal behavior [20]. Moreover, even fewer studies have addressed the contents of the subjective MiL in those individuals with suicidal ideation,

clinical practice at the MPC.

identified as having suicidal ideation by their positive response to question 9 of the BDI-II [24] that addresses suicidal thoughts or wishes with the following items: score 0, I don't have any thoughts of killing myself; score 1, I have thoughts of killing myself, but I would not carry them out; score 2, I would like to kill myself; and score 3, I would kill myself if I had the chance. Patients whose scores ranged from 1 to 3 additionally underwent a clinical evaluation of suicidal ideation by a qualified team member (VC). This clinical interview determined the presence or absence of depression using a structured diagnostic interview to screen psychiatric diagnoses. The French version (5.0.0) of the Mini-International Neuropsychiatric Interview (MINI) [25] was used for DSM-IV disorders. Participants had to be  $\geq 18$ years old.

that is, what makes or could have made their existence in some

way meaningful [21,22]. Therefore, the aim of this study was to characterize the main domains that constitute the personal

MiL in a group of patients with chronic pain and suicidal

This study was part of a larger research project investigating

the role of demoralization and MiL in influencing suicidal

ideation among patients affected by chronic pain [23]. This

observational study was conducted by the Division of Clinical

Pharmacology and Toxicology and the Service of Liaison

Psychiatry and Crisis Intervention at the Multidisciplinary Pain

Centre (MPC) of the Geneva University Hospitals. The MPC

is a third-line ambulatory referral center where most patients

are referred by their treating physicians for an interdisciplinary

clinical evaluation and a review of the treatment proposals (eg,

physical treatment, individual or group psychiatric/psychological

treatment, and pharmacological proposals). Routinely,

self-administered questionnaires were sent out to each

participant before their first MPC visit, including the Beck

Depression Inventory-II (BDI-II) [24]. Participants were enlisted

by ongoing recruitment through a project anchored in daily

The study included patients affected by chronic pain referred

to the MPC and presenting with suicidal ideation. Patients were

We excluded patients with an insufficient comprehension of the French language and those affected by dementia, psychotic disorders, or borderline personality as documented in the referral letter or as assessed during the first MPC visit.

# **Statistical Analysis**

During the first MPC visit, about 14 days after receiving the self-administered questionnaires at home, all patients who were identified by their positive response to question 9 of the BDI-II received a written communication informing them about the research project and a consent form. Patients were given at least 24 hours to review the written communication. At the subsequent study visit, a qualified team member (VC) further investigated the presence of suicidal ideation and responded to the patients' questions about this study. Appropriate measures were taken for cases where severe suicidal ideation was identified using clinical evaluation and BDI-II, including accompanying the patient to the psychiatric emergency ward if necessary. All participants who provided written informed consent underwent face-to-face completion of the Meaning in Life Questionnaire (MLQ) [26]. Following the requirements of the observational study protocol [23], 70 patients with suicidal ideation were recruited.

# Instruments

The BDI-II and MLQ [26] were used. The MLQ is a self-reported multiple-choice inventory. The first section includes 10 items that measure the "presence of" construct of MiL (five items) and the "search for" construct of MiL (five items). Each item is rated on a 7-point Likert scale from "absolutely true" to "absolutely untrue," leading to a score ranging from 5 (low MiL) to 35 (high) for each subscale. The MLQ does not have clear cut scores because it is intended to measure MiL across the complete range of human functioning. However, some probabilistic estimates about scores above or below 24 on the "presence of" and "search for" constructs have been provided on a website [27]. The MLQ has been translated into French and is available on this website. The closed section takes about 3 to 5 minutes to complete. The second section includes an open question asking the patient to cite three to seven domains that the patient considers as providing meaning to his or her life at the time being.

# Analysis

Descriptive statistical analyses were conducted to compute means and SDs for numerical variables and frequencies (%) for categorical variables. The chi-square test or Fisher exact test was used for categorical variables and checked for matching between groups regarding age, gender, and years of education. The post-hoc Tukey multiple-comparison test was used to find significant differences between means.

Patients' responses to the open question of the MLQ were recorded and transcribed verbatim. Data analysis was performed by a medical doctor (psychiatrist) and a PhD psychologist (AC and CC) trained in qualitative procedures and with experience in qualitative studies. No prior relationships between data analysts and respondents were established before data collection.

The transcripts were analyzed using a manual data indexing technique to identify the key themes [28]. The qualitative content analysis began with individual close readings by the two researchers, who were working separately. The analysis continued throughout the coding process, using the constant

comparative method, which consists of analyzing the responses by comparing one response with earlier observed ones [29]. This process was followed by comparisons of the readings, which were subsequently used to establish analytical categories and dimensions. A consensual process of reconciling differences in individual lists of categories led to an agreed set of categories [30]. These categories served as the basis for a grid that was then used to analyze the transcripts to maximize the theoretical sensitivity and rigor [31,32]. The sample of patients' responses investigated allowed us to reach a point where no new categories emerged from the analysis. The categories were discussed and refined by consensus between the two researchers. Not unexpectedly, data saturation, defined as the point in data collection and analysis at which new information produces little or no change in the codebook [33], was reached. Data saturation was achieved after analyzing 40 responses. The next 30 responses confirmed data saturation and allowed further refinement of the grid. These categories and dimensions served as the basis for a final grid, which was used independently by the two researchers to analyze the transcripts. This assessment entailed an analysis of the data carried out by investigators with a different background (AC and CC) so that findings emerged from consensus between investigators. Interrater agreement was high ( $\kappa$ >0.92), and disagreements were solved by consensus. The matter at stake here may not be the degree of concordance between investigators but rather the insights that discussion can provide for refining coding frames [34].

In line with the recommendations for qualitative analysis reported in a language different from the one used for data collection, the interviews and data analysis were conducted in French, and the researchers used fluid descriptions of meanings in their discussions to achieve the best possible understanding of the concepts involved in the research [35].

#### **Ethical Considerations**

The Ethics Committee of the Canton of Geneva approved the scientific utilization of collected data (project no. 2017-02138; decision dated January 25, 2018). The research project was carried out in accordance with the research plan and Swiss legal and regulatory requirements, in agreement with the principles stated in the current version of the Declaration of Helsinki and the Essentials of Good Clinical Practice issued by Public Health Switzerland. Written informed consent was obtained from all patients.

# Results

#### **Patient Sample Characteristics**

Following the requirements of the observational study protocol, 70 patients were included in the study. Among the 70 participants, 42 were women and 28 were men, with a mean age of 54 years (Table 1). As the results of the BDI indicated, the participants experienced moderate to severe depressive symptoms (Table 1). The MINI validated the presence of a depressive episode in 68 out of the 70 patients, as well as the presence of anxious disorders in one-third of the group (25 out of 70 patients).

Table 1. Sociodemographic and clinical characteristics of the participants.

Characteristic	Value
Age (years), mean (SD; range)	54.3 (15.4; 20-85)
Education, n (%)	
Compulsory school	13 (19%)
Professional degree	27 (39%)
High school	21 (30%)
University	9 (13%)
Employment status, n (%)	
Working (part time or full time)	10 (14%)
Retired	6 (9%)
Sick leave or state support	54 (77%)
Living alone, n (%)	26 (37%)
Pain etiology, n (%)	
Neuropathic	44 (63%)
Osteoarticular	22 (32%)
Visceral or other	4 (6%)
Duration of pain (years), mean (SD)	8.06 (8)
Pain intensity (visual analog scale score, range 0-10)	
At present	6.95
At its best	5.33
At its worst	8.91
Beck Depression Inventory (BDI) score, mean (SD)	31.3 (11.4)
Extent of depressive symptoms (BDI), n (%)	
No depressive symptoms (<10)	2 (3%)
Light (11-20)	10 (14%)
Moderate (21-30)	24 (34%)
Severe (>30)	34 (49%)

# "Presence of" and "Search for" MiL

As for the first part of the MLQ, the mean score for the "presence of" MiL was 20.13 (SD 8.23), and 63% (44/70) of the respondents had a score <24. The scores for the "search for" MiL were lower (mean score 18.14, SD 8.64), and 70% (49/70) of the respondents had a score <24. The "presence of" and "search for" MiL were significantly positively correlated (R=0.402; P=.001).

# **Open Question Inviting Participants Linking MiL to Personal Domains**

The second part of the MLQ addresses more specifically the "presence of" MiL as the open question invites the respondent to cite domains that he or she considers as providing meaning to his or her life at the time being, without referring to the constructs of "presence of" or "search for" MiL. It is noteworthy that all participants provided responses to the open question. The total number of responses was well over 70 as only about one-fifth of the patients mentioned  $\leq 3$  domains in their responses. Three main dimensions emerged from content

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e29365
```

RenderX

analysis, that is, responses pertaining to (1) the domain of relationships, (2) the domain of activities, and (3) pain and its consequences on MiL.

# **Responses Linking MiL to Relationships**

An overwhelming majority of the participants (n=65, 93%) mentioned relationships with the family, spouse, children (and/or grandchildren), and friends as a domain that provides meaning to their life. The idea of sharing (time, activities, and emotions) was in the foreground as in the following response:

My family and my friends. Their presence is very important for me, I feel considered... they give me love... Being valued in their eyes is important for me [...]. Then the relationship with other people (outside of my family) also gives meaning to my life. Telling funny stories for example... having a good time with my family and friends or colleagues while sharing a meal... [respondent #29, 20-year-old man]

Another domain was to be useful and thus be valued through the relationships, as the following responses show:

First, humanitarian work is very important for me and gives meaning to my life. Then also...contact with the loved ones I still have. I do not want to hurt them or disappoint them... [respondent #16, 69-year-old woman]

My girlfriend who makes me think that I'm not alone... the wish to have children...help the others. I have always helped others, but my present situation does not allow me to do so... This gives me meaning but at the time being, I can no longer take care of myself, so I cannot help others... [respondent #63, 38-year-old man]

Try to be happy and make people around me happy... try to give the best of myself to others... people call me 'Mother Theresa'... sometimes I feel drained. My companion and my daughter also provide meaning to my life. I need to be useful for the others, to be able to help them be well or just be better. It is frustrating but I cannot do so because of my pain. [respondent #64, 58-year-old woman]

These responses could be either embodied, that is, referring to one or more specified persons as in the examples above, or disembodied, that is, referring to relationships in general or as a general value or concept. An example response of the latter is as follows:

Having contacts with other people... sharing provides meaning to my life [respondent #4, 57-year-old man]

Although the relationship may be something to hold on to, the interference of pain may be too overwhelming, as reflected in the following response:

My life has no particular meaning. My wife is the only element that helps me hold on a bit... I feel much more miserable when she is not there. Sadly, I do not talk enough with my wife... because I cannot...I suffer from being completely dependent on her. I try to spend time reading or watching TV, but that does not make sense to me.... I cannot enjoy it... I have no more pleasure... and I have no more hope to get better... I can no longer go out for a walk... I've become a bedridden sick old man. [respondent #20, 82-year-old man]

# **Responses Linking MiL to Personal Activities**

Personal activities were frequent responses in this group of patients given by about two-thirds of respondents in this category. These activities may serve various purposes, such as to feel better and engage in relationships. One patient made the following statement:

Try to improve my condition and do everything I can for that, go out, move, walk... gives meaning to my life... Also meet people, engage in activities with my daughter and friends. [respondent #12, 58-year-old woman]

They may also represent a wish to change life and escape from pain and its consequences. The responses refer to travel, moving to a warmer place, moving somewhere closer to nature, and moving far from civilization. An example response is as follows:

Travel. I need to fly away...it is a kind of flight, a headlong rush. [respondent #54, 60-year-old woman]

About one-quarter of respondents stressed that these activities have to be pleasant and enjoyable. An example response is as follows:

*Playing sports that provide me with good sensations... it helps me balance everything that goes through my mind.* [respondent #21, 67-year-old woman]

However, activities may not be an appropriate response to giving meaning to one's life, as one female respondent indicated, after having mentioned her family who provides her a feeling of belonging, and the energizing power of nature. The response was as follows:

There are other things that I enjoy such as reading, playing video games or taking pictures, but all this, it does not provide me with a meaning in life. [respondent #28, 60-year-old woman]

Furthermore, more than one-quarter of respondents indicated that the identification of pleasurable and meaningful activities is often hampered by pain. An example response is as follows:

I think that I have understood the meaning of my life. It is my family, my friends and everything that gives me pleasure, eating, drinking, traveling, football... Yet, it is difficult to experience it because of my pain that is so intense. [respondent #11, 58-year-old man]

# Responses Linking MiL to Pain and Its Consequences on MiL

Indeed, as mentioned above, despite the presence of important and meaningful relationships and activities, the interference of pain may be overwhelming, to the point of erasing all other responses. One respondent made the following statement:

Nothing has meaning to me. What kind of meaning in life could I have? My pain does not let me enjoy anything for real... [respondent #32, 67-year-old man]

About half of the respondents mentioned pain and its consequences explicitly. All of these consequences were described as deleterious, spoiling potential good moments and pleasure, and possibly leading to loss of objectives and MiL. An example response is as follows:

[...]...Getting better (without pain) and find a job and have a social life may offer me meaning, although I do no longer believe that these objectives can be reached... I am living one day after the other and I avoid making projects for the future. In fact, I am trying to give a meaning to my life, but sometimes I do not know exactly what I should search for... [respondent #5, 32-year-old woman]

This lack or loss of objectives and meaning can have suicidal ideation as a counterpart as indicated by a patient:

There is nothing that really has sense in my life. I have no specific objective in life nor do I have any

pleasure. My quality of life is zero. I keep up only thanks to my grandson because his mother is unable to care properly for him and I do not want to hurt him if I commit suicide... nothing can help me to get better... [respondent #6, 60-year-old woman]

Finding MiL in spite of pain may be too difficult a task, as a patient responded:

My life has absolutely no meaning. I keep going only thanks to my family, but when pain is very intense, I do not think of them. I have no pleasure. My life is not worth living. [respondent #18, 46-year-old woman]

Yet, when pain recedes, new perspectives seem to open up. An example response is as follows:

I have been feeling better since a few days, so meaning is back in my life... receive other people's appreciation and respect... also various sources of pleasure in my life... and my family, but this is not as important as the other two domains... [respondent #13, 69-year-old man]

The identification of these dimensions was independent of the respondents' gender and age. Furthermore, there were no significant differences between respondents with neuropathic pain and those with osteoarticular pain. Since a substantial proportion of respondents presented with moderate or even severe symptoms of depression (58/70, 83%), the categories and dimensions mentioned above may be more representative of this particular group. Yet, it was mostly patients who were still working, either part time or full time, who mentioned "work" as an important activity. Patients who were still working also presented with lower scores in depression tests. Taken together, the results from this group of patients with chronic pain and suicidal ideation point toward shared rather than divergent views of what makes or could have made the respondents' existence more meaningful.

# Discussion

# **Principal Findings**

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first exploration into MiL using a mixed-method approach characterized by the use of both a validated quantitative questionnaire and qualitative open-ended questions, in patients with chronic pain.

Scores for the first part of the questionnaire were low and did not reach the 24-point cutoff threshold for either the "presence of" or the "search for" MiL constructs [27]. These results are in line with the scores of the BDI that identified a high proportion of moderate to severe depressive symptoms in these patients, thus stressing the link between suicidal ideation and MiL in this group. Findings in the literature are controversial. "Presence of" MiL is rather uniformly thought to be beneficial [36]. By contrast, "search for" MiL appears less consensual, as some authors consider it the essence of human motivation [16] and others consider it a sign that one has lost meaning [37,38] or a feeling like one's life has somewhat less meaning [19,26]. Recently, among patients with chronic pain, different MiL profiles have been characterized by combining various levels of "presence of" and "search for" MiL. Some patients were associated with a unique adjustment outcome. Those having profiles with high scores for "presence of" MiL showed fewer depressive symptoms and greater life satisfaction [37,38]. Both constructs have been found to be highly stable over time by the same authors, suggesting that MiL may reflect more a trait, rather than a state aspect, of individual functioning [38].

When asked to mention domains that provide them MiL by open-ended questions, the typical responses of patients in our study were an illustration of the biopsychosocial model. Indeed, whether short or long, these responses addressed various dimensions. These dimensions included physical, emotional, and social aspects and were embedded in a timeframe where chronicity is central. In this regard, our results identified the following two critical dimensions that define MiL for patients with chronic pain: the presence of supportive interpersonal relationships and meaningful activities. When mentioned, pain was presented as having a major impact on the person's daily life, possibly leading to mood disturbances, social isolation, decrease in activities, fear of the future, and a generalized sense of loss, as well as loss of both objectives and meaning. Pain may thus undermine MiL, directly or by actively limiting the seeking out for the two domains that confer MiL, in a vicious circle that leads to suicidal ideation (Figure 1).

Within this biopsychosocial framework, previous studies have documented the reduction of significant social relationships and personal activities among patients with chronic pain. A large-scale study of more than half a million participants in the United Kingdom showed that chronic pain could be reliably predicted by loneliness (odds ratio [OR] 1.843, 95% CI 1.816-1.870) and social exclusion (OR 2.314, 95% CI 2.249-2.380) [39]. Conversely, a longitudinal study of 1563 adults over the age of 60 years in the United States identified chronic pain as a diagnostic factor for the onset of loneliness as the odds for loneliness onset was 1.58 times higher among participants experiencing pain in comparison with pain-free participants, even after adjustment for other medical and psychosocial covariates [40]. Regarding activities, a community-based study in the United States of 591 patients with chronic pain stressed that this condition interferes significantly with productivity-related societal engagements as work performance in participants with chronic pain was markedly impaired [41]. Similarly, adults with chronic pain, either widespread or localized, showed a lower prevalence of engaging in leisure activities in comparison to those without chronic pain [42].

From a neurological perspective, chronic pain might interfere with the process of rewards, defined as matters that result in positive emotions and feelings. Laboratory studies have shown that acute pain can stimulate reward-related behaviors [43]. In patients with chronic pain, however, reduced hedonic perception in naturally rewarded behaviors has been documented [44]. Such a reduction in the perception of pleasure in patients with chronic pain might be attributed to reduced sensitivity to reward-stimulating processes [45].

XSL•FO RenderX

Figure 1. Pathways from chronic pain to suicidal ideation (SI): A vicious circle in a biopsychosocial framework. MiL: meaning in life.



Furthermore, goal pursuit behaviors, conceptualized as "internal representations of desired states, where states are broadly construed as outcomes, events, or processes" [46], could also be impacted by chronic pain. A study exploring the presence of daily goal conflicts in patients with fibromyalgia showed that these patients reported more pain-instigated disruption of goal-oriented daily activities (eg, household, social, and interpersonal goals) than healthy control individuals [47]. Collectively, these chronic pain-induced neuropsychological interferences might trigger a gradual loss of social interactions and activities.

The losses in these two domains are particularly salient in our study as patients clearly linked social interactions and activities to MiL, emphasizing that a loss in these domains could lead to a loss in MiL. This is of particular relevance as MiL has a protective role against the development of suicidal ideation and suicidal behavior. Following the pioneering studies of Frankl [15-17], recent studies have proposed this possible function of MiL among heterogeneous populations, including patients with chronic pain [23,48], patients attending a psychiatric emergency department (ED) [21,49,50], and community-dwelling individuals during the COVID-19 pandemic [51]. One of these studies [21] utilized the same qualitative approach as our study, but addressed patients attending a psychiatric ED. The findings of both studies converge. In both populations, relationships and activities were the main domains giving MiL to suicidal patients. These findings are consistent with findings from previous studies in the literature on the impacts of relationships and activities on reducing suicidal ideation and suicidal behavior.

The association between loneliness and suicidality is well documented. A recent extended review of the literature showed that both the objective condition (eg, living alone and social isolation) and the subjective feeling of being alone (ie, loneliness and alienation) were strongly associated with suicidal outcomes, such as suicidal ideation and suicidal behavior [52]. Notably, the subjective feeling had a major impact [52]. Two nationally representative samples (in the United States and in the United Kingdom) showed that social support was associated with a decreased risk of suicide (ORs of 0.7 and 0.9, respectively) [53]. In our study, a particular emphasis was placed on the presence of family members and, among them, of children/grandchildren and spouses. This is concordant with previous studies [21,52].

Our findings regarding the role of activities echo several prior studies suggesting that the lack of professional activities might also result in higher suicide risk [54]. In this regard, the interplay between professional activities and suicide is complex, involving some societal effects, such as the loss of social status, loss of connectedness, and lower income, all or some of which contribute to a higher vulnerability to suicide risk [55]. To the best of our knowledge, only one other study using qualitative data in the literature [21] has mentioned the relevance of other types of activities, although it is more related to personal interests and the intellectual/nonintellectual pleasure sphere, in comparison to our study.

# **Limitations and Strengths**

This study has several limitations. First, the sample size of this study was small, and future large-scale studies are required to substantiate the results regarding the closed-ended portion of the MLQ. However, the sample size allowed us to conduct a thorough analysis of the patients' responses to the open-ended question investigating the domains that gave them MiL. Currently, we do not know how people with chronic pain but without suicidal ideation would identify the domains that give meaning to their lives. Yet, this study provides further information on the difficulties these patients face when trying to sort out what gives them MiL. Second, we did not analyze our findings in light of the participants' heterogeneous sociodemographic characteristics. Therefore, it would be important to conduct further investigations to identify whether there are age- and gender-specific perspectives on MiL. We did find, however, that the characteristics of participants enlisted by ongoing recruitment through a project anchored in daily clinical practice at the MPC mirrored those of patients who arrived by referral. Indeed, the research was conducted in a

third-line referral consultation. While our results may be transferable to patients having severe chronic pain associated with depressive symptoms, the transferability of our results to other clinical settings might still be difficult. However, the characteristics of our sample provide different perspectives on the issue at stake. Taken together, the results of this study have indicated several avenues that could be pursued by future investigations. For example, the sociodemographic and clinical characteristics of a sample could be used to refine the results presented here and to obtain a better understanding of the role of not only chronic pain and suicidal ideation, but also the various features of pain and its consequences.

It is noteworthy that this study made extensive use of investigator triangulation, with the final thematic analysis discussed within a multidisciplinary group (ie, psychiatry, psychology, clinical pharmacology, and internal medicine) so that findings were confirmed through consensus. Investigator triangulation allowed corroboration of the data, thus contributing to the credibility and validity of the findings [56]. The reliability of the findings was assessed by using patient-generated data via interviews and by verification of interpretation from a multidisciplinary group of researchers [57]. Concerning credibility, confirmability, and transferability of the results, research methods were derived from previous comparable projects, and familiarity with the culture and an adequate understanding of the participants were developed before the first data were collected. A further strength of this study was that its design allowed for an analysis based on two different sets of data investigating MiL, namely closed-ended questions and narrative responses. However, the open question does not specify whether it addresses the "presence of" or the "search for" construct, and this should be specifically investigated in a future study.

# **Clinical Implications**

There are various psychological approaches for chronic pain, but all have the same basic requirements as follows: patient adherence on the one hand and patient-therapist agreement on the definition of objectives that are both realistic and meaningful for the patient on the other hand. It is thus essential to involve the patient in this definition. This in turn implies that the therapist can express empathy and validate the patient's pain and suffering.

In clinical interviews with patients with chronic pain, pain has to be thoroughly considered along with other aspects, such as activities that may require adaptations, as well as the possible fluctuations in the patient's perception of MiL. As part of a negotiation process, the clinical interview also has to consider the patient's resources and how he or she may try to cope with the situation with the clinician's help, while still avoiding that the psychotherapeutic offer be perceived as a medical desertion. The results of our study stress the benefits of the MLQ as not only an indicator of psychological distress but also a tool that may be used in the patient-therapist discussion about the patient's goals and sources of meaning. In this regard, such an instrument could help the clinician in the identification of relevant elements for the assessment of crisis factors that may be related to suicidal ideation. It may indeed contribute to the definition of common objectives and expected benefits for the treatment with respect to improvements in the patient's quality of life and functional capacities.

# Conclusions

The results of this study provide the first insights into the views of patients with chronic pain regarding the domains that provide them with meaning in their lives and also into the impact of pain on these domains with regard to suicidal ideation. The clinical implication concerns prevention main and supportive/psychotherapeutic interventions, based on a narrative approach aiming to explore with the patients the contents of their suffering and the MiL domains that they could identify to mitigate them, in order to restructure or reinforce these domains [16,17]. Specifically, any treatment (also involving practical measures) focusing on maintaining the domains of interpersonal relationships and activities can possibly improve MiL and thus reduce suicidal ideation by allowing patients to ultimately escape this biopsychosocial vicious cycle of chronic pain-induced deep moral suffering.

# Acknowledgments

We are grateful to all the patients who spent their valuable time and accepted to share their thoughts and worries.

# **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

# References

- Tang NKY, Crane C. Suicidality in chronic pain: a review of the prevalence, risk factors and psychological links. Psychol Med 2006 May;36(5):575-586. [doi: 10.1017/S0033291705006859] [Medline: 16420727]
- Fishbain DA, Lewis JE, Gao J. The pain suicidality association: a narrative review. Pain Med 2014 Nov;15(11):1835-1849. [doi: 10.1111/pme.12463] [Medline: 24995953]
- 3. Hassett AL, Aquino JK, Ilgen MA. The risk of suicide mortality in chronic pain patients. Curr Pain Headache Rep 2014;18(8):436. [doi: 10.1007/s11916-014-0436-1] [Medline: 24952608]
- 4. Calati R, Laglaoui Bakhiyi C, Artero S, Ilgen M, Courtet P. The impact of physical pain on suicidal thoughts and behaviors: Meta-analyses. J Psychiatr Res 2015 Dec;71:16-32. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jpsychires.2015.09.004</u>] [Medline: <u>26522868</u>]

- 5. Ilgen MA, Kleinberg F, Ignacio RV, Bohnert ASB, Valenstein M, McCarthy JF, et al. Noncancer pain conditions and risk of suicide. JAMA Psychiatry 2013 Jul;70(7):692-697. [doi: <u>10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2013.908</u>] [Medline: <u>23699975</u>]
- Kikuchi N, Ohmori-Matsuda K, Shimazu T, Sone T, Kakizaki M, Nakaya N, et al. Pain and risk of completed suicide in Japanese men: a population-based cohort study in Japan (Ohsaki Cohort Study). J Pain Symptom Manage 2009 Mar;37(3):316-324 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2008.03.012] [Medline: 18694632]
- Ratcliffe G, Enns M, Belik S, Sareen J. Chronic pain conditions and suicidal ideation and suicide attempts: an epidemiologic perspective. Clin J Pain 2008;24(3):204-210. [doi: <u>10.1097/AJP.0b013e31815ca2a3</u>] [Medline: <u>18287825</u>]
- Campbell G, Darke S, Bruno R, Degenhardt L. The prevalence and correlates of chronic pain and suicidality in a nationally representative sample. Aust N Z J Psychiatry 2015 Sep;49(9):803-811. [doi: <u>10.1177/0004867415569795</u>] [Medline: <u>25698809</u>]
- 9. Smith M, Edwards R, Robinson R, Dworkin R. Suicidal ideation, plans, and attempts in chronic pain patients: factors associated with increased risk. Pain 2004 Sep;111(1-2):201-208. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pain.2004.06.016</u>] [Medline: <u>15327824</u>]
- Racine M, Choinière M, Nielson W. Predictors of suicidal ideation in chronic pain patients: an exploratory study. Clin J Pain 2014 May;30(5):371-378. [doi: <u>10.1097/AJP.0b013e31829e9d4d</u>] [Medline: <u>23887336</u>]
- Wang M, Richard Lightsey O, Pietruszka T, Uruk A, Wells. Purpose in life and reasons for living as mediators of the relationship between stress, coping, and suicidal behavior. The Journal of Positive Psychology 2007 Jul;2(3):195-204 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/17439760701228920] [Medline: not available]
- 12. Pinquart M, Silbereisen RK, Fröhlich C. Life goals and purpose in life in cancer patients. Support Care Cancer 2009 Mar;17(3):253-259. [doi: 10.1007/s00520-008-0450-0] [Medline: 18449572]
- 13. Hooten WM. Chronic Pain and Mental Health Disorders: Shared Neural Mechanisms, Epidemiology, and Treatment. Mayo Clin Proc 2016 Jul;91(7):955-970. [doi: 10.1016/j.mayocp.2016.04.029] [Medline: 27344405]
- Axon D, Patel M, Martin J, Slack M. Use of multidomain management strategies by community dwelling adults with chronic pain: evidence from a systematic review. Scand J Pain 2019 Jan 28;19(1):9-23. [doi: <u>10.1515/sjpain-2018-0306</u>] [Medline: <u>30375350</u>]
- 15. Frankl VE. Man's Search for Meaning. New York, NY: Beacon Press; 1959.
- 16. Frankl VE. Psychotherapy and Existentialism: Selected Papers on Logotherapy. New York, NY: Symon and Schuster; 1967.
- 17. Frankl VE. The Will to Meaning: Foundations and Applications of Logotherapy. New York, NY: New American Library; 1988.
- 18. Steger MF. Experiencing meaning in life: Optimal functioning at the nexus of well-being, psychopathology, and spirituality. In: Wong PTP, editor. Personality and clinical psychology series. The human quest for meaning: Theories, research, and applications. London, UK: Routledge; 2012:165-184.
- 19. Steger MF. Meaning in Life. In: Lopez SJ, Snyder CR, editors. The Oxford Handbook of Positive Psychology. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press; 2009.
- Costanza A, Prelati M, Pompili M. The Meaning in Life in Suicidal Patients: The Presence and the Search for Constructs. A Systematic Review. Medicina (Kaunas) 2019 Aug 11;55(8):1-18 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/medicina55080465] [Medline: <u>31405240</u>]
- Costanza A, Amerio A, Odone A, Baertschi M, Richard-Lepouriel H, Weber K, et al. Suicide prevention from a public health perspective. What makes life meaningful? The opinion of some suicidal patients. Acta Biomed 2020 Apr 10;91(3-S):128-134 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.23750/abm.v91i3-S.9417] [Medline: 32275277]
- 22. Institute of Medicine. In: Goldsmith SK, Pellmar TC, Kleinman AM, Bunney WE, editors. Reducing Suicide: A National Imperative. Washington, DC: National Academies Press; 2002.
- Costanza A, Chytas V, Mazzola V, Piguet V, Desmeules J, Bondolfi G, et al. The Role of Demoralization and Meaning in Life (DEMIL) in Influencing Suicidal Ideation Among Patients Affected by Chronic Pain: Protocol of a Single-Center, Observational, Case-Control Study. JMIR Res Protoc 2020 Nov 26;9(11):e24882 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/24882] [Medline: <u>33144275</u>]
- 24. Bourque P, Beaudette D. Étude psychometrique du questionnaire de dépression de Beck auprès d'un échantillon d'étudiants universitaires francophones. Canadian Journal of Behavioural Science/Revue canadienne des sciences du comportement 1982;14(3):211-218. [doi: 10.1037/h0081254]
- 25. Sheehan DV, Lecrubier Y, Sheehan KH, Amorim P, Janavs J, Weiller E, et al. The Mini-International Neuropsychiatric Interview (M.I.N.I.): the development and validation of a structured diagnostic psychiatric interview for DSM-IV and ICD-10. J Clin Psychiatry 1998;59 Suppl 20:22-33;quiz 34. [Medline: <u>9881538</u>]
- 26. Steger M, Frazier P, Oishi S, Kaler M. The meaning in life questionnaire: Assessing the presence of and search for meaning in life. Journal of Counseling Psychology 2006 Jan;53(1):80-93 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/0022-0167.53.1.80]
- 27. The Meaning in Life Questionnaire. Michael F. Steger. URL: <u>http://www.michaelfsteger.com/?page\_id=13</u> [accessed 2020-02-22]
- 28. Ritchie J, Spencer L. Qualitative data analysis for applied policy research. In: Bryman A, Burgess RG, editors. Analysing Qualitative Data. London, UK: Routledge; 1994.

- 29. Strauss A, Corbin J, editors. Basics of Qualitative Research: Techniques and Procedures for Developing Grounded Theory. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications; 1990.
- Devlin MJ, Richards BF, Cunningham H, Desai U, Lewis O, Mutnick A, et al. "Where Does the Circle End?": Representation as a Critical Aspect of Reflection in Teaching Social and Behavioral Sciences in Medicine. Acad Psychiatry 2015 Dec;39(6):669-677 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s40596-014-0222-8] [Medline: 25272952]
- 31. Pope C, Ziebland S, Mays N. Qualitative research in health care. Analysing qualitative data. BMJ 2000 Jan 08;320(7227):114-116 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.320.7227.114] [Medline: 10625273]
- 32. Guba EG, Lincoln YS. Paradigmatic controversies, contradictions, and emerging influences. In: Denzin NK, Lincoln YS, editors. The Sage Handbook of Qualitative Research. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications; Apr 2006:191-215.
- Guest G, Bunce A, Johnson L. How Many Interviews Are Enough? Field Methods 2016 Jul 21;18(1):59-82 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1525822X05279903]
- 34. Barbour R. Checklists for improving rigour in qualitative research: a case of the tail wagging the dog? BMJ 2001 May 05;322(7294):1115-1117 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.322.7294.1115] [Medline: 11337448]
- 35. van Nes F, Abma T, Jonsson H, Deeg D. Language differences in qualitative research: is meaning lost in translation? Eur J Ageing 2010 Dec;7(4):313-316 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10433-010-0168-y] [Medline: 21212820]
- 36. Steger MF, Kashdan TB. Search For Meaning in Life. In: Baumesteir RF, Vohs KD, editors. Encyclopedia of Social Psychology. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications; 2007.
- Dezutter J, Casalin S, Wachholtz A, Luyckx K, Hekking J, Vandewiele W. Meaning in life: an important factor for the psychological well-being of chronically ill patients? Rehabil Psychol 2013 Nov;58(4):334-341 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/a0034393] [Medline: 24295525]
- Dezutter J, Luyckx K, Wachholtz A. Meaning in life in chronic pain patients over time: associations with pain experience and psychological well-being. J Behav Med 2015 Apr;38(2):384-396 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10865-014-9614-1] [Medline: 25537924]
- Allen SF, Gilbody S, Atkin K, van der Feltz-Cornelis C. The associations between loneliness, social exclusion and pain in the general population: A N=502,528 cross-sectional UK Biobank study. J Psychiatr Res 2020 Nov;130:68-74. [doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2020.06.028] [Medline: <u>32791383</u>]
- 40. Emerson K, Boggero I, Ostir G, Jayawardhana J. Pain as a Risk Factor for Loneliness Among Older Adults. J Aging Health 2018 Oct;30(9):1450-1461. [doi: 10.1177/0898264317721348] [Medline: 28728466]
- 41. Kawai K, Kawai A, Wollan P, Yawn B. Adverse impacts of chronic pain on health-related quality of life, work productivity, depression and anxiety in a community-based study. Fam Pract 2017 Nov 16;34(6):656-661 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/fampra/cmx034] [Medline: 28444208]
- 42. Umeda M, Kim Y. Gender Differences in the Prevalence of Chronic Pain and Leisure Time Physical Activity Among US Adults: A NHANES Study. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2019 Mar 19;16(6):1-11 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph16060988] [Medline: 30893869]
- 43. Gandhi W, Becker S, Schweinhardt P. Pain increases motivational drive to obtain reward, but does not affect associated hedonic responses: a behavioural study in healthy volunteers. Eur J Pain 2013 Aug;17(7):1093-1103. [doi: 10.1002/j.1532-2149.2012.00281.x] [Medline: 23349058]
- Liu SS, Pickens S, Burma NE, Ibarra-Lecue I, Yang H, Xue L, et al. Kappa Opioid Receptors Drive a Tonic Aversive Component of Chronic Pain. J Neurosci 2019 May 22;39(21):4162-4178 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0274-19.2019] [Medline: <u>30862664</u>]
- 45. Marbach JJ, Richlin DM, Lipton JA. Illness behavior, depression and anhedonia in myofascial face and back pain patients. Psychother Psychosom 1983;39(1):47-54. [doi: 10.1159/000287720] [Medline: 6220421]
- 46. Austin J, Vancouver J. Goal constructs in psychology: Structure, process, and content. Psychological Bulletin 1996 Nov;120(3):338-375 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.120.3.338] [Medline: not available]
- Claes N, Vlaeyen J, Lauwerier E, Meulders M, Crombez G. Goal conflict in chronic pain: day reconstruction method. PeerJ 2018;6:e5272 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7717/peerj.5272] [Medline: 30128176]
- 48. Chytas V, Costanza A, Piguet V, Cedraschi C, Bondolfi G. Demoralization and meaning in life in suicidal ideation : a role for patients suffering from chronic pain? Rev Med Suisse 2019 Jun 19;15(656):1282-1285. [Medline: <u>31268257</u>]
- Costanza A, Baertschi M, Richard-Lepouriel H, Weber K, Pompili M, Canuto A. The Presence and the Search Constructs of Meaning in Life in Suicidal Patients Attending a Psychiatric Emergency Department. Front Psychiatry 2020;11:327 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00327] [Medline: 32425828]
- 50. Costanza A, Amerio A, Aguglia A, Serafini G, Amore M. Meaning in Life and Demoralization Constructs in Light of the Interpersonal Theory of Suicide: A Trans-Theoretical Hypothesis for a Cross-Sectional Study. Psychol Res Behav Manag 2020;13:855-858 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/PRBM.S279829] [Medline: 33154680]
- 51. Costanza A, Di Marco S, Burroni M, Corasaniti F, Santinon P, Prelati M, et al. Meaning in life and demoralization: a mental-health reading perspective of suicidality in the time of COVID-19. Acta Biomed 2020 Nov 10;91(4):e2020163 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.23750/abm.v91i4.10515] [Medline: 33525223]

- 52. Calati R, Ferrari C, Brittner M, Oasi O, Olié E, Carvalho AF, et al. Suicidal thoughts and behaviors and social isolation: A narrative review of the literature. J Affect Disord 2019 Feb 15;245:653-667. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jad.2018.11.022</u>] [Medline: <u>30445391</u>]
- 53. Kleiman EM, Liu RT. Social support as a protective factor in suicide: findings from two nationally representative samples. J Affect Disord 2013 Sep 05;150(2):540-545 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2013.01.033] [Medline: 23466401]
- 54. Milner A, Page A, LaMontagne AD. Long-Term Unemployment and Suicide: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. PLoS ONE 2013 Jan 16;8(1):e51333 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0051333] [Medline: 23341881]
- 55. Chang S, Stuckler D, Yip P, Gunnell D. Impact of 2008 global economic crisis on suicide: time trend study in 54 countries. BMJ 2013 Sep 17;347:f5239 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.f5239] [Medline: 24046155]
- 56. Denzin NK. Sociological Methods: A Sourcebook. London, UK: Routledge; 2006.
- 57. Lincoln YS, Guba EG, editors. Naturalistic Inquiry. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publishing; 1985.

# Abbreviations

BDI: Beck Depression Inventory
ED: emergency department
MiL: meaning in life
MINI: Mini-International Neuropsychiatric Interview
MLQ: Meaning in Life Questionnaire
MPC: Multidisciplinary Pain Centre
OR: odds ratio

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 03.04.21; peer-reviewed by N Khalili-Mahani; comments to author 24.04.21; revised version received 06.05.21; accepted 16.05.21; published 04.06.21.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Costanza A, Chytas V, Piguet V, Luthy C, Mazzola V, Bondolfi G, Cedraschi C Meaning in Life Among Patients With Chronic Pain and Suicidal Ideation: Mixed Methods Study JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e29365 URL: <u>https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e29365</u> doi:<u>10.2196/29365</u> PMID:<u>34003136</u>

©Alessandra Costanza, Vasileios Chytas, Valérie Piguet, Christophe Luthy, Viridiana Mazzola, Guido Bondolfi, Christine Cedraschi. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 04.06.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Original Paper** 

# Patients' and Providers' Needs and Preferences When Considering Fertility Preservation Before Cancer Treatment: Decision-Making Needs Assessment

Aubri Hoffman<sup>1</sup>, MS, PhD; Laura Crocker<sup>2</sup>, MSPH; Aakrati Mathur<sup>3</sup>, PhD; Deborah Holman<sup>1</sup>, APRN, WHNP; June Weston<sup>1</sup>, BA; Sukhkamal Campbell<sup>4</sup>, MD; Ashley Housten<sup>2</sup>, OTD; Andrea Bradford<sup>5</sup>, PhD; Shilpi Agrawala<sup>4</sup>, MD; Terri L Woodard<sup>1,4</sup>, MD

<sup>1</sup>Department of Gynecological Oncology and Reproductive Medicine, The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, United States

<sup>2</sup>Department of Health Services Research, The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, United States

<sup>3</sup>Department of Biostatistics, The University of Texas at Arlington, Arlington, TX, United States

<sup>4</sup>Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, TX, United States

<sup>5</sup>Department of Medicine, Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, TX, United States

**Corresponding Author:** 

Terri L Woodard, MD Department of Gynecological Oncology and Reproductive Medicine The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center 1155 Pressler Street, Unit 1362 Houston, TX, 77030-4009 United States Phone: 1 713 745 7591 Email: <u>tlwoodard@mdanderson.org</u>

# Abstract

**Background:** As cancer treatments continue to improve, it is increasingly important that women of reproductive age have an opportunity to decide whether they want to undergo fertility preservation treatments to try to protect their ability to have a child after cancer. Clinical practice guidelines recommend that providers offer fertility counseling to all young women with cancer; however, as few as 12% of women recall discussing fertility preservation. The long-term goal of this program is to develop an interactive web-based patient decision aid to improve awareness, access, knowledge, and decision making for all young women with cancer. The International Patient Decision Aid Standards collaboration recommends a formal decision-making needs assessment to inform and guide the design of understandable, meaningful, and usable patient decision aid interventions.

**Objective:** This study aims to assess providers' and survivors' fertility preservation decision-making experiences, unmet needs, and initial design preferences to inform the development of a web-based patient decision aid.

**Methods:** Semistructured interviews and an ad hoc focus group assessed current decision-making experiences, unmet needs, and recommendations for a patient decision aid. Two researchers coded and analyzed the transcripts using NVivo (QSR International). A stakeholder advisory panel guided the study and interpretation of results.

**Results:** A total of 51 participants participated in 46 interviews (18 providers and 28 survivors) and 1 ad hoc focus group (7 survivors). The primary themes included the importance of fertility decisions for survivorship, the existence of significant but potentially modifiable barriers to optimal decision making, and a strong support for developing a carefully designed patient decision aid website. Providers reported needing an intervention that could quickly raise awareness and facilitate timely referrals. Survivors reported needing understandable information and help with managing uncertainty, costs, and pressures. Design recommendations included providing tailored information (eg, by age and cancer type), optional interactive features, and multimedia delivery at multiple time points, preferably outside the consultation.

**Conclusions:** Decision making about fertility preservation is an important step in providing high-quality comprehensive cancer care and a priority for many survivors' optimal quality of life. Decision support interventions are needed to address gaps in care and help women quickly navigate toward an informed, values-congruent decision. Survivors and providers support developing

a patient decision aid website to make information directly available to women outside of the consultation and to provide self-tailored content according to women's clinical characteristics and their information-seeking and deliberative styles.

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e25083) doi:10.2196/25083

# **KEYWORDS**

cancer; decision support techniques; fertility preservation; oncofertility; oncology; needs assessment; patient decision aids; patient needs; shared decision making

# Introduction

With cancer survival rates exceeding 75% for young adults, it is increasingly important to minimize the negative effects of treatment, such as infertility, to protect survivors' long-term quality of life. Infertility ranks fifth on the World Health Organization's list of serious disabilities, and multiple studies show that cancer-related infertility causes distress and regret that persist long term, even in survivors with otherwise positive mental health status [1-4]. Since 2006, the American Society of Clinical Oncology (ASCO) guidelines have recommended that oncology providers address the risk of treatment-related infertility as early as possible and offer all women a referral for fertility counseling before initiating cancer treatment [5-7]. The decision-making process consists of 2 steps: patients must decide whether to accept or seek a referral to a fertility specialist and then decide whether to undergo fertility preservation and of which type. Referral to a fertility specialist decreases survivors' long-term regret and distress, whether or not women undergo fertility preservation therapies [2,3]. However, a recent review reported that 25% of physicians, 36% of advanced practice nurses, and 65% of nurses are not aware of the guidelines [8,9]. Only 53% of women of reproductive age recalled having a discussion about the effect of cancer treatments on fertility, and as few as 12.2% women recalled having fertility preservation counseling [2,10].

Several previous studies have explored barriers to fertility preservation discussions, referrals, and treatment [11-15]. Oncology providers report a lack of time for counseling within the consultation and resources to offer patients, particularly those who do not have insurance coverage. Provider education interventions and financial resource programs have been developed to address these barriers. However, gaps remain in helping providers also identify appropriate patients for referral, which necessitates shared decision making to assess patients' informed personal preferences [8]. For patients, educational and information improved awareness booklets have comprehension; however, gaps remain in providing evidence-based decision support during the brief time (sometimes as little as 24 hours) between diagnosis and cancer treatment initiation [8,16-18]. Interventions are needed that can provide timely information and decision support to women when they need it and can process it, which is often in between clinical consultations.

Patient decision aids are tools that complement clinical consultations by providing up-to-date, plain language descriptions of the options as well as theory- and evidence-based approaches to help patients engage in decision making [19-21]. They are designed for preference-sensitive decisions in which

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e25083
```

there are 2 or more medically appropriate options, high uncertainty, and trade-offs in risks and benefits [22]. Decision aids may be provided in a variety of formats (eg, booklets, videos, and websites) before, during, or after a clinical consultation. The most recent Cochrane Collaboration review of 89 randomized trials reported that patient decision aids improve patients' knowledge, realistic expectations of risks, and congruency of treatment choices with their informed decision-making values (ie, the factors in the decision that matter most to the patient) [19]. Studies show that patient decision aids improve decision quality (ie, the degree to which decisions are well informed, congruent with what patients value most, and actionable) and reduce decisional conflict (a state of anxiety that blocks action) [19,23,24]. Decisional conflict has been shown to correlate with long-term decisional regret [24]. For every unit increase in decisional conflict, patients are 59 times more likely to change their mind, 23 times more likely to delay, 3 times more likely to fail knowledge tests, and 19% more likely to blame the doctor for bad outcomes [24-26].

In Australia [27], the Netherlands [28], Germany [29], and the United Kingdom [30], fertility preservation patient decision aids have been developed, with positive results on knowledge, decisional conflict, and decisional regret. However, at the time of this study, these decision aids were only available for women with breast cancer. Furthermore, many women in the United States face an additional financial barrier—as of August 2020, only 19 states mandate insurance coverage for fertility counseling or care (with only 10 states covering iatrogenic fertility loss), and few women are aware of available financial resources such Walgreens Heartbeat and LIVESTRONG Fertility [10,16,31]. The long-term goal of this program of research studies is to develop a patient decision aid [32] that provides information tailored for a variety of cancer types and time points and that specifically addresses women's decision-making, financial, and referral and navigation needs.

As a key step in the systematic development of a patient decision aid, the International Patient Decision Aid Standards (IPDAS) Collaboration recommends a formal assessment of all stakeholders' decision-making needs and perspectives to ensure that the decision aid will be effective, meaningful, usable, and sustainable [33-36].

Following the Decisional Needs Assessment approach [37], the specific aims of this study are to assess the decision-making needs of oncology providers and female cancer survivors in terms of their (1) current experiences and key decision-making factors, (2) unmet decision-making needs, and (3) recommendations for the content and design of a fertility preservation patient decision aid website.

XSL•FO

# Methods

# **Conceptual Framework**

The Ottawa Decision Support Framework (Figure 1) [38] has been used to develop decision support interventions in more than 100 studies across 18 countries. This framework applies behavioral economic [39,40] and cognitive [39,41-43] theories to preference-sensitive health care decisions. For example, it postulates several modifiable decision support needs, such as

Figure 1. The Ottawa Decision Support Framework.

lack of awareness, knowledge, clarity, or support, which may be addressed to ensure a high-quality decision-making process. The framework was operationalized in 1999 in the Decisional Needs Assessment Workbook (updated in 2013 [37]), which details a series of 10 steps to define and select the appropriate objective(s), participants (key informants), rationale, methods, data collection tools, sample size, sampling procedure, analytic methods, and presentation of findings. The research team completed these steps, resulting in the approach described here in the *Methods* section.



\*Inadequate support and resources to make/implement the decision include: information inadequacy/overload; inadequate perceptions of others' views/practices; social pressure; difficult decisional roles; inadequate experience, self-efficacy, motivation, skills; inadequate emotional support, advice, instrumental help; and inadequate financial assistance, health/social services.

# **Study Design**

To address the specific aims, this study used semistructured cognitive interviews and an ad hoc semistructured focus group. Figure 2 presents the IPDAS model [33] for rigorous and systematic patient decision aid development of patient decision aids. This study specifically addressed design steps 1 and 2. Previously, we engaged a stakeholder advisory panel of female cancer survivors, patient advocates, and oncology providers who guide the larger program of research. The advisory panel actively partners in each study, including contributing to the study design, protocol, materials, instruments, interpretation of

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e25083
```

results, presentations, and manuscripts. For this study, the advisory panel and research team defined the scope of this needs assessment to focus on assessing women with cancer's needs for information and decision support regarding whether to seek or accept a referral for fertility counseling as well as exploring whether an interactive website would be feasible. These decisions were based on 3 key factors: (1) previous studies had assessed decision making about choosing among preservation options but not the initial choice to seek or accept the referral to see a fertility specialist; (2) given the short time frame, survivors report needing access to information between consultations at all hours; and (3) a website could provide

interactive features to allow self-tailoring by cancer type (eg, breast and ovarian), age, information level, deliberative style, or other factors. Subsequent planned studies will assess technological aspects, such as accessibility, usability, design, and acceptability, to create an optimized prototype for pilot testing. The MD Anderson Cancer Center Institutional Review Board provided ethical review and approval for this study (#2014-0130).

Figure 2. The International Patient Decision Aid Standards Collaboration model for systematic development of a patient decision aid.





# Participants: Oncology Providers and Female Cancer Survivors

The principal investigator (TLW) purposefully invited oncology providers at the institution representing a variety of professional roles (surgeons, advance practice providers, etc), clinical expertise, experience, and sociodemographic characteristics. To recruit survivors, the research team distributed flyers in the waiting areas and lobbies throughout the MD Anderson Cancer Center and community clinics and invited survivors in person after their appointments at the Oncofertility Clinic. Over the past 10 years, the racial and ethnic distribution of survivors seen at the Oncofertility Clinic included 65% White, 11.6% Black, 10.5% Asian, 5.7% other, and 22.5% Hispanic individuals (7.2% declined to respond). Eligible survivors included English-speaking 18- to 45-year-old females diagnosed with cancer within the previous 5 years who received a potentially fertility-damaging treatment (eg, chemotherapy, radiation, or surgery on a reproductive organ). In the context of this sensitive survivorship topic, it is important to note that women is the inclusive term preferred by our survivors, as fertility counseling includes offering fertility preservation treatments and/or alternative family-building options to patients and survivors who may or may not currently have a uterus or ovaries. All participants provided informed consent.

# Interviews

Following the Decisional Needs Assessment Workbook [37], the interview guide (Multimedia Appendix 1) asked providers and survivors to reflect on (1) their current experiences, (2) unmet needs, and (3) recommendations for the content and design of a patient decision aid. The Decisional Needs Assessment in Populations Workbook [37] provides templates of questions that may be readily adapted as appropriate for the clinical context and user(s). The advisory panel also edited questions for patient-centered language. For example, we tailored the questions to focus on referrals for fertility counseling and for survivors or providers (eg, What factors do you consider and/or discuss with patients to decide whether to refer for fertility? and What types of things were you thinking about when deciding whether to go see the fertility specialist?). The principal investigator and a trained research coordinator conducted the cognitive interviews, which were audio recorded using integrated overhead microphones and transcribed verbatim. Women also completed a questionnaire assessing their characteristics and ratings of the helpfulness of potential medium and delivery formats (to confirm, or add to, plans for web-based delivery). At the end of the interview, women received a US \$50 gift card and paid parking. Both interviewers took field notes, which were compared and discussed to inform the interpretation of results. Recruitment continued until data saturation was reached, in terms of no new codes emerging in 2 cycles of transcript coding (ie, 2 batches of 2 to 3 transcripts).

# **Focus Group**

While analyzing the cognitive interview transcripts, the research team observed that participants had introduced ideas that merited further exploration, including a variety of factors that drove their decisions (ie, their *decision-making values* [44]), and a variety of resources that they used during their decisions.

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e25083
```

Decision-making values are a key component of decision support, and many patient decision aids present a set of top-ranked values to engage patients in considering which factors are most important to them in this decision (ie, decision-making values clarification). After discussion with the advisory panel, the principal investigator and research assistant conducted an ad hoc survivor focus group to confirm coding and interpretation (including which decision-making factors were top priority) and to assess responses to relevant resources. The research assistant recontacted 2 individuals from the interviews who had made statements that merited additional discussion and recruited 5 additional survivors. Following the focus group discussion guide (Multimedia Appendix 2), the principal investigator invited women to complete an initial questionnaire that presented women with a set of selected values statement from the interview transcripts. Women ranked the importance of each statement individually, discussed their ranking as a group, and added additional ideas they felt were not yet well addressed. Next, the research assistant presented the group with the cancer center's patient information sheets, the existing patient decision aids [27-29], and examples of the web-based resources that interview participants had recommended. The research assistant used open-ended discussion prompts to assess women's perspectives on the wording, graphic design, utility, acceptability, and usefulness. Participants were provided with US \$50 gift cards and paid parking.

# **Data Analysis**

Interviews were coded and analyzed using the coding process by Strauss and Corbin [45] and NVivo 10 (2016 QSR International). Two research assistants coded the first 5 transcripts to create the codebook and then iteratively until saturation was reached (ie, no additional codes were identified in the next 2 transcripts). Each coder separately coded the remaining interviews in batches of 2 to 3. Additional codes were added, and the earlier interviews were reanalyzed and updated. A third coder rereviewed all transcripts to ensure fidelity to the codebook and to ensure that interrater reliability remained above 90%. The principal investigator resolved minor coding discrepancies through discussion and independent review of the transcripts.

Interview findings were summarized using an initial word frequency analysis, followed by keywords in context analysis to identify primary themes and subthemes. There were not sufficient distributions for subgroup analyses; however, exemplary quotes were purposively selected across age and parity subgroups. The research team also compared and contrasted interview transcripts to identify potential missing items or misconceptions that could be addressed in a patient decision aid. As the focus group was conducted to clarify specific points and obtain initial reactions to existing materials, the transcript was analyzed descriptively and the results were summarized in terms of notable points and recommendations that could inform the future design and user testing studies. All findings and interpretations were shared with the stakeholder advisory panel to confirm meaningful interpretations.

XSL•FO

# Results

# **Participant Characteristics**

All 51 individuals who were recruited in person agreed to participate, including 18 oncology providers and 33 female cancer survivors. None of the women responded solely to public flyers. Interview recruitment continued until data saturation (n=46, including 18 providers and 28 survivors). The follow-up

 Table 1. Providers' characteristics (n=18).

focus group reengaged 2 survivors from the interviews and 5 additional survivors (n=7).

Tables 1 and 2 present participants' characteristics. The average age of survivors was 32 years, and the majority were White, 2 years postdiagnosis, had a college degree, and were in heterosexual relationships without children. The majority of providers were White, female attending physicians with an average of 9 years of clinical experience. Survivors included women seen by participating providers and women seen by other providers.

Characteristic	Value			
Specialties, n (%)				
Medical oncology	1 (6)			
Surgical oncology	1 (6)			
Radiation oncology	4 (22)			
Pediatric oncology	2 (11)			
Gynecological oncology	3 (17)			
Lymphoma or myeloma	3 (17)			
Leukemia	2 (11)			
Stem cell transplant	2 (11)			
Years in practice, median (range)	9 (3-18)			
Female, n (%)	13 (72)			
Race, n (%)				
White	8 (45)			
Black	2 (11)			
Asian	6 (33)			
Other	2 (11)			
Ethnicity (Hispanic), n (%)	2 (11)			
Provider type, n (%)				
Attending physician	13 (72)			
Advanced practice provider	5 (28)			


**Table 2.** Survivors' characteristics (n=33).

Characteristic	Value
Cancer site, n (%)	
Breast	11 (33)
Ovarian, cervical, or vaginal	5 (15)
Lymphoma or leukemia	14 (42)
Other	3 (9)
Age (years), median (range)	32 (20-45)
Years since diagnosis, mean (range)	2.1 (0-5)
Female, n (%)	33 (100)
Race, n (%)	
White	25 (76)
Black	4 (12)
Asian	3 (9)
Other	1 (3)
Ethnicity (Hispanic), n (%)	5 (15)
Highest education, n (%)	
Some college	7 (21)
Associate degree	4 (12)
Bachelor's degree	15 (46)
Master's degree	6 (18)
Professional degree	1 (3)
Relationship status at diagnosis, n (%)	
Single	10 (30)
In a relationship	14 (42)
Married	7 (21)
Divorced	1 (3)
Other	1 (3)
Nulliparous at diagnosis, n (%)	30 (90)
Completed fertility preservation therapy, n (%)	18 (55)

## Interviews

Interviews and the focus group lasted 1 hour each and were conducted in private rooms at the cancer center. Across all participants, 3 primary themes emerged: (1) fertility preservation decisions are important for survivorship, (2) significant but potentially modifiable barriers to decision making exist, and (3) support exists for a carefully designed fertility preservation patient decision aid. Within the primary themes, 10 subthemes emerged from the 74 unique codes. The following sections describe providers' and survivors' comments by subtheme and provide exemplary quotes.

## Primary Theme 1: Fertility Preservation Decisions Are Important for Survivorship

All participants emphasized the importance of fertility decisions, both for cancer treatment and for long-term survivorship. A

total of 3 subthemes were identified (Textbox 1): fertility is important for quality of life during survivorship, knowing the options matters, and fertility desires change over time. The majority of survivors emphasized the importance of knowing that there were options and the benefit of both the discussion process and fertility preservation, if desired, for their overall treatment and recovery. Women who made fertility preservation decisions specifically commented about feeling empowered, hopeful, and/or able to look forward to the future while enduring their cancer treatments. In addition, several survivors described the value of explicitly acknowledging that family-building desires may change over time. Providers also reported the importance of fertility for survivorship. They added concerns about the number of women waiting until after cancer treatment to consider fertility. Several providers discussed the potential of shared decision making to minimize future regret.

#### Textbox 1. Subthemes and exemplary quotes for primary theme 1 (fertility preservation decisions are important for survivorship).

#### Subtheme 1: Addressing Fertility Is Important

- "It is really about [having] that conversation. I've learned from survivors, that they are: 'I didn't know, nobody told me. I have this question mark. I feel like this is cancer all over again.' It is incertitude that is really...the most burdensome." (Provider 17, leukemia nurse practitioner)
- "...if this is going to be a long-term cure, we need to look at the whole picture and stop just treating the one aspect of their life. Empowering patients themselves to ask about their risk of infertility I think is really important." (Provider 4, gynecological oncologist)
- "It was just so amazing to know that I still had a shred of hope. The past few weeks with chemo have been hard, but knowing that I have something in the future to look forward to gets me through it. I'm not sure it would have been this easy if I didn't have that embryo, because I feel like, 'What's the point, it is not like I can have kids.' That embryo is just the icing on the cake. It made everything so much easier." (Survivor 1, 22 years old, White, in a relationship)
- "We thought that there was no chance for us anymore. Then they gave us this information today about possible IVF...even if we are not overly concerned about getting pregnant, it is nice to know we still have that option." (Survivor 28, 33 years old, Hispanic, single)

#### Subtheme 2: Understanding That There Are Options Is Important

- "They need...a decision aid that says, '[Protecting your fertility] is an option. These are all the different options that you have. You can choose to say No. You can choose all these different routes." (Provider 16, breast medical oncologist)
- "I did see [the fertility specialist], and she told me there were all these other options...Just hearing the options made me feel better. I never heard options from anyone until I came here." (Survivor 25, 22 years old, White, in a relationship)
- "For me, [a key recommendation] is 'make sure you know all your options.' To me the worst decision we can make is not fully understanding what all of our options are at the time." (Survivor 6, 35 years old, White, single)

#### Subtheme 3: Understanding That Family-Building Desires Change Over Time Is Important

- "Even that person who is, OK, well, no. I'll just take my chances, and I'm not talking to anybody I guess my fear is that they don't really understand what I'm saying or what they have been told, that this will probably affect their ability to have children in the future." (Provider 3, gynecological oncologist)
- "[I recommend fertility preservation counseling] even if you are not totally certain where your life is going at the moment. I would say, while you have those resources and options available...because you may feel very differently in 5 years. I know, for me, I didn't want kids 5 years ago and now I am kind of open to the possibility." (Survivor 2, 32 years old, White, single)
- "I was in a relationship, but I kept postponing things, thinking, '35 and then I'll start thinking about kids.' But it is one of those things that you are not 100% sure if you can plan it." (Survivor, 37 years old, White, single)

## Primary Theme 2: Significant but Potentially Modifiable Barriers Exist

All participants also reported that decision-making barriers still exist, and 4 subthemes emerged (Textbox 2). The majority of survivors raised issues of awareness and time for decisions and uncertainty about risks and costs. Many confirmed that they recalled hearing about fertility in the informed consent for chemotherapy; however, less than half reported understanding fertility preservation decisions. More than half reported feeling they did not have time to consider fertility decisions or collect needed information (eg, insurance paperwork and fertility status), although several acknowledged that they were anxious to start treatment quickly. Most women reported difficulty making decisions because of costs—either because they could not afford preservation without insurance or because they did not understand these decisions early enough to have time to plan for the short- and long-term out-of-pocket costs.



#### Textbox 2. Subthemes and exemplary quotes for primary theme 2 (significant but potentially modifiable barriers exist).

#### Subtheme 1: Need for Provider and Patient Education

- "Those are questions that are really best for...the reproductive [endocrinologist]." (Provider 7, radiation oncologist)
- "[I am] reasonably satisfied [with my fertility preservation knowledge]. I'm not an expert in that area...I provide some general counseling [and tell patients], 'I certainly can't deliver [personalized risks and rates of fertility preservation outcomes], but I'm pretty sure that [the reproductive endocrinologist] can.'" (Provider 16, breast medical oncologist)
- "The thing is, they didn't tell me anything about it [chemotherapy affecting infertility], so I couldn't say yes or no. Now I'm learning about all of this, that chemotherapy can affect it." (Survivor 32, 23 years old, Black, in a relationship)
- "I had no idea. They didn't tell me when I was diagnosed that this might cause problems having kids. Nobody told me that. It is still new to me. They didn't tell me until a couple of months ago. That is why I am doing everything I can. I have been wanting kids since I was 9...always, always, always, always." (Survivor 19, 21 years old, White, single)

#### Subtheme 2: Limited Time for Making Decisions and Facilitating Referrals

- "[Patients] come in on Monday, have tests on Tuesday and Wednesday, and by Friday we are starting treatment. There are times when you have to start that same day." (Provider 10, gynecological oncologist)
- "...to go from chemo directly to fertility within that one hour is too much. So if there was...online resources [for fertility preservation education], that would help." (Provider 16, breast medical oncologist)
- "I would say generally, less than 5 minutes. That would be my usual conversation." (Provider 1, medical oncologist)
- "It was incredibly frustrating, because...there is not a direct path to get them a referral...your ovarian reserve declines, but we don't really have a mechanism to actually test that routinely in patients and counsel patients with their true fertility potential." (Provider 1, medical oncologist)
- "...you have cancer, and that's hard enough. But then to be told that you have to make a decision right now, because we can't delay it...[The doctor] says I can't even think about it one night." (Survivor 30, 33 years old, White, married)

#### Subtheme 3: Cost of Fertility Preservation Services

- "The barriers would probably be insurance. That is maybe number one; that is 100%." (Provider 8, radiation oncologist)
- "Payment is a barrier for women but I think the ones that really want to pursue it, we find options for them." (Provider 5, nurse practitioner)
- "...what I have been researching really has been around funding,...the cost factor, because I know that this is something that I want to do. However, [the cost] is my roadblock." (Survivor 3, 39 years old, Black, single)
- "I was going to go through with the egg preservation...but then, like I said, once I saw the prices and everything, I was, as much as I want to do this, I think I have to accept if for what it is right now. And later on get over that when it comes..." (Survivor 25, 23 years old, Black, in a relationship)

#### Subtheme 4: Cultural and Financial Differences Are Important, but They Do Not Stereotype Services

- "I have over time learned...not to stereotype and pitch the whole thing based on ethnicity and religion...just say that these are personal decisions based on your own morals and religion, your previous experience, and your family's experience." (Provider 15, gynecological oncologist)
- "I guess more than anything, being mindful that there is not one cookie cutter approach, that every situation is so different." (Provider 1, medical oncologist)

Most providers also discussed awareness, time, and cost barriers to decision making and added the need for additional education about the ASCO guidelines, updated risks of newer procedures, and the time or processes needed for fertility preservation. Many providers also discussed the need for information tailored to cancer type but viewed their role as introducing the topic and facilitating referrals to a reproductive endocrinologist for personalized decision counseling. A majority of providers expressed a need for practical support to identify appropriate women and facilitate the process (eg, navigating timely referrals and planning for the future). Notably, all oncologists reported feeling comfortable introducing treatment-related infertility; however, a few providers who expressed higher levels of knowledge and comfort also reported discussing decisions with patients more often and in greater detail.

Over half of the providers discussed the relevance of patients' demographic characteristics (particularly age, culture, spiritual

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e25083
```

beliefs, and potential resources) for introducing the topic appropriately; however, they cautioned against making assumptions, noting that many women or families make unique decisions and find additional resources (eg, family contributions and fundraising). Seven providers brought up scenarios in which they initially felt it might be okay not to offer a fertility preservation decision aid (eg, noncurative treatment plan, single women, older age, multiple children already, low socioeconomic status, and religion). However, they quickly provided examples of exceptions (eg, a family who wants to freeze their dying daughters' eggs or embryos and remarried mothers who strongly want more children) and emphasized offering information equally yet compassionately to all women.

## Primary Theme 3: Support for a Carefully Designed Fertility Preservation Patient Decision Aid

All participants supported the use of a fertility preservation patient decision aid, provided it was carefully designed to overcome the barriers. Three subthemes arose in their recommendations: provide tailorable content, use appropriate and inclusive language, and design multiple delivery formats and routes (Textbox 3).

Textbox 3. Subthemes and exemplary quotes for primary theme 3 (strong support exists for a carefully designed patient decision aid).

#### Subtheme 1: Providing Tailorable Content

- "The 18- to 22-year-olds may be different than the 30 year-old because the parents are going to be watching more. Split it up between minors and non-minors." (Provider 16, breast medical oncologist)
- "[Tailor by] solid versus liquid tumor, because that would be different." (Provider 1, medical oncologist)
- "It would be really cool if you [could] put in a patient's age, history, results,...then it brings up their algorithm, including the known statistics about a given cancer and what their outcomes potentially are. That would help the patient and the provider." (Provider 3, gynecological oncologist)
- "I like details. I am going to click on that and get every detail possible. I'm like that. I think to grab someone's attention, something general, but then when you click on it, a bunch of details on that one topic." (Survivor 2, 21 years old, White, single)
- "I think they [patient stories] are helpful, because it shows that other people have gone through the same thing and how they came to their decisions." (Survivor 33, 24 years old, White, in a relationship)

#### Subtheme 2: Using Appropriate and Inclusive Language

- "Some countries like Qatar, have reproductive medicine and it is not a big deal (shipping international can be a barrier), but for Kuwait, Saudi Arabia, UAE, etc, it may be a big issue. Sometimes women cannot get married if they are infertile." (Provider 6, pediatric nurse practitioner)
- "...particularly Orthodox Jewish populations and having families is very important to them. While they don't talk about sex overtly, they are very interested in finding way to preserve fertility because that is so important to their religion. If they have concerns, it typically goes through the Rabbi." (Provider 10, gynecologic oncologist)
- "...with Arabic women, many of them are virgins, so doing a transvaginal ultrasound or a transvaginal procedure becomes an issue. I had one patient that declined because she wouldn't do that." (Provider 15, gynecological oncologist)
- "We only found one company [that]...was open to same sex adoptions." (Survivor 10, 31 years old, White, in a relationship)

#### Subtheme 3: Designing Multiple Delivery Formats and Routes

- "[New patients] need to hear it two or three different ways because they are not processing a lot in those first three visits (other than chemo and surgery)." (Provider 1, medical oncologist)
- "It could be part of the nursing intake (Are they 45 or under? Make sure you give them the fertility information to watch). I would involve nurses and midlevels." (Provider 16, breast medical oncologist)
- "We have different education backgrounds, so sometimes people can interpret a flowchart better than others, and people might relate better to the story of this person that went through it." (Provider 17, nurse practitioner)
- "The nurses have that way of going, 'What else is going on?' I think that is the perfect time to say, 'OK, you may not be thinking about it, but these are some of the things that you may want to consider and ask." (Provider 1, medical oncologist)
- "The simplest thing would be if there was one piece of paper that I could just hand them and say, 'You can go to this website and explore this decision aid, and we can discuss it next time.' And offer periodic [group] discussions." (Provider 9, radiation oncologist)
- "I use the [institution] website for a lot, so it is handy that it has the mobile application, and the desktop. Although they look a little bit different, they are pretty much the same. For simplicity, it is nice to have it optimized for the mobile device." (Survivor 30, 33 years old, White, married)
- "To be honest, probably because of my age, no. I don't like those stupid movies...I think it has to do with the fact that I have grown up and been taught to be a strong independent woman. I don't feel like I need to lean on those types of things." (Survivor 11, 22 years old, White, in a relationship)

Survivors' recommendations focused on the content and ability to select the level of information and support needed. Their recommendations varied from brief introductory overviews (leaving the majority of the information for the fertility consultation) to detailed comparison charts and suggestions for addressing uncertainty, managing emotions, and navigating the financial process. The majority of survivors recommended having a way to select only their relevant options to minimize information overload. They also requested implicit decision guidance (eg, examples and testimonials about decision making) and inclusion of multiple lifestyles, cultures, and beliefs. Providers recommended a tool that presented options tailored to clinical factors, such as age and cancer type. They also recommended providing explicit decision-making activities (eg, value clarification exercises and preference elicitation) to assist in identifying who may benefit from a referral for fertility counseling. Several providers mentioned the need for low health literacy and culturally appropriate language, and many providers cited examples of the importance of virginity and fertility in many cultures.

The majority of recommendations in both groups focused on delivery. Both survivors and providers recommended offering



a patient-facing decision aid at multiple time points using multiple media, with an emphasis on viewing outside the consultation. Suggestions included providing an initial handout, booklet, or email at the first and/or second visit after diagnosis that contained a URL link to an institutionally supported website, viewable on a computer, tablet, or phone. Survivors also suggested having a nurse or a peer volunteer personally recommend the decision aid to emphasize the importance of fertility and distinguish it among the many handouts received at diagnosis. Both groups supported offering a website to allow women to view it when optimal. Notably, providers recommended web delivery to address diagnostic consultation time limitations and to enable patients to self-refer to a fertility specialist. Survivors recommended web delivery to address information overload and coping barriers. A few survivors also mentioned wanting to revisit the information after cancer treatment.

## Additional Informative Responses

In addition to the primary themes, a few individuals raised the following four points, which the stakeholder panel recommended reporting to inform decision counseling. One provider noted the importance of clearly discussing alternative family-building options, including acknowledging the potential challenges for cancer survivors considering surrogacy or adoption. Two survivors recommended including testimonials from women at various stages of cancer treatment and survivorship. Two others mentioned addressing their partners' preferences and support. A pediatric oncologist noted the communication barriers for young adults and their parents and suggested a pediatric version of a patient decision aid that offers tangible support:

[Tell patients:] We will help [you] talk to your mom. There are resources...our social worker may be able to help. We will talk to the oncologist. [Provider 6, pediatric nurse practitioner]

## **Follow-up Focus Group**

Participants in the ad hoc focus group confirmed and clarified the findings of the individual interviews and deepened explanations. There was unanimous agreement that fertility should be explained as early as possible. Survivors particularly commented on needing time to make the transition from initial awareness and comprehension to delving into the potential costs, insurance processes, ethical considerations, and future decisions. A few women reiterated needing to acknowledge that the "new normal" may include uncertainty when making decisions.

Women related several examples of feeling rushed, unaware, or pressured, which led to unanswered questions and unspoken preferences, with continued feelings of regret and sadness. Several mentioned feelings of reliving the trauma as survivors and "not being able to own that decision." Several comments were made regarding the need to include fertility preservation in their financial planning and acknowledging resources other than insurance, such as foundations, family contributions, and social fundraising.

During the review of the cancer center's patient information handouts, existing decision aid materials from other countries [5,28,46,47], and additional resources identified by interview

participants, survivors appreciated the explanations of the process or timeline, examples or testimonials, and directly addressing fears about time. They also noted the importance of a "gentle" and "compassionate" tone. Survivors felt that some of the tools seemed outdated or would not be applicable across the diverse population in this health system. They also requested information for other types of cancer and optional sections discussing referrals, insurance coverage, and estimated costs. Finally, they also supported web delivery to provide links to financial resources and fertility specialists.

Focus group participants also brought up additional topics that they thought should be included in decision support materials, such as how to be your own personal champion, resolve family conflict or pressure, engage your partner in this decision, and have someone come with you to take notes and raise questions:

I kind of grieved it when I was first diagnosed with cancer, and for 7 years, kind of held my breath. [My husband] came into my life, and there was a real sad time after about a year of marriage where I was having to face it again. [Survivor 30, 33 years old, White, married]

I was told [that I had cancer] on a Wednesday, by Thursday I was getting my port, and Friday and Saturday I started my treatment. All I was thinking at that time was, "Okay, do what you need to do." So my sister was there and she said, "Wait, wait, hold on, we have to discuss this. There are other options." [Survivor 3, 39 years old, Black, single]

My mom and my boyfriend at the time were just, "We want you to be okay." But I wanted to have my own baby...one doctor kind of yelled at me, "You need to just survive it!" I said, "If I survive, I want to be able to have babies!" [Survivor 6, 24 years old, Asian, single]

# Discussion

## **Principal Findings**

Overall, providers and survivors emphasized the importance of fertility preservation decision making for high-quality comprehensive cancer care. Both groups acknowledged existing barriers, such as awareness, time, and costs, and proposed potential solutions. All participants strongly supported offering women a website so that they could review the material at home. They recommended providing a lay language overview, interactive features to self-tailor (eg, by cancer type), guidance in decision making about seeking or accepting a fertility referral, and links to facilitate referrals and access financing programs. They noted the value of a patient decision aid for engaging women in the initial decision and the potential for this engagement and empowerment to improve hope during the treatment process and decrease downstream regret.

## **Comparison With Prior Work**

These results confirm the results of previous studies regarding the multilevel challenges to providing high-quality fertility preservation counseling [8,14-16,29,48,49]. Providers and survivors noted patient-level barriers such as information

overload, misinformation, coping needs, lack of awareness or knowledge, and difficulty understanding and personalizing complex medical information. They also described provider-level barriers (eg, familiarity and perceived role in the decision) and system-level barriers (eg, limited time, opportunities, and access). As in other studies, providers and survivors noted the desirability of patient stories to convey experiential knowledge; however, the potential for social matching bias (ie, attending more or less to information from someone who is more or less similar to you) remains a concern [16,50,51]. Furthermore, these findings complement the extant literature describing the tension between concerns about while overload information ensuring an informed decision-making process [52,53]. Providing accessible information that meets health literacy needs (eg, plain language, culturally aware, and relevant) may help women feel more supported and engaged in the decision-making process [52,53].

This study adds to the literature user-generated design recommendations, such as providing understandable medical information; explicitly addressing uncertainty; and helping personalize the information by providing estimates of costs, descriptions of the treatment or recovery processes, values clarification exercises, and example stories modeling decision making [29]. Providers and survivors also recommended multilevel information, literacy or numeracy support, responsive design (for use on tablets, cellular phones, etc), web delivery, and the ability to self-tailor by cancer type and cultural characteristics. Both groups described a tool that helped women prepare for a fertility consultation, emphasizing that the tool is not a replacement for a reproductive endocrinologist who can provide fertility testing and personalized counseling.

Notably, providers and survivors expressed a need for clear cost information. Providers stated that they rarely discussed costs, whereas survivors stated that costs played a significant role in their decision—either they assumed their insurance would not cover the treatments or the fertility counseling or they could not locate cost information in time to make an informed decision. The pressure to make these decisions with incomplete cost information may be forcing women to forego fertility counseling and fertility preservation treatments they need and desire. This suboptimal decision process may, in turn, compound long-term decisional regret because of a sense of unnecessary loss [54,55]. Future studies may wish to test whether a patient decision aid that includes cost estimates decreases decisional conflict and long-term regret.

Consistent with the distributions of survivors seen at the Oncofertility Clinic, this study recruited 24% non-White and 15% Hispanic women. However, a larger question remains as to whether these distributions represent optimal equitable care. Previous studies document variations in utilization of fertility preservation by race and gender and note a variety of barriers, including awareness, access, and insurance coverage [8,10,12,15,17,56-58]. We are conducting a parallel study focusing on culturally relevant features of fertility patient decision aids in Spanish and Arabic and exploring the degree to which variations are unwarranted or warranted based on cultural differences in informed patient preferences.

These results emphasize that fertility preservation decisions are as unique as the women who face them and support the ethical imperative of the guidelines to offer fertility counseling to all women who are interested or unsure [6,16,59,60]. Fertility preservation patient decision aids may be purposefully designed to raise awareness, address misconceptions, elicit informed preferences, and help women prepare for discussion. The primary goal would therefore be high-quality decision-making process and *appropriate referral*, defined as a referral that aligned with women's values and preferences once they were informed of the infertility risk and availability of fertility preservation and alternative family-building options.

## Limitations

Providers and survivors were recruited from a comprehensive cancer with a reproductive endocrinologist; decision support needs may differ for community clinics that refer to private fertility centers. The focus group may have increased reflexivity; however, it allowed us to confirm data interpretations and explore emergent questions. For ethical reasons, we chose to interview survivors instead of newly diagnosed patients, but their wisdom provided an additional benefit-they generated a list of common Myths and FAQs (frequently asked questions), which will be incorporated into the planned patient decision aid. Data on childbearing preferences at diagnosis were not collected in this study; however, the results indicate that affective forecasting may be a topic to address within a patient decision aid. In addition, the findings indicate tensions and potential inconsistencies that we cannot explain within these data. Studies are needed that focus specifically on the rates and quality of shared decision-making discussions.

## Conclusions

Providers and patients continue to report unmet needs regarding timely access to fertility preservation education and decision support. Survivors emphasize the importance of explicitly addressing fertility preservation early to allow them time to make decisions and plan financially. Providers emphasize designing tools to facilitate timely information and appropriate referrals and to improve adherence to guidelines. Both women and providers supported the development of a patient decision aid website to address these challenges and recommended interactive, self-tailoring features. Providing an accessible, tailored, and meaningful patient decision aid may increase awareness, decision making, and referrals; reduce regret; and improve long-term survivorship outcomes.

## Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank the providers and women who shared their experiences and provided valuable insights to guide the design of fertility preservation decision support programs for women with cancer. The authors also appreciate the support of their colleagues at MD Anderson Cancer Center: Gary Chisholm (MS), Department of Gynecologic Oncology and Reproductive

Medicine; Colleen Gallagher (PhD, MA, LSW), Integrated Ethics; and the clinical and administrative staff of the Department of Gynecologic Oncology and Reproductive Medicine. This work was supported by a grant from the University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center Duncan Family Institute for Cancer Prevention and Risk Assessment. The statements presented in this work are solely the responsibility of the authors and do not necessarily represent the views of the University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center or the Duncan Family Institute for Cancer Prevention and Risk Assessment.

## **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Survivor and provider interview guides. [DOCX File , 35 KB - formative v5i6e25083 app1.docx ]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Focus group discussion guide. [DOCX File , 27 KB - formative\_v5i6e25083\_app2.docx ]

## References

- Rosen A, Rodriguez-Wallberg KA, Rosenzweig L. Psychosocial distress in young cancer survivors. Semin Oncol Nurs 2009 Nov;25(4):268-277. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.soncn.2009.08.004</u>] [Medline: <u>19879433</u>]
- 2. Carter J, Chi DS, Brown CL, Abu-Rustum NR, Sonoda Y, Aghajanian C, et al. Cancer-related infertility in survivorship. Int J Gynecol Cancer 2010 Jan;20(1):2-8. [doi: 10.1111/IGC.0b013e3181bf7d3f] [Medline: 20130497]
- 3. Canada AL, Schover LR. The psychosocial impact of interrupted childbearing in long-term female cancer survivors. Psychooncology 2012 Feb;21(2):134-143 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/pon.1875] [Medline: 22271533]
- Deshpande NA, Braun IM, Meyer FL. Impact of fertility preservation counseling and treatment on psychological outcomes among women with cancer: a systematic review. Cancer 2015 Nov 15;121(22):3938-3947 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.29637] [Medline: 26264701]
- Loren AW, Mangu PB, Beck LN, Brennan L, Magdalinski AJ, Partridge AH, et al. Fertility preservation for patients with cancer: American Society of Clinical Oncology Clinical Practice Guideline update. J Clin Oncol 2013 Jul 01;31(19):2500-2510. [doi: 10.1200/jco.2013.49.2678]
- Oktay K, Harvey BE, Partridge AH, Quinn GP, Reinecke J, Taylor HS, et al. Fertility preservation in patients with cancer: ASCO Clinical Practice Guideline update. J Clin Oncol 2018 Jul 01;36(19):1994-2001. [doi: <u>10.1200/JCO.2018.78.1914</u>] [Medline: <u>29620997</u>]
- Lee SJ, Schover LR, Partridge AH, Patrizio P, Wallace WH, Hagerty K, American Society of Clinical Oncology. American Society of Clinical Oncology recommendations on fertility preservation in cancer patients. J Clin Oncol 2006 Jun 20;24(18):2917-2931. [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2006.06.5888] [Medline: 16651642]
- Logan S, Perz J, Ussher J, Peate M, Anazodo A. Clinician provision of oncofertility support in cancer patients of a reproductive age: a systematic review. Psychooncology 2018 Mar 24;27(3):748-756. [doi: <u>10.1002/pon.4518</u>] [Medline: <u>28762627</u>]
- Fuchs A, Kashanian JA, Clayman ML, Gosiengfiao Y, Lockart B, Woodruff TK, et al. Pediatric oncology providers' attitudes and practice patterns regarding fertility preservation in adolescent male cancer patients. J Pediatr Hematol Oncol 2016 Mar;38(2):118-122 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/MPH.000000000000488] [Medline: 26630536]
- Quinn GP, Vadaparampil ST, Lee J, Jacobsen PB, Bepler G, Lancaster J, et al. Physician referral for fertility preservation in oncology patients: a national study of practice behaviors. J Clin Oncol 2009 Dec 10;27(35):5952-5957. [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2009.23.0250] [Medline: 19826115]
- 11. Hershberger PE, Finnegan L, Altfeld S, Lake S, Hirshfeld-Cytron J. Toward theoretical understanding of the fertility preservation decision-making process: examining information processing among young women with cancer. Res Theory Nurs Pract 2013;27(4):257-275 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1891/1541-6577.27.4.257] [Medline: 24552086]
- 12. Hershberger PE, Sipsma H, Finnegan L, Hirshfeld-Cytron J. Reasons why young women accept or decline fertility preservation after cancer diagnosis. J Obstet Gynecol Neonatal Nurs 2016;45(1):123-134 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jogn.2015.10.003] [Medline: 26815806]
- 13. Jones G, Hughes J, Mahmoodi N, Smith E, Skull J, Ledger W. What factors hinder the decision-making process for women with cancer and contemplating fertility preservation treatment? Hum Reprod Update 2017 Jul 01;23(4):433-457. [doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmx009] [Medline: 28510760]
- Taylor JF, Ott MA. Fertility preservation after a cancer diagnosis: a systematic review of adolescents', parents', and providers' perspectives, experiences, and preferences. J Pediatr Adolesc Gynecol 2016 Dec;29(6):585-598 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jpag.2016.04.005] [Medline: 27108230]

- Ussher JM, Parton C, Perz J. Need for information, honesty and respect: patient perspectives on health care professionals communication about cancer and fertility. Reprod Health 2018 Jan 05;15(1):2 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12978-017-0441-z] [Medline: 29304873]
- 16. Logan S, Perz J, Ussher J, Peate M, Anazodo A. A systematic review of patient oncofertility support needs in reproductive cancer patients aged 14 to 45 years of age. Psychooncology 2018 Feb 13;27(2):401-409. [doi: <u>10.1002/pon.4502</u>] [Medline: <u>28734119</u>]
- 17. Goodman LR, Balthazar U, Kim J, Mersereau JE. Trends of socioeconomic disparities in referral patterns for fertility preservation consultation. Hum Reprod 2012 Jul 02;27(7):2076-2081 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/humrep/des133] [Medline: 22552688]
- Benedict C, Thom B, Friedman DN, Diotallevi D, Pottenger EM, Raghunathan NJ, et al. Young adult female cancer survivors' unmet information needs and reproductive concerns contribute to decisional conflict regarding posttreatment fertility preservation. Cancer 2016 Jul 01;122(13):2101-2109 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.29917] [Medline: 27213483]
- Stacey D, Légaré F, Lewis K, Barry MJ, Bennett CL, Eden KB, et al. Decision aids for people facing health treatment or screening decisions. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2017 Dec 12;4:CD001431. [doi: <u>10.1002/14651858.CD001431.pub5</u>] [Medline: <u>28402085</u>]
- 20. Stacey D, Bennett CL, Barry MJ, Col NF, Eden KB, Holmes-Rovner M, et al. Decision aids for people facing health treatment or screening decisions. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2011(10):CD001431. [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD001431.pub3] [Medline: 21975733]
- O'Connor AM, Llewellyn-Thomas HA, Flood AB. Modifying unwarranted variations in health care: shared decision making using patient decision aids. Health Aff (Millwood) 2004 Oct;Suppl Variation:63-72 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.var.63] [Medline: 15471770]
- 22. Wennberg JE. Dealing with medical practice variations: a proposal for action. Health Aff (Millwood) 1984;3(2):6-32. [doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.3.2.6] [Medline: 6432667]
- Sepucha KR, Fowler FJ, Mulley AG. Policy support for patient-centered care: the need for measurable improvements in decision quality. Health Aff (Millwood) 2004 Feb;Suppl Variation(2):54-62. [doi: <u>10.1377/hlthaff.var.54</u>] [Medline: <u>15471772</u>]
- 24. O'Connor AM. User manual decisional conflict scale. Ottawa Health Research Institute. 1993. URL: <u>https://decisionaid.</u> <u>ohri.ca/docs/develop/User\_Manuals/UM\_Decisional\_Conflict.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-04-19]
- 25. Sun Q. Predicting downstream effects of high decisional conflict: meta-analyses of the decisional conflict scale. uO Research 2005:- [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.20381/ruor-18514]
- 26. Gattellari M, Ward JE. Will men attribute fault to their GP for adverse effects arising from controversial screening tests? An Australian study using scenarios about PSA screening. J Med Screen 2004;11(4):165-169. [doi: 10.1258/0969141042467386] [Medline: 15563771]
- 27. Peate M, Meiser B, Cheah BC, Saunders C, Butow P, Thewes B, et al. Making hard choices easier: a prospective, multicentre study to assess the efficacy of a fertility-related decision aid in young women with early-stage breast cancer. Br J Cancer 2012 Mar 13;106(6):1053-1061 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/bjc.2012.61] [Medline: 22415294]
- Garvelink MM, ter Kuile MM, Fischer MJ, Louwé LA, Hilders CG, Kroep JR, et al. Development of a decision aid about fertility preservation for women with breast cancer in The Netherlands. J Psychosom Obstet Gynaecol 2013 Dec;34(4):170-178. [doi: 10.3109/0167482X.2013.851663] [Medline: 24188788]
- 29. Ehrbar V, Urech C, Rochlitz C, Dällenbach RZ, Moffat R, Stiller R, et al. Fertility preservation in young female cancer patients: development and pilot testing of an online decision aid. J Adolesc Young Adult Oncol 2018 Feb;7(1):30-36. [doi: 10.1089/jayao.2017.0047] [Medline: 28759303]
- 30. Jones GL, Hughes J, Mahmoodi N, Greenfield D, Brauten-Smith G, Skull J, (On behalf of the Cancer, FertilityMe research team). Observational study of the development and evaluation of a fertility preservation patient decision aid for teenage and adult women diagnosed with cancer: the Cancer, Fertility and Me research protocol. BMJ Open 2017 Mar 13;7(3):e013219 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2016-013219] [Medline: 28289046]
- Hershberger PE, Finnegan L, Pierce PF, Scoccia B. The decision-making process of young adult women with cancer who considered fertility cryopreservation. J Obstet Gynecol Neonatal Nurs 2013;42(1):59-69 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1552-6909.2012.01426.x] [Medline: 23167639]
- Woodard TL, Hoffman AS, Covarrubias LA, Holman D, Schover L, Bradford A, et al. The Pathways fertility preservation decision aid website for women with cancer: development and field testing. J Cancer Surviv 2018 Feb;12(1):101-114. [doi: 10.1007/s11764-017-0649-5] [Medline: 29034438]
- Coulter A, Stilwell D, Kryworuchko J, Mullen PD, Ng CJ, van der Weijden T. A systematic development process for patient decision aids. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2013;13 Suppl 2:S2 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6947-13-S2-S2] [Medline: 24625093]
- 34. Hoffman AS, Sepucha KR, Abhyankar P, Sheridan S, Bekker H, LeBlanc A, et al. Explanation and elaboration of the Standards for UNiversal reporting of patient Decision Aid Evaluations (SUNDAE) guidelines: examples of reporting

SUNDAE items from patient decision aid evaluation literature. BMJ Qual Saf 2018 May;27(5):389-412 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjqs-2017-006985] [Medline: 29467235]

- 35. Witteman HO, Dansokho SC, Colquhoun H, Fagerlin A, Giguere AM, Glouberman S, et al. Twelve lessons learned for effective research partnerships between patients, caregivers, clinicians, academic researchers, and other stakeholders. J Gen Intern Med 2018 Apr;33(4):558-562 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-017-4269-6] [Medline: 29327211]
- 36. Witteman HO, Dansokho SC, Colquhoun H, Coulter A, Dugas M, Fagerlin A, et al. User-centered design and the development of patient decision aids: protocol for a systematic review. Syst Rev 2015;4:11 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/2046-4053-4-11] [Medline: 25623074]
- 37. Jacobsen MJ, O'Connor AM, Stacey D. Decisional needs assessment in populations. University of Ottawa. 1999. URL: https://decisionaid.ohri.ca/eTraining/docs/s6\_Population\_Needs\_Assessment.pdf [accessed 2021-04-19]
- O'Connor AM, Tugwell P, Wells GA, Elmslie T, Jolly E, Hollingworth G, et al. A decision aid for women considering hormone therapy after menopause: decision support framework and evaluation. Patient Educ Couns 1998 Mar;33(3):267-279. [doi: 10.1016/s0738-3991(98)00026-3] [Medline: 9731164]
- 39. Elstein AS. Heuristics and biases: selected errors in clinical reasoning. Acad Med 1999 Jul;74(7):791-794. [doi: 10.1097/00001888-199907000-00012] [Medline: 10429587]
- 40. Tversky A, Kahneman D. Judgment under uncertainty: heuristics and biases. Science 1974 Sep 27;185(4157):1124-1131. [doi: <u>10.1126/science.185.4157.1124</u>] [Medline: <u>17835457</u>]
- 41. Bandura A. Human agency in social cognitive theory. Am Psychol 1989 Sep;44(9):1175-1184. [doi: 10.1037/0003-066x.44.9.1175] [Medline: 2782727]
- 42. Brainerd C, Reyna V. Fuzzy-trace theory: dual processes in memory, reasoning, and cognitive neuroscience. Adv Child Dev Behav 2001;28:41-100. [doi: 10.1016/s0065-2407(02)80062-3] [Medline: 11605365]
- 43. Ajzen I. The theory of planned behavior. Organ Behav Hum Decis Process 1991 Dec;50(2):179-211. [doi: 10.1016/0749-5978(91)90020-T]
- 44. Fagerlin A, Pignone M, Abhyankar P, Col N, Feldman-Stewart D, Gavaruzzi T, et al. Clarifying values: an updated review. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2013;13 Suppl 2:S8 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6947-13-S2-S8] [Medline: 24625261]
- 45. Corbin JM, Strauss A. Grounded theory research: procedures, canons, and evaluative criteria. Qual Sociol 1990;13(1):3-21. [doi: <u>10.1007/bf00988593</u>]
- 46. Hoff HS, Brandon A, Mersereau JE. Fertility preservation decision aid increases knowledge and decreases decision conflict. Fertil Steril 2015 Feb;103(2):24-25. [doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2014.12.042]
- Garvelink MM, ter Kuile MM, Stiggelbout AM, de Vries M. Values clarification in a decision aid about fertility preservation: does it add to information provision? BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2014 Aug 09;14:68 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6947-14-68] [Medline: 25106453]
- 48. Peddie VL, Porter MA, Barbour R, Culligan D, MacDonald G, King D, et al. Factors affecting decision making about fertility preservation after cancer diagnosis: a qualitative study. Brit J Obstet Gynec 2012 Aug;119(9):1049-1057. [doi: 10.1111/j.1471-0528.2012.03368.x] [Medline: 22642563]
- Clayman ML, Harper MM, Quinn GP, Reinecke J, Shah S. Oncofertility resources at NCI-designated comprehensive cancer centers. J Natl Compr Canc Netw 2013 Dec 01;11(12):1504-1509. [doi: <u>10.6004/jnccn.2013.0177</u>] [Medline: <u>24335685</u>]
- Bekker HL, Winterbottom AE, Butow P, Dillard AJ, Feldman-Stewart D, Fowler FJ, et al. Do personal stories make patient decision aids more effective? A critical review of theory and evidence. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2013;13 Suppl 2:S9 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6947-13-S2-S9] [Medline: 24625283]
- Hoffman AS, Volk RJ, Saarimaki A, Stirling C, Li LC, Härter M, et al. Delivering patient decision aids on the internet: definitions, theories, current evidence, and emerging research areas. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2013;13 Suppl 2:S13 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6947-13-S2-S13] [Medline: 24625064]
- 52. Berkman ND, Sheridan SL, Donahue KE, Halpern DJ, Crotty K. Low health literacy and health outcomes: an updated systematic review. Ann Intern Med 2011 Jul 19;155(2):97-107. [doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-155-2-201107190-00005] [Medline: 21768583]
- Feldman-Stewart D, O'Brien MA, Clayman ML, Davison BJ, Jimbo M, Labrecque M, et al. Providing information about options in patient decision aids. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2013;13 Suppl 2:S4 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6947-13-S2-S4] [Medline: 24625127]
- 54. Brewer NT, DeFrank JT, Gilkey MB. Anticipated regret and health behavior: a meta-analysis. Health Psychol 2016 Nov;35(11):1264-1275 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/hea0000294] [Medline: 27607136]
- 55. Letourneau JM, Ebbel EE, Katz PP, Katz A, Ai WZ, Chien AJ, et al. Pretreatment fertility counseling and fertility preservation improve quality of life in reproductive age women with cancer. Cancer 2012 Mar 15;118(6):1710-1717 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.26459] [Medline: 21887678]
- 56. Bastings L, Baysal O, Beerendonk CC, Braat DD, Nelen WL. Referral for fertility preservation counselling in female cancer patients. Hum Reprod 2014 Oct 10;29(10):2228-2237. [doi: <u>10.1093/humrep/deu186</u>] [Medline: <u>25069500</u>]
- 57. Letourneau JM, Smith JF, Ebbel EE, Craig A, Katz PP, Cedars MI, et al. Racial, socioeconomic, and demographic disparities in access to fertility preservation in young women diagnosed with cancer. Cancer 2012 Sep 15;118(18):4579-4588 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.26649] [Medline: 22451228]

- Chen D, Simons L, Johnson EK, Lockart BA, Finlayson C. Fertility preservation for transgender adolescents. J Adolesc Health 2017 Jul;61(1):120-123 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2017.01.022] [Medline: 28363716]
- 59. Llewellyn-Thomas HA. Patients' health-care decision making: a framework for descriptive and experimental investigations. Med Decis Making 1995;15(2):101-106. [doi: 10.1177/0272989X9501500201] [Medline: 7783569]
- 60. Coulter A, Collins A. Making shared decision making a reality: no decision about me, without me. The King's Fund. 2011. URL: <u>https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/making-shared-decision-making-reality</u> [accessed 2021-04-19]

## Abbreviations

ASCO: American Society of Clinical Oncology FAQ: frequently asked question IPDAS: International Patient Decision Aid Standards

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 19.10.20; peer-reviewed by C Benedict, D Attai, T Busse; comments to author 17.11.20; revised version received 01.02.21; accepted 17.03.21; published 07.06.21. <u>Please cite as:</u> Hoffman A, Crocker L, Mathur A, Holman D, Weston J, Campbell S, Housten A, Bradford A, Agrawala S, Woodard TL Patients' and Providers' Needs and Preferences When Considering Fertility Preservation Before Cancer Treatment: Decision-Making Needs Assessment JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e25083 URL: https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e25083 doi:10.2196/25083 PMID:34096871

©Aubri Hoffman, Laura Crocker, Aakrati Mathur, Deborah Holman, June Weston, Sukhkamal Campbell, Ashley Housten, Andrea Bradford, Shilpi Agrawala, Terri L Woodard. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 07.06.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



# Exploring the Potential of Personalized Dietary Advice for Health Improvement in Motivated Individuals With Premetabolic Syndrome: Pretest-Posttest Study

Sandra van der Haar<sup>1\*</sup>, MSc; Femke P M Hoevenaars<sup>2\*</sup>, MSc, PhD; Willem J van den Brink<sup>2</sup>, MSc, PhD; Tim van den Broek<sup>2</sup>, MSc; Mariëlle Timmer<sup>1</sup>, MSc; André Boorsma<sup>2</sup>, MSc, PhD; Esmée L Doets<sup>1</sup>, MSc, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Wageningen Food & Biobased Research, Wageningen University & Research, Wageningen, Netherlands

<sup>2</sup>Microbiology & Systems Biology Department, TNO, Netherlands Organization for Applied Scientific Research, Zeist, Netherlands \*these authors contributed equally

## **Corresponding Author:**

Sandra van der Haar, MSc Wageningen Food & Biobased Research Wageningen University & Research Bornse Weilanden 9 Wageningen, 6708 WG Netherlands Phone: 31 0317 480171 Email: <u>sandra.vanderhaar@wur.nl</u>

# Abstract

Background: Dietary quality plays an essential role in the prevention and management of metabolic syndrome (MetS).

**Objective:** The aim of this pilot study is to organize personalized dietary advice in a real-life setting and to explore the effects on dietary intake, metabolic health, and perceived health.

**Methods:** We followed a one-group pretest-posttest design and included 37 individuals at risk of MetS, who indicated motivation to change dietary behavior. For a period of 16 weeks, participants received personalized advice (t=0 and t=8) and feedback (t=0, t=4, t=8, t=12 and t=16) on dietary quality and metabolic health (ie, waist circumference, BMI, blood pressure, lipid profile, fasting glucose levels, and C-peptide). Personalized advice was generated in a two-stage process. In stage 1, an automated algorithm generated advice per food group, integrating data on individual dietary quality (Dutch Healthy Diet Index; total score 8-80) and metabolic health parameters. Stage 2 included a telephone consultation with a trained dietitian to define a personal dietary behavior change strategy and to discuss individual preferences. Dietary quality and metabolic health markers were assessed at t=0, t=8, and t=16.

**Results:** At the end of the study period, dietary quality was significantly improved compared with the baseline (Dutch Healthy Diet Index +4.3; P<.001). In addition, lipid profile (triglycerides, P=.02; total cholesterol, P=.01; high-density lipoprotein, P<.001; and low-density lipoprotein, P<.001), BMI (P<.001), waist circumference (P=.01), and C-peptide (P=.01) were all significantly improved, whereas plasma glucose increased by 0.23 nmol/L (P=.04). In line with these results, self-perceived health scores were higher at t=16 weeks than at baseline (+0.67; P=.005).

**Conclusions:** This exploratory study showed that personalized dietary advice resulted in positive effects on dietary behavior, metabolic health, and self-perceived health in motivated pre-MetS adults. The study was performed in a do-it-yourself setting, highlighting the potential of at-home health improvement through dietary changes.

Trial Registration: ClinicalTrials.gov NCT04595669; https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04595669

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e25043) doi:10.2196/25043

## KEYWORDS

RenderX

personalized nutrition; metabolic syndrome; dietary behavior; diet; metabolic; metabolic health; dietary advice; dietary feedback; digital health

# Introduction

## Background

Metabolic syndrome (MetS) is associated with a two-fold increased risk of cardiovascular diseases and a five-fold increased risk of type 2 diabetes [1,2]. Approximately 25% of adults globally are affected by MetS, and its prevalence increases with age [3,4]. MetS is defined by the coexistence of three or more of the following risk factors: abdominal obesity, high fasting blood glucose, reduced high-density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol, elevated fasting plasma triglycerides, and elevated blood pressure (BP) [5].

Unhealthy dietary habits are a major risk factor for developing MetS and are probably even more relevant than sedentary lifestyles [6]. Research has demonstrated dietary strategies that can be used to prevent or resolve MetS and associated metabolic abnormalities [6-9]. Adherence to a healthy diet rich in fruits, vegetables, whole grains, and oily fish, while limiting total fat, saturated fat, dietary cholesterol, added sugars, sodium, and excessive alcohol intake, has been shown to be effective in improving metabolic abnormalities associated with MetS [7,8,10]. Associations between dietary changes and individual risk factors for MetS have also been shown [11-21].

Personalized nutrition, that is, evidence-based dietary advice tailored toward an individual based on individual-specific information, is most likely an effective strategy to support dietary behavior change, resulting in measurable health benefits [22]. Previous studies have shown that personalized advice is more effective than giving a *one-size-fits-all* advice for improving dietary patterns, increasing physical activity and smoking cessation [23-30].

We distinguished two potential reasons for this effectiveness. First, each person receives advice that addresses the individual nutritional needs based on the person's biology, thereby maximizing the individual health effect. In a study on healthy volunteers receiving placebo or anti-inflammatory dietary mix supplements, the inflammatory, oxidative, and metabolic responses were highly variable among individuals, suggesting different nutritional needs based on the person's biology [31]. Indeed, the concept of personalized nutrition from a biological perspective began to emerge as extensively reviewed by van Ommen et al in 2017 [32].

A second reason for personalized nutrition being effective is increased adherence to the advice when it is made personal. Each person receives only the information based on their characteristics, rather than generic information based on the characteristics of the population. Therefore, people are more likely to pay attention and feel more involved, especially when the information is tailored to the personal level of motivation [23]. Celis-Moralis et al reviewed the evidence on personalized interventions and concluded that there is a strong need for further development, testing, and implementation of digitally delivered, evidence-based, personalized interventions that incorporate effective behavior change techniques (eg, personal goal setting and feedback on performance) and are delivered digitally [33,34]. In a web-based multicenter study, Forster et al [35] compared an automated feedback system with manual feedback and found good agreement between the manual and automated feedback systems, showing promise for the use of automated systems for personalizing dietary advice. With regard to scalability and expected contribution to sustained behavior change, new evidence on the effectiveness and acceptance of these digitally delivered interventions is highly relevant.

## Objectives

The primary aim of this pilot study is to organize personalized dietary advice in a real-life setting. We build upon the research described by Doets et al [36] by exploring the combined effects of dietary intake, metabolic health, and perceived health. As we aim to conduct real-life implementation, we are targeting individuals at risk of MetS, who are intrinsically motivated to change their dietary behavior to improve their health, as they are likely to be easy adopters of personalized advice.

# Methods

## **Ethics Statement**

All participants provided informed consent for inclusion before they participated in the study. The study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki, and the protocol was approved by the Ethics Committee of Tilburg University (file number NL61382.028.17).

## **Recruitment and Screening**

An overview of the recruitment procedure is shown in Figure 1. First, all members of the consumer database of Wageningen University & Research received an invitation letter for the study. Those interested in study participation completed a web-based screening questionnaire to verify the first set of inclusion and exclusion criteria: age  $\geq 40$  years, excessive waist circumference (self-reported  $\geq$ 88 cm for women and  $\geq$ 102 cm for men), positive intention toward changing dietary behavior, and willingness to use digital web-based applications during the study. To assess intention toward behavior change, we used an adapted version of 3 questions (7-point Likert scale) reported by Poinhos et al [37]. Participants with a mean score of  $\geq 5$  were considered to be motivated to change their dietary behavior. Exclusion criteria were as follows: taking medication known for its effects on blood glucose, cholesterol, or insulin; being diagnosed with diabetes or familial hypercholesterolemia; following a specific diet or having an alcohol consumption of >28 units (drinks) per week for men and >21 units per week for women.



Figure 1. Flowchart of recruitment and screening procedure. HDL: high-density lipoprotein.



To improve health and behavioral changes through personalized advice, we included individuals at risk of MetS (second set of inclusion criteria). Therefore, individuals eligible for study participation were invited for additional screening to verify whether they were at risk of MetS, defined as an excessive waist circumference ( $\geq$ 88 cm for women and  $\geq$ 102 cm for men) combined with elevated fasted triglycerides levels ( $\geq$ 1.7 mmol/L), reduced HDL level (<1.03 mmol/L for men and <1.29 mmol/L for women), high BP (systolic:  $\geq$ 130 mm Hg or

RenderX

diastolic:  $\geq$ 85 mm Hg), or elevated fasting glucose (>5.6 mmol/L).

On the basis of the study by Doets et al [36], we performed a power calculation to estimate an adequate sample size to identify potential health effects. The effect size was based on the mean change in waist circumference ( $\delta$ =1.85 cm, SD 2.67; significance level of 5%). The calculations revealed that a sample size of 16 would be sufficient to identify potential health effects based only on waist circumference. However, based on

the sample sizes of previous pilot studies [36,38] and taking into account various combinations of MetS risk factors and potential dropout, we increased the number of participants to 40.

## **Study Design**

The study followed a one-group pretest-posttest design with a duration of 16 weeks (Table 1). Reviews of behavioral intervention studies have shown that a period of 16 weeks is minimal to allow the first stages of behavior change [39,40].

Our study targeted individuals who were motivated to change their dietary behavior; therefore, a period of 16 weeks was considered sufficient. As the aim of the study was to explore the potential effects of personalized nutrition in real life, no control group was included. The intervention consisted of personalized dietary advice in combination with feedback on dietary behavior and health status (ie, waist circumference, BP, cholesterol, glucose, BMI, C-peptide, and triglycerides) at set time points throughout the study.

Table 1. Overview of study design: measurements, interventions, and planning.

Measurements and characteristics of the intervention	Timepoints (weeks), t
Diet	
Diet quality (Dutch Healthy Diet Index) per food category and total score	0, 8, 16
Carotenoids in blood (biomarker fruit and vegetable intake)	0, 8, 16
Food purchase data at retailer (via customer card)	4, 12
Subjective health	
Self-perceived health questionnaire	0, 16
Consumer experiences	
Evaluation questionnaire	16
Metabolic health	
Waist circumference	0, 8, 16
BMI	0, 8, 16
Blood pressure	0, 8, 16
Lipid profile (total cholesterol, HDL <sup>a</sup> , LDL <sup>b</sup> , and triglycerides)	0, 8, 16
Fasting glucose	0, 8, 16
C-peptide	0, 8, 16
Personalized advice	
Stage 1: automated advice based on individual diet quality and metabolic health status	0, 8
Stage 2: telephone consultation with dietitian to define behavioral change strategy and discuss personal preferences	0, 8
Feedback	
Diet quality discussed in telephone consultations with dietitian	0, 8
Alternatives for product purchases in email messages from dietitian	4, 12
Metabolic health via web-based platform	0, 8, 16
Integrated personal health score via web-based platform	0, 16

<sup>a</sup>HDL: high-density lipoprotein.

<sup>b</sup>LDL: low-density lipoprotein.

## **Study Procedures**

During the 3 test days (t=0, t=8, and t=16 weeks), participants arrived in the morning in a fasted state to Wageningen University and Research, the Netherlands. Metabolic health parameters were assessed by trained research nurses using do-it-yourself devices, following standard operating procedures. Total cholesterol, HDL, low-density lipoprotein (LDL), and triglycerides were measured in finger-prick blood using the Mission Cholesterol 3-in-1 device (Acon Labs Inc). Glucose levels were assessed using a MediTouch 2 blood glucose meter (Medisana). BP was measured using a Medisana upper arm BP

RenderX

monitor. Both glucose and BP were measured twice for each participant, and the average result was used as input for feedback and personalized advice.

## **Dietary Quality**

Dietary quality was assessed by using a web-based version of the Dutch Healthy Diet Index (DHDI; *Eetscore*, Division of Human Nutrition, Wageningen University) [41]. The DHDI evaluates adherence to the Dutch dietary guidelines per food category (score 1-10) and total score (score 8-80). In this study, we focused on food categories that have been shown to be effective for improving metabolic abnormalities due to reducing

# as input for the dietary advice tool. Metabolic Health Parameters

Waist circumference was determined directly over the skin at the midpoint between the lower part of the last rib and the top of the hip. Body weight was recorded on a calibrated weighing scale to the nearest 0.1 kg. Finger-prick blood was blotted on dried blood spot (DBS) cards (Protein Saver TM 903R Cards, Whatman). To suppress the degradation of carotenoids in the DBS samples, the first two circles in the DBS cards were impregnated with a proprietary stabilizing solution supplied by Vitas AS. After air drying for several hours, the cards were stored in airtight resealable aluminum bags (Whatman) with a desiccant pouch (Reàl Marine A/S Stavanger) to remove any moisture from the DBS cards. C-peptide and carotenoids were assessed via high-performance liquid chromatography with UV detection and liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (Vitas AS) [42]. In brief, from each DBS, 3.2-mm disks were punched out and mixed with distilled water. Next, proteins were precipitated and carotenoids were extracted with isopropanol containing an internal standard (β-Apo-8 carotenal, Sigma-Aldrich). An aliquot of the isopropanol phase was analyzed using a 1100-series HPLC-UV system with a 1260 diode array detector (453 nm; Agilent Technologies). Separation was performed on a 3-mm YMC C30 column (150 mm×4.6 mm internal diameter, YMC).

## **Personalized Dietary Advice**

At t=0 and t=8 weeks, the participants received personalized dietary advice. Personalized advice was generated in a two-stage process. During stage 1, the content of the advice was defined based on individual dietary habits (ie, DHDI and carotenoid levels as a biomarker of fruit and vegetable intake) and parameters of metabolic health. The results of these measurements were added to an automated personalized dietary advice system. First, the algorithm evaluated per food category (dairy, fats and oils, fish, fruit, nuts, sugar-containing beverages, vegetables, and wholegrain products) whether intake and nutrient status were sufficient based on predefined cut-off levels. If intake or nutrient status was insufficient, the food category was included in the advice. Second, the system evaluated the presence of metabolic abnormalities. If metabolic abnormalities were present, relevant food categories were included in the advice to emphasize the importance of adequate intake for a specific food category.

Stage 2 included a telephone consultation of 45-60 minutes, during which a trained dietitian discussed the system-generated advice with the participant following a standard protocol. During the consultation, a personal dietary behavior change strategy was defined by adapting the advice from stage 1 to individual preferences (eg, number of food groups to work on, selection of alternative products, and adjustment of portion sizes). In Table S1 of Multimedia Appendix 1, the steps followed by the dietitian are displayed. A summary of the dietary behavior change strategy was available to the participants through a web-based personal study portal. The provided dietary advice was in line with the national dietary recommendations provided by the Health Council of the Netherlands and the Netherlands Nutrition Centre [43,44].

## Feedback

Feedback on behavioral parameters was provided to participants by a dietitian as part of the individual telephone consultations at t=0 and t=8 weeks and via email at t=4 and t=12 weeks. The feedback by telephone addressed adherence to Dutch dietary guidelines based on the DHDI. The feedback by email addressed healthy alternatives for recent product choices and was based on purchase data registered on a supermarket customer card that participants were asked to share with the research team. Feedback on metabolic health parameters (ie, waist circumference, BMI, BP, glucose, cholesterol, C-peptide, and triglycerides) was directly communicated to the subjects via a web-based personal study portal at t=0, t=8, and t=16 weeks.

Furthermore, at t=0 and t=16 weeks, each participant received an integrated personal health score based on their metabolic health parameters.

## **Personal Health Score**

The personal health score was produced using a so-called *health* space model that was created on basis of the principle of van den Broek et al [45]. This type of model can produce an individual unitless score based on personal data that correspond to the individuals' health status after being trained on the data of two reference groups. The model in this study was trained on two reference groups from an independent data set (National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 2003-2004 [2003]; [46]), a group of healthy subjects with no diagnostic characteristic for MetS versus subjects diagnosed with MetS (Table 2). The MetS group was selected based on the MetS definition of the International Diabetes Federation [47]. In turn, 135 subjects in the healthy group were selected from all available subjects by constraining BMI between 18 and 25 kg/m<sup>2</sup>. Of these 135 subjects, the top 10 were selected based on their aggregated rank.



Table 2. Demographics and metabolic	health parameters	s of study participants and the	he health space referen	ce groups (N=85).
-------------------------------------	-------------------	---------------------------------	-------------------------	-------------------

Variable	Study participants (n=34)	Healthy reference <sup>a</sup> (n=10)	MetS <sup>b</sup> reference <sup>a</sup> (n=41)
Sex, n (%)			
Male	9 (26)	5 (50)	19 (46)
Female	25 (74)	5 (50)	22 (54)
Age (years), mean (SD)	61 (8.2)	57.6 (16.2)	54 (21.0)
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> ), mean (SD)	29.9 (4.18)	21.3 (1.88)	31.1 (5.68)
Waist circumference (cm), mean (SD)	102 (11.4)	83.2 (4.68)	105 (10.8)
Total cholesterol (mmol/L), mean (SD)	6.23 (0.78)	5.32 (1.10)	4.77 (1.02)
HDL <sup>c</sup> cholesterol (mmol/L), mean (SD)	1.14 (0.27)	1.49 (0.37)	1.01 (0.13)
LDL <sup>d</sup> cholesterol (mmol/L), mean (SD)	4.34 (0.74)	3.12 (1.02)	2.73 (0.99)
Triglycerides (mmol/L), mean (SD)	1.67 (0.85)	1.57 (0.52)	2.25 (0.95)
Glucose (mmol/L), mean (SD)	5.61 (0.65)	5.33 (0.70)	7.07 (3.08)
C-peptide (nmol/L), mean (SD)	0.52 (0.33)	0.75 (0.40)	1.46 (0.90)
Systolic blood pressure (mm Hg), mean (SD)	135 (18.0)	138 (18.5)	128 (21.5)
Diastolic blood pressure (mm Hg), mean (SD)	78.6 (9.54)	77.7 (14.0)	67.4 (18.6)

<sup>a</sup>Data for the reference groups were obtained from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 2003-2004 (CDC 2003) [46]. <sup>b</sup>MetS: metabolic syndrome.

<sup>c</sup>HDL: high-density lipoprotein.

<sup>d</sup>LDL: low-density lipoprotein.

This aggregated rank is based on the features included in the trained model, where the highest rank corresponds to the healthiest values of these features. The aggregated rank of this collection of features was calculated using the *robust rank aggregation* algorithm proposed by Kolde et al [48]. The data used in the training of this model were taken from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 2003-2004 data set (CDC 2003) [46].

A multivariate mixed-effects regression model was subsequently fitted to the data from the two selected reference groups with good classification performance with an accuracy of 99% and a Cohen  $\kappa$  coefficient of 0.94. The model includes triglycerides, LDL cholesterol, HDL cholesterol, glucose, and C-peptide as fixed effects and sex as a random effect. The random effect was included to allow for sex differences in the final model coefficients. Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 1 shows the standardized contributions of each feature in the final model. Finally, individual health scores were calculated by feeding participants' metabolic health data into the regression model.

## Self-Perceived Health and Consumer Experiences

At baseline and at the end of the study, participants reported self-perceived health, self-perceived healthiness of the diet, and satisfaction with the diet using a 7-point Likert scale ranging from 1=very unhealthy to 7=very healthy and 1=very unsatisfied to 7=very satisfied.

At the end of the study, participants filled out an evaluation questionnaire on personal experiences regarding advice, feedback, and the digital platform (statements on 7-point Likert scales, ranging from 1=completely disagree to 7=completely agree).

#### **Statistical Analyses**

Data on DHDI scores and metabolic health were analyzed using linear mixed models with *time* (t=0 vs t=8 vs t=16 weeks) as a fixed effect and *subject* as a random effect. Self-perceived health data were evaluated using ordinal mixed regression models with the same model structure. Post hoc analyses were performed on these models to identify significant differences between the individual time points. In the linear mixed model, observations with an absolute residual >3 times the root mean square error of the model were treated as statistical outliers.

In addition, Pearson correlation coefficients were calculated between the  $\Delta$  of the single dietary behavior variables and the single metabolic health variables and between the  $\Delta$  of dietary behavior and metabolic health variables. Only significant correlations that could be visually confirmed in the scatterplots were regarded as reliable (Figure S1 in Multimedia Appendix 1).

For the analyses of the individual food categories, only participants that actually incorporated the specific food category in their dietary behavior change strategy were included. *P* values reported from the mixed model post hoc tests were adjusted for multiple comparisons following the Benjamini-Hochberg procedure [49].

Statistical significance was set at P<.05 for all analyses. Statistical analyses were performed using R version 3.4.3 (R Core Team).

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e25043/

# Results

## **Baseline Characteristics**

A total of 37 individuals were enrolled in this study. During the study period, 3 subjects dropped out: 1 participant no longer met the inclusion criteria, and the other 2 experienced too many difficulties in using the web-based platform. The baseline characteristics of the 34 participants who completed the intervention as well as the reference populations used for modeling the health score are summarized in Table 2. Next to excessive waist circumference, most participants presented multiple risk factors for MetS. High BP, high glucose, high triglycerides, and low HDL were present in 21, 16, 14, and 22 subjects, respectively.

## Effect of Personalized Advice on Dietary Quality

Most subjects (33/34, 97%) were provided with advice on multiple food categories in their individual dietary behavior change strategies. One participant chose to focus on only one food category. Advice was provided most frequently on vegetables (31/34, 91%), followed by oils and fat (21/34, 62%), nuts (20/34, 59%), wholegrain products (19/34, 56%), dairy (14/34, 41%), fish (12/34, 35%), fruit (9/34, 27%), and sugar-containing beverages (3/34, 9%). The mean DHDI scores over time per food category are shown in Table 3. An improvement over time was observed for wholegrain products (+1.6; *P*=.009; 19/34, 56%), nuts (+2.2; *P*=.009; 20/34, 59%), and total DHDI (+4.3; P<.001; 34/34, 100%). The change in total DHDI was significantly correlated in decreasing order with the change in oils and fats score ( $\rho$ =0.62; P<.001), nuts score (p=0.62; P<.001), dairy score (p=0.55; P<.001), fish score  $(\rho=0.39; P=.03)$ , and fruit score  $(\rho=0.39; P=.02)$ .

**Table 3.** Dutch Healthy Diet Index per food category (score 1-10) and total score (score 8-80) and total carotenoids (µmol/L) at baseline, 8 weeks, and 16 weeks.

Food category <sup>a</sup>	DHDI <sup>b</sup> score, mean (SD)		P value	
	t=0 weeks	t=8 weeks	t=16 weeks	
Vegetable intake (n=31)	6.6 (2.9)	7.5 (3.0)	7.1 (3.3)	.53
Fruit intake (n=9)	5.8 (3.3)	8.2 (2.0)	8.4 (2.0)	.70
Intake of oils and fats (n=21)	3.7 (3.9)	3.6 (4.1)	3.5 (3.8)	.85
Fish intake (n=12)	6.6 (3.2)	7.5 (2.6)	8.6 (1.9)	.18
Intake of wholegrain products (n=19)	6.3 (2.5) <sup>c</sup>	7.7 (2.8) <sup>c</sup>	7.9 (2.8) <sup>c</sup>	.009
Dairy intake (n=14)	3.1 (2.6)	3.8 (3.1)	4.1 (2.7)	.84
Nut intake (n=20)	6.2 (3.3) <sup>c</sup>	7.0 (2.6) <sup>c</sup>	8.4 (2.5) <sup>c</sup>	.009
Intake of sugar-containing beverages (n=3)	1.9 (1.8)	5.5 (5.0)	6.6 (2.8)	d
Total DHDI (sum of all food categories; n=34)	52.9 (13.1) <sup>c</sup>	56.5 (11.3) <sup>c</sup>	57.2 (11.5) <sup>c</sup>	<.001
Carotenoid levels in blood (µmol/L; t=0, n=36; t=8, n=34; t=16, n=33)	1.21 (0.43)	1.39 (0.46)	1.42 (0.56)	.66

<sup>a</sup>Only participants who included the specific food category in their individual dietary behavior change strategy are included in the analysis. <sup>b</sup>DHDI: Dutch Healthy Diet Index.

<sup>c</sup>No significant difference following the post hoc analysis.

<sup>d</sup>Not available (as the sample size was not sufficient to obtain reliable statistical output).

# Effect of Personalized Advice on Metabolic Health Parameters and Health Score

After 16 weeks of intervention, triglycerides, HDL cholesterol, LDL cholesterol, BMI, waist circumference, C-peptide, and HOMA-IR were all significantly improved (Table 4). Plasma glucose increased significantly by 0.23 nmol/L (P=.04; Table 4). The overall health score significantly improved by 0.27 points on a scale from 1 (MetS reference) to 2 (healthy reference; P<.001; Table 4). Improvement in HDL cholesterol had the strongest overall impact on the increase in the health

score, indicated by the high correlation between their changes from week 0 to week 16 ( $\rho$ =0.97; *P*<.001), whereas glucose, C-peptide, triglycerides, and LDL cholesterol changes were not significantly correlated with the increase in health score.

No significant correlation was found between the changes in the total DHDI and health scores ( $\rho$ =0.12; *P*=.52; Figure 2). In particular, 9 subjects who did not improve total DHDI still showed an increased health score after 16 weeks (Figure 2). Significant correlations were found between changes in the total dietary scores and triglycerides ( $\rho$ =0.58; *P*<.001).



 Table 4. Metabolic health parameters assessed at t=0, 8, and 16 weeks.

Parameter	t=0 weeks, mean (SD)	t=8 weeks, mean (SD)	t=16 weeks, mean (SD)	P value
Glucose (mmol/L)	5.61 (0.67) <sup>a</sup>	5.63 (0.64) <sup>a</sup>	5.84 (0.63) <sup>a</sup>	.04
C-peptide (nmol/L)	0.52 (0.32) <sup>a</sup>	$0.52 (0.23)^{a}$	0.43 (0.16) <sup>a</sup>	.01
HOMA-IR <sup>b</sup>	7.45 (5.27) <sup>a</sup>	7.42 (3.95) <sup>a</sup>	6.31 (2.57) <sup>a</sup>	.049
Triglycerides (mmol/L)	1.67 (0.86) <sup>a</sup>	1.43 (0.60) <sup>a</sup>	1.39 (0.55) <sup>a</sup>	.02
Total cholesterol (mmol/L)	6.23 (0.78)	5.91 (0.84) <sup>a</sup>	5.90 (0.86) <sup>a</sup>	0.01
HDL <sup>c</sup> cholesterol (mmol/L)	1.14 (0.28) <sup>a</sup>	1.09 (0.28) <sup>a</sup>	1.44 (0.36) <sup>a</sup>	<.001
LDL <sup>d</sup> cholesterol (mmol/L)	4.34 (0.74) <sup>a</sup>	4.18 (0.79) <sup>a</sup>	3.87 (0.78) <sup>a</sup>	<.001
Systolic blood pressure (mm Hg)	135 (18.2)	133 (13.7)	132 (17.1)	.70
Diastolic blood pressure (mm Hg)	78.6 (9.60)	80.3 (8.93)	79.6 (9.77)	.30
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	29.9 (3.94) <sup>a</sup>	29.4 (3.60) <sup>a</sup>	29.2 (3.66) <sup>a</sup>	<.001
Waist circumference (cm)	102 (11.5) <sup>a</sup>	100 (9.43) <sup>a</sup>	99.4 (8.86) <sup>a</sup>	.01
Health score (arbitrary units)	1.30 (0.31)	1.23 (0.30)	1.57 (0.32)	<.001

<sup>a</sup>No significant difference following the post hoc analysis.

<sup>b</sup>HOMA-IR: homeostatic model assessment-insulin resistance; calculated based on glucose and C-peptide [50].

<sup>c</sup>HDL: high-density lipoprotein.

<sup>d</sup>LDL: low-density lipoprotein.



Figure 2. Association between the  $\Delta$  dietary scores and  $\Delta$  health scores calculated between week 0 and week 16 of the study.



## Self-Perceived Health and Consumer Experiences

The mean scores for self-perceived health, self-perceived healthiness of the diet, and satisfaction with the diet, as reported by the participants at baseline and end, are shown in Table 5. All three scores were significantly improved at the end of the study compared with baseline (self-perceived health: +0.67, P=.005; self-perceived healthiness of the diet: +1.06, P<.001;

satisfaction with the diet: +0.94, P=.001). In addition, participants reported positive mean scores on how helpful the personalized advice and feedback were to improve their diet. In addition, they were positive about continuing the advice after completion of the study and on advising other people to obtain personalized advice, as in this study. Participants would not be willing to pay for (parts of) this program.



Table 5. Self-perceived health, self-perceived healthiness of the diet, and satisfaction with the diet as reported at t=0 and 16 weeks.

Self-perceived health items	t=0 weeks, mean (SD)	t=16 weeks, mean (SD)	P value
Self-perceived health <sup>a</sup>	4.68 (1.07)	5.35 (1.10)	.005
Self-perceived healthiness of diet <sup>a</sup>	4.50 (1.05)	5.56 (0.96)	<.001
Satisfaction with diet <sup>b</sup>	4.35 (1.39)	5.29 (1.14)	.001
Consumer experiences <sup>c</sup>			
The personalized advice helped me to improve my diet	d	5.7 (1.5)	_
The feedback helped me to improve my diet	_	5.4 (1.4)	—
If possible I would continue taking part in this program	—	4.7 (2.0)	—
I would recommend people in my surroundings to obtain personalized advice like in this study	_	5.0 (1.8)	_
I would be willing to pay for this program	_	2.5 (1.7)	_

<sup>a</sup>7-point Likert scale, ranging from "very unhealthy" to "very healthy."

<sup>b</sup>7-point Likert scale, ranging from "very unsatisfied" to "very satisfied."

<sup>c</sup>7-point Likert scale, ranging from "completely disagree" to "completely agree."

<sup>d</sup>Consumer experiences were only assessed at the end of the study (t=16).

# Discussion

## **Principal Findings**

With the aim of exploring the combined behavioral and metabolic health effects in relation to personalized nutrition, we have shown that personalized dietary advice delivered through an automated advice system and discussed by a dietitian with the participant has a significant positive effect on dietary behavior, with a concurring beneficial impact on metabolic health in consumers at risk of MetS. Moreover, the perception of health and healthiness of and satisfaction with the diet improved.

Most earlier studies have shown the impact of personalized dietary advice either on dietary intake or on metabolic health parameters. In this study, we build upon the research described by Doets et al [36] by focusing on the combined analysis of dietary intake, metabolic health, and perceived health. In this previous study, we evaluated the potential of digitally delivered personalized lifestyle advice for improving well-being compared with general dietary advice in a population of active seniors. Well-being was operationalized by self-perceived health and well-being as well as biological measures, including markers of metabolic health and physical function tests. Despite some clear limitations with respect to the target population (eg, already having a healthy diet), the short intervention duration (9 weeks), the provided feedback (all participants, including the control group, received individual feedback on their health and well-being), and the intake tools used for monitoring dietary behavior, the results showed that personalized lifestyle advice might have the potential to improve health outcomes as compared with general lifestyle advice.

Compared with Doets et al [36], the study design was improved by prolonging the study duration, including an individual behavior change strategy, selecting an at-risk population, and

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e25043/

RenderX

increasing the frequency of feedback on individual metabolic health.

Interestingly, our results revealed no correlation between the effect on dietary behavior and metabolic health, although both variables showed a significant improvement.

In our study, there was a large variation in the personalized advice between participants, as the advice was tailored to individual metabolic health status as well as dietary quality. Most participants in our study sample incorporated improved intake of vegetables, oils and fats, nuts, and wholegrain products in their behavior change strategy  $(n \ge 19)$ . Among these, participants seemed to comply with the advice for wholegrain products and nuts, especially as these two food groups significantly improved over time. In contrast, no changes were observed in vegetables, oils, and fats. These results suggest that it is easier for motivated participants to replace refined products with wholegrain products or to include nuts in their dietary patterns as compared with increasing vegetable intake or changing the type of fat for the preparation of meals or for bread spread. Previous systematic reviews have shown significant pooled effects of dietary advice interventions on increased intake of fruits, vegetables, total fiber, and total fat [51-53]. However, most of these reviewed studies focused on changing a single dietary behavior aspect in line with general recommendations rather than optimizing dietary intake in view of improved individual health. A recent study by Rijnaarts et al [54] showed that providing fiber-rich alternatives via an automated, personalized advice system increased adherence recommendations as compared with generic advice, confirming the effectiveness of a personalized advice system and replacing refined products with wholegrain products.

Although our results indicated an improvement over time for fruit, fish, dairy, and intake of sugar-containing beverages, these effects turned out to be nonsignificant as only a small number of individuals included these food groups in their behavior change strategy ( $n\leq 14$ ).

Several studies have reviewed available behavior change techniques that are effective for dietary behavior change [55-57]. They demonstrated that tailoring, instructions, goal setting, and feedback are effective intervention elements for evoking dietary behavior change. The personalized intervention we used in the study combined several behavior change techniques to facilitate behavior change: feedback on health (what is the actual health situation), feedback on behavior (which dietary changes are relevant for the individual based on parameters of health and diet), advice on how to change behavior (how these changes can be made in terms of product choice), and individual goal setting (what does the individual want to change, ie, behavior change strategy) [57]. Problem solving and social comparison seem to be other relevant behavior strategies to further improve our intervention. These strategies may be especially relevant for improving compliance with advice on fruit and vegetable intake [52,55].

## Effectiveness of Intervention on Metabolic Health

We hypothesized that by optimizing the quality of the diet in terms of adherence to Dutch dietary guidelines on specific food groups, we were able to improve the metabolic health of our participants. Our analysis indeed showed significant improvements in metabolic health; however, whether these effects were due to improvements in diet quality could not be substantiated. Previous reviews have shown that the restriction of total energy intake, carbohydrate, or fat is a successful strategy to improve metabolic health status. Furthermore, enriching the diet with monounsaturated fatty acids (nuts and olive oil) or omega-3 fatty acids (fish) has been proven effective, especially in improving lipid profiles [7,58,59].

Although the absolute health score is also determined by subtle changes in triglycerides, glucose, C-peptide, and LDL cholesterol, it seems that the relatively strong  $\Delta$  HDL cholesterol is the main driver for the change in the health score. It is known from the literature that HDL levels are affected by the increased consumption of fish and unsaturated fatty acids and decreased consumption of saturated fatty acids [60,61]. Interestingly, in our data, the increase in HDL cholesterol could not be significantly related to any specific dietary improvement. Apart from the fact that the statistical power may not have allowed it, this observation may be related to a confounding effect of activity. Results from a meta-analysis showed a highly significant relationship between physical activity and HDL cholesterol levels [62].

# Effectiveness of Intervention on Self-Perceived Health

Self-perceived health summarizes the objective and subjective aspects of health within the perceptual framework of an individual. Some studies suggest that although the criteria for judging health status may vary between individuals, it is a valid indicator of overall health status and use of health services [63,64]. However, the cross-sectional association between actual metabolic health and perceived health remains unclear [65]. Previous intervention studies have shown a clear link between improved health behaviors and better self-perceived health scores, supporting our findings [64,66,67]. From the perspective of maintaining behavior change, improvement in self-perceived health in the short term is highly relevant as it helps individuals to stay motivated, allowing the behavior change to persist over a longer period.

## **Lessons Learned**

Participants may have become more aware of their dietary behavior throughout the study, which may have influenced their answers to the DHDI questionnaire, causing a learning bias [68]. Together with the fact that no control period was included, this may have influenced the dietary scores over time. In future studies, it is recommended to include a learning period before the start of the study to minimize the effect of learning.

No control group was included, which is a general challenge in studies investigating the efficacy of personalized nutrition. Therefore, it is not possible to separate the effect of diet from the potential effect of general health improvement as a behavioral consequence of taking part in the study. A semiplacebo control may be reached by comparing personalized advice with generic advice [54,69] or by allowing participants to be their own control by starting with a free-living run-in period without intervention. Furthermore, N-of-1 (or single-subject) study designs focusing on one individual could be a good fit to study research questions related to personalized dietary advice in the future. In N-of-1 designs, the optimal intervention for a specific individual is studied rather than an average individual from a target population.

Although we could confirm the assumption that personalized dietary advice is effective in improving both overall dietary behavior (total DHDI score) and overall metabolic health (health score), interestingly, there was no significant correlation. It should be noted that the pilot study only included 34 individuals, all of whom received personalized dietary advice. In addition, there are some limitations to the DHDI score, in which each food category is weighted equally in the total score. An adjusted total score in which the food categories relevant for MetS would outweigh the other food groups could possibly reveal a significant effect.

In addition to the positive effects of improved dietary quality, previous research has also demonstrated the beneficial effects of moderate- to high-intensity physical activity training on lipid profile, BP, and C-reactive protein [70,71]. In our study, we did not provide any advice on increasing physical activity; however, the study participants were invited to use a health watch, providing general feedback on daily activity levels. Owing to unforeseen practical reasons, these health watches were only available during the second half of the study period. Therefore, we were not able to evaluate possible changes in activity levels during the study. For future studies, it is highly recommended to include physical activity monitoring using either a device or a validated questionnaire.

Contrary to our expectations, these data illustrate that positive effects at the population level are not necessarily indicative of associations between diet and health. We can thus conclude that personalized dietary advice works for dietary behavior and health, but the data did not allow us to conclude that metabolic health was improved as a consequence of dietary improvement. A larger sample size with a more equal distribution of men and women and the addition of a control group to the study design

```
XSL•FO
```

are warranted to further investigate and understand the association between diet and health at the individual level. Furthermore, a follow-up after a longer period (eg, 6 months or 1 year) would allow to determine whether initiated behavior changes are maintained over time.

## Conclusions

In this exploratory pilot study in individuals at risk for MetS and motivated to change behavior, personalized dietary advice was indicative of positive effects on self-perceived health, dietary behavior, and metabolic health. The lack of association between diet and health improvement is reflective of the individual nature of diet-health relations and underlines the need for an integrated analysis focusing on individual improvements. The study was performed in a do-it-yourself setting, highlighting the potential of evidence-based at-home improvement of health through dietary changes. Follow-up studies are needed to confirm these effects and evaluate the maintenance of dietary behavioral changes.

## Acknowledgments

The authors gratefully acknowledge all participants in the study. Furthermore, they thank Meeke Ummels for her contribution to the study execution and Quinten Ducarmon and Angelique Speulman-Saat for their support in data collection.

This research was supported by the Dutch Personalized Nutrition and Health program funded by the Dutch Top Sector Agri & Food (TKI-AF-15262). The funder had no role in the study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

## **Authors' Contributions**

ELD, FPMH, MT, and AB designed the study; MT, AB, and TVDB designed the automated advice system; SVDH coordinated the study execution; TVDB, WJVDB, and SVDH analyzed the data; SVDH, FPMH, ELD, and WJVDB prepared the manuscript; MT, AB, and TVDB reviewed the manuscript.

## **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

## Multimedia Appendix 1

An overview of the telephone consultation in stage 2 of the personalized advice with the trained dietitian (example of one food group for one participant) and standardized coefficients of the features in the health space model. [DOCX File, 16 KB - formative\_v5i6e25043\_app1.docx]

## References

- 1. Alberti KG, Zimmet P, Shaw J, IDF Epidemiology Task Force Consensus Group. The metabolic syndrome--a new worldwide definition. Lancet 2005;366(9491):1059-1062. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(05)67402-8] [Medline: 16182882]
- Kaur J. A comprehensive review on metabolic syndrome. Cardiol Res Pract 2014;2014:943162 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2014/943162] [Medline: 24711954]
- 3. Kolovou GD, Anagnostopoulou KK, Salpea KD, Mikhailidis DP. The prevalence of metabolic syndrome in various populations. Am J Med Sci 2007 Jun;333(6):362-371. [doi: <u>10.1097/MAJ.0b013e318065c3a1</u>] [Medline: <u>17570989</u>]
- 4. Park Y, Zhu S, Palaniappan L, Heshka S, Carnethon MR, Heymsfield SB. The metabolic syndrome: prevalence and associated risk factor findings in the US population from the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 1988-1994. Arch Intern Med 2003 Feb 24;163(4):427-436 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/archinte.163.4.427] [Medline: 12588201]
- 5. Alberti KG, Eckel RH, Grundy SM, Zimmet PZ, Cleeman JI, Donato KA, et al. Harmonizing the metabolic syndrome: a joint interim statement of the International Diabetes Federation Task Force on Epidemiology and Prevention; National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute; American Heart Association; World Heart Federation; International Atherosclerosis Society; and International Association for the Study of Obesity. Circulation 2009 Oct 20;120(16):1640-1645 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.192644] [Medline: 19805654]
- 6. Martínez-González MA, Martín-Calvo N. The major European dietary patterns and metabolic syndrome. Rev Endocr Metab Disord 2013 Sep;14(3):265-271. [doi: 10.1007/s11154-013-9264-6] [Medline: 23979531]
- Andersen CJ, Fernandez ML. Dietary strategies to reduce metabolic syndrome. Rev Endocr Metab Disord 2013 Sep;14(3):241-254. [doi: <u>10.1007/s11154-013-9251-y</u>] [Medline: <u>23943309</u>]
- Kastorini C, Milionis HJ, Esposito K, Giugliano D, Goudevenos JA, Panagiotakos DB. The effect of Mediterranean diet on metabolic syndrome and its components: a meta-analysis of 50 studies and 534,906 individuals. J Am Coll Cardiol 2011 Mar 15;57(11):1299-1313 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2010.09.073] [Medline: 21392646]
- 9. Minehira K, Tappy L. Dietary and lifestyle interventions in the management of the metabolic syndrome: present status and future perspective. Eur J Clin Nutr 2002 Dec;56(12):7 p following 1262. [doi: 10.1038/sj.ejcn.1601645] [Medline: 12494312]

- Azadbakht L, Mirmiran P, Esmaillzadeh A, Azizi T, Azizi F. Beneficial effects of a dietary approaches to stop hypertension eating plan on features of the metabolic syndrome. Diabetes Care 2005 Dec;28(12):2823-2831. [doi: <u>10.2337/diacare.28.12.2823</u>] [Medline: <u>16306540</u>]
- 11. Bender N, Portmann M, Heg Z, Hofmann K, Zwahlen M, Egger M. Fish or n3-PUFA intake and body composition: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Obes Rev 2014 Aug;15(8):657-665. [doi: 10.1111/obr.12189] [Medline: 24891155]
- 12. Engel S, Tholstrup T. Butter increased total and LDL cholesterol compared with olive oil but resulted in higher HDL cholesterol compared with a habitual diet. Am J Clin Nutr 2015 Aug;102(2):309-315. [doi: <u>10.3945/ajcn.115.112227</u>] [Medline: <u>26135349</u>]
- Giacco R, Costabile G, Della Pepa G, Anniballi G, Griffo E, Mangione A, et al. A whole-grain cereal-based diet lowers postprandial plasma insulin and triglyceride levels in individuals with metabolic syndrome. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis 2014 Aug;24(8):837-844. [doi: 10.1016/j.numecd.2014.01.007] [Medline: 24598599]
- Harris Jackson K, West SG, Vanden Heuvel JP, Jonnalagadda SS, Ross AB, Hill AM, et al. Effects of whole and refined grains in a weight-loss diet on markers of metabolic syndrome in individuals with increased waist circumference: a randomized controlled-feeding trial. Am J Clin Nutr 2014 Aug;100(2):577-586 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3945/ajcn.113.078048] [Medline: 24944054]
- 15. Hu FB. Resolved: there is sufficient scientific evidence that decreasing sugar-sweetened beverage consumption will reduce the prevalence of obesity and obesity-related diseases. Obes Rev 2013 Aug;14(8):606-619 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/obr.12040] [Medline: 23763695]
- Poulsen SK, Due A, Jordy AB, Kiens B, Stark KD, Stender S, et al. Health effect of the New Nordic Diet in adults with increased waist circumference: a 6-mo randomized controlled trial. Am J Clin Nutr 2014 Jan;99(1):35-45. [doi: 10.3945/ajcn.113.069393] [Medline: 24257725]
- Romaguera D, Ängquist L, Du H, Jakobsen MU, Forouhi NG, Halkjær J, et al. Food composition of the diet in relation to changes in waist circumference adjusted for body mass index. PLoS One 2011;6(8):e23384 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0023384] [Medline: 21858094]
- Sayon-Orea C, Martínez-González MA, Ruiz-Canela M, Bes-Rastrollo M. Associations between yogurt consumption and weight gain and risk of obesity and metabolic syndrome: a systematic review. Adv Nutr 2017 Jan;8(1):146S-154S. [doi: 10.3945/an.115.011536] [Medline: 28096138]
- 19. Schwingshackl L, Hoffmann G, Kalle-Uhlmann T, Arregui M, Buijsse B, Boeing H. Fruit and vegetable consumption and changes in anthropometric variables in adult populations: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. PLoS One 2015;10(10):e0140846 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0140846] [Medline: 26474158]
- 20. Schwingshackl L, Hoffmann G, Schwedhelm C, Kalle-Uhlmann T, Missbach B, Knüppel S, et al. Consumption of dairy products in relation to changes in anthropometric variables in adult populations: a systematic review and meta-analysis of cohort studies. PLoS One 2016;11(6):e0157461 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0157461] [Medline: 27310919]
- 21. Zaribaf F, Falahi E, Barak F, Heidari M, Keshteli AH, Yazdannik A, et al. Fish consumption is inversely associated with the metabolic syndrome. Eur J Clin Nutr 2014 Apr;68(4):474-480. [doi: <u>10.1038/ejcn.2014.5</u>] [Medline: <u>24549028</u>]
- 22. Adams SH, Anthony JC, Carvajal R, Chae L, Khoo CS, Latulippe ME, et al. Perspective: guiding principles for the implementation of personalized nutrition approaches that benefit health and function. Adv Nutr 2020 Jan 1;11(1):25-34 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/advances/nmz086] [Medline: 31504115]
- 23. Brug J, Campbell M, van Assema P. The application and impact of computer-generated personalized nutrition education: a review of the literature. Patient Educ Couns 1999 Feb;36(2):145-156. [doi: 10.1016/s0738-3991(98)00131-1] [Medline: 10223019]
- 24. Bull FC, Kreuter MW, Scharff DP. Effects of tailored, personalized and general health messages on physical activity. Patient Educ Couns 1999 Feb;36(2):181-192. [doi: 10.1016/s0738-3991(98)00134-7] [Medline: 10223022]
- 25. Celis-Morales C, Livingstone KM, Marsaux CF, Forster H, O'Donovan CB, Woolhead C, et al. Design and baseline characteristics of the Food4Me study: a web-based randomised controlled trial of personalised nutrition in seven European countries. Genes Nutr 2015 Jan;10(1):450 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s12263-014-0450-2] [Medline: 25491748]
- 26. Fjeldsoe BS, Marshall AL, Miller YD. Behavior change interventions delivered by mobile telephone short-message service. Am J Prev Med 2009 Feb;36(2):165-173. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.amepre.2008.09.040</u>] [Medline: <u>19135907</u>]
- 27. Krebs P, Prochaska JO, Rossi JS. A meta-analysis of computer-tailored interventions for health behavior change. Prev Med 2010;51(3-4):214-221 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2010.06.004] [Medline: 20558196]
- 28. Kris-Etherton PM, Taylor DS, Smiciklas-Wright H, Mitchell DC, Bekhuis TC, Olson BH, et al. High-soluble-fiber foods in conjunction with a telephone-based, personalized behavior change support service result in favorable changes in lipids and lifestyles after 7 weeks. J Am Diet Assoc 2002 Apr;102(4):503-510. [doi: 10.1016/s0002-8223(02)90116-1] [Medline: 11985406]
- Marcus BH, Napolitano MA, King AC, Lewis BA, Whiteley JA, Albrecht A, et al. Telephone versus print delivery of an individualized motivationally tailored physical activity intervention: Project STRIDE. Health Psychol 2007 Jul;26(4):401-409. [doi: 10.1037/0278-6133.26.4.401] [Medline: 17605559]

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e25043/

- Parekh S, Vandelanotte C, King D, Boyle FM. Improving diet, physical activity and other lifestyle behaviours using computer-tailored advice in general practice: a randomised controlled trial. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2012 Sep 11;9:108 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-9-108] [Medline: 22963354]
- 31. Bouwman J, Vogels JT, Wopereis S, Rubingh CM, Bijlsma S, Ommen BV. Visualization and identification of health space, based on personalized molecular phenotype and treatment response to relevant underlying biological processes. BMC Med Genomics 2012 Jan 6;5:1 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1755-8794-5-1] [Medline: 22221319]
- van Ommen B, van den Broek T, de Hoogh I, van Erk M, van Someren E, Rouhani-Rankouhi T, et al. Systems biology of personalized nutrition. Nutr Rev 2017 Aug 1;75(8):579-599 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/nutrit/nux029] [Medline: 28969366]
- Celis-Morales C, Lara J, Mathers JC. Personalising nutritional guidance for more effective behaviour change. Proc Nutr Soc 2015 May;74(2):130-138. [doi: <u>10.1017/S0029665114001633</u>] [Medline: <u>25497396</u>]
- 34. Michie S, Ashford S, Sniehotta FF, Dombrowski SU, Bishop A, French DP. A refined taxonomy of behaviour change techniques to help people change their physical activity and healthy eating behaviours: the CALO-RE taxonomy. Psychol Health 2011 Nov;26(11):1479-1498. [doi: 10.1080/08870446.2010.540664] [Medline: 21678185]
- 35. Forster H, Walsh MC, O'Donovan CB, Woolhead C, McGirr C, Daly EJ, et al. A dietary feedback system for the delivery of consistent personalized dietary advice in the web-based multicenter food4me study. J Med Internet Res 2016 Jun 30;18(6):e150 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5620] [Medline: 27363307]
- 36. Doets EL, de Hoogh IM, Holthuysen N, Wopereis S, Verain MC, van den Puttelaar J, et al. Beneficial effect of personalized lifestyle advice compared to generic advice on wellbeing among Dutch seniors An explorative study. Physiol Behav 2019 Oct 15;210:112642 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2019.112642] [Medline: 31394106]
- Poínhos R, van der Lans IA, Rankin A, Fischer AR, Bunting B, Kuznesof S, et al. Psychological determinants of consumer acceptance of personalised nutrition in 9 European countries. PLoS One 2014;9(10):e110614 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0110614] [Medline: 25334009]
- Héroux M, Watt M, McGuire KA, Berardi JM. A personalized, multi-platform nutrition, exercise, and lifestyle coaching program: a pilot in women. Internet Interv 2017 Mar;7:16-22 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2016.12.002] [Medline: 30135822]
- 39. Fjeldsoe B, Neuhaus M, Winkler E, Eakin E. Systematic review of maintenance of behavior change following physical activity and dietary interventions. Health Psychol 2011 Jan;30(1):99-109. [doi: <u>10.1037/a0021974</u>] [Medline: <u>21299298</u>]
- 40. Prochaska JJ, Prochaska JO. A review of multiple health behavior change interventions for primary prevention. Am J Lifestyle Med 2011 May;5(3):- [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1559827610391883] [Medline: 24358034]
- 41. Looman M, Feskens EJ, de Rijk M, Meijboom S, Biesbroek S, Temme EH, et al. Development and evaluation of the dutch healthy diet index 2015. Public Health Nutr 2017 Sep;20(13):2289-2299. [doi: <u>10.1017/S136898001700091X</u>] [Medline: <u>28625202</u>]
- 42. Sakhi AK, Bastani NE, Ellingjord-Dale M, Gundersen TE, Blomhoff R, Ursin G. Feasibility of self-sampled dried blood spot and saliva samples sent by mail in a population-based study. BMC Cancer 2015 Apr 11;15:265 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12885-015-1275-0] [Medline: 25886002]
- 43. Brink L, Postema-Smeets A, Stafleu A, Wolvers D. RichtlijnenSchijf van Vijf. Voedingscentrum. 2016. URL: <u>https://www.voedingscentrum.nl/Assets/Uploads/voedingscentrum/Documents/Professionals/Schijf%20van%20Vijf/</u> <u>Richtlijnen%20Schijf%20van%20Vijf.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-06-11]
- 44. Richtlijnen Goede Voeding. Den Haag: Health Council of the Netherlands; 2015.
- 45. van den Broek TJ, Bakker GC, Rubingh CM, Bijlsma S, Stroeve JH, van Ommen B, et al. Ranges of phenotypic flexibility in healthy subjects. Genes Nutr 2017;12:32 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12263-017-0589-8] [Medline: 29225708]
- 46. National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey Data. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2003. URL: <u>https://wwwn.cdc.gov/nchs/nhanes/ContinuousNhanes/overview.aspx?BeginYear=2003</u> [accessed 2019-05-11]
- 47. Alberti KGM, Zimmet P, Shaw J. Metabolic syndrome--a new world-wide definition. A consensus statement from the international diabetes federation. Diabet Med 2006 May;23(5):469-480. [doi: 10.1111/j.1464-5491.2006.01858.x] [Medline: 16681555]
- 48. Kolde R, Laur S, Adler P, Vilo J. Robust rank aggregation for gene list integration and meta-analysis. Bioinformatics 2012 Feb 15;28(4):573-580 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btr709] [Medline: 22247279]
- 49. Benjamini Y, Hochberg Y. Controlling the false discovery rate: a practical and powerful approach to multiple testing. J R Stat Soc Series B Stat Methodol 2018 Dec 5;57(1):289-300. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.2517-6161.1995.tb02031.x</u>]
- Matthews DR, Hosker JP, Rudenski AS, Naylor BA, Treacher DF, Turner RC. Homeostasis model assessment: insulin resistance and beta-cell function from fasting plasma glucose and insulin concentrations in man. Diabetologia 1985 Jul;28(7):412-419. [doi: 10.1007/BF00280883] [Medline: 3899825]
- 51. Rees K, Dyakova M, Wilson N, Ward K, Thorogood M, Brunner E. Dietary advice for reducing cardiovascular risk. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2013 Dec 06(12):CD002128. [doi: <u>10.1002/14651858.CD002128.pub5</u>] [Medline: <u>24318424</u>]
- 52. Thomson CA, Ravia J. A systematic review of behavioral interventions to promote intake of fruit and vegetables. J Am Diet Assoc 2011 Oct;111(10):1523-1535. [doi: 10.1016/j.jada.2011.07.013] [Medline: 21963019]

- 53. Whatnall MC, Patterson AJ, Ashton LM, Hutchesson MJ. Effectiveness of brief nutrition interventions on dietary behaviours in adults: a systematic review. Appetite 2018 Jan 1;120:335-347. [doi: 10.1016/j.appet.2017.09.017] [Medline: 28947184]
- 54. Rijnaarts I, de Roos NM, Wang T, Zoetendal EG, Top J, Timmer M, et al. Increasing dietary fibre intake in healthy adults using personalised dietary advice compared with general advice: a single-blind randomised controlled trial. Public Health Nutr 2021 Apr;24(5):1117-1128 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1017/S1368980020002980] [Medline: 32943128]
- 55. Ammerman AS, Lindquist CH, Lohr KN, Hersey J. The efficacy of behavioral interventions to modify dietary fat and fruit and vegetable intake: a review of the evidence. Prev Med 2002 Jul;35(1):25-41. [doi: 10.1006/pmed.2002.1028] [Medline: 12079438]
- 56. Macready AL, Fallaize R, Butler LT, Ellis JA, Kuznesof S, Frewer LJ, et al. Application of behavior change techniques in a personalized nutrition electronic health intervention study: protocol for the web-based food4me randomized controlled trial. JMIR Res Protoc 2018 Apr 9;7(4):e87 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.8703] [Medline: 29631993]
- 57. Michie S, Richardson M, Johnston M, Abraham C, Francis J, Hardeman W, et al. The behavior change technique taxonomy (v1) of 93 hierarchically clustered techniques: building an international consensus for the reporting of behavior change interventions. Ann Behav Med 2013 Aug;46(1):81-95. [doi: 10.1007/s12160-013-9486-6] [Medline: 23512568]
- Abete I, Goyenechea E, Zulet MA, Martínez JA. Obesity and metabolic syndrome: potential benefit from specific nutritional components. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis 2011 Sep;21(Suppl 2):B1-15. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.numecd.2011.05.001</u>] [Medline: <u>21764273</u>]
- 59. de la Iglesia R, Loria-Kohen V, Zulet MA, Martinez JA, Reglero G, Ramirez de Molina A. Dietary strategies implicated in the prevention and treatment of metabolic syndrome. Int J Mol Sci 2016 Nov 10;17(11):- [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijms17111877] [Medline: 27834920]
- Balk EM, Lichtenstein AH, Chung M, Kupelnick B, Chew P, Lau J. Effects of omega-3 fatty acids on serum markers of cardiovascular disease risk: a systematic review. Atherosclerosis 2006 Nov;189(1):19-30. [doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2006.02.012] [Medline: 16530201]
- 61. Mensink RP, Zock PL, Kester AD, Katan MB. Effects of dietary fatty acids and carbohydrates on the ratio of serum total to HDL cholesterol and on serum lipids and apolipoproteins: a meta-analysis of 60 controlled trials. Am J Clin Nutr 2003 May;77(5):1146-1155. [doi: 10.1093/ajcn/77.5.1146] [Medline: 12716665]
- Kodama S, Tanaka S, Saito K, Shu M, Sone Y, Onitake F, et al. Effect of aerobic exercise training on serum levels of high-density lipoprotein cholesterol: a meta-analysis. Arch Intern Med 2007 May 28;167(10):999-1008. [doi: 10.1001/archinte.167.10.999] [Medline: 17533202]
- 63. Machón M, Vergara I, Dorronsoro M, Vrotsou K, Larrañaga I. Self-perceived health in functionally independent older people: associated factors. BMC Geriatr 2016 Mar 9;16:66 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12877-016-0239-9] [Medline: 26961707]
- 64. Mood C. Life-style and self-rated global health in Sweden: a prospective analysis spanning three decades. Prev Med 2013 Dec;57(6):802-806 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2013.09.002] [Medline: 24041976]
- 65. Näslindh-Ylispangar A, Sihvonen M, Vanhanen H, Kekki P. Self-rated health and risk factors for metabolic syndrome among middle-aged men. Public Health Nurs 2005;22(6):515-522. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.0737-1209.2005.220607.x</u>] [Medline: <u>16371072</u>]
- 66. Lara J, McCrum L, Mathers JC. Association of Mediterranean diet and other health behaviours with barriers to healthy eating and perceived health among British adults of retirement age. Maturitas 2014 Nov;79(3):292-298 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.maturitas.2014.07.003] [Medline: 25096829]
- 67. Piko BF. Self-perceived health among adolescents: the role of gender and psychosocial factors. Eur J Pediatr 2007 Jul;166(7):701-708. [doi: 10.1007/s00431-006-0311-0] [Medline: 17120041]
- 68. Benítez I, Adams BG, He J. An integrated approach to bias in a longitudinal survey in the United Kingdom: assessing construct, method, and item bias in the general health questionnaire (ghq-12). Assessment 2019 Oct;26(7):1194-1206. [doi: 10.1177/1073191117739979] [Medline: 29117704]
- 69. Sialvera TE, Papadopoulou A, Efstathiou SP, Trautwein EA, Ras RT, Kollia N, et al. Structured advice provided by a dietitian increases adherence of consumers to diet and lifestyle changes and lowers blood low density lipoprotein (ldl) cholesterol: The increasing adherence of consumers to diet & lifestyle changes to lower (ldl) cholesterol (act) randomised controlled trial. J Hum Nutr Diet 2018 Apr;31(2):197-208. [doi: 10.1111/jhn.12508] [Medline: 28891084]
- Martins RA, Veríssimo MT, Coelho e Silva MJ, Cumming SP, Teixeira AM. Effects of aerobic and strength-based training on metabolic health indicators in older adults. Lipids Health Dis 2010 Jul 22;9:76 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1476-511X-9-76] [Medline: 20663148]
- Kelley GA, Kelley KS. Aerobic exercise and lipids and lipoproteins in men: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. J Mens Health Gend 2006;3(1):61-70 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jmhg.2005.09.003] [Medline: 18645633]

## Abbreviations

RenderX

**BP:** blood pressure **DBS:** dried blood spot

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e25043/

**DHDI:** Dutch Healthy Diet Index **HDL:** high-density lipoprotein **LDL:** low-density lipoprotein **MetS:** metabolic syndrome

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 15.10.20; peer-reviewed by C Koebnick, B Greggianin; comments to author 25.01.21; revised version received 11.04.21; accepted 19.05.21; published 24.06.21.

<u>Please cite as:</u> van der Haar S, Hoevenaars FPM, van den Brink WJ, van den Broek T, Timmer M, Boorsma A, Doets EL Exploring the Potential of Personalized Dietary Advice for Health Improvement in Motivated Individuals With Premetabolic Syndrome: Pretest-Posttest Study JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e25043 URL: <u>https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e25043/</u> doi:<u>10.2196/25043</u> PMID:<u>34185002</u>

©Sandra van der Haar, Femke P M Hoevenaars, Willem J van den Brink, Tim van den Broek, Mariëlle Timmer, André Boorsma, Esmée L Doets. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 24.06.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Original Paper** 

Tracking Stress, Mental Health, and Resilience Factors in Medical Students Before, During, and After a Stress-Inducing Exam Period: Protocol and Proof-of-Principle Analyses for the RESIST Cohort Study

Jessica Fritz<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Jan Stochl<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Rogier A Kievit<sup>2,3</sup>, PhD; Anne-Laura van Harmelen<sup>1,4</sup>, PhD; Paul O Wilkinson<sup>1</sup>, PhD

<sup>4</sup>Brain Safety and Resilience, Education and Child Studies, Leiden University, Leiden, Netherlands

**Corresponding Author:** 

Jessica Fritz, PhD Department of Psychiatry University of Cambridge Douglas House 18B Trumpington Road Cambridge, CB2 8AH United Kingdom Phone: 0044 1223 465253 Email: jf585@cam.ac.uk

# Abstract

**Background:** Knowledge of mental distress and resilience factors over the time span from before to after a stressor is important to be able to leverage the most promising resilience factors and promote mental health at the right time. To shed light on this topic, we designed the RESIST (Resilience Study) study, in which we assessed medical students before, during, and after their yearly exam period. Exam time is generally a period of notable stress among medical students, and it has been suggested that exam time triggers mental distress.

**Objective:** In this paper, we aim to describe the study protocol and to examine whether the exam period indeed induces higher perceived stress and mental distress. We also aim to explore whether perceived stress and mental distress coevolve in response to exams.

**Methods:** RESIST is a cohort study in which exam stress functions as a within-subject natural stress manipulation. In this paper, we outline the sample (N=451), procedure, assessed measures (including demographics, perceived stress, mental distress, 13 resilience factors, and adversity), and ethical considerations. Moreover, we conducted a series of latent growth models and bivariate latent change score models to analyze perceived stress and mental distress changes over the 3 time points.

**Results:** We found that perceived stress and mental distress increased from the time before the exams to the exam period and decreased after the exams to a lower level than before the exams. Our findings further suggest that higher mental distress before exams increased the risk of developing more perceived stress during exams. Higher perceived stress during exams, in turn, increased the risk of experiencing a less successful (or quick) recovery of mental distress after exams.

**Conclusions:** As expected, the exam period caused a temporary increase in perceived stress and mental distress. Therefore, the RESIST study lends itself well to exploring resilience factors in response to naturally occurring exam stress. Such knowledge will eventually help researchers to find out which resilience factors lend themselves best as prevention targets and which lend themselves best as treatment targets for the mitigation of mental health problems that are triggered or accelerated by natural exam stress. The findings from the RESIST study may therefore inform student support services, mental health services, and resilience theory.

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e20128) doi:10.2196/20128



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Department of Psychiatry, University of Cambridge, Cambridge, United Kingdom

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Medical Research Council Cognition and Brain Sciences Unit, University of Cambridge, Cambridge, United Kingdom

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Radboud University Medical Center, Donders Institute for Brain, Cognition, and Behavior, Nijmegen, Netherlands

#### **KEYWORDS**

exam stress; perceived stress; mental distress; student mental health; mental health resilience; protective factors; resilience factors

## Introduction

## Background

Approximately 1 in 5 young people experience mental distress in the form of anxiety and depression [1,2]. According to the World Health Organization (ie, the Regional Office for Europe), the "early identification of such problems-and, when necessary, early intervention or timely management-is critically important...In the absence of appropriate support and intervention, such problems may continue, worsen or lead to mental illness" [2]. Resilience factors (RFs), such as self-esteem and friendship support, mitigate mental distress in the face of stressful experiences [3]. The literature contains a considerable amount of knowledge on RFs that mitigate concurrent and subsequent mental distress [4-8]. Yet, studies investigating RFs over the time span from before to after a stressor (ie, stress that causes or triggers mental distress) are scarce [9]. However, knowledge of mental distress and RFs before and during the stressor is crucial, as this (1) is necessary to determine whether mental distress and RFs are affected by the stressor [9,10], and (2) enables the identification of those RFs that are potentially promising prevention targets. Knowledge on mental distress and RFs during and after the stressor is equally essential, as this (1) enables us to identify whether mental distress and RFs recover after the stressor [11], and (2) indicates which RFs may be promising treatment targets at times of stress. To this end, we designed the RESIST (Resilience Study) study, in which we assessed perceived stress, mental distress, and RFs in Cambridge University medical students before, during, and after their yearly exam period.

A recent meta-analysis based on 122,356 medical students from 43 countries showed that the prevalence rate for depressive symptoms was 27.2% (range of individual studies: 1.4%-73.5%) [12]. This prevalence rate was higher than that for population-representative peers of a similar age [12], suggesting that medical students are a high-risk population. In addition to depression, anxiety and general distress levels were also found to be elevated in students pursuing medical degrees, when compared with population-representative samples [13]. Exam stress has been identified as a potential trigger for mental ill-health in medical students [13-15]. Hence, research suggests that medical students are prone to the development of mental health problems, particularly during times of high and unavoidable exam stress.

The RESIST study is designed to capture (1) a period of moderate stress during the university term several months before exams, (2) a period of high stress during exam time, and (3) a period of what we expected to be low or moderate stress after exams (ie, during the summer vacation for many students). In addition to perceived stress and mental distress, we assessed 8 putative *individual-level* RFs (eg, self-esteem), 5 putative

*family-level* RFs (eg, parental involvement), and 1 putative *community-level* RF (eg, friendship support; a complete list of assessed RFs is provided in the *Methods* section). Importantly, all of these RFs are derived from our preregistered systematic review and are thus empirically supported [3]. In our review, RFs were defined as those factors that moderate and/or mediate, and thereby mitigate, the detrimental relationship between adversity and subsequent mental distress [3]. Moreover, all assessed RFs are expected to be amenable to intervention, as only those can be successfully targeted by mental health services [3].

## Objectives

With the RESIST study, we intend to shed light on which RFs lend themselves best as prevention targets (before the stressor) and which lend themselves best as treatment targets (at times of stress) for the mitigation of mental health problems that are triggered or accelerated by a natural stressor. Therefore, the RESIST study may lay the foundations necessary to inform student support services, mental health services, as well as resilience and transdiagnostic mental health theory. Given that our design relies strongly on the assumption that stress and mental distress levels increase during the exam period, we here conduct proof-of-principle analyses to investigate whether this is indeed the case.

# Methods

## Design

RESIST is a cohort study with 3 occasions and a within-subject (natural) stress manipulation (ie, the exam period). Occasion 1 took place in a nonexam period during the university term (February and March 2018). Occasion 2 took place during the end-of-year exam period (approximately April to June 2018, depending on the timing of the exam period). Occasion 3 took place after the exam period, at the end of the term for year 6 students (for whom exams are earlier; approximately end of May to mid-July 2018), and in the summer vacation or autumn for year 1-5 students (approximately mid-August to mid-October 2018; Figure 1). At all 3 occasions, students were asked to complete a survey containing a series of web-based questionnaires. At occasion 2, students were provided with the questionnaires 3 weeks before their first final exam. The questionnaires had to be completed before attempting the last final exam. In this way, all participants were exposed to the same type of naturally occurring external stressor. We assessed perceived stress, mental distress, RFs, therapeutic treatment, and psychopharmacology usage on all 3 occasions. Past adversity, year of academic education, age, gender, ethnicity, and parental educational level were assessed at occasion 1, and adversity occurring in between the occasions was assessed at occasions 2 and 3 (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Study design. The Figure depicts the measures that have been assessed on the 3 occasions.



#### Sample

We recruited first- to sixth-year Cambridge medical students (from a cohort of approximately 1464 students). The inclusion criterion was that students had to be aged at least 18 years. Participants received monetary reimbursement for partaking (web-based vouchers: £5 [US \$6.75] for occasion 1, £7 [US \$9.50] for occasion 2, and £5 [US \$6.75] for occasion 3). Participants who completed all 3 occasions were additionally enrolled in a prize draw (prize: five £50 [US \$67.50] web-based vouchers). The maximum possible sample size we could have

included was 800 participants, as we had a limited amount of money that we could spend on participant reimbursement. As a minimum sample size, we aimed for 225 participants. This is because we calculated that for a Gaussian regression-based model (minimum sample size =  $[((p \times (p - 1))/2) \times 5]$  [16-18]) with 9 RFs and mental distress (resulting in p=10 variables) we would need at least 225 participants ( $[((10 \times (10 - 1))/2) \times 5]$  = 225), given no longitudinal missingness (which was highly unlikely). Eventually, 451 participants took part on occasion 1 but some dropped out on the other 2 occasions (occasion 2: n=275; occasion 3: n=283; Table 1).

Table 1. Sample size overview (N=451).

Sample	Occasion			
	Occasion 1, n (%)	Occasion 2 <sup>a</sup> , n (%)	Occasion 3 <sup>a</sup> , n (%)	
Taken part on, at least, 1 occasion	451 (100)	275 (61.0)	283 (62.8)	
Taken part on, at least, 2 occasions	324 (71.8)	275 (61.0)	283 (62.8)	
Taken part on occasion 2 but not 3	41 (9.1)	41 (9.1)	N/A <sup>b</sup>	
Taken part on occasion 3 but not 2	49 (10.9)	N/A	49 (10.9)	
Taken part on all occasions	234 (51.9)	234 (51.9)	234 (51.9)	

<sup>a</sup>On occasions 2 and 3, only participants who had already taken part on occasion 1 were invited.

<sup>b</sup>N/A: not applicable.

## Procedure

The students received a web-based link to the questionnaire (survey software: REDCap [Research Electronic Data Capture]) via email. To prevent double partaking, we sent personalized emails with unique links to the students. We also advertised the study during lectures. Students who had not already participated received reminder emails until the end of the study occasion. For the first occasion, the link expired after 8 weeks. We sent the link for the second occasion approximately 3 weeks before the students' first final exam and asked the students to confirm that they will submit the survey before their last final exam of the academic year. For year 6 students, the study link for the third occasion was sent out approximately a month before the end of the summer term. For year 1-5 students, the study link for the third occasion was sent 6 weeks before the start of the

new academic year (the link for the third occasion expired after 8 weeks for all students).

#### Measures

Before we finalized the web-based survey, we performed a user review with volunteering medical students. On the basis of this pilot study, we evaluated whether the survey was easily understandable and acceptable. We adapted small features, mainly regarding the survey layout (importantly, these data were not part of the study). On occasion 1, a total of 139 items were assessed.

#### Demographic and Clinical Characteristics

We assessed 8 demographic and clinical variables: academic course, year of academic education, gender, age, ethnicity, parental educational level, psychotherapeutic treatment, and psychopharmacology intake (ie, prescribed drugs).

## **Perceived Stress**

We assessed the stress level during the last month using a 4-item short form of the validated Perceived Stress Scale (PSS) [19]. The self-report items assess topics such as confidence in handling problems and overcoming difficulties [19]. The short form of the PSS has been reported to have a Cronbach  $\alpha$  of .72 [19]. In our sample, the PSS had an acceptable reliability (Cronbach  $\alpha$ =.75; coefficient  $\Omega$ =0.75). Moreover, we assessed the global stress severity during the last month on a zero-to-hundred slider.

## **Mental Distress**

We assessed general mental health using the 12-item version of the General Health Questionnaire (GHQ-12) [20]. The GHQ-12 provides a broad indication of mental health and well-being across the spectrum from good-to-poor mental health but does not act as a measure of diagnosis for mental illness. The self-report items assess topics such as concentration, sleep, or happiness (measured on a 4-point scale). In a previous study, the GHQ was found to have a Cronbach  $\alpha$  of between .78 and .95 [21]. The GHQ-12 previously had a mean area under the Receiver Operating Characteristic curves of 0.88 [22]. In our sample, the GHQ-12, in the remainder referred to as mental distress, had a good reliability (Cronbach  $\alpha$ =.88; coefficient  $\Omega$ =0.89).

## **RFs:** Individual Level

We assessed 7 *individual-level* RFs that were empirically supported in our systematic review [3]: high distress tolerance, low ruminative reflection, low ruminative brooding, high self-esteem, high cognitive reappraisal, low expressive suppression, and low aggression potential. The content and psychometric details are shown in Table 2. In Table 2, we report Cronbach  $\alpha$  values for previous studies, given that this was the reported internal consistency metric. However, for RESIST we report both Cronbach  $\alpha$  and coefficient  $\Omega$  [23], for completeness.



Table 2. Details of the resilience factor measures.

RFs <sup>a</sup>	Content and psychometric information
Individual-level RFs	
High distress tolerance	<ul> <li>6-item subscale of the DTS<sup>b</sup> (15 items in total) [24]</li> <li>Self-report items assessing distress tolerance levels such acceptability of being upset</li> <li>Previous research found a good reliability (DTS Cronbach α=.82 to .85; 6-item tolerance subscale Cronbach α=.82 to .84) [24]</li> <li>In RESIST<sup>c</sup>, the distress tolerance subscale had a good reliability (Cronbach α: o1<sup>d</sup>=.82, o2<sup>e</sup>=.84, o3<sup>f</sup>=.83; coefficient Ω: o1=0.82, o2=0.85, o3=0.83)</li> </ul>
Low ruminative reflection	<ul> <li>5-item reflective rumination subscale of the RRS<sup>g</sup> (22 items in total) [25]</li> <li>Self-report items assessing ruminative reflection levels such as trying to understand why you have a negative mood or why you feel in a given way</li> <li>Previous research found an acceptable reliability (RRS Cronbach α=.90; 5-item reflective rumination subscale Cronbach α=.72) [25]</li> <li>In RESIST, the reflective rumination subscale had an acceptable reliability (Cronbach α: 01=.75, 02=.76, 03=.79; coefficient Ω: 01=0.76, 02=0.76, 03=0.80)</li> </ul>
Low ruminative brooding	<ul> <li>5 item brooding subscale of the RRS (22 items in total) [25]</li> <li>Self-report items assessing brooding levels such as why things do not work out better or why other people do not have comparable problems</li> <li>Previous research found an acceptable reliability (RRS Cronbach α=.90; 5-item brooding subscale Cronbach α=.77) [25]</li> <li>In RESIST, the brooding subscale had an acceptable reliability (Cronbach α: o1=.75, o2=.79, o3=.77; coefficient Ω: o1=0.76, o2=0.80, o3=0.78)</li> </ul>
High self-esteem	<ul> <li>10 items of the RSES<sup>h</sup> [26]</li> <li>Self-report items assessing positive self-esteem levels such as being capable of doing things well and negative self-esteem levels such as feeling useless</li> <li>Previous research found a good reliability (RSES Cronbach α=.88) [26,27]</li> <li>In RESIST, the RSES had an excellent reliability (Cronbach α: o1=.93, o2=.94, o3=.92; coefficient Ω: o1=0.93, o2=0.94, o3=0.92)</li> </ul>
High cognitive reappraisal	<ul> <li>6-item cognitive reappraisal subscale of the ERQ<sup>i</sup> (10 items in total) [28,29]</li> <li>Self-report items assessing cognitive reappraisal levels such as changing the content of thoughts to achieve a less negative or more positive mood</li> <li>Previous research found an acceptable reliability (6-item cognitive reappraisal subscale Cronbach α=.79) [28,29]</li> <li>In RESIST, the cognitive reappraisal subscale had a good reliability (Cronbach α: o1=.83, o2=.87, o3=.88; coefficient Ω: o1=0.83, o2=0.87, o3=0.88)</li> </ul>
Low expressive suppression	<ul> <li>4-item expressive suppression subscale of the ERQ (10 items in total) [28,29]</li> <li>Self-report items assessing expressive suppression levels, that is, the extent to which individuals suppress positive and negative emotions</li> <li>Previous research found an acceptable reliability (4-item expressive suppression subscale Cronbach α=.73) [28,29]</li> <li>In RESIST, the expressive suppression subscale had an acceptable reliability (Cronbach α: 01=.75, 02=.73, 03=.76; coefficient Ω: 01=0.78, 02=0.76, 03=0.78)</li> </ul>
Low aggression potential	<ul> <li>12-item BAQ<sup>i</sup> [30]</li> <li>Self-report about aggression levels including physical aggression, verbal aggression, anger, and hostility</li> <li>Previous research found an acceptable-to-good reliability (BAQ Cronbach α=.7683) [30]</li> <li>In RESIST, the BAQ had an acceptable reliability (Cronbach α: o1=.78, o2=.80, o3=.79; coefficient Ω: o1=0.79, o2=0.81, o3=0.78)</li> </ul>
Family-level RFs	
High immediate family support	<ul> <li>6-item abbreviated version of the PSS-Fa<sup>k</sup> (20 items in total) [31,32]</li> <li>Self-report about family support, such as getting emotional support and having someone who can help out solving problems</li> <li>Previous research found a low reliability (PSS-Fa Cronbach α=.90; 6-item abbreviated PSS-Fa Cronbach α=.69) [31,32]</li> <li>In RESIST, the abbreviated PSS-Fa had a good reliability (Cronbach α: o1=.88, o2=.83, o3=.85; coefficient Ω: o1=0.88, o2=0.83, o3=0.85)</li> </ul>

XSL•FO RenderX



Fritz et al

RFs <sup>a</sup>	Content and psychometric information
High extended family support	<ul> <li>13-item KSS<sup>1</sup> [33,34]</li> <li>Self-report about extended family and kinship support, such as asking relatives for advice when making decisions or confiding in relatives when having a problem</li> <li>Previous research found an acceptable-to-good reliability (KSS Cronbach α=.7289) [33,34]</li> <li>In RESIST, the KSS had an excellent reliability (Cronbach α: 01=.92, 02=.91, 03=.93; coefficient Ω: 01=0.92, 02=0.91, 03=0.93)</li> </ul>
High family cohesion	<ul> <li>5-item family cohesion subscale of the SFI-II<sup>m</sup> (36 items in total) [35,36]</li> <li>Self-report about family cohesion, such as preferably spending time with the family rather than with others</li> <li>Previous research found a low reliability (SFI-II Cronbach α=.91; 5-item family cohesion subscale Cronbach α=.60) [36]</li> <li>In RESIST, the family cohesion subscale had a good reliability (Cronbach α: 01=.86, 02=.84, 03=.87; coefficient Ω: 01=0.87, 02=0.85, 03=0.88)</li> </ul>
High positive parenting	<ul> <li>6-item positive parenting subscale of the APQ<sup>n</sup> (42 items in total) [37,38]</li> <li>Child (ie, in our study, young adult) report about positive parenting, such as positive encouragement, compliments, and praise from parents for doing a good job (ie, for the time when the participants lived with their parents) [39]</li> <li>Previous research found an acceptable reliability (6-item positive parenting subscale Cronbach α=.7275) [37,38]</li> <li>In RESIST, the positive parenting subscale had a good reliability (Cronbach α: o1=.87, o2=.88, o3=.88; coefficient Ω: o1=0.87, o2=0.88, o3=0.88)</li> </ul>
High parental involvement	<ul> <li>10-item parental involvement subscale of the APQ (42 items in total) [37,38]</li> <li>Child (ie, in our study, young adult) report about parental involvement levels, such as doing activities together and asking about the child's friends and school performances (ie, for the time when the participants lived with their parents) [39]</li> <li>We collapsed separate statements for "moms" and "dads" into a single "parent" statement (eg, original: "Your mom talks to you about your friends. How about your dad?," adaptation: "Your parents talk to you about your friends." as done in previous studies, such as in van Harmelen et al [39])</li> <li>Previous research found an acceptable-to-good reliability (10-item parental involvement subscale Cronbach α=.7183) [37,38]</li> <li>In RESIST, the parental involvement subscale had a good reliability (Cronbach α: o1=.87, o2=.89, o3=.87; coefficient Ω: o1=0.87, o2=0.90, o3=0.87)</li> </ul>
Community-level RF	
High friendship support	<ul> <li>6-item abbreviated version of the PSS-Fr<sup>0</sup> (20 items in total) [31,32]</li> <li>Self-report about friendship support, such as getting moral support and having companionship</li> <li>Previous research found an acceptable reliability (PSS-Fr Cronbach α=.88; 6-item abbreviated PSS-Fr Cronbach α=.75) [31,32]</li> <li>In RESIST, the abbreviated PSS-Fr had a good reliability (Cronbach α: o1=.80, o2=.81, o3=.79; coefficient Ω: o1=0.80, o2=0.81, o3=0.79)</li> </ul>
<sup>a</sup> RF: resilience factor. <sup>b</sup> DTS: Distress Tolerance Scale. <sup>c</sup> RESIST: Resilience Study. <sup>d</sup> o1: occasion 1. <sup>e</sup> o2: occasion 2. <sup>f</sup> o3: occasion 3.	

<sup>g</sup>RRS: Ruminative Response Scale.

<sup>h</sup>RSES: Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale.

<sup>i</sup>ERQ: Emotion Regulation Questionnaire.

<sup>j</sup>BAQ: Brief Aggression Questionnaire.

<sup>k</sup>PSS-Fa: Perceived Social Support from Family Scale.

<sup>1</sup>KSS: Kinship Social Support Measure.

<sup>m</sup>SFI-II: Self-Report Family Inventory Version II.

<sup>n</sup>APQ: Alabama Parenting Questionnaire.

<sup>o</sup>PSS-Fr: Perceived Social Support from Friends Scale.

XSL•FO RenderX

#### **RFs:** Family Level

We assessed 5 *family-level* RFs that were empirically supported in our systematic review [3]: high immediate family support, high extended family support, high family cohesion, high positive parenting, and high parental involvement. The content and psychometric details are shown in Table 2. As items of the family-related scales may be hard to answer for participants if they have spent a large amount of their childhood in care homes or frequently changed foster families, we added some specific instructions to those survey parts (Supplement I in Multimedia Appendix 1).

## **RFs:** Community Level

We assessed 1 *community*-level resilience factor, which was empirically supported in our systematic review [3]: high social support, here specifically friendship support. The content and psychometric details are shown in Table 2.

#### Adversity

Environmental childhood and youth adversity was assessed using an updated version of the 12-item Youth Trauma Scale (YTS) [40]. The 12 self-report items assess topics such as sexual abuse or severe mental or physical illnesses within the family. A complete list of items and assessment details can be found in Supplement II in Multimedia Appendix 1. The original scale was found to have a low internal consistency (Cronbach  $\alpha$ =.63-.67). We adapted the questionnaire [40] so that the words parent and sibling were supplemented with significant other, as our participants were at an age at which some might have invested in significant interpersonal relationships outside the family, such as long-term romantic partners. Besides the presence versus absence of adversity, the questionnaire also assessed the severity of questions for which the presence of the respective adversity was positively confirmed. Moreover, for positively confirmed questions, we further assessed the frequency or duration of the adversity as well as during which age bins the adversity had taken place. We did not assess the frequency or duration for two of the adversity items: (1) "Were you separated from one of your parents for more than 1 year?" and (2) "Was either of your parents unemployed for more than 1 year when they wanted to be working?" as those have an inherent time requirement of at least one year. To also assess the potential criminality of parents, siblings, or significant others, we added such an item to the original scale ("Did parents, siblings, or significant others engage in criminal activities severe enough to cause significant stress or worry?"). In summary, we assessed the presence versus absence of the 13 adversities, and if present, the severity, frequency, and the age bin in which the respective adversity experience occurred. Owing to the adaptations we made, we will thoroughly evaluate the psychometrics of the amended scale in a separate manuscript [40].

Furthermore, we assessed the psychological maltreatment and neglect subscales of the Comprehensive Child Maltreatment Scale (CCMS) [41]. The psychological maltreatment subscale consists of 3 items that assess topics such as how frequently the individual was yelled at, ridiculed, or provoked [41]. The neglect subscale consists of 3 items that assess topics such as whether

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e20128

the individual was provided with sufficient warmth from family members, sufficient nutrition, and protection [41]. In a previous study, the CCMS psychological maltreatment subscale was found to have a Cronbach  $\alpha$  of .78, and the CCMS neglect subscale had a Cronbach  $\alpha$  of .84 [41]. The only adaptation we made to this scale was that we did not assess the questions up to the age of 13 years [41] but up to the age of 18 years. In our sample, the CCMS psychological maltreatment (Cronbach  $\alpha$ =.81; coefficient  $\Omega$ =0.81) and the CCMS neglect subscale both had a good reliability (Cronbach  $\alpha$ =.84; coefficient  $\Omega$ =0.81).

## **Measures for Occasion 2**

We assessed psychotherapeutic treatment and the use of psychopharmacological drugs for the period between occasions 1 and 2.

We assessed perceived stress (Cronbach  $\alpha$ =.74; coefficient  $\Omega$ =0.75) and global stress severity in the same way as described for occasion 1, while this time specifically focusing on the exam period. Moreover, we quantified the number of exams (completed and not yet completed). The mental distress (Cronbach  $\alpha$ =.89; coefficient  $\Omega$ =0.89) and RF levels (for reliability coefficients, see Table 2) were assessed in the same way as on occasion 1.

Adversity was again assessed with the updated version of the YTS [40]; however, this time we only asked for experiences during the period between occasions 1 and 2 ("This section will ask you about your experiences of potentially traumatic events. Please indicate whether you have experienced those since the last time you filled in this questionnaire."). Importantly, all the YTS adaptations explained above were applied again. We did not reassess the CCMS subscales [41], as we used the psychological maltreatment and neglect subscales to measure maltreatment during childhood and the teenage years, while living at home. Therefore, the subscales were not suitable for the time between occasions 1 and 2.

A total of 127 items were assessed.

## **Measures for Occasion 3**

We assessed psychotherapeutic treatment and the use of psychopharmacological drugs for the period between occasions 2 and 3.

We assessed perceived stress (Cronbach  $\alpha$ =.74; coefficient  $\Omega$ =0.75) and global stress severity in the same way as described for occasion 1. Moreover, we asked the students whether they had stressful or significant work during the last 4 weeks. Mental distress (Cronbach  $\alpha$ =.90; coefficient  $\Omega$ =0.91) and RF levels (for reliability coefficients, see Table 2) were assessed in the same way as on occasions 1 and 2.

Adversity was again assessed with the updated version of the YTS [40], which this time asked for experiences during the period between occasions 2 and 3. All YTS adaptations explained for occasions 1 and 2 were applied again. We did not reassess the CCMS subscales [41] for the same reason as on occasion 2.

XSL•FO

As occasion 2 took place during an exam period, we assumed that it could potentially be the case that missingness may not be completely random but dependent on the students' stress level during occasion 2. Therefore, we asked all participants how stressful the exam period had been.

A total of 129 items were assessed.

## **Ethical Considerations**

## Informed Consent and Safety Considerations

Before starting the content part of the web-based survey, participants were asked to read the information sheet, which contained the major study aims, and to complete a consent form. Before completion of the survey, participants were enabled to download their consent form and the information sheet. Moreover, we provided details on how to get help and support, in case the study would bring up difficult feelings or in case a participant would want to report childhood maltreatment or a crime, in a mental health services information sheet, which could be downloaded from the web-based survey. Further details regarding participant safety considerations are provided in Supplement III in Multimedia Appendix 1.

## Ethics Approval and Funding Information

RESIST was approved by the Cambridge Psychology Research Ethics Committee (PRE.2017.096). RESIST was funded by JF's Medical Research Council Doctoral Training Grant and by POW's personal research account.

## Analytic Methods for the Proof-of-Principle Analyses

## Handling Missing Data

To include both participants with incomplete and complete data, we used a full information maximum likelihood (FIML) estimator. The use of this estimator has been shown to function well in longitudinal structural equation models. For example, Kievit et al [42] report that "FIML usually performs as well or better than alternative methods." We decided to treat missing data, instead of performing a complete case analysis, to increase statistical power, reduce standard errors, decrease the probability of biased parameter estimates, and improve generalizability. We tested several potential variables as predictors for missing data patterns, including (1) perceived stress, global stress severity (ie, stress slider), mental distress, psychotherapeutic treatment, and psychopharmacological treatment on all 3 occasions; (2) gender, ethnicity, academic year, age, and childhood adversity on occasion 1; and (3) retrospective subjective stress levels for occasion 2 assessed on occasion 3. This was primarily done to enhance the understanding of missingness in the RESIST sample, and because variables that qualify as predictors for missing data patterns can, in conjunction with an FIML estimator, be used as auxiliary variables and thereby potentially enhance the estimation precision.

## Latent Growth Models

We conducted a series of latent growth models (LGMs) to explore the mean change trajectory of perceived stress and mental distress over the 3 occasions. We fixed the slope loading of occasion 2 to 1, expecting this occasion to have the highest

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e20128
```

level of perceived stress (and mental distress), and the slope loading of occasion 3 to 0, expecting this occasion to have a lower level of perceived stress (and mental distress) than occasion 2. Hence, the slope loading of occasion 1 was freely estimated and provides an indication of where the (scaled) mean level lies in comparison to occasion 2 (fixed to 1) and occasion 3 (fixed to 0). We conducted the LGMs with invariant residual variances for the 3 occasions (M1). To test whether our latent growth model is significantly different from a no-change trajectory (ie, no change in overall mean levels), we estimated an additional LGM (M2) with the latent slope mean set to 0, modeling no overall change. In sum, we mainly used the models to identify the change trajectories of perceived stress and mental distress and to test whether these trajectories fit better than a no-change trajectory. For completeness, we refitted the LGMs with freely estimated residual variances (Supplement IV in Multimedia Appendix 1).

## **Bivariate Latent Change Score Models**

We conducted a series of bivariate latent change score models (BLCSMs; as described by Kievit et al [42]) to investigate the change of perceived stress and mental distress in conjunction. More specifically, we conducted 3 BLCSMs, 1 for each pairwise combination of the 3 occasions, to allow for direct comparisons without estimating overly complex models. To enable the computation of the models, we used the standard BLCSM estimation (additional details are provided by Kievit et al [42]). We then investigated the relationship between perceived stress and mental distress on the earlier occasion as well as the relationship between the change scores of perceived stress and mental distress on the later occasion. Moreover, we investigated the autoregressive paths of perceived stress and mental distress with their respective change scores as well as the potentially mutualistic relationship between perceived stress and mental distress, that is, perceived stress predicting change in mental distress and mental distress predicting change in perceived stress.

## Data and Analysis-Code Availability

All analyses were conducted in R version 3.5.1 (The R Foundation) [43], mainly using the packages lavaan [44] and semTools [45]. The analysis script can be found on the Open Science Framework [46] and the anonymized data used for the analyses in this manuscript have been uploaded to the Cambridge Data Repository [47].

# Results

## **Demographic and Clinical Characteristics**

## Sample

Students were approximately uniformly distributed over all 6 academic years, with percentages ranging from 12.4% (56/451) to 20.6% (93/451) per year. A total of 57.4% (259/451) of the students were female (1.3% [6/451] preferred not to answer) and 58.3% (263/451) were White. Most students were between 18 and 23 years of age and had parents with higher education after secondary school. About 13.5% (61/451) of the students received psychotherapeutic treatment and 10.9% (49/451) received psychopharmaceutic treatment in the 6 months before

occasion 1. Table 3 contains the descriptive statistics for all students who took part on occasion 1. Supplement V in Multimedia Appendix 1 contains the same table, with the

inclusion of all students who provided data for at least two occasions (n=324).

Characteristics	Sample size per answer category, n (%)
Academic year	
First year	93 (20.6)
Second year	83 (18.4)
Third year	66 (14.6)
Fourth year	88 (19.5)
Fifth year	56 (12.4)
Sixth year	65 (14.4)
Gender <sup>a</sup>	
Female	259 (57.4)
Male	185 (41.0)
Prefer not to say	6 (1.3)
Age <sup>b</sup> (years)	
18-20	170 (37.7)
21-23	196 (43.5)
24-26	65 (14.4)
≥27	17 (3.8)
Ethnicity <sup>c</sup>	
White	263 (58.3)
Non-White	184 (40.8)
Therapeutic treatment (in the 6 month	is before occasion 1)
No	390 (86.5)
Yes	61 (13.5)
Psychopharmaceutic treatment (in the	e 6 months before occasion 1)
No	402 (89.1)
Yes	49 (10.9)
Education (further or higher educatio	n after secondary school)
Mother	
Yes	359 (79.6)
No	88 (19.5)
Unknown	4 (0.9)
Father <sup>a</sup>	
Yes	369 (81.8)
No	77 (17.1)
Unknown	4 (0.9)

<sup>a</sup>One student did not answer this question. Due to missingness, some percentages may not add up.

<sup>b</sup>Three students did not answer this question. Due to missingness, some percentages may not add up.

<sup>c</sup>Four students did not answer this question. Due to missingness, some percentages may not add up.

XSL•FO RenderX

## Perceived Stress and Mental Distress Variables

The mean levels suggest that perceived stress and mental distress increased from the time before the exams to the exam period and decreased after the exams to a lower level than before the

Table 4. Perceived stress and mental distress levels for the 3 occasions.

exams. Table 4 depicts perceived stress and mental distress levels on the 3 occasions for participants who took part in the respective occasion. The corresponding table with only those participants who provided data for at least two occasions can be found in Supplement V in Multimedia Appendix 1.

Measure	Occasion 1		Occasion 2		Occasion 3	
	Score, mean (SD)	Participants, n	Score, mean (SD)	Participants, n	Score, mean (SD)	Participants, n
PSS <sup>a</sup>	10.42 (2.77)	451	11.61 (2.77)	274	9.89 (2.67)	282
GHQ-12 <sup>b</sup>	25.40 (5.82)	445	27.39 (6.09)	273	23.31 (5.93)	282

<sup>a</sup>PSS: Perceived Stress Scale.

<sup>b</sup>GHQ-12: General Health Questionnaire, 12-item version.

#### **Missingness Predictors**

Gender and ethnicity as well as psychopharmacological medication and global stress severity (ie, stress slider) on occasion 1 were identified as predictors for missing data patterns (see test results in Supplement VI in Multimedia Appendix 1). Therefore, we decided to include these as auxiliary variables in our analyses. However, as adding the auxiliary variables to our models did not result in positive definite residual matrices, we here describe the models without auxiliary variables. We provide the results with auxiliary variables in Supplement VI in Multimedia Appendix 1. Importantly, all results remained largely the same when auxiliary variables were added to the models. Moreover, as additional robustness analysis, we reconducted all main analyses, while this time excluding one potentially influential case. Once again, all results remained largely the same (Supplement VII in Multimedia Appendix 1).

#### **Latent Growth Models**

## **Perceived Stress**

The LGM showed that, on average, students experience most perceived stress during exams (occasion 2: slope loading fixed to 1) and least perceived stress after the exams (occasion 3: slope loading fixed to 0); before the exams, they experienced more perceived stress than after the exams, but less than during the exams (occasion 1: estimated slope loading=0.29; Table 5). The mean level trajectory is shown in Figure 2 (left panel). We further found that the model estimating the change trajectory of perceived stress fits significantly better than the *no-change* model ( $\chi^2_1$ =72.4; *P*<.001; fit indices are presented in Table 6), indicating that perceived stress changed significantly over the 3 occasions. Additional post-hoc analyses confirmed that the mean levels differed significantly between all three occasions.

**Figure 2.** The left panel depicts the perceived stress (sum score mean level) trajectory and the right panel depicts the mental distress (sum score mean level) trajectory. The faded gray lines indicate person-level trajectories. The red line indicates the group-level sum score trajectory, which was averaged across the students. The dotted black line represents the group-level sum score for occasion 1. This was done solely to enhance the comparison with the other occasions. o1: occasion 1; o2: occasion 2; o3: occasion 3.




Table 5. Latent growth model summary.

Model	Slope loading, occasion 1	Slope loading, occasion 2	Slope loading, occasion 3	Intercept mean	Slope mean	Residual variance, occasion 1	Residual variance, occasion 2	Residual variance, occasion 3	Intercept slope covariance
Perceived str	ess								
M1 <sup>a</sup>	0.29	1.00	0	9.92	1.79	3.78	3.78	3.78	0.45
M2 <sup>b</sup>	0.52	1.00	0	10.54	0	3.68	3.68	3.68	-1.35
M1 <sup>c</sup>	0.29	1.00	0	9.91	1.79	3.75	3.75	3.75	0.41
Mental distre	ess								
M1	0.60	1.00	0	23.21	4.08	16.85	16.85	16.85	-8.71
M2	-4.41	1.00	0	25.44	0	37.50	37.50	37.50	-1.65
M2 <sup>c</sup>	0.67	1.00	0	25.26	0	16.74	16.74	16.74	-18.07

<sup>a</sup>M1: freely estimated trajectory model.

<sup>b</sup>M2: no-change trajectory model.

<sup>c</sup>Variance for the latent slope constrained to >0 to render it nonnegative.

Table 6.	Latent	growth	model fit.
Lable 0.	Datem	Slowin	mouel m.

Model	AIC <sup>a</sup>	BIC <sup>b</sup>	CFI <sup>c</sup>	TLI <sup>d</sup>	RMSEA <sup>e</sup>	SRMR <sup>f</sup>	Chi-square ( <i>df</i> )	BICw <sup>g</sup> (%)	AICw <sup>h</sup> (%)
Perceived stre	SS								
$M1^{i}$	4718.05	4746.83	0.98	0.96	0.07	0.04	6.5 (2)	100	100
M2 <sup>j</sup>	4811.92	4836.59	0.47	0.47	0.27	0.18	102.3 (3)	0	0
$M1^k$	4718.06	4746.84	0.98	0.96	0.07	0.04	6.5 (2)	100	100
Mental distres	is								
M1	6295.92	6324.66	0.94	0.91	0.09	0.05	9.2 (2)	100	100
M2	6366.44	6391.08	0.32	0.32	0.24	0.19	81.7 (3)	0	0
M2 <sup>k</sup>	6364.52	6389.17	0.34	0.34	0.24	0.18	79.8 (3)	0	0

<sup>a</sup>AIC: Akaike information criterion.

<sup>b</sup>BIC: Bayesian information criterion.

<sup>c</sup>CFI: confirmatory fit index.

<sup>d</sup>TLI: Tucker-Lewis fit index.

<sup>e</sup>RMSEA: root mean square error of approximation.

<sup>f</sup>SRMR: standardized root mean square residual.

<sup>g</sup>BICw%: weight percentage for the Bayesian information criterion (compared to the respective other model); the higher the weight, the more in favor is the model.

<sup>h</sup>AICw%: weight percentage for the Akaike information criterion (compared to the respective other model); the higher the weight, the more in favor is the model.

<sup>i</sup>M1: freely estimated trajectory model.

<sup>j</sup>M2: no-change trajectory model.

<sup>k</sup>Variance for the latent slope constrained to >0 to render it nonnegative.

#### **Mental Distress**

RenderX

The LGM showed that, on average, students experience most mental distress during exams (occasion 2, slope loading fixed to 1) and least mental distress after exams (occasion 3, slope loading fixed to 0); before the exams, they experienced more mental distress than after the exams, but less than during the exams (occasion 1, estimated slope loading=0.60; Table 5). The

mean level trajectory is shown in Figure 2 (right panel). We further found that the model estimating the change trajectory of mental distress fits significantly better than the *no-change* model ( $\chi^2_1$ =58.8; *P*<.001; fit indices are presented in Table 6), indicating that mental distress changed significantly over the 3 occasions. Additional post-hoc analyses confirmed that the mean levels differed significantly between all three occasions.

### **Bivariate Latent Change Score Models**

### Occasions 1-2

The BLCSM showed that perceived stress and mental distress on occasion 1 are significantly positively associated, which indicates that students with higher perceived stress report on average higher mental distress (Figure 3, upper-left panel; for exact coefficients, see Supplement VIII in Multimedia Appendix 1). Similarly, changes in perceived stress and mental distress from occasion 1 to 2 are significantly positively associated, which indicates that students with more increase in perceived stress report on average also a greater increase in mental distress. The BLCSM revealed a significant and negative autoregressive effect for perceived stress and its change score, which indicates that higher perceived stress on occasion 1 results, on average, in less increase in perceived stress from occasion 1 to 2. Equally, mental distress had a significant and negative autoregressive effect with its change score, indicating that higher mental distress on occasion 1 results, on average, in less increase in mental distress from occasion 1 to 2. Perceived stress was not significantly associated with the change in mental distress from occasion 1 to 2. However, mental distress was significantly positively associated with the change in perceived stress from occasion 1 to 2, which indicates that higher mental distress on occasion 1 results on average a greater increase in perceived stress from occasion 1 to 2.

**Figure 3.** Bivariate Latent Change Score Models. The upper-left panel depicts occasions 1-2, the upper-right panel depicts occasions 1-3, and the lower-left panel depicts occasions 2-3. Green arrows represent positive associations, red arrows represent negative associations, black arrows represent fixed parameters, and blue arrows represent estimated intercepts and variances. Double-headed arrows represent covariances and variances, and single-headed arrows represent intercepts, regressions, and autoregressions. Solid lines indicate a significant association (P<.05), dashed lines indicate marginal association ( $.05 \ge P$ <.10), and dotted lines indicate nonsignificant association (P≥.10). Gray squares represent manifest variables, gray circles represent latent variables, and gray triangles represent intercepts. All depicted estimates are standardized. MD: mental distress; o1: occasion 1; o2: occasion 2; o3: occasion 3; PS: perceived stress.



### Occasions 1-3

RenderX

The BLCSM showed that changes in perceived stress and mental distress from occasion 1 to 3 are significantly positively associated, which indicates that individuals with a greater decrease in perceived stress report, on average, also a greater decrease in mental distress (Figure 3, upper-right panel; for exact coefficients, see Supplement VIII in Multimedia Appendix 1). Moreover, the BLCSM revealed a significant and negative autoregressive effect for perceived stress and its change score,

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e20128

which indicates that higher perceived stress on occasion 1 results, on average, in a greater decrease in perceived stress from occasion 1 to 3. Equally, mental distress had a significant and negative autoregressive effect with its change score, indicating that higher mental distress on occasion 1 results, on average, in a greater decrease in mental distress from occasion 1 to 3. Mental distress was not significantly associated with change in perceived stress from occasion 1 to 3. Perceived stress from occasion 1 to 3.

P=.06). If one would opt to interpret the directionality of the effect, it would suggest that, on average, higher perceived stress is marginally associated with less decrease in mental distress from occasion 1 to 3. However, given that the effect was not significant, we suggest to err on the side of caution and shall not interpret it.

### Occasions 2-3

The BLCSM showed that perceived stress and mental distress on occasion 2 are significantly positively associated, which indicates that individuals with higher perceived stress report on average higher mental distress (Figure 3, lower-left panel; for exact coefficients, see Supplement VIII in Multimedia Appendix 1). Similarly, changes in perceived stress and mental distress from occasion 2 to 3 are significantly positively associated, which indicates that individuals with a greater decrease in perceived stress report, on average, also a greater decrease in mental distress. Moreover, the BLCSM revealed a significant and negative autoregressive effect for perceived stress and its change score, which indicates that higher perceived stress on occasion 2 results on average in a greater decrease in perceived stress from occasion 2 to 3. Equally, mental distress had a significant and negative autoregressive effect with its change score, indicating that higher mental distress on occasion 2 results on average in a greater decrease in mental distress from occasion 2 to 3. Mental distress was not significantly associated with change in perceived stress from occasion 2 to 3. However, perceived stress was significantly positively associated with change in mental distress from occasion 2 to 3, which indicates that higher perceived stress results on average in less decrease in mental distress from occasion 2 to 3.

### Discussion

### **Conclusions: Proof-of-Principle Analyses**

Both perceived stress and mental distress were lower before the exams (ie, during the regular university term) than during the

exam period, but higher before the exams than after the exams. Higher mental distress during term time was, on average, associated with a greater increase in perceived stress from the term time to the exam period, when controlling for perceived stress levels during the term time. Hence, students who already had mental health problems before the exam period were most prone to develop increased levels of stress during the exam period. Higher perceived stress during the exam period was, on average, associated with less recovery of mental distress after the exam time, when controlling for mental distress levels during exams. Thus, students who reported high stress during the exam period were less successful (or quick) in recovering from mental distress. Overall, we found that higher mental health problems before the exams increase the risk of developing more perceived stress during the exams, and higher perceived stress during the exams in turn increases the risk of a less successful (or quick) recovery of mental distress after exams.

### **Future Research and Outcomes**

### Plans for Research Questions and Analyses

Future analyses on the RESIST data are primarily set out to shed light on which RFs lend themselves best as prevention targets (before the stressor) and which as treatment targets (at times of stress) for the mitigation of mental health problems that are triggered or accelerated by natural exam stress. Therefore, the RESIST study may lay the foundations necessary to inform student support services, as well as mental health services, as well as resilience and transdiagnostic mental health theory.

### Plans for Outcome Dissemination and Data Availability

We aim to publish all articles that are based on RESIST data in peer-reviewed journals, ideally under an open access agreement. Alongside the manuscripts, we aim to release the related and anonymized data on the Cambridge Data Repository.

### Acknowledgments

This manuscript is based on the related ethics proposal coauthored by AVH and POW. The authors want to thank Pascal Schlechter (former MPhil student) for his help with the anonymization of the data and with the participant payments. They also want to thank all participants as well as the students who participated in the user review (ie, the pilot run). Moreover, the authors thank Dr Diana Wood and Dr Robbie Duschinsky, who additionally approved the ethics application as external scientists, and Dr Thelma Quince, who commented on an early sketch of the ethics application. The application was approved on December 20, 2017, by the Cambridge Psychology Research Ethics Committee (approval number: PRE.2017.096).

Data were collected and managed using REDCap [48] tools hosted at the University of Cambridge, supported by the BRC. REDCap is a secure, web-based application designed to support data capture for research studies, providing (1) an intuitive interface for validated data entry; (2) audit trails for tracking data manipulation and export procedures; (3) automated export procedures for seamless data downloads to common statistical packages; and (4) procedures for importing data from external sources.

JS received support from the National Institute for Health Research, Collaboration for Leadership in Applied Health Research and Care – East of England, at the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough NHS Foundation Trust. RAK was funded by Medical Research Council Programme Grant (grant SUAG/047 G101400) and a Radboudumc Hypatia Fellowship. AVH was funded by the Royal Society Dorothy Hodgkin Fellowship and the Leiden Social Resilience and Security Programme. JF was funded by the Medical Research Council Doctoral Training/Sackler Fund and the Pinsent Darwin Fund.

### **Authors' Contributions**

JS and RAK served as statistical advisers. AVH served as a topic-related adviser. POW obtained approval for the study from the Cambridge Medical School, helped recruit the participants, and served as principal investigator. AVH and POW approved the ethics protocol before submission. JF designed the study, wrote the ethics protocol, created the study materials (eg, the web-based survey), recruited the participants, conducted the analyses, and wrote the first draft of this manuscript. All authors commented on several previous versions and approved the final version of this manuscript. AVH and POW are the joint last authors of this manuscript.

### **Conflicts of Interest**

JS disclosed consultation for Ieso Digital Health. None of the authors declared competing interests that affect the manuscript.

### Multimedia Appendix 1

Contains 8 supplements (ie, Supplement I: Additional information for family-related questionnaires; Supplement II: Items of the adapted version of the Youth Trauma Scale; Supplement III: Participant safety considerations; Supplement IV: Latent Growth Models with varying residual variances; Supplement V: Demographic and clinical characteristics for the sample with data for at least 2 occasions; Supplement VI: Missingness predictors and analyses results when including the auxiliary variables; Supplement VII: Analyses results when excluding one potentially influential case; Supplement VIII: Model summaries and exact coefficients of the Bivariate Latent Change Score Models).

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 470 KB - formative\_v5i6e20128\_app1.pdf]

### References

- 1. Randall C, Corp A, Self A, Office for National Statistics. Measuring national well-being: life in the UK: 2014. Office for National Statistics. 2014 Mar 18. URL: <u>http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/dcp171766\_352740.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-03-19]
- 2. World Health Organization. Adolescent mental health in the European Region. WHO Regional Office for Europe: Factsheet for World Mental Health Day 2018. Copenhagen, Denmark: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2018. URL: <u>https://www.euro.who.int/\_\_\_\_\_\_data/assets/pdf\_\_file/0005/383891/adolescent-mh-fs-eng.pdf?ua=1</u> [accessed 2021-03-19]
- Fritz J, de Graaff AM, Caisley H, van Harmelen AL, Wilkinson PO. A systematic review of amenable resilience factors that moderate and/or mediate the relationship between childhood adversity and mental health in young people. Front Psychiatry 2018;9:230 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00230] [Medline: 29971021]
- 4. Afifi TO, Macmillan HL. Resilience following child maltreatment: a review of protective factors. Can J Psychiatry 2011;56(5):266-272. [doi: 10.1177/070674371105600505] [Medline: 21586192]
- 5. Marriott C, Hamilton-Giachritsis C, Harrop C. Factors promoting resilience following childhood sexual abuse: a structured, narrative review of the literature. Child Abuse Rev 2013;23(1):17-34. [doi: 10.1002/car.2258]
- Wright BK, Kelsall HL, Sim MR, Clarke DM, Creamer MC. Support mechanisms and vulnerabilities in relation to PTSD in veterans of the Gulf War, Iraq War, and Afghanistan deployments: a systematic review. J Trauma Stress 2013;26(3):310-318. [doi: 10.1002/its.21809] [Medline: 23670878]
- 7. Traub F, Boynton-Jarrett R. Modifiable resilience factors to childhood adversity for clinical pediatric practice. Pediatrics 2017;139(5):- [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.2016-2569] [Medline: 28557726]
- 8. Braithwaite EC, O'Connor RM, Degli-Esposti M, Luke N, Bowes L. Modifiable predictors of depression following childhood maltreatment: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Transl Psychiatry 2017;7:-. [doi: 10.1038/tp.2017.140]
- Danese A. Annual Research Review: rethinking childhood trauma-new research directions for measurement, study design and analytical strategies. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 2019;61(3):236-250. [doi: 10.1111/jcpp.13160] [Medline: 31762042]
- Kalisch R, Müller MB, Tüscher O. A conceptual framework for the neurobiological study of resilience. Behav Brain Sci 2014;38:e92. [doi: 10.1017/s0140525x1400082x]
- 11. Masten AS. Resilience in children threatened by extreme adversity: frameworks for research, practice, and translational synergy. Dev Psychopathol 2011;23(2):493-506. [doi: 10.1017/S0954579411000198]
- Rotenstein LS, Ramos MA, Torre M, Segal JB, Peluso MJ, Guille C, et al. Prevalence of depression, depressive symptoms, and suicidal ideation among medical students: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Am Med Assoc 2016;316(21):2214-2236 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jama.2016.17324] [Medline: 27923088]
- Dyrbye LN, Thomas MR, Shanafelt TD. Systematic review of depression, anxiety, and other indicators of psychological distress among U.S. and Canadian medical students. Acad Med 2006;81(4):354-373. [doi: 10.1097/00001888-200604000-00009] [Medline: 16565188]
- 14. Dyrbye LN, Thomas MR, Shanafelt TD. Medical student distress: causes, consequences, and proposed solutions. Mayo Clin Proc 2005;80(12):1613-1622. [doi: 10.4065/80.12.1613] [Medline: 16342655]
- 15. Yusoff MS, Rahim AF, Baba AA, Ismail SB, Sidi H, Esa AR. Psychological distress of first year medical students who underwent two different admission processes during a stressful period. Sains Malaysiana 2013;42(3):423-428 [FREE Full text]
- 16. Bollen KA. Structural Equations With Latent Variables. New York: John Wiley; 1989:1-528.

- 17. Bentler PM, Chou CP. Practical issues in structural modeling. Sociol Methods Res 1987;16(1):78-117. [doi: 10.1177/0049124187016001004]
- Wolf EJ, Harrington KM, Clark SL, Miller MW. Sample size requirements for structural equation models: an evaluation of power, bias, and solution propriety. Educ Psychol Meas 2013;76(6):913-934 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0013164413495237] [Medline: 25705052]
- Cohen S, Kamarck T, Mermelstein R. A global measure of perceived stress. J Health Soc Behav 1983;24(4):385-396. [Medline: <u>6668417</u>]
- 20. Hankins M. The factor structure of the twelve item General Health Questionnaire (GHQ-12): the result of negative phrasing? Clin Pract Epidemiol Ment Health 2008;4:10 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1745-0179-4-10] [Medline: 18435842]
- 21. Jackson C. The general health questionnaire. Occup Med 2007;57(1):79 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/occmed/kql169]
- 22. Goldberg DP, Gater R, Sartorius N, Ustun TB, Piccinelli M, Gureje O, et al. The validity of two versions of the GHQ in the WHO study of mental illness in general health care. Psychol Med 1997;27(1):191-197. [doi: 10.1017/s0033291796004242] [Medline: 9122299]
- 23. Simons JS, Gaher RM. The distress tolerance scale: development and validation of a self-report measure. Motiv Emot 2005;29:83-102. [doi: 10.1007/s11031-005-7955-3]
- 24. Treynor W, Gonzalez R, Nolen-Hoeksema S. Rumination reconsidered: a psychometric analysis. Cognit Ther Res 2003;27:247-259. [doi: 10.1023/A:1023910315561]
- 25. Rosenberg M. Society and the Adolescent Self-Image. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press; 1965.
- 26. Gray-Little B, Williams VS, Hancock TD. An item response theory analysis of the rosenberg self-esteem scale. Pers Soc Psychol Bull 1997;23(5):443-451. [doi: 10.1177/0146167297235001]
- Gross JJ, John OP. Individual differences in two emotion regulation processes: implications for affect, relationships, and well-being. J Pers Soc Psychol 2003;85(2):348-362. [doi: <u>10.1037/0022-3514.85.2.348</u>] [Medline: <u>12916575</u>]
- Gross JJ, John OP. Mapping the domain of expressivity: multimethod evidence for a hierarchical model. J Pers Soc Psychol 1998;74(1):170-191. [doi: <u>10.1037//0022-3514.74.1.170</u>] [Medline: <u>9457781</u>]
- Webster GD, Dewall CN, Pond Jr RS, Deckman T, Jonason PK, Le BM, et al. The brief aggression questionnaire: psychometric and behavioral evidence for an efficient measure of trait aggression. Aggress Behav 2014;40(2):120-139. [doi: <u>10.1002/ab.21507</u>] [Medline: <u>24115185</u>]
- Shahar G, Cohen G, Grogan KE, Barile JP, Henrich CC. Terrorism-related perceived stress, adolescent depression, and social support from friends. Pediatrics 2009;124(2):235-240. [doi: <u>10.1542/peds.2008-2971</u>] [Medline: <u>19596732</u>]
- Procidano ME, Heller K. Measures of perceived social support from friends and from family: three validation studies. Am J Community Psychol 1983;11(1):1-24. [doi: <u>10.1007/BF00898416</u>] [Medline: <u>6837532</u>]
- 32. Taylor RD, Casten R, Flickinger SM. Influence of kinship social support on the parenting experiences and psychosocial adjustment of African-American adolescents. Dev Psychol 1993;29(2):382-388. [doi: 10.1037/0012-1649.29.2.382]
- Boyd RC, Waanders C. Protective factors for depression among African American children of predominantly low-income mothers with depression. J Child Fam Stud 2013;22(1):85-95 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10826-012-9588-y] [Medline: 25324678]
- 34. Beaver WR, Hampson RB. Successful Families: Assessment and Intervention. New York: W. W. Norton & Co; 1990.
- 35. Psychometric results. Longscan. URL: [accessed 2017-09-20]
- Shelton KK, Frick PJ, Wootton J. Assessment of parenting practices in families of elementary school-age children. J Clin Child Psychol 1996;25(3):317-329. [doi: <u>10.1207/s15374424jccp2503\_8</u>]
- Essau CA, Sasagawa S, Frick PJ. Psychometric properties of the alabama parenting questionnaire. J Child Fam Stud 2006;15(5):595-614. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10826-006-9036-y</u>]
- van Harmelen AL, Kievit RA, Ioannidis K, Neufeld S, Jones PB, Bullmore E, NSPN Consortium, et al. Adolescent friendships predict later resilient functioning across psychosocial domains in a healthy community cohort. Psychol Med 2017;47(13):2312-2322 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1017/S0033291717000836] [Medline: 28397612]
- 39. McNeish D. Thanks coefficient alpha, we'll take it from here. Psychol Methods 2018;23(3):412-433. [doi: 10.1037/met0000144] [Medline: 28557467]
- 40. Schlechter P, Fritz J, Wilkinson PO. The youth and childhood adversity scale: a comparison of presence vs. absence, severity and frequency indicators. OSF Preprints 2019:-. [doi: <u>10.31219/osf.io/zf8r9</u>]
- 41. Higgins DJ, McCabe MP. The development of the comprehensive child maltreatment scale. J Fam Stud 2001;7(1):7-28. [doi: <u>10.5172/jfs.7.1.7</u>]
- 42. Kievit RA, Brandmaier AM, Ziegler G, van Harmelen AL, de Mooij SM, Moutoussis M, NSPN Consortium, et al. Developmental cognitive neuroscience using latent change score models: a tutorial and applications. Dev Cogn Neurosci 2018;33:99-117 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.dcn.2017.11.007] [Medline: 29325701]
- 43. R Core Team. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing; 2018. URL: <u>https://www.R-project.org/</u> [accessed 2021-03-19]
- 44. Rosseel Y. lavaan: an R package for structural equation modeling. J Stat Softw 2012;48(2):1-36 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.18637/jss.v048.i02]

- 45. Jorgensen TD, Pornprasertmanit S, Schoemann AM, Rosseel Y. semTools: useful tools for structural equation modeling. R package version 0.5-1.933 2018:- [FREE Full text]
- 46. Fritz J. Analysis script. OSF Home. 2021 Feb 27. URL: <u>https://osf.io/wa8vc/</u> [accessed 2021-04-13]
- 47. Fritz J, Stochl J, Kievit R, van Harmelen A, Wilkinson P. Research data supporting RESIST publication "Tracking Stress, Mental Health and Resilience Factors in Medical Students, Before, During and After a Stress-Inducing Exam Period: Protocol and Proof of Principle Analyses for the RESIST Cohort-Study". (Taken from Resilience Study (RESIST): what helps students to adapt to exam stress?). University of Cambridge 2021:-. [doi: 10.17863/CAM.64901]
- 48. Harris PA, Taylor R, Thielke R, Payne J, Gonzalez N, Conde JG. Research electronic data capture (REDCap)--a metadata-driven methodology and workflow process for providing translational research informatics support. J Biomed Inform 2009 Apr;42(2):377-381 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2008.08.010] [Medline: 18929686]

### Abbreviations

BLCSM: bivariate latent change score model CCMS: Comprehensive Child Maltreatment Scale FIML: full information maximum likelihood GHQ: General Health Questionnaire LGM: latent growth model PSS: Perceived Stress Scale REDCap: Research Electronic Data Capture RESIST: Resilience Study RF: resilience factor YTS: Youth Trauma Scale

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 12.05.20; peer-reviewed by G Lovell, H Krampe; comments to author 15.06.20; revised version received 31.10.20; accepted 09.11.20; published 08.06.21.

Please cite as:

Fritz J, Stochl J, Kievit RA, van Harmelen AL, Wilkinson PO Tracking Stress, Mental Health, and Resilience Factors in Medical Students Before, During, and After a Stress-Inducing Exam Period: Protocol and Proof-of-Principle Analyses for the RESIST Cohort Study JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e20128 URL: https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e20128 doi:10.2196/20128 PMID:34100761

©Jessica Fritz, Jan Stochl, Rogier A Kievit, Anne-Laura van Harmelen, Paul O Wilkinson. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 08.06.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



### The Development of a Digital Patient-Reported Outcome Measurement for Adults With Chronic Disease (The Parsley Symptom Index): Prospective Cohort Study

Hants Williams<sup>1\*</sup>, PhD, RN; Sarah Steinberg<sup>2\*</sup>, MD, PhD; Robin Berzin<sup>2\*</sup>, MD

<sup>1</sup>School of Health Technology and Management, Stony Brook University, Stony Brook, NY, United States

<sup>2</sup>Parsley Health, New York, NY, United States

<sup>\*</sup>all authors contributed equally

### **Corresponding Author:**

Hants Williams, PhD, RN School of Health Technology and Management Stony Brook University 101 Nicolls Rd Stony Brook, NY, 11794 United States Phone: 1 6502183789 Email: hantsawilliams@gmail.com

### Abstract

**Background:** The monitoring and management of chronic illness has always been a challenge. Patient-reported outcome measures (PROMs) can be powerful tools for monitoring symptoms and guiding treatment of chronic diseases, but the available PROM tools are either too broad or too disease specific for the needs of a primary care practice focused on longitudinal care.

Objective: In this study we describe the development and preliminary validation of the Parsley Symptom Index (PSI).

**Methods:** This prospective cohort study took place from January 5, 2018, to June 05, 2020, among a sample of 4621 adult patients at Parsley Health. After a review of literature, followed by binning and winnowing of potential items, a 45-item PROM that also served as a review of systems (ROS) was developed. The PSI was deployed and completed by patients via an online portal. Construct and face validity was performed by clinicians, tested on patients, and feasibility was measured by response rate, completion rate, and percentage of missing data.

**Results:** The response rate for 12,175 collected PSIs was 93.72% (4331/4621) with a 100% item completion rate. A confirmatory factor analysis confirmed the model structure was satisfactory by a Comparative Fit Index of 0.943, Tucker–Lewis index of 0.938, and root mean square error of approximation of 0.028.

**Conclusions:** A 45-item ROS-style PROM designed to capture chronic disease symptoms was developed, and preliminary validation suggests that the PSI can be deployed, completed, and helpful to both patients and clinicians.

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e29122) doi:10.2196/29122

### KEYWORDS

patient-reported outcomes; PROMs; chronic diseases; symptom management; Parsley Symptom Index; Review of Symptoms

### Introduction

Chronic disease is now the primary cause of death and disability in the United States [1] and accounts for 90% of the nation's US \$3.5 trillion in annual health care costs [2]. The incidence of chronic disease is on the rise, and people are developing chronic diseases long before they are bedbound, hospitalized, or even symptomatic. Epidemiological data indicate that chronic diseases such as diabetes, heart disease, and asthma are underdiagnosed up to 90% of the time in the developed world [3]. Current models also predict that prevalence of chronic disease will reach 80% by 2030 [2]. The existing health care system was designed for acute illness and is poorly suited for chronic disease, which now accounts for the majority of services provided [4]. The massive increase in chronic disease is rapidly unmasking the gaps in our health care delivery system, particularly in disease monitoring and management.

The monitoring and management of chronic disease is a challenge regardless of a medical practice size or physical location. For clinicians, a limited number of chronic disease monitoring and management tools exist that can be quickly deployed into the patient-clinician workflow, can integrate with an electronic medical record system, can be utilized across a variety of different conditions, can supplement a review of systems (ROS), are clinically validated, and can be brief enough to be collected on an ongoing basis. Patient-reported outcome measures (PROMs) can be incredibly helpful for monitoring and guiding treatment of chronic diseases [5-7]. Examples of PROMs that have been created to address some of the aforesaid challenges range from single-form assessments such as the Medical Symptom Questionnaire (MSQ) [8], which are akin to a ROS, to the Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Inventory System (PROMIS) that offers variations for general health and specific conditions [9].

The MSQ assesses physical symptoms in a brief form, and serves as a ROS within a medical note. However, the MSQ has yet to be validated and has inconsistent categorization of items. The items included within the MSQ range from clinical diagnoses such as asthma and arthritis, vital sign measurements such as weight, and symptoms that range from slurred speech to drainage from the ear. The MSQ also has complex instructions where the user must assess each item's frequency and severity at the same time, regardless of whether the item is for a symptom, condition, or vital sign. These and other concerns make the MSQ difficult to integrate into a clinician's workflow and patient visits.

By contrast, the PROMIS is one of the most rigorously developed sets of PROMs, and covers a wide range of chronic diseases in both short- and long-form versions [10] that capture physical and psychosocial domains. In comparison to the MSQ, the PROMIS short forms focus heavily on psychological well-being and overall quality of life questions, but not extensively enough to double as a ROS like the MSQ. PROMIS has also developed specific variations for individual chronic diseases [11]. The technical deployment of PROMIS variations (short versus long form, condition specific) can be managed by the information technology departments that exist within large medical practices (eg, academic medical centers), but can be burdensome for a small primary care practice without those resources.

Both the PROMIS and the MSQ are powerful tools in their own right, but neither offer a single, short-form assessment that could be easily integrated into the clinician workflow or electronic medical record, as well as capture symptoms across body systems like a ROS. Furthermore, neither allows for more opportunities to engage with patients like a digital health tracker (eg, smart watch, fitness tracker). Approximately 1 in 5 US adults say they regularly wear a digital tracker that can collect health information [12]. While the data collected from these devices can be motivational and promote behavioral change [13], long-term engagement is still a challenge for these trackers [14]. In summary, we envision a new type of PROM that could function like a ROS, feed into the collaborative patient–doctor conversation to promote personalized tailoring of care plans, while also offering opportunities for more continuous

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e29122

engagement like a digital health tracker. The aim of this study is to (1) describe the initial development of the Parsley Symptom Index (PSI) and (2) assess feasibility of the PSI among patients receiving care at Parsley Health.

### Methods

### **Setting and Population**

Parsley Health is a subscription-based model for delivering primary care and proactive chronic disease management through a functional medicine lens. Patients receive care from clinicians and health coaches in-person and virtually, and have additional access to their care team via email and a web portal. Parsley Health patients are predominantly female (85%), range from 18 to 83 years in age (mean age 37 [SD 6.7]), and are located primarily in metropolitan areas such as New York City and Los Angeles. Commonly reported diseases and health problems (ICD-10 chapters) for patients seeking treatment include mental, behavioral, and neurodevelopmental disorders (F41.9, Anxiety disorder; R53.83, Fatigue, G47, Insomnia), digestive system (K21.9, Gastro-esophageal Reflux Disease; K90.41, Non-celiac Gluten Sensitivity; K58.0, Irritable Bowel Syndrome), and diseases of the skin and subcutaneous tissue (L70.9, Acne; L20.9, Atopic Dermatitis).

Inclusion criteria were Parsley Health patients that had (1) an active "12-month complete care" membership between January 12, 2018, and June 05, 2020; (2) a minimum of 1 clinical visit within their membership period; and (3) located at 1 of the 3 locations: New York City, Los Angeles, or San Francisco. Exclusion criteria were (1) severe psychiatric disorders (particularly psychosis and depression requiring a change in treatment in the last 30 days); (2) under the age of 18; (3) unable to speak or read English; or (4) lacked access to a computer.

### **PSI Development**

### Overview

The PSI development and testing followed the frameworks outlined by the Federal Drug Agency (FDA) guide for PROM development [15], and the PROMIS investigators [9,16]. Our approach included initial item identification by literature review and secondary data analysis of 2 US national health surveys, item classification and selection (binning and winnowing), focus group exploration followed by item revision, and field testing followed by further revision. This study involved patient-reported survey data that were recorded in such a manner that participants could not be identified by the researchers. The institutional review board at Stony Brook University considered this study exempt from 45 Code of Federal Regulations requirements [17].

#### **Review of Literature and Secondary Data Analysis**

Item development started with a systematic literature review of PROM for adult patient populations. Our initial PubMed search was performed using the MeSH terms for PROMs: "patient outcome assessment" and "patient reported outcome measures." This search returned a list of 342 systematic literature review articles. The vast majority of results returned by the search focused on individual chronic diseases and quality of life (QoL).

XSL•FO RenderX

Subsequent searches were focused on the identification of the most prevalent chronic diseases and their symptoms in the United States defined by the National Health Interview Survey (NHIS) [18] and the National Ambulatory Medical Care Survey (NAMCS) [19].

A secondary analysis of data pulled from the 2015 NHIS survey included a subsample of 17,201 unique patient responses between the ages of 18 and 50, and a sample of 3583 physician responses and 76,330 completed patient record forms from the 2012 NAMCS. Chronic diseases and their symptoms described in the NHIS and NAMCS were combined with the initial PROM MeSH terms to create additional PubMed searches. Approximately 320 individual items from 27 PROMs were inspected and entered into a document by our clinical team

members to ensure the item list reflected common clinical symptoms.

### **Binning and Winnowing**

Binning is a systematic process that groups items by meaning and construct, while winnowing is used to reduce an item pool to a representative and manageable set of items [16]. The clinician study team independently sorted 320 items into bins according to meaning and construct in order to identify redundant items, and ensure a representative sample of items. At the end of the binning process each team member compared bins and discussed discrepancies. For unresolved discrepancies, an additional team member was brought into the discussion until a resolution was reached. What remained was 78 items sorted into 15 domain bins (Figure 1).

Figure 1. Original PSI design: 78 items sorted into 15 domain bins. PSI: Parsley Symptom Index.



Next the team winnowed the remaining items and established exclusion criteria for each item in a bin. Exclusion criteria were constructed based on the clinical expertise of the team, and findings from the NHIS and NAMCS reports. A 3-reviewer consensus was required for item removal from a bin. The final

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e29122

result was a set of 45 items sorted into 9 bins (Multimedia Appendix 1). Based on a review of other similar assessments (Figure 2), each bin was relabeled with patient facing terminology to reflect bodily systems: Cardiac and Circulatory, Gastrointestinal, Metabolic, Hair and Skin, Neurological,

XSL•FO RenderX

Respiratory, Musculoskeletal, Mental, and Reproductive (Female and Male). The stem of each item was standardized to ask if the symptom was present or not present; then, double-barreled items (ie, items that assess more than 1 concept) were removed and the response time frame was set to a 14-day period. A 14-day window was selected to minimize recall bias [20] and allow for repeat testing. For questions answered present, an additional exploratory question was displayed to capture the symptom's intensity on a sliding Visual Analog Scale (VAS) of 1-10. Emoticons (smiley and sad faces) were displayed on each endpoint to clarify the meaning of the scale. A VAS was selected to quantify symptom severity because it is simple to use, requires no training, and is both accurate and sensitive [21]. To allow for straightforward calculation and interpretation by patients and clinicians, a total score was constructed by a sum of the VAS scores for all "yes" answers, with "no" being assigned a value of 0.

Figure 2. Logic for PSI bin relabeling with patient facing terminology to reflect bodily systems. ADL: activities of daily living; PSI: Parsley Symptom Index.

ICD-9 Domains	ICD-10 Domains	Medical Symptom/ Toxicity Questionnaire	Cleveland Clinic Buckets	Functional Medicne Matrix	AHRQ Health Assessment in Adults	CA Healthy Healthy Assessment	Human Body Systems
Infectious and parasitic diseases	Infectious and parasitic diseases	Digestive	Autoimmune	Assimilation	ADLs	Nutrition	Cardiovascular /circulatory
Neoplasm	Neoplasms	Head	Cancer	Structural Integritiy	Alcohol Use	Physical Activity	Digestive/Excretory
Endocrine, nutritional, and metabolic diseases and immmunity disorders	Disease of the blood and blood-forming organs and certain disorders involving immune	Mouth/Throat	Energy / Mitochondria	Communication	Anxiety	Safety	Endocrine
Diseases of the blood and blood-forming organs	Endocrine, nutritional, metabolic, mental, and behavioral	Ears	Gut	Transport	Depression	Dental Health	Integumentary
Mental	Mental and behaviorial	Heart	Heart	Defense and Repair	General Health	Mental Health	Lymphatic/Immune
Nervous	Nervous system	Nose	Hormones (Sex M vs F)	Energy	Medication Adherence	Alcohol, Tabacco, Drug Use	Muscular/Skeletal
Sense	Eye and ocular adnexa	Emotions	Infections	BioTransformation and Elimination	Nutrition / Eating Patterns	Sexual	Nervous/Sensory
Circulatory	Ear and mastoid process	Joints/Muscles	Mood/ Mental Health	Mental	Pain	Other	Reproductive
Respiratory system	Circulatory	Skin	Neuro	Emotional	Patient Priorities		Respiratory
Digestive system	Respiratory	Energy/Activity	Nutrition/ Metabolic	Spiritual	Personal Safety		
Genitourinary system	Digestive	Lungs	Skin		Physical Activity		
Pregnancy, childbirth, and puerperium	Skin and subcutaneous	Weight	Structure/MSK		Sex		
Skin and subcutaneous	Musculoskeletal system and connective tissue	Mind	Trauma		Sleep		
Musculoskeletal system and connective tissue	Genitourinary	Eyes	Allergen/Toxin		Social / Emotional Support		
Congenital anomalies	Pregnancy, childbirth, and puerperium	Other			Stress		
Perinatal period	Perinatal period				Substance Use		
Symptoms, signs, and ill-defined conditions	Congenital malformations, deformations, chromosomal abnormalities				Tabacco Use		
Injury and poisoning	Symptoms, signs, and abnormal clinical/lab findings						
External causes of injury and supplemental classification	Injury, poisoning, and certain other external causes						
	External causes of morbidity and mortality						
	Influencing health status and contact with health services						
	Codes for special purposes						

To quickly identify gaps in item coverage, time to complete the PSI, and assess clarity of item language, a convenience sample of 76 patients (mean age 34 [SD 4.3]; 62/76, 82% female) provided preliminary feedback [22,23]. Patients were asked to provide open-ended qualitative feedback in a free-text box at the end of the assessment. For 82% (62/76) of patients the PSI took less than 5 minutes to complete, for 14% (11/76) between

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e29122

RenderX

identify missing content or functionality. Patient feedback on individual PSI items were generally positive. Patient feedback on functionality focused on user interface and user experience; examples included the addition of a progress bar, preferences on multipage versus single-page layouts, and how to make the

5 and 10 minutes, and more than 10 minutes for 4% (3/76). Two

team members (HW and RB) reviewed all patient responses to

PSI more engaging through the addition of animations and visual changes as the patient completes the PSI. Despite the overwhelming positive feedback, a dilemma did occur for patients that experienced symptoms over the 14-day window that had resolved, which was why a sub category was added to the yes response: "Yes—ongoing" and "Yes—resolved."

### **Integration Into Clinical Workflow**

Patients were provided instructions to login to their "My Parsley" web portal to complete the PSI 24-48 hours before each clinical visit. Because the initial visit requires multiple data collection forms (medical, family, and social histories) as well as the PSI, there was greater motivation to complete all the forms for the first visit than for follow-up visits. Initial visits were rescheduled if all the forms were not completed, whereas follow-up visits were never postponed for lack of a completed PSI. To encourage compliance, a clinical operations coordinator looked for a recorded online PSI response before each follow-up visit, and prompted the patient to fill one out if missing.

Patients and providers both interacted with the PSI at several points. Before the clinical visit patients completed the PSI and viewed their score online, which provided them with immediate feedback. Within the clinical visit the PSI score was used as a touch point for the patient–provider discussion, and assisted the clinician by removing the need to spend visit time collecting ROS information. In subsequent visits, clinicians were able to share PSI trend data with patients to support longitudinal care.

### **Statistical Approach**

Analyses were conducted with Python (version 3.6.4) and R (version 4.0.4) [24]. Descriptive statistics to summarize age, gender, membership duration, and participant location were generated using the Python package TableOne (version 0.7.10) [25]. Feasibility of the PSI was examined by response rate, completion rate, and percentage of missing data. We considered a response rate of over 85% to be adequate [26,27]. The response rate was calculated by determining the percentage of patients who had at least one clinical visit between January 12, 2018, and June 05, 2020, that completed at least one PSI. Skewness, kurtosis, and response distributions were reviewed for each PSI item to help assess relevance and response frequency. To translate the PSI total score into clinically meaningful values, preliminary cut-off points based on quartile ranges were calculated. Lastly, we did not expect missing values due to the fact that only a fully completed PSI can be submitted, so if missing values were to occur, they would be likely related to a software defect.

A confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) was conducted to examine the proposed factor structure of the PSI as opposed to an exploratory factor analysis (EFA). In an EFA each item would be free to load on to any factor, potentially leading to a model that is inconsistent with the theory-derived determination of PSI items and factors, whereas a CFA allows data to be fitted to a theory-derived model, with each item only loading to the factors it was designed to measure, helping to address potential weaknesses of specific items. The minimum sample size for the CFA was calculated with an item-to-respondent ratio of 30:1 [28,29]. Kline [28] notes the N:q rule, which states that the

XSL•FO

sample size should be determined by the number of q parameters in your model with a recommended ratio that can range from 15:1 to 30:1. With a 45-item assessment, the minimum sample size would be 900 participants based on a 30:1 ratio.

To prepare the data for the CFA, each item was recoded into a numerical dummy variable (0 for symptom not present; 1 for symptom present or resolved). The CFA was conducted in R with the lavaan latent variable analysis package version 0.6.8 [30] using diagonally weighted least squares (DWLS). The DWLS estimator has growing consensus among researchers as the best approach for the analysis of binary variables [31]. Model appropriateness was assessed via the root mean square error of approximation (RMSEA; 0.05 < cut-off < 0.08) [32,33], the Tucker–Lewis index (TLI; cut-off  $\geq 0.90$ ) [34], and the Comparative Fit Index (CFI; cut-off  $\geq 0.90$ ) [35]. The model was improved based on the removal of items with small factor loadings and the through assessment of expected versus observed counts for each categorical indicator variable. Standardized factor loadings ( $\beta$ ) less than 0.30 or CIs below 95% were deemed poorly performing items [36,37]. These cut points were used as a guide rather than strict rules [38]. We focused on the relative size of these indicators to inform choices around item retention and removal, in conjunction with the impact to the overall model fit following item removal, and the theoretical coverage of the remaining items.

### Results

A total of 12,175 PSI-unique assessments were collected from 4621 patients. Females accounted for 80.22% (3707/4621), the mean age was 38.9 years (SD 11), and each patient had an average of 2.96 (SD 1.7) clinician visits per 12-month membership period (Multimedia Appendix 2). The PSI response rate was 93.72% (4331/4621). Over the duration of the study the PSI was completed 1 time by 24.41% (1128/4621), 2-3 times by 43.26% (1999/4621), and 4 or more times by 26.73% (1235/4621) of study patients.

The 3 bodily domains with the highest frequency of present or resolved symptoms were neurological (10,113/12,175, 83.06%), mental (9667/12,175, 79.40%), and gastrointestinal (9428/12,175, 77.44%), while the bodily domain with the lowest frequency was sexual health (3165/12,175, 25.99%). The top reported individual symptoms across all bodily domains were "fatigue or low energy" (7954/12,175, 65.33%), "nervousness or anxiety" (7449/12,175, 61.18%), and "bloating or abdominal pain" (7086/12,175, 58.20%). The normality, skewness, and kurtosis for the reported VAS of each item are displayed in Multimedia Appendix 1.

Quartiles calculated for the total score resulted in the following 4 cut-off ranges: 0-24, 25-43, 44-71, and greater than 71. The clinical study team assigned the following terminology for these ranges: "well" (0-24), "symptomatic" (25-43), "very symptomatic" (44-71), and "sick" (71+). These ranges provide a preliminary rubric that allowed clinicians to quickly interpret the total score and assess changes to symptoms over time.

Of note, the PSI cannot be submitted with incomplete responses. Nonresponders (290/4621, 6.27%) included those who filled

out the PSI partially and those who did not fill it out at all. While completion rates for the PSI decreased over time with subsequent clinical visits, clinicians reported that when patients did complete follow-up PSIs, they were helpful for longitudinal tracking and improved their ability to trend symptoms over time. Furthermore, clinicians reported that modeling the PSI on a ROS increased perceived workflow efficiency, and motivated them to encourage their patients to complete the PSI prior to each visit. Additional feedback indicated that the PSI assisted in making the patient feel heard, and provided meaningful context for the visit.

For the CFA, 2 items were initially removed ("hives" from the skin factor and "genital itch" from the male factor) due to having only a single level (symptom not present). The initial fit statistics for the model were satisfactory (CFI=0.929, TLI=0.923, and RMSEA=0.031). Nearly all items had  $\beta$  values >.3 except for "snoring" ( $\beta$ =.246). With the removal of "snoring" the model marginally improved (CFI=0.931, TLI=0.925, and RMSEA=0.031). To explore ways of improving the model further, items with high modification indices were investigated for cross-loading. Two items with poor conceptual specificity that loaded onto several other dimensions were "wheezing/chest tightness" within the respiratory factor (high cross-loading onto "shortness of breath" [cardiac] and "chest pain" [cardiac]) and leg swelling from the cardiac factor (high cross-loading onto "joint swelling" [musculoskeletal] and "limited range of motion or function" [musculoskeletal]). The removal of these 2 items improved the model to a small degree (CFI=0.943, TLI=0.938, and RMSEA=0.028).

### Discussion

### **Principal Findings**

Our goal in designing the PSI was to create a new type of PROM that could function like a ROS, feed into the collaborative patient–doctor conversation to promote personalized tailoring of care plans, and offer opportunities for continuous engagement like a digital health tracker. The preliminary data described within this study set the groundwork for future research that can further assess the efficacy and ecological validity of the PSI, and explore the PSI's potential impact on the patient–clinician interaction within a visit.

During the data-collection phase of the study, we quickly realized that in asking patients to fill out the PSI, we were competing with digital health trackers for our patients' engagement. In general, patients have become increasingly interested in tracking their own habits and symptoms [39], and there is an ever-growing patient demand for more engaging monitoring technologies [40,41]. Many of our own patients already use digital health trackers to monitor activities related to physical movement, sleep behaviors, heart rate and blood pressure, weight, and nutritional intake. Most of these trackers involve the recording of one's own data and receiving immediate feedback, yet the majority still lack the ability to provide feedback to the patient that is personalized and actionable.

In competing for our patients' engagement, we drew inspiration and borrowed what has worked for digital health trackers and

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e29122

attempted to address their shortcomings. First, we focused on the importance of a user-centered design that emphasizes the importance of the user interface and user experience. In the design process we paid particular attention to the visual styles, design elements, and the overall user experience. Second, because providing immediate results in digital health trackers has been shown to influence behavioral change [42,43], we designed the PSI to provide an immediate result upon completion, a total score. At the current stage in PSI development there is no automated interpretation of the total score. The score is interpreted by the clinician within the patient visit where it is contextualized based on recent patient illnesses, stressors, and treatments. Third, we have addressed the inability of most trackers to provide individualized interpretation of health data by incorporating the results into the clinical encounter. Through this approach the PSI goes beyond generic recommendations, and assists the clinician with creating a personalized, actionable treatment plan that is patient centered. Going forward, we suggest that future enhancements to the PSI and other PROMs are performed through the lens of digital health trackers to expand engagement and utilization beyond a traditional questionnaire.

An important finding within this study was the PSI's high completion rate (4331/4621, 93.72%) for initial visits. While preliminary data showed PSI completion rates declined after initial visits, clinician feedback was extremely positive for patients that did continue to fill out the PSI for follow-up visits. This further highlights that the monitoring of chronic disease symptoms over a long period is a difficult challenge, regardless of patient condition or technology used.

In our attempt to enhance long-term engagement and completion of the PSI, we have initiated and continue to engage in quality improvement efforts. Two areas of improvement that have been identified by our patients and staff are reminder notifications and reporting of results. Related to notifications, we are exploring the impact of (1) delivery time (day, weekend, morning, evening), (2) phrasing of messaging in reminder notifications, and (3) delivery medium (email, text, telephone). As for PSI reporting, we are exploring (1) addition of longitudinal line graph of total scores, and (2) a stacked line graph visualizing each body system over time. Graphical presentations of data are used to make information "stickier" with existing digital health trackers, so we believe both clinicians and patients may derive further benefits from seeing a picture of their progress over time at the macro level (total score) and micro level (bodily system).

### Limitations

The PSI generalizability may be limited due to our sample being largely female. In future validation studies, testing in populations with greater gender diversity will help improve ecological validity. Second, due to workflow issues around initial data entry, we do not have sufficient data to describe race and ethnicity. Future external validation of the PSI should include testing in diverse patient populations.

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

### Conclusion

This study details the process and methodology for how the PSI was created. With a response rate of nearly 94% (4331/4621, 93.72%), the initial findings suggest that the PSI can be used

in clinical practice. Drawing lessons from digital health trackers, the PSI offers immediate feedback that informs the patient–clinician dialogue, and may promote enhanced tracking and management of chronic disease symptoms over time.

### Acknowledgments

The authors thank the Parsley Health team for their ongoing support and dedication to clinical research, and pursuit of evidenced-based best practices.

### **Authors' Contributions**

HW and RB designed the study, and were involved in the data collection, analysis and interpretation, and reporting. SS was involved in the analysis and interpretation, and reporting.

### **Conflicts of Interest**

RB and SS are full-time employees of Parsley Health, and HW is an employee of Stony Brook University. The views expressed by the authors in the publication do not necessarily reflect the views of the Parsley Health or Stony Brook University.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Descriptive statistics of individual PSI items. [DOCX File , 23 KB - formative\_v5i6e29122\_app2.docx ]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Descriptive statistics of sample. [DOCX File , 16 KB - formative v5i6e29122 app1.docx ]

### References

- 1. Kochanek K, Xu J, Arias E. Mortality in the United States. United States: National Center for Health Statistics; 2019.
- Buttorff C, Ruder T, Bauman M. Multiple Chronic Conditions in the United States. Santa Monica, CA: Rand Corp; 2017.
   Falagas M, Vardakas K, Vergidis P. Under-diagnosis of common chronic diseases: prevalence and impact on human health. Int J Clin Pract 2007 Sep;61(9):1569-1579. [doi: 10.1111/j.1742-1241.2007.01423.x] [Medline: 17686096]
- 4. Raghupathi W, Raghupathi V. An Empirical Study of Chronic Diseases in the United States: A Visual Analytics Approach to Public Health. IJERPH 2018 Mar 01;15(3):431. [doi: 10.3390/ijerph15030431]
- 5. Patient Reported Outcome Measures (PROMs). United King National Health Service (NHS). URL: <u>https://digital.nhs.uk/</u> <u>data-and-information/data-tools-and-services/data-services/patient-reported-outcome-measures-proms</u> [accessed 2020-02-15]
- 6. Hostetter M, Klein S. Using Patient-Reported Outcomes to Improve Health Care Quality. The Common Wealth Fund. URL: <u>https://www.commonwealthfund.org/publications/newsletter-article/</u> <u>using-patient-reported-outcomes-improve-health-care-quality</u> [accessed 2020-02-15]
- Deshpande P, Sudeepthi B, Rajan S, Abdul Nazir C. Patient-reported outcomes: A new era in clinical research. Perspect Clin Res 2011;2(4):137. [doi: 10.4103/2229-3485.86879]
- 8. MSQ-Medical Symptom/Toxicity Questionnaire. Hyman, MA. URL: <u>http://drhyman.com/downloads/MSQ\_Fillable.pdf</u> [accessed 2020-05-01]
- Cella D, Riley W, Stone A, Rothrock N, Reeve B, Yount S, et al. The Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System (PROMIS) developed and tested its first wave of adult self-reported health outcome item banks: 2005-2008. J Clin Epidemiol 2010 Nov;63(11):1179-1194 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2010.04.011] [Medline: 20685078]
- Cella D, Choi SW, Condon DM, Schalet B, Hays RD, Rothrock NE, et al. PROMIS Adult Health Profiles: Efficient Short-Form Measures of Seven Health Domains. Value Health 2019 May;22(5):537-544. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jval.2019.02.004</u>] [Medline: <u>31104731</u>]
- Ahmad FS, Kallen MA, Schifferdecker KE, Carluzzo KL, Yount SE, Gelow JM, et al. Development and Initial Validation of the PROMIS®-Plus-HF Profile Measure. Circ: Heart Failure 2019 Jun;12(6):e005751. [doi: <u>10.1161/circheartfailure.118.005751</u>]
- 12. Pew RC. About one-in-five Americans use a smart watch or fitness tracker. PEW. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/</u> <u>fact-tank/2020/01/09/about-one-in-five-americans-use-a-smart-watch-or-fitness-tracker/</u> [accessed 2020-08-01]
- Den Ouden H, Vos RC, Rutten GEHM. Effectiveness of shared goal setting and decision making to achieve treatment targets in type 2 diabetes patients: A cluster-randomized trial (OPTIMAL). Health Expect 2017 May 24;20(5):1172-1180. [doi: 10.1111/hex.12563]

- 14. Kullgren J, Williams G, Resnicow K. The Promise of Tailoring Incentives for Healthy Behaviors. Int J Workplace Health Manag 2016;9(1):2-16. [doi: 10.1108/ijwhm-12-2014-0060]
- 15. Patient-Reported Outcome Measures: Use in Medical Product Development to Support Labeling Claims. Federal Drug Administration (FDA). 2019. URL: <u>https://www.fda.gov/regulatory-information/search-fda-guidance-documents/</u> patient-reported-outcome-measures-use-medical-product-development-support-labeling-claims [accessed 2020-08-01]
- 16. DeWalt DA, Rothrock N, Yount S, Stone AA. Evaluation of Item Candidates. Medical Care 2007;45(Suppl 1):S12-S21. [doi: 10.1097/01.mlr.0000254567.79743.e2]
- 17. United States Department of Health and Human Services. Protection of human subjects. Washington, DC: United States Department of Health and Human Services; 2009.
- 18. 2015 Data Release. National Health Interview Survey from the Centers for Disease Control. 2015. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nhis/2015\_data\_release.htm</u> [accessed 2018-01-01]
- The 2012 NAMCS Summary Data. The National Ambulatory Medical Care Survey (NAMCS) from the Centers for Disease Control. 2012. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/ahcd/namcs\_summary/2012\_namcs\_web\_tables.pdf</u> [accessed 2018-05-17]
- Stone AA, Schwartz JE, Broderick JE, Shiffman SS. Variability of momentary pain predicts recall of weekly pain: a consequence of the peak (or salience) memory heuristic. Pers Soc Psychol Bull 2005 Oct;31(10):1340-1346. [doi: 10.1177/0146167205275615] [Medline: 16143666]
- 21. Maxwell C. Sensitivity and accuracy of the visual analogue scale: a psycho- physical classroom experiment. British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology 2012 Jul 04;6(1):15-24. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1365-2125.1978.tb01676.x</u>]
- 22. Kirwan JR, Fries JF, Hewlett S, Osborne RH. Patient Perspective: Choosing or Developing Instruments. J Rheumatol 2011 Aug 01;38(8):1716-1719. [doi: 10.3899/jrheum.110390]
- 23. Paterson C. Seeking the Patient's Perspective: A Qualitative Assessment of EuroQol, COOP-WONCA Charts and MYMOP. Qual Life Res 2004 Jun;13(5):871-881. [doi: 10.1023/b:qure.0000025586.51955.78]
- 24. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing. URL: <u>https://www.</u> <u>R-project.org/</u> [accessed 2016-11-01]
- 25. Pollard T, Johnson A, Raffa J, Mark R. tableone: An open source Python package for producing summary statistics for research papers. JAMIA Open. . Published 2018 May 2018;1(1):23. [doi: <u>10.1093/jamiaopen/ooy012</u>]
- 26. Schulz KF, Grimes DA. Sample size slippages in randomised trials: exclusions and the lost and wayward. The Lancet 2002 Mar;359(9308):781-785. [doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(02)07882-0]
- 27. Preston NJ, Fayers P, Walters SJ, Pilling M, Grande GE, Short V, et al. Recommendations for managing missing data, attrition and response shift in palliative and end-of-life care research: Part of the MORECare research method guidance on statistical issues. Palliat Med 2013 May 07;27(10):899-907. [doi: 10.1177/0269216313486952]
- 28. Snijders T, Bosker R. The worship and principles of the Church of England: a sermon, preached at the opening of Christ's Church, in Great-Barrington, on Christ-Mass Day, M.DCC.LXIV. Multilevel modeling: Printed and sold by William Goddard, at the Post-Office; 1999:A.
- 29. Osborne J, Costello A. Sample size and subject to item ratio in principal components analysis. Practical Assessment, Research, and Evaluation. URL: <u>https://doi.org/10.7275/ktzq-jq66</u> [accessed 2020-05-01]
- Rosseel Y. lavaan: An R Package for Structural Equation Modeling. J Stat Soft 2012;48(2):1-36. [doi: 10.18637/jss.v048.i02]
   Li C. Confirmatory factor analysis with ordinal data: Comparing robust maximum likelihood and diagonally weighted least
- squares. Behav Res Methods 2016 Sep;48(3):936-949. [doi: <u>10.3758/s13428-015-0619-7</u>] [Medline: <u>26174714</u>]
  Browne MW, Cudeck R. Alternative Ways of Assessing Model Fit. Sociological Methods & Research 2016 Jun
- Browne MW, Cudeck R. Alternative Ways of Assessing Model Fit. Sociological Methods & Research 2016 Ju 29;21(2):230-258. [doi: <u>10.1177/0049124192021002005</u>]
- MacCallum RC, Browne MW, Sugawara HM. Power analysis and determination of sample size for covariance structure modeling. Psychological Methods 1996;1(2):130-149. [doi: <u>10.1037/1082-989X.1.2.130</u>]
- 34. Bentler PM, Bonett DG. Significance tests and goodness of fit in the analysis of covariance structures. Psychological Bulletin 1980;88(3):588-606 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.88.3.588]
- 35. Bentler PM. Comparative fit indexes in structural models. Psychological Bulletin 1990;107(2):238-246. [doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.107.2.238]
- 36. Hair J, Tatham R, Anderson R, Black W. Multivariate Data Analysis. 5th edition. London: Prentice-Hall; 1998:0138948585.
- 37. Brown T. Confirmatory factor analysis for applied research. New York: Guilford Press; 2006:9781462515363.
- Marsh HW, Hau K, Wen Z. In Search of Golden Rules: Comment on Hypothesis-Testing Approaches to Setting Cutoff Values for Fit Indexes and Dangers in Overgeneralizing Hu and Bentler's (1999) Findings. Structural Equation Modeling: A Multidisciplinary Journal 2004 Jul;11(3):320-341. [doi: <u>10.1207/s15328007sem1103\_2</u>]
- Nayak S, Blumenfeld NR, Laksanasopin T, Sia SK. Point-of-Care Diagnostics: Recent Developments in a Connected Age. Anal. Chem 2016 Dec 13;89(1):102-123. [doi: <u>10.1021/acs.analchem.6b04630</u>]
- 40. Henriksen A, Haugen Mikalsen M, Woldaregay AZ, Muzny M, Hartvigsen G, Hopstock LA, et al. Using Fitness Trackers and Smartwatches to Measure Physical Activity in Research: Analysis of Consumer Wrist-Worn Wearables. J Med Internet Res 2018 Mar 22;20(3):e110. [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9157] [Medline: 29567635]

- 41. Garg S, Williams NL, Ip A, Dicker AP. Clinical Integration of Digital Solutions in Health Care: An Overview of the Current Landscape of Digital Technologies in Cancer Care. JCO Clin Cancer Inform 2018 Dec;2:1-9 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/CCI.17.00159] [Medline: 30652580]
- 42. Nittas V, Lun P, Ehrler F, Puhan MA, Mütsch M. Electronic Patient-Generated Health Data to Facilitate Disease Prevention and Health Promotion: Scoping Review. J Med Internet Res 2019 Oct 14;21(10):e13320. [doi: <u>10.2196/13320</u>]
- 43. Omboni S. Connected Health in Hypertension Management. Front Cardiovasc Med 2019 Jun 13;6:76 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2019.00076] [Medline: 31263703]

### Abbreviations

PROM: patient-reported outcome measure
PROMIS: Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Inventory System
PSI: Parsley Symptom Index
ROS: review of symptoms
TLI: Tucker–Lewis index

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 26.03.21; peer-reviewed by A Bashir; comments to author 19.04.21; revised version received 02.05.21; accepted 16.05.21; published 11.06.21.

Please cite as:

Williams H, Steinberg S, Berzin R The Development of a Digital Patient-Reported Outcome Measurement for Adults With Chronic Disease (The Parsley Symptom Index): Prospective Cohort Study JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e29122 URL: https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e29122 doi:10.2196/29122 PMID:33999007

©Hants Williams, Sarah Steinberg, Robin Berzin. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 11.06.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



### **Viewpoint**

### Using Emerging Telehealth Technology as a Future Model in Vietnam During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Practical Experience From Phutho General Hospital

Ngoc Huy Nguyen<sup>1\*</sup>, MD, PhD; An Quang Nguyen<sup>2\*</sup>, MD, PhD; Van Thi Bich Ha<sup>2</sup>, MSc, MD; Phuong Xuan Duong<sup>2</sup>, MSc, MD; Thong Van Nguyen<sup>3</sup>, MD, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Department of Health, Phutho Province, Viet Tri, Vietnam

<sup>2</sup>Phutho General Hospital, Viet Tri, Vietnam

<sup>3</sup>Vietnam Association of Stroke, Hanoi, Vietnam

\*these authors contributed equally

### **Corresponding Author:**

Ngoc Huy Nguyen, MD, PhD Department of Health Phutho Province Tran Phu Str Viet Tri, 0084 Vietnam Phone: 84 0985179888 Email: ngochuynguyen8888@gmail.com

### Abstract

Telehealth has emerged as a model of modern technology for health care services in Vietnam during the COVID-19 pandemic. To actively prevent the outbreak of COVID-19 by using a national digital transformation program, the Vietnamese Ministry of Health launched project 2628/Quyet dinh-Bo y te, which approved a scheme for remote medical examinations and treatments for 2020 to 2025. The project aims to connect 1000 hospitals to strengthen the quality of medical services by using the expertise of central hospitals to support rural areas via provincial hospitals. Phutho General Hospital (PGH) is one of leading provincial hospitals that participated in and applied the early telehealth systems in Vietnam. By using telehealth systems, PGH can offer valuable support to doctors' activities by streamlining and facilitating their work. Telehealth was demonstrated to be feasible, acceptable, and effective at PGH in Vietnam, and it resulted in considerable improvements in health care outcomes. The COVID-19 pandemic has facilitated the acceleration and enhancement of telehealth in Vietnam. The success of telehealth in Phutho may be a useful reference for other parts of the world. However, this telehealth system focuses on the connectivity among doctors rather than the connectivity between doctors and patients, which is an area that needs further assessment.

### (JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e27968) doi:10.2196/27968

### **KEYWORDS**

telehealth; telemedicine; teleconsultation; COVID-19; Vietnam; digital health; pandemic

### Introduction

Since the outbreak of COVID-19, which originated in Wuhan, China, in 2020, the disease has spread widely across the world [1,2]. The disease has affected 221 countries, and the latest data show that the outbreak has affected over 106 million people and has resulted in over 2.3 million deaths [3,4]. The primary symptoms of COVID-19 include fever, dry cough, and breathing difficulty [5,6]. Older adults and those with underlying medical problems such as hypertension, heart disease problems, and diabetes are more susceptible to developing the most severe

RenderX

form of the disease [7]. COVID-19 has impacted both health services and the global economy [8]. The COVID-19 outbreak has diminished prospects of an economic recovery, and many key sectors have been affected, particularly travel and tourism, retail, and other service sectors [8,9].

A method for controlling the transmission of SARS-CoV-2 is social distancing, which is made possible by the reduction of person-to-person contact [10,11]. In the context of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, telehealth has emerged as an ideal method for facilitating communication among people and has played a critical role in supporting the diagnosis and treatment of diseases

in many hospitals [12]. Vietnam is a country that has controlled the pandemic very effectively-according to an assessment by the World Health Organization-thanks to political systems as well as the active application of new and advanced technology [13]. In the war against the COVID-19 pandemic, the Vietnamese Ministry of Health launched project 2628/Quyet dinh-Bo y te (QD-BYT) on June 22, 2020, which approved a scheme for remote medical examinations and treatments for 2020 to 2025 [14]. The National Steering Committee established the Vietnam Telemedicine Center for COVID-19 Outbreak Control in June 2020. The center frequently holds web-based consultations that involve the participation of leading professors across the country to provide advice on critical cases, discuss optimal treatments, and share experiences of inpatient treatment and care with participating experts and hospitals as if there were no distance between North and South Vietnam or high and low levels of health care. Such web-based consultations have greatly contributed to the treatment of patients with COVID-19; as of June 15, 2020, there have been no COVID-19 cases. The establishment of the Vietnam Telemedicine Center for COVID-19 Outbreak Control marked the development of medical examinations and treatment systems that are based on scientific and technological advances, especially those for dangerous infectious diseases such as COVID-19.

This paper aims to present the results of applying telehealth in Vietnam at Phutho General Hospital (PGH), which is the largest provincial hospital in the northwest region of Vietnam, as well as the advantages and challenges of early-stage telehealth in Vietnam.

### PGH's Experience in Developing a Model for the Application of Telehealth in Vietnam

PGH, the largest public hospital in the northwest region of Vietnam, has over 1500 beds, 20 departments, and 9 centers. Currently, PGH is a satellite hospital that consists of 8 national hospitals. Hospital facilities and equipment are being enhanced, and many advanced medical technologies and techniques are being applied to medical examinations and treatments. Recognizing the importance of advancements in technology, PGH implemented telehealth technologies, which has allowed the hospital to connect with national hospitals via information technology systems. PGH has registered and signed agreements with 8 national hospitals (Table 1) as part of project 1628/QD-BYT to launch official telehealth models for medical examination and treatment services for 2020 to 2025, including teleconsultations, telesurgery consultations, telemedicine, and videoconferences.

 Table 1. Application of telehealth at Phutho General Hospital and national hospitals.

Model	Hospital network	Achievements	Challenges	Launch year
Teleconsultation	Bach Mai Hospital, Viet Duc University Hospital, National Hospital of Tropi- cal Diseases, and Vietnam National Cancer Hospital	<ul> <li>Many cases on resuscitation, emergency and intensive care, surgery, respiratory diseases, oncology, etc</li> <li>Teleconsultations became a useful routine for the hospital network.</li> <li>The information technology system is relatively complete.</li> <li>Improving the knowledge, qualifications, and abilities of physicians</li> <li>Learning by doing via real cases</li> <li>A huge amount of recorded data for training</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Information technology supporting staff is not always available</li> <li>Investing into the information technology systems among hospital networks</li> <li>Time differences and daily work among hospital networks</li> <li>Unavailable payment insurance</li> <li>Patients' privacy</li> <li>Internet speed</li> </ul>	2015
Heart surgery tele- mentoring	Hanoi Heart Hospital	• 10 heart operations	<ul> <li>Only performing simple heart surgery cases</li> <li>Patients' privacy</li> <li>Internet speed</li> </ul>	2020
Telemedicine	Hanoi Medical University Hospital	• Daily support for patients who need the service, including patients with neurological disease, hypertension, diabetes, etc	<ul> <li>Only cooperating with Hanoi Medical University Hospital</li> <li>Unavailable payment insurance</li> <li>Patients' privacy</li> </ul>	2020
Videoconference	Vietnamese Ministry of Health	• Monthly meetings for direction and management	• Internet speed	2020



### Implementing Telehealth to Improve Knowledge and the Quality of Treatment and Education

On June 22, 2020, given the complex issues resulting from the pandemic, COVID-19 the Vietnamese government comprehensively reviewed its epidemic prevention plan and decided to approve a scheme for "remote medical examination and treatment for 2020 - 2025." The scheme has rapidly received strong support from the medical community, doctors, and citizens. After nearly 3 months of preparation, on September 24, 2020, the Ministry of Health of Vietnam officially launched the remote medical examination and treatment program, thereby connecting 1000 hospitals, including 20 central hospitals. The project aims to reduce the burden on central hospitals, increase the quality of medical examination and treatment in primary health care facilities, save costs, and improve patients' experiences and satisfaction while ensuring the safety of medical staff, doctors, and patients during the COVID-19 pandemic. The program receives financial support from the Vietnamese Government for both inpatients and outpatients, regardless of whether patients have insurance or not, and telehealth services are provided free of charge. The medical specialties include the cardiology, oncology, respiratory and musculoskeletal fields.

As one of the earliest hospitals to participate in the project, PGH launched a telehealth clinic on November 14, 2020. Teleconsultations were one of the applications that physicians in PGH used commonly to consult with specialists from Bach Mai hospital, Viet Duc Hospital, the National Hospital of Tropical Diseases, and the Vietnam National Cancer Hospital (Table 1). The teleclinic office is equipped with a 52-inch

screen, a 48-inch screen, and 2 computers with a high-speed internet connection. Doctors in PGH have to prepare PowerPoint presentations about patients in advance to present cases to and discuss them with specialists (ie, cases that need help and expertise). Teleconsultations helped PGH improve their medical staff's knowledge, improve the quality of treatment via treatment plans, ensure that appropriate referrals or evacuations were conducted, improve the accuracy of diagnoses, and provide opportunities for education. The telehealth network was high in quality and resulted in faster decision making, shorter diagnosis times, faster and better patient management, shorter lengths of hospitalization and intensive care unit stays, improved diagnostic accuracy in triage, reduced anxiety, better education, increased confidence, and fewer unnecessary procedures.

Another breakthrough of telemedicine in PGH was successfully applying telemedicine in surgery. For example, on August 6, 2020, PGH organized a telemedicine cardiovascular surgery program for PGH and Hanoi Heart Hospital for the case of a 55-month-old child with a ventricular septal defect hole under 2 aortas (Figure 1). Before the operation, surgeons and technicians had a teleconsultation with cardiologists from Hanoi Heart Hospital to plan the surgery strategy. During the operation, a camera livestreamed the operation. The surgeons received advice and guidance from the cardiologists during the operation. Furthermore, doctors at Hanoi Heart Hospital have successfully carried out the first web-based heart surgeries in Vietnam for patients at PGH via the telehealth system that was developed by Viettel Group (Figure 2). Currently, the hospital has conducted 10 heart operations, including treatments for mitral stenosis, mitral regurgitation, ventricular septal defects, aortic valve stenosis, mucous tumors, atrial fibrillation, and heart failure.

**Figure 1.** Real-time heart surgery telementoring for a case involving a 55-month-old child with a ventricular septal defect hole under 2 aortas. Telementoring was conducted during the COVID-19 outbreak between Phutho General Hospital and Hanoi Heart Hospital.





Figure 2. Telesurgery consultation via the web-based platform.



Telehealth Has Changed the Way That Doctors From PGH and National Hospitals Collaborate During the COVID-19 Pandemic

The COVID-19 outbreak has changed the way that people contact and communicate with PGH and national hospitals. Telehealth is a model that uses electronic information and telecommunication technologies to support and promote long-distance clinical health care, patient and professional health-related education, public health care facilities, and health administration agencies. Telehealth technology helps doctors connect patients with physicians through video calls, emails, and web-based patient portals and enables real-time consultations between specialists. A quick web-based visit can improve diagnosis and treatment efficiency, help with improving patients' experiences, and reduce the number of complications and hospital admissions. Recently, many researchers have indicated that using telehealth for specialty visits connects primary care physicians, specialists, and patients, resulting in the enhanced coordination of care and speedy diagnoses [15]. This service is also comfortable and beneficial for patients who need follow-up care without a physical exam for monitoring medication side effects or patients who have nonurgent questions after surgery [12].

Telemedicine has changed the approach of health care services and how they are delivered. Telemedicine has also offered many advantages for doctors and patients in PGH, as shown in the following sections.

### Strengthening the Quality of Health Care Services in Primary Health Care Centers and Remote Communities

Doctors and physicians in remote, rural areas of Phutho province can learn from experienced doctors. This is an opportunity for PGH to receive professional support remotely and gradually improve the quality of medical services. Often, using smartphones to transmit images and videos is much more convenient than using formal videoconferencing technology and is often preferred by doctors [16].

Patients can easily receive consultations and prescriptions from leading physicians in national hospitals without having to travel long distances, which saves time and money. From a psychological perspective, rural patients in Vietnam always want to be examined and cared for by central medical staff who are believed to have more experience, knowledge, and skills than lower-level medical teams. Therefore, telemedicine increases patients' access to care when it involves extended specialist and physician access. This results in telemedicine improving patient engagement and satisfaction.

## Telemedicine Can Effectively Slow Down the Spread of Infection

Telehealth is an effective option for supporting the fight against the outbreak of COVID-19, as it reduces the risk of coming into contact with people with SARS-CoV-2 infection [17]. Hospital-acquired infection is a serious problem in Vietnam—a tropical country that has a high risk of nosocomial infection. Telemedicine has the advantage of digital health care solutions that can prevent the spread of the pandemic nationwide because they help reduce the amount of direct contact with patients and

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e27968
```

decrease the risk of infection for health staff. Thus, the benefits of telemedicine are obvious when it comes to social distancing and decreasing the spread of diseases.

### Limitations

Telehealth and telemedicine have emerged as new models of health technology and have been applied in many hospitals in Vietnam during the COVID-19 outbreak. However, there are some limitations.

First, telemedicine may not suit every person or situation. Second, medical data maybe at risk of being violated by hackers and being accessed by other criminals, especially if a patient accesses telemedicine services on a public network or via an unencrypted channel. Third, care may be delayed when a person needs emergency care, as accessing telemedicine services first may delay treatment, particularly since a doctor cannot provide lifesaving care or conduct laboratory tests digitally. Fourth, technological concerns can be challenging; a weak internet connection can make it especially difficult to offer quality care. Fifth, not all hospitals are equipped for telemedicine, particularly those that lack computer terminals, which are necessary for implementing telemedicine services.

### Data Availability

The data reported in this paper can be made available by the corresponding author upon request from qualified investigators.

### Conclusion

Telehealth has emerged as a model of modern technology for health care services in Vietnam during the COVID-19 outbreak. This report is the first to provide the early results of counseling and support activities of remote examination and treatment activities in Vietnam. It is expected that these remote examination and treatment consultancy activities, which are based on an information technology platform, will increasingly promote and ensure the efficiency and sustainability of telehealth in Vietnam.

The results from PGH show the advantages of using telehealth in remote examinations that adhere to the treatment system standards of the Ministry of Health. By integrating modern data transmission technology and using high-speed internet, the system is capable processing data in real time and supporting the remote delivery of surgery. Doctors at higher-level hospitals can directly guide surgeons of lower-level hospitals, thereby shortening the process of treating patients in emergencies.

The COVID-19 pandemic has allowed unprecedented opportunities for telemedicine to develop. These opportunities require heightened engagement from the government to make sure that a regulatory foundation is implemented. A synchronized telemedicine system should be built in Vietnam in the future.

### Acknowledgments

This work was supported by the Division of Science and International Cooperation of PGH in Vietnam.

### **Authors' Contributions**

All authors were involved in the drafting of the manuscript and agreed to its publication. All authors read and approved their sections of the final manuscript. NHN and AQN read and approved all sections of the final manuscript.

### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

### References

- 1. Cucinotta D, Vanelli M. WHO declares COVID-19 a pandemic. Acta Biomed 2020 Mar 19;91(1):157-160 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.23750/abm.v91i1.9397] [Medline: 32191675]
- Mackenzie JS, Smith DW. COVID-19: a novel zoonotic disease caused by a coronavirus from China: what we know and what we don't. Microbiol Aust. Epub ahead of print 2020 Mar 17 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1071/MA20013] [Medline: 32226946]
- 3. Novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV) Situation Report 11. Data as reported by 31 January 2020. World Health Organization. URL: <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/330776/nCoVsitrep31Jan2020-eng.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-06-11]
- Sohrabi C, Alsafi Z, O'Neill N, Khan M, Kerwan A, Al-Jabir A, et al. World Health Organization declares global emergency: A review of the 2019 novel coronavirus (COVID-19). Int J Surg 2020 Apr;76:71-76 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijsu.2020.02.034] [Medline: 32112977]
- Huang C, Wang Y, Li X, Ren L, Zhao J, Hu Y, et al. Clinical features of patients infected with 2019 novel coronavirus in Wuhan, China. Lancet 2020 Feb 15;395(10223):497-506 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30183-5] [Medline: 31986264]
- Jiang F, Deng L, Zhang L, Cai Y, Cheung CW, Xia Z. Review of the clinical characteristics of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). J Gen Intern Med 2020 May;35(5):1545-1549 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-020-05762-w] [Medline: 32133578]

- Coronavirus disease (COVID-19). World Health Organization. 2020 Oct 12. URL: <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/</u> <u>q-a-detail/coronavirus-disease-covid-19</u> [accessed 2021-02-20]
- Mofijur M, Fattah IMR, Alam MA, Islam ABMS, Ong HC, Rahman SMA, et al. Impact of COVID-19 on the social, economic, environmental and energy domains: Lessons learnt from a global pandemic. Sustain Prod Consum 2021 Apr;26:343-359 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.spc.2020.10.016] [Medline: 33072833]
- 9. Sanyaolu A, Okorie C, Marinkovic A, Patidar R, Younis K, Desai P, et al. Comorbidity and its impact on patients with COVID-19. SN Compr Clin Med 2020 Jun 25:1-8 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s42399-020-00363-4] [Medline: 32838147]
- Smith AC, Thomas E, Snoswell CL, Haydon H, Mehrotra A, Clemensen J, et al. Telehealth for global emergencies: Implications for coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). J Telemed Telecare 2020 Jun;26(5):309-313 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1357633X20916567] [Medline: 32196391]
- Hollander JE, Carr BG. Virtually perfect? Telemedicine for Covid-19. N Engl J Med 2020 Apr 30;382(18):1679-1681. [doi: <u>10.1056/NEJMp2003539</u>] [Medline: <u>32160451</u>]
- 12. Monaghesh E, Hajizadeh A. The role of telehealth during COVID-19 outbreak: a systematic review based on current evidence. BMC Public Health 2020 Aug 01;20(1):1193 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-020-09301-4] [Medline: 32738884]
- 13. The key to Viet Nam's successful COVID-19 response: A UN Resident Coordinator blog. UN News. 2020 Aug 29. URL: https://news.un.org/en/story/2020/08/1070852 [accessed 2021-06-11]
- 14. Decision 2628/QD-BYT 2020 approving scheme for remote medical examination and treatment. vanbanphapluat.co. 2020 Jun 22. URL: <u>https://vanbanphapluat.co/decision-2628-qd-byt-2020-approving-scheme-for-remote-medical-examination-and-treatment</u> [accessed 2021-06-18]
- 15. Kvedar J, Coye MJ, Everett W. Connected health: a review of technologies and strategies to improve patient care with telemedicine and telehealth. Health Aff (Millwood) 2014 Feb;33(2):194-199. [doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.2013.0992] [Medline: 24493760]
- 16. Demaerschalk BM, Vargas JE, Channer DD, Noble BN, Kiernan TEJ, Gleason EA, et al. Smartphone teleradiology application is successfully incorporated into a telestroke network environment. Stroke 2012 Nov;43(11):3098-3101. [doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.112.669325] [Medline: 22968466]
- 17. Chauhan V, Galwankar S, Arquilla B, Garg M, Somma SD, El-Menyar A, et al. Novel coronavirus (COVID-19): Leveraging telemedicine to optimize care while minimizing exposures and viral transmission. J Emerg Trauma Shock 2020;13(1):20-24 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4103/JETS.JETS\_32\_20] [Medline: 32308272]

### Abbreviations

**PGH:** Phutho General Hospital **QD-BYT:** Quyet dinh-Bo y te

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 15.02.21; peer-reviewed by T Nguyen, M Vu, E van der Velde, R Menhas, Z Ye; comments to author 20.03.21; revised version received 05.04.21; accepted 02.06.21; published 22.06.21.

Please cite as:

Nguyen NH, Nguyen AQ, Ha VTB, Duong PX, Nguyen TV Using Emerging Telehealth Technology as a Future Model in Vietnam During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Practical Experience From Phutho General Hospital JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e27968 URL: https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e27968 doi:10.2196/27968 PMID:34078590

©Ngoc Huy Nguyen, An Quang Nguyen, Van Thi Bich Ha, Phuong Xuan Duong, Thong Van Nguyen. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 22.06.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

### **Original Paper**

## Health Perceptions and Adopted Lifestyle Behaviors During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Cross-National Survey

Nandi Krishnamurthy Manjunath<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Vijaya Majumdar<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Antonietta Rozzi<sup>2</sup>, MA; Wang Huiru<sup>3</sup>, PhD; Avinash Mishra<sup>4</sup>, PhD; Keishin Kimura<sup>5</sup>; Raghuram Nagarathna<sup>1</sup>, MD; Hongasandra Ramarao Nagendra<sup>1</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Swami Vivekananda Yoga Anusandhana Samsthana University, Bengaluru, India

<sup>2</sup>Sarva Yoga International, Sarzana SP, Italy

<sup>3</sup>Shanghai Jiao Tong University, Shanghai, China

<sup>4</sup>Vivekananda Yoga China, Shanghai, China

<sup>5</sup>Japan Yoga Therapy Society, Yonago City, Japan

### **Corresponding Author:**

Vijaya Majumdar, PhD Swami Vivekananda Yoga Anusandhana Samsthana University #19, Eknath Bhavan, Gavipuram Circle KG Naga Bengaluru, 560019 India Phone: 91 08026995163 Email: vijaya.majumdar@svyasa.edu.in

### Abstract

**Background:** Social isolation measures are requisites to control viral spread during the COVID-19 pandemic. However, if these measures are implemented for a long period of time, they can result in adverse modification of people's health perceptions and lifestyle behaviors.

**Objective:** The aim of this cross-national survey was to address the lack of adequate real-time data on the public response to changes in lifestyle behavior during the crisis of the COVID-19 pandemic.

**Methods:** A cross-national web-based survey was administered using Google Forms during the month of April 2020. The settings were China, Japan, Italy, and India. There were two primary outcomes: (1) response to the health scale, defined as perceived health status, a combined score of health-related survey items; and (2) adoption of healthy lifestyle choices, defined as the engagement of the respondent in any two of three healthy lifestyle choices (healthy eating habits, engagement in physical activity or exercise, and reduced substance use). Statistical associations were assessed with linear and logistic regression analyses.

**Results:** We received 3371 responses; 1342 were from India (39.8%), 983 from China (29.2%), 669 from Italy (19.8%), and 377 (11.2%) from Japan. A differential countrywise response was observed toward perceived health status; the highest scores were obtained for Indian respondents (9.43, SD 2.43), and the lowest were obtained for Japanese respondents (6.81, SD 3.44). Similarly, countrywise differences in the magnitude of the influence of perceptions on health status were observed; perception of interpersonal relationships was most pronounced in the comparatively old Italian and Japanese respondents ( $\beta$ =.68 and .60, respectively), and the fear response was most pronounced in Chinese respondents ( $\beta$ =.71). Overall, 78.4% of the respondents adopted at least two healthy lifestyle choices amid the COVID-19 pandemic. Unlike health status, the influence of perception of interpersonal relationships on the adoption of lifestyle choices was not unanimous, and it was absent in the Italian respondents (odds ratio 1.93, 95% CI 0.65-5.79). The influence of perceived health status was a significant predictor of lifestyle change across all the countries, most prominently by approximately 6-fold in China and Italy.

**Conclusions:** The overall consistent positive influence of increased interpersonal relationships on health perceptions and adopted lifestyle behaviors during the pandemic is the key real-time finding of the survey. Favorable behavioral changes should be bolstered through regular virtual interpersonal interactions, particularly in countries with an overall middle-aged or older population. Further, controlling the fear response of the public through counseling could also help improve health perceptions and lifestyle behavior. However, the observed human behavior needs to be viewed within the purview of cultural disparities, self-perceptions, demographic variances, and the influence of countrywise phase variations of the pandemic. The observations derived from a short lockdown period are preliminary, and real insight could only be obtained from a longer follow-up.

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e23630) doi:10.2196/23630

#### Manjunath et al

### **KEYWORDS**

health behavior; self-report; cross-national survey; COVID-19; behavior; perception; lifestyle; nutrition; real-time

### Introduction

The World Health Organization (WHO) declared the outbreak of COVID-19 a pandemic on March 11, 2020 [1]. As of March 24, 2020, the most affected regions in the world were the Western Pacific region (China, the Republic of Korea, Japan, etc), with a total of 96,580 reported confirmed cases, and the European region (Italy, Spain, Germany, the United Kingdom, etc), which accounted for a total of 195,511 positive cases [2]. There was a global panic due to the shifting of the COVID-19 epicenters from China to Europe, mainly Italy, which reported the worst outcomes up to March 25, 2020 (69,176 reported cases and the maximum number of COVID-19 deaths of 6820) [2].

Global disease outbreaks impact varied aspects of physical and mental health, even suicidality [3-5]. As observed in the infectious disease epidemic of severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS) in 2003, exposure to new pathogens can manifest as a qualitatively distinct mental impact [6]. Social isolation measures (large-scale quarantines, long-term home confinements, and nationwide lockdowns) [7-11], although essential for controlling viral spread, go against the inherent human instinct of social relationships [12,13]. If these measures are implemented for a long duration, they can be detrimental to mental health, as observed in recent reports from China and Vietnam [14-17], and they are expected to result in modification of people's lifestyle behaviors, such as increased adoption of unhealthy dietary habits and sedentary behavior. These changes can exacerbate the burden of the "pandemics" of behavioral and cardiovascular diseases that already prevail in modern societies [18,19]. The latest trends of re-emergences of such infectious disease outbreaks merit timely preparedness involving community engagement and focus on healthy lifestyle behaviors [20,21]. Although the mental impact of the COVID-19 pandemic is being addressed in a timely fashion [22,23], the associated real-time influences on people's health perceptions and lifestyle choices remain underresearched [24,25]. Careful consideration of the demographic and cultural impact of tailored public health intervention strategies on human behavior is also greatly needed when designing such strategies. Here, we report the findings of a cross-national survey that aimed to generate rapid perspectives on the status of health-related perceptions and their influence on the likelihood of adoption of healthy lifestyle choices during the COVID-19 pandemic. The settings were China and Japan, two nations in the Western Pacific region that were greatly impacted by COVID-19; Italy, from the European region; and India, a highly populous South Asian country that was a potential threat region at the time of the survey [2,7-9,11].

### Methods

### **Sampling and Data Collection**

Given the restricted mobility restrictions and confinement due to the COVID-19 lockdown, we conducted a

cross-sectional survey using a web-based platform. We disseminated the survey through the circulation of a Google Form via institutional websites and private social media networks, such as Facebook and WhatsApp. We also used the group email lists of a few social organizations, universities, academic institutions, and their interconnections to share the questionnaire links, which further facilitated the snowball sampling. The respondents were residents of China, Japan, Italy, and India who were aged 18 years or older. We anonymized the data to preserve and protect confidentiality. The study was approved by the institutional review boards and institutional ethics committees of the respective nations: Swami Vivekananda Yoga Anusandhana Samsthana (SVYASA), India; Sarva Yoga International, Italy; Shanghai Jiao Tong University, China; and Japan Yoga Therapy Society, Japan. Respondents were informed about the objectives of the survey and the anonymity of their responses. Informed consent was obtained through a declaration of the participants of their voluntary participation, the confidentiality of the data, and the use of the collected information for research purposes only. The survey period was April 3-28, 2020. Once submitted, the responses were directly used for the analysis, and revisions of the responses were not allowed.

#### **Questionnaire Structure**

We chose a short format for the questionnaire, with 19 questions to facilitate rapid administration. The first set of questions (Q1-Q5) were related to the respondents' demographic details: age, gender, country of residence, working status, and the presence of any chronic illness or disability diagnosed by a physician. The next set (Q6-Q14) contained perception-related questions on self-rated physical and mental health, sleep quality, coping ability, energy status (a psychological state defined as an individual's potential to perform mental and physical activity [26,27]), coping flexibility, and perceptions related to interpersonal relationships as well as the fear of the pandemic. The questions were phrased as statements, with responses recorded on 3- or 5-point scales. For example, the respondents were requested to self-rate their mental and physical health status with the questions "How do you rate your physical health at present as" and "How do rate your mental health at present as" with answer modalities of (1) excellent, (2) very good, (3) good, (4) average, and (5) poor. These single-item self-health assessment questions are validated tools used in national surveys and epidemiological studies to assess health perceptions among individuals, strongly related to various morbidities, and mortality, and they have been validated across various ethnicities [28-33]. A further set of questions (Q15-Q19) focused on items related to the respondents' recent lifestyle behavior choices: eating habits, engagement in physical activity or exercise, and substance use. Permitted responses for these behavior-related questions were either yes or no. For eating habits, the respondents provided self-rated scores for their time of eating; nourishment related to intake of vegetables and fibers; and daily

intake of "junk food" (described as packaged and processed sweets or salty snacks); the combined scores were dichotomized into "good" (score  $\geq$ 3) and "poor" (score  $\leq$ 2).

### **Data Analysis**

An exploratory factor analysis using the principal axis factoring and varimax rotation suggested that three factors were present in the data. Items related to health perceptions were used to form a scale for perceived health status (the health scale); the scores were represented as mean (SD). For the remaining two factors, we could not form scales, as they scored Cronbach  $\alpha$ values <.6; instead, we used the most relevant single item to represent the factor. The two primary outcomes of the study were the health scale and the adoption of healthy lifestyle choices. The health scale was derived as mentioned above; further health scale scores were categorized based on tertile distribution into low (poor), middle (average), and high (good) scores. Adoption of healthy lifestyle choices was defined as the engagement of the respondent in any two of three healthy lifestyle choices (eating habits, substance use, and exercise). Multivariate linear and logistic regression analyses were used

to test the influence of the perceptions and the personal variables on the primary outcomes. Most of the items in the survey were recorded as 3-point responses. Hence, to achieve homogeneity in the analyses of the survey items, the 5-point Likert responses of the self-rated health items, excellent, very good, good, average, and poor, were collapsed into three categories: (1) very good/excellent, (2) good, and (3) average/poor. Analysis of variance was used to assess comparisons between continuous variables, and P<.05 was considered significant. Chi-square analysis was used for cross-country comparisons for categorical variables.

### Results

The aim of this survey was to understand the cross-national psychosocial and behavioral impact of the lockdowns and social isolations imposed due to the COVID-19 pandemic. We received 3370 responses: 1342 from India (39.8%), 983 from China (29.2%), 669 from Italy (19.8%), and 377 from Japan (11.2%). The demographic profiles of the respondents are presented in Table 1.

 Table 1. Countrywise representation of the personal characteristics of the survey participants.

Variable	Overall (N=3371)	India (n=1342)	China (n=983)	Japan (n=377)	Italy (n=669)	P value <sup>a</sup>
Age (years), mean (SD)	36.04 (15.54)	29.42 (12.29)	29.77 (11.98)	53.49 (9.35)	48.43 (13.65)	<.001
Age group (years), n (%)						<.001
18-24	1200 (35.6)	685 (51.0)	490 (49.8)	1 (0.3)	31 (4.7)	
25-34	503 (14.9)	267 (19.9)	152 (15.5)	4 (1.1)	84 (12.5)	
35-54	1176 (34.9)	330 (24.6)	314 (32.0)	217 (57.5)	309 (46.2)	
55-64	330 (9.8)	40 (3.0)	21 (2.1)	98 (26.0)	169 (25.2)	
>65	162 (4.8)	20 (1.5)	6 (0.6)	57 (15.1)	76 (11.4)	
Female gender, n (%)	2535 (75.2)	880 (65.6)	802 (81.6)	348 (92.0)	506 (75.6)	<.001
Working, n (%)	1709 (50.7)	582 (43.4)	406 (41.3)	335 (89.0)	395 (59.0)	<.001
Has a chronic illness, n (%)	647 (19.2)	169 (12.6)	84 (8.5)	151 (40.0)	314 (46.9)	<.001

<sup>a</sup>Cross-country comparisons for categorical variables were conducted using chi-square analysis. Analysis of variance was conducted to assess comparisons among the continuous variable of age. A *P* value <.05 was considered significant.

The mean age of the respondents was 36.04 years (SD 15.54) (Table 1); the average age of the Indian and Chinese respondents (29.42 years, SD 12.29, and 29.77 years, SD 11.98, respectively) was lower than that of the Japanese and Italian respondents (53.49 years, SD 9.35, and 48.43 years, SD 3.65, respectively). Overall, there was a higher representation of the female gender (2535/3371, 75.2%). Japan had the highest representation of women (348/377, 92.0%) and working people (335/377, 89.0%) (Table 1). Italy and Japan had the highest representations of respondents with a known status of chronic illness (314/669, 46.9%, and 151/377, 40.0%, respectively).

Table 2 shows the countrywise status of the perceptions of health and psychosocial factors reported in response to the ongoing outbreak of COVID-19. The health status score was highest for Indian respondents (9.43, SD 2.43) and lowest for Japanese respondents (6.81, SD 3.44). Overall, 846/3371 (25.1%) of the respondents had good health status; Japanese and Chinese respondents had the highest representation of low health status

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e23630
```

RenderX

(236/377, 62.6%, and 562/983, 57.2%, respectively). Sleep quality was perceived well by the majority of Indians (917/1342, 68.3%), and the majority of Japanese and Chinese respondents perceived their sleep quality as average/poor (264/377, 70%, and 554/983, 56.3%, respectively). Italian respondents had almost equal representations of good and average sleep qualities. Coping abilities during social isolation were perceived as good by 1264/3371 (37.5%) of the overall population, with the countrywise trend of India (672/1342, 50.1%) > Italy (283/669, 42.3%) > Japan (131/377, 34.8%) > China (178/983, 18.1%). Fear response was almost equally distributed in positive or intermediate categories for most of the country respondents, except for Italians, among whom the intermediate or partial fear response was the most evident (469/669, 70.1%). Coping flexibility responses were very similar across all the countries except Japan, wherein the majority of respondents (317/377, 84.1%) reported experiencing little challenging response to sudden changes in living norms. Responses to interpersonal

relationships followed the trend of India (733/1342, 54.6%) > Japan (183/377, 48.5%) > Italy (287/669, 42.9%) > China (337/983, 34.3%). Adopted lifestyle behavior yielded the trend of India (1129/1342, 83.9%) > Italy (361/669, 54.0%) > China (436/983, 44.4%) > Japan (137/377, 36.2%).

Based on the regression analysis on the perceived health status, female respondents had a 0.14 lower score compared to male respondents (Table 3). Participants with a positive history of chronic illness and those who were not working also had lower health status scores, by 0.11 and 0.04, respectively, compared to their counterparts. Increased personal relationships and positive fear response were associated with increases in health status across all the countries, particularly Japan, which showed the highest value of  $\beta$  (.60). For Indian respondents, an increase

in age was significantly associated with increase in health status by a score of 0.12.

Increased interpersonal relationships was a significant predictor of adoption of health lifestyle choices across the respondents in all the countries except for Italy (adjusted OR 1.93, 95% CI 0.65-5.79) (Table 4). Positive perception of fear was significantly associated with likelihood of adoption of healthy lifestyle choices only in Indian respondents (adjusted OR 2.41, 95% CI 1.18-4.96). Perceived health status categories were significantly associated with the likelihood of adoption of healthy lifestyle choices across all the countries; most prominently, high health status increased adoption of healthy lifestyle choices by approximately 6-fold in China and Italy.

### Manjunath et al

 Table 2.
 Countrywise representation of perceptions and behavioral changes among the survey respondents related to the COVID-19 outbreak.

Perception or behavior and response	Overall (N=3371)	India (n=1342)	China (n=983)	Japan (n=377)	Italy (n=669)	<i>P</i> value <sup>a</sup>
First factor <sup>b</sup>						
Health status, mean (SD)	8.26 (3.36)	9.43 (2.43)	7.09 ( 2.92)	6.81 (3.44)	8.43 (2.56)	.01
High, n (%)	846 (25.1)	556 (41.4)	71 (7.2)	69 (18.3)	150 (22.4)	
Medium, n (%)	1062 (31.5)	413 (30.8)	350 (35.6)	72 (19.1)	225 (33.6)	
Low, n (%)	1463 (43.4)	413 (30.8)	562 (57.2)	236 (62.6)	294 (43.9)	
Self-rated physical health, n (%)						<.001
Excellent/very good	1357 (40.2)	629 (46.9)	467 (47.5)	88 (23.3)	173 (25.9)	
Good	1283 (38.1)	573 (42.7)	200 (20.3)	135 (35.8)	375 (56.0)	
Poor/average	731 (21.7)	140 (10.4)	316 (32.1)	154 (40.8)	121 (18.1)	
Self-rated mental health, n (%)						<.001
Excellent/very good	944 (28.0)	645 (48.1)	0 (0)	93 (24.7)	206 (30.8)	
Good	1670	535 (39.9)	642 (65.3)	122 (32.4)	371 (55.4)	
	(49.5)					
Poor/average	757 (22.5)	162 (12.1)	341 (34.7)	162 (43.0)	92 (13.8)	
Self-rated sleep quality, n (%)						<.001
Good	1787 (53.0)	917 (68.3)	429 (43.6)	113 (29.9)	328 (49.0)	
Average	1305 (38.7)	354 (26.4)	477 (48.5)	234 (62.1)	240 (35.9)	
Poor	279 (8.3)	71 (5.3)	77 (7.8)	30 (8.0)	101 (15.1)	
Self-rated coping abilities, n (%)						<.001
Good	1264 (37.5)	672 (50.1)	178 (18.1)	131 (34.8)	283 (42.3)	
Average	1492 (44.3)	539 (40.1)	516 (52.5)	139 (36.8)	298 (44.5)	
Poor	615 (18.2)	131 (9.8)	289 (29.4)	107 (28.5)	88 (13.2)	
Second factor , n (%)						
Fear/anxiety related to COVID-19 <sup>c</sup>						<.001
Not at all (positive)	1380 (40.9)	628 (46.8)	470 (47.8)	157 (41.6)	125 (18.7)	
Partially (intermediate)	1829 (54.3)	662 (49.3)	485 (49.3)	213 (56.5)	469 (70.1)	
Extremely (negative)	162 (4.8)	52 (3.9)	28 (2.8)	7 (1.9)	75 (11.2)	
Self-perception of low energy						<.001
Never	1449 (43.0)	667 (49.7)	282 (28.7)	239 (63.4)	261 (39.0)	
Sometimes	1835 (54.5)	641 (47.8)	672 (68.4)	132 (35.0)	390 (58.3)	
All the time	87 (2.6)	34 (2.5)	29 (3.0)	6 (1.6)	18 (2.7)	
Challenging response to sudden chang	ges in living norm	s (coping flexibili	itv)	- ()		<.001
Least/not at all/little	845 (25.1)	436 (32.5)	221 (22.5)	44 (11.7)	144 (21.5)	
Little	1454 (43.1)	417 (31.1)	411 (41.8)	317 (84.1)	309 (46.2)	
Extremely/somewhat	1072 (31.8)	489 (36.4)	351 (35.7)	16 (4 2)	216 (32 3)	
Third factor. n (%)	1072 (0110)	.0, (20.1)	201 (2011)		-10 (02:0)	
u turiot, n (/v)						<.001
Interpersonal relationships	1540 (45 7)	722 (54 6)	227 (24 2)	102 (10 5)	297 (42.0)	
Increased	1540 (45.7)	/ 33 (34.6)	550 (56 D)	185 (48.5)	287 (42.9)	
Not changed	1572 (46.6)	555 (39.7)	55U (56.U)	1/9 (47.5)	310 (46.3)	

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e23630

XSL•FO RenderX JMIR Form Res 2021 | vol. 5 | iss. 6 |e23630 | p.350 (page number not for citation purposes)

Percept	ion or behavior and response	Overall (N=3371)	India (n=1342)	China (n=983)	Japan (n=377)	Italy (n=669)	P value <sup>a</sup>
	Reduced	259 (7.7)	76 (5.7)	96 (9.8)	15 (4.0)	72 (10.8)	
Mo	otivating influence of COVID-19 on	lifestyle					<.001
	Completely	1175 (34.8)	605 (45.1)	217 (22.1)	132 (35.0)	221 (33.0)	
	Partially	1919 (57.0)	641 (47.8)	695 (70.7)	223 (59.2)	360 (53.8)	
	Not at all	277 (8.2)	96 (7.1)	71 (7.2)	22 (5.8)	88 (13.2)	
Ad	option of $\geq 2$ healthy lifestyle choices	2643 (78.4)	1126 (83.9)	750 (76.3)	283 (75.1)	485 (72.5)	<.001
	Adoption of healthy eating behavior	1801 (53.4)	867 (64.6)	436 (44.4)	137 (36.3)	361 (54.0)	<.001
	Decreased dependency on and use of tobacco, alcohol, or any other substances	3173 (94.1)	1277 (95.2)	918 (93.4)	355 (94.1)	623 (93.1)	<.001
	Increased engagement in exercise or similar activities	2280 (67.6)	910 (67.8)	672 (68.4)	272 (72.1)	426 (63.7)	<.001

<sup>a</sup>Cross-country comparisons for categorical variables were conducted using chi-square analysis; all the *P* values were significant.

<sup>b</sup>An exploratory factor analysis using principal axis factoring and varimax rotation suggested that there were 3 factors present in the data. The first factor consisted of health-related perceptions; composite scores for perceived health were generated as summative scores of the included items.

<sup>c</sup>For the remaining 2 factors, scales could not be formed; rather, the single items that were thought to best summarize the respective factors were considered for further association analyses.

**Table 3.** Multivariate linear regression analysis ( $\beta$  coefficients, standard errors, and *t* and *P* values) of the association between health status, personal variables, and perceptions.

Predic- tors	Over	rall			India	l			Chin	a			Japa	n			Italy			
	β	SE	t	Р	β	SE	t	Р	β	SE	t	Р	β	SE	t	Р	β	SE	t	Р
Demograp	ohic v	ariabl	es																	
Age	.14	0.01	5.12	<.001	.12	0.01	3.74	<.001	.07	0.01	1.79	.07	.08	0.02	1.55	0.12	07	0.02	-0.66	.51
Gender	refer	ence:	male)																	
Fe- male	14	0.12	-7.51	<.001	09	0.14	-3.24	<.001	01	0.23	-0.35	.72	.01	0.64	-0.30	0.77	<.001	0.52	-0.03	.97
Working	; statu	ıs (ref	erence:	workir	ng)															
Not work- ing	04	0.13	-2.04	.04	01	0.15	-0.32	.75	02	0.23	-0.54	.59	04	0.56	-0.71	0.48	03	0.55	-0.36	.72
Chronic	illnes	s (refe	erence:	no)																
Yes	11	0.15	-5.63	<.001	16	0.20	-6.12	<.001	06	0.31	-2.04	.04	14	0.35	-2.81	0.01	09	0.47	-0.96	.34
Perception	ıs																			
Interper	sonal	relati	onships	(refere	ence: o	decrea	ised)													
In- creased	.37	0.21	10.76	<.001	.38	0.28	6.48	<.001	.21	0.31	4.12	<.001	.60	0.85	4.86	<.001	.27	0.68	2.17	.03
No change	.14	0.21	4.15	<.001	.21	0.29	3.71	<.001	.05	0.29	1.08	.28	.33	0.84	2.66	0.01	019	0.66	1.56	.12
Fear res	ponse	(refer	ence: p	oor)																
Posi- tive	.54	0.30	10.84	<.001	.59	0.33	8.69	<.001	.71	0.52	8.02	<.001	.54	1.38	2.72	0.01	.50	1.02	3.03	<.001
Fair	.29	0.30	5.82	<.001	.35	0.33	5.22	<.001	.38	0.51	4.35	<.001	.26	1.37	1.30	0.20	.30	0.97	1.77	.08

XSL•FO RenderX

Manjunath et al

Table 4. Role of perceptions in the adoption of healthy lifestyle choices.

Perception	Overall		India		China		Japan		Italy	
	OR <sup>a</sup> (95% CI)	Adjusted <sup>b</sup> OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	Adjusted OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	Adjusted OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	Adjusted OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	Adjusted OR (95% CI)
Health stat	us (referenc	e: low)								
High	3.67	3.42	2.98	2.62	6.02	5.83	3.64	2.83	3.33	6.22
	(2.87- 4.68)	(2.51-4.64)	(2.07- 4.28)	(1.75-3.92)	(2.38- 15.20)	(2.30-4.79)	(1.59- 8.37)	(1.18-6.77)	(2.01- 5.51)	(1.90-20.40)
Medium	2.09	2.00	1.76	1.57	2.61	2.43	1.33	1.06	2.10	2.46
	(1.72- 2.54)	(1.59-2.50)	(1.24- 2.50)	(1.07-2.31)	(1.85- 3.69)	(1.72-3.45)	(0.72- 2.45)	(0.54-2.08)	(1.42- 3.12)	(1.03-5.83)
Interpersor	al relations	ships <sup>c</sup> (reference	e: decreased	I)						
In-	2.21	2.42	1.86	2.16	2.01	1.77	4.43	5.25	1.86	1.93
creased	(1.64- 2.98)	(1.70-3.45)	(1.03- 3.37)	(1.15-4.08)	(1.18- 3.41)	(1.03-3.05)	(1.49- 13.15)	(1.46-8.92)	(1.07- 3.22)	(0.65-5.79)
Not	1.25	1.18	1.09	1.18	1.03	0.99	1.87	1.88	1.59	1.40
changed	(0.94-1.7)	(0.84-1.66)	(0.60- 1.97)	(0.63-2.21)	(0.64- 1.68)	(0.61-1.62)	(0.65- 5.42)	(0.54-6.52)	(0.93- 2.73)	(0.50-3.96)
Fear respo	ıse <sup>c</sup> (referei	nce: poor)								
Positive	2.43	2.50	2.72	2.41	2.38	2.18	1.84	4.85	1.62	2.20
	(1.69- 3.50)	(1.54-4.05)	(1.38- 5.36)	(1.18-4.96)	(1.06- 5.33)	(0.96-4.94)	(0.34- 9.99)	(0.73-32.19)	(0.86- 3.04)	(0.41-11.71)
Fair	1.36	1.33	1.37	1.32	1.46	1.32	0.93	1.97	1.34	1.25
	(0.95- 1.93)	(0.83-2.14)	(0.71- 2.65)	(0.65-2.65)	(0.66- 3.23)	(0.59-2.96)	(0.18- 4.93)	(0.31-12.55)	(0.80- 2.27)	(0.27-5.80)

<sup>a</sup>OR: odds ratio.

<sup>b</sup>Adjusted for sex, age, work status, and history of chronic illness.

<sup>c</sup>Factor represented by a single item that was thought to best represent the underlying notion.

### Discussion

The aims of this short cross-national behavioral survey study were to generate rapid ideas regarding perspectives on health and lifestyle behavior and to provide initial insights into designing global but culturally tailored public health policies.

### Health Perceptions: Countrywise Status

A differential countrywise response was observed toward perceived health status across the survey participants; Indians had a better representation of high health status (41.4%) compared to respondents from other countries (China, 7.2%, Japan, 18.2%, and Italy, 22.5%). Despite the inconsistencies in health perceptions, there was a consistent influence of social support measured by perceptions of interpersonal relationships and fear of perceived health status. However, there were countrywise differences in the magnitude of the impact of perceptions on health status; perception of interpersonal relationships was most pronounced in the comparatively older Italian and Japanese respondents ( $\beta$ =.68 and .60, respectively) and that of fear in the Chinese respondents ( $\beta$ =.71). These findings favor the implementation of regularized virtual interpersonal interactions toward combating the adverse health impact of the pandemic, particularly in countries with a higher proportion of older people [34]. Controlling the fear response

RenderX

through counseling would also aid the improvement of health outcomes in populations affected by pandemics. The findings of this survey related to the influence of gender on health perceptions (the health status score of female respondents was lower by 0.14 units compared to that of male respondents) are in line with the global trend of poorer health perception in women than in their male counterparts [35]. These real-time findings observed during the pandemic also relate with reports documented before the COVID-19 pandemic, with a generally higher prevalence of adverse mental health symptoms in women compared to men [36]. Overall, there seemed to be a differential influence of demographic variables on health perceptions across the global population during the pandemic.

The comparatively high scores of the perceived health status in Indian respondents could be underlined by an early phase of the pandemic with slower progression in India during the survey period [11]. The younger age of the Indian respondents (mean age 29.42 years, SD 12.29) seemed to further facilitate interpersonal relationships (54.6%) during the lockdown, which also explains their better health status ( $\beta$ =.38) [34,37]. Younger age identity has been associated with well-being and better perceptions of health [38]. However, in this survey, an unexpectedly positive linear relationship was observed between increasing age and better perception of health status ( $\beta$ =.12) in young Indian respondents. This finding can be attributed to the

compounding effect of the COVID-19 pandemic on already existing emotional distress among young adults (related to their examinations, uncertainties, social relationships, etc) [39].

Unfortunately, in line with previous reports [14,15], we could also observe a continued/posttraumatic impact of the pandemic in Chinese respondents, reflected in their comparatively low perception of health status (poor health status was reported by 57.2% of these respondents). We believe the poor health perceptions in the Chinese respondents is due to the underlying influence of fear perceptions ( $\beta$ =.71). Further, since the country had successfully emerged from the first wave of the pandemic during the survey, and social norms had also almost returned to normal, with fewer imposed lockdowns, the moderate increase in interpersonal relationships (34.3%) may not be sufficient to facilitate health status.

The observed low status of perceived health in the Japanese respondents (low health status, 62.6%) is in accord with a health paradox in that country, which is a tendency to perceive health poorly despite the advanced economy [40,41]. Although this influence is not direct, an indirect influence of the comparatively old, middle-aged demographic profile of the Japanese respondents along with the mediatory impact of chronic diseases on health status ( $\beta$ =-.14) could also underlie the lower health perceptions of the Japanese respondents [42]. The perception of poor sleep quality in the Japanese respondents also needs attention, as this finding is in line with reports of the suicidal tendencies in this country [43].

On a positive note, amid the aggravated pandemic at the time of the survey, the majority of the Italian respondents who were middle-aged perceived only partial fear of the pandemic (70.1% response), and they reported better health perceptions (health status score 8.43, SD 2.56) than Japanese respondents (health status score 6.81, SD 3.44) and Chinese respondents (health status score 7.09, SD 2.92). Approximately 55% of the responses for self-rated physical and mental health were in the moderate/fair tier, which is in accord with the reported tendency of Italian people toward intermediate categories of health perception [44]. The lack of negative influence of middle age and chronic illness on health perception can be attributed to the highly efficient medical care and adequate access to social support provided in Italy during the lockdown (improved interpersonal relationships were reported by 42.9% of Italian respondents).

### **Role of Perceptions in the Adoption of Lifestyle Choices: Countrywise Comparisons**

Despite the imposed social isolation and home confinement and the prevailing fear during the COVID-19 pandemic, we observed a positive behavioral response toward lifestyle. Overall, 78.4% of the respondents adopted at least 2 healthy lifestyle choices during the COVID-19 pandemic. The majority of the respondents (67.6%) reported increased engagement in physical activity or exercise as opposed to the expected sedentary behavior due to home confinement. This favorable although unexpected outcome can be attributed to the timely release of the advisory recommendations made by various global and government agencies, including the WHO, on home-based or other easy - to - perform exercises under physical restrictions

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e23630
```

[45,46]. One of the crucial affirmative responses observed in this survey was the overwhelming response toward substance use (94.1%), which is more justifiable by lack of availability [47] than motivational influence. Along similar lines, in a recent survey on the immediate response to COVID-19, a 3% reduction in smoking was reported in Italians, which was attributed to the fear of increased risk of respiratory distress or mortality [48]. To this end, we suggest the implementation of internet-based and cost-effective behavioral therapies, particularly cognitive behavioral therapy, which may aid the successful alleviation of maladaptive coping tendencies, thereby reducing the risk of future health catastrophes in the post–COVID-19 era [49,50].

Social connectedness is an important dimension that controls population health and healthy lifestyle behavior [51]. In this cross-national survey, perception of increased social support and capital, manifested through enhanced interactions among close friends and family members (measured as interpersonal relationships in the survey), seemed to fill the void of missing social connectedness and encouraged the adoption of healthy lifestyle choices (adjusted OR 2.42, 95% CI 1.70-3.45). The substantial representation of the adoption of healthy lifestyle choices in Chinese and Japanese respondents (~75%), irrespective of their overall poor health perceptions, could be related to reverse causality. In the Japanese respondents (who had an older, middle-aged demographic profile), their working status (OR 4.37, 95% CI 1.19-16.02) (Table S1, Multimedia Appendix 1) and interpersonal relationships (OR for the adoption of healthy lifestyle choices 5.25, 95% CI 1.46-18.92) also seemed to contribute significantly to the adoption of healthy lifestyle behavior.

The influence of interpersonal relationships on the adoption of healthy lifestyle choices was not consistent across different countries and was absent in the Italian respondents. However, this finding aligns with the previously reported relationship between a healthy lifestyle and self-perceived health in the European population [52]. Perception of good health was a prominent predictor of adoption of a healthy lifestyle (adjusted OR 6.22, 95% CI 1.90-20.40) in the middle-aged Italian respondents, with a 36.6% proportion of older individuals (>55 years). Even intermediate scores of health perceptions (health status) also significantly predicted the likelihood of the adoption of healthy lifestyle choices (OR 2.43, 95% CI 1.72-3.45) in the Chinese respondents compared to the respondents from other countries, explained by their demographic characteristic of younger age. These countrywise differential cultural influences of perceptions on health and health behaviors during pandemics indicate that endorsement of the same, such as family support and togetherness, should consider existing disparities, especially for western countries [13].

The findings of this report, particularly those regarding varied health perceptions and their differential influence on the likelihood of adopting healthy lifestyle choices, should be considered within the purview of the survey period with countrywise phase variations of the pandemic. Chinese respondents displayed the continued impact of the pandemic, as they had already witnessed one phase of the pandemic [2]. Younger Indian respondents scored better for their health- and behavior-related perceptions due to the stable and early phase

XSL•FO RenderX

of the pandemic (as of April 22, there was a comparatively steady expansion of COVID-19 cases in India compared to other countries, with 18,985 confirmed cases [11]). However, the responses of Japanese and Italian respondents related to their older age; these countries were also witnessing rising waves of COVID-19 at the time of the survey [7,53]. Japan was under an extended state of national emergency, as the number of "untraceable" cases was soaring [7]. Italy was also under an extended period of lockdown and was one of the hardest-hit nations, with an apparent mortality rate of approximately 13% [53,54].

The observed predominantly female participation in the survey indicates a lack of stringent sampling but also highlights the active involvement of women, who are considered to be at high risk of socioeconomic vulnerability toward disease outbreaks such as the COVID-19 pandemic. The positive response for self-care in women is also a sign of improving gender equity toward health awareness. The observed overwhelmingly female participation level (75.2%) could not be ascribed to the gender representation of countries such as India and China [55] but could be ascribed to the high readiness of the female population to interactively use the internet, in particular to research health-related information and programs, as observed in recent reports [56-58].

The study is limited by the lack of inclusion of perceptions of preventive behaviors and did not compare the respondents' views on precautionary measures, such as the use of face masks [59]. In a recent cross-country comparison between Polish and Chinese respondents, higher use of face masks in Chinese respondents (Polish respondents, 35.0%; Chinese respondents, 96.8%; P<.001) was found to be associated with better physical and mental impact of the COVID-19 pandemic [59]. Further, the observations of the adopted lifestyle choices presented here

are derived from a short lockdown period during the COVID-19 pandemic and are preliminary, influenced mostly by self-perception; demographic and cultural differences and realistic insight could only be obtained from a longer follow-up. Due to the self-reported nature of the observations, positive behavioral responses toward lifestyle are likely to be inflated.

Good perceived health was associated with improved interpersonal relationships. Older respondents were least likely to report a positive relationship change, as observed in the responses of Italian and Japanese survey participants. However, there was a strong influence of improved interpersonal relationships on perceived health as well as adoption of healthy lifestyle choices in Japanese respondents. These findings indicate the potential of regularized virtual interpersonal interactions to attenuate the adverse psychosocial impact of such pandemics.

In conclusion, the key finding of the survey is that the consistent positive influence of increased interpersonal relationships and good perceptions of health were found to have a significant influence on adopted lifestyle behaviors during the adverse time course of the COVID-19 pandemic. These favorable behavioral perceptions should be bolstered through enhanced health awareness, and regularized virtual interpersonal interactions, particularly in countries with an overall middle-aged or older population. Simultaneously, controlling the fear response through counseling would also help improve health outcomes in nations affected by pandemics. However, the observed human behavior has cultural influences, and it may not be globally generalizable.

### **Data Availability Statement**

The data that support the findings of this study are available on request from the corresponding author.

### Acknowledgments

The authors gratefully acknowledge the contributions of Dr Ravi Kulkarni and Dr Kousthubha for facilitating the data processing and providing technical support for preparing Google Forms, etc. There was no funding source for this study.

### **Authors' Contributions**

MNK conceptualized the survey, performed the literature search, collected data from public sources, and contributed to the manuscript writing. VM wrote the manuscript and performed the literature search and statistical analyses. NR conceptualized the study and revised the manuscript. HR reviewed the manuscript. MNK and VM finalized the manuscript. The corresponding author had full access to all the data in the study and had final responsibility for the decision to submit for publication.

### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Supplementary table. [DOCX File , 20 KB - formative\_v5i6e23630\_app1.docx ]

### References

RenderX

1. Listings of WHO's response to COVID-19. World Health Organization. URL: <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/detail/</u> 29-06-2020-covidtimeline [accessed 2021-05-10]

- Srivastava N, Baxi P, Ratho R, Saxena S. Global trends in epidemiology of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). In: Saxena S, editor. Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19). Medical Virology: From Pathogenesis to Disease Control. Singapore: Springer; Apr 03, 2020.
- Leaune E, Samuel M, Oh H, Poulet E, Brunelin J. Suicidal behaviors and ideation during emerging viral disease outbreaks before the COVID-19 pandemic: a systematic rapid review. Prev Med 2020 Dec;141:106264 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2020.106264] [Medline: <u>33017599</u>]
- 4. Yip PS, Cheung Y, Chau P, Law Y. The impact of epidemic outbreak: the case of severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS) and suicide among older adults in Hong Kong. Crisis 2010 Mar;31(2):86-92. [doi: <u>10.1027/0227-5910/a000015</u>] [Medline: <u>20418214</u>]
- de Berker AO, Rutledge RB, Mathys C, Marshall L, Cross GF, Dolan RJ, et al. Computations of uncertainty mediate acute stress responses in humans. Nat Commun 2016 Mar 29;7(1):10996 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/ncomms10996] [Medline: 27020312]
- 6. Zheng W. Mental health and a novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV) in China. J Affect Disord 2020 May 15;269:201-202 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020.03.041] [Medline: 32339137]
- Looi M. Covid-19: Japan prepares to extend state of emergency nationwide as "untraceable" cases soar. BMJ 2020 Apr 16;369:m1543. [doi: <u>10.1136/bmj.m1543</u>] [Medline: <u>32299811</u>]
- 8. Chen J, Lu H, Melino G, Boccia S, Piacentini M, Ricciardi W, et al. COVID-19 infection: the China and Italy perspectives. Cell Death Dis 2020 Jun 08;11(6):438 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41419-020-2603-0] [Medline: 32513951]
- 9. Vaughan A. Italy in lockdown. New Sci 2020 Mar 14;245(3273):7 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0262-4079(20)30520-0] [Medline: 32372775]
- Signorelli C, Scognamiglio T, Odone A. COVID-19 in Italy: impact of containment measures and prevalence estimates of infection in the general population. Acta Biomed 2020 Apr 10;91(3-S):175-179 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.23750/abm.v91i3-S.9511] [Medline: 32275287]
- 11. The Lancet. India under COVID-19 lockdown. Lancet 2020 Apr;395(10233):1315. [doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(20)30938-7]
- 12. Baumeister RF, Leary MR. The need to belong: desire for interpersonal attachments as a fundamental human motivation. Psychol Bull 1995 May;117(3):497-529. [Medline: 7777651]
- Bavel JJV, Baicker K, Boggio PS, Capraro V, Cichocka A, Cikara M, et al. Using social and behavioural science to support COVID-19 pandemic response. Nat Hum Behav 2020 May;4(5):460-471. [doi: <u>10.1038/s41562-020-0884-z</u>] [Medline: 32355299]
- 14. Wang C, Pan R, Wan X, Tan Y, Xu L, Ho CS, et al. Immediate psychological responses and associated factors during the initial stage of the 2019 coronavirus disease (COVID-19) epidemic among the general population in China. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2020 Mar 06;17(5):1729 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph17051729] [Medline: 32155789]
- Wang C, Pan R, Wan X, Tan Y, Xu L, McIntyre RS, et al. A longitudinal study on the mental health of general population during the COVID-19 epidemic in China. Brain Behav Immun 2020 Jul;87:40-48 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1016/j.bbi.2020.04.028</u>] [Medline: <u>32298802</u>]
- Le HT, Lai AJX, Sun J, Hoang MT, Vu LG, Pham HQ, et al. Anxiety and depression among people under the nationwide partial lockdown in Vietnam. Front Public Health 2020 Oct 29;8:589359 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2020.589359] [Medline: 33194995]
- 17. Le XTT, Dang AK, Toweh J, Nguyen QN, Le HT, Do TTT, et al. Evaluating the psychological impacts related to COVID-19 of Vietnamese people under the first nationwide partial lockdown in Vietnam. Front Psychiatry 2020 Sep 2;11:824 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00824] [Medline: 32982807]
- 18. Jeste DV, Lee EE, Cacioppo S. Battling the modern behavioral epidemic of loneliness: suggestions for research and interventions. JAMA Psychiatry 2020 Jun 01;77(6):553-554. [doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2020.0027] [Medline: 32129811]
- 19. Mattioli AV, Ballerini Puviani M, Nasi M, Farinetti A. COVID-19 pandemic: the effects of quarantine on cardiovascular risk. Eur J Clin Nutr 2020 Jun 05;74(6):852-855 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41430-020-0646-z] [Medline: 32371988]
- 20. Mukherjee S. Emerging infectious diseases: epidemiological perspective. Indian J Dermatol 2017;62(5):459-467 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4103/ijd.IJD 379 17] [Medline: 28979007]
- Lau JTF, Yang X, Tsui HY, Pang E, Wing YK. Positive mental health-related impacts of the SARS epidemic on the general public in Hong Kong and their associations with other negative impacts. J Infect 2006 Aug;53(2):114-124 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jinf.2005.10.019] [Medline: 16343636]
- 22. Xiang Y, Yang Y, Li W, Zhang L, Zhang Q, Cheung T, et al. Timely mental health care for the 2019 novel coronavirus outbreak is urgently needed. Lancet Psychiatry 2020 Mar;7(3):228-229. [doi: 10.1016/s2215-0366(20)30046-8]
- 23. Rajkumar RP. COVID-19 and mental health: a review of the existing literature. Asian J Psychiatr 2020 Aug;52:102066 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ajp.2020.102066] [Medline: 32302935]
- 24. Balanzá-Martínez V, Atienza-Carbonell B, Kapczinski F, De Boni RB. Lifestyle behaviours during the COVID-19 time to connect. Acta Psychiatr Scand 2020 May;141(5):399-400 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/acps.13177] [Medline: 32324252]
- 25. Tran BX, Ha GH, Nguyen LH, Vu GT, Hoang MT, Le HT, et al. Studies of novel coronavirus disease 19 (COVID-19) pandemic: a global analysis of literature. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2020 Jun 08;17(11):4095 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph17114095] [Medline: 32521776]

- 26. Loy BD, Cameron MH, O'Connor PJ. Perceived fatigue and energy are independent unipolar states: supporting evidence. Med Hypotheses 2018 Apr;113:46-51 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.mehy.2018.02.014] [Medline: 29523293]
- 27. Lerdal A. A concept analysis of energy. its meaning in the lives of three individuals with chronic illness. Scand J Caring Sci 1998;12(1):3-10. [doi: 10.1080/02839319850163075] [Medline: 9601440]
- Bowling A. Just one question: if one question works, why ask several? J Epidemiol Community Health 2005 May 01;59(5):342-345 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/jech.2004.021204] [Medline: 15831678]
- 29. Chandola T, Jenkinson C. Validating self-rated health in different ethnic groups. Ethn Health 2000 May;5(2):151-159. [doi: 10.1080/713667451] [Medline: 10984833]
- 30. Cislaghi B, Cislaghi C. Self-rated health as a valid indicator for health-equity analyses: evidence from the Italian health interview survey. BMC Public Health 2019 May 09;19(1):533 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-019-6839-5] [Medline: 31072306]
- Cullati S, Mukhopadhyay S, Sieber S, Chakraborty A, Burton-Jeangros C. Is the single self-rated health item reliable in India? A construct validity study. BMJ Glob Health 2018 Nov 09;3(6):e000856 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjgh-2018-000856] [Medline: 30483411]
- 32. Baćak V, Ólafsdóttir S. Gender and validity of self-rated health in nineteen European countries. Scand J Public Health 2017 Aug;45(6):647-653. [doi: 10.1177/1403494817717405] [Medline: 28673121]
- Park JH, Lee KS. Self-rated health and its determinants in Japan and South Korea. Public Health 2013 Sep;127(9):834-843. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.puhe.2012.12.012</u>] [Medline: <u>23790805</u>]
- Goodwin R, Hou WK, Sun S, Ben-Ezra M. Quarantine, distress and interpersonal relationships during COVID-19. Gen Psychiatr 2020;33(6):e100385 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/gpsych-2020-100385] [Medline: 33163857]
- 35. Boerma T, Hosseinpoor AR, Verdes E, Chatterji S. A global assessment of the gender gap in self-reported health with survey data from 59 countries. BMC Public Health 2016 Jul 30;16(1):675 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-016-3352-y] [Medline: 27475755]
- 36. Lim GY, Tam WW, Lu Y, Ho CS, Zhang MW, Ho RC. Prevalence of depression in the community from 30 countries between 1994 and 2014. Sci Rep 2018 Feb 12;8(1):2861 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-21243-x] [Medline: 29434331]
- 37. Kalish Y, Luria G, Toker S, Westman M. Till stress do us part: on the interplay between perceived stress and communication network dynamics. J Appl Psychol 2015 Nov;100(6):1737-1751. [doi: <u>10.1037/apl0000023</u>] [Medline: <u>25867166</u>]
- Benyamini Y, Burns E. Views on aging: older adults' self-perceptions of age and of health. Eur J Ageing 2020 Dec;17(4):477-487. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10433-019-00528-8</u>] [Medline: <u>33381001</u>]
- 39. Shanahan L, Steinhoff A, Bechtiger L, Murray AL, Nivette A, Hepp U, et al. Emotional distress in young adults during the COVID-19 pandemic: evidence of risk and resilience from a longitudinal cohort study. Psychol. Med 2020 Jun 23:1-10. [doi: <u>10.1017/s003329172000241x</u>]
- 40. Kim M, Khang YH. Why do Japan and South Korea record very low levels of perceived health despite having very high life expectancies? Yonsei Med J 2019 Oct;60(10):998-1003 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3349/ymj.2019.60.10.998] [Medline: 31538436]
- Shigemura J, Ursano RJ, Morganstein JC, Kurosawa M, Benedek DM. Public responses to the novel 2019 coronavirus (2019-nCoV) in Japan: mental health consequences and target populations. Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 2020 Apr;74(4):281-282
   [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/pcn.12988] [Medline: 32034840]
- 42. Park J, Lee K. Self-rated health and its determinants in Japan and South Korea. Public Health 2013 Sep;127(9):834-843. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.puhe.2012.12.012</u>] [Medline: <u>23790805</u>]
- 43. Radford MH. Transcultural issues in mood and anxiety disorders: a focus on Japan. CNS Spectr 2004 Jun 07;9(6 Suppl 4):6-13. [doi: 10.1017/s1092852900025451] [Medline: 15181380]
- 44. Hardy MA, Acciai F, Reyes AM. How health conditions translate into self-ratings: a comparative study of older adults across Europe. J Health Soc Behav 2014 Sep 19;55(3):320-341 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0022146514541446] [Medline: 25138200]
- 45. Dwyer MJ, Pasini M, De Dominicis S, Righi E. Physical activity: benefits and challenges during the COVID-19 pandemic. Scand J Med Sci Sports 2020 Jul 16;30(7):1291-1294 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/sms.13710] [Medline: 32542719]
- 46. Mattioli AV, Ballerini Puviani M, Nasi M, Farinetti A. COVID-19 pandemic: the effects of quarantine on cardiovascular risk. Eur J Clin Nutr 2020 Jun 05;74(6):852-855 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41430-020-0646-z] [Medline: 32371988]
- 47. Gupta R, Hussain A, Misra A. Diabetes and COVID-19: evidence, current status and unanswered research questions. Eur J Clin Nutr 2020 Jun 13;74(6):864-870 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41430-020-0652-1] [Medline: 32404898]
- 48. Di Renzo L, Gualtieri P, Pivari F, Soldati L, Attinà A, Cinelli G, et al. Eating habits and lifestyle changes during COVID-19 lockdown: an Italian survey. J Transl Med 2020 Jun 08;18(1):229 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12967-020-02399-5] [Medline: 32513197]
- 49. Ho CS, Chee CY, Ho RC. Mental health strategies to combat the psychological impact of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) beyond paranoia and panic. Ann Acad Med Singap 2020 Mar 31;49(3):155-160. [doi: 10.47102/annals-acadmedsg.202043]

- 50. Zhang MW, Ho RC. Moodle: The cost effective solution for internet cognitive behavioral therapy (I-CBT) interventions. THC 2017 Feb 21;25(1):163-165. [doi: 10.3233/thc-161261]
- Martino J, Pegg J, Frates EP. The connection prescription: using the power of social interactions and the deep desire for connectedness to empower health and wellness. Am J Lifestyle Med 2017 Oct 07;11(6):466-475 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1559827615608788] [Medline: 30202372]
- 52. de Groot LCPMG, Verheijden M, de Henauw S, Schroll M, van Staveren WA, SENECA Investigators. Lifestyle, nutritional status, health, and mortality in elderly people across Europe: a review of the longitudinal results of the SENECA study. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2004 Dec;59(12):1277-1284. [doi: 10.1093/gerona/59.12.1277] [Medline: 15699526]
- 53. Torri E, Sbrogiò LG, Rosa ED, Cinquetti S, Francia F, Ferro A. Italian public health response to the COVID-19 pandemic: case report from the field, insights and challenges for the department of prevention. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2020 May 22;17(10):3666 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph17103666] [Medline: 32456072]
- 54. Ceylan Z. Estimation of COVID-19 prevalence in Italy, Spain, and France. Sci Total Environ 2020 Aug 10;729:138817 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.138817] [Medline: 32360907]
- 55. Chao F, Gerland P, Cook AR, Alkema L. Systematic assessment of the sex ratio at birth for all countries and estimation of national imbalances and regional reference levels. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2019 May 07;116(19):9303-9311 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1073/pnas.1812593116] [Medline: 30988199]
- 56. Bali S, Dhatt R, Lal A, Jama A, Van Daalen K, Sridhar D, Gender and COVID-19 Working Group, Women in Global Health, and Gender and COVID-19 Working Group. Off the back burner: diverse and gender-inclusive decision-making for COVID-19 response and recovery. BMJ Glob Health 2020 May 07;5(5):e002595 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjgh-2020-002595] [Medline: 32385047]
- 57. Wenham C, Smith J, Morgan R. COVID-19: the gendered impacts of the outbreak. The Lancet 2020 Mar;395(10227):846-848. [doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(20)30526-2]
- Perrotta D, Grow A, Rampazzo F, Cimentada J, Del FE, Gil-Clavel S, et al. Behaviors and attitudes in response to the COVID-19 pandemic: insights from a cross-national Facebook survey. medRxiv. Preprint posted online on July 15, 2020. [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1101/2020.05.09.20096388]
- 59. Wang C, Chudzicka-Czupała A, Grabowski D, Pan R, Adamus K, Wan X, et al. The association between physical and mental health and face mask use during the COVID-19 pandemic: a comparison of two countries with different views and practices. Front Psychiatry 2020 Sep 9;11:569981 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.569981] [Medline: 33033485]

### Abbreviations

SARS: severe acute respiratory syndrome SVYASA: Swami Vivekananda Yoga Anusandhana Samsthana WHO: World Health Organization

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 18.08.20; peer-reviewed by P Mathur, R Ho, A Videira-Silva; comments to author 26.10.20; revised version received 03.12.20; accepted 11.04.21; published 01.06.21.

Please cite as:

Manjunath NK, Majumdar V, Rozzi A, Huiru W, Mishra A, Kimura K, Nagarathna R, Nagendra HR Health Perceptions and Adopted Lifestyle Behaviors During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Cross-National Survey JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e23630 URL: <u>https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e23630</u> doi:<u>10.2196/23630</u> PMID:<u>33900928</u>

©Nandi Krishnamurthy Manjunath, Vijaya Majumdar, Antonietta Rozzi, Wang Huiru, Avinash Mishra, Keishin Kimura, Raghuram Nagarathna, Hongasandra Ramarao Nagendra. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 01.06.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



# Acceptability of Research and Health Care Visits During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Cross-sectional Survey Study

Kathryn M Ross<sup>1,2</sup>, MPH, PhD; Young-Rock Hong<sup>3</sup>, PhD, MPH; Rebecca A Krukowski<sup>4</sup>, PhD; Darci R Miller<sup>3</sup>, MPH; Dominick J Lemas<sup>3</sup>, PhD; Michelle I Cardel<sup>2,3</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Department of Clinical and Health Psychology, College of Public Health and Health Professions, University of Florida, Gainesville, FL, United States <sup>2</sup>Center for Integrative Cardiovascular and Metabolic Diseases, University of Florida, Gainesville, FL, United States

<sup>3</sup>Department of Health Outcomes and Biomedical Informatics, College of Medicine, University of Florida, Gainesville, FL, United States

<sup>4</sup>Department of Preventive Medicine, College of Medicine, University of Tennessee Health Science Center, Memphis, TN, United States

### **Corresponding Author:**

Kathryn M Ross, MPH, PhD Department of Clinical and Health Psychology College of Public Health and Health Professions University of Florida PO Box 10065 Gainesville, FL, 32610 United States Phone: 1 3522948433 Email: kmross@phhp.ufl.edu

### Abstract

**Background:** The COVID-19 pandemic has had a widespread impact on attendance in biomedical research and health care visits.

**Objective:** This study aimed to identify when and how American adults might feel comfortable about resuming in-person research and health care visits.

**Methods:** Cross-sectional questionnaire data were collected from 135 adults (age: median 48 years; women: n=113, 83.7%; White participants: n=92, 68.2%) who were engaged in health-related research.

**Results:** More than half of the respondents (65/122, 53.3%) felt that the COVID-19 pandemic positively affected their desire to participate in research. Although 73.6% (95/129) of respondents also indicated a willingness to attend in-person health care visits while Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) guidelines are implemented, 85.8% (109/127) indicated a willingness to attend in-person, outdoor visits, and 92.2% (118/128) reported a willingness to attend drive-through visits (with CDC guidelines implemented during both visit types). Videoconferencing was the most preferred format for intervention visits; however, adults over the age of 65 years preferred this format less than younger adults (P=.001).

**Conclusions:** Researchers and clinicians should continue to provide opportunities for continuing the conduction of remote-based interventions while enforcing CDC guidelines during in-person visits.

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e27185) doi:10.2196/27185

### KEYWORDS

COVID-19; health care access; telehealth; research recruitment; telemedicine; belief; access; willingness; cross-sectional; survey

### Introduction

Lockdown and stay-at-home orders that were enacted to contain the spread of COVID-19 [1] have disrupted biomedical research and health care [2,3]. There has been a rapid increase in the adoption of telehealth methods that provide remote care delivery [4,5], which has offset some of the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic [6]; however, it remains important to understand how

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e27185

RenderX

to resume the provision of research and clinical care in a manner that individuals feel is safe. Identifying these factors could provide insights into feasible and acceptable approaches to conducting research and health care visits both during the ongoing pandemic surge and, importantly, during future postpandemic recovery [7]. Thus, this study investigated the acceptability of in-person and remote research and health care visits during the COVID-19 pandemic in order to characterize

when and how American adults would feel comfortable about resuming research and health care–related clinic visits.

### Methods

This study was a cross-sectional analysis of US adults who were enrolled in biomedical research studies. An email describing this study and a link for participating in the web-based survey was sent to 250 adults who had previously completed a survey that assessed COVID-19 impacts on research participation and mental health outcomes [8], and additional participants were recruited through professional networks. Networks included colleagues of study investigators who were conducting behavioral intervention trials across the United States. They were informed via email and social media (Facebook and Twitter) to share the study information and survey link with participants who were enrolled in their studies. Potential respondents who clicked the survey link were provided with a description of this study and were asked to provide informed consent before completing the survey. Consent was obtained and data were collected via REDCap (Research Electronic Data Capture; Vanderbilt University) [9] between September 17 and October 17, 2020.

The 87-item questionnaire, which was developed by the study team, was used to collect sociodemographic information (ie, age, gender, race and ethnicity, educational attainment, and household income), query respondents about the number of underlying health conditions that were suspected to increase COVID-19 severity [10], and ask other questions about physical and mental health and research participation. This study used data collected from 10 items that focused on engagement with research and the willingness to attend research and health care visits (Multimedia Appendix 1). The University of Florida Institutional Review Board provided ethical approval for this study.

Descriptive statistics were computed to describe research participation and health care engagement. In total, 3 items for querying respondents about their beliefs regarding participating in research and whether the COVID-19 pandemic has positively or negatively affected their desire to participate in research were scored on 5-point, Likert-style scales (Multimedia Appendix 1). For analysis purposes, responses to each item were converted into binary indicators; "Not at all" was categorized as "No," and the responses "A little bit," "Moderately," "Quite a bit," and "Extremely" were categorized as "Yes." Furthermore, 4 items for querying respondents about their willingness to attend various types of health care visits were scored on a 3-point scale. Similarly, binary variables were used to indicate whether a respondent would feel comfortable with each health care visit type (ie, in-person visits, outdoor visits, and drive-through clinic visits). Chi-square and Fisher exact tests were used for bivariate analyses involving participants' age, gender, and race. Analyses were conducted by using SAS (Statistical Analysis System) version 9.4 (SAS Institute), and statistical significance was assessed based on a 2-sided P value of <.05. Study findings were reported by using the STROBE (Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology) guidelines.

### Results

Responses were collected from 135 adults participating in biomedical research. Table 1 provides the full sample's characteristics (see Multimedia Appendix 2 for a correlation table between these variables). The median age of respondents was 48 years, and the sample was predominately female (113/135, 83.7%) and Non-Hispanic White (92/135, 68.2%). Moreover, the sample was highly educated (at least a college degree: 103/135, 76.3%), had generally high incomes (respondents reporting a household income of  $\geq$ US \$75,000 per year: 77/135, 57.1%), and was well-insured (respondents reporting having private or public health insurance: 127/135, 94.1%).



Table 1. Sample characteristics.

Characteristic	Value
Age (years), median (IQR)	48 (38-57)
Age group (years), n (%)	
18-39	40 (29.6)
40-54	50 (37)
55-64	28 (20.7)
≥65	17 (12.6)
Gender, n (%)	
Women	113 (83.7)
Men	22 (16.3)
Race and ethnicity, n (%)	
Non-Hispanic White	92 (68.2)
Non-Hispanic Black	11 (8.1)
Hispanic	7 (5.2)
Asian	2 (1.5)
Other or multiple races	23 (17)
Education, n (%)	
High school or less	6 (4.4)
Some college	26 (19.3)
College graduate	31 (23)
Some graduate or professional	13 (9.6)
Graduate or professional degree	59 (43.7)
Household income (US \$), n (%)	
<25,000	19 (14.1)
25,000-49,999	23 (17)
50,000-74,999	16 (11.9)
75,000-99,999	21 (15.6)
≥100,000	56 (41.5)
Health insurance, n (%)	
Private	92 (68.2)
Public	35 (25.9)
Uninsured	8 (5.9)
Number of underlying conditions, n (%)	
0	98 (72.6)
1	29 (21.5)
≥2	8 (5.9)

Table 2 presents participants' beliefs and willingness to attend research and health care–related clinic visits. Respondents were more likely to indicate that the COVID-19 pandemic positively (vs negatively) impacted their desire to participate in research (65/122, 53.3% vs 49/122, 40.2%; *P*=.04). Moreover, a majority of respondents (77/120, 64.2%) indicated that they did not believe that such participation put them at greater risk of contracting COVID-19. The most preferred methods of engaging in behavioral interventions included videoconferencing (60.7%) and in-person sessions (53.3%). Regarding future research participation, respondents were most interested in engaging in clinical (108/135, 80%) and public health research (85/135, 63%) and were least interested in vaccine development research (59/135, 43.7%).

XSL•FO RenderX
Ross et al

Table 2. Research participants' preferences for engaging in research and clinical care during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Questions and responses	Value, n (%) <sup>a</sup>
Research participation	
Do you believe that participating in research puts you more at risk for COVID-19?	
No (not at all)	77 (64.2)
Yes (a little bit to extremely)	43 (35.8)
Has COVID-19 positively affected your desire to participate in research?	
No (not at all)	57 (46.7)
Yes (a little bit to extremely)	65 (53.3)
Has COVID-19 negatively affected your desire to participate in research?	
No (not at all)	73 (59.8)
Yes (a little bit to extremely)	49 (40.2)
What type of research would you be interested in participating in at a future time? (multiple responses allowed)	
Public health (eg, hand washing to prevent flu)	85 (63)
Emergency preparedness (eg, preparing for a natural disaster)	68 (50.4)
Vaccine development (eg, COVID-19 vaccine development)	59 (43.7)
Clinical research (eg, studies that help you improve your own health)	108 (80)
Clinic visit	
Attending in-person clinic visits during the COVID-19 pandemic while adhering to social distancing, sanitation, and n protocols	nask-wearing
Not comfortable	34 (26.4)
Somewhat or very comfortable	95 (73.6)
Attending in-person, outdoor clinic visits during the COVID-19 pandemic while adhering to social distancing, sanitati wearing protocols	on, and mask-
Not comfortable	18 (14.2)
Somewhat or very comfortable	109 (85.8)
Attending drive-through clinic visits during the COVID-19 pandemic with masks	
Not comfortable	10 (7.8)
Somewhat or very comfortable	118 (92.2)
Attending drive-through clinic visits during the COVID-19 pandemic without masks	
Not comfortable	76 (59.8)
Somewhat or very comfortable	51 (40.2)
At what point would you be willing to go back to in-person clinic visits? (multiple responses allowed)	
When there is a COVID-19 vaccine	41 (30.4)
When there is a medication for effectively treating COVID-19	30 (22.2)
When cases have decreased in my area for 2 weeks or more	23 (17)
When hospitals have the capacity to treat cases	10 (7.4)
I already feel comfortable attending an in-person clinic visit	71 (52.6)
I don't think I will feel comfortable going to an in-person visit until there are no cases of COVID-19 in the United States	8 (5.9)
What is your preferred way of engaging in treatment if enrolled in behavioral intervention? (multiple responses allow	ed)
In person	72 (53.3)
Phone	49 (36.3)
Videoconferencing platforms (eg, Zoom and Google Hangouts)	82 (60.7)
Other platforms (eg, Slack, WeChat, and GroupMe)	33 (24.4)

XSL•FO RenderX

<sup>a</sup>Sample size is not equal across questions due to missing responses.

Almost three-quarters of respondents (95/129, 73.6%) felt comfortable with attending in-person, indoor clinic visits, and over 85% felt comfortable with attending outdoor (109/127, 85.8%) and drive-through (118/128, 92.2%) clinic visits while adhering to Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) guidelines (social distancing, sanitation, and mask wearing; Table 2). Although respondents indicated the highest level of comfort with attending drive-through visits while wearing a mask (118/128, 92.2%), fewer respondents were comfortable with attending drive-through visits without masks (51/127, 40.2%). Over half of the respondents (71/135, 52.6%) reported a willingness to attend in-person clinic visits at the time the survey was conducted; one-third (41/135, 30.4%) reported a willingness to attend in-person clinic visits when there is a COVID-19 vaccine, and over 20% (30/135) reported a willingness to attend in-person clinic visits when there is a medication for effectively treating COVID-19. Fewer participants reported considering local or national case counts (23/135, 17% and 8/135, 5.9%, respectively) or hospital capacity for treating COVID-19 cases (10/135, 7.4%) when determining their willingness to attend in-person clinic visits.

There were no significant differences between men and women or between White participants and people of color in terms of responses for any survey items (all *P* values were >.05); however, younger adults (aged 18-64 years) were significantly more likely to report feeling comfortable with videoconferencing platforms than adults over the age of 65 (78/118, 66.1% vs 4/17, 23.5%; *P*=.001).

# Discussion

Research participants felt that engaging in biomedical research studies did not increase their personal risk of contracting COVID-19 and were interested in future research activities. Interestingly, over half of respondents indicated that the COVID-19 pandemic positively impacted their desire to participate in research (65/122, 53.3%), and fewer indicated that the COVID-19 pandemic had a negative impact (49/122, 40.2%). Although we do not have additional data to explain this finding, it is possible that the greater news coverage of biomedical research during the pandemic has increased individuals' appreciation for this scientific process [11] and increased individuals' interest in participating in research. It also may be possible that some individuals (especially younger adults and those with high incomes [12,13]) have experienced increased scheduling flexibility due to the pandemic (eg, due to cancelled travel and events and restrictions on many leisure-time activities [14]) and thus may have more free time to participate in research.

With the ongoing pandemic, most respondents reported a willingness to attend in-person, health care–related clinic visits while adhering to CDC guidelines (95/129, 73.6%); however, even more were comfortable with outdoor (109/127, 85.8%) and drive-through (118/128, 92.2%) formats. Our results also

suggested that the availability of vaccines and effective COVID-19 treatments may improve individuals' willingness to resume attending in-person clinic visits. Overall, videoconferencing was the most preferred format. Videoconferencing offers greater flexibility in scheduling compared to in-person visits, and this format can also retain the visual cues (eg, eye contact and body language) that are lost in phone-based delivery formats [15]. The increased use of smartphones and other mobile devices [16] coupled with advances in mobile internet speeds have made videoconferencing an accessible delivery format for a large proportion of the population, although access to unlimited data packages and poor coverage (eg, in rural areas) still remain substantial barriers for many people [17]. Considerations should also be made regarding the technology literacy of target populations (eg, our results demonstrated that adults over the age of 65 preferred this format less than younger adults).

Taken together with other findings that support the role of telehealth approaches in health care delivery [15], our results suggest that researchers and clinicians should provide opportunities for continuing the conduction of remote-based intervention after the pandemic. As research and health care centers move beyond stopgap telehealth approaches, such opportunities will require the development of sustainable, secure telehealth systems that can link to existing medical record networks, provide access to affiliate providers, and provide critical data security and patient privacy [7].

The limitations to this study included the use of a convenience sample of biomedical research participants that consisted predominately of highly educated White women with health insurance. Although this sample is generally reflective of research populations within the nutrition and obesity intervention fields [18,19], this limited our results' generalizability to other populations. The fact that respondents were already participating in biomedical research may have also resulted in bias, as personal experiences with web-based or in-person research may affect the perceived acceptability of these formats and promote a greater willingness to participate in future research studies. Further, due to the descriptive nature of the analysis, additional studies (including those with larger and more generalizable samples) are necessary to replicate our results and to explore other facilitators and barriers to attending health-related research and clinic visits. Finally, there were no approved vaccines for COVID-19 at the time when the questionnaire was distributed; however, several vaccines have since received approval in the United States [20,21], with distribution starting in early December 2020 [22]. Thus, future studies should assess whether the actual (vs hypothetical) availability of these vaccines affects individuals' willingness to attend research and clinic appointments (especially given the unexpectedly high prevalence of vaccine hesitancy during the initial vaccine rollouts [23]). Despite these limitations, the results from this study provide timely evidence for informing practitioners and researchers about how to reopen and resume research and clinic operations.



# Acknowledgments

There was no funding source to support the work conducted herein. KMR is supported by the National Institutes of Health, National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases (NIDDK) under award R01DK119244 and the National Institutes of Health, National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute (NHLBI) under award R03HL154272. RAK is supported by the NIDDK under award numbers R01DK104872 and R01DK107747. DJL is supported by the NIDDK under award K01DK115632. MIC is supported by the NHLBI under award K01HL141535 and the National Center for Advancing Translational Sciences under award ULTR001427.

# **Authors' Contributions**

All authors contributed to the study design, development of the questionnaire, drafting of the manuscript, and review of the final manuscript. YRH conducted the data analyses.

# **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Survey questions used in this study. [DOCX File , 28 KB - formative v5i6e27185 app1.docx ]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Correlation matrix between the sample's characteristics. [DOCX File , 19 KB - formative\_v5i6e27185\_app2.docx ]

# References

- Chatterjee A, Gerdes MW, Martinez SG. Statistical explorations and univariate timeseries analysis on COVID-19 datasets to understand the trend of disease spreading and death. Sensors (Basel) 2020 May 29;20(11):3089 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/s20113089] [Medline: 32486055]
- Ziedan E, Simon KI, Wing C. Effects of state COVID-19 closure policy on Non-COVID-19 health care utilization. National Bureau of Economic Research. 2020 Jul. URL: <u>https://www.nber.org/system/files/working\_papers/w27621/w27621.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-05-06]
- 3. Asaad M, Habibullah NK, Butler CE. The impact of COVID-19 on clinical trials. Ann Surg 2020 Sep 01;272(3):e222-e223 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/SLA.00000000004113] [Medline: 32541234]
- 4. Augenstein J. Opportunities to expand telehealth use amid the coronovrius pandemic. Health Affairs Blog. 2020 Mar 16. URL: <u>https://www.healthaffairs.org/do/10.1377/hblog20200315.319008/full/</u> [accessed 2021-02-18]
- Galewtiz P. Telemedicine surges, fueled by coronavirus fears and shift in payment rules. Kaiser Health News. 2020 Mar 27. URL: <u>https://khn.org/news/telemedicine-surges-fueled-by-coronavirus-fears-and-shift-in-payment-rules/</u> [accessed 2021-02-18]
- 6. Baum A, Kaboli PJ, Schwartz MD. Reduced in-person and increased telehealth outpatient visits during the COVID-19 pandemic. Ann Intern Med 2021 Jan;174(1):129-131 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7326/M20-3026] [Medline: 32776780]
- Wosik J, Fudim M, Cameron B, Gellad ZF, Cho A, Phinney D, et al. Telehealth transformation: COVID-19 and the rise of virtual care. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2020 Jun 01;27(6):957-962 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocaa067] [Medline: 32311034]
- Cardel MI, Manasse S, Krukowski RA, Ross K, Shakour R, Miller DR, et al. COVID-19 impacts mental health outcomes and ability/desire to participate in research among current research participants. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2020 Dec;28(12):2272-2281 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/oby.23016] [Medline: 32845582]
- 9. Harris PA, Taylor R, Thielke R, Payne J, Gonzalez N, Conde JG. Research electronic data capture (REDCap)--a metadata-driven methodology and workflow process for providing translational research informatics support. J Biomed Inform 2009 Apr;42(2):377-381 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbj.2008.08.010] [Medline: 18929686]
- Richardson S, Hirsch JS, Narasimhan M, Crawford JM, McGinn T, Davidson KW, the Northwell COVID-19 Research Consortium, et al. Presenting characteristics, comorbidities, and outcomes among 5700 patients hospitalized with COVID-19 in the New York City area. JAMA 2020 May 26;323(20):2052-2059 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.6775] [Medline: 32320003]
- 11. State of Science Index Survey. 3M. URL: <u>https://www.3m.com/3M/en\_US/state-of-science-index-survey/</u> [accessed 2021-02-18]
- 12. Belot M, Choi S, Tripodi E, van den Broek-Altenburg E, Jamison JC, Papageorge NW. Unequal consequences of COVID-19 across age and income: Representative evidence from six countries. IZA Institute of Labor Economics. 2020 Jun. URL: http://ftp.iza.org/dp13366.pdf [accessed 2021-05-26]

- 13. Papageorge NW, Zahn MV, Belot M, van den Broek-Altenburg E, Choi S, Jamison JC, et al. Socio-demographic factors associated with self-protecting behavior during the Covid-19 pandemic. J Popul Econ 2021 Jan 14:1-48 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00148-020-00818-x] [Medline: 33462529]
- 14. Stodolska M. #QuarantineChallenge2k20: Leisure in the time of the pandemic. Leis Sci 2020 Jun 24;43(1-2):232-239 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/01490400.2020.1774007]
- Isautier JM, Copp T, Ayre J, Cvejic E, Meyerowitz-Katz G, Batcup C, et al. People's experiences and satisfaction with telehealth during the COVID-19 pandemic in Australia: Cross-sectional survey study. J Med Internet Res 2020 Dec 10;22(12):e24531 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/24531] [Medline: <u>33156806</u>]
- 16. Mobile fact sheet. Pew Research Center. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/fact-sheet/mobile/</u>[accessed 2021-02-18]
- 17. Perrin A. Digital gap between rural and nonrural America persists. Pew Research Center. 2019 May 31. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2019/05/31/digital-gap-between-rural-and-nonrural-america-persists/</u> [accessed 2021-02-18]
- Pagoto SL, Schneider KL, Oleski JL, Luciani JM, Bodenlos JS, Whited MC. Male inclusion in randomized controlled trials of lifestyle weight loss interventions. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2012 Jun;20(6):1234-1239 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/oby.2011.140] [Medline: 21633403]
- Haughton CF, Silfee VJ, Wang ML, Lopez-Cepero AC, Estabrook DP, Frisard C, et al. Racial/ethnic representation in lifestyle weight loss intervention studies in the United States: A systematic review. Prev Med Rep 2018 Feb 02;9:131-137 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.pmedr.2018.01.012] [Medline: 29616185]
- 20. Tanne JH. Covid-19: FDA panel votes to approve Pfizer BioNTech vaccine. BMJ 2020 Dec 11;371:m4799. [doi: 10.1136/bmj.m4799] [Medline: 33310748]
- 21. Tanne JH. Covid-19: FDA authorizes Moderna vaccine as US starts vaccinating health workers. BMJ 2020 Dec 21;371:m4924 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.m4924]
- 22. Tanne JH. Covid-19: Pfizer-BioNTech vaccine is rolled out in US. BMJ 2020 Dec 14;371:m4836. [doi: <u>10.1136/bmj.m4836</u>] [Medline: <u>33318040</u>]
- 23. Coustasse A, Kimble C, Maxik K. COVID-19 and Vaccine Hesitancy: A Challenge the United States Must Overcome. J Ambul Care Manage 2021;44(1):71-75. [doi: 10.1097/JAC.00000000000000360] [Medline: 33165121]

# Abbreviations

CDC: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
NHLBI: National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute
NIDDK: National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases
REDCap: Research Electronic Data Capture
SAS: Statistical Analysis System
STROBE: Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 14.01.21; peer-reviewed by R Daryabeygi, A Chatterjee, S Mahalingaiah; comments to author 09.02.21; revised version received 23.02.21; accepted 22.04.21; published 02.06.21.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Ross KM, Hong YR, Krukowski RA, Miller DR, Lemas DJ, Cardel MI Acceptability of Research and Health Care Visits During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Cross-sectional Survey Study JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e27185 URL: <u>https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e27185</u> doi:10.2196/27185 PMID:<u>34033577</u>

©Kathryn M Ross, Young-Rock Hong, Rebecca A Krukowski, Darci R Miller, Dominick J Lemas, Michelle I Cardel. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 02.06.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative.generative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

# **Original Paper**

# Potential Impact of a Paper About COVID-19 and Smoking on Twitter Users' Attitudes Toward Smoking: Observational Study

Chunliang Tao<sup>1\*</sup>, BSc; Destiny Diaz<sup>2\*</sup>, BSc; Zidian Xie<sup>3</sup>, PhD; Long Chen<sup>4</sup>, BSc; Dongmei Li<sup>3</sup>, PhD; Richard O'Connor<sup>2</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering, University of Rochester, Rochester, NY, United States

<sup>2</sup>Department of Health Behavior, Roswell Park Comprehensive Cancer Center, Buffalo, NY, United States

<sup>3</sup>Department of Clinical and Translational Research, University of Rochester Medical Center, Rochester, NY, United States

<sup>4</sup>Department of Computer Science, University of Rochester, Rochester, NY, United States

\*these authors contributed equally

### **Corresponding Author:**

Dongmei Li, PhD Department of Clinical and Translational Research University of Rochester Medical Center 265 Crittenden Boulevard CU 420708 Rochester, NY, 14642-0708 United States Phone: 1 5852767285 Email: Dongmei Li@urmc.rochester.edu

# Abstract

**Background:** A cross-sectional study (Miyara et al, 2020) conducted by French researchers showed that the rate of current daily smoking was significantly lower in patients with COVID-19 than in the French general population, implying a potentially protective effect of smoking.

**Objective:** We aimed to examine the dissemination of the Miyara et al study among Twitter users and whether a shift in their attitudes toward smoking occurred after its publication as preprint on April 21, 2020.

**Methods:** Twitter posts were crawled between April 14 and May 4, 2020, by the Tweepy stream application programming interface, using a COVID-19–related keyword query. After filtering, the final 1929 tweets were classified into three groups: (1) tweets that were not related to the Miyara et al study before it was published, (2) tweets that were not related to Miyara et al study after it was published, and (3) tweets that were related to Miyara et al study after it was published. The attitudes toward smoking, as expressed in the tweets, were compared among the above three groups using multinomial logistic regression models in the statistical analysis software R (The R Foundation).

**Results:** Temporal analysis showed a peak in the number of tweets discussing the results from the Miyara et al study right after its publication. Multinomial logistic regression models on sentiment scores showed that the proportion of negative attitudes toward smoking in tweets related to the Miyara et al study after it was published (17.07%) was significantly lower than the proportion in tweets that were not related to the Miyara et al study, either before (44/126, 34.9%; P<.001) or after the Miyara et al study was published (68/198, 34.3%; P<.001).

**Conclusions:** The public's attitude toward smoking shifted in a positive direction after the Miyara et al study found a lower incidence of COVID-19 cases among daily smokers.

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e25010) doi:10.2196/25010

# **KEYWORDS**

RenderX

COVID-19; smoking; Twitter; infodemiology; infodemic; infoveillance; impact; attitude; perception; observational; social media; cross-sectional; dissemination; research

# Introduction

### Background

COVID-19 is caused by SARS-CoV-2 [1], and given that it is mainly a disease of the respiratory tract, researchers have investigated whether cigarette smokers or vapers are at higher risk of SARS-CoV-2 infection, worse COVID-19 disease severity, worse clinical outcomes, or mortality. Although most literature shows that smoking worsens COVID-19, there is seemingly paradoxical evidence regarding this association. Smoking history appears to increase the risk of severe disease in hospitalized patients, particularly among younger patients without diabetes [2]. An increased risk of mortality has also been shown among current smokers [3]. On the other hand, SARS-CoV-2 binds the angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) receptor. While it is unclear whether smoking increases the level of ACE2 receptor expression in the respiratory tract, nicotine may also compete with SARS-CoV-2 for binding of the nicotinic acetylcholine receptor [4]. The interrelationship among smoking, nicotine, SARS-CoV-2, and COVID-19 is an active and evolving area of research, where new studies emerge regularly.

Researchers in France-Miyara et al-conducted а cross-sectional study on patients infected with COVID-19 in a large French university hospital, which was placed on a preprint server on April 21, 2020 [5]. The results showed that the rate of current daily smokers was significantly lower among outpatients and inpatients with COVID-19 (6.1% and 4.1%, respectively) as compared to that in the French general population after standardization by age and sex [5], which was estimated to be between 22.4% and 26.9% [6]. The authors concluded that their results suggest that active smokers may be protected against symptomatic COVID-19 [5]. However, they did note that health care workers were overrepresented in the outpatient group; patients in intensive care units were excluded; smoking status may have been under- or overreported; smoking status was assessed only in symptomatic patients with COVID-19, even though many infected individuals are asymptomatic; and the association found does not imply causality [5]. Furthermore, the authors of this paper emphasized that nicotine and the nicotinic receptor were of interest and acknowledged the negative consequences of smoking cigarettes [5]. A follow-up report suggested studying nicotine patches as a preventative option against COVID-19 [7]. Despite the limitations being noted in the paper, the title and nature of the main results could mislead the general public, who typically attend to headline findings and not caveats. This study on COVID-19 incidence among smokers was published in Qeios, an open science publishing platform, in May 2020. The article metrics on Qeios demonstrate that the paper was mentioned by one news outlet and mentioned directly by 126 tweets, 8% of which were in the United States, and has a top 5% attention score as measured by Altmetric.

Twitter, a *microblogging* platform [8], can contribute to scientific knowledge dissemination and translation [9]. Throughout the COVID-19 pandemic, Twitter has served as a platform for users to express their opinions, share information,

and receive information from others—over 63 million English tweets worldwide used COVID-19–related keywords from January to July 2020 [10]. With the evidence arising from the Miyara et al study regarding the relationship between smoking and the novel coronavirus, conversations on Twitter about the study may provide an interesting case study in the transmission of potentially controversial or contrarian findings.

#### Objective

A previous Twitter study on COVID-19 and smoking-the only other Twitter analysis on this topic, to our knowledge-showed that preprints suggesting the benefits of smoking might increase reactions to tweets on tobacco products and the virus [11]. During this pandemic, people may be looking for something they can do to lower their risk. Methods for reducing the spread of the virus, such as using masks and quarantine, and discussion of fear and stress due to the lack of preventative options were found to be popular topics among Twitter users [12]. There is a possibility that those looking for a preventative action against COVID-19 could use the Miyara et al study as a rationale to take up smoking or vaping or to delay quitting. This paper presents a novel view of the change in sentiment toward smoking before and after a specific paperwas published suggesting that the incidence of COVID-19 was lower among smokers compared to the general population. In this report, we aim to examine the spread of the Miyara et al study among Twitter users, attitudes toward the study, attitudes toward smoking, and whether there was a shift in sentiment toward smoking and nicotine after April 21, 2020.

# Methods

# **Data Collection and Preprocessing**

The related tweets (ie, Twitter posts) posted from April 14 to May 4, 2020, were crawled by the Tweepy stream application programming interface using keyword queries with COVID-19-related keywords, including "CORONA," "corona," "COVID19," "covid19," "covid," "coronavirus," "Coronavirus," "CoronaVirus," and "NCOV." The analysis period was chosen due to the nature of our study objective. Because we were interested in the change in sentiment before and after publication of the paper, we analyzed tweets that were posted immediately before and after the day it was published. Next, retweets without comments were deleted, since simple retweets typically do not explicitly reflect personal opinions; the behavior of retweeting can mean supportive, oppositional, or neutral attitudes toward the original tweet. Repetitive tweets were also removed from the collected data set, as the majority were copied news headlines without personal sentiments. Afterward, researchand tobacco-related tweets were filtered out in sequence using keyword matching: we first filtered research-related tweets using "study" and "research," then tobacco-related tweets were filtered using "smok," "cigarette," "tobacco," "nicotine," and "ace2." Tweets discussing studies without clear findings were removed as those having no impact in shifting people's opinions. Finally, 1929 tobacco- and research-related tweets remained and discussed, in some way, the effects of smoking on COVID-19 infections and symptom development. Figure 1

shows the data preprocessing procedures for obtaining our final data set of 1929 tweets.

Figure 1. Data set preparation procedures.



### **Sentiment Analysis**

Three categories were used to categorize each tweet: (1) whether it was about the Miyara et al study (yes or no), (2) the article's attitude toward smoking (positive, negative, or neutral), and (3) the user's attitude toward smoking as expressed in the tweet (positive, negative, or neutral). For the first category, whether or not each tweet was related to the published Miyara et al study was manually coded for all the selected tweets. For the second category, the article's attitude toward smoking as discussed in the tweet was manually coded as positive, neutral, or negative. For example, if the tweet discussed an article that found smokers were at more risk for COVID-19, it was considered negative. For the third category, each tweet was manually coded as positive, neutral, or negative based on the user's attitude toward smoking. For example, if the user said, "smoking is bad for you," the tweet was categorized as negative. The term smoking referred to in this category was not necessarily used in regard to cigarettes and could refer to the use of other tobacco products as well.

Two coders from the study team coded each tweet separately and disagreements were discussed among team members to achieve final agreements. High agreements were achieved between the two independent coders on coding the 1931 selected tweets into different categories. The Cohen  $\kappa$  value was 0.92 (95% CI 0.90-0.94) for categorizing whether the tweet discussed the French study. Regarding the article's attitude toward smoking, the Cohen  $\kappa$  was 0.93 (95% CI 0.92-0.95) for categorizing the attitude into positive, neutral, and negative groups, indicating very high agreement. The Cohen  $\kappa$  was also very high when categorizing the tweet's attitude toward smoking into positive, neutral, and negative groups, with almost perfect agreement ( $\kappa$ =0.86, 95% CI 0.85-0.88).

# **Statistical Analysis**

According to whether the tweet was related to the Miyara et al study and whether the tweet was posted before or after the publication date of the Miyara et al study (ie, April 21, 2020), all selected tweets were classified into three groups: (1) tweets not related to the Miyara et al study before publication, (2) tweets not related to the Miyara et al study after publication, and (3) tweets related to the Miyara et al study after publication. The tweets' attitudes toward smoking and the articles' attitudes

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e25010
```

toward smoking were compared among the above three groups using multinomial logistic regression models through the *multinom* function in the *nnet* package in the statistical analysis software R, version 4.0.5 (The R Foundation). The significance level of all two-sided tests was set at 5%. The follower counts of posters within groups related and not related to the Miyara et al study were analyzed to reveal the impacts of when tweets were posted by these accounts.

# **Topic Analysis**

In order to capture certain themes that were prevalent within the tweets, the two members of the study team that hand-coded the tweets also created topics based on the content they read. The tweets were separated into two basic categories to allow for a more efficient comparison of themes: tweets that were not about the Miyara et al study and tweets that were about the Miyara et al study. Different focuses were adopted during the theme-capturing process, considering the fact that people react differently within these two groups. Specifically, themes from tweets about the Miyara et al study were mainly people's attitudes toward the research itself or speculations about unseen driving forces. Contrary to a comparably narrow but concentrated scope, tweets that were not related to the Miyara et al study discussed diverse aspects of the field. For example, users showed sentiments beyond attitudes toward smoking, such as generally distrusting research, stating reasons to support their stances, and requesting information for truth finding. Such diversity has also been observed through various research directions that analyzed smokers' risks of COVID-19 infections, which include but are not limited to the analysis of existing health conditions and harmful life habits. To obtain a comprehensive understanding of these themes, which are not necessarily correlated with each other, multiple groups are, thus, needed for illustrations. As shown in the Results section below (Tweets Related to the Miyara et al Study subsection), groups defined as stances on smoking, other sentiments, and research focus on association between smoking and COVID-19 are used to reflect the uniqueness of sentiments. Based on the themes that were notably expressed most in the tweets, topics were created for each of the two categories: tweets that were not about the study and tweets that were about the study. The topics for both tweets that were about and that were not about the Miyara et al study were chosen by the manual coders, who noted recurring themes throughout the hand-coding process. Each



tweet was then categorized under one of the topics or put under the category *miscellaneous* (ie, unsorted). For each topic, tweets were chosen as a representative example of other tweets within that topic.

# Results

# **Temporal Analysis**

The temporal analysis of the Miyara et al study was done by compiling the hand-coding results after the sentiment analysis. A clear comparison between numbers of tweets that were about

Figure 2. Temporal analysis of the Miyara et al (2020) study's influence.

the Miyara et al study versus those that were not about the Miyara et al study can be drawn from Figure 2. As shown, tweets that were not related to the Miyara et al study remained relatively steady through the study period. In contrast, tweets related to the Miyara et al study sharply increased beginning on April 22, 2020, the day after publication, with a spreading peak observed between April 23 and 24, 2020, when discussion appeared to be most intense. Throughout the whole period until May 4, 2020, the number of tweets related to the Miyara et al study surpassed all other tobacco- and COVID-19–related tweets, confirming its prevalence on Twitter.



#### **Sentiment Analysis**

Figure 3 shows the classification of the final 1929 tweets in different categories (Cohen  $\kappa$  ranged from 0.86 to 0.93). Among the 1929 selected tweets that cited articles with either positive or negative attitudes toward smoking, 324 tweets (16.80%) were not related to the Miyara et al study, while 1605 tweets (83.20%) were related to the Miyara et al study.

Figure 4 shows the proportions of negative, neutral, and positive tweets regarding their attitudes toward smoking in the three different tweet groups. In tweets not related to the Miyara et al study before April 21, 2020, 17 out of 126 tweets (13.5%) showed positive attitudes, 65 out of 126 tweets (51.6%) showed neutral attitudes, and 44 out of 126 tweets (34.9%) showed negative attitudes toward smoking. In tweets not related to the Miyara et al study after April 21, 2020, 26 out of 198 tweets (13.1%) showed positive attitudes, 104 out of 198 tweets

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e25010

RenderX

(52.5%) showed neutral attitudes, and 68 out of 198 tweets (34.3%) showed negative attitudes toward smoking. In tweets related to the Miyara et al study, 311 out of 1605 tweets (19.38%) showed positive attitudes, 1020 out of 1605 tweets (63.55%) showed neutral attitudes, and 274 out of 1605 tweets (17.07%) showed negative attitudes toward smoking. Multinomial logistic regressions were conducted to compare the differences in proportions of positive and negative attitudes toward smoking across the three different groups. The proportion of tweets showing a negative attitude toward smoking that were not related to the Miyara et al study was significantly higher (P < .001) than the proportion of tweets showing a negative attitude toward smoking that were related to the Miyara et al study (P<.001). Meanwhile, the proportion of tweets showing a positive attitude toward smoking that were not related to the Miyara et al study was significantly lower (P < .001) than the proportion of tweets showing a negative attitude toward smoking that were related to the Miyara et al study (P < .001).

Tao et al

Figure 3. Final tweet classification into different categories.



Figure 4. Proportion of negative, neutral, and positive tweets regarding their attitudes toward smoking in three different tweet groups: (1) tweets not related to the Miyara et al study (Non-Miyara et al) before April 21, 2020; (2) tweets not related to the Miyara et al study (Non-Miyara et al) after April 21, 2020; and (3) tweets related to the Miyara et al study. *P* values were obtained from the pairwise comparisons within the multinomial logistic regression model framework.



#### **Topic Analysis**

#### Tweets That Were Not Related to the Miyara et al Study

For the 324 tweets that were not related to the Miyara et al study, 126 (38.9%) tweets were posted before April 21, 2020, and 198 tweets (61.1%) were posted on April 21 or after April 21, 2020. The 324 tweets were categorized into three groups of perspectives to analyze users' opinions, various sentiments, and the research focus of the studies mentioned: *stance on smoking, other sentiments*, and *research focus on association between smoking and COVID-19*, respectively (Table 1). To better capture topic details, many posts were coded into more than one category. After comparison, similar weight distributions were seen between the two periods—before and after April 21,

2020—within the group *stance on smoking*, with the majority of tweets falling into the category *stating the finding*, followed by those within the categories *discourage tobacco* and *encourage tobacco*. Significant changes were found between the two periods in the weights within the categories *more info requested* (P=.006), *advocating quitting smoking* (P=.01), and *health conditions* (diabetes, asthma, etc) (P<.001) using the two-proportion *Z* test. With weight decreases of 6.99%, 6.80%, and 12.79%, their two-proportion *Z* test scores were 2.75, 2.47, and 4.56, respectively, which shows that there were statistical differences with a 5% confidence interval with respect to these three categories between the two periods. For other categories, no clear change was observed. Table 1 shows a breakdown of categories with two example tweets provided for each topic.

Tao et al

Table 1. Topic categories for tweets not related to the Miyara et al study.

Group and topics	Tweets before April 21, 2020 (n=126), n (%)	Tweets after April 21, 2020 (n=198), n (%)	Example tweets <sup>a</sup>
Stance on smoking	·	·	
Stating the finding	58 (46.0)	97 (49.0)	"shocking result smokers are far less likely to be hospitalized with coron- avirus than non smokers"
			"smoking is associated with doubling of covid 19 progression risk center for tobacco control research and education"
Discourage tobacco	39 (31.0)	67 (33.8)	"this study is simple and others published since have made it pretty clear smokers die more from covid than nonsmokers"
			"this suggests that there has never been a better time to quit smoking to protect yourself from covid 19 study shows an incredibly high correlation between serious covid symptoms and habitual smoking"
Encourage tobacco	13 (10.3)	23 (11.6)	"bibber indepth if you split current and former smokers current smokers will end up with a lower risk for hospitalization than or 0 7 and former smokers with a higher or there is no misleading this is a well done study of 4 103 corona patients in a nyc health system"
			"nicotin from tobacco can cure covid19 clinical trials are on in australia tobacco nicotin used as last remedy cure in medical science tobacco is best medicine for neurological disorder do some research goi is right"
Other sentiments			
Advocate quitting smoking	13 (10.3)	7 (3.5)	"a new study shows that cigarettes can help the coronavirus enter lung cells meaning it's time to stop smoking"
			"correct in fact most research on vaping and respiratory health shows that smokers who quit by switching to vaping experience better lung function reduced pneumonia risk and less severe asthma and emphysema"
More info requested	12 (9.5)	5 (2.5)	"are there any official recording of those who smoke are more likely to suffer from covid19"
			"love your show do you have any more info about the study that said smokers are less likely to die from coronavirus thank you"
Debate with others	4 (3.2)	5 (2.5)	"kwaza really please reference one scientific study that proves that smoking decreases your chance of surviving a covid19 infection specifi- cally a study by the cdc found that just over 1 of those who died from a covid19 infection were smokers and just over 2 were previous smokers"
			"ok this isn t being reported enough you are at risk of covid if you are obese have asthma and smoke on a regular basis it is your responsibility to do your own research and act accordingly you can literally get rid of these conditions in weeks if you act now"
General distrust in research	3 (2.4)	5 (2.5)	"such a musical chair this research on covid19 has become smokers will be at higher risk then smokers have a better chance of surviving this is when you shut it all off fda says smokers may have higher risk of catching covid 19"
			"those researchers based their recommendation against smoking on general attributes of the virus eg covid attacks the respiratory system it doesn t appear they consulted the covid specific data at all before issuing their advisory"
Research focus on association between smoking and COVID-19			
Smoking itself	97 (77.0)	185 (90.9)	"smoking does not increase covid 19 susceptibility"
			"smoking protects against covid 19 symptoms says new research hiptoro interesting given the need for oxygen uptake of covid 19 victims"
Health conditions	18 (14.3)	3 (1.5)	"only half of urban and rural pakistanis are aware of the fact that diabetics smokers and asthmatics are at a higher risk of falling severely ill from covid 19 study by aga khan university aku coronavirus"
			"it looks like the best chance to survive coronavirus is to be an overweight smoker according to the latest research justsaying"



Group and topics	Tweets before April 21, 2020 (n=126), n (%)	Tweets after April 21, 2020 (n=198), n (%)	Example tweets <sup>a</sup>
ACE2 <sup>b</sup> related	11 (8.7)	12 (5.6)	"icilondres one theory is that nicotin blocks ace2 receptors the backdoor to the lungs for covid19 however research needs to be done before we all reach out to our patches"
			"some researchers suspect that nicotine binds to ace2 as well and that this makes i via"

<sup>a</sup>During preprocessing and before hand-coding, punctuation and capitalization were removed from the tweets to facilitate content analysis. <sup>b</sup>ACE2: angiotensin-converting enzyme 2.

# Tweets Related to the Miyara et al Study

JMIR FORMATIVE RESEARCH

While manually coding the 1605 tweets about the Miyara et al study, certain common themes arose: encouraging tobacco use, expressing feelings of surprise about the findings of the Miyara et al study, stating the main finding of the Miyara et al study, discussing the follow-up nicotine patch study, highlighting the negative consequences of tobacco use, and questioning whether

or not the Miyara et al study was funded by the tobacco industry. Table 2 shows a breakdown of these categorized tweets along with two example tweets per topic. There is a possibility of topic overlap of these tweets that has not been accounted for here. From the table, we can see that the most common theme was tweets that stated the main finding of the study (40.06%). Following the *stating the finding* topic, the next most prevalent topic was the *nicotine patch follow-up study* (30.97%).

Tao et al

Table 2. Topic categories for tweets related to the Miyara et al study.

Group and topics	Tweets (n=1605), n (%)	Example tweets <sup>a</sup>
Stance on smoking		
Encouraging tobacco use	51 (3.18)	"that's hilarious so nicotine is actually good for something lol smoke em if you got em lol study finds smoking reduces chance of getting coronavirus symptoms"
		"you may have quit smoking too soon a study shows that nicotine addiction may play a protective role against contracting covid 19"
Stating the finding	643 (40.06)	"a cross sectional study strongly suggests that those who smoke every day are much less likely to develop a symptomatic or severe infection with covid 19 compared with the general population"
		"french researchers reveal that smokers are less likely to get covid 19"
Other sentiments		
Shocked or surprised	28 (1.74)	"shocking study supports smoking as preventive measure against covid19"
		"in surprising results and a warning from smoking a Miyara et al. study finds that nicotine may help to fight corona"
Tobacco consequences highlighted	24 (1.50)	"french research suggests nicotine could protect against covid 19 but smoking remains biggest killer in france 75 000 people die every year from smoking related complications"
		"france finds smoking may help you resist covid 19 if you don t mind dying of something else in a reversal of prevailing covid 19 wisdom a Miyara et al. study appears to show smokers are less at risk from virus affirming results of an earlier chinese study"
Tobacco industry funded	34 (2.12)	"this is insane to even suggest using substance such nicotine less likely to catch coronavirus is it tobacco companies is paying for this study"
		"this is based on data analysis not a controlled study and i m deeply suspicious of possible big tobacco influence but as a 63 yr old still hooked on nicotine mints i m hoping hard"
Research focus in the future:	497 (30.97)	"french researchers to test nicotine patches on coronavirus patients"
nicotine patch study		"the study at a major paris hospital suggests a substance in tobacco possibly nicotine may be stopping patients who smoke from catching covid 19 clinical trials of nicotine patches are awaiting the approval of the country's health authorities"
Unsorted: miscellaneous	328 (20.44)	"treat this research with caution it was my solid understanding that this virus affects smokers far worse than a non smoker as the lungs are already compromised from damage by smoking"
		"not gonna read this as i m not a smoker but all i can say is of course it s a Miyara et al. study"

<sup>a</sup>During preprocessing and before hand-coding, punctuation and capitalization were removed from the tweets to facilitate content analysis.

XSL•FO RenderX

# *Tweet Topics Related to Versus Not Related to the Miyara et al Study*

By topic comparison, both similarities and differences were seen. Regarding consistency, topics found within tweets related to the Miyara et al study and those found in tweets not related to the study showed that the majority simply stated the finding of the study; 643 out of 1605 (40.06%) tweets related to the Miyara et al study belonged to this category, compared to 155 out of 324 (47.8%) tweets not related to the study. However, while both groups contained tweets that held negative attitudes toward smoking, tweets related to the Miyara et al study discouraged tobacco use in a more comprehensive way. For example, within the 1605 tweets related to the Miyara et al study, 24 (1.50%) highlighted the risks of tobacco use and 34 (2.12%) speculated whether the study was funded by the tobacco industry. Within the 198 tweets that were not related to the study, 67 (33.8%) discouraged tobacco use, while 23 (11.6%) encouraged tobacco use. Furthermore, there were tweets that demonstrated doubts regarding the potential benefits of smoking, but many did not absolutely reject such possibilities. This suggests that users may have been open to exploring whether there was a positive effect of smoking on COVID-19 but that they proceeded with caution. Before the publication of the Miyara et al study, such rejections were frequently observed, which indicates that most users shared a neutral or more negative opinion of smoking's influence on COVID-19 and suggests that users may have begun to think more critically about smoking's impact on the novel coronavirus after the Miyara et al study was published. The distributions of the number of followers of Twitter users who posted either tweets related to the Miyara et al study or tweets not related to the study were both highly skewed to the left. The median number of followers of Twitter users who posted tweets related to the Miyara et al study was 585 (IQR 3407). The median number of followers of Twitter users who posted tweets that were not related to the study was 630 (IQR 2681). The number of followers of Twitter users indicated the bandwidth of outreach of those posted tweets.

# Discussion

# **Principal Findings**

This report presents novel findings observing a shift in attitudes toward smoking among Twitter users after publication of a Miyara et al study that reported lower rates of daily smoking among COVID-19 cases. The relatively large number of median followers of Twitter users who posted tweets related to the Miyara et al study indicated that the results of the Miyara et al study were widely disseminated. Overall, the findings suggest that this study was successfully disseminated and appears to have led to more positive attitudes toward smoking among our population. Every post that stated the main finding of the Miyara et al study, which was considered a neutral sentiment, can be looked at as an instance of spread of information from one user to other users, leading to even greater spread of the study. When comparing tweet sentiments before and after April 21, 2020, there was a significantly more positive attitude toward smoking among all tweets.

XSL•FO

The largest percentage of tweets, from before and after April 21, 2020, and that were about the Miyara et al study, had a neutral sentiment toward smoking, including mentions of wanting more information and a sense of uncertainty regarding the study's findings. The most prevalent tweets stated the main finding of the study and/or mentioned the nicotine patch follow-up study. The main findings of the articles tweeted about in this sample-those that were not about the Miyara et al study-reflected both the benefits and risks of smoking on COVID-19 [13,14]. People's opinions of smoking varied a lot throughout the periods, encouraging or discouraging nicotine use. Among different studies, the up- or down-regulation effects of ACE2 receptor proteins, to which viruses bind, were frequently discussed to explain smoking's impact on COVID-19 [14,15]. The similar distributions of the number of followers of Twitter users who posted tweets that were either related to or not related to the Miyara et al study indicated similar bandwidths of outreach of those posted tweets.

Nevertheless, differences in people's opinions and study focuses were observed in some ways. Even among posts not directly discussing the Miyara et al study, there was still a shift to a more positive attitude toward smoking after its publication. Not necessarily shifting all others' attitudes toward smoking from negative to positive, the release of Miyara et al study did at least waver the stances of those who opposed smoking, confirming its positive impact. This speculation was supported by a 6.82% weight decrease of tweets that were not related to Miyara et al study that advocated quitting smoking. To conclude, a different reaction pattern was seen between tweets within French and non-French groups. Beyond the study's influence of changing people's attitudes toward smoking, it also informs a critical thinking mindset behind how people observe the effects of smoking. For example, while people's stances varied regarding the effect of smoking on COVID-19, more tweets (10.3%) were observed that called on people to quit smoking before April 21, 2020, compared to after (3.5%). This decrease was perhaps due to the impact of the Miyara et al study, which highlighted a potential benefit of smoking.

Significant changes were also seen regarding how people analyzed the impacts of smoking on COVID-19. Before April 21, 2020, many tweets (14.3%) discussed the increased risks of infection if smokers had existing health conditions, such as diabetes and asthma [16]. Some tweets cited articles that stated former smokers would be at higher risks of infection compared to current smokers [17]. These mixed perspectives did not analyze the direct impact of smoking and reiterated the combined effects of existing health issues and smoking on COVID-19 infection. The findings of these articles reflect the uncertainty of research directions about smoking itself, which was expressed in the tweets that were not related to the Miyara et al study. However, the publication of the Miyara et al study could have led to less uncertainty about the impact of smoking on COVID-19 after April 21, 2020, with only 1.5% of tweets discussing the influence of smokers' health conditions on infection, compared to 14.3% before.

### Strengths

Twitter is a valuable tool used in health research and can be used to analyze up-to-date data about a specific topic while it is at its peak discussion point [18]. Another study examining Twitter sentiments on smoking and COVID-19 found that the sentiment of tweets was generally negative but became less negative in April 2020, which is when the Miyara et al study was released [11]. We observed a shift toward positive sentiments revolving around smoking among posts discussing the Miyara et al study after April 21, 2020, compared to posts before the publication. Overall, this study presents a useful example of the impact of the dissemination of a particular contrarian study and how it can shift the field of discussion on a topic. That is, one particular finding can color a conversation.

# Limitations

Although the results met our original expectations of the impact of the Miyara et al study on people's opinion changes, several limitations of our analysis can be found. Firstly, some posts might be missing, since keywords were used to filter out tweets before hand-coding. The potential problems of this are whether or not all posts about our topic contained the chosen keywords. For example, the keywords "study" and "research" were used to filter out research-related posts; however, users might use words like "result" and "report," among other words, to reflect a research finding. In our case, "result" and "report" would bring in a lot of off-topic tweets; thus, those were not included in the keyword list. Nevertheless, an alternative analysis could consider adding those tweets and starting the filtering process afterward. Similar problems might be relevant if some users comment on a research result without referring to the subject, in which case users' sentiments would still be related to our analysis but would be ignored. Secondly, we analyzed tweets written only in English and missed tweets in other languages, which might bias the study results. However, analyzing tweets written only in English could avoid misinterpreting translations. Thirdly, we did not collect and analyze the numbers of likes and retweets of the original posts, which could also help to analyze the impact of those tweets. Furthermore, although intercoder variances were small enough to make the results valid, hand-coding is a subjective method, implying potential cognitive differences in coding. Tweets were posted globally, which suggests that tones from distinct regions might imply different meanings (eg, sarcasm). Though hard to eliminate, such limitations could be alleviated by incorporating more coders with diverse backgrounds. Lastly, it is possible that smokers tended to tweet more about smoking-related studies. They may even have had positive attitudes toward smoking before seeing any studies demonstrating smoking's beneficial effects. To address that, studies quantifying such likelihood

may be needed and should be taken into consideration during analysis to more precisely observe the impact of the Miyara et al study.

#### **Implications and Future Directions**

Note that this paper is not a criticism of the Miyara et al study's authors or their research—our focus here is on using that paper and its findings as a jumping-off point for exploring how a particular study is disseminated on Twitter, and how that information may influence the sentiment of tweets moving forward. Information-based communication strategies can be used to modify people's attitudes by providing evidence for or against an idea. Previous literature has described the impact of research and research dissemination as affecting knowledge, attitudes, and behavior with respect to health risks [19]. Our findings suggest that among Twitter users discussing tobacco research, a substantial number of posts were related to the Miyara et al study on COVID-19 and smoking for several days after its publication on April 21, 2020. There was a significant increase in the number of tweets with a positive sentiment toward smoking, both when comparing tweets posted before and after the Miyara et al study publication date and when comparing tweets related to and not related to the Miyara et al study, after April 21, 2020. Therefore, the results of the Miyara et al study could have contributed to a positive shift in attitude toward smoking among some Twitter users. We understand the number of tweets used in the analysis might be only 1% of the total number of tweets related to the Miyara et al study on COVID-19. However, given the assumption that the tweets obtained from free Twitter streaming could be treated as a random sample from all tweets related to the Miyara et al study on COVID-19, the statistical significance of a positive shift in attitude toward smoking is valid. Given the negative consequences of tobacco use, it is imperative to disseminate accurate messaging and concise evidence and recommendations regarding the relationship between COVID-19 and nicotine to prevent initiation of tobacco product use and encourage cessation. Given the dissemination of the Miyara et al study's results and the confusion expressed by users, there is a need for further research on the true effects of nicotine and the novel coronavirus. The World Health Organization has since published a scientific brief stating that "smoking is associated with increased severity of disease and death in hospitalized COVID-19 patients" and that "there is no evidence to quantify the risk to smokers of hospitalization with COVID-19 or of infection by SARS-CoV-2" [20]. Twitter can serve as a useful resource to monitor the spread of, and reactions to, tobacco research to identify potentially problematic public interpretations or misrepresentations of findings.

#### Acknowledgments

Research reported in this publication was supported by the National Cancer Institute of the National Institutes of Health (NIH) and the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) Center for Tobacco Products under Award Number U54CA228110. The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the NIH or the FDA.



# **Authors' Contributions**

ZX, DL, and ROC conceived and designed the study. ZX, CT, and LC extracted and preprocessed the data. CT, DD, and DL analyzed the data. CT, DD, ZX, LC, DL, and ROC wrote the manuscript, assisted with interpretation of the analyses and results, and edited the manuscript.

# **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

# References

- 1. Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). Mayo Clinic. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.mayoclinic.org/diseases-conditions/</u> <u>coronavirus/symptoms-causes/syc-20479963</u> [accessed 2020-08-24]
- Karanasos A, Aznaouridis K, Latsios G, Synetos A, Plitaria S, Tousoulis D, et al. Impact of smoking status on disease severity and mortality of hospitalized patients with COVID-19 infection: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Nicotine Tob Res 2020 Aug 24;22(9):1657-1659 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/ntr/ntaa107] [Medline: 32564072]
- 3. Alqahtani JS, Oyelade T, Aldhahir AM, Alghamdi SM, Almehmadi M, Alqahtani AS, et al. Prevalence, severity and mortality associated with COPD and smoking in patients with COVID-19: A rapid systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One 2020;15(5):e0233147 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0233147] [Medline: 32392262]
- 4. Grundy EJ, Suddek T, Filippidis F, Majeed A, Coronini-Cronberg S. Smoking, SARS-CoV-2 and COVID-19: A review of reviews considering implications for public health policy and practice. Tob Induc Dis 2020;18:58 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.18332/tid/124788] [Medline: 32641924]
- 5. Miyara M, Tubach F, Pourcher V, Morelot-Panzini C, Pernet J, Haroche J, et al. Low incidence of daily active tobacco smoking in patients with symptomatic COVID-19. Qeios. Preprint posted online on April 20, 2020. [doi: 10.32388/wpp19w.2]
- 6. WHO Report on the Global Tobacco Epidemic 2019: Offer Help to Quit Tobacco Use. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2019. URL: <u>https://www.who.int/teams/health-promotion/tobacco-control/</u> who-report-on-the-global-tobacco-epidemic-2019 [accessed 2020-08-24]
- Changeux JP, Amoura Z, Rey F, Miyara M. A nicotinic hypothesis for Covid-19 with preventive and therapeutic implications. C R Biol 2020 Jun 05;343(1):33-39. [doi: <u>10.5802/crbiol.8</u>] [Medline: <u>32720486</u>]
- 8. What is Twitter and why should you use it? UKRI Economic and Social Research Council. 2020. URL: <u>https://esrc.ukri.org/</u> research/impact-toolkit/social-media/twitter/what-is-twitter/ [accessed 2020-08-24]
- Bardus M, El Rassi R, Chahrour M, Akl EW, Raslan AS, Meho LI, et al. The use of social media to increase the impact of health research: Systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2020 Jul 06;22(7):e15607 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.2196/15607</u>] [Medline: <u>32628113</u>]
- 10. Gupta RK, Vishwanath A, Yang Y. COVID-19 Twitter dataset with latent topics, sentiments and emotions attributes. ArXiv. Preprint posted online on July 14, 2020 [FREE Full text]
- 11. Kamiński M, Muth A, Bogdański P. Smoking, vaping, and tobacco industry during COVID-19 pandemic: Twitter data analysis. Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw 2020 Dec;23(12):811-817. [doi: <u>10.1089/cyber.2020.0384</u>] [Medline: <u>32757951</u>]
- Abd-Alrazaq A, Alhuwail D, Househ M, Hamdi M, Shah Z. Top concerns of tweeters during the COVID-19 pandemic: Infoveillance study. J Med Internet Res 2020 Apr 21;22(4):e19016 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.2196/19016</u>] [Medline: <u>32287039</u>]
- Farsalinos K, Niaura R, Le Houezec J, Barbouni A, Tsatsakis A, Kouretas D, et al. Editorial: Nicotine and SARS-CoV-2: COVID-19 may be a disease of the nicotinic cholinergic system. Toxicol Rep 2020;7:658-663 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1016/j.toxrep.2020.04.012</u>] [Medline: <u>32355638</u>]
- 14. Farsalinos K, Barbouni A, Niaura R. Smoking, vaping and hospitalization for COVID-19. Qeios. Preprint posted online on March 25, 2020 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.32388/z69o8a.7]
- Brake SJ, Barnsley K, Lu W, McAlinden KD, Eapen MS, Sohal SS. Smoking upregulates angiotensin-converting enzyme-2 receptor: A potential adhesion site for novel coronavirus SARS-CoV-2 (Covid-19). J Clin Med 2020 Mar 20;9(3):841 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/jcm9030841] [Medline: 32244852]
- 16. Perrotta F, Matera MG, Cazzola M, Bianco A. Severe respiratory SARS-CoV2 infection: Does ACE2 receptor matter? Respir Med 2020 Jul;168:105996 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.rmed.2020.105996] [Medline: 32364961]
- Cai G. Bulk and single-cell transcriptomics identify tobacco-use disparity in lung gene expression of ACE2, the receptor of 2019-nCov. Preprints. Preprint posted online on February 5, 2020 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.20944/preprints202002.0051.v2]
- Sinnenberg L, Buttenheim AM, Padrez K, Mancheno C, Ungar L, Merchant RM. Twitter as a tool for health research: A systematic review. Am J Public Health 2017 Jan;107(1):e1-e8. [doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2016.303512] [Medline: 27854532]
- Kuruvilla S, Mays N, Pleasant A, Walt G. Describing the impact of health research: A Research Impact Framework. BMC Health Serv Res 2006 Oct 18;6:134 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6963-6-134] [Medline: 17049092]
- 20. Smoking and COVID-19. World Health Organization. 2020 Jun 30. URL: <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/commentaries/</u> <u>detail/smoking-and-covid-19</u> [accessed 2020-08-24]

# Abbreviations

ACE2: angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 FDA: US Food and Drug Administration NIH: National Institutes of Health

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 14.10.20; peer-reviewed by M K., J Banda Orozco; comments to author 17.11.20; revised version received 08.12.20; accepted 22.04.21; published 15.06.21.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Tao C, Diaz D, Xie Z, Chen L, Li D, O'Connor R Potential Impact of a Paper About COVID-19 and Smoking on Twitter Users' Attitudes Toward Smoking: Observational Study JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e25010 URL: <u>https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e25010</u> doi:<u>10.2196/25010</u> PMID:<u>33939624</u>

©Chunliang Tao, Destiny Diaz, Zidian Xie, Long Chen, Dongmei Li, Richard O'Connor. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 15.06.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



# **Original Paper**

# Teleconsultation in the Management of Elective Orthopedic and Spinal Conditions During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Prospective Cohort Study of Patient Experiences

Christina Melian<sup>1</sup>, BS, MS; Christopher Frampton<sup>2</sup>, BSc, PhD; Michael Charles Wyatt<sup>2</sup>, BSc, MBChB; David Kieser<sup>3</sup>, MBChB, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Renaissance School of Medicine at Stony Brook University, Stony Brook, NY, United States

<sup>2</sup>University of Otago, Christchurch, New Zealand

<sup>3</sup>Christchurch School of Medicine, Christchurch, New Zealand

# **Corresponding Author:**

Christina Melian, BS, MS Renaissance School of Medicine at Stony Brook University 101 Nicolls Road Health Sciences Center, Level 4 Stony Brook, NY, 11794-8434 United States Phone: 1 631 444 2111 Email: christina.melian@stonybrookmedicine.edu

# Abstract

**Background:** The global adoption of teleconsultation has been expedited as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. By allowing remote communication, teleconsultation may help limit the spread of the virus while maintaining the crucial patient-provider relationship.

**Objective:** The aim of this study is to evaluate the value of teleconsultation compared to in-person visits in the management of elective orthopedic and spinal procedures.

**Methods:** This was a prospective observational cohort study of 853 patients receiving orthopedic and spinal care at a private outpatient clinic in New Zealand. Patients were randomly divided into two groups: (1) patients receiving telephone consultation remotely, and (2) patients receiving in-person office consultations at the outpatient clinic. All patients received telephone consultations for 4 weeks during the mandated COVID-19 lockdown, followed by 4 weeks of telephone or in-person consultation. Patient preference, satisfaction, and duration of visit were recorded. Comparisons of patient preference between groups, visit type, sex, and location were performed using chi-square tests; similarly, satisfaction scores and visit durations were compared using a general linear model.

**Results:** We report that 91% (353/388) of patients in the telephone group preferred teleconsultation over in-person office visits during the COVID-19 lockdown (P<.001). A combined-group analysis showed that 55.3% (446/807) of all patients preferred teleconsultation compared to 31.2% (252/807) who preferred in-person office visits (P<.001). Patients in the telephone group reported significantly higher satisfaction scores (mean 9.95, SD 0.04, 95% CI 9.87-10.03) compared to patients in the in-person group (mean 9.53, SE 0.04, 95% CI 9.45-9.62; P<.001). Additionally, in-person consultations were significantly longer in duration compared to telephone consultations, with a mean visit time of 6.70 (SE 0.18) minutes, 95% CI 6.32-7.02, compared to 5.10 (SE 0.17) minutes, 95% CI 4.73-5.42 (P<.001).

**Conclusions:** Patients who use telephone consultations are more likely to prefer it over traditional, in-person visits in the future. This increased preference, coupled with higher patient satisfaction scores and shorter duration of visits, suggests that teleconsultation has a role in orthopedic surgery, which may even extend beyond the COVID-19 pandemic.

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e28140) doi:10.2196/28140

# **KEYWORDS**

RenderX

telemedicine; patient satisfaction; orthopedic surgery; telehealth; COVID-19; pandemic

# Introduction

With the unexpected arrival of COVID-19, there has been a rapid uptake in the use of digital technology in health care, including orthopedic surgery [1,2]. By providing a secure platform for remote communication, teleconsultation permits patients and physicians to stay connected despite strict lockdown restrictions. Such technologies limit virus exposure and preserve limited hospital supplies, while maintaining continuity of care Teleconsultation can be conducted using either [3]. asynchronous or synchronous delivery methods [4]. Most teleconsultation delivery systems use an asynchronous "store and forward" approach in which patient information is electronically delivered to physicians, and responses can be generated later. Synchronous methods that allow for real-time delivery of health care, such as through videoconferencing or telephone interviews, are more favorable as they maintain the patient-provider relationship that may otherwise be compromised in a "store and forward" delivery system [5].

A strong patient-provider relationship enhances patient satisfaction, compliance, and overall health outcomes [6]. In a recent systematic review and meta-analysis, we demonstrated that teleconsultation was equivocal to traditional face-to-face office visits in regard to patient and physician preference and satisfaction [7]. In fact, we found that patients who used teleconsultation were roughly 1.5 times more likely to prefer it for subsequent appointments over traditional office visits, indicating a potential role for such technologies beyond COVID-19.

The purpose of this study is to evaluate patient perceptions of telephone consultations compared to traditional, in-person consultations in the management of elective orthopedic and spinal procedures. We assess patient preference, satisfaction, and duration of consultation, hypothesizing that teleconsultation is comparable to in-person consultation in these regards. Consistent with the literature, we also hypothesize that first-hand exposure to teleconsultation will positively influence a patient's preference for its use in the future [7].

# Methods

# **Study Protocol**

A four-level national lockdown alert system was introduced in New Zealand for the COVID-19 outbreak. From a medical perspective, level 1 permitted normal interactions and consultations. In contrast, level 4 meant no in-person contact for elective care. The level 4 New Zealand national lockdown for COVID-19 was between March 25 and April 27, 2020. Following this, New Zealand moved down alert levels and entered level 1 on June 8, 2020. New Zealand remained at alert level 1 until August 12, 2020.

This was a prospective observational cohort study of 853 patients (10-94 years old) evaluated at a private outpatient clinic in New Zealand for orthopedic and spinal procedures. The first cohort included 364 patients who had teleconsultations during the four weeks of level 4 lockdown (March 25 to April 27, 2020). The comparator group comprised 487 patients who had

XSL•FC

in-person consultations during the first four weeks of level 1 (June 8 to July 6, 2020). Consultations were conducted by two orthopedic surgeons (DK and MW). All patients were reviewed within five days of referral for new patients and a designated two-week or six-week appointment postoperatively for postoperative patients. Follow-up patients were reviewed either at six weeks or after an investigation was obtained. No change in this schedule occurred between the two groups.

Consultation durations were recorded as phone call duration or time from entry to exit in the consultation room. Patients were contacted, either by telephone or email, by the physician assistant within two weeks of their consultation to rate their satisfaction and preference for either teleconsultation or in-person visit. Evaluations were rated on a scale of 0-10, with 0 being the worst experience and 10 being the best experience possible. Preference was obtained via a 3-item questionnaire (phone, in-person, none) at final follow-up. All patients in the teleconsultation group received in-person follow-up within three months of their teleconsultation to ensure that the diagnosis and management was deemed appropriate by the treating clinician.

Informed patient consent was obtained from each patient. Ethical approval was sought but deemed unnecessary as this was part of a clinic audit.

#### Outcomes

The primary outcome measures in this study were patient preference, satisfaction, and duration of consultation.

#### Statistical Analysis

The percentages of participant preference for in-person, phone, or no preference were compared between in-person and phone consults using chi-square tests. Location was categorized into city dwellers (>30 minutes of travel time) and rural dwellers (<30 minutes of travel time). Similarly, comparisons of preferences between sex, consultation type, and location were compared using chi-square tests. The scores assigned to each consultation (0-10) and the durations of the consultations were compared between in-person and telephone consults, sex, consultation type, and location using a general linear model incorporating all factors in a single model for each outcome measure. Least square means derived from these analyses with 95% CIs are used to summarize these analyses. A two-tailed Pvalue <.05 is taken to indicate statistical significance and all analyses were undertaken using SPSS (version 25.0; IBM Corp).

# Results

#### Overview

In total, 14 of 364 total patients (3.8%) in the teleconsultation group did not attend their telephone appointment during the four-week level 4 lockdown; these same patients did not respond to the follow-up questionnaire assessing patient preference and satisfaction. Overall, 18 of 487 total patients in the in-person group (3.5%) did not attend their office visit during the first four weeks of the level 1 lockdown, and 32 patients (6.6%) did not respond to the follow-up questionnaire. Therefore, patient preference and satisfaction were reported by 807 patients, with

the exception of preference by location; 32 patients reported mixed abode and were excluded from this measure.

There were two cases for which the surgeons felt the telephone consult was inappropriate: two initial consultations of coccydynia, due to the sensitive location of the pain and uncomfortable conversation that would best be delivered in-person. In addition, during the teleconsultations, two patients were incorrectly diagnosed as L5 radiculopathy, which when reviewed in person were clearly greater trochanteric pain syndrome, both cases of which resolved with a trochanteric bursal steroid injection. In addition, two patients in the teleconsultation group showed up in-person and were therefore counted as in-person visits.

#### **Patient Preference**

Table 1 shows the overall patient preference for consultation in both the in-person and telephone group during the COVID-19 lockdown. The vast majority of patients in the telephone group (353/388, 91%) preferred teleconsultation over in-person office visits compared to 51.8% (217/419) of patients in the in-person group who preferred in-person office visits. When looking at

Table 1. Patient preference for consultation according to visit type.

the combined groups, 55.3% (446/807) of patients preferred teleconsultation over in-person visits compared to 31.2% (252/807) who preferred in-person office visits (P<.001). Teleconsultation was preferred over in-person office visits by 87.5% (126/144) of those evaluated postoperatively, as well as 48.5% (200/412) and 47.8% (120/251) of patients receiving checkups and initial consults, respectively (Figure 1). In contrast, those who preferred in-person office visits were mostly evaluated for initial consults (96/251, 38.2%), followed by checkups (142/412, 34.5%) and postoperative visits (14/144, 9.7%). No preference for either teleconsultation or in-person visits was reported in 13.5% (109/807) of total patients.

When analyzed by sex, both males and females reported a stronger preference for teleconsultation over in-person office visits (Figure 2). Out of all the patients evaluated, 54.5% (234/429) of males and 56.1% (212/378) of females chose teleconsultation over in-person visits for future visits (Table S1 in Multimedia Appendix 1; P<.001). In fact, roughly 90% of both males and females in the telephone group indicated that they would prefer teleconsultation for subsequent visits.

Visit type	Consult preference			
	In person	No preference	Phone	
Checkup (n=412), n (%)			· · · ·	<.001
In person	130 (49.1)	70 (26.4)	65 (24.5)	
Phone	12 (8.2)	0 (0)	135 (91.8)	
Total	142 (34.5)	70 (17)	200 (48.5)	
Initial consult (n=251), n (%)				<.001
In person	74 (56.9)	35 (26.9)	21 (16.2)	
Phone	22 (18.2)	0 (0)	99 (81.8)	
Total	96 (38.2)	35 (13.9)	120 (47.8)	
Postoperative (n=144), n (%)				<.001
In person	13 (54.2)	4 (16.7)	7 (29.2)	
Phone	1 (0.8)	0 (0)	119 (99.2)	
Total	14 (9.7)	4 (2.8)	126 (87.5)	
Total (n=807), n (%)				<.001
In person	217 (51.8)	109 (26)	93 (22.2)	
Phone	35 (9)	0 (0)	353 (91)	
Total	252 (31.2)	109 (13.5)	446 (55.3)	



Figure 1. Preference for consultation by visit type. CHK: checkup; IC: initial consult; PO: postoperative.



Figure 2. Preference for consultation by sex. M: male; F: female.



When analyzed by location, teleconsultation was preferred over in-person office visits by both city and rural community dwellers (Figure 3). Out of all the patients evaluated, 58.9% (234/397) of patients living in the city preferred teleconsultation compared to 47.6% (180/378) of patients living in a rural community (Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 1; P<.001). A striking 97.4% (191/196) of city dwellers in the telephone group preferred teleconsultation over in-person office visits compared to 81.3% (130/160) of patients living in a rural community.



Figure 3. Preference for consultation by location. City: <30 minutes of travel; rural: >30 minutes of travel.



#### **Patient Satisfaction**

Overall, there was a significantly higher satisfaction rating among the telephone group (mean 9.95, SE 0.04, 95% CI 9.87-10.03; P<.001) compared to the in-person group (mean 9.53, SD 0.04, 95% CI 9.45-9.62; P<.001; Table 2). A significant difference between the different types of visits was

observed, with checkup patients reporting the highest satisfaction (mean 9.82, SE 0.04, 95% CI 9.74-9.89), followed by postoperative (mean 9.78, SE 0.07, 95% CI 9.65-9.92) and initial consultations (mean 9.62, SE 0.05, 95% CI 9.53-9.72; P=.006). No significant difference was detected between groups in regard to sex or location.

SE 0.16 minutes, 95% CI 4.73-5.37) and postoperative visits

(4.10 minutes, SE 0.29 minutes, 95% CI 3.54-4.67; P<.001).

No significant difference in consultation duration was observed

in regard to sex or location.

Table 2. Patient satisfaction (on a scale from 0-10, with 10 being the most satisfied) according to sex, location, consultation, and visit type.

Variables	Mean (SE)	95% CI	
		Lower bound	Upper bound
Sex	·	·	
Female	9.73 (0.04)	9.64	9.81
Male	9.75 (0.04)	9.68	9.83
Location			
City (<30 minutes of travel time)	9.71 (0.04)	9.64	9.79
Rural (>30 minutes of travel time)	9.77 (0.04)	9.68	9.85
Consultation			
In person	9.53 (0.04)	9.45	9.62
Phone	9.95 (0.04)	9.87	10.03
Туре			
Checkup	9.82 (0.04)	9.74	9.89
Initial consult	9.62 (0.05)	9.53	9.72
Postoperative	9.78 (0.07)	9.65	9.92

#### **Duration of Consultation**

In-person consultations were significantly longer in duration compared to telephone consultations, with a mean visit time of 6.70 (SE 0.18) minutes, 95% CI 6.32-7.02, and 5.10 (SE 0.17) minutes, 95% CI 4.73-5.42, respectively (P<.001). Initial consultations took the longest to conduct (8.50 minutes, SE 0.20 minutes, 95% CI 8.067-8.87), followed by checkup (5.0 minutes,

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e28140

# Discussion

We report an increased preference for teleconsultation, greater patient satisfaction, and shorter duration of visits in patients who had telephone consultations during the COVID-19 lockdown. Studies have shown that a strong patient-physician relationship is correlated with greater medical adherence and positive health outcomes [6]. However, the abrupt onset of the COVID-19 pandemic has threatened this fundamental relationship by limiting in-person consultations and impeding communication between patients and physicians. Teleconsultation offers a potential solution by providing a platform through which patients and physicians can establish and maintain communication to better manage elective orthopedic and spinal conditions [2,8]. Despite the advantages of teleconsultation, one of the biggest threats to its implementation is patient satisfaction and willingness to adopt such new technologies [9,10]. Previous studies suggest that patient preference and satisfaction are key indicators of how effective teleconsultation modalities will be in clinical practice [<mark>9</mark>].

In this study, we compare the patient perception of teleconsultation with that of traditional, in-person consultations in the management of elective orthopedic and spinal procedures during the COVID-19 lockdown. We found that patients receiving telephone consultation had a significantly higher preference for teleconsultation than those receiving in-person visits, regardless of the type of visit (ie, checkup, initial, postoperative). Similarly, patients receiving in-person consultation had a higher preference for in-person consultation, suggesting that familiarity and convenience may play a role in patient preference for consultation type [11]. A closer look at the data reveals the greatest preference for teleconsultation is among patients presenting postoperatively, followed by those undergoing checkup visits and initial consultations, respectively. This is consistent with the literature showing that patients are more likely to prefer teleconsultation for follow-up appointments, as opposed to primary encounters, given the nature of the visits [12]. Initial consultations tend to be more thorough, with the focus being on building rapport between patient and physician [13]. As a result, patients may be more resistant to disclose personal information via telephone if a strong patient-physician relationship has not already been established. This is in contrast to postoperative or checkup visits in which a strong relationship has most likely been achieved at prior visits, making teleconsultation a suitable method of care.

Interestingly, we found that patients living in the city (<30 minutes of travel time) were more likely to prefer teleconsultation compared to patients living in rural communities (>30 minutes of travel time). One might assume that patients living in rural communities would have a stronger preference for teleconsultation given the health disparities typically seen in rural communities [14]. We hypothesize that this is due to the busier lifestyles and greater time demands experienced by city dwellers, thus making remote consultations more desirable.

In terms of patient satisfaction, statistically higher levels were achieved in the telephone consultation group compared to the in-person group, across all visit types. Such findings may be indirectly linked to the significantly shorter duration of visits observed among the teleconsultation group. Not surprisingly, initial consultations took the longest to conduct, followed by checkups and postoperative visits, respectively. Although not assessed in this study, the higher patient satisfaction observed in the teleconsultation group may also be attributed to a reduction in travel time [15], cost reduction [16], and improved access to care [16].

While these results show strong evidence in favor of teleconsultation, this study has a few limitations. First, telephone consultations were performed during a mandated lockdown when people were required to stay at home, without the option for in-person reviews. Therefore, we must consider the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on patients' preference for teleconsultation. It is possible that patients would have preferred in-person consultation if the pandemic was not a threat. For this reason, a re-review would be prudent outside of the COVID-19 pandemic to reinforce the results of this study. Second, this study was conducted at a single outpatient clinic in New Zealand. Additionally, patient preference and satisfaction ratings were assessed through self-reported measures, with 78 patients lost to follow-up.

Despite such limitations, our results suggest that teleconsultation may have real therapeutic value in the management of orthopedic and spinal conditions. From a patient perspective, teleconsultation does not appear to be inferior to traditional, in-person office visits in terms of preference and overall satisfaction. Although this study was conducted during the mandated COVID-19 lockdown, it should be noted that teleconsultation has been on the rise across health care fields internationally for the past decade. Therefore, our findings further support the use of teleconsultation, even beyond the COVID-19 pandemic.

#### **Authors' Contributions**

CM is the corresponding author, performed the data analysis, wrote the original draft, and revised the manuscript. CF performed the formal analysis. MW contributed to data curation, and reviewed and edited the manuscript. DK contributed to conceptualization and data curation.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

(SL•FO

Supplementary data. [DOCX File , 15 KB - formative v5i6e28140 app1.docx ]

# References

- Loeb AE, Rao SS, Ficke JR, Morris CD, Riley LH, Levin AS. Departmental Experience and Lessons Learned With Accelerated Introduction of Telemedicine During the COVID-19 Crisis. J Am Acad Orthop Surg 2020;28(11):e469-e476. [doi: 10.5435/jaaos-d-20-00380]
- 2. Latifi R, Doarn CR. Perspective on COVID-19: Finally, Telemedicine at Center Stage. Telemed J E Health 2020 Sep 01;26(9):1106-1109. [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2020.0132] [Medline: 32408804]
- 3. Good DW, Lui DF, Leonard M, Morris S, McElwain JP. Skype: a tool for functional assessment in orthopaedic research. J Telemed Telecare 2012 Mar 13;18(2):94-98. [doi: 10.1258/jtt.2011.110814] [Medline: 22247538]
- 4. Toh N, Pawlovich J, Grzybowski S. Telehealth and patient-doctor relationships in rural and remote communities. Can Fam Physician 2016 Dec;62(12):961-963 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 27965327]
- 5. Parikh PJ, Mowrey C, Gallimore J, Harrell S, Burke B. Evaluating e-consultation implementations based on use and time-line across various specialties. Int J Med Inform 2017 Dec;108:42-48. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2017.09.005] [Medline: 29132630]
- Schubert N, Backman P, Bhatla R, Corace K. Telepsychiatry and patient–provider concordance. Can J Rural Med 2019;24(3):75. [doi: <u>10.4103/cjrm.cjrm 9 18</u>]
- Melian C, Kieser D, Frampton C, C Wyatt M. Teleconsultation in orthopaedic surgery: A systematic review and meta-analysis of patient and physician experiences. J Telemed Telecare 2020 Oct 01:1357633X20950995. [doi: 10.1177/1357633X20950995] [Medline: 32873138]
- 8. Negrini S, Kiekens C, Bernetti A, Capecci M, Ceravolo MG, Lavezzi S, et al. Telemedicine from research to practice during the pandemic. "Instant paper from the field" on rehabilitation answers to the COVID-19 emergency. Eur J Phys Rehabil Med 2020 Jun;56(3):1. [doi: 10.23736/s1973-9087.20.06331-5]
- Kruse CS, Krowski N, Rodriguez B, Tran L, Vela J, Brooks M. Telehealth and patient satisfaction: a systematic review and narrative analysis. BMJ Open 2017 Aug 03;7(8):e016242 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1136/bmjopen-2017-016242</u>] [Medline: <u>28775188</u>]
- 10. Honavar S. Patient–physician relationship Communication is the key. Indian J Ophthalmol 2018;66(11):1527. [doi: 10.4103/ijo.ijo 1760 18]
- Polinski JM, Barker T, Gagliano N, Sussman A, Brennan TA, Shrank WH. Patients' Satisfaction with and Preference for Telehealth Visits. J Gen Intern Med 2016 Mar 13;31(3):269-275 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-015-3489-x] [Medline: 26269131]
- Gunter RL, Chouinard S, Fernandes-Taylor S, Wiseman JT, Clarkson S, Bennett K, et al. Current Use of Telemedicine for Post-Discharge Surgical Care: A Systematic Review. J Am Coll Surg 2016 May;222(5):915-927 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2016.01.062] [Medline: 27016900]
- Sohn K, Nam S, Joo J, Kwon YJ, Yim J. Patient-Centeredness during In-Depth Consultation in the Outpatient Clinic of a Tertiary Hospital in Korea: Paradigm Shift from Disease to Patient. J Korean Med Sci 2019 May 22;34(15):e119 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3346/jkms.2019.34.e119] [Medline: 31001936]
- Marcin JP, Shaikh U, Steinhorn RH. Addressing health disparities in rural communities using telehealth. Pediatr Res 2016 Jan 14;79(1-2):169-176. [doi: <u>10.1038/pr.2015.192</u>] [Medline: <u>26466080</u>]
- 15. Sathiyakumar V, Apfeld J, Obremskey W, Thakore R, Sethi M. Prospective randomized controlled trial using telemedicine for follow-ups in an orthopedic trauma population: a pilot study. J Orthop Trauma 2015 Mar;29(3):e139-e145. [doi: 10.1097/BOT.00000000000189] [Medline: 24983434]
- Connell A, Raine R, Martin P, Barbosa EC, Morris S, Nightingale C, et al. Implementation of a Digitally Enabled Care Pathway (Part 1): Impact on Clinical Outcomes and Associated Health Care Costs. J Med Internet Res 2019 Jul 15;21(7):e13147 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/13147] [Medline: 31368447]

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 22.02.21; peer-reviewed by LN Veilleux, R Menhas, M Ghaderzadeh, J Marconato, RS Mahmoud; comments to author 18.03.21; revised version received 15.04.21; accepted 15.04.21; published 15.06.21.

Please cite as:

Melian C, Frampton C, Wyatt MC, Kieser D

Teleconsultation in the Management of Elective Orthopedic and Spinal Conditions During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Prospective Cohort Study of Patient Experiences

JMIR Form Res 2021;5(6):e28140

URL: <u>https://formative.jmir.org/2021/6/e28140</u> doi:<u>10.2196/28140</u> PMID:<u>34048355</u>

XSL•FO RenderX

©Christina Melian, Christopher Frampton, Michael Charles Wyatt, David Kieser. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 15.06.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Publisher: JMIR Publications 130 Queens Quay East. Toronto, ON, M5A 3Y5 Phone: (+1) 416-583-2040 Email: <u>support@jmir.org</u>

https://www.jmirpublications.com/

